
Page 1 

 

 
 

AGENDA  
 
Meeting: Cabinet 

Place: Kennet Room - County Hall, Trowbridge BA14 8JN 

Date: Tuesday 7 February 2017 

Time: 9.30 am 

 
Please direct any enquiries on this Agenda to Yamina Rhouati,  direct line 01225 
718024 or email Yamina.Rhouati@wiltshire.gov.uk 
 

Membership: 

 

Cllr Baroness Scott of Bybrook OBE Leader of the Council 

Cllr John Thomson Deputy Leader and Cabinet Member for 

Communities, Campuses, Area Boards and 

Broadband 

Cllr Fleur de Rhé-Philipe Cabinet Member for Economic Development, 

 Skills, Strategic Transport and Strategic 

Property 

Cllr Laura Mayes Cabinet Member for Children’s Services 

Cllr Jonathon Seed Cabinet Member for Housing, Leisure, 

Libraries and Flooding 

Cllr Toby Sturgis Cabinet Member for Strategic Planning, 

Development Management, Strategic Housing, 

Operational Property and Waste 

Cllr Dick Tonge Cabinet Member for Finance 

Cllr Jerry Wickham Cabinet Member for Health (including Public 

Health) and Adult Social Care 

Cllr Stuart Wheeler Cabinet Member for Hubs, Heritage and Arts, 

Governance and Support Services 

Cllr Philip Whitehead Cabinet Member for Highways and Transport 

 

 
Please direct any enquiries on this Agenda to Yamina Rhouati, of Democratic Services, 

County Hall, Trowbridge, direct line 01225 718024 or email  

yamina.rhouati@wiltshire.gov.uk 

Press enquiries to Communications on direct lines (01225)713114/713115. 

All public reports referred to on this agenda are available on the Council’s website at  

www.wiltshire.gov.uk 

mailto:yamina.rhouati@wiltshire.gov.uk
http://www.wiltshire.gov.uk/


Page 2 

 

 
Recording and Broadcasting Information 

 
Wiltshire Council may record this meeting for live and/or subsequent broadcast on the 
Council’s website at http://www.wiltshire.public-i.tv . At the start of the meeting, the 
Chairman will confirm if all or part of the meeting is being recorded. The images and 
sound recordings may also be used for training purposes within the Council. 
By entering the meeting room you are consenting to being recorded and to the use of 
those images and recordings for broadcasting and/or training purposes. 
The meeting may also be recorded by the press or members of the public. 
Any person or organisation choosing to film, record or broadcast any meeting of the 
Council, its Cabinet or committees is responsible for any claims or other liability 
resulting from them so doing and by choosing to film, record or broadcast proceedings 
they accept that they are required to indemnify the Council, its members and officers in 
relation to any such claims or liabilities. 
 
Details of the Council’s Guidance on the Recording and Webcasting of Meetings is 
available on request. 

 
Parking 

 
County Hall and Monkton Park have some limited visitor parking. Please note for 
meetings at County Hall you will need to log your car’s registration details upon your 
arrival in reception using the tablet provided. If you may be attending a meeting for more 
than 2 hours, please provide your registration details to the Democratic Services Officer, 
who will arrange for your stay to be extended.

http://www.wiltshire.public-i.tv/


 

Page 3 

 

AGENDA 

 

Part I  

 Items to be considered while the meeting is open to the public 
 
Key Decisions   Matters defined as 'Key' Decisions and included in the Council’s 

Forward Work Plan are shown as  

 

1  Apologies  

 

2   Minutes of the previous meeting (Pages 7 - 10) 

 To confirm and sign the minutes of the Cabinet meeting held on 17 January 
2017, previously circulated. 

 

3   Minutes - Capital Assets Committee (Pages 11 - 30) 

 To receive and note the minutes of the Capital Assets Committee held on 17 
January 2017 

 

4   Declarations of Interest  

 To receive any declarations of disclosable interests or dispensations granted by 
the Standards Committee. 

 

5   Leader's announcements  

 

6   Public participation and Questions from Councillors  

 The Council welcomes contributions from members of the public. This meeting is open 
to the public, who may ask a question or make a statement. Questions may also be 
asked by members of the Council.  Written notice of questions or statements should be 
given to Yamina Rhouati of Democratic Services by 12.00 noon on Thursday 2 February. 
Anyone wishing to ask a question or make a statement should contact the officer named 
above. 

 

7   Revenue Budget Monitor (Pages 31 - 50) 

 Report by Carolyn Godfrey, Corporate Director. 

 

8   Capital Budget Monitoring (Pages 51 - 64) 

 Report by Carolyn Godfrey, Corporate Director. 

 



 

Page 4 

 

9   Treasury Management Strategy 2017-18 (Pages 65 - 86) 

  Report by Carolyn Godfrey, Corporate Director 

 

10   Wiltshire Council's Financial Plan 2017/18  

 The Wiltshire Council Financial Plan Update 2017/18 has already been 
published and can be accessed on the following link: 

https://cms.wiltshire.gov.uk/ieListMeetings.aspx?CId=1418&Year=0  

Please copy into your browser if necessary. If you have any trouble in accessing 
these documents, please contact Yamina Rhouati, Democratic Governance 
Manager on 01225 718024 

The following additional documents will be made available with the Cabinet 
papers, once they have been published: 

 Report of the Overview & Scrutiny Committee 

 Minutes of the Overview & Scrutiny Committee 1 February 2017 

 Minutes of the Group Leaders Meeting with Trade Union Representatives 
3 February 2017 

 

11   Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy (Pages 87 - 438) 

  Report by Dr Carlton Brand and Carolyn Godfrey, Corporate Directors. 

 

12   School Admission 2018/19 (Pages 439 - 582) 

 Report by Carolyn Godfrey, Corporate Director 

 

13   Urgent Items  

 Any other items of business, which the Leader agrees to consider as a matter of 
urgency. 

 

Part II  

 Items during consideration of which it is recommended that the public 
should be excluded because of the likelihood that exempt 

information would be disclosed 

 

14   Exclusion of the Press and Public  

 This is to give further notice in accordance with paragraph 5 (4) and 5 (5) of the 

https://cms.wiltshire.gov.uk/ieListMeetings.aspx?CId=1418&Year=0


 

Page 5 

 

Local Authorities (Executive Arrangements) (Meetings and Access to 
Information) (England) Regulations 2012 of the intention to take the following 
item in private. 
 
 
To consider passing the following resolution: 

 
To agree that in accordance with Section 100A(4) of the Local Government Act 
1972 to exclude the public from the meeting for the business specified in Item 
Number 15 because it is likely that if members of the public were present there 
would be disclosure to them of exempt information as defined in  paragraph 3 of 
Part I of Schedule 12A to the Act and the public interest in withholding the 
information outweighs the public interest in disclosing the information to the 
public. 
 
Reason for taking item in private: 

Paragraph 3 - information relating to the financial or business affairs of any 
particular person (including the authority holding that information). 

 

 

15   Procurement of housing related support contract (Pages 583 - 594) 

  Report by Carolyn Godfrey, Corporate Director. 

Our vision is to create stronger and more resilient communities. Our priorities are: To protect those who are 
most vulnerable; to boost the local economy - creating and safeguarding jobs; and to support and empower 
communities to do more themselves. 



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 
 

 
 

CABINET 
 

 
DRAFT MINUTES OF THE CABINET MEETING HELD ON 17 JANUARY 2017 AT 
THE KENNET ROOM - COUNTY HALL, TROWBRIDGE BA14 8JN. 
 
Present: 
 
Cllr Baroness Scott of Bybrook OBE, Cllr John Thomson, Cllr Fleur de Rhé-Philipe, 
Cllr Laura Mayes, Cllr Jonathon Seed, Cllr Toby Sturgis, Cllr Dick Tonge, Cllr Jerry Wickham, 
Cllr Stuart Wheeler and Cllr Philip Whitehead 
 
Also  Present: 
 
Cllr Alan MacRae, Cllr Richard Gamble, Cllr Richard Clewer, Cllr David Jenkins, Cllr Glenis 
Ansell, Cllr Chuck Berry, Cllr Chris Caswill, Cllr Bob Jones MBE, Cllr Simon Killane and Cllr 
Gordon King 
  

 
156 Apologies 

 
There were no apologies as all members of the Cabinet were in attendance.   
 

157 Minutes of the previous meeting 
 
The minutes of the meeting held on 13 December 2016 were presented. 
 
Resolved 
 
To approve as a correct record and sign the minutes of the meeting held 
on 13 December 2016. 
 

158 Declarations of Interest 
 
There were no declarations of interest. 
 

159 Leader's announcements 
 
The Leader welcomed everyone to the meeting, including David Godfrey visiting 
from the Department for Communities & Local Government. 
 
The Leader aslo announced that the meeting would be webcast. 
 

160 Public participation and Questions from Councillors 
 
The Leader invited those wishing to make representations, to do so under the 
item to which they related. The Leader also explained that, as usual at meetings 
of Cabinet, she would be more than happy to hear from any member of the 
public present on any of the items on the agenda. 
 

Page 7

Agenda Item 2



 
 
 
 

 

 
 
 

161 Housing Repairs Contract Extension 
 

 Councillor Jonathon Seed presented the report which sought approval for 
an extension to the responsive repairs and voids contract with Emmdee (MD) 
Building Services Ltd to 31st March 2018. 
 
Issues highlighted in the course of the presentation and discussion included: 
that extending the contract would give the Council more time to consider 
options for combining different contracts; the involvement of Scrutiny; the 
provision for funding made within the Housing Revenue Account; the viability of 
bringing some services in-house; and how further changes would be reported. 
 
In response to questions from Councillor Glenis Ansell and Councillor Gordon 
King, it was stated that service improvements had been made, and that tenant 
complaints had fallen as a result 
 
Resolved 
 
To approve the extension of the current contract with MD Building 
Services Ltd to 31st March 2018. 
 
Reason for Decision 
 
To enable the Housing Service to have sufficient time to analyse and explore 
future service delivery options and procure a new service with limited impact to 
service performance and to bring the housing repairs and voids contract in line 
with the other contracts relating to maintenance of the housing stock. 
 

162 Army Basing LGA Peer Review 
 
The Leader presented the report which provided members with an update on 
the LGA Peer Review of Army Basing and recommended way forward. 
 
Issues highlighted in the course of the presentation and discussion included: the 
contribution made by Scrutiny members to the programme and the review; the 
thanks offered by the Cabinet to officers for working hard to ensure the success 
of the programme, particularly Kevin Ladner from the Economy & Planning 
Team; the opportunities for the Council to share best practice with colleagues in 
other authorities; the impacts of the programme on health and school 
programmes, and how the Council works with partners to identify solutions. 
 
Resolved 
 
1. To note the Peer Review of the council’s role in the Army Basing 

Programme and its recommendations 
 

Page 8



 
 
 
 

 

 
 
 

2. To endorse that officers continue their work in supporting the Army 
Basing Programme, and that the Peer Review be publicised as an 
example of best practice nationally at an LGA seminar in May 2017 
 

3. To send a letter of thanks to James Coote for his contribution to 
making the Army Basing Programme a success. 

 
Reason for Decision 
 
Supporting the Army Basing Plan is fundamental to key action 7 of the council’s 
Business Plan. The council, MOD and Army have been working together to 
make sure that military growth is accommodated while continuing to maintain 
balanced communities with opportunities for veterans, military personnel, and 
their families, and the right services such as skills, education, and health. The 
LGA has recommended to the council that it publicise the findings of the review 
and use it as an exemplar programme which will help ensure that optimal 
solutions can be delivered across MOD sites both in Wiltshire and nationally. 
 

163 Urgent Items 
 
There were no urgent items. 
 

164 Exclusion of the Press and Public 
 
Resolved 
 
To agree that in accordance with Section 100A(4) of the Local Government 
Act 1972 to exclude the public from the meeting for the following items of 
business because it is likely that if members of the public were present 
there would disclosure to them of exempt information as defined in 
paragraph 3 of Part I of Schedule 12A to the Act and the public interest in 
withholding the information outweighed the public interest in disclosing 
the information to the public. 

 
Reason for taking the item in private: 
 
Paragraph 3 – information relating to the financial information or business 
affairs of any particular person (including the authority holding that information) 
 
No representations had been received as to why this item should not be held in 
private 
 

165 Housing Repairs Contract Extension 
 
The Cabinet considered the information contained in the exempt report. 
 
Resolved 
 

Page 9



 
 
 
 

 

 
 
 

That the report be received and noted. 
 

 
(Duration of meeting:  9.30  - 9.57 am) 

 

These decisions were published, earlier, on the 19 January 2017 and will 
come into force on 27 January 2017 

 
The Officer who has produced these minutes is Yamina Rhouati, of Democratic 

Services, direct line 01225 718024, e-mail Yamina.Rhouati@wiltshire.gov.uk 
 

Press enquiries to Communications, direct line (01225) 713114/713115 
 

 

Page 10



 
 
 

 
 
 
 

CABINET CAPITAL ASSETS COMMITTEE 
 

 
DRAFT MINUTES of a MEETING held in THE KENNET ROOM - COUNTY HALL, 
TROWBRIDGE BA14 8JN on Tuesday, 17 January 2017. 
 
Cllr Fleur de Rhé-
Philipe 

Cabinet Member for Economic Development, Skills, 
Strategic Transport and Strategic Property 

Cllr Baroness Scott of B
ybrook OBE 

Leader of the Council 

Cllr Toby Sturgis Cabinet Member for Strategic Planning, Development 
Management, Strategic Housing, Operational Property and 
Waste 

Cllr John Thomson Deputy Leader and Cabinet Member for Communities, 
Campuses, Area Boards and Broadband 

Cllr Dick Tonge Cabinet Member for Finance 
 
 
Also in Attendance: Cllr Laura Mayes, Cllr Jonathon Seed, Cllr Stuart Wheeler, Cllr 

Philip Whitehead, Cllr Jerry Wickham, Cllr Glenis Ansell, Cllr 
Simon Killane, Cllr Chris Caswill, Cllr Chuck Berry, Cllr Richard 
Gamble, Cllr David Jenkins, Cllr Bob Jones MBE and Cllr Alan 
MacRae 
 

 
Key Decisions   Matters defined as 'Key' Decisions and included in the Council’s Forward 

Work Plan are shown as  

 
 

63 Apologies and Substitutions 
 
There were no apologies as all members of the Committee were in attendance.   
 

64 Minutes of the previous meeting 
 
The minutes of the meeting held on 15 November 2016 were presented. 
 
Resolved 
 
To approve as a correct record and sign the minutes of the meeting held 
on 15 November 2016. 
 

65 Leader's Announcements 
 
The Leader announced that the meeting would be webcast today. 
 

66 Declarations of interest 

Page 11

Agenda Item 3



 
 
 
 

 

 
 
 

 
There were no declarations of interest. 
 

67 Public Participation and Questions from Councillors 
 
The Leader invited Councillor Fleur de Rhé-Philipe to respond verbally to the 
questions received from Councillor John Knight, Richard Hames, Anne 
Henshaw, Kim Stuckey, Nick Murry and Stephen Eades. 
 
A copy of the questions and responses is appended to these minutes.  
 

68 Schools Capital Infrastructure Update Report 2016 - 2019 
 

 Councillor Laura Mayes presented the report which asked the meeting to 
agree the Schools Capital Investment Programme for 2017- 2020. In giving her 
presentation, Councillor Mayes thanked the officers for their hard work. 
 
Issues highlighted in the course of the presentation and discussion included: the 
progress made with the current programme; the limited funding available from 
central government; how officers maximise contributions from developers; and 
how work is prioritised. 
 
Resolved 
 

1. To note the status of March 2014 approved school capital schemes 
as shown at Appendix A (all complete). 
 

2. To note the updated (previously approved) School Capital 
Programme as shown at Appendix B. 

 
3. To consider and approve the proposed new Basic Need schemes 

subject to planning approval and completed S106 negotiations as at 
Appendix C. 
 

4. To approve the Schools Planned Maintenance Programme totalling 
£2.5M for 2017/18 as outlined at Appendix D and to agree that a 
further £2.0M be held pending identified priorities for 2018/19. 
 

5. To approve the Condition (Improvements) and Mobile Classroom 
Replacement Programme for 2017/18 as outlined at Appendix E. 
 

6. To authorise the Corporate Director for Children Services to invite 
and evaluate tenders for the projects described in this report, and, 
following consultation with the cabinet member, to award the 
contract for the project (subject to approval of any necessary 
statutory proposals) and to authorise, in consultation with the Head 
of Strategic Asset & FM (or the Asset Portfolio Manager (Estates), in 
accordance with the relevant scheme of sub-delegation (under 

Page 12



 
 
 
 

 

 
 
 

paragraph 7 of Part 3B of Wiltshire Council’s constitution)), the 
acquisition of all land (and the completion of any legal 
documentation) reasonably required in order to facilitate the 
Schools Capital Investment Programme. 

 
Reason for Decision: 
 
The Council has a statutory duty to provide sufficient school places to meet the 
demand arising across Wiltshire, whether from demographic or population 
change, strategic housing development growth and the Army Re-Basing 
programme. The approved Wiltshire School Places Strategy 2015- 2020 and its 
Implementation Plan identifies the priority basic need schemes requiring capital 
investment in the short, medium and longer term and this updated proposed 
Schools Capital Investment Programme will enable the priority works to be 
progressed. The Council also has Landlord responsibilities for the effective 
management and maintenance of the schools (for which the Council is 
responsible) estate and the investment programme will enable urgent and 
priority repairs and maintenance projects to proceed. 
 

69 Declaration of Sedgehill Estate as Surplus so that it can be sold on the 
open market 
 
Councillor Toby Sturgis presented the report which sought approval for officers 
to add the rural estate property in the Sedgehill area to the list of properties 
scheduled for disposal on the open market. 
 
Issues highlighted in the course of the presentation and discussion included: the 
condition of the property; the current use of the property; and whether the 
investing in the property was preferable to its sale.  
 
Resolved  
 

1. To declare the rural estate property in Sedgehill area as Surplus so 
that it can be sold on the open market. 

 
2. To further delegate specific decisions on the lotting of the property, 

method of sale, negotiations with outgoing tenants and interim 
management arrangements to the Associate Director for People and 
Business in consultation with Cabinet Member for Strategic 
Planning, Development Management, Strategic Housing, 
Operational Property and Waste. 

 
Reason for Decision: 
 
To enable the sale of the Council’s rural estate property in the Sedgehill area as 
Surplus in order to generate capital receipts which will contribute to the 

Page 13



 
 
 
 

 

 
 
 

Council’s Capital programme and Treasury Management Plan and to divest the 
Council of assets which have a high cost repairing liability in relation to their 
revenue potential. 
 

70 Assets to be declared surplus 
 
Cllr Fleur de Rhé-Philipe presented the report which asked the meeting to 
consider whether to declare seven assets surplus and authorise their sale at or 
above market value. 
 
The Leader invited any additional questions regarding the specific assets. 
In response to a question from Councillor Chris Caswill, Councillor 
Fleur de Rhé-Philipe stated that the decision today was to place sites on the 
surplus list, and that any subsequent decision to sell any of the sites would be 
subject to the normal due diligence procedures at which time further 
consultation. Furthermore, if the land with the cycle track was to be sold, it 
would remain a public right of way and any decision to alter this would remain 
with the Council as Highways Authority. 
 
In response to questions from Councillor Alan Macrae and Andrew Hall, the 
Leader stated that officers were reviewing the status of the Martingate asset 
and would be in touch with parties in due course. Mr Hall further reiterated his 
company’s commitment to refurbishing the site, and maintaining the car park, 
but stated that this would only be possible if they owned the freehold. 
.  
Resolved 
 
1. That members declare the seven assets listed in the report as assets 

held for sale. 
 

2. To authorise the Associate Director for People and Business, in 
consultation with the Cabinet Member for Economic Development, 
Skills, Strategic Transport and Strategic Property and the Cabinet 
Member for Finance, to dispose of the assets at or above market 
value. 

 
Reason for Decision: 
 
To declare assets surplus so that they can be sold in order to generate capital 
receipts in support of the council’s capital programme. 
 

71 Urgent items 
 
There were no urgent items. 
 

72 Exclusion of the Press and Public 
 
Resolved 

Page 14



 
 
 
 

 

 
 
 

 
To agree that in accordance with Section 100A(4) of the Local Government 
Act 1972 to exclude the public from the meeting for the following items of 
business because it is likely that if members of the public were present 
there would disclosure to them of exempt information as defined in 
paragraph 3  and 5 of Part I of Schedule 12A to the Act and the public 
interest in withholding the information outweighs the public interest in 
disclosing the information to the public. 
 
Reason for taking the item in private: 
 
Paragraph 3 – information relating to the financial information or business 
affairs of any particular person (including the authority holding that information) 
 
Paragraph 5 - information subject to legal privilege 
 
No representations have been received as to why this item should not be held 
in private. 
 

73 Declaration of rural estate property near Sedgehill as Surplus so that it 
can be sold on the open market 
 
The meeting noted the content of the report. 
 

74 Assets to be declared surplus - Part ii 
 
The meeting considered the content of the report. 
 
Resolved 
 
To approve the recommendations contained in the report presented with 
the exception of the recommendation for site two which was not adopted. 
 

75 Castledown Business Centre - Innovation Suite 
 
Cllr Fleur de Rhé-Philipe presented the report which: provided an update to the 
committee on negotiations with the parties involved in the design and 
construction of the Business Centre relating to the remediation of the glazed 
façade; asked the Committee to consider the options available to remediate the 
glazed façade and propose a preferred option; and, on the basis of the 
preferred option, sought delegated authority to proceed with implementation of 
the remedial works required to ensure full operation of the Business Centre. 
 
Resolved 
 
To delegate authority to the Associate Director for People & Business, in 
consultation with the Cabinet Member for Economic Development, Skills, 
Strategic Transport and Strategic Property, to appoint contractors to 

Page 15



 
 
 
 

 

 
 
 

deliver the remedial works required for the glazed façade at Castledown 
Business Park, and subsequently recoup these costs from the insurers of 
the designers. 
 
Reason for Decision: 
 
To expedite delivery of the required remedial works to enable full operation of 
the council’s business centre at Castledown, Ludgershall, thereby maximising 
the benefit of the council’s existing investment and helping boost the local 
economy in line with council’s Business Plan 2013-17 Outcome 1. 
 

 
(Duration of meeting:  10.00  - 11.00 am) 

 
 

 

These decisions were published on the XXXX and will come into force on XXXXX 

 
The Officer who has produced these minutes is Will Oulton, of Democratic Services, 
direct line 01225 713935 or e-mail william.oulton@wiltshire.gov.uk   
Press enquiries to Communications, direct line (01225) 713114/713115 
 

(b)   

Page 16



Page 1 

 

 
 
 
 

AGENDA SUPPLEMENT (2) 
 

Meeting: Cabinet Capital Assets Committee 

Place: The Kennet Room - County Hall, Trowbridge BA14 8JN 

Date: Tuesday 17 January 2017 

Time: 10.00 am 
 

 
The Agenda for the above meeting was published on 9 January 2017. Additional 
documents are now available and are attached to this Agenda Supplement. 
 
Please direct any enquiries on this Agenda to Will Oulton, of Democratic Services, 
County Hall, Bythesea Road, Trowbridge, direct line 01225 713935 or email 
william.oulton@wiltshire.gov.uk 
 
Press enquiries to Communications on direct lines (01225)713114/713115. 
 
This Agenda and all the documents referred to within it are available on the Council’s 
website at www.wiltshire.gov.uk  
 

 
 

5   Public Participation and Questions from Councillors (Pages 3 - 14) 

 
Responses to written questions received. 

 
 
 DATE OF PUBLICATION:  17 January 2017 

Page 7

Minute Item 67

Page 17

http://www.wiltshire.gov.uk/


This page is intentionally left blank

Page 8Page 18



Wiltshire Council 

Cabinet Capital Assets Committee 

17 January 2017 

 

Questions from Councillor John Knight, Trowbridge Central Division 

Questions 

1. Could the retained area of the car park be free car parking for the first 30 

minutes to allow the public to collect prescriptions from the proposed new 

pharmacy and assist with short visits to the adjoining park? 

 

2. Could officers investigate how to mitigate the loss of car parking during 

construction as the pharmacy may well require the retained area of the car park 

as a builders compound, supplies deliver and turning. Possibly using land 

forming part of the park either immediately adjoining the car park or the area 

formerly occupied by the youth centre at Innox Road/Linden Place? 

 

3. What arrangements will be made for existing parking permit holders? 

 

4. Has the company considered that there already pharmacies nearby at Shires 

Gateway and Wingfield Road? 

Responses 

1. Parking Services will consider the request although such arrangements do not 
generally prevail elsewhere in similar circumstances 

 
2. If Members are minded to approve the recommendation then officers in 

Strategic Assets & Facilities Management together with those in Amenities & 
Leisure will discuss with the pharmacy how best to mitigate any inconvenience 
to the public both in respect of car parking and enjoyment of the adjoining park. 

 
3. It is anticipated that these will be suspended for the period of the construction 

works. However officers will investigate opportunities to mitigate any 
inconvenience. 

 
4.  The company has done so but believes this site would best serve the local 

community.  
 

 

 

Page 3

Agenda Item 5

Page 9Page 19



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 10Page 20



Wiltshire Council 

Cabinet Capital Assets Committee 

17 January 2017 

 

Questions from Richard Hames 

Questions 

1. Could you please explain why the council consider six days is sufficient time for 

the public to read the agenda, understand what is behind the agenda and then 

comment on it. The agenda was published on 11 January and the meeting is on 

17 January. I would hope in future you would agree that in order to be 

transparent and democratic a longer period should be given. 

 

2. Could you please explain why you are selling and whether it is linked to 

potential development at Rawlings Green? 

 

3. How is the price determined? Can you confirm that it will be widely publicised 

and unless there is a good reason the highest price will be accepted. Will 

anyone other than the developer be interested in purchasing it?  

 

4. What guarantees will there be that the current public right-of-way continues? 

 

5. Who will maintain the land after the sale? 

 

6. As you are aware Rawlings Green is being looked at by the inspector and the 

current planning application has been referred to the Secretary of State. 

Therefore it seems totally premature to consider any such sale until the 

inspector has reported, the planning decision made either for or against, and 

the Secretary of State has given his approval to whatever the decision is. 

Responses 

1. The agenda was in fact published on 9 January and within the legally 
prescribed timescale giving 5 clear (working) days’ notice of the meeting.  In 
addition, notice that the Committee intended to consider the item ‘Assets to be 
declared Surplus’ was first published in the Council’s Forward Work Plan for the 
Cabinet Capital Assets Committee on 19 December 2016.  

 
2. As part of the process we are declaring this site as an asset held for sale, 

surplus to operational requirements 
 

Page 5Page 11Page 21



 The recommendations refer to a whole series of assets surplus to council 
requirements therefore it is listed and if asset is decided to be put up for 
disposal due diligence will be undertaken.  

 
 Yes, it is linked to Rawlings Green 
 
3. If we decide to sell then the site would be evaluated in accordance with council 

obligations under section 123 of the local government act 1972 
 
4. If we decide to sell any such issues will be picked up as part of due diligence. 
 
5. This question presupposes a sale refer back to response to question 2 
 
6. As is usual practice, the Council is able to consider the disposal of any assets 

in advance of planning permission and ensure that any disposal only takes 
place if planning permission is granted.  

 
 The Secretary of State has only directed the Council not to grant permission on 

the application without his specific authorisation. This is to enable him to 
consider (emphasis added) whether he should direct that the application be 
referred to him for determination. As his letter points out, the direction does not 
prevent the Council from considering the application and forming a view as to 
its merits, nor does it prevent the Council from refusing permission.  

 

 

 

Page 6Page 12Page 22



Wiltshire Council 

Cabinet Capital Assets Committee 

17 January 2017 

 

Questions from Anne Henshaw 

Question 

Please inform me whether this could lead to any possible change in the status or 

nature of this track and its immediate surrounds in the future.  As a much valued 

public path between Calne and Chippenham we would certainly lodge objections if 

this were to be the case? 

Response  

The council recognises the important role of the North Wiltshire Rivers Route. If we 

decide to sell, we recognise the value of the cycle path and due diligence would 

cover issues such as these. 

 

 

Page 7Page 13Page 23



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 14Page 24



Wiltshire Council 

Cabinet Capital Assets Committee 

17 January 2017 

 

Questions from Kim Stuckey 

Question 

I have only today found out the detail of the Cabinet Capital Assets Committee 

meeting next Tuesday 17th January, and in particular Site 2 – Land at Darcy Close. 

I am very concerned not about the strip of land as titled at Darcy Close, but the 

hatched area at the top of the plan, being the old dismantled track bed and 

embankment of the disused Chippenham-Calne railway. 

This is used as a cycling and walking link between National Cycle Route 403 and 

Chippenham Station, avoiding a steep hill at Black Bridge Road and is a vital part of 

the sustainable transport  infrastructure in Chippenham. I have and continue to use 

this route for cycling. 

If this area of land is being sold off, what restrictions are being put on purchasers to 

keep in place the cycle track and maintain it? Will it remain open as a right of way? 

Have discussions taken place with Sustrans about the implications of this sale? At a 

time where the issue of sustainable transport is so important to the public and indeed 

the Council, could it be made clear about the guarantees about the future use of this 

route, rather than just being a hatched area on a map and an asset sale? 

Response  

The council recognises the important role of the North Wiltshire Rivers Route. If we 

decide to sell, we recognise the value of the cycle path and due diligence would 

cover issues such as these. 

 

 

 

Page 9Page 15Page 25



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 16Page 26



Wiltshire Council 

Cabinet Capital Assets Committee 

17 January 2017 

 

Questions from Nick Murry 

Question 

I would be grateful if you would inform me whether the rights of way on the footpath 

and cycle path will be in any way affected by this proposed sale? 

If use of the footpath and/or the cycle path are in any way affected, currently or in the 

long term, I wish to strongly object to the inclusion of the footpath and/or cycle path 

as part of this proposed sale and for my objection to be registered at the forthcoming 

meeting referenced above. 

Response  

The council recognises the important role of the North Wiltshire Rivers Route. If we 

decide to sell, we recognise the value of the cycle path and due diligence would 

cover issues such as these. 

 

 

Page 11Page 17Page 27



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 18Page 28



Wiltshire Council 

Cabinet Capital Assets Committee 

17 January 2017 

 

Questions from Stephen Eades 

Question 

I am chair of N. Wiltshire Friends of the Earth.  We would like to enquire whether the 

selling off by Wiltshire Council of land which it currently owns at Rawlings Green, 

Chippenham, which is part of the old railway and is now part of the the footpath and 

cycle path from Chippenham to Calne, will result in the footpath and cycle path being 

in any way being compromised in the future for this specific use ? 

Could you please inform us? 

If its use as a footpath will be affected, we would like to register in writing – which 

this email would now constitute – a formal objection to this proposal at the Council 

meeting on 17th January 

Response  

The council recognises the important role of the North Wiltshire Rivers Route. If we 

decide to sell, we recognise the value of the cycle path and due diligence would 

cover issues such as these. 

 

 

Page 13Page 19Page 29



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 20Page 30



 
  

 

 

Wiltshire Council 
 
Cabinet       
 
7 February 2017 

 
Subject:                   Revenue Budget Monitoring Period 9 2016/2017 
 
Cabinet Member:  Cllr Dick Tonge – Finance  
 
Key Decision:  No 
 

 

Executive Summary 

 

This report advises members of the revenue budget monitoring position as at the 

end of Period 9 (end of December 2016) for the financial year 2016/2017 with 

suggested actions as appropriate. Overall the majority of services net spend are in 

line with budget profiles and forecasts. There are some services which have 

identified variances, details of these areas are included in the report and have 

been reported throughout the year. Officers have already identified savings and 

are continuing to identify further compensating actions to bring the remaining 

£0.597 million back in line to report a balanced budget by 31 March 2017. 
 

Overall the period 9 report identifies potential cost pressures of £0.597 million. 

That is 0.2% of net expenditure, and is in line with or below other pressures at 

other similar sized councils nationally. This pressure is a reflection of the reduction 

in government funding set against a continued increase in demand, especially in 

care, and the National Living Wage..  

 

The purpose of budget monitoring is to identify risks in order to allow management 

to address risks. An updated position will be reported to Cabinet in the outturn 

revenue budget monitoring report to Cabinet in June. The early identification of 

potential issues is part of sound and prudent financial management.  
 

The year-end general fund reserve balance assumes £1m drawdown to fund 

pressures, leaving a closing balance of £11.206 million. The level is still in line with 

the Council’s financial plan and recommendations by the Section 151 Officer.  

 

Proposals 
 
Cabinet is asked to note the outcome of the period 9 (end of December) budget 
monitoring. 

Page 31

Agenda Item 7



 
  

 

 

Reason for Proposal 

To inform effective decision making and ensure a sound financial control 

environment.  
 

Carolyn Godfrey 
Corporate Director 
 

  

Page 32



 
  

 

Wiltshire Council 
 
Cabinet       
  
7 February 2017 

 
Subject:                   Revenue Budget Monitoring Period 9 2016/2017 
 
Cabinet Member:  Cllr Dick Tonge – Finance  
 
Key Decision:  No 
 

 

Purpose of Report 
 
1. To advise members of the revenue budget monitoring position as at the end of 

period 9 (end of December 2016) for the financial year 2016/2017 with 
suggested actions as appropriate.  
 

Background 
 
2. The Council set the 2016/2017 budget at its meeting on 23 February 2016. The 

report focuses on forecast exceptions to meeting the original budget and 
actions required to balance it. Comprehensive appendices showing the 
individual service headings are included in Appendix C. More details on any 
revisions to the original base budgets in year are also included in the report. 
 

Summary 
 

3. The projected year end position before further compensating actions for the 
relevant accounts is set out as follows: 

 

  

Revised 
Budget 
Period 

9 

Profiled 
Budget 
to date 

Actual 
to date 

Projected 
Position 
for Year 

Projected 
Overspend/ 

(Underspend) 

Overspend/ 
(Underspend) 

reported at 
period 7 

Movement 
since 

period 7 

  £ m £ m £ m £ m £ m £ m £ m 

General Fund 
Total 313.585 324.726 317.843 314.182 0.597 4.040 (3.443) 

Housing 
Revenue 
Account (0.975) (11.103) (11.007) (0.975) 0 0 0 

  

Page 33



 
  

 

4. Budget expenditure is not always spent in equal amounts each month. The 
profiled budget above shows the anticipated budget at the end of period 9. The 
main variance between the revised budget at period 9 and the profiled budget is 
due to a phasing of grant income due to be received by schools in period 12.  

 
General Fund Monitoring Update 
 
5. Finance has continued to monitor budgets, with budget managers, with a focus 

on the budgets assessed to be subject to a higher risk of volatility due to factors 
such as changes in demand or assumptions. This has identified the areas 
where costs have risen quicker than forecast.  
 

6. The graph below shows how the forecast outturn position has improved during 
budget monitoring reports to Cabinet this year. The graph shows a clear 
improvement in the position towards the end of the financial year. 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
7. Budget monitoring is an ongoing process and budgets and expenditure are 

reviewed between budget managers and accountants regularly, on a risk based 
approach. As part of this review these reports exclude commitments in the 
actual spend column, to better show a consistent position. However, known 
commitments are taken into account in calculating the projected position for the 
year.  

0

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

August October December

Projected Over/ (Under)spend

Page 34



 
  

 

8. The period 9 report shows more detailed information and includes a number of 
smaller variances. Full details of service area figures are included in Appendix 
C. The figures in period 9 are current position after any approved recovery 
actions have been actioned. 
 

9. As in previous reports, this report will target large variances and the managerial 
actions arising to ensure a balanced budget at year end. As last year, Budget 
Monitoring reports to members will be taken to Cabinet to cover the periods 4, 
7, 9 and year end outturn. 

 

Budget Movements in Period 

 

10. There have been a number of budget movements in the period. These are due 
to budget virements and structural changes, including slowing down of spend 
and recruitment since the report for budget setting in February 2016. A full trail 
is shown in appendix A. 

 

11. Further details of major virements in the period are included in appendix B. This 
includes a virement that has reallocated budget across all council services 
following a review of projected outturn for the year. There are no large 
virements to report is this period 

 
General Fund Monitoring Details 

 
12. Overall the majority of services net spend are in line with budget profiles and 

forecasts. There are some services which have identified larger variances at 
this stage of the year than originally planned. Details of these areas are 
included below. Associate Directors have already identified nearly £8 million of 
savings and are continuing to identify further compensating actions to bring the 
remaining £0.597 million forecast overspend back in line to report a balanced 
budget by 31 March 2017. 

  
13. Overall the period 9 report identifies potential cost pressures of £0.597 million. 

That is 0.2% of net expenditure, and is in line with / below other overspend 
projections at other similar sized councils nationally. This is a reflection of the 
reduction in government funding set against a continued increase in demand, 
especially in care. 

14. The main pressures continue to arise, as they are nationally, from care. There 
are also a small number of areas facing unforeseen pressures and new 
requirements to be funded. To respond senior officers have been taking and 
assessing actions to address this forecast and manage within resources. As a 
result, the following further key actions have been taken: 

  

Page 35



 
  

 

 Slowdown spend and divert underspending 
 

15. Services have been assessing their spend to assess what elements of spend 
are critical to the ongoing maintenance of performance. As a result a number of 
actions have been taken, including: reducing the number of credit cards and 
petty cash; restricting the number of authorisers of spend; reducing the number 
of printers available; managing and profiling maintenance programmes; 
managing vacancies. 

16. As a result a number of services are now forecasting an underspend to offset 
pressures in other areas. Some of the other reasons for this are also set out in 
the following paragraphs.  

 Use of reserves  
 

17. The risk assessment presented to Council in February 2016 identified a number 
of potential calls on the Council’s General Fund Reserves. It is likely that 
£0.600 million provided for Children’s Care and £0.400 million for other savings 
not delivered (3% as per paragraph 30 for more details) will be required to be 
drawn down by 31 March 2017 and this has been included in the Period 9 
forecast, and reflected in the reserves assessment that follows in this report.  

 Adults Social Care Spend 

18. There has been an increase in Adult Social Care costs arising from pressures 
relating to the increased complexity and costs of care. This forecasts an overall 
net pressure of £0.968 million, with costs in specialist care continuing to rise, 
and further affects of the National Living Wage and contract prices, as well as 
numbers and complexity of placements giving rise to pressures across adult 
social care. This forecast is after accounting for nearly £1.8m of one off savings 
identified in previous months. As such it is recognised that the service needs to 
identify further savings going into 2017/18 to manage longer term cost 
pressures. This task is recognised in the Council’s budget proposals on the 
same Cabinet agenda as this item. 

 Children’s Social Care 
 

19. Children’s Social Care budgets are projected to overspend, before applying any 
general fund reserve, by £1.819 million (£1.977 million at Period 7).  As 
reported last quarter, the key risks continue to be high cost placements for a 
cohort of looked after children.  Strategic plans to address this pressure are 
beginning to show impact.  Whilst agency spend in social work teams continues 
to be a pressure there has been a significant reduction in the numbers of 
agency staff across the service. 

 

20. The number of Looked After Children also continues to be below average 
compared with other authorities and work is continuing to help to mitigate these 
costs where possible.  The numbers of looked after children and scarcity of 
placements is a national issue.  The strategies employed by the council are 
helping keep the costs below the average of neighbouring authorities. 

Page 36



 
  

 

 0-25 Service: Disabled Children & Adults 
 

21. The 0-25 SEND Service is currently projected to overspend by £2.501 million 
(£2.329 million at Period 7).  As reported last quarter, the key pressure continue 
to be the number and cost of packages of care and pressure on SEN transport 
budgets for home to school transport. The local authority has a statutory duty to 
provide this support and plans are in place to ensure that costs are mitigated 
where possible.  A cross service improvement plan is being implemented to 
ensure service delivery and financial obligations are considered. 

 

 Legal & Governance 
 
22. Legal & Governance is currently projecting a net overspend of £0.335 million. 

This is on line with the forecast at Period 7. However, there continues to be a 
high demand for legal services across the council. Officers are taking action to 
manage down demand levels to mitigate this issue. This pressure has been 
reflected in the proposals to set the 2017/18 base budget. 

 
Restructure & Contingency 
 
23. This heading includes a range of corporate and cross cutting savings and is 

currently projecting a net underspend of £2.914 million compared to an 
overspend of £0.686 million forecast at Period 7. This reduction has been 
achieved following a review of savings to be delivered, and placing an 
emphasis on ensuring corporate actions on items such as procurement savings 
were delivered. Whilst some savings, such as Schools Trading, may not be 
delivered the current forecasts is only 3% of all savings, and where these will 
not be fully delivered in 2016/17 work is ongoing to deliver these savings in 
2017/18. As such it is likely that circa £0.4 million of general fund reserves will 
be required if no other savings are realised. 

 
Housing Revenue Account Monitoring Update 
 
24. Budget figures on the Housing Revenue Account (HRA) have been reviewed as 

part of the regular budget monitoring process.  
 

25. The HRA is currently projecting a balanced position. 
  
  

Page 37



 
  

 

Reserves 

26. The table below provides the projected position for the year as at period 7 on 
the general fund balance held by the Council. This reflects the potential draw 
down of £1 million as discussed in the period 7 report relating to greater 
demand in SEND services in year than forecast and the need to subsidise 
delivery of savings proposals that have been delayed. The latest forecast on 
general fund balances currently stands at £12.206 million at 31 March 2017.  

 

General Fund Reserve £ million £ million 

Balance as at 1 April 2016   (12.206) 

Projected overspend at period 9 0.597 
 Recovery plans (0.597) 
 Potential draw from reserves (per period 

7 report) 1.000 
 Total Forecast movement   1.000 

Forecast Balance 31 March 2017   (11.206) 

 
27. At present it is assumed that all other areas currently overspending will be on 

line by the year end following management action. A review of the assessment 
of need has been undertaken by the Section 151 Officer to link all the General 
Fund balances to risk.  
 

Overall Conclusions 
 

28. This report has identified a shortfall if no further action is taken on the general 
fund budget of £0.597 million at period 9 due to cost pressures / shortfalls in 
income. Officers are currently taking action to address this and further 
monitoring and outturn reports will be brought to Cabinet. 
 

29. The early identification of potential issues is part of sound and prudent financial 
management. Action to address this year’s forecast should be taken where 
officers have the delegated powers to do so and this is underway. 
 

Implications  
 

30. This report informs member’s decision making. 
 
Overview & Scrutiny Engagement 
 
31. Regular reports are taken to Overview & Scrutiny relating to the Council’s 

financial position 
 

Safeguarding Implications 
 
32. Safeguarding remains a key priority for the Council and this report reflects the 

additional investment support the ongoing spend in looked after children and 
safeguarding. 

Page 38



 
  

 

Public Health Implications 
 
33. None have been identified as arising directly from this report. 
 
Corporate Procurement Implications 
 
34. None have been identified as arising directly from this report. 
 
Equalities and diversity impact of the proposals 

 
35. None have been identified as arising directly from this report. 
 
Environmental and Climate Change Considerations 
 
36. None have been identified as arising directly from this report. 
 
Risks Assessment 

 
37. If the Council fails to take actions to address forecast shortfalls, overspends or 

increases in its costs it will need to draw on reserves. The level of reserves is 
limited and a one off resource that cannot thus be used as a long term 
sustainable strategy for financial stability. Budget monitoring and management, 
of which this report forms part of the control environment, is a mitigating 
process to ensure early identification and action is taken. 

 
Financial implications 

 
38. This is a report from the Chief Finance Officer and the financial implications are 

discussed in the detail of this report. Further management action is required to 
deliver a balanced budget by 31 March 2017.  

 
Legal Implications 

 
39. None have been identified as arising directly from this report. 
 
Proposals 
 
40. Cabinet is asked to note the outcome of the period 9 (end of December) budget 

monitoring.  

Reasons for Proposals 
 

41. To inform effective decision making and ensure a sound financial control 
environment.  

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 39



 
  

 

Background Papers and Consultation 
 
None 
 
Contact Name: 
Michael Hudson, Associate Director Finance, ext 13601 
michael.hudson@wiltshire.gov.uk 
 
Report Author: Matthew Tiller, Chief Accountant 
 
 
 
 

Appendices: 
 
Appendix A: Revenue Budget Movements 2016/2017 
Appendix B: Major Virements between Service Areas from Original budget 
Appendix C: Revenue Budget Monitoring Statements 
Appendix D: Forecast Variance Movements 
 
 
 

Page 40

mailto:michael.hudson@wiltshire.gov.uk


APPENDIX A

Wiltshire Council Revenue Budget Movements 2016/2017

Structural 
Changes

Revised 
Original 
Budget

In Year 
Virements to 

Period 4

Revised 
Budget 

Period 4

In Year 
Virements to 

Period 7

Revised 
Budget 

Period 7

In Year 
Virements to 

Period 9

Revised 
Budget 

Period 9
Major Virements 
See Appendix B

£m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m
Adult Social Care Operations
Older People 51.476 (51.476) 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000
Other Vulnerable Adults 11.703 0.000 11.703 (11.703) 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000
Adults 18+ 0.000 47.254 47.254 11.775 59.029 (0.875) 58.154 0.000 58.154
Mental Health 23.187 0.000 23.187 (2.080) 21.107 0.000 21.107 0.000 21.107
Learning Disabilities 47.193 (1.637) 45.556 (2.886) 42.670 0.000 42.670 0.380 43.050
Adult Care Commissioning & Housing
Resources, Strategy & Commissioning 1.463 5.859 7.322 2.055 9.377 0.000 9.377 0.310 9.687
Housing Services 4.159 0.000 4.159 0.023 4.182 0.000 4.182 0.013 4.195
Public Health & Public Protection
Public Health Grant 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000
Other Public Health & Public Protection 2.506 0.000 2.506 0.116 2.622 0.000 2.622 0.000 2.622
Leisure 0.621 0.000 0.621 (0.392) 0.229 (0.150) 0.079 0.003 0.082
Operational Children's Services
Children's Social Care 31.389 0.000 31.389 3.440 34.829 (0.033) 34.796 (0.030) 34.766
0-25 Service: Disabled Children & Adults 15.600 0.000 15.600 0.193 15.793 0.000 15.793 (0.370) 15.423
Early Help 1.983 0.000 1.983 (0.103) 1.880 0.114 1.994 0.075 2.069
Commissioning, Performance & School Effectiveness
School Effectiveness 2.081 0.000 2.081 (0.205) 1.876 (0.073) 1.803 0.000 1.803
Safeguarding 1.387 0.000 1.387 0.098 1.485 0.000 1.485 0.000 1.485
Funding Schools 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000
Commissioning & Performance 8.070 0.000 8.070 (0.784) 7.286 0.000 7.286 0.030 7.316
Economy & Planning
Economy & Planning 3.617 0.000 3.617 0.443 4.060 0.046 4.106 0.068 4.174
Highways & Transport
Highways 17.028 0.000 17.028 0.019 17.047 (0.090) 16.957 0.065 17.022
Transport 17.107 0.000 17.107 0.044 17.151 (0.260) 16.891 0.243 17.134
Car Parking (6.040) 0.000 (6.040) (0.067) (6.107) 0.000 (6.107) 0.000 (6.107)
Waste & Environment
Waste 32.869 0.000 32.869 0.000 32.869 (0.643) 32.226 0.000 32.226
Environment Services 3.986 0.000 3.986 0.000 3.986 0.000 3.986 0.000 3.986
Communities & Communications
Communications 1.108 0.000 1.108 0.429 1.537 0.000 1.537 0.000 1.537
Libraries, Heritage & Arts 4.765 0.000 4.765 (0.146) 4.619 0.251 4.870 0.045 4.915
Corporate Function, Procurement & Programme Office
Corporate Function, Procurement & Programme Office 4.877 1.694 6.571 1.140 7.711 0.044 7.755 (0.309) 7.446
Finance
Finance, Revenues & Benefits, & Pensions 3.117 0.000 3.117 0.000 3.117 0.000 3.117 0.113 3.230
Revenues & Benefits - Subsidy (0.500) 0.000 (0.500) 0.000 (0.500) 0.000 (0.500) 0.000 (0.500)
Legal & Governance
Legal & Governance 2.507 0.000 2.507 (0.458) 2.049 0.003 2.052 0.013 2.065
People & Business Services
Human Resources & Organisational Development 3.192 0.000 3.192 0.500 3.692 0.160 3.852 0.067 3.919
Business Services 3.361 (1.694) 1.667 0.000 1.667 0.064 1.731 0.001 1.732
Stragetic Asset & Facilities Management 11.811 0.000 11.811 0.301 12.112 (0.110) 12.002 0.000 12.002
Information Services 10.287 0.000 10.287 (0.636) 9.651 (0.138) 9.513 0.000 9.513
Corporate Directors
Corporate Directors 0.827 0.000 0.827 0.000 0.827 0.000 0.827 0.000 0.827
Members 2.006 0.000 2.006 0.010 2.016 0.000 2.016 0.000 2.016
Corporate
Movement on Reserves 0.000 0.000 0.000 (0.141) (0.141) 0.000 (0.141) (0.262) (0.403)
Capital Financing 23.999 0.000 23.999 0.000 23.999 0.000 23.999 0.000 23.999
Restructure & Contingency 0.926 0.000 0.926 (0.985) (0.059) 0.815 0.756 (0.455) 0.301
General Government Grants (37.942) 0.000 (37.942) 0.000 (37.942) 0.875 (37.067) 0.000 (37.067)
Corporate Levys 7.859 0.000 7.859 0.000 7.859 0.000 7.859 0.000 7.859

2015/2016 Budget Requirement 313.585 (0.000) 313.585 0.000 313.585 (0.000) 313.585 (0.000) 313.585

HRA Budget (0.975) 0.000 (0.975) 0.000 (0.975) 0.000 (0.975) 0.000 (0.975)

312.610 (0.000) 312.610 0.000 312.610 (0.000) 312.610 (0.000) 312.610

More details are given of major virements and structural movements in Appendix B. These areas are marked above with *. There are none in this period.

Service

Original 
Budget

Page 41



This page is intentionally left blank



Major Virements between Services Areas from Period 7 to Period 9 APPENDIX B

Net virements over £500,000
£m

There are no virements over £500,000  between perido 7 and period 9

In Year Virements period 7-9 0.000

0.000

Please note, these are only the service movements over £500,000. The sum of all virements balances to zero

Page 43



This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX C

Wiltshire Council Revenue Budget Monitoring Statement: Period 9 31-Dec-16

Original Budget Revised Budget 
Period 9

Profiled Budget 
to Period 9 Actual to date

Projected 
Position
 for Year

Projected Variation for 
Year: Overspend / 

(Underspend)

Variation as % of 
Revised Budget: 

Overspend / 
(Underspend)

£m £m £m £m £m £m

Adult Social Care Operations
Older People Gross Costs 66.697 -                       -                       -                       -                       -                                     

Income (15.221) -                       -                       -                       -                       -                                     
Net 51.476 -                       -                       -                       -                       -                                     

Other Vulnerable Adults Gross Costs 12.996 -                       -                       -                       -                       -                                     
Income (1.293) -                       -                       -                       -                       -                                     
Net 11.703 -                       -                       -                       -                       -                                     

Adults 18+ Gross Costs -                       75.278 56.898 56.863 77.578 2.300 3.1%
Income -                       (17.124) (13.595) (11.697) (17.124) -                                     -                       
Net -                       58.154 43.303 45.166 60.454 2.300 4.0%

Mental Health Gross Costs 26.541 24.524 19.395 17.728 25.559 1.035 4.2%
Income (3.354) (3.417) (2.675) (2.260) (3.417) -                                     -                       
Net 23.187 21.107 16.720 15.468 22.142 1.035 4.9%

Learning Disabilities Gross Costs 50.322 46.362 35.563 34.498 47.095 0.733 1.6%
Income (3.129) (3.312) (2.345) (3.364) (3.312) -                                     -                       
Net 47.193 43.050 33.218 31.134 43.783 0.733 1.7%

Adult Care Commissioning & Housing
Resources, Strategy & Commissioning Gross Costs 2.271 11.225 8.253 6.191 8.125 (3.100) (27.6%)

Income (0.808) (1.538) (1.215) (0.879) (1.538) -                                     -                       
Net 1.463 9.687 7.038 5.312 6.587 (3.100) (32.0%)

Housing Services Gross Costs 8.685 8.656 6.924 6.372 8.656 -                                     -                       
Income (4.526) (4.461) (3.396) (3.376) (4.461) -                                     -                       
Net 4.159 4.195 3.528 2.996 4.195 -                                     -                       

Public Health & Public Protection
Public Health Grant Gross Costs 18.269 16.522 10.169 12.131 16.522 -                                     -                       

Income (18.269) (16.522) (11.954) (12.078) (16.522) -                                     -                       
Net -                       -                       (1.785) 0.053 -                       -                                     

P
age 45



APPENDIX C

Wiltshire Council Revenue Budget Monitoring Statement: Period 9 31-Dec-16

Original Budget Revised Budget 
Period 9

Profiled Budget 
to Period 9 Actual to date

Projected 
Position
 for Year

Projected Variation for 
Year: Overspend / 

(Underspend)

Variation as % of 
Revised Budget: 

Overspend / 
(Underspend)

£m £m £m £m £m £m

Other Public Health & Public Protection Gross Costs 3.428 3.529 2.666 2.733 3.529 -                                     -                       
Income (0.922) (0.907) (0.753) (0.936) (0.907) -                                     -                       
Net 2.506 2.622 1.913 1.797 2.622 -                                     -                       

Leisure Gross Costs 5.896 7.699 5.744 5.877 7.699 -                                     -                       
Income (5.275) (7.617) (6.014) (6.132) (7.617) -                                     -                       
Net 0.621 0.082 (0.270) (0.255) 0.082 -                                     -                       

Operational Children's Services
Children's Social Care Gross Costs 33.689 37.171 27.857 28.597 38.990 1.819 4.9%

Income (2.300) (2.405) (1.397) (1.116) (2.405) -                                     -                       
Net 31.389 34.766 26.460 27.481 36.585 1.819 5.2%

0-25 Service: Disabled Children & Adults Gross Costs 39.515 40.757 29.992 31.578 43.258 2.501 6.1%
Income (23.915) (25.334) (0.684) (0.410) (25.334) -                                     -                       
Net 15.600 15.423 29.308 31.168 17.924 2.501 16.2%

Early Help Gross Costs 6.691 7.263 6.358 6.454 7.285 0.022 0.3%
Income (4.708) (5.194) (1.401) (1.463) (5.194) -                                     -                       
Net 1.983 2.069 4.957 4.991 2.091 0.022 1.1%

Commissioning, Performance & School Effectiveness
School Effectiveness Gross Costs 5.973 4.648 3.157 2.922 4.646 (0.002) (0.0%)

Income (3.892) (2.845) (2.134) (1.799) (2.845) -                                     -                       
Net 2.081 1.803 1.023 1.123 1.801 (0.002) (0.1%)

Safeguarding Gross Costs 1.586 1.771 1.358 1.385 1.750 (0.021) (1.2%)
Income (0.199) (0.286) (0.278) (0.267) (0.286) -                                     -                       
Net 1.387 1.485 1.080 1.118 1.464 (0.021) (1.4%)

Funding Schools Gross Costs 264.750 134.811 67.367 93.186 134.811 -                                     -                       
Income (264.750) (134.811) (6.573) (31.355) (134.811) -                                     -                       
Net -                       -                       60.794 61.831 -                       -                                     

Commissioning & Performance Gross Costs 32.037 32.194 24.655 24.083 32.383 0.189 0.6%
Income (23.967) (24.878) (1.352) (2.281) (24.878) -                                     -                       
Net 8.070 7.316 23.303 21.802 7.505 0.189 2.6%

Economy & Planning
Economy & Planning Gross Costs 10.059 10.993 8.138 7.826 10.993 -                                     -                       

Income (6.442) (6.819) (5.093) (4.227) (6.619) 0.200 (2.9%)
Net 3.617 4.174 3.045 3.599 4.374 0.200 4.8%

Highways & Transport
Highways Gross Costs 19.146 18.765 14.090 14.170 18.765 -                                     -                       

Income (2.118) (1.743) (1.357) (2.330) (1.743) -                                     -                       
Net 17.028 17.022 12.733 11.840 17.022 -                                     -                       

Transport Gross Costs 19.204 18.807 12.792 13.733 18.677 (0.130) (0.7%)
Income (2.097) (1.673) (1.458) (1.698) (1.673) -                                     -                       
Net 17.107 17.134 11.334 12.035 17.004 (0.130) (0.8%)

Car Parking Gross Costs 1.626 1.559 1.146 1.204 1.559 -                                     -                       
Income (7.666) (7.666) (5.839) (5.470) (7.516) 0.150 (2.0%)
Net (6.040) (6.107) (4.693) (4.266) (5.957) 0.150 (2.5%)

Waste & Environment

P
age 46



APPENDIX C

Wiltshire Council Revenue Budget Monitoring Statement: Period 9 31-Dec-16

Original Budget Revised Budget 
Period 9

Profiled Budget 
to Period 9 Actual to date

Projected 
Position
 for Year

Projected Variation for 
Year: Overspend / 

(Underspend)

Variation as % of 
Revised Budget: 

Overspend / 
(Underspend)

£m £m £m £m £m £m

Waste Gross Costs 38.683 38.510 26.299 24.065 38.510 -                                     -                       
Income (5.814) (6.284) (6.448) (6.746) (6.284) -                                     -                       
Net 32.869 32.226 19.851 17.319 32.226 -                                     -                       

Environment Services Gross Costs 5.716 5.578 4.210 4.406 5.638 0.060 1.1%
Income (1.730) (1.592) (1.304) (1.047) (1.502) 0.090 (5.7%)
Net 3.986 3.986 2.906 3.359 4.136 0.150 3.8%

Communities & Communications
Communications Gross Costs 1.188 1.617 1.203 1.028 1.350 (0.267) (16.5%)

Income (0.080) (0.080) (0.060) (0.016) (0.080) -                                     -                       
Net 1.108 1.537 1.143 1.012 1.270 (0.267) (17.4%)

Libraries, Heritage & Arts Gross Costs 6.489 6.360 5.232 5.911 6.787 0.427 6.7%
Income (1.724) (1.445) (1.113) (1.061) (1.445) -                                     -                       
Net 4.765 4.915 4.119 4.850 5.342 0.427 8.7%

Corporate Function, Procurement & Programme Office
Corporate Function, Procurement & Programme Office Gross Costs 5.629 9.487 7.493 8.235 9.487 -                                     -                       

Income (0.752) (2.041) (1.806) (2.492) (2.041) -                                     -                       
Net 4.877 7.446 5.687 5.743 7.446 -                                     -                       

Finance
Finance, Revenues & Benefits, & Pensions Gross Costs 14.851 15.637 11.523 12.473 15.787 0.150 1.0%

Income (11.734) (12.407) (6.750) (7.422) (12.407) -                                     -                       
Net 3.117 3.230 4.773 5.051 3.380 0.150 4.6%

P
age 47



APPENDIX CWiltshire Council Revenue Budget Monitoring Statement: Period 9 31-Dec-16

Original Budget Revised Budget 
Period 9

Profiled Budget 
to Period 9 Actual to date

Projected 
Position
 for Year

Projected Variation for 
Year: Overspend / 

(Underspend)

Variation as % of 
Revised Budget: 

Overspend / 
(Underspend)

£m £m £m £m £m £m

Revenues & Benefits - Subsidy Gross Costs 118.126 111.386 85.960 86.023 111.386 -                                     -                       
Income (118.626) (111.886) (83.138) (83.138) (111.886) -                                     -                       
Net (0.500) (0.500) 2.822 2.885 (0.500) -                                     -                       

Legal & Governance
Legal & Governance Gross Costs 4.839 4.397 3.088 5.134 4.137 (0.260) (5.9%)

Income (2.332) (2.332) (1.585) (2.096) (1.717) 0.615 (26.4%)
Net 2.507 2.065 1.503 3.038 2.420 0.355 17.2%

People & Business Services
Human Resources & Organisational Development Gross Costs 5.110 6.061 4.480 4.269 6.061 -                                     -                       

Income (1.918) (2.142) (1.671) (1.795) (2.142) -                                     -                       
Net 3.192 3.919 2.809 2.474 3.919 -                                     -                       

Business Services Gross Costs 5.433 2.607 1.933 2.086 2.607 -                                     -                       
Income (2.072) (0.875) (0.779) (0.905) (0.875) -                                     -                       
Net 3.361 1.732 1.154 1.181 1.732 -                                     -                       

Strategic Asset & Facilities Management Gross Costs 16.213 16.454 13.233 10.694 16.454 -                                     -                       
Income (4.402) (4.452) (3.322) (3.357) (4.452) -                                     -                       
Net 11.811 12.002 9.911 7.337 12.002 -                                     -                       

Information Services Gross Costs 11.299 11.599 10.192 10.136 11.599 -                                     -                       
Income (1.012) (2.086) (1.595) (1.732) (2.086) -                                     -                       
Net 10.287 9.513 8.597 8.404 9.513 -                                     -                       

Corporate Directors
Corporate Directors Gross Costs 0.854 0.854 0.669 0.774 0.854 -                                     -                       

Income (0.027) (0.027) (0.010) (0.088) (0.027) -                                     -                       
Net 0.827 0.827 0.659 0.686 0.827 -                                     -                       

Members Gross Costs 2.006 2.016 1.487 1.574 2.016 -                                     -                       
Income -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -                                     
Net 2.006 2.016 1.487 1.574 2.016 -                                     -                       

Corporate
Movement on Reserves -                       (0.403) (0.403) (0.403) (1.403) (1.000) 248.1%
Capital Financing 23.999 23.999 8.240 5.398 23.999 -                                     -                       
Restructure & Contingency 0.926 0.301 0.401 0.751 (2.613) (2.914) (968.1%)
General Government Grants (37.942) (37.067) (30.121) (32.861) (39.067) (2.000) 5.4%
Corporate Levys 7.859 7.859 6.179 5.652 7.859 -                                     -                       

Net (5.158) (5.311) (15.704) (21.463) (11.225) (5.914) 111.4%

Wiltshire Council General Fund Total Gross Costs 860.659 729.786 503.820 522.876 729.328 (0.458) (0.1%)
Income (547.074) (416.201) (179.094) (205.033) (415.146) 1.055 (0.3%)
Net 313.585 313.585 324.726 317.843 314.182 0.597 0.2%

Housing Revenue Account (HRA) Gross Costs 24.769 24.732 7.814 8.300 24.732 -                                     -                       
Income (25.744) (25.707) (18.917) (19.307) (25.707) -                                     -                       
Net (0.975) (0.975) (11.103) (11.007) (0.975) -                                     -                       

Total Including HRA Gross Costs 885.428 786.806 538.347 560.199 754.060 (0.458) (0.1%)
Income (572.818) (474.196) (224.724) (249.430) (440.853) 1.055 (0.2%)
Net 312.610 312.610 313.623 310.769 313.207 0.597 0.2%

P
age 48



Wiltshire Council Forecast Variance Movements Appendix D

Variance 
Reported for 

Period 4
Movement in 

Period
Variance Reported 

for Period 7
Movement 

in Period
Variance Reported 

for Period 9
Adult Social Care Operations £m £m
Adults 18+ 0.000 1.586 1.586 0.714 2.300
Mental Health 0.000 0.664 0.664 0.371 1.035
Learning Disabilities 0.000 0.479 0.479 0.254 0.733
Adult Care Commissioning, Safeguarding & Housing
Resources, Strategy & Commissioning 0.000 (3.100) (3.100) 0.000 (3.100)
Housing Services (0.100) 0.100 0.000 0.000 0.000
Public Health & Public Protection
Public Health Grant 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000
Other Public Health & Public Protection 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000
Leisure (0.250) 0.250 0.000 0.000 0.000
Operational Children's Services
Children's Social Care 1.800 0.177 1.977 (0.158) 1.819
0-25 Service: Disabled Children & Adults 1.300 1.029 2.329 0.172 2.501
Early Help 0.000 0.138 0.138 (0.116) 0.022
Commissioning, Performance & School Effectiveness
School Effectiveness 0.000 (0.002) (0.002) 0.000 (0.002)
Safeguarding 0.000 (0.021) (0.021) 0.000 (0.021)
Funding Schools 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000
Commissioning & Performance 0.000 0.189 0.189 0.000 0.189
Economy & Planning
Economy & Planning 0.090 0.110 0.200 0.000 0.200
Highways & Transport
Highways 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000
Transport 0.000 0.000 0.000 (0.130) (0.130)
Car Parking 0.100 0.000 0.100 0.050 0.150
Waste & Environment
Waste 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000
Environment Services 0.000 0.150 0.150 0.000 0.150
Communications, Community Area Boards, Libraries, Arts, 
Heritage & Culture
Communications 0.000 (0.267) (0.267) 0.000 (0.267)
Libraries, Heritage & Arts 0.350 0.077 0.427 0.000 0.427
Corporate Function, Procurement & Programme Office
Corporate Function, Procurement & Programme Office 0.150 (0.150) 0.000 0.000 0.000
Finance
Finance, Revenues & Benefits, & Pensions 0.150 0.000 0.150 0.000 0.150
Revenues & Benefits - Subsidy 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000
Legal & Governance
Legal & Governance 0.560 (0.205) 0.355 0.000 0.355
People & Business Services
Human Resources & Organisational Development 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000
Business Services 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000
Strategic Asset & Facilities Management 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000
Information Services 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000
Corporate Directors
Corporate Directors 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000
Members 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000
Corporate
Movement on Reserves 0.000 (1.000) (1.000) 0.000 (1.000)
Capital Financing 2.000 (2.000) 0.000 0.000 0.000
Restructure & Contingency 2.150 (1.464) 0.686 (3.600) (2.914)
General Government Grants 0.000 (1.000) (1.000) (1.000) (2.000)
Corporate Levys 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000

TOTAL FORECAST VARIANCE MOVEMENT 8.300 (4.260) 4.040 (3.443) 0.597

HRA Budget 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000

Page 49



This page is intentionally left blank



Wiltshire Council      
 
Cabinet 
 
7 February 2017 
______________________________________________________________ 

 
Subject:    Capital Monitoring Period 9 2016/2017 
 
Cabinet member:   Councillor Dick Tonge - Finance 
 
Key Decision:  No 
______________________________________________________________ 
 
 

Executive Summary  
 
The report details changes to the budget made since the 2016/2017 budget 
was set in February 2016 over and above the changes detailed in the Period 
7 report. 
 
The report reflects the position of the 2016/2017 spend against budget as at 
Period 9 (end of December 2016). 
 

 

Proposal 
 
To note the budget movements undertaken to the capital programme shown 
in appendices A and B; including reprogramming of £14.142 million between 
2016/2017 and 2017/2018. 
 
To also note the position of the capital programme in Appendix A. 
 

 

Reason for Proposals 
 
To inform Cabinet of the position of the 2016/2017 capital programme as at 
Period 9 (and of December 2016), including highlighting any budget changes. 
 

 

Carolyn Godfrey 
Corporate Director 

Page 51

Agenda Item 8



Wiltshire Council      
 
Cabinet 
 
7 February 2017 
______________________________________________________________ 

 
Subject:    Capital Monitoring Period 9 2016/2017 (as at 31 

December 2016) 
 
Cabinet member:   Councillor Dick Tonge - Finance 

 
Key Decision:  No 
______________________________________________________________ 
 
Purpose of Report 
 
1. To inform Cabinet on the position of the 2016/2017 Capital Programme, 

as at Period 9 (end of December 2016), including highlighting budget 
changes. A budget monitoring report to members is taken to Cabinet 
Capital Assets Committee quarterly in September, December, February 
and June. This report focuses on major variations in budget. 

 
Budget Movements 
 
2. The original budget for 2016/2017 was presented to the Council as part 

of the budget meeting on 23 February 2016. Since that date there have 
been a number of changes to the budget for 2016/2017, largely due to 
reprogramming of budget from 2015/2016 and to 2017/2018; but also to 
reflect additional funding being available. The changes to the budget 
since it was last amended in the Budget Setting report are summarised 
in the table that follows, a fuller breakdown of the changes made at a 
scheme by scheme level is attached as Appendix A. 

Page 52



Breakdown of Budget Amendments from Period 7 Budget to Period 9 
Budget (end of December 2016) 

 

 £m Notes 

 
Budget Period 7 2016/2017 
 

 
129.085 

 

 
Additions/amendments to the Capital Programme 2016/2017 since Period 7 Budget 

 

 
Additional Budgets added to Programme 
 

 
0.596 

 
See Appendix A and B 
section 1 for further details 
 

 
Reduced Budgets 
 

 
(0.307) 

 
See Appendix A for further 
details 
 

 
Budgets reprogrammed from 2016/2017 into 
2017/2018 
 

 
(14.142) 

 
See Appendices A and B 
section 2 for further details 
 

 
Current Budget 2016/2017  
 

 
115.232 

 

 
 
3. The budget additions shown above largely reflect increases in funding 

being available and brought into the programme under the Chief 
Financial Officer delegated authority. They largely comprise of additional 
grants from Central Government, Section 106 contributions and other 
contributions used to finance capital spend within the capital programme. 
Further information on the budget movements at an individual scheme 
level is shown in Appendix A and in further detail in Appendix B. 
 

4. As part of this report the programme has been reduced by £0.307 million 
to reflect changes to the approved capital budgets within the revenue 
provision (interest and capital repayment) of £23.999 million; 
commentary on these amounts is given in Appendix C. 

 
5. The budgets that have been reprogrammed into 2017/2018 are shown in 

further detail in Appendices A and B, with the higher value amounts also 
explained in the narrative for schemes in Appendix C. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 53



Summary of Position as at 31 December 2016 
 
6. The current budget for the year 2016/2017 is £115.232 million. Actual 

spend on schemes as at 31 December 2016 was £56.246 million. A full 
breakdown of these figures is attached in Appendix A. 
 

7. There are no anticipated significantly overspending schemes in the 
capital programme. 

 
8. The Capital Financing budget is currently projected to balance at year 

end.  This will be continually monitored as the Councils investment and 
borrowing position changes. 

 
9. The amended capital programme approved by the Corporate Leadership 

Team will be now presented to Cabinet for approval in February 2017 as 
part of the Budget setting process.   

 
10. Further information on the movements undertaken and the final position 

of some of the larger schemes is set out in Appendix C, along with 
updates on the capital receipts received during 2016/2017.  

 
Risks Assessment 
 
11. The capital budget for 2016/2017, as detailed in this report, has been 

revised to £115.232 million. Within any capital programme there are a 
number of potential risks such as from cost overruns or lower than 
expected levels of capital receipts. Such issues will be highlighted as 
soon as they establish themselves through the quarterly reporting 
process. Members may wish to bear in mind that the capital programme 
has been set for four years and therefore risks will be appraised over the 
whole period. 
 

Equality and Diversity Impact of the Proposal 
 
12. None have been identified as arising directly from this report. 
 
Financial Implications 
 
13. This is a report from the Chief Finance Officer and the financial 

implications are discussed in the detail of this report. 
 

Legal Implications 
 
14. None have been identified as arising directly from this report. 
 
 
 
Public Health Implications 
 
15. None have been identified as arising directly from this report. 

Page 54



 
Environmental Implications 
 
16. Wiltshire Council is now included in the Carbon Reduction Commitment 

(CRC); the UK’s mandatory climate change and energy saving scheme. 
The objectives of the scheme are to improve energy efficiency and 
reduce carbon dioxide emissions. It is calculated that 79% of the 
Council’s carbon footprint comes from energy use in buildings. Capital 
schemes therefore have the potential to greatly increase or decrease 
carbon emissions, for example schemes making council buildings more 
energy efficient will reduce the Council’s carbon footprint. There are no 
direct impacts of this report, however there are a number of schemes in 
the capital programme that are planned to enable energy efficiency 
benefits for the council. 

 
Safeguarding Implications 
  
17. None have been identified as arising directly from this report. 
 
Proposals 

 
18. To note the budget movements undertaken to the capital programme 

shown in appendices A and B; including reprogramming of £14.142 
million between 2016/2017 and 2017/2018. 

 
To also note the position of the capital programme in Appendix A. 

 
Background Papers and Consultation 
 

None 
 
Contact Name: 

 
Michael Hudson, Associate Director Finance, ext 13601 
Michael.hudson@wiltshire.gov.uk 
 
Report Author: Stuart Donnelly, Head of Finance (Corporate). 

 
Appendices: 
 

Appendix A – 2016/2017 Capital Programme Budget Movements and 
spend to 31 December 2016 

Appendix B –   Delegated authority for budget movements 
Appendix C –   Narrative on specific schemes 

Page 55

mailto:Michael.hudson@wiltshire.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix A

Scheme Name Period 7 Budget

Budget 
Movements 

between 
Schemes

Additional 
Budgets added to 

Programme 
(Section 1 

Appendix B)

Grant 
Amendments Reduced Budgets

Budgets 
reprogrammed 
from 2016/2017 
into 2017/2018 

(Section 2 
Appendix B)

Current Budget 
Period 9 

2016/2017

Spend to 31 
December 2016

Spend to 31 
December 2016

£m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m %
Economy
Carbon Reduction Schemes 0.201 0.201 0.191 95.02%

Oil to Biomass Schemes 0.921 0.921 0.002 0.22%

Other Economic Development Schemes 0.074 0.074 0.070 94.59%

Strategic Economic Plan 2.448 2.448 0.000 0.00%

Corsham Mansion House 1.869 1.869 0.086 4.60%

A350 West Ashton/Yarnbrook Junction Improvements 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.00%

Chippenham Station HUB 1.972 1.972 0.094 4.77%

LTB Scheme A350 North of Chippenham Bypass Improvements 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.00%

A350 Dualling Chippenham Bypass 0.000 0.000 0.575 0.00%

M4 Junction 17 0.000 0.000 0.066 0.00%

Porton Science Park 4.829 (2.377) 2.452 0.516 21.04%

Other Local Growth Fund Schemes 0.000 0.000 0.063 0.00%

Wiltshire Ultrafast Broadband 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.00%

Salisbury Marketplace Churchfields & The Maltings 0.000 0.000 0.029 0.00%

Bowerhill Portal Way Improvement Works 0.079 (0.047) 0.032 0.031 96.88%

Integrated Transport 2.977 0.272 3.249 2.817 86.70%

Structural Maintenance (Grant & Council Funded) 16.210 16.210 17.361 107.10%

Pothole Fund Grant 0.866 0.866 0.344 39.72%

A350 Chippenham (Pinch Point) 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.00%

Local Sustainable Transport Fund 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.00%

Wiltshire Online 5.010 0.088 (0.152) (2.195) 2.751 0.000 0.00%

Farmers Roundabout 0.018 0.018 0.002 11.11%
Total Economy 37.474 0.000 0.360 0.000 (0.199) (4.572) 33.063 22.247 67.29%

Community
Health and Wellbeing Centres - Live Schemes 10.154 0.002 10.156 5.835 57.45%

Health and Wellbeing Centres - In Development 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.00%

Area Boards and LPSA PRG Reward Grants 1.041 1.041 0.349 33.53%

Fitness Equipment for Leisure Centres 0.458 0.038 0.496 0.110 22.18%

Churchyards & Cemeteries 0.609 (0.409) 0.200 0.011 5.50%

Start up units in Market Hall Devizes 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.00%

Upgrade Facilities at City Hall 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.00%

Highway flooding prevention and Land Drainage schemes 1.286 1.286 1.222 95.02%

Aldbourne Flood Alleviation Scheme 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.00%

Bridges 1.521 1.521 0.463 30.44%

Salisbury Marketplace Highways Works 0.000 0.000 0.014 0.00%

Passenger Transport Capital 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.00%

Waste Services 0.619 0.619 0.242 39.10%
Fleet Vehicles 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.00%

Sarum Academy Salisbury 0.060 0.060 0.000 0.00%

Basic Need 13.343 (4.793) 8.550 4.428 51.79%

Schools Maintenance & Modernisation 7.735 0.053 0.010 (2.877) 4.921 3.104 63.08%

Devolved Formula Capital 0.777 0.777 0.569 73.23%

Access and Inclusion 0.303 0.303 0.170 56.11%

New Schools 0.964 (0.400) 0.564 0.085 15.07%

School Expansions & Replacements 1.306 (0.800) 0.506 0.268 52.96%

Early Years & Childcare 0.139 0.139 0.057 41.01%

Other Education Schemes 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.00%

Army Rebasing 0.051 0.051 0.362 709.80%

Salisbury CCTV 0.490 0.490 0.019 3.88%
Total Community 40.856 0.053 0.012 0.000 0.000 (9.241) 31.680 17.308 54.63%

Capital Programme Budget Movements and Spend to 31 December 2016

2016/2017 Budget Breakdown

P
age 57



Appendix A

Scheme Name Period 7 Budget

Budget 
Movements 

between 
Schemes

Additional 
Budgets added to 

Programme 
(Section 1 

Appendix B)

Grant 
Amendments Reduced Budgets

Budgets 
reprogrammed 
from 2016/2017 
into 2017/2018 

(Section 2 
Appendix B)

Current Budget 
Period 9 

2016/2017

Spend to 31 
December 2016

Spend to 31 
December 2016

£m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m %

Capital Programme Budget Movements and Spend to 31 December 2016

2016/2017 Budget Breakdown

Supporting People
Disabled Facilities Grants 2.563 0.005 2.568 2.029 79.01%

Other Housing Grants 0.500 0.500 0.000 0.00%

Gypsies and Travellers Projects 3.361 3.361 0.056 1.67%

Council House Build Programme 11.000 11.000 4.968 45.16%

Extra Care Programme 0.000 0.000 0.002 0.00%

Sheltered Housing 0.313 0.313 0.313 100.00%

Affordable Housing including Commuted Sums 0.734 0.734 0.470 64.03%

Social Care Infrastructure & Strategy 0.058 0.058 0.000 0.00%

Complex Needs Bungalows 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.00%

HRA - Refurbishment of Council Stock 12.099 12.099 7.295 60.29%

Universal Infant Free School Meals Capital 0.060 (0.053) 0.007 0.007 100.00%

Public Health Schemes 0.381 (0.319) 0.062 0.062 100.00%
Total Supporting People 31.069 (0.053) 0.005 0.000 0.000 (0.319) 30.702 15.202 49.51%

Changing The Way We Do Business
Buildings Repair & Maintenance 3.746 3.746 0.816 21.78%

Whole Life Building & Equipment Refresh 1.000 1.000 0.000 0.00%

Rural Estates 0.015 (0.010) 0.005 0.000 0.00%

Leisure Centres & Libraries - Capital Works Requirement 0.400 0.400 0.000 0.00%

Hub Programme Office Rationalisation 0.026 0.026 0.033 126.92%

Operational Estate 0.117 0.200 0.317 0.000 0.00%

Depot & Office Strategy 0.519 0.519 0.000 0.00%

ICT Schemes 6.546 6.546 0.414 6.32%

Other Schemes including cross cutting systems 1.284 0.019 (0.108) 1.195 0.179 14.98%

Learning Management System 0.033 0.033 0.005 15.15%

Organisational Change 5.000 5.000 0.000 0.00%

Digitisation 1.000 1.000 0.042 4.20%
Total Changing The Way We Do Business 19.686 0.000 0.219 0.000 (0.108) (0.010) 19.787 1.489 7.53%

Total 2016/2017 Programme 129.085 0.000 0.596 0.000 (0.307) (14.142) 115.232 56.246 48.81%

P
age 58



Appendix B

Cabinet Meeting
Financial Year: 2016/2017

SECTION 1 - DELEGATED CFO POWERS

Project Name: Integrated Transport
Budget Change: 2016/2017 2017/2018 2018/2019

272,087
Funding Source: Developer contributions towards Integrated Transport Works

Project Name: Wiltshire Online
Budget Change: 2016/2017 2017/2018 2018/2019

88,000
Funding Source: BDUK Grant towards Phase 2 Superfast Broadband

Project Name: Health and Wellbeing Centres - Live Schemes
Budget Change: 2016/2017 2017/2018 2018/2019

1,525
Funding Source: Grant from the football foundation for football pitches at Woolmore Farm site

Project Name: Schools Maintenance & Modernisation
Budget Change: 2016/2017 2017/2018 2018/2019

10,227
Funding Source: School contribution towards modernisation works

Project Name: Disabled Facilities Grants
Budget Change: 2016/2017 2017/2018 2018/2019

5,320
Funding Source: Refunded private sector housing grant

Project Name: Operational Estate
Budget Change: 2016/2017 2017/2018 2018/2019

200,000
Funding Source: Capital receipts received towards purchase of Archaeological Store

Project Name: Other Schemes including cross cutting systems
Budget Change: 2016/2017 2017/2018 2018/2019

18,960
Funding Source: Income received from schools to cover leasing of equipment

596,119 Total Delegated Changes Approved by Section 151 Officer

CHIEF FINANCE OFFICER (CFO) - EXERCISE OF DELEGATED POWERS & REQUESTS FOR 
ADDITIONAL RESOURCES WITHIN THE CAPITAL PROGRAMME

7 February 2017

"Adjustment/addition of scheme in the capital programme which has no effect on the net funding position of the programme
i.e. Additional resources available in the form of Grant, Section 106 contributions etc which fund the addition, "

Page 59



Appendix B

Cabinet Meeting
Financial Year: 2016/2017

CHIEF FINANCE OFFICER (CFO) - EXERCISE OF DELEGATED POWERS & REQUESTS FOR 
ADDITIONAL RESOURCES WITHIN THE CAPITAL PROGRAMME

7 February 2017

SECTION 2 - DELEGATED CFO POWERS

Project Name: Porton Science Park
Budget Change: 2016/2017 2017/2018 2018/2019

(2,377,358) 2,373,858 3,500
Funding Source: Local Growth Fund Grant & Wiltshire Council Borrowing

Project Name: Wiltshire Online
Budget Change: 2016/2017 2017/2018 2018/2019

(2,195,252) 1,690,447 504,805
Funding Source: Mixed Resources, Wiltshire Council Resources Borrowing, BDUK Grant, BT Gain Share Re-Investment Contribution

Project Name: Fitness Equipment for Leisure Centres
Budget Change: 2016/2017 2017/2018 2018/2019

37,500 (37,500) 
Funding Source: Wiltshire Council Resources (Borrowing & Receipts)

Project Name: Churchyards & Cemeteries
Budget Change: 2016/2017 2017/2018 2018/2019

(408,609) 408,609
Funding Source: Wiltshire Council Resources (Borrowing & Receipts)

Project Name: Basic Need
Budget Change: 2016/2017 2017/2018 2018/2019

(4,793,197) 4,793,197
Funding Source: Basic Need Grant allocation from Education Funding Agency

Project Name: Schools Maintenance & Modernisation
Budget Change: 2016/2017 2017/2018 2018/2019

(2,877,425) 2,877,425
Funding Source: School Condition Grant allocation from Education Funding Agency

Project Name: New Schools
Budget Change: 2016/2017 2017/2018 2018/2019

(400,000) 400,000
Funding Source: Basic Need Grant allocation from Education Funding Agency

Project Name: School Expansions & Replacements
Budget Change: 2016/2017 2017/2018 2018/2019

(800,000) 800,000
Funding Source: Basic Need Grant allocation from Education Funding Agency

Project Name: Public Health Schemes
Budget Change: 2016/2017 2017/2018 2018/2019

(319,000) 319,000
Funding Source: Substance Misuse Grant from Public Health England

Project Name: Rural Estates
Budget Change: 2016/2017 2017/2018 2018/2019

(10,000) 10,000
Funding Source: Wiltshire Council Resources (Borrowing & Receipts)

14,143,341 Total Re-programming between years

"Schemes within the capital programme which require the reprogramming of expenditure between years due to scheme 
not progressing as originally anticipated or other circumstances"

Page 60



Appendix B

Cabinet Meeting
Financial Year: 2016/2017

CHIEF FINANCE OFFICER (CFO) - EXERCISE OF DELEGATED POWERS & REQUESTS FOR 
ADDITIONAL RESOURCES WITHIN THE CAPITAL PROGRAMME

7 February 2017

SECTION 3 - REQUESTS TO CABINET FOR ADDITIONAL RESOURCES

Project Name:
Budget Change: 2016/2017 2017/2018 2018/2019

Funding Source: There are no requests for additional resources detailed within this report

0 

In the exercise of my delegated powers (Section 1 and 2), I hereby authorise the amendments to the Capital Programme 
summarised above.

CHIEF FINANCE 
OFFICER: Michael Hudson

DATE: February 2017

"Adjustment/addition of scheme to the capital programme which places an additional funding requirement on the programme"

Total requests for additional resources

Page 61



This page is intentionally left blank



 Appendix C 
 

Further Information on Schemes in the Capital Programme and Funding Sources 
as at Month 9 (31 December 2016) 
 
Economy 
 

1. The main contractor is now on site at Porton Science Park with work due to 
complete in October 2017.  As part of this report reprogramming of £2.377 
million has taken place from 2016/2017 to 2017/2018 to reflect the revised 
cashflow forecast of the scheme. 

 
2. The project at Bowerhill Portal Way has now completed and final accounts 

are settled.  The final position sees an underspend of £0.047million. 
 

3. Wiltshire Online; Phase 1 build is now complete with phase 2 underway.  The 
final payment claim to BT for phase 1 has been paid with 10% withheld whilst 
end of life assurance work is carried out at the closure of the phase 1 
contract.  A revised phase 2 profile has been agreed with BT and BDUK 
which sees £2.195 million of reprogramming into 2017/2018 from 2016/2017.   

 
Community 
 

1. £4.793 million of reprogramming from 2016/2017 to 2017/2018 has taken 
place in this report on Basic Need schemes.  This reflects the spend profile 
on major build schemes at Stonehenge School, Old Sarum, and Castlemead 
Schools and other smaller schemes. 
 

2. £2.877 million of reprogramming from 2016/2017 to 2017/2018 has taken 
place in this report on Schools Modernisation schemes.  Much of this has 
been allocated to schemes detailed in a paper to Cabinet Capital Assets 
Committee on 17th January 2017.  Following its approval work on the design 
and planning stages will now begin on the approved schemes.  

 
Supporting People 
 

1. The Free School Meals Capital scheme is now complete with all extensions 
and improvements now finished and no further payments expected. 
 

2. Public Health Schemes; £0.319 million has been reprogrammed from 
2016/2017 into 2017/2018 in this report.  This relates to a substance misuse 
scheme where plans are being discussed. 
 

Changing the Way We Do Business 
 

3. Existing programmes of work such as Building Repairs and Maintenance and 
ICT schemes continue.  They are joined by new programmes of work with 
budgets approved in February 2016 for Digitisation and Organisational 
Change schemes to modernise the way we work and interact with our 
customers. 

 
 

Page 63



 Appendix C 
 

Funding of the Capital Programme 
 

4. The capital programme is funded by 3 principal sources; grants & 
contributions, capital receipts and borrowing.  
 

5. Grants and Contributions fund the largest proportion of the programme, the 
total received in these areas in 2016/2017 as at 31 December 2016 is 
£29.996 million with a further £12.300 million to be received in 2016/2017 and 
used to finance the programme.  As in previous years the largest grants 
received are for Highways and Education schemes. 

 
6. As at the end of December 2016 a net total of £10.901 million of income has 

been received from Capital Receipts from the proceeds of fixed asset sales.  
These include general asset disposals such as the sale of airspace above 
London Road Park and Ride in Salisbury, Pennyfarthing House, Bowerhill 
Professional Development Centre and the final payment for the Shurnhold 
site in Melksham. 28 sales under the Council Housing Right to Buy (RTB) 
scheme have also been received.  The target for receipts that can be used to 
finance the capital programme is £11.000 million.  The level of receipts is 
closely monitored during the year and currently forecast to be achieved.  

 
7. Borrowing makes up the final element of financing the capital programme and 

currently a total of £31.876 million is required to be borrowed to fund the 
budget. 

Page 64



 

 

Wiltshire Council 
     
Cabinet  
         
07 February 2017 

 
Subject:  Treasury Management Strategy 2017/2018 
 
Cabinet member:  Councillor Richard Tonge - Finance 
    
Key Decision: No 
 

 

Executive Summary  
 
This report presents the Treasury Management Strategy for 2017/2018 including: 
 
a)  the Prudential and Treasury Indicators (PrIs and TrIs) for the next three years  
b)  other debt management decisions required for 2017/2018 that do not feature 

within the PrIs or TrIs, as shown in paragraphs 3.11 to 3.21; and 
c)  the Annual Investment Strategy for 2017/2018 
 
This report has been prepared in accordance with CIPFA Code of Practice for Treasury 
Management in the Public Services 2011.  There are no changes from the Treasury 
Management Strategy 2016/2017 adopted by the Council in February 2016. 
 

 

Proposals 
 
The Cabinet is requested to recommend that the Council: 
 
a) adopt the Prudential and Treasury Indicators (Appendix A)  
b) adopt the Annual Investment Strategy (Appendix B)  
c)        delegate to the Associate Director, Finance the authority to vary the amount of 

borrowing and other long term liabilities within both the Treasury Indicators for 
the Authorised Limit and the Operational Boundary; 

d)  authorise the Associate Director, Finance to agree the restructuring of existing 
long-term loans where savings are achievable or to enhance the long term 
portfolio; 

e)  agree that short term cash surpluses and deficits continue to be managed 
through temporary loans and deposits; and 

f)  agree that any surplus cash balances not required to cover borrowing are 
placed in authorised money-market funds, particularly where this is more cost 
effective than short term deposits and delegate to the Associate Director, 
Finance the authority to select such funds. 

 

Reasons for Proposals 
 
To enable the Council to agree a Treasury Management Strategy for 2017/2018 and 
set Prudential Indicators that comply with statutory guidance and reflect best 
practice. 

 

Page 65

Agenda Item 9



Carolyn Godfrey 
Corporate Director 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 66



Wiltshire Council 
     
Cabinet  
         
07 February 2017 
 

 
Subject:  Treasury Management Strategy 2017/2018 
 
Cabinet member:  Councillor Richard Tonge - Finance 
    
Key Decision: No 
 

 
1. Purpose of Report   
 
1.1 This report asks the Cabinet to consider and recommend that the Council 

approve the Prudential and Treasury Indicators, together with the Treasury 
Management Strategy for 2017/2018. 

 
2. Background 
 
2.1 The Council is required by legislation to approve an annual Treasury 

Management Strategy, which incorporates the setting of Prudential and Treasury 
Indicators and an Annual Investment Strategy. 
 

3. Main Considerations for the Cabinet 
 

Prudential Indicators (Prls) and Treasury Indicators (Trls) 
 

Basis of the Indicators 
 
3.1 A summary of the PrIs and TrIs is shown in Appendix A.  The key indicators are 

the Treasury Indicators relating to the Authorised Limit (TrI 1) and the Operational 
Boundary (TrI 2), which control the Council’s maximum exposure to debt. 

 
3.2 The PrIs and TrIs have been set on the basis of all known commitments and the 

effect of all known revenue and capital proposals relating to the Council. 
 
Monitoring and Reporting of the Prudential Indicators 

 
3.3 Progress will be monitored against the PrIs and TrIs throughout the year, 

particularly against the two borrowing limits.  Cabinet will be kept informed of any 
issues that arise, including potential or actual breaches.  Members will receive 
quarterly capital monitoring reports and quarterly treasury reports. 

 
3.4 The elements within the Authorised Limit and the Operational Boundary, for 

borrowing and other long term liabilities require the approval of the Council.  In 
order to give operational flexibility, members are asked to delegate to the 
Associate Director, Finance the ability to effect movements between the two 
elements where this is considered necessary.  Any such changes will be reported 
to members in the quarterly treasury report.  The operational boundary is a key 
management tool for in-year monitoring.  It will not be significant if the operational 
boundary is breached temporarily on occasions due to variations in cash flow.  

Page 67



However, a sustained or regular trend above the operational boundary is 
considered significant and will lead to further investigation and action as 
appropriate.  Any breach of the operational boundary will be reported to members 
at the earliest meeting following the breach.  The authorised limit will in addition 
need to provide headroom over and above the operational boundary, sufficient 
for unusual cash movements, for example, and should not be breached.  

 
Borrowing Strategy 

 
Levels 

 
3.5 The Council is currently maintaining an under-borrowed position.  This means 

that the capital borrowing need (the Capital Financing Requirement), has not 
been fully funded (please refer to Appendix A – paragraph 10) with loan debt as 
cash supporting the Council’s reserves, balances and cash flow have been used 
as a temporary measure (internal borrowing).  This strategy is prudent, as 
investment returns are low and by borrowing internally and, therefore, having less 
cash to invest, counterparty (the other party that participates in a financial 
transaction, such as an organisation/bank from whom the Council borrows 
money/with which the Council deposits cash surpluses) risk is reduced. 
 

3.6 Against this background and the risks within the economic forecast, caution will 
be adopted with the 2017/2018 treasury operations.  The Associate Director, 
Finance will monitor interest rates in financial markets and adopt a pragmatic 
approach to changing circumstances: 

 
a) if it was considered that there was a significant risk of a sharp fall in 

long and short term rates, e.g. due to a marked increase of risks around 
relapse into recession or of risks of deflation, then long term borrowings 
will be postponed, and potential rescheduling from fixed rate funding 
into short term borrowing will be considered. 

 
b) if it was considered that there was a significant risk of a much sharper 

rise in long and short term rates than that currently forecast, perhaps 
arising from a greater than expected increase in world economic activity 
or a sudden increase in inflation risks, then the portfolio position will be 
re-appraised with the likely action that fixed rate funding will be drawn 
whilst interest rates were still relatively cheap. 

  
Any decisions will be reported to Cabinet at the earliest meeting following the 
decision. 

 
Rate and Timing of Borrowing  
 

3.7 Taking account of the cash required to support the capital programme over the 
next three to five years, the Council has an anticipated underlying requirement, 
subject to the approval of the capital programme at Council on 21 February 2017, 
to borrow an additional £83.8 million between now and the end of 2019/2020.  
This is reflected in PrI 4 in Appendix A (Gross Borrowing – General Fund), i.e. 
the increase in gross borrowing to £314.9 million in 2019/2020 from £231.1 million 
in 2015/2016 and includes the refinancing of maturing loans.  In 2017/2018 
(March 2018) one (PWLB) loan for £10 million matures and becomes repayable. 
 

3.8 The timing of any borrowing is crucial in terms of interest rates and the potential 
to minimise interest costs.  Prior to any actual borrowing the treasury team will, 

Page 68



in conjunction with our treasury advisers, proactively manage the interest rate 
position, using all information available to inform the borrowing decision. 

 
3.9 It is, of course, not always possible to obtain the lowest rates of interest, as there 

is a risk that unforeseen events can significantly alter the level of rates, however, 
ongoing active monitoring of rates will mitigate against this risk. 

 
3.10 In supporting the capital programme, the Council will consider all borrowing 

options, such as: 
 
a) internal borrowing, using medium term cash balances; 
 
b) fixed rate Public Works Loan Board (PWLB) borrowing; 
 
c) long term fixed rate market loans at rates, which, dependent upon market 

conditions and availability, can be significantly below PWLB rates for the 
equivalent maturity period; 

 
The decision will be made whilst maintaining an appropriate balance between 
PWLB and market debt in the debt portfolio. 

 
Other Debt Management Issues 

 
Policy on Borrowing in Advance of Need 

 
3.11 The Council will not borrow more than, or in advance of, its needs purely in order 

to profit from the investment of the extra sums borrowed because it is illegal. Any 
decision to borrow in advance will be within forward approved Capital Financing 
Requirement estimates, and will be considered carefully to ensure that value for 
money can be demonstrated and that the security of such funds is ensured. 

 
Debt Rescheduling 

 
3.12 As short term borrowing rates will be cheaper than longer term fixed interest 

rates, there may be potential opportunities to generate savings by switching from 
long term debt to short term debt.  However, these savings will need to be 
considered in the light of the current treasury position and the size of the debt 
repayment cost (i.e. premiums for early repayment). 

 
3.13 The reasons for any rescheduling to take place will include: 

 
a) the generation of cash savings and / or discounted cash flow savings; 
 
b) helping to fulfil the treasury strategy; 
 
c) enhancing the balance of the portfolio (the maturity profile and/or the 

balance of volatility). 
 
3.14 Consideration will also be given to identify if there is any residual potential for 

making savings by running down investment balances to repay debt early as 
short term rates on investments are likely to be lower than rates paid on current 
debt. 

 
3.15 All rescheduling will be reported to members in a treasury report at the earliest 

meeting following its action. 
 

Page 69



 Lender Option Borrower Option (LOBO) Market Loans 
 
3.16 Wiltshire Council currently has borrowings of £61 million in LOBO loans.   

 
3.17 There are basically two main types of LOBO loan (of which the Council has both 

in its portfolio) 
 
a) a loan with an ‘initial period’ at a relatively low rate of interest, on the 

completion of which, the rate will automatically increase to a ‘secondary 
rate’ under the terms of the loan agreement.  The interest rate is then 
subject to ‘call option dates’ at certain predetermined stages (e.g. every 
six months, every five years) over the life of the loan, at which time the 
lender has the option to set a revised interest rate and the borrower has 
the option to repay the loan without penalty; or 

 
b) a loan subject to ‘call option dates’ only (i.e. there is no ‘secondary rate’) 

at which time the lender has the option to raise the interest rate and the 
borrower has the option to repay the loan without penalty. 

 
3.18 If the lender exercises his option to revise the interest rate at one of the ‘call option 

dates’, the Council’s strategy is that it will always exercise its option to repay the 
loan.  Consideration will then be given to refinancing the debt where the overall 
level of debt prior to the repayment needs to be maintained. 
 

3.19 LOBO loans are treated in accordance with CIPFAs Treasury Management in 
Public Services Guidance Notes for Local Authorities 2011 Edition, relating to the 
determination of the maturity of borrowing that affects the date on which a LOBO 
loan should be treated as maturing.  The Guidance states that “if the lender has 
the right to increase the interest rate payable without limit, such as in a LOBO 
loan, this should be treated as a right to require payment.”  For the purposes of 
the appropriate PrI, therefore, maturity occurs at the next call option date – i.e. 
the date on which the lender has the right to increase the interest rate payable 
without limit.  However, in the current market of relatively low interest rates and 
very little significant upward movement in rates predicted in the near future, it is 
unlikely that the loans would be called in the short to medium term. 

 
PWLB  

 
3.20 As reported in last year’s strategy, the Government have tabled an amendment 

to the National Infrastructure Bill, enabling the abolition of the board of the Public 
Works Loans Commissioners, transferring the functions to another person.  
Following a period of consultation, it has been announced that the Government 
has confirmed plans for the PWLB to be abolished and its functions for lending to 
local authorities transferred to the Treasury.  Operational responsibility will be 
delegated to the Debt Management Office.  The Treasury have stated that the 
reason for the move is to provide a more streamlined, up to date governance 
arrangement and ensure that ministers and accounting officers are properly 
accountable to Parliament, thus replacing the current lines of accountability which 
are outdated and not fit for purpose.  
 

3.21 The government has made clear that the proposed abolition will not impact on 
the government’s lending policy to local authorities. The next steps as outlined in 
the consultation response from Central Government in November 2016 is for the 
government to use its powers in the Public Bodies Act 2011 to lay before 
Parliament a draft Order to implement these changes.  No timescale has yet been 
published. 

Page 70



 
Short Term Cash Deficits   

 
3.22 Temporary loans, where both the borrower and lender have the option to redeem 

the loan within twelve months, are used to offset short term revenue cash deficits.  
They may also be used to cover short term capital requirements until longer term 
loans become more cost effective.  The majority of these loans will be at fixed 
interest rates, maturing on specific dates.  The strategy is that the Council shall 
utilise temporary loans for any short term cash deficits that arise in respect of 
revenue and/or capital. 

 
Cash Investments 

 
Annual Investment Strategy 

 
3.23 The Annual Investment Strategy for 2017/2018, which sets out the policy 

framework for the investment of cash balances, is shown in Appendix B. 
 

Other Key Issues 
 

3.24 Other key issues to note are: 
 

a) the risk appetite of this Council is low in order to give priority to the 
security of its investments; 

 
b) the borrowing of monies purely to invest or on-lend and make a return is 

unlawful; 
 
c) all Council investments will be in sterling.  This will avoid foreign 

exchange rate risk. 
 

Short Term Cash Surpluses 
 

3.25 It is anticipated that temporary short term (up to three months) cash surpluses 
will arise regularly during the year, due to timing differences between income 
streams and payments.  Investment of these surpluses will be in specific 
investments (e.g. short term Sterling investments of less than one year).  Such 
investments will normally be short term deposits maturing on specific dates that 
reflect cash flow requirements at the date the deposit is made.  However, under 
certain market conditions, money market funds will be used, particularly if they 
provide improved returns. 
 
 
 
 

 
Longer Term Cash Surpluses (over three months, up to one year) 

 
3.26 Some cash surpluses, for example core revenue balances, net creditors, accrued 

reserves and special funds such as those for insurance and PFI can be invested 
on a long term basis.  These cash surpluses may be used for capital financing 
requirements, where longer term interest rates mean that it is less cost effective 
to take out longer term loans. 
  

Page 71



3.27 Improved returns may be obtained by placing these surpluses in money market 
funds.  The Associate Director, Finance has delegated authority to select money 
market funds and appoint External Cash Managers within the current approved 
strategy and it is proposed that this authority is retained. 

 
3.28 The proposed Investment Strategy for 2017/2018 includes the use of unspecified 

investments (e.g. more than 12 months to maturity and for which external 
professional advice is required) that the Council’s treasury adviser may 
recommend for investment of longer term cash surpluses. 

 
3.29 Although the Council has been well positioned in terms of the balance between 

both loans and investments, rates of interest paid on deposits have been moving 
slightly lower over the last financial year.  Following a further period of similarly 
low rates, the UK Bank Rate, according to Capita’s latest forecast, is not expected 
to start increasing until quarter three of 2019. 

 
Minimum Revenue Provision 

 
3.30 The minimum revenue provision (MRP) is the amount set aside for the repayment 

of the debt as a result of borrowings made to finance capital expenditure. 
 

3.31 In accordance with Local Authorities (Capital Finance and Accounting) 
Regulations 2008 the Council adopted a MRP annual policy in May 2009. 
 

3.32 For financial year 2016/2017 the annual policy remained unchanged, in that a 
regulatory method of setting aside 4% of the borrowing requirement for supported 
borrowing and an asset life method calculation for any unsupported borrowing 
was applied. 

 
3.33 It is proposed that this policy is retained in 2017/2018 but kept under review.  

  
4. Overview and Scrutiny Engagement  
 
4.1 None have been identified as arising directly from this report. 
 
5. Safeguarding Considerations 
 
5.1 None have been identified as arising directly from this report. 

 
6. Public Health Implications 
 
6.1 None have been identified as arising directly from this report. 
 
7. Procurement Implications 
 
7.1 None have been identified as arising directly from this report. 
 
8. Equalities Impact of the proposal  
 
8.1 None have been identified as arising directly from this report. 
 
9. Environment and Climate Change Considerations 
 
9.1 None have been identified as arising directly from this report. 
 

Page 72



10. Risks Assessment and Financial Implications 
 
10.1 The primary treasury management risks to which the Council is exposed are 

adverse movements in interest rates and the credit risk of its investment 
counterparties. 
 

10.2 The strategies in Appendix A and Appendix B take account of the forecast 
movement in interest rates and allow sufficient flexibility to vary strategy if actual 
movements in interest rates are not in line with the forecast. 
 

10.3 The Council’s treasury adviser is currently predicting the following interest rate 
movements: 
 
a) the Bank Rate was reduced to 0.25% in August 2016.  It is expected to 

rise to 0.50% by the end of the second quarter of 2019.  A further rise of 
0.25% is anticipated in the fourth quarter of 2019, which means that Bank 
Rate will be 0.75% at the end of the forecast period (March 2020); 

 
b) medium term (10 year) PWLB borrowing rates are expected to remain at 

around 2.30% during 2017, then rising gradually to 2.70% by the end of 
March 2020. 

 
10.4 It should be noted that BREXIT negotiations and post US presidential election 

issues could impact the financial markets and whilst these are the central interest 
rate forecasts there could be some volatility during the next three financial years. 
The Authority will monitor the financial market/interest rate forecast updates and 
adjust the Treasury Strategy to mitigate the risks arising from any such volatility.  

  
10.5 The risk that counterparties are unable to repay investments could jeopardise the 

Council’s ability to meet its payments.  Investment counterparty risk is controlled 
by using suitable criteria for assessing and monitoring credit risk, including the 
use of an up to date lending list.  The lending list is based on counterparty 
categories relating to country, type, sector, maximum investment, and maximum 
duration of investment (see Appendix B).  The Council uses the credit worthiness 
service provided by its treasury advisers, which is a comprehensive modelling 
approach incorporating the credit ratings of all three major credit rating agencies, 
together with ‘overlays’ of Credit Default Swap (CDS) spreads (default risk), credit 
watches, credit outlooks and sovereign ratings from the agencies (a more 
detailed explanation is included within the Annual Investment Strategy in 
Appendix B). 

 
10.6 Interest earnings are an important source of revenue for the Council and it is, 

therefore, critical that the portfolio is managed in a way that maximises the 
investment income stream, whilst managing exposure to risk and maintaining 
sufficient liquidity. 

 
11. Legal Implications 
 
11.1 None have been identified as arising directly from this report. 

 
12. Options Considered 
 
12.1 Future consideration will be given to alternative borrowing and investment options 

to improve the cost effectiveness of and return on treasury activities for the 

Page 73



Council.  This may incorporate consideration of alternative sources of capital 
financing, such as the issuing of bonds, rather than the more traditional borrowing 
approaches, together with longer term investments, where appropriate and 
subject to security and liquidity of investments.  Currently, the issuing of bonds 
has not been taken forward because of both the costs of issuance, such as 
gaining and maintaining a suitable credit rating (local authorities, including 
Wiltshire Council are presently rated AAA) and the interest rates, which may not 
be competitive (with PWLB rates). 
 
LGA – Municipal Bond Agency: 
 

12.2 The Council may also consider making use of this new source of borrowing as 
and when (and if) appropriate.  The Municipal Bond Agency is in the process of 
being set up and becoming fully operational and will offer loans to local authorities 
in the near future.  It is also hoped that the borrowing rates will be lower than 
those offered by the Public Works Loan Board (PWLB).   

 
12.3 The options in relation to the revenue and capital budgets in these proposals are 

fully consistent with the figures included within the budget considerations.   
 
13. Conclusion 
 
13.1 The Cabinet is requested to recommend that the Council approves and adopts 

the Treasury Strategy for 2017/2018.  
 
Michael Hudson 
Associate Director, Finance 
  
 
 
 
Report Author:   
 
Stuart Donnelly, Head of Finance (Corporate)  
Tel: 01225 718582, email: stuart.donnelly@wiltshire.gov.uk    
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Background Papers 
 
The following unpublished documents have been relied on in the preparation of this 
Report:   
 
None. 
 
Appendices 
 
Appendix A   Prudential and Treasury Indicators for 2017/2018, 2018/2019 & 

2019/2020  
Appendix B   Annual Investment Strategy for 2017/2018  

Page 74

mailto:stuart.donnelly@wiltshire.gov.uk


APPENDIX A 
Prudential and Treasury Indicators for 2017/2018, 2018/2019 & 2019/2020 
 

1. The Prudential and Treasury Management Codes and Treasury Guidelines 
require the Council to set a number of Prudential and Treasury Indicators for the 
financial year ahead.  This appendix sets out the indicators required by the latest 
codes analysed between Prudential Indicators and Treasury Indicators. 

 
Prudential Indicators 

 
PrI 1 – Capital Expenditure 

 
2. This PrI shows the actual and anticipated level of capital expenditure for the five 

years 2015/2016 to 2019/2020.  The Capital Programme 2017/2018 will be 
submitted to Cabinet and Council in February 2017. The estimates for 2018/2019 
and 2019/2020 are based on indicative figures as part of the Capital Programme, 
and are therefore subject to change. 

 
 
 

2015/2016 
Actual 

£million 

2016/2017 
Expected 
£million 

2017/2018 
Estimate 
£million 

2018/2019 
Estimate 
£million 

2019/2020 
Estimate 
£million 

General Fund 101.5 91.3 94.5 59.7 65.9 

Housing Revenue 
Account 

13.3 23.1 37.0 8.9 8.6 

Total 114.8 114.4 131.5 68.6 74.5 

  

3. The capital expenditure figures shown in PrI 1 assume a certain level of financing 
from borrowing each year.  New and existing borrowing needs to be affordable 
and sustainable. 

 
PrI 2 – Ratio of Financing Costs to Net Revenue Stream 

 
4. PrI 2 identifies the trend in the cost of capital (borrowing and other long term 

obligation costs net of investment income) against the net revenue stream 
(funding receivable from the Government and council tax payers for the General 
Fund and rents receivable in the case of the HRA). 

 
 2015/2016 

Actual 
 

2016/2017 
Expected 

 

2017/2018 
Estimate 

2018/2019 
Estimate 

 

2019/2020 
Estimate 

 

General Fund 6.9% 7.3% 7.6% 7.9% 8.4% 

Housing Revenue 
Account 

14.7% 15.0% 15.2% 15.3% 15.1% 

 
 

5. The General Fund cost of financing will rise proportionately over the reporting 
period because of the effect on financing costs where ‘new debt’ is expected to 
rise faster than ‘old debt’ is repaid.  Previously the rise in General Fund financing 
costs was not an affordability issue as the new borrowing taken out was 
supported by Revenue Support Grant.  Only by the use of continued Unsupported 
Borrowing was there any pressure on the Council Tax.  In terms of the movement 
in the HRA ratio of financing costs in 2016/2017, through 2017/2018, 2018/2019 
and 2019/2020, this is a reflection of fixed borrowing costs over the period against 
expected rental income.     

 
 

Page 75



APPENDIX A 
Prudential and Treasury Indicators for 2017/2018, 2018/2019 & 2019/2020 
 

PrI 3 – Estimate of Incremental Impact of Capital Investment Decisions on the 
Council Tax and Housing Rents 

 
6. PrI 3 represents the potential increase in Council Tax/Housing Rents required to 

fund the planned increase in the capital budgets for the forthcoming year and 
future years as a proportion of the tax base at Band D/average weekly housing 
rents.  Due to the change to the subsidy system there is no planned effect on 
average housing rents due to the additional borrowing required. For 2017/2018, 
as part of a continual review, these figures have been re-calculated in conjunction 
with our treasury management advisors. 

 

 2017/2018 
£ 

2018/2019 
£ 

2019/2020 
£ 

Effect on Band D Council Tax 4.56 5.79 10.84 

Effect on Average Housing Rent 
per week 

0.00 0.00 0.00 

 
PrI 4 – Gross Borrowing and the Capital Financing Requirement 

 
7. PrI 4 measures the so-called “Golden Rule” and focuses on prudence.  Its 

purpose, as described in the Prudential Code, is: “In order to ensure that over the 
medium term gross borrowing will only be for a capital purpose, the local authority 
should ensure that gross borrowing does not, except in the short term, exceed 
the total of capital financing requirement in the preceding year plus the estimates 
of any additional capital financing requirement for the current and next two years”. 

 
8. The Capital Financing Requirement (CFR) increases whenever capital 

expenditure is incurred.  If resourced immediately (from capital receipts, direct 
revenue contributions or capital grant/contributions) the CFR will reduce at the 
same time that the capital expenditure is incurred, resulting in no net increase in 
CFR. 

 
9. Where capital expenditure is not resourced immediately, there is a net increase 

in CFR, represented by an underlying need to borrow for capital purposes, 
whether or not external borrowing actually occurs.  The CFR may then reduce 
over time through future applications of capital receipts, capital 
grants/contributions or further charges to revenue. 

 
10. This PrI is necessary, because under an integrated treasury management 

strategy (in accordance with best practice under the CIPFA Code of Practice on 
Treasury Management in the Public Services), borrowing is not associated with 
particular items or types of expenditure, whether revenue or capital.   

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 76



APPENDIX A 
Prudential and Treasury Indicators for 2017/2018, 2018/2019 & 2019/2020 
 

 

 2015/2016 
Actual 

£million 

2016/2017 
Expected 
£million 

 

2017/2018 
Estimate 
£million 

2018/2019 
Estimate 
£million 

2019/2020 
Estimate 
£million 

CFR – General Fund 393.7 399.3 401.3 401.9 416.0 

CFR – HRA 122.6 122.6 122.6 122.6   122.
6 

Gross Borrowing – Gen 
Fund 

 
231.1 

 
219.0 

 
258.2 

 
274.3 

 
314.9 

Gross Borrowing – HRA 118.8 118.8 118.8 118.8 118.8 

CFR not funded by gross 
borrowing – Gen Fund 

 
162.6 

 
180.3 

 
143.1 

 
127.6 

 
101.1 

CFR not funded by gross 
borrowing – HRA 

 
3.8 

 
3.8 

 
3.8 

 
3.8 

 
3.8 

 

11. General Fund gross borrowing is expected to increase as planned additional 
long term borrowing is taken out. 

 
12. No problems are foreseen in meeting the “Golden Rule” over the period under 

review.  The table above shows a relatively significant margin not funded by gross 
borrowing. 
 
PrI 5 – Compliance with the CIPFA Code of Practice for Treasury Management 
in the Public Services (“The Code”) 

 
13. The Revised CIPFA Code of Practice for Treasury Management in the Public 

Services 2009 was adopted by Wiltshire Council at its meeting on 23 February 
2010.   

 
14. All recommendations within this report are consistent with the Revised CIPFA 

Code.   
 

Treasury Management Indicators within the Prudential Code  
 
TrI 1 – Authorised Limit for External Debt 

 
15. The Authorised Limit is the Operational Boundary (see TrI 2 below), including an 

allowance for unplanned and irregular cash movements.  This allowance is 
difficult to predict, Cabinet approved an amended allowance of 2.5% in the 
Treasury Management Strategy 2012/2013 at its meeting on 15 February 2012. 

 
16. It is proposed that an allowance of 2.5% is continued for General Fund borrowing 

for 2017/2018 to 2019/2020 (e.g. for 2017/2018 this is reflected in the difference 
between the Authorised Limit of £434.9 million in the table below and the 
Operational Boundary of £424.3 million in the table following paragraph 21).  This 
will be kept under review. The allowance provides for the possibility of additional 
borrowing during the year as a result of Government support for further schemes 
and provides headroom where the projection proves too optimistic (payments 
made earlier or receipt of income delayed against that forecast).   

 
17. There is no allowance in respect of HRA borrowing as it is capped and, therefore, 

cannot be exceeded.  
Page 77



APPENDIX A 
Prudential and Treasury Indicators for 2017/2018, 2018/2019 & 2019/2020 
 

 
 
Authorised Limit 

2017/2018 
£million 

2018/2019 
£million 

2019/2020 
£million 

Borrowing – General Fund 434.9 436.3 451.9 

Borrowing – HRA 123.2 123.2 123.2 

Other Long Term Liabilities 0.2 0.2 0.2 

TOTAL 558.3 559.7 575.3 

 

18. The Authorised Limit set by the Council is the statutory borrowing limit under 
Section 3(1) of the Local Government Act 2003, a breach would be serious and, 
therefore, there is the need to build in sufficient headroom. 
 
TrI 2 – Operational Boundary for External Debt 

 
19. The Operational Boundary and the Authorised Limit are central to the Prudential 

Code and reflect the limits that authorities place on the amount of their external 
borrowing. 

 
20. The Operational Boundary is based on a prudent estimate of the most likely 

maximum level of external borrowing for both capital expenditure and cash flow 
purposes, which is consistent with other budget proposals.  The basis of the 
calculation for General Fund borrowing 2017/2018 (£424.3 million) is: 

 

 Expected Capital Financing Requirement at 31 March 2017 of £401.3 
million 

 Plus the expected long-term borrowing to finance capital expenditure 
(unsupported only £16.9million) 

 Less the expected set-aside for debt repayment (£13.9 million) 

 Plus the expected maximum level of short-term cash flow borrowing 
that is anticipated (£20.0 million). 

 
21. The basis of the calculation for HRA borrowing 2017/2018 is the debt settlement 

of £123.2 million. 
 

 
Operational Boundary 

2017/2018 
£million 

2018/2019 
£million 

2019/2020 
£million 

Borrowing 424.3 425.6 440.9 

Borrowing – HRA 123.2 123.2 123.2 

Other Long Term Liabilities 0.2 0.2 0.2 

TOTAL 547.7 549.0 564.3 

 

22. The Operational Boundary for each year also includes a small provision for other 
long term liabilities. 

 
23. The Operational Boundary is a key management tool for monitoring the 

Authority’s expected level of borrowing.  It is essential to ensure that borrowing 
remains within the limits set and to take appropriate action where any likely 
breach is anticipated.  Monitoring will take place through the year and will be 
reported to Cabinet. 

 
 
 

 Page 78



APPENDIX A 
Prudential and Treasury Indicators for 2017/2018, 2018/2019 & 2019/2020 
 

TrI 3 – External Debt – Actuals at 31/03/2016 and Expected at 31/03/2017 
 
24. This TrI shows the amount of gross external debt outstanding in periods prior to 

the budget years under consideration.  Other long term liabilities relate to a 
provision for any borrowing required for finance leases on certain properties, 
plant, vehicles and equipment.  It should be noted that as these figures are taken 
at a point in time, they are not comparable with the Authorised Limit and 
Operational Boundary, which are control limits. 

 

 2016/2017  
Actual 

£million 

2017/2018 
Expected 
£million 

Borrowing – General Fund 255.7 221.2 

Borrowing – HRA 118.8 118.8 

Other Long Term Liabilities 0.2 0.2 

TOTAL 374.7 340.2 

 

The above Trls 1-3, together with the Capital Financing Requirement, are 
represented in the graph below, which shows their relative ‘positioning’.  In order 
that the associated prudential/ treasury indicators are not breached, external debt 
should not exceed the CFR and the CFR should be below both the Operational 
Boundary and the Authorised Limit: 

 

 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

0.0

50.0

100.0

150.0

200.0

250.0

300.0

350.0

400.0

450.0

500.0

2016/2017 2017/2018 2018/2019 2019/2020

£
m

Financial Years

Treasury Management Strategy 2017/2018
Key Treasury (Prudential) Indicators

External Debt Authorised Limit Operational Boundary CFR

Page 79



APPENDIX A 
Prudential and Treasury Indicators for 2017/2018, 2018/2019 & 2019/2020 
 

Treasury Management Indicators within the Treasury Management Code 
 

TrI 4a and 4b – Upper Limit on Fixed Interest Rate Exposures and Variable 
Interest Rate Exposures, respectively 

 
25. Future interest rates are difficult to predict.  Anticipated rates are shown in the 

main report, under Risk Assessment.  Indications are that best value will be 
achieved by taking long-term loans at fixed rates in 2017/2018.  However, 
consideration of short term variable rate loans may prove to be advantageous, in 
2017/2018 and in future financial years.  

 
26. Interest rates will be monitored closely, in conjunction with the treasury adviser, 

to take advantage of any favourable changes in circumstances. The strategy 
should still be flexible, the upper limit for fixed interest rate and variable interest 
rate exposures are set out below. 

 

The Council's upper limit for fixed interest rate exposure for the three 
year period 2017/2018 to 2019/2020 is 100% of net outstanding principal 
sums. 

 

The Council's upper limit for variable interest rate exposure is 52% for 
2017/2018, 54% for 2018/2019 and 56% for 2019/2020 of net outstanding 
principal sums. 

 

TrI 5 – Upper & Lower Limits on the Maturity Structure of Borrowing 
 
27. The Council’s policy needs to ensure that it is not forced to refinance too much of 

its long term debt in any year when interest rates are high.  The current long-term 
General Fund debt, of £229.1 million, falls due for repayment over the next 60 
years.  LOBO (Lender Option Borrower Option) market loans are included at rates 
determined by reference to the earliest date on which the lender can require 
payment (i.e. at the next interest rate call date), as currently recommended by 
CIPFA. 

   
28.  In order to protect the Council from this risk and to safeguard the continuity in 

treasury management financing costs, the following limits have been adopted. 
 

Limits on the Maturity Structure of Borrowing  Upper Lower 
  Limit 

Maturing Period:   

- under 12 months* 25% 0% 

- 12 months and within 24 months* 25% 0% 

-   2 years and within 5 years 45% 0% 

-   5 years and within 10 years 75% 0% 

- 10 years and above 100% 0% 

 
29. Most of the Council’s debt matures within the period “10 years and above”, albeit 

PWLB debt only.  Depending on the maturity profile, the upper limits may require 
further amendment for future borrowing.  

   
30. In addition to the main maturity indicators (above) it is considered prudent that, 

under normal circumstances, no more than 15% of long term loans, excluding 

Page 80



APPENDIX A 
Prudential and Treasury Indicators for 2017/2018, 2018/2019 & 2019/2020 
 

LOBO loans, should fall due for repayment within any one financial year and 25% 
in the case of LOBO loans, where maturity is deemed to be the “next call option 
date” (see paragraph 3.18 in the main report). 

 
TrI 6 – Principal Sums invested for periods of longer than 364 days 

 
31. This TrI is covered by the Annual Investment Strategy, which is detailed in the 

following appendix. 

Page 81



APPENDIX B 
 

WILTSHIRE COUNCIL- ANNUAL INVESTMENT STRATEGY FOR 2017/2018 
 

 

1 
 

The Main Strategy 
 
1. The Council’s investment policy has regard to the CLG’s Guidance on Local 

Government Investments (“the Guidance”) and the 2011 revised CIPFA Treasury 
Management in Public Services Code of Practice and Cross Sectoral Guidance 
Notes (“the CIPFA TM Code”).   

 
2. The general investment policy of the Council is the prudent investment of any 

surplus cash balances, the priorities of which are (in order): 
 

a) the security of capital (first);  
b) the liquidity of investments (second); and (then) 
c) return (third). 

 
3. The Council will aim to achieve the optimum return on investments commensurate 

with high levels of security and liquidity.  The risk appetite of this Council is low in 
order to give priority to the security of its investments. 

 
4. The borrowing of monies purely to invest or on-lend and make a return is unlawful 

and this Council will not engage in such activity. 
 
5. All Council investments will be in sterling.  This will avoid foreign exchange rate risk.   
 
6. Investment of the Council’s normal cash flow requirements will be in specified 

investments, as prescribed in “The Guidance”.  The categories of organisations with 
which investments will be placed and the minimum high credit quality required for 
each category are those set out in the minimum requirements for high credit quality 
below. 

 
7. Investments in money market funds may be made if the fund has a high credit rating 

(AAA), as prescribed in the minimum requirements for high credit quality below. 
 
8. For specified investments made under the recommendations of the Council’s 

treasury adviser, the approved policy must be followed and is bound by the 
minimum requirements for high credit quality below. 

 
9. In addition, using the professional judgement of the Council’s treasury advisers, 

non specified investments may be made in UK Government Bonds (Gilts) and in 
multilateral development banks, such as the European Bank for Reconstruction and 
Development (EBRD), (as defined in Statutory Instrument 2004 No. 534) with a 
high credit rating, as prescribed in the minimum requirements for high credit quality 
below.  (Multilateral development banks, or MDBs are supranational institutions set 
up by sovereign states, which reflect the development aid and cooperation policies 
established by these states.  They have the common task of fostering economic 
and social progress in developing countries by financing projects, supporting 
investment and generating capital.)  

 
  

Page 82



APPENDIX B 
 

WILTSHIRE COUNCIL- ANNUAL INVESTMENT STRATEGY FOR 2017/2018 
 

 

2 
 

10. Such investments are the only non-specified investments authorised for use and 
will only be: 
 
a) in sterling  
b) in the case of UK Gilts, for a maximum of 50 years; and  
c) for investments maturing in excess of 12 months, limited to £30 million. 

 
11. The Council will comply with the requirements of The Local Government Pension 

Scheme (Management and Investment of Funds) Regulations 2009, which were 
implemented on 1 January 2010, and will not pool pension fund cash with its own 
cash balances for investment purposes. Any investments made by the pension fund 
directly with this local authority will comply with the requirements of SI 2009 No 393.  
The Pension Fund Investment Strategy is approved by the Pension Fund 
Committee. 

 
12. In accordance with guidance from the CLG and CIPFA, and in order to minimise 

the risk to investments, the Council has below clearly stipulated the minimum 
acceptable credit quality of counterparties for inclusion on the lending list. The 
creditworthiness methodology used to create the counterparty list fully accounts for 
the ratings, watches and outlooks published by all three ratings agencies with a full 
understanding of what these reflect in the eyes of each agency. Using the advisors 
ratings service potential counterparty ratings are monitored on a real time basis with 
knowledge of any changes notified electronically as the agencies notify 
modifications. 

 
13. Furthermore, the Council’s officers recognise that ratings should not be the sole 

determinant of the quality of an institution and that it is important to continually 
assess and monitor the financial sector on both a micro and macro basis and in 
relation to the economic and political environments in which institutions operate. 
The assessment will also take account of information that reflects the opinion of the 
markets. To this end the Council will engage with its advisors to maintain a monitor 
on market pricing such as “credit default swaps” and overlay that information on top 
of the credit ratings. This is fully integrated into the credit methodology provided by 
the advisors, Capita Asset Services, in producing its colour codings which show the 
varying degrees of suggested creditworthiness. 

 
14. Other information sources used will include the financial press, share price and 

other such information pertaining to the banking sector in order to establish the 
most robust scrutiny process on the suitability of potential investment 
counterparties. 

 
15. The aim of the strategy is to generate a list of highly creditworthy counterparties 

which will also enable diversification and thus avoidance of concentration risk. 
 
16. The intention of the strategy is to provide security of investment and minimisation 

of risk. 
 

  

Page 83



APPENDIX B 
 

WILTSHIRE COUNCIL- ANNUAL INVESTMENT STRATEGY FOR 2017/2018 
 

 

3 
 

Creditworthiness Policy 
 

17. This Council uses Capita Asset Services, Treasury solutions as its external treasury 
management advisors. The Council recognises that responsibility for treasury 
management decisions remains with the organisation at all times and will ensure 
that undue reliance is not placed upon our external service providers. It also 
recognises that there is value in employing external providers of treasury 
management services in order to acquire access to specialist skills and resources. 
The Council will ensure that the terms of their appointment and the methods by 
which their value will be assessed are properly agreed and documented, and 
subjected to regular review.  

 
18. Capita provide a creditworthiness service, which employs a sophisticated modelling 

approach utilising credit ratings from the three main credit rating agencies - Fitch, 
Moody’s and Standard and Poor’s.  The credit ratings of counterparties are 
supplemented with the following overlays:  

 
a) credit watches and credit outlooks from credit rating agencies;  
b) CDS spreads to give early warning of likely changes in credit ratings; 
c) sovereign ratings to select counterparties from only the most creditworthy 

countries. 
 
19. This modelling approach combines credit ratings, credit watches and credit 

outlooks in a weighted scoring system which is then combined with an overlay of 
CDS spreads for which the end product is a series of colour coded bands which 
indicate the relative creditworthiness of counterparties.  These colour codes are 
used by the Council to determine the suggested duration for investments.   The 
Council will therefore use counterparties within the following durational bands: 

 
a) Yellow – 5 years (this category is for AAA rated Government debt or its 

equivalent, including an investment instrument – collateralised deposits, 
where the investment is secured only against local authority debt, namely 
LOBOs, making them effectively government exposure); 

b) Dark pink – 5 years for Enhanced money market funds (EMMFs) with a 
credit score of 1.25 

c) Light pink – 5 years for Enhanced money market funds (EMMFs) with a 
credit score of 1.5 

d) Purple – 2 years; 
e) Blue – 1 year (only applies to nationalised or semi nationalised UK Banks 

and their subsidiaries):  
f) Orange – 1 year; 
g) Red – 6 months; 
h) Green – 100 days; and 
i) No Colour – not to be used. 

 
20. The advisor’s creditworthiness service uses a wider array of information than just 

primary ratings and by using a risk weighted scoring system, does not give undue 
preponderance to just one agency’s ratings. 

 

Page 84



APPENDIX B 
 

WILTSHIRE COUNCIL- ANNUAL INVESTMENT STRATEGY FOR 2017/2018 
 

 

4 
 

21. All credit ratings will be monitored at least weekly (daily if there are any updates 
released by Capita Asset Services). The Council is alerted to changes in ratings of 
all three agencies through its use of the creditworthiness service. 

  
22. If a downgrade results in the counterparty / investment scheme no longer meeting 

the Council’s minimum criteria, its further use as a new investment will be withdrawn 
immediately. 

 
23. In addition to the use of credit ratings the Council will be advised of information in 

movements in credit default swap spreads against the iTraxx benchmark and other 
market data on a weekly basis. Extreme market movements may result in 
downgrade of an institution or removal from the Council’s lending list. 

 
24. Sole reliance will not be placed on the use of this external service.  In addition this 

Council will also use market data and market information, information on 
government support for banks and the credit ratings of that government support. 

  
25. The Council has determined that it will only use approved counterparties from 

countries with a minimum sovereign credit rating of AA- from Fitch Ratings. 
 

The Minimum requirements for “high credit quality” 
 
26. In accordance with the DCLG Guidance on Local Government Investments in 

respect of selection of counterparties with whom investments are placed, Wiltshire 
Council will comply with the minimum requirements below.  

 
27. Credit ratings will be those issued by Fitch Ratings Ltd in respect of individual 

financial institutions (as shown below, where F1+ is the highest short term rating 
and AAA the highest long term rating).  An exception is made in respect of money 
market funds, as shown below, where a different overall AAA rating is the highest. 

 
28. The minimum requirements for high credit quality, by type of institution, are as 

follows: 
 

 Banks incorporated inside the United Kingdom with a short term credit 
rating of at least F1 or Government backed and their subsidiaries; 

 

 Banks incorporated outside the United Kingdom with a short term credit 
rating of at least F1+ and a long term rating of A+; 

 

 United Kingdom building societies with a short term credit rating of at least 
F1 or Government backed; 

 

 All local authorities and public bodies (as defined in S23 of the Local 
Authorities Act 2003) (ratings are not issued for most of these bodies); 

 

 Multilateral development banks (as defined in Statutory Instrument 2004 
No. 534) with a short term credit rating of at least F1 and long term credit 
rating of AAA; 

Page 85



APPENDIX B 
 

WILTSHIRE COUNCIL- ANNUAL INVESTMENT STRATEGY FOR 2017/2018 
 

 

5 
 

 All banks & building societies must have a bank viability rating of at least 
BBB – except where the counterparty is UK Government backed (fully 
and partially) – (AAA being the highest, through AA, A and BBB); 

 

 Money market funds, which have been awarded the highest possible 
rating (AAA) from at least one of the following credit rating agencies, 
Standard and Poor’s, Moody’s Investor Services Ltd or Fitch Ratings Ltd.; 
and 

 

 Deposits must only be placed in money market funds subject to individual 
signed management agreements. 

 
29. In addition to the above criteria, the following limits will be applied to the total 

cumulative investments placed with an individual institution (or group of institutions 
where there is common ownership): 

 
a) Up to £15 million: 

  

 UK incorporated banks with a long term credit rating of at least AA; 
 

 Overseas banks that have a long term credit rating of at least AA; 
 

 Multilateral development banks; 
 

 Local authorities and other public bodies; and 
 

 Money market funds. 
 

b) Up to £12 million: 
 

 Government backed UK banks and UK building societies and their 
subsidiaries 
 

c) Up to £8 million: 
 

 Other UK incorporated banks (that have a long term credit rating of less 
than AA but which also satisfy the credit rating conditions within this 
Strategy); 

 

 Other overseas banks (that have a long term credit rating of less than AA 
but which also satisfy the credit rating conditions within this Strategy); 

 

 UK Building societies with long term credit rating of at least A; and 
 

 Government backed overseas banks and their subsidiaries 

Page 86



      
Wiltshire Council 
 
Cabinet 
 
7 February 2017 
 

Subject:  Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy 
  
Cabinet Member: Cllr Jonathon Seed and Cllr Toby Sturgis 
  
Key Decision: Yes 
 

 

Executive Summary 
 
This report considers the background and context to the development of the 
Council’s first Playing Pitch Strategy, which comprises four documents; the 
Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy; the Action Plan; the Community Area Profiles; 
the full needs assessment.   
 
The Playing Pitch Strategy has been developed to support the Wiltshire Core 
Strategy and the need for a single Wiltshire-wide open spaces standard.  The 
Playing Pitch Strategy forms Part 3 of the wider Wiltshire Open Spaces Study. 
Both documents will also provide a useful evidence base for neighbourhood 
planning groups in developing their plans, and for town and parish councils in 
identifying local priorities to be delivered through CIL funding.  The needs 
assessments within the documents will also be used to inform and support the 
Council’s planners in negotiations with developers.   
 
The strategy has been developed in accordance with the National Planning 
Policy Framework and informed by the former guidance provided in ‘Planning 
Policy Guidance Note 17: Planning for Open Space, Sport and Recreation’, and 
its Companion Guide ‘Assessing Needs and Opportunities’, which is a tried and 
tested methodology. 

 

In September 2014, a Steering Group was established to progress the 
development of the Playing Pitch Strategy.  Membership of the group included 
Wiltshire Council officers, Sport England, the National Governing Body (NGB) 
officers for football, cricket, rugby and hockey (county development managers 
and regional strategic facility development managers) and the county sports 
partnership. 

 

Taking full note of guidance produced in 2013 by Sport England, the study 
audited over 300 sites that have a record of being used for sports pitches.  Over 
600 sports pitches in total were assessed catering for over 900 teams playing 
football, rugby, cricket and hockey. In addition formation has been collated 
through a series of consultations with the respective NGBs, pitch providers, 
local clubs, education providers and league secretaries. 

 

This has led to the production of four key documents: 
 

i. The Strategy:  An overarching document providing context and 

Page 87

Agenda Item 11



guidance for the future provision and protection of pitch sport 
opportunities within Wiltshire  

ii. Action Plan (Part 1):  The generic actions relating to the steering 
group’s objectives  

iii. The Community Area Profiles (Action Plan Part 2): 18 separate 
profiles, based on Community Board areas, providing a summary 
review of each community area  

iv. The Needs Assessment: The technical report examining overall 
supply and demand for pitch sports and is therefore the detailed 
‘evidence base’ used to inform the other documents  

 
Following a six week public consultation, November 2016 – January 2017, the 
Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy is complete and ready for formal adoption by 
the council. 
 

 

Proposals 
 
Cabinet is requested to determine the following: 

 
1. Formally adopt the Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy, Action Plan, 

Community Area Profiles and Needs Assessment and to inform decision 
making and policy development.  

 

Reason for Proposals 
 
A Playing Pitch Strategy for Wiltshire is an important document that underpins 
the core strategy and provides robust evidence for organisations such as Sport 
England who are statutory consultees in the planning process.  Whilst not a 
statutory requirement in itself, the Playing Pitch Strategy is vital in providing an 
informed evidence base for the protection and future development of formal 
outdoor space.   

 
The Playing Pitch Strategy will help to influence a variety of local authority 
functions, policy development and decision making in respect of the community 
playing pitch stock, including planning policy and planning applications, 
educational provision, funding, facility and asset management, development of 
pitch based sports, public health and the management and maintenance of 
provision.   

 

The presence of a Playing Pitch Strategy is seen as best practice by the 
Department for Culture Media and Sport and Sport England.   
 

 

Dr Carlton Brand 
Carolyn Godfrey 

Page 88



     
Wiltshire Council 
 
Cabinet 
 
7 February 2017 
 

Subject:  Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy 
  
Cabinet Member: Cllr Jonathon Seed and Cllr Toby Sturgis 
  
Key Decision: Yes 
 

 
1. Purpose of Report 
 
1.1 This report considers the background and context to the development of 

the Council’s first Playing Pitch Strategy, which comprises four 

documents; the Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy; the Action Plan; the 

Community Area Profiles; the full needs assessment.  Cabinet is 

requested to formally adopt the Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy and 

associated documents that will be used in decision making and to inform 

the development of planning policy.  

 
2. Relevance to the Council’s Business Plan 
 
2.1 The Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy is relevant to the following areas of 

the Business Plan: 

 

2.2 Outcome 5 of the council’s 2013 - 17 Business Plan states that: ‘People in 

Wiltshire have healthy, active and high quality lives’.  To deliver this, the 

Council will ensure that ‘public health is integrated into the heart of all 

services’. (Key action 10).  

 

2.3 Outcome 4 states that ‘Everyone in Wiltshire lives in a high-quality 

environment’.   

 

2.4 Leisure Services are an intrinsic part of the Council’s wider Public Health 

services. These services are able to build on existing links between each 

other and other Council services to maximise opportunities to promote 

healthy behaviours, choices and environments to help Wiltshire’s 

population stay active.  This includes access to both open space and 

formal sports pitches to support healthy lifestyles. 

 
3. Main Considerations for the Council 
 
3.1 The Playing Pitch Strategy is being developed to support the Wiltshire 

Core Strategy and the need for a single Wiltshire-wide open spaces 

Page 89



standard.  The Playing Pitch Strategy forms Part 3 of the Wiltshire Open 
Spaces Study. 

 

3.2 The strategy has been developed in accordance with the National 

Planning Policy Framework and informed by the former guidance provided 

in ‘Planning Policy Guidance Note 17: Planning for Open Space, Sport 

and Recreation’, and its Companion Guide ‘Assessing Needs and 

Opportunities’, which is a tried and tested methodology. 

 

3.3 The formation of Wiltshire Council as a Unitary Authority has highlighted a 

lack of consistency between the former district playing pitch strategies, 

policies and underlying evidence bases covering different parts of 

Wiltshire, several of which date back to the early 2000s.  

 
3.4 The existence of a robust, evidence based and up-to-date Playing Pitch 

Strategy covering the entire local authority area will help to influence a 

variety of local authority functions, policy development and decision 

making in respect of the community playing pitch stock, including planning 

policy and planning applications, educational provision, funding, facility 

and asset management, development of pitch based sports, public health 

and the management and maintenance of provision.   

3.5 Sport England is a statutory consultee in the planning process; and, both 

Sport England and the National Governing Bodies of Sport are potential 

funders of capital projects for sports.  A prerequisite of funding by these 

organisations for major capital projects involving playing pitches is that ‘a 

playing pitch study/strategy of an acceptable standard’ should be 

available. Therefore it is essential that a y strategic document is robust 

and can be referred to in future consultations. 

3.6 The presence of a Playing Pitch Strategy is seen as best practice by the 

Department of Culture Media and Sport and Sport England.     

4. Background     
 
4.1 In 2014, Spatial Planning (with the support of Leisure Services), appointed 

a company called Ethos to undertake an Open Spaces Audit in order to 

inform a new policy for the Wiltshire Core Strategy.  The aim of the Open 

Spaces Audit was to provide a robust assessment of needs and 

deficiencies in open spaces, upon which emerging policy within the 

revised Wiltshire Core Strategy should be based.  In addition, an up to 

date evidence base was created which will be maintained to aide 

implementation of the policies and the provision of open spaces during the 

plan period (up to 2026).  The Open Spaces audit covers more informal 

recreational spaces.   

Page 90



4.2 Due to the inconsistencies between the former districts Playing Pitch 

Strategies and no county-wide approach for Wiltshire as a unitary 

authority, Ethos was also commissioned to prepare a Playing Pitch 

Strategy for the Council as part of the wider study of open spaces in 

Wiltshire.  

4.3 Leisure Services has worked in partnership with Spatial Planning to 

develop both the Open Spaces Study and the Playing Pitch Strategy, both 

of which will be used as evidence bases for the review of the Wiltshire 

Core Strategy. Both documents will also provide a useful evidence base 

for neighbourhood planning groups in developing their plans, and for town 

and parish councils in identifying local priorities to be delivered through 

CIL funding.  The needs assessments within the documents will also be 

used to inform and support the Council’s planners in negotiations with 

developers.   

4.4 In September 2014, a Steering Group was established to progress the 

development of the Playing Pitch Strategy.  Membership of the group 

included Wiltshire Council officers, Sport England, the National Governing 

Body (NGB) officers for football, cricket, rugby and hockey (county 

development managers and regional strategic facility development 

managers) and the county sports partnership. 

4.5 The approach to undertaking the project has taken full note of guidance 

produced in 2013 by Sport England. The guidance has five discrete 

stages, incorporating 10 individual steps, as summarised below. 

 

Stage A:  Prepare and tailor the approach (Step 1) 

Stage B:  Gather information and views on the supply of and demand 

for provision (Steps 2 & 3) 

Stage C: Assess the supply and demand information and views  

(Steps 4, 5 & 6) 

Stage D: Develop the strategy (Steps 7 & 8) 

Stage E: Deliver the strategy and keep it robust and up to date  

(Steps 9 & 10)  

 

4.6 The study audited over 300 sites that have a record of being used for 
sports pitches.  Over 600 sports pitches in total were assessed catering 
for over 900 teams playing football, rugby, cricket and hockey. The playing 
pitch quality assessment information collated includes: 

 

 Site name, location and reference details 

 Ownership and management type 

 Number and type of pitches  

Page 91



 How accessible the pitches are to the community 

 The quality of the pitches and ancillary facilities 

 How the site and its pitches are maintained 

 The current level of protection and security of tenure 

 Views of users, providers and other parties. 
 

4.7 Information has been collated through a series of consultations with the 
respective NGBs, pitch providers, local clubs, education providers and 
league secretaries, and included: 

 

 Sports Clubs (Matches & Training) 

 Casual and other demand 

 Educational demand 

 Displaced demand 

 Unmet and latent demand 

 Trends and changes in demand 

 Future demand 
 

5. Consultation and Strategy Adoption Process 
 
5.1 The Playing Pitch Strategy Steering Group signed off Stages A, B, C  and 

D of the draft Playing Pitch Strategy process resulting in the production of 
four key documents: 
 

 The Strategy:  This is an overarching document providing context and 
guidance for the future provision and protection of pitch sport opportunities 
within Wiltshire (Appendix 1). 

 Action Plan (Part 1): This document has the generic actions relating to 
the steering group’s objectives (Appendix 2). 

 The Community Area Profiles (Action Plan Part 2): This document has 
18 separate profiles, based on Community Board areas, providing a 
summary review of each community area (Appendix 3).  These profiles 
only show sites which are priorities 1-3. 

 The Needs Assessment: This document is the technical report 
examining overall supply and demand for pitch sports and is therefore the 
detailed ‘evidence base’ used to inform the other documents (Appendix 4). 
 

5.2 The vision and key aims of Wiltshire’s Playing Pitch Strategy are: 

‘To achieve the best possible quality, quantity and type of playing pitch 

provision to meet the varying needs of Wiltshire’s residents, throughout 

the local authority area.’ 

 Provide an evidence base that underpins the statutory land-use planning 

process in respect of its forward planning and development control 

functions (i.e. the Core Planning Strategy) 

 

 Underpin the development of a range of council policies and strategies, 

including the development plan framework; leisure strategies; public 

health strategies and community infrastructure plans. 

Page 92



 

 Support the overall management, protection, improvement and 

conservation of the playing pitch stock to the best advantage of the 

residents of Wiltshire. 

 

 Create an environment for sport and healthy physical activity which helps 

to improve the health and wellbeing of the population, increase 

participation levels and reduce inactivity and inequalities 

 

 Inform the council in its negotiation and securing of Section 106 

agreements, and other developer contributions. 

 
5.3 Whilst the Playing Pitch Strategy information will be used to underpin the 

Core Strategy, the Strategy itself should be formally adopted by the 
council in its own right and in this respect the Playing Pitch Strategy 
requires Cabinet approval.  

 
5.4 Notwithstanding the significant amount of consultation and development 

already undertaken in the preparation of the draft strategy, action plan and 

needs assessment, Wiltshire Council recognises the vital importance of 

local knowledge.  Therefore, prior to formal adoption by Cabinet the 

Council has sought the views of local communities and other interested 

parties about the issues and priorities identified for each of the Community 

Areas together with correcting any omissions or inaccuracies in the base 

data.  Public consultation was undertaken on the draft Wiltshire Playing 

Pitch Strategy documents from 22 November using the Council’s on-line 

consultation portal for a period of six weeks and 5 days, closing 09 

January 2017.  It was also advertised via the Community Area Board 

Networks. Consultees included: town and parish councils, developers, 

statutory consultees and the National Governing Bodies of Sport.  

 

5.5. Comments were received from 27 organisations, two of whom also 

incorporated comments from appropriate sub-groups.  Feedback was 

generally positive and supportive of the development of the Strategy.  

Specific comments were made regarding the accuracy of the some of the 

data, including formal names of recreation grounds and suggestions of 

potential developments from local sports clubs and organisations.  This 

information has been checked by the NGBs and amendments made to the 

final version of the Community Area Profiles (Action Plan Part 2).  There is 

nothing received in the consultation that changes the fundamental 

principles of the Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy. 

 

5.6 As part of the consultation process, the Environment Select Committee, 

also provided comments on the draft strategy and endorsed its production, 

at its meeting on 13 December 2016.  Please see section 6 for the 

outcomes of this meeting. 

Page 93



 

6. Overview and Scrutiny Engagement 
 
6.1. As part of the process for adopting the Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy, 

Cllr Jerry Kunkler presented an overview of the strategy to the 
Environment Select Committee on 13 December 2016.  The committee 
was invited to comment on the draft strategy and endorse its production.  
Officers answered queries and noted points for further clarification. 

 
6.2 The Environment Select Committee resolved to: 
 

6.2.1 Endorse the draft Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy with comments 
made. 

 
6.2.2 For the Environment Select Committee to receive annual updates 

on the implementation of the Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy. 
 
7. Safeguarding Implications 
 
7.1 There are no safeguarding implications associated with the Playing Pitch 

Strategy.  
 
8. Public Health Implications 
 
8.1 Outcome 4 of the Council’s Business Plan 2013 – 2017 states that 

‘Everyone in Wiltshire lives in a high quality environment’.   
 
 Leisure Services are an intrinsic part of the Council’s wider Public Health 

services. These services are able to build on existing links between each 
other and other Council services to maximise opportunities to promote 
healthy behaviours, choices and environments to help Wiltshire’s 
population stay active.  This includes access to both open space and 
formal sports pitches to support healthy lifestyles. 

 
9. Procurement Implications 
 
9.1 There are no procurement implications associated with the adoption of the 

Playing Pitch Strategy. If in delivering the strategy such procurement 
requirements arise then these will be untaken in consultation with the 
Strategic Procurement Hub and in accordance with the Council’s Contract 
and Procurement Regulations, part 10 of the Constitution.  

 
10. Equalities Impact of the Proposal  
 
10.1 The Playing Pitch Strategy identifies where there is potential under 

provision of facilities and opportunities for the development of new sites.  
The strategy will therefore help to increase participation in sports across 
the county, particularly in areas with greater deprivation.   

 
10.2 The Playing Pitch Strategy supports “Sporting Future - A New Strategy for 

an Active Nation”. This cross-government strategy seeks to address flat 
lining levels of sport participation and high levels of inactivity in this 

Page 94



country. Funding will partly be targeted at groups who have low 
participation rates to encourage those who do not take part in sport and 
physical activity to get involved. This includes supporting women, disabled 
people, those in lower socio-economic groups and older people. 

 
11. Environmental and Climate Change Considerations  
 
11.1 From an environmental perspective the Playing Pitch Strategy seeks to 

protect formal green space, where that space is used for pitch sports and 
where feasible that the relevant space is enhanced to incorporate better 
drainage, layout and access. 

 
12. Risks that may arise if the proposed decision and related work is not 

taken 
 
12.1 The adoption of a Playing Pitch Strategy will negate certain risks 

associated with not having a strategy.  The Playing Pitch Strategy 
provides clarity regarding priorities for Wiltshire.  It provides underpinning 
documentation to the Core Strategy regarding green space; give sports 
organisations including Sport England and National Governing Bodies of 
sport robust needs based evidence to support funding and planning 
applications; provides strategic direction to support the use of developer 
contributions and secures existing playing pitch space through planning 
policy regulations.  

 
13. Risks that may arise if the proposed decision is taken and actions that 

will be taken to manage these risks 
 
13.1 Adopting a county-wide Playing Pitch Strategy may appear to suggest a 

loss of local influence however local sports clubs and the county National 
Governing Bodies of sport have been engaged in the development of the 
strategy and consultation of the draft strategy to mitigate this.  In addition 
any future improvements, or developments will be made with the clubs, 
and land owners/lessees fully engaged in the process. 

 
14. Financial Implications 
 
14.1 There are no direct financial implications as part of the Playing Pitch 

Strategy itself. The strategy provides an ongoing planning document that 
allows the strategic improvement and development of sports pitches to be 
delivered by a multitude of partners and funding bodies.   

14.2 It is anticipated in Year 1, following the adoption of the Strategy that the 
NGBs will identify their priority development areas, which the Steering 
Group will agree.  It will be for the partners to work with local clubs, sports 
associations, town and parish councils to support developments, 
developers to recognise the strategic need for their developer 
contributions and for the council to identify the best use of S106 and CIL 
funding and therefore secure the appropriate contributions from 
developers. Any new developments or expenditure would need to be 
considered against available funding before being agreed. 

15.      Legal Implications 

Page 95



 
15.1 The adoption of a sound evidence based and up-to-date Playing Pitch 

Strategy covering the entire local authority area will help to influence a 
variety of local authority functions, policy development and decision 
making in respect of the community playing pitch stock, including planning 
policy and planning applications, educational provision, funding, facility 
and asset management, development of pitch based sports, public health 
and the management and maintenance of provision. 

 
15.2 It is important, if and when adopted, as part of its implementation thought 

is given to ensuring that the master copy is easily accessible to all officers 
to ensure that all officers are working with the latest version and it can 
meet the strategic purpose of being a source document in such decision 
making 

 
16. Conclusions 
 
16.1 A Playing Pitch Strategy for Wiltshire is an important document that 

underpins the core strategy and provides robust evidence for 
organisations such as Sport England who are statutory consultees in the 
planning process.  Whilst not a statutory requirement in itself, the Playing 
Pitch Strategy is vital in providing an informed evidence base for the 
protection and future development of formal outdoor space.   

 
Frances Chinemana (Associate Director, Public Health) 
Alistair Cunningham (Associate Director, Economy and Planning) 
 

 
Report Authors: John Goodall, john.goodall@wiltshire.gov.uk Tel: 01225 716825 

     Louise Cary, louise.cary@wiltshire.gov.uk Tel: 01722 434274  
 
Date of report:   07 February 2017 
 
Appendices 
 
Appendix 1:   Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy 
Appendix 2:   Action Plan Part 1 (generic actions to deliver the strategy) 
Appendix 3:   Community Area Profiles (Action Plan Part 2) 
Appendix 4:   Needs Assessment 
 
Background Papers 
 
None 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 96

mailto:john.goodall@wiltshire.gov.uk


 

 

  

2017 

Wiltshire Playing Pitch 
Strategy 

FEBRUARY 2017 

Page 97



                                                                                   Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy 
 

1 

 

 

Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy  

1 Introduction 3 

2 Context 5 

3 Key issues 11 

4 The Strategy and Action Plan  19 

5 Implementation and Review 31 

  

Page 98



                                                                                   Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy 
 

2 

Glossary of Terms 

Term Meaning 

AGP Artificial Grass Pitch(es) 

APS Active People Survey(s) 

ECB England and Wales Cricket Board 

EH England Hockey 

FA Football Association 

NPPF National Planning Policy Framework 

Strategy Playing Pitch Strategy 

RFU Rugby Football Union 

 

  

Page 99



                                                                                   Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy 
 

3 

1.0 INTRODUCTION 

General 

1.1 This is one of four documents provided within the overall Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy. 
The four documents are: 

 The Strategy: an overarching document providing context and guidance for the future 
provision and protection of pitch sport opportunities within Wiltshire;  

 The Action Plan (Part 1):  Generic actions relating to the steering group’s objectives;  

 The Area Profiles (Action Plan Part 2): 18 separate profiles (based on Community Board 
areas), translating the above into location specific recommendations; and, 

 The Needs Assessment: the technical report examining overall supply and demand for pitch 
sports which is essentially the ‘evidence base’ used to inform the above three documents. 

1.2 This document is based on a substantial needs assessment (see above) and associated 
consultation undertaken, and following recognised national guidance. The list of consultees for the 
needs assessment included National Governing Body of Sport regional and county representatives; 
and, local clubs and leagues. Other consultations were undertaken with education interests.  

1.3 The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) requires local planning authorities to set out 
policies to help enable communities to access high quality open spaces and opportunities for sport 
and recreation. These policies need to be based on a thorough understanding of local needs for 
such facilities and opportunities available for new provision. The Government's public health 
initiatives have seen local authorities assume more responsibility for improving levels of public 
health. Studies show that living a healthy lifestyle and maintaining a healthy weight can reduce the 
risk of developing chronic disease, improves quality of life and increases life expectancy.   

1.4 The Council is now responsible for many factors which impact on mental and physical 
health, including sports and leisure provision in the area, environmental health, green spaces and 
housing standards. The Council is therefore aiming to support its residents and encourage health 
improvements by implementing the revised Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy alongside the 
Council's other policies and strategies. 

1.5 Other national policy and strategies such as the DCMS ‘Sporting Future – A New Strategy for 
an Active Nation’ and Sport England’s ‘Towards and Active Nation’ strategy also point to the critical 
role of local authorities in both providing and facilitating new and improved sports provision to 
provide not just sports but also wider physical activity and health benefits. 

Remit 

1.6 The remit of the Playing Pitch Strategy covers the major ‘pitch sports’: Association Football; 
Cricket; Hockey; and Rugby. These sports require significant amounts of open space, and therefore 
require careful planning, given their popularity as participative sports. As this strategy evolves and 
is reviewed it may be that its scope can be expanded to cover other pitch sports that look to 
increase their presence in the area. For example, lacrosse might stand to benefit from some of the 
recommendations for improvements to artificial turf provision made in this strategy. These and 
other potential sports development initiatives can be addressed in future reviews. 

 

 

Page 100



                                                                                   Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy 
 

4 

Application 

The Strategy and Action Plans, together with the Area Profiles, will be used to inform the 
preparation of statutory planning policy, and supplementary planning documents. It can be used in 
applying the Community Infrastructure Levy and developing Section 106 agreements. The detailed 
information can also be used to inform other investment decisions on the part of both the Council 
and its partners, and support the development of funding bids. 

Method and governance 

1.7 The Strategy and Action Plan, as well as the underpinning Needs Assessment follows 
national guidance produced by Sport England, and the entire project has been overseen by a 
Steering Group comprising representatives of relevant authorities and organisations, and these are 
listed at Appendix 1.  

1.8 The report is made up of the following: 

 A summary of the context for preparing this Strategy; 

 A summary of the main issues that have been identified as affecting each sport, now and in 
the coming years; 

 A strategic vision, aims and recommendations to guide the actions and decisions of the 
Council and its partners over the coming years (The Strategy); 

 An Action Plan (Part 1), attached as Appendix 2, which also refers to and complements the 
Area Profiles (Action Plan Part 2); and, 

 Recommendations on how the Strategy should be kept up-to-date, and its implementation 
resourced. 

Pragmatism 

1.10 Wiltshire is a geographically large local authority. There are around 370 grass sites as well as 
other artificial pitches included in the Needs Assessment underpinning this document. Given the 
limited resources available to the Council and its partners responsible for the preparation of this 
Strategy and Action Plan, it would have been impossible and inappropriate to make site-specific 
proposals for each and every venue. Instead, site-specific proposals are identified for key locations 
and actions in the Area Profiles (Action Plan Part 2). Other sites are covered by general 
recommendations contained in Action Plan Part 1.  

Page 101



                                                                                   Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy 
 

5 

2.0 CONTEXT 

General 

2.1 An understanding of the local strategic context, population and sports participation trends is 
essential in order to ensure that facility provision is tailored to the needs of the area.  

Population 

2.3 As at 2015 the Wiltshire Council area was estimated to have a population of 485,768.  This 
figure is based upon population projections commissioned by the Council1.  The same projections 
calculate that by the year 2026 the population will have increased to 530,281.  This figure is itself 
only based upon previous trends, and does not necessarily take into account the impact of planned 
new residential growth. The Wiltshire Core Strategy (2015) allocates land for another 42,000 
houses within the local authority and up to the year 2026. The area specific allocations are detailed 
in the Area Profiles document.  

2.4 The primary focus of new housing development will be at Trowbridge, Chippenham and 
Salisbury and the smaller towns, including: Bradford on Avon; Calne; Corsham; Cricklade; Devizes; 
Malmesbury; Marlborough; Melksham; Pewsey; and, Royal Wootton Bassett. 

2.5 More modest growth, proportionate to the size of the settlement, will be delivered in 
smaller settlements through site allocation development plan documents, community-led planning 
policy documents, including neighbourhood plans, and partnership working with the local 
communities.  

2.6 Generally speaking, the natural rate of rise in the population within the pitch sport playing 
age groups will be lower than that for the population as a whole within Wiltshire. The rates of 
change will vary across the Council area. To this natural change, however, there needs to be 
factored in the impact of local population change resulted from allocated housing.  

 

                                                             
1 From a forecast produced by Wiltshire Council on 12/05/2015 using POPGROUP software developed by Bradford Council, the University of 
Manchester and Andelin Associates 

Page 102



                                                                                   Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy 
 

6 

Strategic Context 

National Policy 

2.7 The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) clearly establishes the requirement that 
local plans ensure that there is proper provision of community and cultural facilities to meet local 
needs.  The NPPF’s expectations for the development of local planning policy for sport and physical 
activity/recreation, is set out in paragraphs 73 and 74 which require there to be a sound (i.e. up-to-
date and verifiable) evidence base underpinning policy and its application. Paragraph 73 indicates 
that: 

‘Access to high quality open spaces and opportunities for sport and recreation can make an 
important contribution to the health and well-being of communities. Planning policies 
should be based on robust and up to date assessments of the needs for open space, sports 
and recreation facilities and opportunities for new provision. The assessments should 
identify specific needs and quantitative or qualitative deficits or surpluses of open space, 
sports and recreational facilities in the local area. Information gained from the assessments 
should be used to determine what open space, sports and recreational provision isrequired.’ 

2.8 Paragraph 74 states that: 

‘Existing open space, sports and recreational buildings and land, including playing fields, 
should not be built on unless: 

 an assessment has been undertaken which has clearly shown the open space, buildings 
or land to be surplus to requirements; or 

 the loss resulting from the proposed development would be replaced by equivalent or 
better provision in terms of quantity and quality in a suitable location; or 

 the development is for alternative sports and recreational provision, the needs for which 
clearly outweigh the loss 

2.9 DCMS: Sporting Future - A New Strategy for an Active Nation.  This cross-government 
strategy seeks to address flat lining levels of sport participation and high levels of inactivity in this 
country. Through this strategy, government is redefining what success in sport means, with a new 
focus on five key outcomes: physical wellbeing, mental wellbeing, individual development, social 
and community development and economic development. In future, funding decisions will be made 
on the basis of the outcomes that sport and physical activity can deliver. 

2.10 It is government’s ambition that all relevant departments work closer together to create a 
more physically active nation, where children and young people enjoy the best sporting 
opportunities available and people of all ages and backgrounds can enjoy the many benefits that 
sport and physical activity bring, at every stage in their lives. 

2.11 Public investment into community sport is to reach children as young as five as part of a 
ground-breaking new element to this new strategy. The move will see Sport England’s remit 
changed from investing in sport for those aged 14 and over to supporting people from five years old 
right through to pensioners, in a bid to create a more active nation. 

2.12 Investment will be targeted at sport projects that have a meaningful, measurable impact on 
how they are improving people’s lives – from helping young people gain skills to get into work, to 
tackling social inclusion and improving physical and mental health.  

Page 103



                                                                                   Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy 
 

7 

2.13 Funding will also be targeted at groups who have low participation rates to encourage those 
who do not take part in sport and physical activity to get involved. This includes supporting women, 
disabled people, those in lower socio-economic groups and older people. Sport England will set up 
a new fund in 2016 to get inactive people physically active and will support and measure 
participation in sport and wider physical activity going forward. 

2.14 Sport England Strategy – ‘Towards an Active Nation’ 2016 – 2021.  In response to the 
Government’s strategy, Sport England’s new strategy vision is that everyone in England, regardless 
of age, background, or ability, feels able to take part in sport or activity.  Sport England’s new vision 
and its supporting aims will therefore contribute to achieving the Government’s strategy.  Key 
features are: 

 Dedicated funding to get children and young people active from the age of five, including a 
new fund for family based activities and offering training to at least two teachers in every 
secondary school in England to help them better meet the needs of all children, irrespective 
of their level of sporting ability. 

 Working with the sport sector to put customers at the heart of everything they do, and using 
the principles of behaviour change to inform their work. 

 Piloting new ways of working locally by investing in up to 10 places in England – a mix of rural 
and urban areas. 

 Investing up to £30m in a new volunteering strategy, enabling more people to get the 
benefits of volunteering and attracting a new, more diverse range of volunteers. 

 Helping sport keep pace with the digital expectations of customers – making it as easy to 
book a badminton court as a hotel room. 

 Working closely with governing bodies of sport and other who support people who already 
play regularly to help them become more efficient, sustainable and diversify their sources of 
funding. 

2.15 With respect to the final bullet point (above) 38% of Sport England controlled investment 
will be directed through the National Governing Bodies of sport.  This is the largest of Sport 
England’s funding programmes. 

2.16 National Governing Body (NGB) 2013-17 funding. The NGB 2013-17 funding programme 
sees Sport England invest £450 million in NGBs with young people (14-25 years old) benefitting 
from 60% of this investment. Additional funding is also made available to governing bodies that are 
successfully increasing participation.  In April 2017, Sport England will re-align its NGB funding and 
objectives in order to deliver the ‘Towards an Active Nation’ strategy. 

2.17 NGBs have been had a major input into this assessment (as well as that covering built 
provision). In respect of pitch sport NGBs, the Football Association (FA), England and Wales Cricket 
Board (ECWB), Rugby Football Union (RFU) and England Hockey (EH), all have their own national 
strategies:  

 The Football Association – National Facilities Strategy 

 ‘Champion Counties - ECWB Strategic Plan 2014-2017’ 

 The Rugby Football Union National Facilities Strategy 

 The National Hockey Facility Strategy – The Right Facilities in the Right Places (2012) 

Page 104



                                                                                   Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy 
 

8 

2.18 All these above strategies will require review, as appropriate, to reflect altered national 
government priorities. 

2.19 The FA is now promoting strongly the provision of 3G AGPs for both training and also for 
match play, the latter especially for junior/mini soccer age groups.  However, it will have 
implications in respect of the demand for 3G AGPs at certain times of the day and, potentially, the 
encouragement of a move of teams training from other types of artificial surface. 

2.20 Likewise, the RFU Council has recently approved a strategy to invest in Artificial Grass 
Pitches (AGP) which will see 100 artificial, floodlit pitches installed across the country over a four-
year period.  The strategy will see the creation of: 

 60 AGPs on rugby club sites to be used by the host club and other local clubs; and 

 40 AGPs on community sites with a guaranteed number of hours use by rugby. 

2.21 The key drivers for this are to sustain and grow participation while addressing the increasing 
pressure on natural turf pitches, changing player expectations, competition from other sports 
investing in artificial pitches and changing weather conditions.  It is evident nationally that the focus 
on increasing participation links to the Council own priorities of improving health and wellbeing 
through more active lifestyles and widening access to sport 

Local Policy and Strategy 

2.22 The Council formally adopted the Wiltshire Core Strategy Development Plan document in 
January 2015. The Core Strategy replaces the south Wiltshire Core Strategy as well as a number of 
policies from the former district council's local plans. 

2.23 The Core Strategy sets out a Spatial Vision for the planning of Wiltshire over the next 
decade: 

‘By 2026 Wiltshire will have stronger, more resilient communities based on a sustainable pattern of 
development, focused principally on Trowbridge, Chippenham and Salisbury.  

 Market towns and service centres will have become more self-contained and supported by 
the necessary infrastructure, with a consequent reduction in the need to travel. In all 
settlements there will be an improvement in accessibility to local services, a greater feeling of 
security and the enhancement of a sense of community and place. This pattern of 
development, with a more sustainable approach towards transport and the generation and 
use of power and heat, will have contributed towards tackling climate change.        

 Employment, housing and other development will have been provided in sustainable 
locations in response to local needs as well as the changing climate and incorporating 
exceptional standards of design. Wiltshire’s important natural, built and historic environment 
will have been safeguarded and, where necessary, extended and enhanced to provide 
appropriate green infrastructure, while advantage will have been taken of Wiltshire’s heritage 
to promote cultural and lifestyle improvements as well as tourism for economic benefit. 
Partnership working with communities will have helped plan effectively for local areas and 
allow communities to receive the benefit of managed growth, where appropriate.’ 

2.24 The strategy makes provision for at least 42,000 new homes in Wiltshire in the plan period 
from 2006 to 2026. It sets out a plan for an appropriate mix of types, sizes and tenures, particularly 
to address affordable housing needs, and will ensure a continuous supply of housing over the plan 
period that is aligned to job growth and the delivery of infrastructure. 

Page 105



                                                                                   Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy 
 

9 

Wiltshire Corporate Business Plan (2013-17). The Council’s business plan sets out how it intends to 
meet challenges whilst delivering its vision to create stronger, more resilient communities. The 
Business Plan’s priorities are to: 

 protect those who are most vulnerable  

 boost the local economy; and,  

 bring communities together to enable and support them to do more for themselves 

2.25 At the outset of the plan period, it highlighted that over its span funding from central 
government would reduce by £22 million and with the predicted increase in service demands, 
combined with inflation, it would mean pressures of around another £100 million. As a result, the 
plan outlines how the council will work innovatively to realign £120m over the four years to deliver 
its priorities. 

2.26 The Plan identified 12 key actions designed to achieve the above priorities; two of which are 
especially relevant to this Playing Pitch Strategy: 

 Create a campus opportunity in community areas; and,  

 Integrate public health at the heart of all public services. 

2.27 Again this plan will be revised in line with the local elections due to take place in May 2017 
and the changing financial climate.  

2.28 Wiltshire Joint Strategic Needs Assessment and Wiltshire Joint Health & Well Being 
Strategy 2015 – 2018.  A Health and Wellbeing Board for Wiltshire was formally established in 
2013. It brings together the leaders of the health and social care system in Wiltshire to deliver a set 
of specific responsibilities which are set out in legislation and includes duties to:  

 to prepare a Joint Strategic Assessment (JSA); 

 prepare a Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy (JHWS); and,  

 to encourage integrated working between health and social care.   

2.29 The first JSA was published in 2013 and it provides a shared analysis of Wiltshire’s 
population – allowing the Council and its partners to look at and agree the key issues facing the 
area and providing an evidence base for developing future plans and strategies designed to deal 
with these issues.   The JSA is currently being refreshed and will be consulted upon in the coming 
months.  In addition, Community Area Assessments were produced covering the period 2013 – 
2015.  These provide more detailed analysis of each Community Area with comparisons to other 
areas across the county. 

2.30 A specific JSA for Health and Wellbeing has also emerged and is the assessment tool on 
which all commissioning decisions for the area are based and, as such, it provides detailed 
information on each community area in Wiltshire and covers a breadth of topics focusing on health 
and social needs as well as wider factors affecting the wellbeing of our community. The topics 
include climate change and the economy, which recognise the dynamic nature of health and 
wellbeing and the factors that influence it..  Again each community area also has a JSA for Health 
and Wellbeing. 

Page 106



                                                                                   Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy 
 

10 

2.31 The JSA data shows that people in Wiltshire are living longer, healthier lives.  This is 
something to be celebrated – but it brings with it new challenges. Without action, the demand for 
health services is predicted to increase substantially, putting strain on carers and public services. Ill-
health and physical inactivity are not only detrimental to individuals and wider communities, they 
also have financial implications for public services. Increased levels of demand and limits on funding 
means that new models of delivery need to be considered.     

2.32 In September 2015, Wiltshire’s Health and Wellbeing Board agreed a refreshed Joint Health 
and Wellbeing Strategy (2015-18).  The strategy sets out the main areas that working together will 
be a priority for health and social care organisations in Wiltshire.  It focuses on setting out a vision 
for integrated working for the future; to support and sustain healthy, independent living and this 
this is described in the strategy within two key aims: 

 Healthy lives: encouraging communities, families and individuals to take on more 
responsibility for their own health; and, 

 Empowered lives: personalising care and delivering care in the most appropriate setting at or 
as close to home as possible.    

Comment 

2.33 The above national and local policy guidance has helped to shape and inform this Strategy 
and Action Plan. In turn, this Strategy and underlying needs assessment will make an important 
contribution to informing emerging Council statutory plans and other local policy guidance. 

Page 107



                                                                                   Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy 
 

11 

3.0 KEY ISSUES 

General 

Methodology 

3.1 The needs assessment underpinning this Strategy was undertaken using current Sport 
England Guidance. 2 The method advocated by Sport England is described more fully in the needs 
assessment. The key elements of the work involved site surveys and quality assessments using 
Sport England’s recommended quality assessment methods; clubs and league questionnaire 
surveys; and, liaison with relevant National Governing Bodies of Sport and other interests (largely 
through the project Steering Group). More general consultations were undertaken often as part of 
a larger open space, sport and recreation study conducted for the Council, of which this project 
formed part. 

3.2 The following totals all known grass football, cricket, rugby grass pitches in the local 
authority. Not all of these will be available in practice for community use. The provision of pitches is 
analysed in more detail on a sport-by-sport basis in the Needs Assessment. 

Table 3.1: Grass pitch provision in the local authority 

Adult 
Football 

Youth 
Football 
(11v11) 

Youth 
Football 

(9v9) 

Minisoccer 
(7v7) 

Minisoccer 
(5v5) 

Cricket 
Fields 

Adult 
Rugby 

Mini 
Rugby 

189 47 32 69 51 107 101 15 

 

3.3 Of the 611 pitches in Table 3.1 above most are noted as being in the ‘public sector’ (largely 
local parish and town councils and associated trusts). The MoD also controls a significant stock of 
grass playing pitches, and these are sometimes made available for community use. The MoD 
pitches are rarely in secured community use for a variety of reasons, and are are often ‘behind the 
wire’, and therefore largely unavailable with a few exceptions. However due to the Army Rebasing 
Programme, the Sports and Community Access Scheme (SCAS) agreement has been drawn up 
which will provide significant opportunities for the community to access Army / MOD Sports and 
Leisure Facilities inside and outside of the wire. As this agreement is linked to specific Planning 
Applications and associated triggers it is probable that the Scheme will not be open for use until 
2017. 

3.4 Not included in the above table are pitches that were once available, but are on sites that 
are closed, or disused, but remain undeveloped. The only known example within the local authority 
is the Westinghouse Sportsground in Chippenham, which has permission for residential 
development but, at the time of this report, remained undeveloped. 

3.5 There are also many examples of former pitches in recreation grounds throughout rural 
Wiltshire, which are no longer marked out and used for matches, but which have other recreational 
functions. 

3.6 In addition, there are Artificial Grass Pitches (AGPs) at various locations, and which are more 
fully described in the relevant sections (primarily for football and hockey) of the Needs Assessment. 

                                                             
2
 ‘Playing Pitch Strategy Guidance’ (Sport England 2013) 

Page 108



                                                                                   Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy 
 

12 

AGPs are now accepted as essential facilities for match play for hockey, as well as for football match 
play and rugby training. 

3.7 Various sites (especially primary/junior schools) have grass spaces, but which are not 
formally marked as pitches.  

3.8 Map 3.1 shows the distribution of provision through the local authority, and it is graded by a 
combination of the size of each site, and the amount of activity/pitch sport use taking place on each 
site.  

  

Page 109



                                                                                   Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy 
 

13 

Map 3.1: Overall grass pitch provision in the local authority 

 

Page 110



                                                                                   Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy 
 

14 

3.9 The grading of sites has been based principally on the following criteria: 

 Level 1: Very large sites accommodating relatively large numbers of pitches as well as 
teams, these tend to be found in the larger urban areas; 

 Level 2: Other large sites, but with not quite the levels of pitch provision and team activity 
as the above, often these can be highly important single-sport sites such as for rugby and 
cricket, for example. 

 Level 3: Where there is some pitch provision and associated team activity, but not sufficient 
to warrant inclusion as Level 1 and 2 sites; and, 

 Level 4: Sites which have some pitch provision but no use by community teams, as far as has 
been ascertained. 

3.10 The Level 1 and 2 sites have been named on the map. All but one of the defined Level 1 
sites are located in the northern half of the local authority. 

3.11 In some areas, because of the absence of Level 1 and 2 sites, Level 3 sites will assume 
greater importance. 

3.12 Grass and AGPs are analysed in detail in the Needs Assessment and Area Profiles.  

Sites that are wholly or partly excluded from the study analysis 

3.13 This report acknowledges the existence of playing pitches on school sites. Where such 
facilities are known to be available for community use they have been included in the analysis. 
Other school sites may though have potential to be used by community teams in the future.  

Multi-Functional Recreation Grounds 

3.14 There are a significant number of sites around the local authority that host more than one 
pitch sport, and these can therefore be particularly important local sports venues. Whilst the 
analysis in the following Needs Assessment is largely sports-specific, those sites hosting more than 
one pitch sport will be acknowledged. 

A constantly evolving picture 

3.15 The audit of both pitches and teams conducted for this study, can only represent a snapshot 
in time. The numbers of clubs and teams will change year-in, year-out. Likewise, the stock of sports 
pitches will change over time, although more gradually. 

3.16 To evidence the above point, there have been some recent and significant changes in the 
provision of pitches in some locations, for example: 

 The provision of a new full-size AGP in the redevelopment of Springfield School, as part of a 
‘community campus’ development for the Corsham Community Area; and, 

 The recent opening of a new ‘sports hub’ based at the Gerard Buxton Sports Ground in 
Royal Wootton Bassett. 

3.17 There are also changes in Melksham, with the co-relocation of the Melksham Town Football 
and Rugby Clubs to Woolmore Farm in Autumn 2016, as part of a Community Area Campus 
scheme, which will release the Conigre sportsground for use by cricket. In fact, the Wiltshire Council 
Community Campus development programme, although still itself evolving, is likely to be a driver 
for the upgrading and rationalization of sports facilities in other parts of Wiltshire. Some of these 
schemes will not be at a stage to be properly captured by this Strategy. Indeed, the use of new 

Page 111



                                                                                   Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy 
 

15 

provision at the (above) Gerard Buxton Sports Ground could not be fully captured. For each of the 
four sports covered by this Strategy, recent as well as proposed developments likely to alter the 
local supply of playing pitches will be identified in the Area Profiles. 

Projected change in demand 

3.18 Taking into account both projected planned and natural population change, the following 
estimates the potential change in demand for pitches resulting from the demands of new teams 
forming by 2026. The method behind the calculations is explained in Appendix A to the Area 
Profiles. The figures in the table below are local authority-wide, and separate projections for 
covering the Community Board area are provided in the Area Profiles. 

 

Table 3.2: Change in demand for pitch space  

Age Groups 

Total new teams (resulting 
from natural population 

change + housing growth) 
Matches 
per pitch 

Pitches 
required 

(assuming 2 
teams/match) 

Mini-soccer (6-9 mixed gender) 58.2 4 7.3 

Junior football (10-15 male) 100.5 2 25.1 

Junior football (10-15 female) 8.1 2 2.0 

Senior football (16-45 male) 68.3 2 17.1 

Senior football (16-45 female) 2.9 2 0.7 

    Mini-rugby (7-12 mixed gender) 22.0 0 0.0 

Junior rugby (13-18 male) 14.0 0 0.0 

Junior rugby (13-18 female) 2.2 0 0.0 

Senior rugby (19-45 male) 11.8 2 3.0 

Senior rugby (19-45 female) 0.4 2 0.1 

    Junior cricket (7-17 male) 38.6 0 0.0 

Junior cricket (7-17 female) 6.7 0 0.0 

Senior cricket (18-55 male) 31.9 3 5.3 

Senior cricket (18-55 female) 0.7 3 0.1 

    Junior hockey (11-15 male) 6.2 0 0.0 

Junior hockey (11-15 female) 6.3 0 0.0 

Senior hockey (16-45 male) 6.1 4 0.8 

Senior hockey (16-45 female) 4.2 4 0.5 

 

 

Page 112



                                                                                   Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy 
 

16 

Key Issues for Football 

3.19 Wet weather really impacts upon the ability of pitches to absorb play and training. 

3.20 There is a significant need for more AGPs both for training and, increasingly, for match play 
to help deal with wet weather, and increased demand leading to wear and tear.  

3.21 The FA should play a central role in advising on the establishment of such venues. 

3.22 If there were to be geographical priority areas for additional facilities, they would be located 
in the vicinity of existing clubs that have clear growth potential and need for additional facilities; 
and, with good transportation links. The immediate priority areas for new provision, in no particular 
order of priority, should be: 

 The Trowbridge/Melksham/Bradford on Avon areas  

 The Chippenham/Calne area  

 The Warminster/Westbury areas  

 Salisbury/South Wiltshire  

 Devizes  

3.23 The Area Profiles provide detail on the specific needs of each Community Board area, and 
how and where they might best be met locally. 

3.24 Community Campus development programmes may be able to support such projects, where 
appropriate, such as the Melksham/Woolmore Farm developments. ’Land swaps’ might help to 
initiate such schemes, with existing underused and/or badly located venues being identified and 
released for development to fund new or upgraded facilities in better locations. 

3.25 The Strategy and Area Profiles consider the development of a grass pitch improvement 
programme, given issues highlighted with regard to wet weather/waterlogging with football taking 
the lead in the development of these programmes. 

3.26 There are geographical hotspots of demand where access to good quality pitches is 
problematic  

3.27 It might be an aim to get as much junior match play onto AGPs as possible. 

3.28 The FA and Wiltshire Council should work together to initiate a volunteers’ 
training/experience programme to help bolster the volunteer base for local football, but which will 
enhance the curricular vitae of young people, and widen their portfolio of transferable skills. 

 
Key Issues for Cricket 

3.29 The concept of venues for casual cricket should be explored, with the provision of non-turf 
wickets. This would help develop team-based (as opposed to club-based cricket for those who 
cannot commit to regular and frequent games). 

3.30 It is likely that future population growth in Chippenham, Trowbridge, and the Salisbury area 
will require additional cricket field provision. In Chippenham, additional provision would be best 
focused on the currently unused Westinghouse sports ground, which would be an ideal dedicated 
second venue for Chippenham CC. (See paragraph 3.4). 

 

Page 113



                                                                                   Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy 
 

17 

3.31 The requirement for an alternative second ground for Trowbridge CC in lieu of a site that is 
now to be developed for housing. There is Section 106 funding attached to the relocation on the 
cricket activity as part of the planning proposal. 

3.32 Many of the higher performing clubs in the Wiltshire County Cricket League may have 
aspirations to field teams in the West of England Premier League (WEPL). The absence at certain 
venues of facilities required to join the WEPL may therefore be of longer-term concern to some 
clubs, beyond shorter-term facility deficiencies identified in this section. There are certainly 
opportunities to provide these upgrades in relation to the prospective relocation of Beanacre and 
Melksham CC to the Conigre site, which will become a dedicated cricket venue. (See paragraph 3.18 
in respect of proposals for Melksham).  

Key Issues for Rugby 

3.33 A planned programme of improved drainage and training provision should be agreed to 
cover key sites. The immediate priorities in respect of training provision should consider the stated 
needs of the following sites in particular. 

 
Table 3.2: Priorities for suggested for improvements in rugby training facility and drainage 
provision. (n.b. these are in no particular order) 

Name Area 

Bradford & Winsley Community Sports 
Association 

Bradford on Avon 

Chippenham RFC (Allington Fields) Chippenham 

Ballards Ash Sports Ground Royal Wootton Bassett and Cricklade 

off Frees Avenue, Marlborough Marlborough 

Hudsons Field Salisbury 

Minety Playing Fields Malmesbury 

Corsham Town Football and Rugby Clubs Corsham 

Folly Lane pitches (Warminster RFC) Warminster 

Colerne RUFC (Higgins Field) Corsham 

 
3.34 The Conigre ground in Melksham has been excluded from this list, due to the Autumn 2016 
co-location with Melksham Town FC to Woolmore Farm. Devizes Sports Club has also been 
excluded due to recent drainage improvement works. 
 

  

Page 114



                                                                                   Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy 
 

18 

Key Issues for Hockey 

3.35 The protection and improvement of existing venues for hockey clubs, unless acceptable 
alternative venues exist. 

3.36 The protection of floodlit school-based hockey venues, in particular. 

3.37 Explore the potential for establishing a new club in the Trowbridge area- perhaps as part of 
a wider hub-sport venue. 

3.38 The potential coordination of a 3G AGP programme (as outlined in Section 5 of the Needs 
Assessment and in the Area Profiles) with a programme for the greater use of some school-based 
venues for hockey match play and training. 

3.39 Improved access to facilities for clubs in south and south west Wiltshire, in particular. 

3.40 Floodlighting should be considered as integral to all recognized hockey venues. 

Page 115



                                                                                   Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy 
 

19 

4.0 THE STRATEGY AND ACTION PLAN 

General 

4.1 The production of this Strategy is timely. The character of the local authority’s population 
continues to change, and this has a profound effect on the types of sport, play and leisure activity 
appealing to local people.  

4.2 The Council is working in a financially difficult environment, this brings challenges, but it also 
presents a clear opportunity for reviewing and transforming the way in which the Council and its 
partners delivers its service with respect to the sports covered in this report. 

4.3 Many agencies, groups and organisations have shared aspirations in respect of the ‘health 
agenda’ and great potential exists for collaboration between public and voluntary sectors, as well 
as social and commercial enterprises to realise these aspirations. 

4.4 The above suggests that the following will be the major determinants in the demand for 
pitch sports into the foreseeable future within the local authority: 

 A growing population, which may be further accentuated by planned new residential growth 
that has not yet been allocated. 

 The representation within the local population of age groups with characteristics that make 
them more likely to take part in pitch sports; 

 New forms of the sports concerned, with the aim of appealing to children and young people, 
together with adults whose other ‘life commitments’ do not give them the opportunity to 
play traditional forms of the sports, and at the traditional times. 

 Geographical pockets within the urban areas that exhibit quite high levels of economic and 
social deprivation, where and the levels of participation in sport and active recreation are 
depressed as a consequence.  Improving prospects for participating should be a priority for 
the local authority and its partners in these areas, with the consequent health and economic 
benefits. 

4.5 The Playing Pitch Strategy therefore provides the strategic vision, aims and 
recommendations to guide the actions and decisions of Wiltshire Council and its partners over the 
coming years. 

Vision and Aims 
 
4.6 The vision and key aims for this strategy are therefore identified to be:  

‘To achieve the best possible quality, quantity, and type of playing pitch provision to meet the 

varying needs of Wiltshire’s residents, throughout the local authority area.’  

1. Provide an evidence base that underpins the statutory land-use planning process in respect 
of its forward planning and development control functions. 

2. Underpin the development of a range of council policies and strategies, including the 
development plan framework, leisure strategies, public health strategies and community 
infrastructure plans. 

3. Support the overall management, protection, improvement and conservation of the playing 
pitch stock to the best advantage of the residents of Wiltshire.  

Page 116



                                                                                   Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy 
 

20 

4. To create an environment for sport and healthy physical activity which helps to improve the 
health and well-being of the population, increase participation levels and reduce inactivity 
and inequalities.  

5. Inform the Council in its negotiation and securing of Section 106 agreements, and other 
developer contributions. 

 
4.7 Five Strategic Recommendations are proposed, in order to achieve the above Vision and 
Aims. Each strategic recommendation is stated, along with a justification. Together with the Vision 
and Aims, these strategic recommendations help to shape the tone and direction of the Action 
Plan. 
 
4.8 Strategic Recommendation 1: Maintain an evidence base of the quality, quantity 
and type of playing pitch surface available within the local authority area 

 

4.9 Reasoning: The starting point for the development of this Strategy and Action Plan has been 
the identification of the local authority’s stock of playing pitches in order to create a typology of 
sites. This documentation is essential in order to help achieve the strategic recommendations.  It is 
therefore imperative that this typology is maintained and updated on a regular basis, as 
opportunities present themselves.  
 
4.10 What to look for in the action plan:  Taking into account the findings of the Needs 
Assessment, it is clear that sites can be classified generally into one of four groupings by type, 
depending on the role that they serve. No one group is more important than any other, as each 
grouping represents sites with contrasting but nevertheless vital functions in terms of providing 
opportunities.  

4.11 The groups are as follows:  

 Level 1: Very large sites accommodating relatively large numbers of pitches as well as 
teams- these tend to be found in the larger urban areas; 

 Level 2: Other large sites, but with not quite the levels of pitch provision and team 
activity as the above- often these can highly important single-sport sites such as for 
rugby and cricket, for example. 

 Level 3: Where there is some pitch provision and associated team activity, but not 
sufficient to warrant inclusion as Level 1 and 2 sites; and, 

 Level 4: Sites which have some pitch provision but no use by community teams, as far as 
has been ascertained. (These sites are likely to serve other important local recreation 
functions). 

4.12 The typology noted above is linked to the Strategic Policy recommendations. This typology 
has been used inform site and sports specific actions identified in the Action Plan.  
 
4.13 Strategic Recommendation 2: Develop planning policies for the conservation and 
maintenance of playing pitches and include in the Local Development Plan 
 
4.14 Reasoning:  It is essential that the recommendations of the strategy, action plan and area 
profiles underpin local planning policy and are consistent with paragraphs 73 and 74 of the National 
Planning Policy Framework guidance.  In circumstances where proposals for development and use 

Page 117



                                                                                   Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy 
 

21 

of a site are contrary to those contained in the recommendations of this Strategy and Action Plan, 
they should only be approved where: 

 an assessment has been undertaken which has clearly shown the open space, buildings 
or land to be surplus to requirements; or, 

 the loss resulting from the proposed development would be replaced by equivalent or 
better provision in terms of quantity and quality in a suitable location; or 

 the development is for alternative sports and recreational provision, the needs for which 
clearly outweigh the loss.’ 

4.15 What to look for in the action plan:  There are recommendations for appropriate policies 
and other statements to be included in statutory and supplementary planning documents. (See 
Action Plan Part 1). It will be essential for local authority planning representatives to be involved in 
the development of these policies and statements. 
 
4.16 Strategic Recommendation 3: Conserve and improve the existing stock of pitch 
sports facilities and identify opportunities for new provision or development that have maximum 
impact on the individual sport/s, and participation levels  
 
4.17 Reasoning: It is fundamental to the achievement of the vision and aims of the strategy, that 
the local authority’s stock of pitch sports sites is conserved. This will mean the outright protection 
and improvement of many sites, but it may also mean potentially the redeployment of some sites 
that are or were used for outdoor sport. In terms of the latter, ‘redeployment’ may mean simply 
making a decision not to invest in maintaining sports facilities, but also that the site is still suited to 
other recreation activity. In other far more limited circumstances it might be appropriate to release 
sites for alternative built development. The emphasis is therefore on overall conservation of the 
stock of local facilities, given the need for facilities to change to best meet current needs as 
reflected in the Vision and Aims. 
 
4.18 What to look for in the Action Plan: Apart from the conservation of existing stock, it is an 
aspiration to improve the quality of the overall stock of facilities, to make them more ‘playable’ and 
therefore attractive to use.  
 
4.19 Where sites have been identified for new and/or improved facilities, the quality target 
should be to achieve a good standard of construction as recognised by the relevant Governing 
Bodies of Sport, and detailed in the Needs Assessment. 
 
4.20 The local stock of pitch sport facilities can sometimes be conserved and improved by 
encouraging some clubs that exhibit the capacity and willingness, to assume some additional 
responsibility for the management and maintenance of facilities. This might sometimes include 
formal asset transfer of sites or ancillary facilities (such as pavilions) to clubs. Wiltshire Council 
owns few playing pitch sites, and asset transfer is more likely in respect of local parish and town 
councils coming to arrangements with local clubs. 
 
4.21 The ability of local clubs to take control of facilities should not be overestimated. Although a 
select number of clubs might already have the capacity and expertise to achieve this, the large 
majority won’t and, if they want to progress toward this goal, they will need help. The Council 
should work towards adopting a policy which supports community management and ownership of 

Page 118



                                                                                   Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy 
 

22 

assets to local clubs, community groups and trusts- but only where this is appropriate. This presents 
sports clubs and national governing bodies with opportunities to assume a stronger and more 
responsible role in the management and safekeeping of facilities; it may also provide non-asset 
owning sports clubs with their first chance to take on a building.    
 
4.22 There are some sites in the local authority where security of tenure for the club/user needs 
to be assured.  This also often refers to education sites where formal community use agreements 
are not in place.  NGBs can often help to negotiate and engage with schools, particularly academies 
where the local authority may not have direct influence.   
 
4.23 The Area Profiles identify locations where there is potential to create new facilities to meet 
existing and future demands. For example, locations for new AGPs or improved grass pitches. 
 
4.24 In addition, there are a large number of sporting facilities located on education sites and 
making these available to sports clubs can offer significant benefits to both the school/college and 
the local clubs. The Council and other key partners must work with schools and colleges to develop 
an understanding of the issues that restrict or affect community access. Support should be 
provided, where appropriate, to address underlying problems.  
 
4.25 It is not uncommon for school pitch stock not to be fully maximised for community use. 
Even on established community use sites, access to grass pitches for community use is limited.   
 
4.26 Beyond the above, there are sites of limited utility and/or potential. There are also other 
institutionally controlled facilities that are not used for community sports, but which have a primary 
function in meeting the needs of their client groups. The introduction of community use to these 
facilities may be an aspiration, but not a short-term priority of the Strategy. 
 
4.27 Strategic Recommendation 4: Identify and provide new and improved opportunities 
that stand the best chances of encouraging participation in sport and physical activity, in 
particular; for children with the aim of helping to develop a ‘habit for life’; for groups that don’t 
traditionally take part; where opportunities help to retain and allow for progress of participants.  
 
4.28 Reasoning: In recent years some sports (notably pitch sports like football) have developed 
forms of the game that have enjoyed considerable success in encouraging children and young 
people into sport. Such opportunities and age-appropriate facilities should be the bedrock of any 
serious attempt to encourage even higher levels of participation amongst children and young 
people. 
 
4.29 Sport and active recreation has much to offer in improving the individual health, as well as 
encouraging social and community development. However, it needs to embrace the changing 
nature of society and accept that the terms of engagement with potential participants are 
changing, and new forms of provision and facility management may be required to encourage the 
identified target groups into sport and active recreation. 
 
Successfully encouraging new participants is just one challenge to be faced in growing participation 
in sport and active recreation: retaining new and long-standing participants is the other challenge. 
To achieve this will require the opportunities for those who wish to stay and progress in a given 

Page 119



                                                                                   Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy 
 

23 

sport with the facilities and pathways to enable them so to do. Enthusiasm should not be thwarted 
by a lack of facilities of right type and appropriate quality. 
 
4.30 What to look for in the Action Plan:  Facilities that are suited to hosting child-friendly 
versions of sports are encouraged at various sites - this might be achieved by simple initiatives such 
as reviewing and re-marking pitches, but also more structural changes, such as improved and 
expanded ancillary buildings.  
 
4.31 There are some parts of the local authority that have comparatively low levels of 
participation in sport, and these tend to coincide with areas of relatively high levels of social and 
economic deprivation when measured by government indicators.  
 
4.32 This Strategy and Action Plan does not provide for facilities to be used by the elite 
performance level, but by the general community. However, the priority sites will be of a kind that 
will help players play to a good level. Below these priority sites there will be smaller sites, which will 
still be important entry level venues. 

 
4.33 Strategic Recommendation 5: Work with partners to identify and secure the 
resources that are required to deliver SR3 and SR4  
 
4.34 Reasoning: Whilst this Strategy and action plan is owned by Wiltshire Council, it is  not 
feasible for Wiltshire Council, (or indeed any other partner), to identify and allocate the financial 
resources to deliver the recommendations, particularly when operating in such a financially 
challenging climate. It is for Wiltshire Council and its key stakeholders and partners to work 
together to identify potential sources of funding through developer contributions, National 
Governing Body facilities strategies, Sport England funding and through support to town and parish 
councils, sports club and other organisations that will enable and empower communities to seek 
their own funding.    One partner alone cannot deliver the plan. 
 
4.35 What to look for in the Action Plan: There are recommendations for the key priorities to be 
included in the Section 106 and Community Investment Levy lists, which should realise a significant 
contribution to the maintenance and provision of new stock.  There are also recommendations 
within the action plan as to who the key stakeholder may be in terms of supporting potential pitch 
and facility stock improvements and new developments.  Support should be referred to in its 
widest sense and does not indicate any commitment to ‘financial’ support. 
 
The Action Plan  
 
4.36 The Action Plan has two parts: 

 Part 1: which provides general actions; and 

 Part 2: (Area Profiles) - which has area and site-specific priority actions. 
 

4.37 The Strategy and Action Plan has been prepared and agreed by the all members of the 
Steering Group. These stakeholders must therefore cooperate in achieving the strategic and area- 
specific actions proposed. The land-use planning system will be a principal vehicle for addressing 
many of the actions.  

Page 120



                                                                                   Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy 
 

24 

 
4.38 The sports and site-specific actions contained in Action Plan Part 2 (Area Profiles) have been 
identified as being the most important for the presence and development of pitch sports in each 
individual area, and practical involvement and leadership in achieving the implementation of 
actions must be agreed between members of the on-going steering group. 
 
4.39 Section 5 of this document explains how the Strategy and Action Plan will be monitored and 
reviewed on a regular basis. However, the steering group should be constantly alert to new issues 
and opportunities that emerge over the course of time, and the Strategy and Action Plan is 
therefore not intended to be inflexibly prescriptive.  

 
 
 

 

Page 121



                                                                                   Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy 
 

25 

 

5.0 IMPLEMENTATION AND REVIEW 

Delivery   
 
5.1 The Strategy seeks to provide guidance for maintenance/management decisions and 
investment made across the local authority area. By addressing the issues identified in the Needs 
Assessment Report and using the strategic framework presented in this Strategy, the current and 
future pitch sport and recreational needs of the local authority can be satisfied. The Strategy 
identifies where there is a deficiency in provision and identifies how best to resolve this in the 
future.   
 
5.2 It is important that this document is used in a practical manner, is engaged with partners 
and encourages partnerships to be developed, to ensure that outdoor sports facilities are regarded 
as a vital aspect of community life and which contribute to the achievement of Council priorities.   

 

5.3 The production of this Strategy should be regarded as the beginning of the planning process. 
The success of the Strategy and the benefits that are gained are dependent upon regular 
engagement between all partners involved and the adoption of a strategic approach.   

 

5.4 Each member of the current Strategy Development Steering Group should take the lead to 
ensure the Strategy is used and applied appropriately within their area of work and influence. The 
role of the steering group should not end with the completion of the Strategy document.   

 

5.5 To help ensure the Strategy is well used it should be regarded as the key document within 
the study area guiding the improvement and protection of playing pitch provision. It needs to be 
the document people regularly turn to for information about how the current demand is met and 
what actions are required to improve the situation and meet future demand. In order for this to be 
achieved the steering group need to have a clear understanding of how the Strategy can be applied 
and therefore delivered.   

 

5.6 The process of developing the Strategy will hopefully have already resulted in a number of 
benefits that will help with its application and delivery. These may include enhanced partnership 
working across different agendas and organisations, pooling of resources along with strengthening 
relationships and understanding between different stakeholders and between members of the 
steering group and the sporting community. The drivers behind the Strategy and the work to 
develop the recommendations and action plan will have also highlighted, and helped the steering 
group to understand, the key areas to which it can be applied and how it can be delivered.   

 
5.7        Once the Strategy is complete the role of the Strategy Development Steering Group should 
evolve so that it:   

• Acts as a focal point for promoting the value and importance of the Strategy and playing 
pitch provision in the area  

• Monitors, evaluates and reviews progress with the delivery of the recommendations and 
action plan  

Page 122



                                                                                   Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy 
 

26 

• Shares lessons learnt from how the Strategy has been used and how it has been applied to a 
variety of circumstances  

• Ensures the Strategy is used effectively to input into any new opportunities to secure 
improved provision and influence relevant programmes and initiatives  

• Maintains links between all relevant parties with an interest in playing pitch provision in the 
area; and,  

 Reviews the need to update the Strategy along with the supply and demand information 
and assessment work on which it is based. 

 
5.8 Effectively the Strategy Development Steering Group will become the Strategy 
Implementation Steering Group.  
 
5.9 An immediate priority of the Strategy Implementation Steering Group will be to establish a 
‘Year 1’ series of projects to be pursued in accordance with the priority ratings and time-frames 
indicated in the Action Plan and Area Profiles. 
 
5.10 Year 1 project initiatives may not only include active pursuit of the high priority projects, but 
also could include projects that are easy to implement and achieve in the short-term. 

 

Monitoring and updating   
  
5.11   It is important that there is regular annual monitoring and review against the actions 
identified in the Strategy. This monitoring will be led by the local authority and supported by all 
local Wiltshire members of, and reported back to, the full Strategy Implementation Steering Group. 
Understanding and learning lessons from how the Strategy has been applied should also form a key 
component of monitoring its delivery. This should form an on-going role of the steering group.   

 

5.12    As a guide, if no review and subsequent update has been carried out within three years of 
the Strategy being signed off by the steering group, then Sport England and the NGBs would 
consider the Strategy and the information on which it is based to be out of date.   

 

5.13    The nature of the supply and in particular the demand for playing pitches will likely to have 
changed over the three years. Therefore, without any form of review and update within this time 
period it would be difficult to make the case that the supply and demand information and 
assessment work is sufficiently robust. 
 

5.14    Therefore, the Strategy will be reviewed by the full Strategy Implementation Group on an 
annual basis from the date it is formally signed off by the Strategy Development Steering Group. 
This will help to maintain the momentum and commitment that has been built up when developing 
the Strategy. Taking into account the time to develop the Strategy this should also help to ensure 
that the original supply and demand information is no more than two years old without being 
reviewed.   

 

Page 123



                                                                                   Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy 
 

27 

5.15 The annual review should highlight:   
 

 How the delivery of the recommendations and action plan has progressed and any changes 
required to the priority afforded to each action (e.g. the priority of some may increase 
following the delivery of others); 

 How the Strategy has been applied and the lessons learned;  

 Any changes to particularly important sites and/or clubs in the area (e.g. the most used or 
high quality sites for a particular sport) and other supply and demand information, what this 
may mean for the overall assessment work and the key findings and issues; 

 Any development of a specific sport or particular format of a sport; and, 

 Any new or emerging issues and opportunities.   

5.16 Further to the annual review the group should:  

 Provide a short annual progress and update paper to be presented to both the Cabinet 
Member for Leisure and the Environment Select Committee.  
 

5.17 It will be beneficial to hold annual sport specific meetings with the pitch sport NGBs and 
other relevant parties to update and amend the assessment work where necessary, track progress 
with implementing the recommendations and action plan and highlight any new issues and 
opportunities.  Timing this with the annual affiliation process undertaken by the NGBs which would 
help to capture any changes in the number and nature of sports clubs in the area. Other 
information that is already collected on a regular basis such as pitch booking records for local 
authority and other sites could be fed into these meetings.  The NGBs will also be able to indicate 
any further performance quality assessments that have been undertaken within the study area.  
Discussion with the league secretaries may also indicate annual league meetings which it may be 
useful to attend to pick up any specific issues and/or enable a review of the relevant club details to 
be undertaken.   

 
5.18 The steering group will regularly review and refresh area by area plans taking account of any 
improvements in pitch quality (and hence increases in pitch capacity) and also any new 
negotiations for community use of education sites in the future.   

 

5.19 The accompanying databases are intended to be refreshed on a season by season basis and 
it is important that there is cross-departmental working, including for example, grounds 
maintenance and sports development departments, to ensure that this is achieved and that results 
are used to inform subsequent annual sports facility development plans. Results should be shared 
with partners via a consultative mechanism.   

 

 

 

 

Page 124



                                                                                   Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy 
 

28 

APPENDIX 1: Steering Group composition 

The project Steering Group comprised representatives of the following organisations: 

 Wiltshire Council 

 England Hockey 

 Sport England 

 The England and Wales Cricket Board 

 The Football Association 

 The Rugby Football Union 

 Wiltshire and Swindon Sports Partnership 

The Steering Group will continue to exist to oversee the implementation and review/updating of 
the Strategy and Action Plan, as detailed elsewhere in this document. 

Page 125



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 
2017 

Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy Action Plan (Part 1) 

ACTION PLAN PART 1 

FEBRUARY 2017 

P
age 127



 
1 Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy Action Plan (Part 1)  

Action Plan Part 1: General actions 

Key:  Time-frame (Short=0-3 years; Medium= 3-6 years; Long = 6 years +) 

Implementation partners (WC=Wiltshire Council; FA=Football Association; ECB=England and Wales Cricket Board; RFU= Rugby Football Union; EH=England 
Hockey);  

Action Plan Part 1 (General Actions) 

Strategic Recommendation Action Time-frame Lead Partners 

SR1:  Maintain an evidence 
base of the quality, quantity 
and type of playing pitch 
surface available within the 
local authority area 

 

Develop and maintain a typology of sites to guide planning and 
investment in line with priority levels 1 – 4 
 
 
Develop an annual plan of priority sites (using the typology of sites) 
 
Establish a Steering Group that oversees the implementation of the 
policies and recommendations contained in the Strategy and Action 
Plan.  Year 1 targets to include: 

  Establish membership 

  Develop a Terms of Reference 

  Establish a Year 1 series of generic and site specific priorities 

  Identify potential resources for Year 1 priorities 

  Establish a process for the monitoring and review of the Strategy   
  and Action Plan 
 

Short 
 
 
 
Short 
 
Short 
 

Wiltshire Council 
Steering Group 
Wiltshire Council 
 

 

 

Sport England 
NGBs 
CSP 
 
 
 
Sport England 
NGBs 
CSP 
 

 

SR 2:  Develop planning 
policies for the conservation 
and maintenance of playing 
pitches and include in the 
Local Development Plan 

Develop planning policies that are consistent with the NPPF in order 
to conserve and improve the stock of playing fields and other 
outdoor sports facilities.  Include specific site proposals identified in 
the Area Profiles  
 

Include statements in all relevant supplementary planning 
documents relating to the policy and actions in this strategy  

 

 

Short 

 

 

 

Short 

 

 

Wiltshire Council 

 

 

 

Wiltshire Council 

 

 

Sport England 
NGBs 
CSP 

P
age 128



 
2 Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy Action Plan (Part 1)  

Strategic Recommendation Action Time-frame Lead Partners 

Work with Spatial Planning to ensure that where proposals for 
development and use of a site are contrary to those contained in the 
recommendations of this Strategy and Action Plan, they should only 
be approved where: 

• an assessment has been undertaken which has clearly shown 
the open space, buildings or land to be surplus to requirements; or 

• the loss resulting from the proposed development would be 
replaced by equivalent or better provision in terms of quantity and 
quality in a suitable location; or 

• the development is for alternative sports and recreational 
provision, the needs for which clearly outweigh the loss.’ 

Short Wiltshire Council 

SR 3:  Conserve and improve 
the existing stock of pitch 
sports facilities and identify 
opportunities for new 
provision or development 
that have maximum impact 
on the individual sport/s, and 
participation levels  

 

 

 

 

 

Develop an Implementation Plan that supports the improvement of 
existing facilities in line with the recommendations identified in the 
Area Profiles 
 
Develop an implementation plan that supports the creation of new 
facilities in order to meet existing and future demands, in line with 
the location recommendations identified in the Area Profiles.  
 
Where sites have been identified for improved and/or new facilities, 
ensure that they a good standard of construction as recognised by 
the relevant Governing Bodies of Sport and detailed in the Needs 
Assessment  
 
Provide guidance and support that will enable clubs and town and 
parish councils to improve the quality of their pitches and ancillary 
facilities as appropriate  
 
Develop the capacity of clubs, where appropriate, to assume greater 
responsibility in respect of the ownership, tenure, management and 
maintenance of facilities  

 

Short 
 
 
 
Medium 
 
 
 
Short 
 
 
 
 
Short – Medium 
 
 
 
Short – Medium 
 

 

Steering Group 
 
 
 
Steering Group 
 
 
 
NGBs 
 
 
 
 
NGBs 
 
 
 
Wiltshire Council 
NGBs 
 
 

Sport England 
NGBs 
 
 
Sport England 
NGBs 
 
 
Sport England 
 
 
 
 
Wiltshire 
Council 
 
 
Sport England 
 
 
 

P
age 129



 
3 Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy Action Plan (Part 1)  

Strategic Recommendation Action Time-frame Lead Partners 

Work with appropriate clubs and town and parish council on a 
formal asset transfer of sites and/or ancillary facilities to clubs.  
 
Develop the capacity of club volunteers to use a central resource of 
pitch maintenance services:  
 

 Training programmes in grounds maintenance 

 Creation of a central bank of maintenance equipment to help 
clubs maintain the quality of grass pitches 

 
Maximise community use of school pitches where there is a need to 
do so, through the establishment of working group that focuses on 
increased/better use of school facilities (pitches and changing 
accommodation) to include: 

 Improved understanding of current community use 

 Ensuring community use agreements are upheld 

 Identify and pilot one school/club formal community use 
agreement with a view to rolling out the model across the area  

 Ensuring that funding to improve the quality of the facilities is 
identified and secured 

 Securing a management arrangement for community access, 
which does not rely on existing school staff structures 

 Ensuring that pitch provision at schools is sufficient in quality 
and quantity to be able to deliver its curriculum.  

 

Maximise the community use of MOD pitches and ancillary facilities 
through the implementation and monitoring of the Army Rebasing 
Sports and Community Access Agreement 

Short – Medium 
 
 
Medium 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Short – Medium 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Medium – Long 
 
 

 

 

Wiltshire Council 

 

NGBs 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Wiltshire Council 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
Wiltshire Council 

NGBs 

 

Wiltshire 
Council 
 
 
 
 
 
Sport England 
NGBs 
Education 
Academies 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

MOD 
Sport England 
 

P
age 130



 
4 Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy Action Plan (Part 1)  

Strategic Recommendation Action Time-frame Lead Partners 

SR 4:  Identify and provide 
new and improved 
opportunities that stand the 
best chances of encouraging 
participation, in particular; 
for children with the aim of 
helping to develop a ‘habit 
for life’ in sport and physical 
activity; for groups that don’t 
traditionally take part in; 
where opportunities help to 
retain and allow for progress 
of participants  

 

Support club development and encourage clubs to develop evidence 
of business and sports development plans to increase participation, 
membership, upskill volunteers, increase partnership working, 
attract funding and generate income through their facilities 
 
Remodel pitches and facilities where appropriate to encourage 
participation amongst target groups including children and young 
people, older adults, women and girls, people with a disability  
 
Use adapted versions of traditional sports to increase participation 
levels amongst target groups  
 
Target participation activities in areas of the county with lower levels 
of participation and higher levels of social and economic deprivation 
  
Ensure that priority sites are developed in such a way that they 
enable those who wish to develop their skills within a sport, or 
where clubs have the ambition to gain promotion through the 
league levels, that have the facilities to do so  
 

Short  
 
 
 
 
Short – Medium 
 
 
 
Short 
 
 
Short – Medium 
 
 
Short - Medium 
 
 
 

NGBs 
 
 
 
 
NGBs 
 
 
 
NGBs 
 
 
NGBs 
 
 
NGBs 

Wiltshire 
Council 
Sport England 
 
 
Wiltshire 
Council 
 
 
Wiltshire 
Council 
 
Wiltshire 
Council 
 
Wiltshire 
Council 
 
Wiltshire 
Council 
 

SR 5:  Work with partners to 
identify and secure the 
resources that are required to 
deliver SR3 and SR4  

 

Include reference to all relevant recommendations contained in this 
strategy and action plan in the CIL Regulation 123 list, S106 List and 
other supplementary planning documents of relevance  
 
Identify site specific project costs and potential sources of funding to 
support pitch and facility improvements/new provision for Year 1 
priorities  
 

Short 
 
 
 
Short 

Wiltshire Council 

 

 

Steering Group 

Sport England 
NGBs 

 

 

 

 

P
age 131



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

 

  
2017 

Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy:                        
Community Area Profiles 

ACTION PLAN PART 2: COMMUNITY AREA PROFILES 

FEBRUARY 2017 

P
age 133



 
1 Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy Community Area Profiles (Action Plan Part 2)  

Contents 
 
Introduction  2 
Amesbury Profile  4 
Bradford on Avon Profile  9 
Calne Profile  13 
Chippenham Profile  17 
Corsham Profile  22 
Devizes Profile  26 
Malmesbury Profile  31 
Marlborough Profile  35 
Melksham Profile  39 
Pewsey Profile  43 
Royal Wootton Bassett and Cricklade Profile  47 
Salisbury Profile  51 
South West Wiltshire Profile  55 
Southern Wiltshire Profile  59 
Tidworth Profile  63 
Trowbridge Profile  67 
Warminster Profile  71 
Westbury Profile  75 
   
Appendix A: Explanation of forecasts 
Appendix B: Explanation of FA AGP modelling 

  

   
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Glossary 
 
Glossary of Terms 

 

AGP Artificial Grass Pitch(es) 

ECB England and Wales Cricket Board 

EH England Hockey 

FA Football Association 

FIFA Federation of International Football Associations 

MoD Ministry of Defence 

NPPF National Planning Policy Framework 

RFU Rugby Football Union 

 
 

P
age 134



 
4 Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy Community Area Profiles (Action Plan Part 2)  

Introduction 
 
General 
The following pages provide 18 Community Area Board profiles in the following order: 
 
Amesbury Pewsey 
Bradford on Avon Royal Wootton Bassett and Cricklade 
Calne Salisbury 
Chippenham South West Wiltshire 
Corsham Southern Wiltshire 
Devizes Tidworth 
Malmesbury Trowbridge 
Marlborough Warminster 
Melksham Westbury 
 
Format 
Each of the profiles follows the same format, for simplicity and to aid comparison. The first part of each profile provides a brief description of the Community Board area, with relevant population data and general 
information on team numbers recorded as playing in the area. Next, the profile provides information on the supply and use of pitch sport sites, including grass pitches and AGPs. A brief sport-by-sport review of 
activity is then provided, followed by a summary of key current and likely future issues, affecting pitch sports locally. 
 
The profile then considers the likely impact of population change in the area on the numbers of teams likely to be fielded, and therefore the demand for pitches. These projections take into account both the impact 
of natural population change, as well as that of planned new housing allocations which, locally, can have a significant influence on the demand to play sport1. 
Finally, a list of actions is recommended, relating to sites and sports. Accompanying the above is a series of Tables for each profile: 

 Table A: Population 

 Table B: Pitch sport team numbers 

 Table C: Supply and Use of key local grass pitch sport sites (figures based on 2015 data and estimates) 

 Table D: AGP provision locally (where there is provision) 

 Table E: Future pitch requirements 

 Table F: Site specific actions. (See below under ‘Clarification). 
 
Definitions 
Where there is a Table D for AGPs, the following terms are used to denote levels of access: 

 Pay & Play: The facility can be booked for use by groups or individuals on a casual basis. 

 Private Use: Beyond the principal user there is very little or no use allowed by external clubs or groups on a secured basis. Within Wiltshire, this is normally the case with certain independent school and MoD 
facilities.  

 Sports Club/Community Association: Facilities are available to use by recognised sports clubs or other community organisations, and usually on a regular block-booking basis. 
 
In reality there is very often no clear cut distinction in respect of the above. For example, a facility that is primarily pay and play, may also accept some block bookings by clubs.  
 
  

                                                 
1
 The population projections used for this project are based on two sources: 

• A trend-based forecast produced by Wiltshire Council on 12/05/2015 using POPGROUP software developed by Bradford Council, the University of Manchester and Andelin Associates 
• Allocations provided in the Wiltshire Council Core Strategy for individual community areas within the local authority (these being combined into area board geographies where appropriate).  These allocations were multiplied by the average occupancy 

rate for Wiltshire Council, which approximates to 2 persons per household. 
 

P
age 135



 
5 Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy Community Area Profiles (Action Plan Part 2)  

Clarification 
These area profiles are part of a Strategy and Action Plan that is based on the Needs Assessment, which is the main technical document to support the Strategy. The technical process involved in preparing the Needs 
Assessment is explained fully in that document. To help in understanding the assumptions and terms used in these profiles please remember the following: 

 Population information used is based largely on data generated by Wiltshire Council, and described in the Needs Assessment. 

 Housing growth estimates are based on the Wiltshire Core Strategy. 

 The Priority Site Order categorisation used in Table C is a product of the Needs Assessment. The grading of sites has been based principally on the following criteria:  

Level 1: Very large sites accommodating relatively large numbers of pitches as well as teams- these tend to be found in the larger urban areas; 

Level 2: Other large sites, but with not quite the levels of pitch provision and team activity as the above- often these can highly important single-sport sites such as for rugby and cricket, for example. 

Level 3: Where there is some pitch provision and associated team activity, but not sufficient to warrant inclusion as Level 1 and 2 sites; and, 

Level 4: Sites which have some pitch provision but no use by community teams, as far as has been ascertained. 

In some areas, because of the absence of Level 1 and 2 sites, Level 3 sites will assume greater importance. 

 Grass and artificial pitch provision is analysed in detail in the Needs Assessment. 

 The term ‘Net Site Capacity’ as used in Table C indicates whether a grass pitch site is being used under, at, or over its theoretical capacity to absorb matches and training. In other words, whether a site is 
being ‘overplayed’ or not. The metric used is adult ‘match equivalents’. Match equivalents have been weighted according to the age groups concerned, where appropriate, so that (for example) minisoccer 
matches are weighted much less than the full adult match equivalent. Where training is known to take place on grass pitches, this has also been included as part of the match equivalent calculations. Where 
relevant figures are negative it means that a site may be overplayed, although other factors also have to be taken into account.  

 AGP is a term used to denote ‘Artificial Grass Pitch’. AGPs (constructed and maintained to appropriate specifications) are now accepted as essential facilities for match play for hockey, as well being 
acceptable for football match play and rugby training. The different types of surface are explained in the Needs Assessment. The assessment of AGPs is based on their use for matchplay and training. It is 
acknowledged that casual small-sided games take place regularly on these surfaces, but such activity is not part of the overall assessment. 

 The method for calculating the (combined) impact of natural and planned population growth and change is explained in Appendix A to this document. 

 Under Table F for each profile there is a column titled ‘Support’. The term can mean various things- practical support in the form of organisation time, financial input, and contributions in lieu, (such as land). 
The exact mix and match of who should contribute to what and how, must be determined through the Implementation/Steering Group. (See the Strategy and Action Plan Part 1). 

 
Pragmatism 
Wiltshire is a geographically large local authority. There are around 370 grass sites as well as other artificial pitches included in the Needs Assessment underpinning this document- given the limited resources 
available to the Council and its partners responsible for the preparation of this Strategy and Action Plan, it has been impossible to make site-specific proposals for each and every venue. Instead site-specific 
proposals are identified for key locations and actions in the Area Profiles. Other sites are covered by general recommendations contained in Action Plan Part 1, in this document. 
 
A ‘snapshot in time’ 
The sporting landscape of Wiltshire is always changing- clubs and teams come and go, and facilities change. This strategy is based on a needs assessment that used data from a certain point in time. Already things 
have moved on. Improved sports infrastructure at sites in Royal Wootton Bassett and Calne (for example) are acknowledged in this document, but could not be fully incorporated. Similarly, there are planned 
changes in provision which are acknowledged but for which plans are not yet finalised, and therefore details of proposals and teams using them cannot be provided in this project.  The Woolmore Farm development 
was nearing completion at the time of the audit. This will lead to the transfer of Melksham Rugby Club and Melksham Town Football Club from the Conigre site in Melksham to Woolmore Farm in Autumn 2016.  For 
the purposes of continuity and to avoid duplication of club, team and usage analysis within the documentation, usage of Conigre (and Melksham Oak Community School by the football club), will be retained, but 
data projections will be given where feasible and reference made to the fact that this significant change will be taking place.  The first refresh of the documentation will account fully for this change. 
  

Senior Sports Clubs 
This Strategy will look to support, develop, and protect our most senior sports clubs when and where appropriate. 

P
age 136



 
4 Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy Community Area Profiles (Action Plan Part 2)  

  

 

Amesbury 
 
The Amesbury Community Area covers mainly rural countryside in the south-east of the County of Wiltshire. There are a number of settlements; the largest and 
oldest being Amesbury itself, situated on a defended hill site overlooking the valley of the Salisbury Avon. Other large villages include a strong army presence, as 
at Bulford and Larkhill; the community area is dotted with various military sites. The army has, therefore, played a key role in the area’s economy and 
prosperity. The town of Amesbury serves as the main service centre for the community area and also benefits from its proximity to the City of Salisbury, just six 
miles to the south. 
Table A: Population2 

Area 2015 population 2026 population Population trend-based change 

(2015-2026) 

Allocated housing in core strategy 
to 2026 

Amesbury ( 
31,422 hectares) 

 

34,292 40,593 6,301 2,785 

Table B: Pitch sport team numbers 

2015 AGE GROUPS 2015 AGE GROUP POPULATION 2015 TEAMS 

Mini-soccer (6-9 mixed gender) 2,611 8 

Junior football (10-15 male) 2,253 14 

Junior football (10-15 female) 1,654 0 

Senior football (16-45 male) 8,489 12 

Senior football (16-45 female) 7,384 0 

   

Mini-rugby (7-12 mixed gender) 3,824 0 

Junior rugby (13-18 male) 2,127 0 

Junior rugby (13-18 female) 1,450 0 

Senior rugby (19-45 male) 7,601 1 

Senior rugby (19-45 female) 6,719 0 

   

Junior cricket (7-17 male) 3,503 9 

Junior cricket (7-17 female) 3,042 0 

Senior cricket (18-55 male) 9,601 16 

Senior cricket (18-55 female) 9,012 0 

   

Junior hockey (11-15 male) 1,565 0 

Junior hockey (11-15 female) 1,355 0 

Senior hockey (16-45 male) 8,489 0 

Senior hockey (16-45 female) 7,384 0 
 

                                                 
2
 From a forecast produced by Wiltshire Council on 12/05/2015 using POPGROUP software developed by Bradford Council, the University of Manchester and Andelin Associates 

P
age 137



 
5 Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy Community Area Profiles (Action Plan Part 2)  

Key grass pitch sport sites 

All sites within the Community Board area are identified in the Needs Assessment and underlying databases. The following have been identified as key sites with the Community Board area. The priority ranking is 
relative to its estimated importance to pitch sports strategically, and within Wiltshire generally. A lower order ranking (such as a ‘3’) does not mean that a site does not have importance in a local context. 
 
Table C: Supply and Use of key local grass pitch sports sites 
  Pitches Teams (i.e. male and female, all age-

groups) 
Net site capacity 

Priority 
Order 

(1,2,3,4) 

Name Adult 
Football 

Youth 
Football 
(11v11) 

Youth 
Football 

(9v9) 

Minisoccer 
(7v7) 

Minisoccer 
(5v5) 

Cricket 
Fields 

Adult 
Rugby 

Mini 
Rugby 

Football 
team 
count 

Rugby 
team 
count 

Cricket 
team 
count 

Net site 
football 
capacity 

Net site 
adult 
grass 

wicket 
capacity 

Net site 
rugby 

capacity 

3 off Portway, Gomeldon      1   0 0 6 0 -5  

3 Amesbury Sports Centre 
(Holder Road) 

2        1 0 0 5.5 0  

3 DTSL Sports Ground, Porton 
Down 

1     1   7 0 1 -1.13 0  

3 Steeple Langford Recreation 
Ground 

     1   0 0 7 0 -5  

3 Centenary Pavilion & Pitches 
Archers Gate 

        9 0 0 -3.75 0  

3 Boscombe Down Sports 
Field 

1        0 0 1 3 0  

3 Bonnymead 1     1   3 0 2 0.5 10  

3 Figheldean Recreation 
Ground 

1        1 0 0 1.5 0  

3 Durrington Recreation 
Ground 

1        9 0 0 -0.63 0  

3 Shrewton Recreation 
Ground 

1     1   2 0 6 0.63 -20  

3 off Jubilee Hill, Durnford      1   0 0 2 0 10  

 
AGP provision 
 
There is AGP provision at the following locations. (n.b. an MoD facility at RAF Bulford, Boscombe Down, has been excluded as its surface has been condemned). 
Table D: AGP provision locally 

Name Sub area AGP type Facility Status Access Type Surface Hockey match play compliant 

AVON VALLEY COLLEGE Amesbury 3G half-size Operational Pay and Play Rubber crumb pile (3G)  FALSE 

BULFORD BARRACKS GROUND Amesbury 3G full-size Operational Pay and Play Rubber crumb pile (3G)  FALSE 

LARKHILL Amesbury Sand full-size Operational Private Use Sand Filled TRUE 

 
  

P
age 138



 
6 Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy Community Area Profiles (Action Plan Part 2)  

Sport-by-Sport overview (see Needs Assessment for details) 

 Football: This is a very rural sub area and sites are local in importance. The main issue however, is likely to be access to be access to a large 3G pitch for football training. There are four AGPs within the area. 
The only one that has some availability is at Bulford Barracks. However, availability will be very limited due to primary use by the military, and there can never be long-term assurance of community access to 
MoD facilities.  The MoD AGP pitch at Larkhill is not generally available for community use, and is the wrong surface type for serious training and match play. The small pitch at Avon Valley College has limited 
capacity for community use. Elsewhere local clubs have cited some concerns with the lack of and quality of facilities for training. The biggest clubs playing in the area are Amesbury Juniors, Durrington Youth, 
and Porton Sports. Bonnymead, Archers Gate, DSTL and Durrington Recreation Ground are key sites for these clubs. 

 Cricket: The biggest clubs playing in the area are Shrewton CC, Winterbourne CC, and Steeple Langford CC respectively playing at Shrewton Recreation Ground, off Portway, Gomeldon, and Steeple Langford 
Recreation Ground. Clubs have cited concerns over inadequate pavilions and the lack of ball retention nets at some locations. Shrewton CC have secured planning permission for the development of a new 
ground and pavilion on local farm land. The club’s aspiration is to move to this new ground to help improve the club’s facilities and offer to its members 

 Rugby: There are no community rugby clubs based in this sub area. 

 Hockey: There are no community hockey clubs based in this area. 
 
Current and likely future issues: 

 General: There are peak-time availability issues in respect of youth football on Saturday mornings, caused by activity at Archers’ Gate. However, this is likely to be as a result of youth play on adult pitches. 
There is no overall overuse of football venues in the area, although Archers’ Gate is heavily played. Shrewton Recreation Ground also has heavy adult cricket use. Planned and natural population change will 
impact upon the requirement for sports pitches for all 4 key sports (see later). Most football pitches in the area are rated as being of standard quality based on FA approved rating systems. There is a net 
peak-time surplus of cricket fields on Saturdays. 

 Football: there is an issue in respect of access to AGP provision both for training and, increasingly for match play. Based on calculations (explained in the Appendix B) there is a requirement of 0.81 of a full-
size 3G pitch to meet the training needs of teams in the area. Demand will be bolstered by future population growth. The above figure takes into account the existing provision, which is limited availability for 
community use, and which is partly of the wrong surface type for serious football training and match play. The best prospect of a sustainable solution would be a joint initiative either with a local school or 
the MoD ‘outside the wire’3- both with assured community use guaranteed. Existing grass pitch provision has the capacity to absorb future growth.  

 Cricket:  The primary emphasis should be on the protection of existing grounds and the improvement of facilities, subject to Shrewton CCs potential move. Existing venues will have the capacity to absorb any 
additional teams arising from population growth. However, Shrewton CC has plans to develop a new venue, that will allow it to develop further as a club, and the likely implications arising from this bot for 
the club and required facilities must be understood. 

 Rugby: Future population growth is unlikely in itself likely to the establishment of a local rugby club, and instead the focus should be on improving the quality and capacity of nearby club facilities in Salisbury.  

 Hockey: The above comments for rugby are also relevant to Hockey. 
  

                                                 
3
 Due to the Army Rebasing Programme, the Sports and Community Access Scheme (SCAS) agreement has been drawn up which will provide significant opportunities for the community to access Army / MOD Sports and Leisure Facilities inside and outside of 

the wire. As this agreement is linked to specific Planning Applications and associated triggers it is probable that the Scheme will not be open for use until 2017 

P
age 139



 
7 Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy Community Area Profiles (Action Plan Part 2)  

Estimated future changes in team numbers in the area, and resulting change in demand for pitches 
The following combines projected natural population change with the likely impact of allocated growth in the core strategy up to 2026, and identifies what the likely change in team numbers will be, together with 
the likely impact in grass pitch numbers required. The method of calculation and assumptions are explained in the Appendix A. 
 
Table E: Future pitch requirements 

Age Groups A. Total new teams B. Total extra matches 
per week (A*0.5) 

C. Matches per pitch D. Pitches required 
(B/C) 

Mini-soccer (6-9 mixed gender) 2.7 1.35 4 0.3 

Junior football (10-15 male) 3.8 1.9 2 1.0 

Junior football (10-15 female) nil - 2 nil 

Senior football (16-45 male) 3.7 1.85 2 0.9 

Senior football (16-45 female) nil - 2 nil 

 
 

  
 Mini-rugby (7-12 mixed gender) nil - 0 0.0 

Junior rugby (13-18 male) nil - 0 0.0 

Junior rugby (13-18 female) nil - 0 0.0 

Senior rugby (19-45 male) 0.6 0.3 2 0.1 

Senior rugby (19-45 female) nil - 2 nil 

 
 

  
 Junior cricket (7-17 male) 1.9 0.95 0 0.0 

Junior cricket (7-17 female) nil - 0 0.0 

Senior cricket (18-55 male) 2.7 1.35 3 0.5 

Senior cricket (18-55 female) nil - 3 nil 

 
 

  
 Junior hockey (11-15 male) nil - 0 0.0 

Junior hockey (11-15 female) nil - 0 0.0 

Senior hockey (16-45 male) nil - 4 nil 

Senior hockey (16-45 female) nil - 4 nil 

 
These changes in themselves will not require additional pitch space that cannot already be found. However, they will increase demand on existing facilities, and require the improvement and expansion of existing 
key venues to cope with these increased demands. Because some sports cohorts don’t currently have teams representing them, future projections are not made. However, sports development initiatives can change 
things, although such change is not likely to be significantly, and has therefore been discounted. 
  

P
age 140



 
8 Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy Community Area Profiles (Action Plan Part 2)  

Site Specific Actions 
 
Table F: Site specific actions 

Where? What? When? (Short =0-3 years; Medium = 3-
6 years; Long = 6+ years) 

Partners 

Site search in the Amesbury/Boscombe Football: Provision of a single full-size FA compliant 3G pitch, as 
a dual use/joint provision project. This might potentially involve 
the resurfacing of the condemned sand-based AGP at RAF 
Boscombe Down, subject to a secure community use 
agreement. 

Medium FA, Wiltshire Council, School/MoD, Developer 
contributions 

Amesbury Sports Centre (Holder Road) Football: Provide changing and toilet access, (which could help 
with decanting some of the overplay at Archers Gate). 

Medium FA, Wiltshire Council, Town Council, Developer 
contributions 

Shrewton Recreation Ground, off Portway, 
Gomeldon, and Steeple Langford 

Cricket: Fully determine the plans of the Shrewton Cricket Club 
to move to a new venue, and what the longer term implications 
are likely to be in respect of facility requirements.  

Short ECB, Wiltshire Council, Developer contributions 

Shrewton Recreation Ground Cricket: Provision of ball retention nets. (These and other 
portable equipment could be used at a new venue. 

Short ECB, Wiltshire Council, Developer contributions 

Off Portway, Gomeldon Cricket: Upgrading of pavilion Long ECB, Wiltshire Council, Developer contributions 

 

P
age 141



 
9 Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy Community Area Profiles (Action Plan Part 2)  

 

Bradford on Avon 
 
The Bradford on Avon Community Area covers a mix of urban and rural countryside in the west of the County of Wiltshire. It is dominated by the one 
settlement, the ancient market town of Bradford on Avon. There are nine parishes across the community area. There are no other towns. Bradford on Avon is a 
popular and expensive commuter town with easy access to Bristol, Bath, and London. Although the town of Bradford on Avon provides a range of shops and 
facilities, the nearby city of Bath, only 6 miles to the north-west and Trowbridge, 3 miles away, both provide many nearby alternatives. 
 
Table A: Population4 

Area 2015 population 2026 population Population trend-based change 

(2015-2026) 

Allocated housing in core strategy 
to 2026 

Bradford on Avon (5,919 Hectares) 18,293 19,000 707 1,560 

 
Table B: Pitch sport activity 

2015 AGE GROUPS 2015 AGE GROUP POPULATION 2015 TEAMS 

Mini-soccer (6-9 mixed gender) 911 18 

Junior football (10-15 male) 722 31 

Junior football (10-15 female) 597 0 

Senior football (16-45 male) 2,655 11 

Senior football (16-45 female) 2,710 0 

   

Mini-rugby (7-12 mixed gender) 1,282 6 

Junior rugby (13-18 male) 711 6 

Junior rugby (13-18 female) 559 2 

Senior rugby (19-45 male) 2,348 3 

Senior rugby (19-45 female) 2,446 0 

   

Junior cricket (7-17 male) 1,154 10 

Junior cricket (7-17 female) 1,105 0 

Senior cricket (18-55 male) 3,742 9 

Senior cricket (18-55 female) 3,908 0 

   

Junior hockey (11-15 male) 497 0 

Junior hockey (11-15 female) 509 0 

Senior hockey (16-45 male) 2,655 0 

Senior hockey (16-45 female) 2,710 0 
 

                                                 
4
 From a forecast produced by Wiltshire Council on 12/05/2015 using POPGROUP software developed by Bradford Council, the University of Manchester and Andelin Associates 

 

P
age 142



 
10 Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy Community Area Profiles (Action Plan Part 2)  

Key grass pitch sport sites 
All sites within the Community Board area are identified in the Needs Assessment and underlying databases. The following have been identified as key sites with the Community Board area. The priority ranking is 
relative to its estimated importance to pitch sports strategically, and within Wiltshire generally. A lower order ranking (such as a ‘3’) does not mean that a site does not have importance in a local context. 
 
Table C: Supply and Use of key local grass pitch sport sites (figures based on 2015 data and estimates) 

  Pitches Teams (i.e. male and female, all 

age-groups) 
Net site capacity 

Priority 
Order 
(1,2,3,4) 

Name Adult 
Football 

Youth 
Football 
(11v11) 

Youth 
Football 

(9v9) 

Minisoccer 
(7v7) 

Minisoccer 
(5v5) 

Cricket 
Fields 

Adult 
Rugby 

Mini 
Rugby 

Football 
team 
count 

Rugby 
team 
count 

Cricket 
team 
count 

Net site 
football 
capacity 

Net site 
adult 
grass 

wicket 
capacity 

Net site 
rugby 

capacity 

1 Bradford & Winsley Community 
Sports Association 

 2  3 1  3 2 28 16 0 -0.5 0 -11 

2 The Downs      1   0 0 11 0 -5  

2 School Lane Playing Field     2    13 0 0 -8.5 0  

3 Culver Close Playing Field      1   2 0 3 -3 -5  

3 Poulton Playing Field (inc Bradford 
News FC) 

1        2 0 0 1 0  

3 Victory Field Recreation Ground 1        2 0 5 2 0  

3 Holt Playing Field 1        3 0 0 1.13 0  

3 Westwood Playing Field 1        1 0 0 1.5 0  

3 Bradford on Avon Sports and 
Social Club 

1        2 0 0 1 0  

 
AGP provision 
There is AGP provision at the following locations. 

Table D: AGP provision locally 

 
Sport-by-Sport overview (see Needs Assessment for details) 

 Football: The most significant clubs (in terms of team numbers) playing in the area are: Bradford Town Youth F.C., and, Trowbridge Wanderers Youth FC. They play at Bradford & Winsley Community Sports 
Association, and School Lane Playing Field (Staverton) respectively. 

 Cricket: The biggest club in the area by some distance is Winsley, which plays at The Downs. Small clubs are located at venues within Bradford itself (including Bradford on Avon CC at Culver Close) 

 Rugby: Club rugby is focussed in the area on Bradford on Avon RUFC, which is also based at Bradford & Winsley Community Sports Association (which is an important multi-sport hub). 

 Hockey: There is no hockey club based in the area. 
 

Current and likely future issues: 

 General: There is a peak time shortage of dedicated pitches for youth football on Saturday mornings (9v9) and Sunday afternoons (11v11), although there is availability of over marked pitches. There is not an 
overall overplay of football venues, although School Lane suffers from heavy use. There is theoretical overplay of grass wickets by adults at The Downs. There is heavy use of rugby pitches at Bradford and 
Winsley Community Sports Club, at Winsley. Planned and natural population change will impact upon the requirement for sports pitches for all 4 key sports (see later). Most football pitches in the area are 
rated as being of standard quality based on FA approved rating systems. There is a small net peak-time surplus of cricket fields on Saturdays, which might be improved with the additional provisions listed for 
cricket below. 

Name Sub area AGP type Facility 
Status 

Access Type Surface Hockey matchplay compliant 

ST LAURENCE SCHOOL Bradford on Avon Sand less 
than full-size 

Operational Private Use Sand Filled FALSE 

P
age 143



 
11 Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy Community Area Profiles (Action Plan Part 2)  

 Football: there is an issue in respect of access to AGP provision both for training and, increasingly for match play. Based on calculations (explained in the Appendix B) there is a requirement of 1.43 of a full-
size 3G pitch to meet the training needs of teams in the area. The only provision of any kind currently within the area is at St Lawrence School which is of reduced size, with no floodlights and therefore 
largely unavailable for community use. Demand certainly exists for a full-size AGP and will be bolstered by future population growth. The best location in functional terms for such a facility would be at the 
Bradford & Winsley Community Sports Association venue. There are also issues at this venue in respect of drainage of existing pitches during wet-weather, as well as issues with a clubhouse keeping pace 
with the demands of a growing and successful multi-sport club. Existing grass provision will be capable of meeting projected future demands, and the emphasis should be on the maintaining and 
improvement of pitch quality and maintenance at key venues. Bradford on Avon FC are looking to relocate from Bradford on Avon Sports and Social Club ground, and this may be an issue to be considered in 
future reviews of the Strategy and Action Plan. 

 Cricket:  Existing grass provision will be capable of meeting projected future demands. However qualitative improvements are desirable to allow key venues to meet contemporary needs. The Winsley Cricket 
Club ground at The Downs requires improvements to security, parking space, and changing accommodation to allow it to meet existing and future demand projected. A non-turf strip would be helpful for 
coaching and junior matches. Both the Winsley and Bradford Clubs require additional provisions which would allow them to play at higher standards of league play. 

 Rugby: The burgeoning Bradford on Avon RUFC requires improved changing facilities to cope with increased junior and female numbers, in particular. There are also issues with flooding and drainage at this 
important venue. Projected population change will not require an increase in the numbers of grass rugby pitches. 

 Hockey: There is no hockey club based in the area (as is there neither in nearby Trowbridge and Melksham). The combined population of these areas suggest that it could sustain a viable club, although 
Trowbridge or Melksham might be a better location strategically for a new club. 

 
Estimated future changes in team numbers in the area, and resulting change in demand for pitches 
The following combines projected natural population change with the likely impact of allocated growth in the core strategy up to 2026, and identifies what the likely change in team numbers will be, together with 
the likely impact in grass pitch numbers required. The method of calculation and assumptions are explained in the Appendix A. 
 
Table E: Future pitch requirements 

Age Groups A. Total new teams B. Total extra matches 
per week (A*0.5) 

C. Matches per pitch D. Pitches required 
(B/C) 

Mini-soccer (6-9 mixed gender) -0.9 -0.45 4 -0.1 

Junior football (10-15 male) 1.7 0.85 2 0.4 

Junior football (10-15 female) nil - 2 nil 

Senior football (16-45 male) 0.7 0.35 2 0.2 

Senior football (16-45 female) nil - 2 nil 

 
 

 
  Mini-rugby (7-12 mixed gender) 0.2 0.1 0 0.0 

Junior rugby (13-18 male) 0.3 0.15 0 0.0 

Junior rugby (13-18 female) 0.5 0.25 0 0.0 

Senior rugby (19-45 male) 0.1 0.05 2 0.0 

Senior rugby (19-45 female) nil - 2 nil 

 
 

 
  Junior cricket (7-17 male) 0.4 0.2 0 0.0 

Junior cricket (7-17 female) nil - 0 0.0 

Senior cricket (18-55 male) 0.4 0.2 3 0.1 

Senior cricket (18-55 female) nil - 3 nil 

 
 

 
  Junior hockey (11-15 male) nil - 0 0.0 

Junior hockey (11-15 female) nil - 0 0.0 

Senior hockey (16-45 male) nil - 4 nil 

Senior hockey (16-45 female) nil - 4 nil 

 

P
age 144



 
12 Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy Community Area Profiles (Action Plan Part 2)  

These changes in themselves will not necessarily require additional pitch space that cannot already be found. However, they will increase demand on existing facilities, and require the improvement and expansion 
of existing key venues to cope with these increased demands. Because some sports cohorts don’t currently have teams representing them, future projections are not made. However, sports development initiatives 
can change things, although such change is not likely to be significantly, and has therefore been discounted.  
 
 
Site Specific Actions 
 
Table F: Site specific actions 

Where? What? When? (Short =0-3 years; Medium = 3-6 years; 
Long = 6+ years) 

Partners 

Bradford & Winsley Community Sports Association 
(Winsley) 

Football and Rugby: Improvements to pitch 
drainage and maintenance.  

Medium FA, RFU, Wilts Council, SE, Developer contributions 

Football and Rugby: Expanded changing facilities.  Long  

School Lane Playing Field, Staverton Football: Drainage improvements and provision of 
portable floodlights. The former will help to reduce 
the level of wear and tear. 

Medium FA, Wilts Council, Parish Council, Developer 
contributions 

The Downs (Winsley) Cricket: Non-turf strip Medium ECB, Wiltshire Council, Developer contributions 

Cricket: Improved security Medium ECB, Wiltshire Council, Developer contributions 

Cricket: Enlarged pavilion and changing facilities Long ECB, Wiltshire Council, Developer contributions 

Cricket:  
1. Changing facilities for girls 
2. Increased car parking 
3. Adjacent field available for purchase for second 
ground (club currently travelling outside of Winsley 
for 3rd XI and junior games) 

Medium ECB, Wiltshire Council, Developer contributions 

Culver Close (Bradford on Avon CC) Cricket: 
1. Pavilion upgrade 
2. Sightscreens 
3. Mobile covers 
4. Side sheets 

Medium ECB, Wiltshire Council, Developer contributions 

 

P
age 145



 
13 Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy Community Area Profiles (Action Plan Part 2)  

 

Calne 
 
The Calne Community Area is a vibrant rural area that includes the villages of Bremhill, Cherhill and Yatesbury, Compton Bassett, Derry Hill and Studley, 
Heddington, Hilmarton and Goatacre. The villages surround the market town of Calne, which is an important service centre for the people who live in the 
community area. The town of Calne has under gone a rapid expansion in the last ten years with substantial housing developments on the outskirts of the town 
bringing with it a more youthful population and helping rejuvenate the town centre through increased trade and footfall. In economic terms, Calne is an 
important local service and employment centre.  
 
Table A: Population5 

Area 2015 population 2026 population Population trend-based change 

(2015-2026) 

Allocated housing in core strategy 
to 2026 

Calne (13,324 hectares) 23,760 25,294 1,534 1,534 

 
Table B: Pitch sport team numbers 

2015 AGE GROUPS 2015 AGE GROUP POPULATION 2015 TEAMS 

Mini-soccer (6-9 mixed gender) 1,234 38 

Junior football (10-15 male) 1,112 69 

Junior football (10-15 female) 956 3 

Senior football (16-45 male) 3,844 40 

Senior football (16-45 female) 4,221 2 

   

Mini-rugby (7-12 mixed gender) 1,893 0 

Junior rugby (13-18 male) 1,027 0 

Junior rugby (13-18 female) 1,060 0 

Senior rugby (19-45 male) 3,424 1 

Senior rugby (19-45 female) 3,650 0 

   

Junior cricket (7-17 male) 1,681 7 

Junior cricket (7-17 female) 1,815 5 

Senior cricket (18-55 male) 5,465 11 

Senior cricket (18-55 female) 5,779 1 

   

Junior hockey (11-15 male) 776 0 

Junior hockey (11-15 female) 798 0 

Senior hockey (16-45 male) 3,844 0 

Senior hockey (16-45 female) 4,221 0 
 

                                                 
5
 From a forecast produced by Wiltshire Council on 12/05/2015 using POPGROUP software developed by Bradford Council, the University of Manchester and Andelin Associates 

 

P
age 146



 
14 Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy Community Area Profiles (Action Plan Part 2)  

 
 
 
Key grass pitch sport sites 
All sites within the Community Board area are identified in the Needs Assessment and underlying databases. The following have been identified as key sites with the Community Board area. The priority ranking is 
relative to its estimated importance to pitch sports strategically, and within Wiltshire generally. A lower order ranking (such as a ‘3’) does not mean that a site does not have importance in a local context. 
 
Table C: Supply and Use of key local grass pitch sport sites (figures based on 2015 data and estimates) 

  Pitches Teams (i.e. male and female, all age-

groups) 
Net site capacity 

Priority 
Order 

(1,2,3,4) 

Name Adult 
Football 

Youth 
Football 
(11v11) 

Youth 
Football 

(9v9) 

Minisoccer 
(7v7) 

Minisoccer 
(5v5) 

Cricket 
Fields 

Adult 
Rugby 

Mini 
Rugby 

Football 
team 
count 

Rugby 
team 
count 

Cricket 
team 
count 

Net site 
football 
capacity 

Net site 
adult grass 

wicket 
capacity 

Net site 
rugby 

capacity 

1 Stanley Park* 5  1 5 4    65 0 0 23.38 0  

1 The 
Beversbrook 
Sports Complex 

3 2 1 3  1   55 0 13 -9 -10  

2 Bowood Sports 
Ground 

 1 1 2 2    12 0 0 8.13 0  

3 Calne Town 
Football Club 

1        3 0 0 1.5 0  

3 Cherhill CC 
(Quernford 
Gate) 

     1   0 0 2 0 10  

3 Compton 
Bassett Cricket 
Club 

     1   0 0 1 0 25  

3 Springfields 
School 

 1 1 1     6 0 0 0.75 0  

3 pitch off 
Priestley Grove, 
Calne 

1        1 0 0 2.5 0  

3 Goatacre 
Recreation 
Ground 

2     1   2 0 0 5 40  

3 Goatacre 
Cricket Club 

     1   0 0 8 0 -20  

3 Calne 
Recreation 
Ground 

1     1 1  0 1 0 3 40 1 

 
AGP provision 
There is AGP provision at the following locations. 
It should be noted that Stanley Park, whilst located in the Calne geographical area and therefore referenced within the Calne Profile, it is actually owned by Chippenham Town Council. 
  

P
age 147



 
15 Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy Community Area Profiles (Action Plan Part 2)  

Table D: AGP provision locally 

Name Sub area Availability AGP type Facility 
Status 

Access Type Surface Hockey matchplay 
compliant 

STANLEY PARK SPORTS GROUND Calne A1 3G full-size Operational Pay and Play Rubber crumb pile 
(3G)  

FALSE 

BEVERSBOOK SPORTS COMPLEX Calne A1 3G full-size Operational Pay and Play Rubber crumb pile 
(3G)  

FALSE 

ABBEYFIELD SCHOOL Calne C Sand half-
size 

Operational Private Use Sand Filled FALSE 

ST EDMUNDS RC PRIMARY SCHOOL Calne C Sand half-
size 

Operational Private Use Sand Dressed FALSE 

 
Sport-by-Sport overview (see Needs Assessment for details) 

 Football: Facilities in the Calne area not only cater for the needs of its own football teams, but also many from Chippenham and elsewhere. This is because the strategically important Stanley Park is located 
just within the Calne area although it has a better geographical affinity with Chippenham. However, the area has other important football venues and especially Beversbrook in Calne itself. There is also the 
Bowood Sportsground. Two large clubs (Chippenham Town Youth and FC Chippenham Youth) are the big users of Stanley Park. FC Calne Youth are the biggest user of Beversbrook. Both these multi-pitch 
venues have full-size FA-compliant 3G pitches. Derry Hill United are the dominant users of the Bowood Sportsground. 

 Cricket: The two biggest cricket clubs are Calne CC (based at Beversbrook), and Goatacre CC (based at their own ground at Goatacre). 

 Rugby: Calne RUFC is a small club based at Calne Recreation Ground. 

 Hockey: There is no hockey club based in the area. (However there is a club in Chippenham). 
 
Current and likely future issues: 

 General: There is an overall peak time shortage of 11v11 and 9v9 youth football pitches in the area on Sunday PM and Sunday AM respectively. The biggest issues are likely to be at Stanley Park and 
Beversbrook Sportsground. However, the age-group requirements will fluctuate significantly at these sites, and so this situation needs to be reviewed. Additional space may be required for dedicated pitches 
at Stanley Park, in particular. Cricket facilities at Goatacre and Calne (Beversbrook) are theoretically overplayed in respect of adults.  There is some theoretical overplay of the rugby pitch at Calne Recreation 
Ground. Planned and natural population change will impact upon the requirement for sports pitches for all 4 key sports (see later). Calne has the best rated standard of pitches of any profile area, due to the 
location in the area of the excellent Beversbrook and Stanley Park venues. There is a net peak-time surplus of cricket fields on Saturdays. 

 Football: The weight of team activity within this area is such that even though there are now two full-size 3G pitches (one apiece at Stanley Park and Beversbrook) based on calculations (explained in the 
Appendix B) there is a requirement of an additional 1.62 of a full-size 3G pitch to meet the training needs of teams in the area. The above figure takes into account the existing venues which are already 
heavily used. Demand will be bolstered by future population growth; this is unlikely to come from within the Calne area itself, but from neighbouring Chippenham. Additional provision would be best located 
at Stanley Park given the existing physical and management infrastructure, and the large and growing population. Future population change within the Calne area itself will not result in a need for additional 
grass pitches beyond the existing stock. 

 Cricket:  Future changes in the local population will not require additional cricket pitch provision beyond the existing stock, but there should be a focus on maintaining and improving existing key venues, 
perhaps with the provision of non-turf strips. 

 Rugby: Given the very small nature of this club, the main issue will be in respect of encouraging further teams before improvements to facilities can be justified. 

 Hockey: The focus on hockey development locally should be on the nearby Chippenham Club (see the Chippenham Profile). 
 
  

P
age 148



 
16 Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy Community Area Profiles (Action Plan Part 2)  

Estimated future changes in team numbers in the area, and resulting change in demand for pitches 
The following combines projected natural population change with the likely impact of allocated growth in the core strategy up to 2026, and identifies what the likely change in team numbers will be, together with 
the likely impact in grass pitch numbers required. The method of calculation and assumptions are explained in the Appendix A. 
 
Table E: Future pitch requirements 

Age Groups A. Total new teams B. Total extra matches 
per week (A*0.5) 

C. Matches per pitch D. Pitches required(B/C) 

Mini-soccer (6-9 mixed gender) -2.3 -1.15 4 -0.3 

Junior football (10-15 male) -5.6 -2.8 2 -1.4 

Junior football (10-15 female) 0.5 0.25 2 0.1 

Senior football (16-45 male) 0.2 0.1 2 0.0 

Senior football (16-45 female) 0.1 0.05 2 0.0 

 
 

 
  Mini-rugby (7-12 mixed gender) nil - 0 0.0 

Junior rugby (13-18 male) nil - 0 0.0 

Junior rugby (13-18 female) nil - 0 0.0 

Senior rugby (19-45 male) 0.3 0.15 2 0.1 

Senior rugby (19-45 female) nil - 2 nil 

 
 

 
  Junior cricket (7-17 male) 0.2 0.1 0 0.0 

Junior cricket (7-17 female) 0.4 0.2 0 0.0 

Senior cricket (18-55 male) 0.1 0.05 3 0.0 

Senior cricket (18-55 female) 0.0 0 3 0.0 

 
 

 
  Junior hockey (11-15 male) nil - 0 0.0 

Junior hockey (11-15 female) nil - 0 0.0 

Senior hockey (16-45 male) nil - 4 nil 

Senior hockey (16-45 female) nil - 4 nil 

 
These changes in themselves will not necessarily require additional pitch space that cannot already be found. Because some sports cohorts don’t currently have teams representing them, future projections are not 
made. However, sports development initiatives can change things, although such change is not likely to be significantly, and has therefore been discounted. 
 
Site Specific Actions 
 
Table F: Site specific actions 

Where? What? When? (Short =0-3 years; Medium = 3-6 years; 
Long = 6+ years) 

Partners 

Stanley Park Football: Expand site to provide additional full-size 
3G pitch 

Long FA, Wiltshire Council, Developer contributions 

 Football: Any additional pitches required from the 
future growth of population in Chippenham should 
be provided for through the expansion of Stanley 
Park.  

Long FA, Wiltshire Council, Developer contributions 

Beversbrook Sportsground Cricket: Provision of non-turf strip Medium ECB, Wiltshire Council, Developer contributions 

Goatacre FC Cricket: Provision of non-turf strip Medium ECB, Wiltshire Council, Developer contributions 

 

P
age 149



 
17 Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy Community Area Profiles (Action Plan Part 2)  

 

 

Chippenham 
 
The Chippenham Community Board area is in the north west of the County of Wiltshire. In terms of population, it is the largest community board in 
Wiltshire. It is dominated by the one settlement, the historic market town of Chippenham. The surrounding area is one of small villages and farms and is very 
rural in nature. There are 16 parishes across the community area and no other towns. Chippenham has been, and will continue to be the recipient of major 
strategic growth allocations within the development plan. 
 
Table A: Population6 

Area 2015 population 2026 population Population trend-based change (2015-2026) Allocated housing in core 
strategy to 2026 

Chippenham (15,886 
hectares) 

45,761 46,787 1,026 5,090 

 
Table B: Pitch sport team numbers 

2015 AGE GROUPS 2015 AGE GROUP POPULATION 2015 TEAMS 

Mini-soccer (6-9 mixed gender) 2,213 7 

Junior football (10-15 male) 1,997 10 

Junior football (10-15 female) 1,731 0 

Senior football (16-45 male) 8,492 19 

Senior football (16-45 female) 8,232 0 

   

Mini-rugby (7-12 mixed gender) 3,360 6 

Junior rugby (13-18 male) 1,976 8 

Junior rugby (13-18 female) 1,742 0 

Senior rugby (19-45 male) 7,607 5 

Senior rugby (19-45 female) 7,375 0 

   

Junior cricket (7-17 male) 3,129 11 

Junior cricket (7-17 female) 3,085 4 

Senior cricket (18-55 male) 11,700 18 

Senior cricket (18-55 female) 11,470 1 

   

Junior hockey (11-15 male) 1,400 2 

Junior hockey (11-15 female) 1,465 3 

Senior hockey (16-45 male) 8,492 5 

Senior hockey (16-45 female) 8,232 4 
 

 

                                                 
6
 From a forecast produced by Wiltshire Council on 12/05/2015 using POPGROUP software developed by Bradford Council, the University of Manchester and Andelin Associates 

 

P
age 150



 
18 Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy Community Area Profiles (Action Plan Part 2)  

 
 
Key grass pitch sport sites 
All sites within the Community Board area are identified in the Needs Assessment and underlying databases. The following have been identified as key sites with the Community Board area. The priority ranking is 
relative to its estimated importance to pitch sports strategically, and within Wiltshire generally. A lower order ranking (such as a ‘3’) does not mean that a site does not have importance in a local context. 
 
Table C: Supply and Use of key local grass pitch sport sites (figures based on 2015 data and estimates) 
  Pitches Teams (i.e. male and female, all 

age-groups) 
Net site capacity 

Priority 
Order 
(1,2,3,4) 

Name Adult 
Football 

Youth 
Football 
(11v11) 

Youth 
Football 

(9v9) 

Minisoccer 
(7v7) 

Minisoccer 
(5v5) 

Cricket 
Fields 

Adult 
Rugby 

Mini 
Rugby 

Football 
team 
count 

Rugby 
team 
count 

Cricket 
team 
count 

Net site 
football 
capacity 

Net site 
adult 
grass 

wicket 
capacity 

Net site 
rugby 

capacity 

2 Castle Combe Sports Field 1  1  1    17 0 0 7.13 0  

2 off Yatton Road, 
Biddestone 

1     2   6 0 14 -1.5 -10  

2 Chippenham RFC 
(Allington Fields) 

      3 4 0 17 0 0 0 -8.75 

2 Chippenham Sports Club 
cricket field 

     1   0 0 10 0 5  

2 Chippenham Sports 
Club/Hardenhuish Park 

1        3 0 10 0 0  

3 Seagry Cricket Club      1   0 0 2 0 10  

3 Kington Langley Playing 
Field 

1    1 1   1 0 1 8.5 25  

3 The Green Recreation 
Ground, Christian 
Malford 

    1 1   0 0 2 4 10  

3 off The Street, Grittleton      1   0 0 1 0 25  

3 Jubilee Playing Field 1        1 0 0 1.5 0  

3 Sheldon School 3      3  4 0 2 1 0  

3 Sutton Benger Recreation 
Ground 

1 1   1 1 1  2 1 2 6 10 1.5 

 
The currently unused Westinghouse Sports Club Sportsground is not included in the above list as it is closed to use, although it remains undeveloped. It has planning consent for residential development. 
The major Stanley Park site is located on the edge of Chippenham, and is used heavily by local football clubs. However, it is actually just within the Calne Community Board Area, and is dealt with in that profile. 
  

P
age 151



 
19 Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy Community Area Profiles (Action Plan Part 2)  

AGP provision 
There is AGP provision at the following site(s). Stanley Park has a full-size 3G AGP, and is dealt with in the Calne profile. 
 
Table D: AGP provision locally 

Name Sub area AGP type Facility Status Access Type Surface Hockey matchplay compliant 

CHIPPENHAM SPORTS CLUB (see 
below for hockey team numbers) 

Chippenham Sand full-size Operational Sports Club / Community Association Sand Filled TRUE 

 
Sport-by-Sport overview (see Needs Assessment for details) 

 Football: Much community football activity has been decanted from the urban area in recent years to the Stanley Park complex (see Calne profile). The major sites for football are therefore Castle Combe 
Sportsground, where there is multiple team activity through Castle Combe Colts; and, around Hardenhuish Park (Chippenham FC) 

 Cricket: The two biggest clubs are located at Biddestone (Biddestone CC); and Chippenham (Chippenham CC play at the Chippenham Sports Club, but also used Sheldon School as an overflow site). There are 
smaller, outlying clubs. 

 Rugby: All rugby club activity is focussed on the Allington Field site, which is the home of Chippenham RFU. 

 Hockey: All club hockey activity is focussed on the AGP at Chippenham Sports Club which houses an overall club structure including adult and junior teams for both genders. The combined team numbers 
currently are 9 adults and 5 juniors. 

Current and likely future issues: 

 General: There is an overall peaktime shortage of 11v11 and 9v9 youth football pitches in the area on Sunday PM and Sunday AM respectively. The biggest issues are likely to be at Castle Combe Recreation 
Ground. The age-group requirements will fluctuate significantly at these sites, and so this situation needs to be reviewed. Cricket facilities at Biddestone (off Yatton Road) are theoretically overplayed in 
respect of adults. There is some theoretical overplay of pitches at rugby pitches at Allington Field (Chippenham RUFC).  Planned and natural population change will impact upon the requirement for sports 
pitches for all 4 key sports (see later). Most football pitches in the area are rated as being of standard quality based on FA approved rating systems. There is a net peak-time surplus of cricket fields on 
Saturdays, although see comments for cricket (below). 

 Football: there is an issue in respect of access to AGP provision both for training and, increasingly for match play. New provision will be best focussed on a new or expanded existing venue that will have both 
natural and artificial turf provision, and appropriate ancillary accommodation. Based on calculations (explained in the Appendix B) there is a requirement of 0.9 of a full-size 3G pitch to meet the training 
needs of teams in the area. Demand will be bolstered by future population growth. 

 Cricket:  1) Chippenham CC may require access to a bone fide second ground, especially if population growth leads to additional demand. An improved school venue might help with this; but better still the 
reopening of the Westinghouse Sports Club, if possible. Currently, with Chippenham CC being the main club in the town they are best placed to take on the management of a new cricket facility. Additionally, 
Chippenham CC would like an improved second ground in place of using Sheldon School. The current ground at Westinghouse would be a strong preference in terms of a site for Cricket. Geographically it is 
based opposite to Chippenham Sports Club; the home of Chippenham CC and so it is ideally placed to become an extension of Chippenham Sports Club. For a new ground in Chippenham to be further out of 
the town would lose the geographical benefits that Westinghouse could bring. 2) a casual cricket venue (such as a non-turf pitch in a large public park) might be a way to encourage informal cricket activity in 
the form of Last Man Standing, and Twenty20 versions of the game. The Biddestone Club are looking to improve their facilities, and it is important that the value of such clubs which help to maintain the 
profile of sport in rural areas are recognised. 

 Rugby: The needs assessment suggests that there is a continued need for improved drainage and maintenance at Allington Fields due to heavy use and wear and tear. A rugby compliant AGP may also help in 
this solution. The RFU have shortlisted this site for a possible World Rugby Complaint AGP within the RFU National Programme. Future rugby growth in the area should continue to be focussed on this venue. 

 Hockey: The Chippenham Hockey Club is a successful and vibrant club with adults and juniors, and it is essential that the club infrastructure is protected, maintained and improved to continue to allow for full 
hockey matchplay compliance into the future, and taking into account future changes in demand. 

 
  

P
age 152



 
20 Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy Community Area Profiles (Action Plan Part 2)  

Estimated future changes in team numbers in the area, and resulting change in demand for pitches 
The following combines projected natural population change with the likely impact of allocated growth in the core strategy up to 2026, and identifies what the likely change in team numbers will be, together with 
the likely impact in grass pitch numbers required. The method of calculation and assumptions are explained in the Appendix A. 
 
Table E: Future pitch requirements 
 

 
 
These changes in themselves will not necessarily require additional pitch space that cannot already be found. However, they will increase demand on existing facilities, and require the improvement and expansion 
of existing key venues to cope with these increased demands. In respect of cricket there may be pressure for a new ground to absorb extra Saturday adult play, but this may be resolved by the re-opening of the 
disused Westinghouse Sportsground. With regard to football it may be desirable to explore improvements/extensions to Stanley Park (in the Calne Community Board area). 
Because some sports cohorts don’t currently have teams representing them, future projections are not made. However, sports development initiatives can change things, although such change is not likely to be 
significantly, and has therefore been discounted. 
  

Age Groups A. Total new teams B. Total extra matches 
per week (A*0.5) 

C. Matches per pitch D. Pitches required (B/C) 

Mini-soccer (6-9 mixed gender) 4.4 2.2 4 0.6 

Junior football (10-15 male) 5.9 2.95 2 1.5 

Junior football (10-15 female) 0 -   

Senior football (16-45 male) 5.8 2.9 2 1.4 

Senior football (16-45 female)   2  

     

Mini-rugby (7-12 mixed gender) 0.9 0.45 0 0.0 

Junior rugby (13-18 male) 0.3 0.15 0 0.0 

Junior rugby (13-18 female)   0 0.0 

Senior rugby (19-45 male) 1.0 0.5 2 0.3 

Senior rugby (19-45 female)   2  

     

Junior cricket (7-17 male) 1.8 0.9 0 0.0 

Junior cricket (7-17 female) -0.2 -0.1 0 0.0 

Senior cricket (18-55 male) 2.5 1.25 3 0.4 

Senior cricket (18-55 female) 0.0 - 3 0.0 

     

Junior hockey (11-15 male) 0.3 0.15 0 0.0 

Junior hockey (11-15 female) -0.1 -0.05 0 0.0 

Senior hockey (16-45 male) 0.5 0.25 4 0.1 

Senior hockey (16-45 female) 0.1 0.05 4 0.0 

P
age 153



 
21 Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy Community Area Profiles (Action Plan Part 2)  

Site Specific Actions 
 
Table F: Site specific actions 

Where?  What? When? (Short =0-3 years; Medium = 3-6 
years; Long = 6+ years) 

Partners 

Stanley Park (see Calne profile)  Football: Expansion to facilities including 
improved turf and AGP provision (see 
Calne profile) 

Long FA, Developer contributions, Calne Town 
Council 

     

Allington Fields  Rugby: Programme of drainage and 
maintenance improvements to better 
sustain use (this might include an AGP- 
see below). All local rugby investment 
should be focussed on this venue (The 
RFU have shortlisted this site for a 
possible World Rugby Complaint AGP 
within the RFU National Programme.) 

Short RFU, Developer contributions, Club 

Ideally, Westinghouse Sports Club  Cricket: Secure and improve facilities for 
second venue for Chippenham CC 

Medium/Long ECB, Wilts Council 

     

Biddestone CC  Cricket: Enlarge changing accommodation Medium ECB, club 

Public Park (TBC)  Cricket: Explore scope for zoning area for 
casual cricket (with provision of non-turf 
wicket) 

Short Chippenham Town Council, ECB 

     

Chippenham Sports Club AGP  Hockey: On-going protection and 
maintenance of AGP and ancillary 
facilities to provide compliancy with 
relevant match play levels. All local 
hockey investment should be focussed on 
this venue. 
Tennis: Whilst tennis is not part of this 
strategy Chippenham Tennis Club part of 
Chippenham Sports Club would benefit if 
Westinghouse Sports Club was merged. 
Presently they are short of courts.  

Short to medium EH, Developer contributions, club 

 
 
 

P
age 154



 
22 Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy Community Area Profiles (Action Plan Part 2)  

 

Corsham 
 
The Corsham Community Area covers countryside in the north-west of the County of Wiltshire. It comprises the historic market town of Corsham and the large 
parishes of Box, Colerne and Lacock and encompasses many small rural settlements. The area is a popular location for commuters to Bath, Chippenham and 
Bristol. The A4 from Bristol to London runs through Corsham and provides links with the nearby town of Chippenham and the city of Bath. 
 
Table A: Population7 

Area 2015 population 2026 population Population trend-based change 

(2015-2026) 

Allocated housing in core strategy 
to 2026 

Corsham (7,652 hectares) 21,103 21,964 861 1,395 

 
Table B: Pitch sport team numbers 

 

2015 AGE GROUPS 

2015 AGE GROUP POPULATION 2015 TEAMS 

Mini-soccer (6-9 mixed gender) 1,127 14 

Junior football (10-15 male) 908 10 

Junior football (10-15 female) 669 0 

Senior football (16-45 male) 3,738 13 

Senior football (16-45 female) 3,619 0 

   

Mini-rugby (7-12 mixed gender) 1,611 12 

Junior rugby (13-18 male) 902 3 

Junior rugby (13-18 female) 663 0 

Senior rugby (19-45 male) 3,324 4 

Senior rugby (19-45 female) 3,270 0 

   

Junior cricket (7-17 male) 1,489 4 

Junior cricket (7-17 female) 1,301 4 

Senior cricket (18-55 male) 4,898 9 

Senior cricket (18-55 female) 4,956 0 

   

Junior hockey (11-15 male) 628 0 

Junior hockey (11-15 female) 544 0 

Senior hockey (16-45 male) 3,738 1 

Senior hockey (16-45 female) 3,619 3 
 

 
 

                                                 
7
 From a forecast produced by Wiltshire Council on 12/05/2015 using POPGROUP software developed by Bradford Council, the University of Manchester and Andelin Associates 

 

P
age 155



 
23 Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy Community Area Profiles (Action Plan Part 2)  

 
Key grass pitch sport sites 
All sites within the Community Board area are identified in the Needs Assessment and underlying databases. The following have been identified as key sites with the Community Board area. The priority ranking is 
relative to its estimated importance to pitch sports strategically, and within Wiltshire generally. A lower order ranking (such as a ‘3’) does not mean that a site does not have importance in a local context. 
 
Table C: Supply and Use of key local grass pitch sport sites (figures based on 2015 data and estimates) 
  Pitches Teams (i.e. male and female, all age-

groups) 
Net site capacity 

Priority 
Order 
(1,2,3,4) 

Name Adult 
Football 

Youth 
Football 
(11v11) 

Youth 
Football 

(9v9) 

Minisoccer 
(7v7) 

Minisoccer 
(5v5) 

Cricket 
Fields 

Adult 
Rugby 

Mini 
Rugby 

Football 
team 
count 

Rugby 
team 
count 

Cricket 
team 
count 

Net site 
football 
capacity 

Net site 
adult 
grass 

wicket 
capacity 

Net site 
rugby 

capacity 

1 Leafy Lane, Hawthorn 3 1 1 4  1   23 0 2 10.25 10  

2 Corsham Cricket Club      1   0 0 11 0 -5  

2 Corsham Town Football and 
Rugby Clubs 

1      2  3 12 0 1.13 0 -0.38 

3 Green Lane Recreation Centre 1        7 0 0 1 0  

3 Meriton Recreation Ground, 
Corsham 

1        1 0 0 2.5 0  

3 The Playing Field (Lacock) 1     1   2 0 2 2 10  

3 Box Recreation Ground 1     1   1 0 2 2.5 10  

3 Colerne RUFC (Higgins Field)       1  0 6 0 0 0 -1.63 

 
AGP provision 
There is AGP provision at the following site(s).  
 
Table D: AGP provision locally 

Name Sub area AGP type Facility 
Status 

Access Type Surface Hockey matchplay compliant 

CORSHAM TOWN FOOTBALL CLUB Corsham Sand half-size Operational Pay and Play Sand Filled FALSE 

LEAFY LANE Corsham 3G half-size Operational Pay and Play Rubber crumb pile (3G)  FALSE 

SPRINGFIELD COMMUNITY CAMPUS (see 
below for hockey team numbers) 

Corsham Sand full-size Operational Pay and Play Sand Filled TRUE 

 
Sport-by-Sport overview (see Needs Assessment for details) 

 Football: Football activity is very much focussed on three key clubs and site: AFC Corsham at Leafy Lane; FC Colerne Colts (Green Lane, Colerne); and Corsham Town FC (sharing a site with the local rugby 
club)  

 Cricket: There are three clubs in the area. Corsham CC is much the larger and plays at two venues (Corsham Recreation Ground, and Leafy Lane). There are also Box and Lacock CCs with town teams apiece. 
The latter would benefit from facility improvements to allow it to play at a higher league level. 

 Rugby: There are two clubs: Corsham RUFC (shares ground with local town football club); and Colerne RUFC (Higgins Field, Colerne). 

 Hockey: There is a recently established hockey club at the Springfield Campus with women’s and men’s teams, and juniors. There are currently 4 adult teams (3 female). 

P
age 156



 
24 Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy Community Area Profiles (Action Plan Part 2)  

Current and likely future issues: 

 General: Overall, there is no major peak time shortage of pitches in the area, although there is a pinch point for Youth 11v11 and 9v9 on Sunday PM and Saturday AM respectively. Leafy Lane is the busiest 
site in this regard, and there is likely to be temporary over marking of some pitches. The existence of well-used small AGPs for activity help greatly to reduce pressure on the pitches at this site. Corsham 
Cricket Club’s grass wickets are heavily used, as are the rugby pitches at Corsham Town Rugby and Football Club. Planned and natural population change will impact upon the requirement for sports pitches 
for all 4 key sports (see later). Most football pitches in the area are rated as being of standard quality based on FA approved rating systems; but there some venues that are rated as good, including the locally 
important Leafy Lane. The peak-time supply of cricket fields on Saturdays is finely balanced, although see comments for cricket (below). 

 Football: there is an issue in respect of access to AGP provision both for training and, increasingly for matchplay. Based on calculations (explained in the Appendix B) there is a requirement of 0.88 of a full-
size 3G pitch to meet the training needs of teams in the area. Demand will be bolstered by future population growth. The above figure takes into account the existing small-sided provision which is heavily 
used. The other AGP in Corsham is a new sand-based facility and in a venue for a growing an establishing hockey club, so conversion to a 3G surface would be wrong. 

 Cricket:  The Corsham Club should ideally have a dedicated second ground, and not have to play at Leafy Lane. Their existing main venue is subject to issues with cricket balls affecting nearby housing and the 
need to nets to be erected and taken down for matches. 

 Rugby: The Corsham Club has stated a need for more pitch space, given that the site is shared with football. A floodlight upgrade is also desirable to support training. 

 Hockey: The new club at Corsham should be encouraged, but the surface should be afforded long-term protection to allow hockey to continue to operate at this venue. Opportunity for a clubhouse should be 
encouraged and supported. 

 
Estimated future changes in team numbers in the area, and resulting change in demand for pitches 
The following combines projected natural population change with the likely impact of allocated growth in the core strategy up to 2026, and identifies what the likely change in team numbers will be, together with 
the likely impact in grass pitch numbers required. The method of calculation and assumptions are explained in the Appendix A. 
 
Table E: Future pitch requirements 

Age Groups A. Total new teams B. Total extra matches 
per week (A*0.5) 

C. Matches per pitch D. Pitches required (B/C) 

Mini-soccer (6-9 mixed gender) 0.9 0.45 4 0.1 

Junior football (10-15 male) 3.0 1.5 2 0.7 

Junior football (10-15 female) nil - 2  

Senior football (16-45 male) 1.1 0.55 2 0.3 

Senior football (16-45 female)   2  

     

Mini-rugby (7-12 mixed gender) 0.7 0.35 0 0.0 

Junior rugby (13-18 male) 0.7 0.35 0 0.0 

Junior rugby (13-18 female) nil - 0 0.0 

Senior rugby (19-45 male) 0.1 0.05 2 0.0 

Senior rugby (19-45 female) nil - 2 nil 

     

Junior cricket (7-17 male) 1.0 0.5 0 0.0 

Junior cricket (7-17 female) 0.8 0.4 0 0.0 

Senior cricket (18-55 male) 0.4 0.2 3 0.1 

Senior cricket (18-55 female) nil - 3 nil 

     

Junior hockey (11-15 male) nil - 0 0.0 

Junior hockey (11-15 female) nil - 0 0.0 

Senior hockey (16-45 male) 0.1 0.05 4 0.0 

Senior hockey (16-45 female) 0.0 - 4 0.0 

 

P
age 157



 
25 Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy Community Area Profiles (Action Plan Part 2)  

These changes in themselves will not necessarily require additional pitch space that cannot already be found. However, they will increase demand on existing facilities, and require the improvement and expansion 
of existing key venues to cope with these increased demands. 
Because some sports cohorts don’t currently have teams representing them, future projections are not made. However, sports development initiatives can change things, although such change is not likely to be 
significantly, and has therefore been discounted. 
 
Site Specific Actions 
 
Table F: Site specific actions 

Where? What? When? (Short =0-3 years; Medium = 3-6 years; 
Long = 6+ years) 

Partners 

Leafy Lane, Corsham Football/Cricket: Look to rationalisation of this site 
to make it dedicated for football. See relocation 
recommendations for cricket below. 
 
 

Medium FA, Developer contributions, Corsham Town 
Council, Wiltshire Council 

Leafy Lane, Corsham Football: Provide a 60 x 40 metre 3G AGP (floodlit), 
to supplement existing provision. 

Medium FA, Developer contributions, Corsham Town 
Council, Wiltshire Council 

Corsham Town Football and Rugby Club Rugby: Improve floodlights for training. In the 
longer-term explore possibility for long-term 
relocation of club, perhaps in association with 
Cricket Club. This will enable both sports to further 
develop.  

Short RFU, Developer contributions, Club, Wiltshire 
Council 

Site search Cricket: Site search for a better 2nd venue for 
Corsham CC. This could be in conjunction with the 
Rugby Club (above). 

Medium/Long ECB, Developer contributions, Corsham Town 
Council, Wiltshire Council 

    

Lacock Cricket Club Pavilion upgrade – the club has 400 sq meters of the 
Red Lion Car Park available to construct a multi-
purpose facility 

Medium ECB, Wilshire Council, Developer contributions 

    

Springfield Campus Hockey: On-going protection and maintenance of 
AGP and ancillary facilities to provide compliancy 
with relevant matchplay levels. All local hockey 
investment should be focussed on this venue. 
Investigate feasibility of a clubhouse. 

Medium EH, Developer contributions, club 

 
 

P
age 158



 
26 Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy Community Area Profiles (Action Plan Part 2)  

 

 

Devizes 
 
The Devizes Community Area covers mainly rural countryside in the middle of the County of Wiltshire. The one major settlement is the ancient market town of 
Devizes. Whilst some of the villages surrounding it, such as the Lavingtons, are large enough to have their own secondary school and shops, the hinterland is 
mainly one of small villages and farms and is rural in nature. Devizes acts as the main service centre for the community area.  
 
Table A: Population8 

Area 2015 population 2026 population Population trend-based change 

(2015-2026) 

Allocated housing in core strategy 
to 2026 

Devizes (21,642 hectares) 33,743 38,325 4,582 2,500 

 
Table B: Pitch sport team numbers 

2015 AGE GROUPS 2015 AGE GROUP POPULATION 2015 TEAMS 

Mini-soccer (6-9 mixed gender) 1,515 18 

Junior football (10-15 male) 1,357 18 

Junior football (10-15 female) 1,178 0 

Senior football (16-45 male) 5,531 13 

Senior football (16-45 female) 5,487 1 

   

Mini-rugby (7-12 mixed gender) 2,282 5 

Junior rugby (13-18 male) 1,438 5 

Junior rugby (13-18 female) 1,233 1 

Senior rugby (19-45 male) 4,899 4 

Senior rugby (19-45 female) 4,879 1 

   

Junior cricket (7-17 male) 2,135 21 

Junior cricket (7-17 female) 2,198 1 

Senior cricket (18-55 male) 7,831 21 

Senior cricket (18-55 female) 7,711 2 

   

Junior hockey (11-15 male) 993 3 

Junior hockey (11-15 female) 993 3 

Senior hockey (16-45 male) 5,531 2 

Senior hockey (16-45 female) 5,487 2 
 

 

                                                 
8
 From a forecast produced by Wiltshire Council on 12/05/2015 using POPGROUP software developed by Bradford Council, the University of Manchester and Andelin Associates 

 

P
age 159



 
27 Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy Community Area Profiles (Action Plan Part 2)  

Key grass pitch sport sites 
All sites within the Community Board area are identified in the Needs Assessment and underlying databases. The following have been identified as key sites with the Community Board area. The priority ranking is 
relative to its estimated importance to pitch sports strategically, and within Wiltshire generally. A lower order ranking (such as a ‘3’) does not mean that a site does not have importance in a local context. 
 
Table C: Supply and Use of key local grass pitch sport sites (figures based on 2015 data and estimates) 
  Pitches Teams (i.e. male and female, all age-

groups) 
Net site capacity 

Priority 
Order 
(1,2,3,4) 

Name Adult 
Football 

Youth 
Football 
(11v11) 

Youth 
Football 

(9v9) 

Minisoccer 
(7v7) 

Minisoccer 
(5v5) 

Cricket 
Fields 

Adult 
Rugby 

Mini 
Rugby 

Football 
team 
count 

Rugby 
team 
count 

Cricket 
team 
count 

Net site 
football 
capacity 

Net site 
adult 
grass 

wicket 
capacity 

Net site 
rugby 

capacity 

1 Devizes Sports Club      2 2 1 1 15 9 -0.5 40 -6.13 

2 Devizes Town Football Club 1        13 0 0 -4.13 0  

2 Spaniel's Bridge      1   0 0 11 0 -5  

3 Potterne Cricket Club      1   0 0 5 0 -20  

3 off Green Lane, Devizes  1  1 1    10 0 0 3.63 0  

3 All Cannings Village Green 1        1 0 0 2.5 0  

3 Jubilee Field 1  1      5 0 0 4.5 0  

3 Cricket Ground, West Lavington      1 1  0 0 2 0 10  

3 Erlestoke & Coulston Cricket 
Club 

     1   0 0 2 0 25  

3 Dauntsey's School       3  1 0 0 -0.88 0  

3 Spye Park Cricket Club      1   0 0 6 0 -5  

3 Urchfont Cricket Club      1   0 0 5 0 10  

3 West Lavington Playing Field 1 1       2 0 0 3 0  

3 All Cannings Bridge House 
Cricket Pitch 

     1   0 0 3 0 25  

3 Lavington School 2   1   1  1 0 0 2.5 0  

3 The Elisha Field, Market 
Lavington 

 1 1   1   1 0 2 1.88 10  

3 Sands Lane, Rowde 2        3 0 0 4.5 0  

 
AGP provision 
There is AGP provision at the following site(s).  
 
Table D: AGP provision locally 

Name Sub area AGP type Facility 
Status 

Access Type Surface Hockey matchplay compliant 

DEVIZES LEISURE CENTRE (see below for 
hockey team numbers) 

Devizes Sand full-size Operational Pay and Play Sand Filled TRUE 

DAUNTSEYS SCHOOL Devizes Sand full-size Operational Private Use Sand Dressed TRUE 

DAUNTSEYS SCHOOL Devizes Sand full-size Operational Private Use Sand Filled TRUE 

DAUNTSEYS SCHOOL Devizes Sand half-size Operational Private Use Sand Dressed FALSE 

 
Sport-by-Sport overview (see Needs Assessment for details) 

P
age 160



 
28 Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy Community Area Profiles (Action Plan Part 2)  

 Football: The biggest clubs in the area are Devizes Town Football Club, BIshop Cannings Youth FC, Bromham Youth FC, Worton & Cheverell (Youth) FC. These Club play mainly and respectively at Devizes Town 
FC ground, Green Lane Recreation Ground, Jubilee Playing Field, and Drove Lane Market Lavington. Devizes Town FC also make use of the adjacent primary school for its youngest teams. 

 Cricket: Devizes CC is biggest local club, and plays at the Devizes Sports Club. However, there are other significant clubs, which include Spye Park CC, Potterne CC (at Potterne and Spaniel’s Bridge), Urchfont 
CC, and Bishop Cannings (at Spaniels Bridge). See the above table for further details. A developing site is the new Erlestoke and Coulston CC ground, which this small club now owns, and has been looking for 
partner sports. 

 Rugby: The Devizes RUFC play at the Devizes Sports Club. 

 Hockey: The local Devizes Hockey Club play at the leisure centre. It currently fields 4 adult and 6 junior teams. 
 
Current and likely future issues: 

 General: There is no apparent peak time shortage of pitches in the area, although there is heavy use of football pitches at Devizes FC. Pottene CCs grass wickets are heavily used, as are rugby pitches at the 
Devizes Sports Club. Planned and natural population change will impact upon the requirement for sports pitches for all 4 key sports (see later). Most football pitches in the area are rated as being of standard 
quality based on FA approved rating systems. There is a net peak-time surplus of cricket fields on Saturdays. 

 Football: there is an issue in respect of access to AGP provision both for training and, increasingly for match play. Based on calculations (explained in the Appendix B) there is a requirement for 1.2 of a full-
size 3G pitch to meet the training needs of teams in the area. Demand will be bolstered by future population growth. There are no suitable existing venues in the area, and the existing sand AGP at the leisure 
centre is not suited to conversion, as it is used by a thriving hockey club. The Devizes FC ground cannot accommodate all its teams without overflow onto adjacent school land, and will require relocation in 
the longer term. The opportunity here is a colocation onto a new site, perhaps in conjunction with a 3G pitch. This might require (and could be facilitated by) the development of the existing ground, perhaps 
for housing. The longer term population growth in the area will not require a growth in the existing stock of pitch space, but there should be a corresponding solution worked out to move the Devizes Club 
onto a bigger site. Devizes Town Council is keen to develop changing accommodation at Green Lane perhaps with a 3G ATP as a second phase. 

 Cricket:  Cricket within the area appears to be holding up well, with some strong local clubs. However, the developing Erlestoke and Coulston Ground owned by the club, requires a better pavilion and utility 
supply. 

 Rugby: Despite recent drainage improvements the Rugby Club pitches are still heavily used, and improved training space would be helpful. In the longer term an extension of the sports club into adjacent land 
would be desirable to provide space for more pitches and training. Future growth in population will not require additional cricket space, but there should be focussed improvements on the Sports Club site, 
and maybe an extension to the site. 

 Hockey: The existing hockey surface at the leisure centre should be protected and maintained for hockey. The provision of a 3G pitch might help to provide additional time on the leisure centre pitch to allow 
the hockey club to grow, by removing some of the football use. The club has both adults and juniors. Opportunity for a clubhouse should be encouraged and supported. 

 
 
Estimated future changes in team numbers in the area, and resulting change in demand for pitches 
The following combines projected natural population change with the likely impact of allocated growth in the core strategy up to 2026, and identifies what the likely change in team numbers will be, together with 
the likely impact in grass pitch numbers required. The method of calculation and assumptions are explained in the Appendix A. 
 
Table E: Future pitch requirements 

Age Groups A. Total new teams B. Total extra matches 
per week (A*0.5) 

C. Matches per pitch D. Pitches required (B/C) 

Mini-soccer (6-9 mixed gender) 0.9 0.45 4 0.1 

Junior football (10-15 male) 3.0 1.5 2 0.7 

Junior football (10-15 female) nil - 2 nil 

Senior football (16-45 male) 1.1 0.55 2 0.3 

Senior football (16-45 female) nil - 2 nil 

     

Mini-rugby (7-12 mixed gender) 0.7 0.35 0 0.0 

Junior rugby (13-18 male) 0.7 0.35 0 0.0 

Junior rugby (13-18 female) nil - 0 0.0 

Senior rugby (19-45 male) 0.1 0.05 2 0.0 

Senior rugby (19-45 female) nil - 2 nil 

     

P
age 161



 
29 Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy Community Area Profiles (Action Plan Part 2)  

Junior cricket (7-17 male) 1.0 0.5 0 0.0 

Junior cricket (7-17 female) 0.8 0.4 0 0.0 

Senior cricket (18-55 male) 0.4 0.2 3 0.1 

Senior cricket (18-55 female) nil - 3 nil 

     

Junior hockey (11-15 male) nil - 0 0.0 

Junior hockey (11-15 female) nil - 0 0.0 

Senior hockey (16-45 male) 0.1 0.05 4 0.0 

Senior hockey (16-45 female) 0.0 - 4 0.0 

 
These changes in themselves will not necessarily require additional pitch space that cannot already be found. However, they will increase demand on existing facilities, and require the improvement and expansion 
of existing key venues to cope with these increased demands. 
Because some sports cohorts don’t currently have teams representing them, future projections are not made. However, sports development initiatives can change things, although such change is not likely to be 
significantly, and has therefore been discounted. 
 
 
Site Specific Actions 
 
Table F: Site specific actions 

Where? What? When? (Short =0-3 years; Medium = 3-6 years; 
Long = 6+ years) 

Partners 

Site search Football: A new site to collocate Devizes FC onto a 
bigger site, and with a full-size 3G pitch. The playing 
fields at Green Lane might be an option. 

Long FA, Wiltshire Council, Developer contributions, Club 

Devizes FC Ground Football: In association with the above, the 
removal of this ground and its use for alternative 
purposes. 

Long FA, Wiltshire Council, Developer contributions, Club 

Green Lane Football: Provide changing rooms to allow for more 
use, and to help reduce pressures experienced at 
Devizes Town FC 

Short FA, Wiltshire Council, Developer contributions, Club 

Devizes Sports Club Rugby: Longer term expansion of site to provide 
better training space.  

Long RFU, Wiltshire Council, Developer contributions, 
Club 

Erlestoke & Coulston CC Cricket: help with utility supplies to ground and 
clubhouse. 

Medium ECB, Developer contributions, Wiltshire Council 

Devizes Leisure Centre (AGP) Hockey: long-term protection and maintenance of 
the existing surface for hockey, and provide more 
space for junior play on Sundays through providing 
the (above) 3G which would release some space 
due to football use moving elsewhere. Investigate 
feasibility of a clubhouse. 

Medium EH, Wiltshire Council, Club, Developer 
contributions. 

 
 

P
age 162



 
30 Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy Community Area Profiles (Action Plan Part 2)  

 

 

Malmesbury 
 
The Malmesbury Community Area covers mainly rural countryside in the northwest of the County of Wiltshire. It is dominated by the one major settlement, the 
ancient market town of Malmesbury. The surrounding area is one of small villages and farms and is very rural in nature. There are 20 parishes across the 
community area and no other towns. The town of Malmesbury provides a range of shops and facilities, but the nearby towns of Chippenham and Cirencester, 
(Gloucestershire), provide local alternatives.  
 
Table A: Population9 

Area 2015 population 2026 population Population trend-based change 

(2015-2026) 

Allocated housing in core strategy 
to 2026 

Malmesbury (24,532 hectares) 20,104 22,330 2,226 1,395 
 

 
Table B: Pitch sport team numbers 

2015 AGE GROUPS 2015 AGE GROUP POPULATION 2015 TEAMS 

Mini-soccer (6-9 mixed gender) 1,016 12 

Junior football (10-15 male) 898 13 

Junior football (10-15 female) 722 2 

Senior football (16-45 male) 3,045 13 

Senior football (16-45 female) 3,126 0 

   

Mini-rugby (7-12 mixed gender) 1,527 6 

Junior rugby (13-18 male) 855 5 

Junior rugby (13-18 female) 670 0 

Senior rugby (19-45 male) 2,715 3 

Senior rugby (19-45 female) 2,816 0 

   

Junior cricket (7-17 male) 1,403 5 

Junior cricket (7-17 female) 1,291 1 

Senior cricket (18-55 male) 4,431 11 

Senior cricket (18-55 female) 4,623 0 

   

Junior hockey (11-15 male) 656 0 

Junior hockey (11-15 female) 607 0 

Senior hockey (16-45 male) 3,045 0 

Senior hockey (16-45 female) 3,126 0 
 

                                                 
9
 From a forecast produced by Wiltshire Council on 12/05/2015 using POPGROUP software developed by Bradford Council, the University of Manchester and Andelin Associates 

 

P
age 163



 
31 Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy Community Area Profiles (Action Plan Part 2)  

 
 
Key grass pitch sport sites 
All sites within the Community Board area are identified in the Needs Assessment and underlying databases. The following have been identified as key sites with the Community Board area. The priority ranking is 
relative to its estimated importance to pitch sports strategically, and within Wiltshire generally. A lower order ranking (such as a ‘3’) does not mean that a site does not have importance in a local context. 
 
Table C: Supply and Use of key local grass pitch sport sites (figures based on 2015 data and estimates) 
  Pitches Teams (i.e. male and female, all age-

groups) 
Net site capacity 

Priority 
Order 
(1,2,3,4) 

Name Adult 
Football 

Youth 
Football 
(11v11) 

Youth 
Football 

(9v9) 

Minisoccer 
(7v7) 

Minisoccer 
(5v5) 

Cricket 
Fields 

Adult 
Rugby 

Mini 
Rugby 

Football 
team 
count 

Rugby 
team 
count 

Cricket 
team 
count 

Net site 
football 
capacity 

Net site 
adult 
grass 

wicket 
capacity 

Net site 
rugby 

capacity 

2 Malmesbury Youth FC 
(Red Bull Pitches) 

 3 1 2 3    15 0 0 5.25 0  

2 Minety Playing Fields      1 3  2 13 1 -1 25 -3.25 

3 Bradstone Sports Field 1     1   2 0 1 1 25  

3 The Green, Dauntsey         0 0 1 0 0  

3 Great Somerford FC 1        1 0 0 1.5 0  

3 Malmesbury Victoria 
Football Ground 

1        6 0 0 -2.5 0  

3 off Tetbury Lane, Charlton      1   0 0 7 0 25  

3 off High Road, Ashton 
Keynes 

1  1 2 1    9 0 0 7 0  

3 The Worthys      1   0 0 3 0 -5  

3 Oaksey Playing Field 1 1    1   2 0 2 2.75 10  

3 The Sports Field, Sherston 1        3 0 0 1.13 0  

3 Prinkney Park, Sherston      1   0 0 2 0 10  

 
AGP provision 
There is no current AGP provision.  
 
Sport-by-Sport overview (see Needs Assessment for details) 

 Football: The biggest clubs in the area in terms of team numbers are the following (grounds in brackets): Malmesbury Youth FC (Red Bull Pitches); Ashton Keynes Youth F.C. (High Road Playing Fields); 
Malmesbury Victoria F.C. (Flying Monk Playing Field). The Red Bull ground is the most significant venue for junior and youth football. 

 Cricket:  Malmesbury CC is the largest club in the area which plays at two grounds (The Worthys, off Tetbury Lane, Charlton; there are smaller clubs playing at other venues.  

 Rugby: Minety RUFC are a well-established local club with 13 teams playing at Minety Playing Fields 

 Hockey: There is no hockey club located in this area. 
 
  

P
age 164



 
32 Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy Community Area Profiles (Action Plan Part 2)  

Current and likely future issues: 

 General: There is no current overall peak-time shortage of pitches in the area, although there is heavy use at some locations, including Minety Recreation Ground for rugby, The Worthys for cricket, and 
Malnesbury Victoria FC. Planned and natural population change will impact upon the requirement for sports pitches for all 4 key sports (see later). Most football pitches in the area are rated as being of 
standard quality based on FA approved rating systems. There is a net peak-time surplus of cricket fields on Saturdays. 

 Football: The Red Bull site has drainage and capacity issues restricting it growing further, and they also require additional training lights to allow for mid-week activity in the winter. There is an issue in respect 
of access to AGP provision both for training and, increasingly for match play. Based on calculations (explained in the Appendix B) there is a requirement of 1.1 of a full-size 3G pitch to meet the training needs 
of teams in the area. Demand will be bolstered by future population growth. There are no existing 3G pitches in the area, and none that could be converted to such a surface. If such a pitch were to be 
provided the best functioning venue might be at the Red Bull site, but this would probably be unacceptable on planning grounds. A venue in the town, at a school, or even as a match play surface for 
Malmesbury Victoria FC might be alternatives. In any event, the priority should be for floodlighting and drainage improvements at the Red Bull site. Planned population change will not result in a need to 
increase the amount of grass pitch space, and the focus should be on qualitative improvements (such as the above). 

 Cricket:  Planned population change will not result in a need to increase the amount of grass pitch space, and the focus should be on qualitative improvements. The focus of these improvements should be at 
the Malmesbury CC venues, with appropriate upgrading to the pavilions and perhaps the provision of a non-turf strip. 

 Rugby: Planned population change will not result in a need to increase the amount of grass pitch space, and the focus should be on qualitative improvements. The focus of these improvements should be at 
the Minety RUFC venue at Minety Playing Fields. There is a need to provide better drainage on the ‘back pitches’ and some fixed floodlights to take some of the pressure off match day pitches. In addition, 
the pavilion needs improvement to allow better accommodation for juniors and females. 

 Hockey: Given the rural location, and lack of a pitch. It would be inappropriate to encourage a hockey club to start up in the area. The focus of improvements to the hockey infrastructure should be on 
Chippenham. 

 
Estimated future changes in team numbers in the area, and resulting change in demand for pitches 
The following combines projected natural population change with the likely impact of allocated growth in the core strategy up to 2026, and identifies what the likely change in team numbers will be, together with 
the likely impact in grass pitch numbers required. The method of calculation and assumptions are explained in the Appendix A. 
 
Table E: Future pitch requirements 

Age Groups A. Total new teams B. Total extra matches 
per week (A*0.5) 

C. Matches per pitch D. Pitches required 
(B/C) 

Mini-soccer (6-9 mixed gender) 1.5 0.75 4 0.2 

Junior football (10-15 male) 2.4 1.2 2 0.6 

Junior football (10-15 female) 0.2 0.1 2 0.0 

Senior football (16-45 male) 2.6 1.3 2 0.6 

Senior football (16-45 female) nil - 2 nil 

     

Mini-rugby (7-12 mixed gender) 0.5 0.25 0 0.0 

Junior rugby (13-18 male) 0.7 0.35 0 0.0 

Junior rugby (13-18 female) nil - 0 0.0 

Senior rugby (19-45 male) 0.5 0.25 2 0.1 

Senior rugby (19-45 female) nil - 2 nil 

     

Junior cricket (7-17 male) 1.0 0.5 0 0.0 

Junior cricket (7-17 female) 0.2 0.1 0 0.0 

Senior cricket (18-55 male) 1.1 0.55 3 0.2 

Senior cricket (18-55 female) nil - 3 nil 

     

Junior hockey (11-15 male) nil - 0 0.0 

Junior hockey (11-15 female) nil - 0 0.0 

Senior hockey (16-45 male) nil - 4 nil 

Senior hockey (16-45 female) nil - 4 nil 

P
age 165



 
33 Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy Community Area Profiles (Action Plan Part 2)  

 
These changes in themselves will not necessarily require additional pitch space that cannot already be found. However, they will increase demand on existing facilities, and require the improvement and expansion 
of existing key venues to cope with these increased demands. 
Because some sports cohorts don’t currently have teams representing them, future projections are not made. However, sports development initiatives can change things, although such change is not likely to be 
significantly, and has therefore been discounted. 
 
Site Specific Actions 
 
Table F: Site specific actions 

Where? What? When? (Short =0-3 years; Medium = 3-6 years; 
Long = 6+ years) 

Partners 

Red Bull Pitches Football: Drainage improvements and floodlighting Medium FA, Wiltshire Council, Developer contributions 

Site search Location for a full size 3G pitch within the town of 
Malmesbury. However, this is not a priority relative 
to the above actions for the Red Bull pitches 

Medium/Long FA, Wiltshire Council, Developer contributions 

The Worthys; and, off Tetbury Lane, Charlton Cricket: Improvements to older pavilion structures 
and provision of a non-turf strip at one of these 
grounds. 

Medium/Long ECB, Wiltshire Council, Developer contributions 

Minety Playing Fields Rugby: Improvements to pitch drainage; provision 
of fixed training lighting; and expansion of pavilion 
to accommodate younger and female players. 

Medium RFU, Wiltshire Council, local trust, Developer 
contributions 

 
 
 
 

P
age 166



 
34 Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy Community Area Profiles (Action Plan Part 2)  

 
 

Marlborough 
 
The Marlborough Community Board area covers picturesque rural countryside in the northeast of the County of Wiltshire. At its centre is the market town of 
Marlborough. There are 19 parishes across the community area. Much of the community area’s natural beauty is environmentally protected and it offers a 
unique blend of ancient history, modern attractions and amenities. The town straddles the A4 and for centuries was an important staging post on the great 
road from London to Bristol. The town attracts a wide range of visitors from both the surrounding area and more distant centres, as well as trade from tourism. 
The Town is also famous for its public school. 
Table A: Population10 

Area 2015 population 2026 population Population trend-based change 

(2015-2026) 

Allocated housing in core strategy 
to 2026 

Marlborough (28,108 

 hectares) 

18,142 18,305 163 2,500 

Table B: Pitch sport team numbers 

2015 AGE GROUPS 2015 AGE GROUP POPULATION 2015 TEAMS 

Mini-soccer (6-9 mixed gender) 848 16 

Junior football (10-15 male) 855 17 

Junior football (10-15 female) 683 3 

Senior football (16-45 male) 2,694 7 

Senior football (16-45 female) 2,788 1 

   

Mini-rugby (7-12 mixed gender) 1,204 7 

Junior rugby (13-18 male) 1,030 6 

Junior rugby (13-18 female) 801 0 

Senior rugby (19-45 male) 2,236 3 

Senior rugby (19-45 female) 2,369 0 

   

Junior cricket (7-17 male) 1,453 6 

Junior cricket (7-17 female) 1,370 0 

Senior cricket (18-55 male) 3,703 12 

Senior cricket (18-55 female) 3,972 0 

   

Junior hockey (11-15 male) 655 1 

Junior hockey (11-15 female) 577 1 

Senior hockey (16-45 male) 2,694 3 

Senior hockey (16-45 female) 2,788 3 
 

 

                                                 
10

 From a forecast produced by Wiltshire Council on 12/05/2015 using POPGROUP software developed by Bradford Council, the University of Manchester and Andelin Associates 
 

P
age 167



 
35 Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy Community Area Profiles (Action Plan Part 2)  

 
Key grass pitch sport sites 
All sites within the Community Board area are identified in the Needs Assessment and underlying databases. The following have been identified as key sites with the Community Board area. The priority ranking is 
relative to its estimated importance to pitch sports strategically, and within Wiltshire generally. A lower order ranking (such as a ‘3’) does not mean that a site does not have importance in a local context. 
 
Table C: Supply and Use of key local grass pitch sport sites (figures based on 2015 data and estimates) 
  Pitches Teams (i.e. male and female, all age-

groups) 
Net site capacity 

Priority 
Order 
(1,2,3,4) 

Name Adult 
Football 

Youth 
Football 
(11v11) 

Youth 
Football 

(9v9) 

Minisoccer 
(7v7) 

Minisoccer 
(5v5) 

Cricket 
Fields 

Adult 
Rugby 

Mini 
Rugby 

Football 
team 
count 

Rugby 
team 
count 

Cricket 
team 
count 

Net site 
football 
capacity 

Net site 
adult 
grass 

wicket 
capacity 

Net site 
rugby 

capacity 

2 off Frees Avenue, 
Marlborough (Football) 

 1  2     13  0 8.13 0  

2 off Frees Avenue, 
Marlborough (Marlborough 
Rugby Club) 

      2   15    -5.38 

2 Ramsbury Recreation 
Centre 

1 1 1  1 1   11 0 5 3.38 10  

2 Marlborough Cricket Club      1   0 0 8 0 -10  

3 Mildenhall CC      1   0 0 2 0 10  

3 Avebury Sports Field 1     1   3 0 1 -0.88 25  

3 Marlborough FC Elcot Lane  2        9 0 0 0 0  

2 Elcot LanePLaying Field  1       1      

3 off Manor Lane, Broad 
Hinton 

     1   0 0 2 0 10  

3 St John's School & 
Community College 

2      3  1 0 0 1.5 0  

 
AGP provision 
There is AGP provision at the following site(s).  
 
Table D: AGP provision locally 

Name Sub area AGP type Facility Status Access Type Surface Hockey matchplay compliant 

RAMSBURY RECREATION CENTRE Marlborough Sand half-size Operational Pay and Play Sand Filled FALSE 

MARLBOROUGH COLLEGE (see below for 
hockey team numbers) 

Marlborough Sand full-size Operational Sports Club / Community Association Sand Dressed TRUE 

MARLBOROUGH COLLEGE Marlborough Sand full-size Operational Sports Club / Community Association Sand Dressed TRUE 

 
Sport-by-Sport overview (see Needs Assessment for details) 

 Football:  The biggest clubs in the area in terms of team numbers are the following (grounds in brackets): Marlborough Town F.C. (Elcot Lane), Marlborough Youth (Frees Avenue), Ramsbury FC and Ramsbury 
Youth FC (Ramsbury Recreation Ground). There are other smaller clubs and venues.  

 Cricket: The biggest local clubs are Marlborough CC (Savernake); and, Ramsbury CC (Ramsbury Recreation Ground). There are smaller clubs in the outlying villages, such as White Horse CC in Broad Hinton 
fielding 2 adult teams. 

 Rugby: Marlborough RUFC has 15 teams and is based on common land off Frees Avenue. It shares sports space with local football teams. 

 Hockey: The Marlborough Hockey Club uses pitches at Marlborough College, and currently fields 6 adult and 3 junior teams. 

P
age 168



 
36 Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy Community Area Profiles (Action Plan Part 2)  

Current and likely future issues: 

 General: There are no major peaktime shortages of pitches within the area, although there is a theoretical shortage of pitches on Sundays for youth football, largely at Elcot Lane playing field. There is also 
heavy use of football and rugby pitches at Frees Avenue, and theoretically heavy use of cricket facilities at Marlborough CC. Planned and natural population change will impact upon the requirement for 
sports pitches for all 4 key sports (see later). Most football pitches in the area are rated as being of standard quality based on FA approved rating systems, although Ramsbury Recreation centre is noted for is 
good quality pitches. There is a net peak-time surplus of cricket fields on Saturdays. 

 Football: there is an issue in respect of access to AGP provision both for training and, increasingly for match play. Based on calculations (explained in the Appendix B) there is a requirement of 1.1 of a full-size 
3G pitch to meet the training needs of teams in the area. Demand will be bolstered by future population growth. There is no existing such provision in the area, and no facilities that can be converted. The 
small AGP at Ramsbury is heavily used, and in too rural a location for upgrade, and the Marlborough College pitches are used heavily for hockey outside the curriculum. The provision of a 3G pitch in the area 
really also needs to take into account the needs of the neighbouring Pewsey area which is also lacking such provision, but which is unlikely to be able to sustain such a facility in its own right. Some key clubs 
are spread across more than one venue. Ramsbury FC does not have a floodlit main pitch which may hamper progression to a higher level. Planned population change will not result in a need to increase the 
amount of grass pitch space, and the focus should be on qualitative improvements, such as at Frees Avenue, and Elcot Lane. 

 Cricket:  Planned population change will not result in a need to increase the amount of grass pitch space, and the focus should be on qualitative improvements. The focus of these improvements should be at 
the Marlborough and Ramsbury Clubs, perhaps with the provision of non-turf strips at both. White Horse CC at Broad Hinton are considering an improved pavilion. Marlborough CC is considering the 
possibility of ground sharing with Marlborough RUFC if they acquire a new ground. 

 Rugby: Planned population change will not result in a need to increase the amount of grass pitch space, and the focus should be on qualitative improvements. The focus of these improvements should be at 
the Marlborough RUFC site. In particular, the expansion of the pavilion to accommodate the large number of teams (only two changing rooms at present). The club is investigating the potential of a new 18 – 
20 acre site. 

 Hockey: The Hockey Club would ideally like to have a clubhouse on the Marlborough College grounds, as its current clubhouse is shared with the Cricket Club at Savernake, which causes dysfunctionality and 
potential loss of income. The Marlborough Hockey Club is a successful and vibrant club with adults and juniors. It has a clubhouse shared with the Cricket Club at Savernake some distance away from the 
Marlborough College pitches. Opportunity for a clubhouse on the Marlborough College grounds would be advantageous. 

 
Estimated future changes in team numbers in the area, and resulting change in demand for pitches 
The following combines projected natural population change with the likely impact of allocated growth in the core strategy up to 2026, and identifies what the likely change in team numbers will be, together with 
the likely impact in grass pitch numbers required. The method of calculation and assumptions are explained in the Appendix A. 
 
Table E: Future pitch requirements 

Age Groups A. Total new teams B. Total extra matches per week (A*0.5) C. Matches per pitch D. Pitches required (B/C) 

Mini-soccer (6-9 mixed gender) -0.2 -0.1 4 0.0 

Junior football (10-15 male) 2.9 1.45 2 0.7 

Junior football (10-15 female) 0.5 0.25 2 0.1 

Senior football (16-45 male) -0.6 -0.3 2 -0.2 

Senior football (16-45 female) -0.1 -0.05 2 0.0 

 
 

 
  Mini-rugby (7-12 mixed gender) 0.2 0.1 0 0.0 

Junior rugby (13-18 male) 0.5 0.25 0 0.0 

Junior rugby (13-18 female) nil - 0 0.0 

Senior rugby (19-45 male) -0.7 -0.35 2 -0.2 

Senior rugby (19-45 female) nil - 2 nil 

 
 

 
  Junior cricket (7-17 male) 0.8 0.4 0 0.0 

Junior cricket (7-17 female) nil - 0 0.0 

Senior cricket (18-55 male) -2.3 -1.15 3 -0.4 

Senior cricket (18-55 female) nil - 3 nil 

 
 

 
  Junior hockey (11-15 male) 0.2 0.1 0 0.0 

Junior hockey (11-15 female) 0.2 0.1 0 0.0 

P
age 169



 
37 Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy Community Area Profiles (Action Plan Part 2)  

Senior hockey (16-45 male) -0.6 -0.3 4 -0.1 

Senior hockey (16-45 female) -0.3 -0.15 4 0.0 

 
These changes in themselves will not necessarily require additional pitch space that cannot already be found. However, they will increase demand on existing facilities, and require the improvement and expansion 
of existing key venues to cope with these increased demands. 
Because some sports cohorts don’t currently have teams representing them, future projections are not made. However, sports development initiatives can change things, although such change is not likely to be 
significantly, and has therefore been discounted. 
 
Site Specific Actions 
 
Table F: Site specific actions 

Where? What? When? (Short =0-3 years; Medium = 3-6 years; 
Long = 6+ years) 

Partners 

Site search Football: full size-3G pitch to meet both the needs 
of the Marlborough and Pewsey areas. A potential 
venue for this might be at St. John’s School. 

Medium FA, Wiltshire Council, Developer contributions, 
school 

Savernake (Marlborough CC) Cricket: non-turf strip. 
Cricket: Considering ground sharing possibilities 
with Marlborough RUFC 

Medium 
Medium / Long 

ECB, Wiltshire Council, Developer contributions, 
club 

Off Manor Lane, Broad Hinton (White Horse CC) Cricket: further explore scope for improved new 
pavilion with club. 

Short ECB, Club, Wiltshire Council 

Frees Avenue  (Marlborough RUFC) Rugby: Expansion of pavilion/changing facilities.  
Rugby: Investigating the possibility of a new 18 – 20 
acre site 

Short/Medium 
Medium / Long 

RFU, Club, Wiltshire Council, Developer 
contributions 

Frees Avenue (Football activity) Football: When an alternative new football venue 
can be planned and implemented, football activity 
at Frees Avenue should be relocated. 

Medium ECB, Wiltshire Council, Developer contributions, 
club 

Marlborough College (Marlborough Hockey Club) Hockey: Explore scope for on-site clubhouse Medium EH, Wiltshire Council, Club, Marlborough College, 
Developer contributions 

Marlborough FC (Elcot Lane) Football: Expansion of ground Medium FA, Wiltshire Council, Developer contributions, 
Town Council, Club 

 
 

P
age 170



 
38 Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy Community Area Profiles (Action Plan Part 2)  

 

Melksham 
 
The Melksham Community Area has one principal town, Melksham, and there are 11 parishes across the community area. Melksham is a working town with a 
strong employment and manufacturing base. The town benefits from having fast access to the motorway network. The proximity of the market towns of 
Trowbridge, Chippenham and Devizes (and the city of Bath and Swindon only 30 and 45 minutes away respectively) ensures strong competition between 
these centres for economic advantage. Melksham town centre provides a range of local services and convenience shopping.  
 
Table A: Population11 

Area 2015 

population 

2026 population Population trend-based change 

(2015-2026) 

Allocated housing in core 
strategy to 2026 

Melksham (9,864 hectares) 29,288 31,538 2,250 2,500 

 
Table B: Pitch sport team numbers 

2015 AGE GROUPS 2015 AGE GROUP POPULATION 2015 TEAMS 

Mini-soccer (6-9 mixed gender) 1,353 27 

Junior football (10-15 male) 1,243 19 

Junior football (10-15 female) 1,020 3 

Senior football (16-45 male) 4,640 27 

Senior football (16-45 female) 4,926 4 

   

Mini-rugby (7-12 mixed gender) 2,031 8 

Junior rugby (13-18 male) 1,257 5 

Junior rugby (13-18 female) 1,038 3 

Senior rugby (19-45 male) 4,098 4 

Senior rugby (19-45 female) 4,407 0 

   

Junior cricket (7-17 male) 1,961 2 

Junior cricket (7-17 female) 1,829 0 

Senior cricket (18-55 male) 6,520 8 

Senior cricket (18-55 female) 6,796 0 

   

Junior hockey (11-15 male) 903 0 

Junior hockey (11-15 female) 849 0 

Senior hockey (16-45 male) 4,640 0 

Senior hockey (16-45 female) 4,926 0 
 

 

                                                 
11

 From a forecast produced by Wiltshire Council on 12/05/2015 using POPGROUP software developed by Bradford Council, the University of Manchester and Andelin Associates 
 

P
age 171



 
39 Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy Community Area Profiles (Action Plan Part 2)  

 
 
Key grass pitch sport sites 
All sites within the Community Board area are identified in the Needs Assessment and underlying databases. The following have been identified as key sites with the Community Board area. The priority ranking is 
relative to its estimated importance to pitch sports strategically, and within Wiltshire generally. A lower order ranking (such as a ‘3’) does not mean that a site does not have importance in a local context. 
 
Table C: Supply and Use of key local grass pitch sport sites (figures based on 2015 data and estimates- it is noted that since this time cricket matches have stopped being played at King George V Playing Field) 
  Pitches Teams (i.e. male and female, all age-

groups) 
Net site capacity 

Priority 
Order 
(1,2,3,4) 

Name Adult 
Football 

Youth 
Football 
(11v11) 

Youth 
Football 

(9v9) 

Minisoccer 
(7v7) 

Minisoccer 
(5v5) 

Cricket 
Fields 

Adult 
Rugby 

Mini 
Rugby 

Football 
team 
count 

Rugby 
team 
count 

Cricket 
team 
count 

Net site 
football 
capacity 

Net site 
adult 
grass 

wicket 
capacity 

Net site 
rugby 

capacity 

1 The Conigre 1     1 1 5 11 18 1 -3.38 25 -15 

2 Bower Hill Playing Fields 3   2 1    10 0 0 11.63 0  

3 Broughton Gifford 
Common 

1     1   3 0 1 1.63 25  

3 St Mary's Recreation 
Field 

1 1       3 0 0 2.13 0  

3 The Manor, High Street, 
Keevil 

     1   0 0 1 0 25  

3 Awdry Avenue Football 
Pitch 

1        7 0 0 -2.5 0  

3 The Beeches 1        5 0 1 -1.5 0  

3 Cornflower Play Area   1      6 0 0 1.13 0  

3 King George V Playing 
Fields 

1     1   3 0 5 -1 -5  

3 Little Marsh Playing Field         4 0 0 -2 0  

3 The Lye Field 1     1   8 0 1 0.88 25  

3 Stonar School    1 1   1 4 0 0 1.75 0  

3 Melksham Oak 
Community School 

4 2    1 2  6 1 0 3 40 1 

 
AGP provision 
There is AGP provision at the following site(s).  
 
Table D: AGP provision locally 

Name Sub area AGP type Facility Status Access Type Surface Hockey matchplay compliant 

STONAR SCHOOL Melksham Sand full-size Operational Sports Club / Community Association Sand Dressed TRUE 

MELKSHAM OAK COMMUNITY SCHOOL Melksham Sand full-size Operational Sports Club / Community Association Sand Filled TRUE 

 
Sport-by-Sport overview (see Needs Assessment for details) 

 Football: The major football club by some distance in terms of team numbers is Melksham Town Youth FC (until Autumn 2016 playing at multiple sites including Bower Hill Playing Fields, Broughton Gifford 
Common, Bower Hill Playing Fields Awdry Avenue, King George V Playing Fields, Stonar School). There are several other much smaller clubs playing at these and other sites. At the time of consultation on the 
draft Playing Pitch Strategy and associated documentation, Melksham Town FC will be transitioning to a new venue at Woolmore Farm (further details are noted below). 

P
age 172



 
40 Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy Community Area Profiles (Action Plan Part 2)  

 Cricket: Beanacre & Melksham CC is the biggest cricket club which up until recently has played at King George V Playing Fields, but is now moving to the Conigre ground. There are other small single-team 
clubs peppered around various recreation grounds in the area. 

 Rugby: Melksham RUFC currently plays at the Conigre, but is moving to a new site at Woolmore Farm (see below). 

 Hockey:  There is no hockey club in the Melksham area. 
 
 
Current and likely future issues: 

 General: There is no apparent peak time shortage of football pitches in the area, and few apparent examples of overuse. However, football is currently dissipated over several sites in a dysfunctional way. 
There is heavy use of the Conigre for football and rugby, and there is heavy use of the King V Playing Field for cricket. Planned and natural population change will impact upon the requirement for sports 
pitches for all 4 key sports (see later). Already major changes in the local sports infrastructure are in train as a result of planned new growth and the Wiltshire Council’s Community Campus proposals.  The 
proposed campus will bring together a number of buildings from across Melksham and combine them into a single facility in the centre of town. It is anticipated that the Melksham House site with 13-acre 
grounds will be extensively redeveloped as a campus. The proposed campus will contain a number of community facilities and services including a cafe, sports hall, swimming pool and library. Anew 
combined rugby and football facility at Woolmore Farm, behind Melksham Oak Community School, has been completed and will be used from the Autumn 2016 by Melksham Town FC and Melksham RFC, 
which are currently based on the Melksham House site (Conigre), allowing building work on the campus to start.  The site will comprise of 4 rugby pitches in total, 1 full size match pitch and 3 additional 
pitches to accommodate training and junior match play and 12 football pitches, comprising 1 full size match pitch and 11 additional pitches to accommodate training and junior match play.  Configuration of 
pitches will be managed on an annual basis to accommodate the changing nature of each club’s structure. Site capacity data is provide for both Rugby and Cricket for Woolmore Farm within the full Needs 
Assessment. Football pitches in the area are variable in standard based on FA approved rating systems; the Bower Hill complex is of good standard, now, but pitches at King George V Playing Field and the 
Conigre have been rated as poor. The above developments may improve the situation.  There is a net peak-time surplus of cricket fields on Saturdays. 

 Football: there is an issue in respect of access to AGP provision both for training and, increasingly for match play. Based on calculations (explained in the Appendix B) there is a requirement of 1.90 of a full-
size 3G pitch to meet the training needs of teams in the area. Demand will be bolstered by future population growth. There is no existing 3G provision in the area.  

 Cricket:  The Beanacre & Melksham CC will be moving to a ground at the Conigre as part of the campus proposals. This will allow the club to expand and improve its standard of play. However, to elevate 
itself to a higher standard the club must provide 1. Pavilion upgrade/replacement at Melksham House; 2. Sightscreens; 3. Mobile covers; 4. Accommodation for umpires; 5. Accommodation for scorers  

 Rugby: The Melksham RUFC has experienced major problems over the years as a result of heavy wear and tear on the single pitch it had available. However, these issues will be resolved with the relocation to 
Woolmore Farm noted above. 

 Hockey: There is no hockey club currently based in either Melksham, Trowbridge, or Bradford on Avon areas, and this is unfortunate given the combined population of these three areas. The existing sand 
based AGP at Melksham Oak Community School could provide the base for a start-up club or a satellite club to an existing club such as Devizes Hockey Club. 

 
Estimated future changes in team numbers in the area, and resulting change in demand for pitches 
The following combines projected natural population change with the likely impact of allocated growth in the core strategy up to 2026, and identifies what the likely change in team numbers will be, together with 
the likely impact in grass pitch numbers required. The method of calculation and assumptions are explained in the Appendix A. 
  

P
age 173



 
41 Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy Community Area Profiles (Action Plan Part 2)  

Table E: Future pitch requirements 

Age Groups A. Total new teams B. Total extra matches 
per week (A*0.5) 

C. Matches per pitch D. Pitches required 
(B/C) 

Mini-soccer (6-9 mixed gender) 4.5 2.25 4 0.6 

Junior football (10-15 male) 4.3 2.15 2 1.1 

Junior football (10-15 female) 0.7 0.35 2 0.2 

Senior football (16-45 male) 3.4 1.7 2 0.8 

Senior football (16-45 female) 0.1 0.05 2 0.0 

 
 

 
  Mini-rugby (7-12 mixed gender) 1.5 0.75 0 0.0 

Junior rugby (13-18 male) 0.5 0.25 0 0.0 

Junior rugby (13-18 female) 0.4 0.2 0 0.0 

Senior rugby (19-45 male) 0.6 0.3 2 0.2 

Senior rugby (19-45 female) nil - 2 nil 

 
 

 
  Junior cricket (7-17 male) 1.4 0.7 0 0.0 

Junior cricket (7-17 female) nil - 0 0.0 

Senior cricket (18-55 male) 1.5 0.75 3 0.2 

Senior cricket (18-55 female) nil - 3 nil 

 
 

 
  Junior hockey (11-15 male) nil - 0 0.0 

Junior hockey (11-15 female) nil - 0 0.0 

Senior hockey (16-45 male) nil - 4 nil 

Senior hockey (16-45 female) nil - 4 nil 

 
These changes in themselves will not necessarily require additional pitch space that cannot already be found. However, they will increase demand on existing facilities, and require the improvement and expansion 
of existing key venues to cope with these increased demands. The Woolmore Farm development will greatly assist in meeting this need. 
Because some sports cohorts don’t currently have teams representing them, future projections are not made. However, sports development initiatives can change things, although such change is not likely to be 
significantly, and has therefore been discounted. 
 
Site Specific Actions 
 
Table F: Site specific actions 

Where? What? When? (Short =0-3 years; Medium = 3-6 years; 
Long = 6+ years) 

Partners 

Site search Football: Provision of a full-size 3G pitch which 
should be at Woolmore Farm. 

Medium FA, Wiltshire Council, Developer contributions 

Conigre Cricket: 1. Pavilion upgrade/replacement; 2. 
Sightscreens; 3. Mobile covers; 4. Accommodation 
for umpires; 
5. Accommodation for scorers 

Medium ECB, Wiltshire Council, Developer contributions 

Woolmore Farm Rugby: As per existing campus proposals Medium RFU, Wiltshire Council, Developer contributions 

Melkham Oak Community College 
 
 
  

Hockey: The viability of establishing a new hockey 
club or a satellite club to an existing club at this 
venue should be considered. This surface should be 
protected and maintained for hockey. 

Medium EH, Wiltshire Council, Developer contributions, 
School 

P
age 174



 
42 Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy Community Area Profiles (Action Plan Part 2)  

 

 

Pewsey 
 
The Pewsey Community Board area covers rural countryside in the middle of Wiltshire known as the Pewsey Vale. It is dominated by one settlement, the 
ancient village of Pewsey. The community area covers a broad and rich valley between the Marlborough Downs to the north and Salisbury Plain to the south 
and extends to Wiltshire’s eastern boundary. The surrounding area is one of small villages and large farm estates and is very rural in nature. There are 26 
parishes across the community area. 
 
Table A: Population12 

Area 2015 population 2026 population Population trend-based change 

(2015-2026) 

Allocated housing in core strategy to 2026 

Pewsey (26,837 hectares) 14,286 15,485 1,199 600 

 
Table B: Pitch sport team numbers 

2015 AGE GROUPS 2015 AGE GROUP POPULATION 2015 TEAMS 

Mini-soccer (6-9 mixed gender) 1,353 27 

Junior football (10-15 male) 1,243 19 

Junior football (10-15 female) 1,020 3 

Senior football (16-45 male) 4,640 27 

Senior football (16-45 female) 4,926 4 

   

Mini-rugby (7-12 mixed gender) 2,031 8 

Junior rugby (13-18 male) 1,257 5 

Junior rugby (13-18 female) 1,038 3 

Senior rugby (19-45 male) 4,098 4 

Senior rugby (19-45 female) 4,407 0 

   

Junior cricket (7-17 male) 1,961 2 

Junior cricket (7-17 female) 1,829 0 

Senior cricket (18-55 male) 6,520 8 

Senior cricket (18-55 female) 6,796 0 

   

Junior hockey (11-15 male) 903 0 

Junior hockey (11-15 female) 849 0 

Senior hockey (16-45 male) 4,640 0 

Junior hockey (16-45 female) 4,926 0 
 

                                                 
12

 From a forecast produced by Wiltshire Council on 12/05/2015 using POPGROUP software developed by Bradford Council, the University of Manchester and Andelin Associates 
 

P
age 175



 
43 Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy Community Area Profiles (Action Plan Part 2)  

 
 
Key grass pitch sport sites 
All sites within the Community Board area are identified in the Needs Assessment and underlying databases. The following have been identified as key sites with the Community Board area. The priority ranking is 
relative to its estimated importance to pitch sports strategically, and within Wiltshire generally. A lower order ranking (such as a ‘3’) does not mean that a site does not have importance in a local context. 
 
Table C: Supply and Use of key local grass pitch sport sites (figures based on 2015 data and estimates) 
  Pitches Teams (i.e. male and female, all age-

groups) 
Net site capacity 

Priority 
Order 
(1,2,3,4) 

Name Adult 
Football 

Youth 
Football 
(11v11) 

Youth 
Football 

(9v9) 

Minisoccer 
(7v7) 

Minisoccer 
(5v5) 

Cricket 
Fields 

Adult 
Rugby 

Mini 
Rugby 

Football 
team 
count 

Rugby 
team 
count 

Cricket 
team 
count 

Net site 
football 
capacity 

Net site 
adult 
grass 

wicket 
capacity 

Net site 
rugby 

capacity 

2 Burbage & Easton Royal 
Sports Club 

     1   0 0 9 0 -20  

2 Old Hospital Recreation 
Field 

1  1 1 1    9  0 6.63 0  

2 Angela Yeates Memorial 
Ground 

      2   8 0   -0.88 

2 Marden Cricket Club      1     1    

3 off Henrys Garth, Burbage 1  1      1 0 0 6.5 0  

3 off Alton Road, Wilcot      1   0 0 3 0 25  

3 off Frog Lane Bedwyn      1   0 0 3 0 -5  

3 off The Lynch, Shalbourne 1     1   1 0 1 2.5 25  

3 Pewsey Vale Football Club 1        4 0 0 -0.13 0  

3 Milton Lilbourne Recreation 
land 

 1       1   1   

 
AGP provision 
There is no AGP provision.  
 
Sport-by-Sport overview (see Needs Assessment for details) 

 Football: Football activity in the area is dominated by Pewsey Vale Youth FC (playing at the Old Hospital); and Pewsey Vale FC (based largely at their own ground). 

 Cricket: The following clubs are based in the area: Burbage and Easton Royal CC (Burbage & Easton Royal Sports Club -now with two fields adjacent to each other); Wilcot CC (off Alton Road, Wilcot); Great 
Bedwyn CC (off Frog Lane Bedwyn); Shalbourne CC (off The Lynch, Shalbourne). With 9 teams the Burbage and Easton Royals are much the biggest club. 

 Rugby: Pewsey Vale RUFC are based at the Old Hospital ground and has 9 teams over the age groups. 

 Hockey: There is no hockey club in the area (the nearest being in Marlborough). 
 
Current and likely future issues: 

 General: There is little evidence of a peak time shortage of pitches in the area, although a key local football club has to field its teams on more than one ground (see below). There is little evidence of overuse 
of playing surfaces and venues, generally. Planned and natural population change will impact upon the requirement for sports pitches for all 4 key sports (see later). Most football pitches in the area are rated 
as being of standard quality or better based on FA approved rating systems. There is a net peak-time surplus of cricket fields on Saturdays. 

 Football: Based on calculations (explained in the Appendix B) there is a requirement of 0.36 of a full-size 3G pitch to meet the training needs of teams in the area. There is no existing such provision in the 
area, currently. A ‘shared’ provision with the Marlborough area could be a viable solution given the proximity of Pewsey to that town. The Pewsey Vale Youth FC has to use two sites, as an 11v11 youth pitch 
cannot be provided at its main site, given other requirements. This age group plays at Milton Lilbourne. Both Pewsey Vale Youth and Pewsey FCs have issues over midweek season training as there is no AGP 
in the area. For the Youth Club, a solution might be portable training lights, or the conversion of the hard-surface court to a half-size, RFU-compliant 3G AGP of an appropriate specification, which might also 

P
age 176



 
44 Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy Community Area Profiles (Action Plan Part 2)  

be used by the rugby club. The clubs and school can agree a sustainable business plan. Pewsey Vale FC has concerns over the failure of their ground to meet Level H grading which has allowed the FA to 
withdraw the club from the FA Cup and Vase. Potentially if not rectified the Club could also be relegated from the Sydenhams League. Planned population change will not result in a need to increase the 
amount of grass pitch space, and the focus should be on qualitative improvements, at The Old Hospital, and Pewsey Vale FC. 

 Cricket:  The Planned population change will not result in a need to increase the amount of grass pitch space, and the focus should be on qualitative improvements. The two fields at Burbage and Royal 
Easton CC would be well-placed to receive any such improvements. Although facilities are already of a fairly good standard, there is the potential to improve the quality of the square(s) and perhaps the level 
of maintenance. Shalbourne Parish and Shalbourne Social Club are preparing plans to provide an upgraded pavilion at the Lynch, which might be of significant community as well as sports value in that very 
remote part of Wiltshire. 

 Rugby: The Planned population change will not result in a need to increase the amount of grass pitch space, and the focus should be on qualitative improvements, at the Old Hospital ground, which could 
include assistance with the development of a proper clubhouse, for which there is already planning permission. 

 Hockey:  Given the rural location, and lack of a pitch it would be inappropriate to encourage the establishment of a hockey club in this area, given the small population and the proximity of a club at 
Marlborough. 

 
Estimated future changes in team numbers in the area, and resulting change in demand for pitches 
The following combines projected natural population change with the likely impact of allocated growth in the core strategy up to 2026, and identifies what the likely change in team numbers will be, together with 
the likely impact in grass pitch numbers required. The method of calculation and assumptions are explained in the Appendix A. 
 
Table E: Future pitch requirements 

Age Groups A. Total new teams B. Total extra matches 
per week (A*0.5) 

C. Matches per pitch D. Pitches required 
(B/C) 

Mini-soccer (6-9 mixed gender) 0.7 0.35 4 0.1 

Junior football (10-15 male) 1.4 0.7 2 0.3 

Junior football (10-15 female) nil - 2 nil 

Senior football (16-45 male) 1.1 0.55 2 0.3 

Senior football (16-45 female) nil - 2 nil 

 
 

 
  Mini-rugby (7-12 mixed gender) 0.3 0.15 0 0.0 

Junior rugby (13-18 male) nil - 0 0.0 

Junior rugby (13-18 female) 0.1 0.05 0 0.0 

Senior rugby (19-45 male) 0.2 0.1 2 0.1 

Senior rugby (19-45 female) nil - 2 nil 

 
 

 
  Junior cricket (7-17 male) 0.8 0.4 0 0.0 

Junior cricket (7-17 female) nil - 0 0.0 

Senior cricket (18-55 male) 0.0 - 3 0.0 

Senior cricket (18-55 female) 0.0 - 3 0.0 

 
 

 
  Junior hockey (11-15 male) nil - 0 0.0 

Junior hockey (11-15 female) nil - 0 0.0 

Senior hockey (16-45 male) nil - 4 nil 

Senior hockey (16-45 female) nil - 4 nil 

 
These changes in themselves will not necessarily require additional pitch space that cannot already be found. However, they will increase demand on existing facilities, and require the improvement and expansion 
of existing key venues to cope with these increased demands. 
Because some sports cohorts don’t currently have teams representing them, future projections are not made. However, sports development initiatives can change things, although such change is not likely to be 
significantly, and has therefore been discounted. 
 

P
age 177



 
45 Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy Community Area Profiles (Action Plan Part 2)  

 
Site Specific Actions 
 
Table F: Site specific actions 

Where? What? When? (Short =0-3 years; Medium = 3-6 years; 
Long = 6+ years) 

Partners 

Burbage and Easton Royals Cricket Club Cricket: Improvements to cricket square and 
maintenance. 

Short ECB, Wiltshire Council, Developer contributions, 
Club 

Pewsey Vale FC Upgrade to meet FA Ground Requirements Medium FA, Wiltshire Council, Developer Contributions, 
Club, Parish Council 

Pewsey Rugby Club- Angela Yeates Memorial 
Ground) 

Rugby: pavilion/clubhouse 
 

Medium FA, RFU,  Wiltshire Council, Developer 
contributions, parish council 

Pewsey Vale School – old Tennis Courts Rugby/Football: Potential upgrade of hard court 
area to a ½ size rugby/football compliant 3G pitch 
(floodlit), if the clubs and school can agree a 
sustainable business model. (It is recognised that 
this may not be an RFU priority for funding). PVS 
are willing to cover the ongoing maintenance but 
have no capital to invest, or cover future carpet 
replacement. 

Medium FA, RFU,  Wiltshire Council, Developer 
contributions, parish council 

 
 
 
 

P
age 178



 
46 Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy Community Area Profiles (Action Plan Part 2)  

 

Royal Wootton Bassett and Cricklade 
 
The Royal Wootton Bassett and Cricklade Community Board area hosts a wide range of communities that range from small hamlets to four major settlements 
that include the two market towns of Royal Wootton Bassett and Cricklade, as well as Purton and the developing Defence College of Technical Training at 
Lyneham. Covering a mainly rural hinterland, the community area is dissected by the M4 motorway which gives easy access to both Bristol and London, but it is 
the nearby thriving town of Swindon that provides the real economic generator for the area. The community area covers 154 square kilometres and has a 
population density just above the Wiltshire average. The larger settlements act almost as dormitory suburbs of Swindon.  
Table A: Population13 

Area 2015 population 2026 population Population trend-based change 

(2015-2026) 

Allocated housing in core strategy 
to 2026 

Royal Wootton Bassett and Cricklade 

(15,374 hectares) 

30,083 33,294 3,211 1,455 

 
Table B: Pitch sport team numbers 

2015 AGE GROUPS 2015 AGE GROUP POPULATION 2015 TEAMS 

Mini-soccer (6-9 mixed gender) 1,321 23 

Junior football (10-15 male) 1,172 25 

Junior football (10-15 female) 907 0 

Senior football (16-45 male) 5,446 14 

Senior football (16-45 female) 4,881 2 

   

Mini-rugby (7-12 mixed gender) 1,943 8 

Junior rugby (13-18 male) 1,181 8 

Junior rugby (13-18 female) 974 1 

Senior rugby (19-45 male) 4,912 6 

Senior rugby (19-45 female) 4,388 0 

   

Junior cricket (7-17 male) 1,896 11 

Junior cricket (7-17 female) 1,692 2 

Senior cricket (18-55 male) 7,499 10 

Senior cricket (18-55 female) 7,018 0 

   

Junior hockey (11-15 male) 823 2 

Junior hockey (11-15 female) 771 2 

Senior hockey (16-45 male) 5,446 3 

Senior hockey (16-45 female) 4,881 3 
 

                                                 
13

 From a forecast produced by Wiltshire Council on 12/05/2015 using POPGROUP software developed by Bradford Council, the University of Manchester and Andelin Associates 
 

P
age 179



 
47 Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy Community Area Profiles (Action Plan Part 2)  

 
Key grass pitch sport sites 
All sites within the Community Board area are identified in the Needs Assessment and underlying databases. The following have been identified as key sites with the Community Board area. The priority ranking is 
relative to its estimated importance to pitch sports strategically, and within Wiltshire generally. A lower order ranking (such as a ‘3’) does not mean that a site does not have importance in a local context. 
n.b. As explained in Introduction, playing pitch provision in Royal Wootton Bassett has changed and improved markedly, even during the time of the needs assessment underpinning this strategy. This is especially the 
case at Gerard Buxton and Ballards Ash Sportsgrounds. Because of this the below table does not provide the most up-to-date situation at either of these sites in terms of pitch numbers or teams/sports playing at the 
venues.  
 
Table C: Supply and Use of key local grass pitch sport sites (figures based on 2015 data and estimates) 

  Pitches Teams (i.e. male and female, all age-

groups) 
Net site capacity 

Priority 
Order 

(1,2,3,4) 

Name Adult 
Football 

Youth 
Football 
(11v11) 

Youth 
Football 

(9v9) 

Minisoccer 
(7v7) 

Minisoccer 
(5v5) 

Cricket 
Fields 

Adult 
Rugby 

Mini 
Rugby 

Football 
team 
count 

Rugby 
team 
count 

Cricket 
team 
count 

Net site 
football 
capacity 

Net site 
adult 
grass 

wicket 
capacity 

Net site 
rugby 

capacity 

1 Ballards Ash Sports 
Ground 

1 1  1 1 1 4  30 20 0 -5.13 25 -6.25 

3 Cricklade Leisure 
Centre 

2        10 0 0 0.38 0  

3 Southam and the 
Water Pitches 

     1 2  0 0 6 0 -5  

3 Purton Cricket Club      1   0 0 8 0 -5  

3 Chesnut Springs 
Playing Field 

 1 1 2 1    9 0 0 9.5 0  

3 The Red House 1        3 0 0 0.5 0  

3 Gerard Buxton Playing 
Field 

1     1   3 0 9 0 -10  

3 Fairview Field, 
Cricklade 

      1  0 1 0 0 0 1 

 
AGP provision 
There is AGP provision at the following locations. 
 
Table D: AGP provision locally 

Name Sub area AGP type Facility Status Access Type Surface Hockey matchplay compliant 

CRICKLADE LEISURE CENTRE (see below for 
hockey team numbers) 

Royal Wootton Bassett and Cricklade Sand half-size Operational Pay and Play Sand Filled FALSE 

GERARD BUXTON SPORTS GROUND Royal Wootton Bassett and Cricklade 3G full-size    FALSE 

ROYAL WOOTTON BASSETT ACADEMY Royal Wootton Bassett and Cricklade Sand full-size Operational Pay and Play Sand Filled TRUE 

PRIOR PARK PREPARATORY SCHOOL Royal Wootton Bassett and Cricklade Sand half-size Operational Private Use Sand Filled FALSE 

 
 
  

P
age 180



 
48 Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy Community Area Profiles (Action Plan Part 2)  

Sport-by-Sport overview (see Needs Assessment for details) 

 General note: The above data relates to a time before the completion of initiatives at the Gerard Buxton Sports Ground and Ballards Ash in Royal Wootton Bassett. The sporting landscape of the Royal 
Wootton Bassett area in particular has undergone major change with developments around the Gerard Buxton Playing Fields and the Ballards Ash Sports Ground. The former has now become a hub venue for 
football and cricket, and the latter for Rugby. Upon completion of these projects clubs and teams have moved around for football and cricket in particular.  

 Football: Wootton Basset Youth FC are now a major user of Gerard Buxton Sports Ground. Other notable clubs and sites include Lydiard Millicent Juniors FC (Chestnut Springs Playing Field); Purton FC 
(Bradon Forest School and The Redhouse). In addition, various teams use Cricklade Leisure Centre. There are other smaller sites. 

 Cricket: The following clubs are based in the area: Royal Wootton Bassett CC (Gerard Buxton Playing Field fielding 9 teams); Purton CC (Purton Cricket Club fielding 8 teams); Cricklade CC (Southam and the 
Water Pitches fielding 6 teams). 

 Rugby: Royal Wootton Bassett RUFC is a big club fielding 20 teams across the age groups and based at Ballards Ash. There is one other single-team club playing at Fairview Field, Cricklade. 

 Hockey: Wootton Bassett Hockey Club fields 10 teams across both men and ladies, and juniors (6 adult and 4 junior teams). The club play at the Royal Wootton Bassett Academy. Opportunity for a clubhouse 
should be encouraged and supported. 

 
Current and likely future issues: 

 General: At the time of writing this strategy, the sporting landscape in Royal Wootton Bassett was changing dramatically, with the Gerard Buxton Sportsground being relocated to an impressive new site, and 
the new focus on rugby at Ballards Ash. With these developments there is now likely to be little evidence of overuse of grass pitches for any sport, or peaktime shortages. Planned and natural population 
change will impact upon the requirement for sports pitches for all 4 key sports (see later). Most football pitches in the area are rated as being of standard quality based on FA approved rating systems; but the 
recent development of the new Gerard Buxton sports hub will have improved the situation significantly. There is a net peak-time surplus of cricket fields on Saturdays. 

 Football: Based on calculations (explained in the Appendix B) there is a requirement of 0.5 of a full-size 3G pitch to meet the training needs of teams in the area. There is already one such facility (at Gerard 
Buxton). No other AGPs in the area have potential for conversion, and the facility at the Academy is relied upon by the local hockey club. Demand will be bolstered by future population growth. But not 
sufficiently to provide for a second full-size 3G pitch. Planned population change will not result in a need to increase the amount of grass pitch space, and the focus should be on qualitative improvements. 
The Red House site does not have floodlights, and this has presented resident clubs from playing in higher level leagues. 

 Cricket:  With the completion of the RBWB CC to Gerard Buxton, this biggest of local clubs is now well provided for on its two-field venue. Planned population change will not result in a need to increase the 
amount of grass pitch space, and the focus should be on qualitative improvements. The Purton and Cricklade clubs may benefit from non-turf strips. Purton CC are in discussions with Lydiard Millicent Parish 
Council and Lydiard Park Academy about developing a 2nd ground for Purton CC at the school, and which would service the neds of a 3rd team and junior cricket, this meeting with the club’s aspirations to 
grow its membership. 

 Rugby: Planned population change will not result in a need to increase the amount of grass pitch space, and the focus should be on qualitative improvements. At Ballards Ash the Club looks to require 
drainage and changing room improvements to keep up with the growth in team numbers across the age groups. The site is shortlisted for a potential World Rugby Compliant AGP within RFU National 
Programme. 

 Hockey: Planned population change will not result in a need to increase the amount of AGP space. However, the provision of the 3G pitch at Gerard Buxton may allow hockey the time and space at the 
Academy to develop further. The existing surface needs to be protected and upgraded, and ideally a clubhouse on-site. 

 
Estimated future changes in team numbers in the area, and resulting change in demand for pitches 
The following combines projected natural population change with the likely impact of allocated growth in the core strategy up to 2026, and identifies what the likely change in team numbers will be, together with 
the likely impact in grass pitch numbers required. The method of calculation and assumptions are explained in the Appendix A. 
 
Table E: Future pitch requirements 

Age Groups A. Total new teams B. Total extra matches 
per week (A*0.5) 

C. Matches per pitch D. Pitches required 
(B/C) 

Mini-soccer (6-9 mixed gender) 2.6 1.3 4 0.3 

Junior football (10-15 male) 4.7 2.35 2 1.2 

Junior football (10-15 female) nil - 2 nil 

Senior football (16-45 male) 3.1 1.55 2 0.8 

Senior football (16-45 female) 0.1 0.05 2 0.0 

 
 

 
  Mini-rugby (7-12 mixed gender) 0.9 0.45 0 0.0 

Junior rugby (13-18 male) 1.0 0.5 0 0.0 

P
age 181



 
49 Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy Community Area Profiles (Action Plan Part 2)  

Age Groups A. Total new teams B. Total extra matches 
per week (A*0.5) 

C. Matches per pitch D. Pitches required 
(B/C) 

Junior rugby (13-18 female) -0.1 -0.05 0 0.0 

Senior rugby (19-45 male) 1.0 0.5 2 0.2 

Senior rugby (19-45 female) nil - 2 nil 

 
 

 
  Junior cricket (7-17 male) 1.7 0.85 0 0.0 

Junior cricket (7-17 female) 0.1  0 0.0 

Senior cricket (18-55 male) 1.5  3 0.3 

Senior cricket (18-55 female) nil  3 nil 

 
 

 
  Junior hockey (11-15 male) 0.4  0 0.0 

Junior hockey (11-15 female) 0.1  0 0.0 

Senior hockey (16-45 male) 0.5  4 0.1 

Senior hockey (16-45 female) 0.1  4 0.0 

 
These changes in themselves will not necessarily require additional pitch space that cannot already be found. However, they will increase demand on existing facilities, and require the improvement and expansion 
of existing key venues to cope with these increased demands. 
Because some sports cohorts don’t currently have teams representing them, future projections are not made. However, sports development initiatives can change things, although such change is not likely to be 
significantly, and has therefore been discounted. 
 
Site Specific Actions 
 
Table F: Site specific actions 

Where? What? When? (Short =0-3 years; Medium = 3-6 years; 
Long = 6+ years) 

Partners 

Ballards Ash Rugby: Improvements to drainage and changing 
rooms. (The site is shortlisted for a potential World 
Rugby Compliant AGP within RFU National 
Programme.) 

Medium RFU, Wiltshire Council, Town Council, Developer 
contributions 

Cricklade and Purton CCs Cricket: Non-turf strips or other appropriate 
smaller scale improvements. 
 
 

Medium ECB, Wiltshire Council, Developer contributions 

Purton CC Cricket: Establish details of plans for a second 
ground for Purton CC, with regard to their facility 
aspirations and requirements. 

Short ECB, Wiltshire Council, Developer contributions 

Royal Wootton Bassett Academy Hockey: Protection and overhaul of AGP surface for 
hockey club. Explore scope for on-site club house. 

Medium EH, Wiltshire Council, Developer contributions 

 
 
 
 

P
age 182



 
50 Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy Community Area Profiles (Action Plan Part 2)  

 

Salisbury 
 
Salisbury Community Board area is made up of the mediaeval cathedral city only and, as a consequence, is the only one of Wiltshire’s 20 community area’s that 
does not have a rural hinterland surrounding its market town and service centre. The City is the largest single urban settlement in the County, but its lack of a 
hinterland ranks the community area as the 3rd most populous after Chippenham and Trowbridge. Beyond its world renowned heritage and landscape setting, 
Salisbury acts as an important centre of business, leisure, retail and services.  It provides a great deal of employment and serves a wide catchment area made up 
of many of the surrounding smaller towns. 
 
Table A: Population14 

Area 2015 population 2026 population Population trend-based change 

(2015-2026) 

Allocated housing in core strategy 
to 2026 

Salisbury (1,924 hectares) 41,703 41,628 -75 6,060 

 
Table B: Pitch sport team numbers 

2015 AGE GROUPS 2015 AGE GROUP POPULATION 2015 TEAMS 

Mini-soccer (6-9 mixed gender) 1,987 14 

Junior football (10-15 male) 1,526 21 

Junior football (10-15 female) 1,321 2 

Senior football (16-45 male) 7,525 28 

Senior football (16-45 female) 7,609 0 

   

Mini-rugby (7-12 mixed gender) 2,801 6 

Junior rugby (13-18 male) 1,568 5 

Junior rugby (13-18 female) 1,345 0 

Senior rugby (19-45 male) 6,822 5 

Senior rugby (19-45 female) 6,918 0 

   

Junior cricket (7-17 male) 2,501 3 

Junior cricket (7-17 female) 2,522 0 

Senior cricket (18-55 male) 9,995 9 

Senior cricket (18-55 female) 10,210 0 

   

Junior hockey (11-15 male) 1,069 7 

Junior hockey (11-15 female) 1,110 7 

Senior hockey (16-45 male) 7,525 6 

Senior hockey (16-45 female) 7,609 5 
 

                                                 
14

 From a forecast produced by Wiltshire Council on 12/05/2015 using POPGROUP software developed by Bradford Council, the University of Manchester and Andelin Associates 
 

P
age 183



 
51 Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy Community Area Profiles (Action Plan Part 2)  

 
 
 
Key grass pitch sport sites 
All sites within the Community Board area are identified in the Needs Assessment and underlying databases. The following have been identified as key sites with the Community Board area. The priority ranking is 
relative to its estimated importance to pitch sports strategically, and within Wiltshire generally. A lower order ranking (such as a ‘3’) does not mean that a site does not have importance in a local context. 
 
Table C: Supply and Use of key local grass pitch sport sites (figures based on 2015 data and estimates) 
  Pitches Teams (i.e. male and female, all age-

groups) 
Net site capacity 

Priority 
Order 
(1,2,3,4) 

Name Adult 
Football 

Youth 
Football 
(11v11) 

Youth 
Football 

(9v9) 

Minisoccer 
(7v7) 

Minisoccer 
(5v5) 

Cricket 
Fields 

Adult 
Rugby 

Mini 
Rugby 

Football 
team 
count 

Rugby 
team 
count 

Cricket 
team 
count 

Net site 
football 
capacity 

Net site 
adult 
grass 

wicket 
capacity 

Net site 
rugby 

capacity 

1 Salisbury & South Wilts Sports 
Club 

2     2    0 10 5.5 -5  

2 Hudsons Field 3   2 1  2  6 13 0 9 0 -4.25 

3 Victoria Park pitch 1        4 0 0 -1 0  

3 Middle Street Meadow 1        3 0 0 1.5 0  

3 Bemerton Heath Harlequins 
Football Club 

1        6 0 0 -0.63 0  

3 Pembroke Park Primary School   1      12 0 0 -3.5 0  

3 Hampton Park Pavilion    1  1   0 0 2 1 10  

3 Harnham Recreation Ground 1        7 0 0 -1.13 0  

3 Bishopdown 1        6 0 0 -2 0  

 
AGP provision 
There is AGP provision at the following locations. 
 
Table D: AGP provision locally 

Name Sub area Availability Facility 
Status 

Access Type Surface Hockey matchplay 
compliant 

SALISBURY & SOUTH WILTS SPORTS CLUB (see 
below for hockey team numbers) 

Salisbury A2 Operational Pay and Play Sand Dressed TRUE 

CHAFYN GROVE SCHOOL Salisbury B Operational Private Use Sand Filled FALSE 

 
Sport-by-Sport overview (see Needs Assessment for details) 

 Football:  The biggest clubs in the area in terms of team numbers are the following (grounds in brackets): Sarum Youth Football FC (largely Pembroke Park Primary School); Salisbury City Youth F.C. (largely 
Salisbury & South Wilts Sports Club); Bemerton Heath Harlequins F.C. (at the BHHFC ground); West Harnham (Youth) FC (Harnham Recreation Ground). Football activity in the area is dissipated around a large 
number of sites. Residential development surrounding the Salisbury FC complex has displaced many teams. 

 Cricket: Salisbury & South Wilts Sports Club dominates local activity for this sport- with its main club being South Wilts, but two other smaller clubs also play there. Strategically, this is a very important multi-
sport site. 

 Rugby: Salisbury RUFC runs 15 teams across the age groups. Its senior teams play at the Castle Road pitch, and the remainder play at Hudsons field, which is also used for football, and occasionally for cricket. 

 Hockey: Salisbury Hockey Club (fielding 25 teams across the age groups- 11 adult and 14 junior teams) is based at the strategically important Salisbury & South Wilts Sports Club. 
 
Current and likely future issues: 

P
age 184



 
52 Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy Community Area Profiles (Action Plan Part 2)  

 General: There does not currently appear to be a significant problem with peaktime shortage of grass pitches for any sport within the area, with the possible exception of youth football on Saturdays. 
Pembroke Primary School is heavily used. There is theoretically heavy use of grass wickets for adult cricket at the Salisbury and South Wilts Sports Club, and apparently heavy use of Hudsons Field for Rugby. 
Planned and natural population change will impact upon the requirement for sports pitches for all 4 key sports (see later). Most football pitches in the area are rated as being of standard quality based on FA 
approved rating systems; the most notable exceptions being the heavily used Victoria Park pitch, which is rated as poor. There is a net peak-time surplus of cricket fields on Saturdays, although see comments 
for cricket (below). 

 Football: there is an issue in respect of access to AGP provision both for training and, increasingly for match play. Based on calculations (explained in the Appendix B) there is a requirement of 1.6 of a full-size 
3G pitch to meet the training needs of teams in the area. There are no existing such venues in the area, and no existing AGPs are considered to offer potential to redevelop to a 3G specification. Demand will 
be bolstered by future population growth, and this demand will be exacerbated by the treatment in planning terms of Salisbury City and Wilton as one area for housing allocations. (The calculations in the 
table below reflect this status). Youth football in particular is very footloose within the City and many teams would benefit from a consolidated long-term venue. The Five Rivers Health and Wellbeing Centre 
may have the potential to offer a grass pitch venue, with redesign. The existing grass pitch space is sufficient to meet changes in demand caused by population change, but there is a desperate need for at 
least 1 x 3G AGP.  

 Cricket:  Projected population change may generate demand for the better part of one additional cricket field. The two pitches at Salisbury & South Wilts Sports Club, and the other pitch at Hampton Park are 
already used, and are unlikely to have the capacity to meet future needs entirely. In addition, it is conceivable that the South Wilts CC may field a 5th Saturday teams at some point. A new venue may be 
required, but this would work best as part of a wider hub development. 

 Rugby: The existing grass pitch space is sufficient to meet changes in demand caused by population change, but there is a strong need for better changing provision at Salisbury RUFC. 

 Hockey: Projected population change will not require additional artificial pitch space for hockey, but the focus instead should be on qualitative improvements at the existing Salisbury & South Wilts Sports 
Club. However, the Club is already having to find alternative accommodation for some of its teams matches. If a hub venue for football was created elsewhere it might release some land currently used at the 
Club for football, and offer space to eventually provide a second hockey-compliant AGP at the Club. 

 
Estimated future changes in team numbers in the area, and resulting change in demand for pitches 
The following combines projected natural population change with the likely impact of allocated growth in the core strategy up to 2026, and identifies what the likely change in team numbers will be, together with 
the likely impact in grass pitch numbers required. The method of calculation and assumptions are explained in the Appendix A. 
Table E: Future pitch requirements 

Age Groups A. Total new teams B. Total extra matches 
per week (A*0.5) 

C. Matches per pitch D. Pitches required 
(B/C) 

Mini-soccer (6-9 mixed gender) 5.0 2.5 4 0.6 

Junior football (10-15 male) 8.7 4.35 2 2.2 

Junior football (10-15 female) 0.9 0.45 2 0.2 

Senior football (16-45 male) 5.7 2.85 2 1.4 

Senior football (16-45 female) nil - 2 nil 

 
 

 
  Mini-rugby (7-12 mixed gender) 2.0 1.0 0 0.0 

Junior rugby (13-18 male) 1.1 0.55 0 0.0 

Junior rugby (13-18 female) nil - 0 0.0 

Senior rugby (19-45 male) 1.0 0.5 2 0.2 

Senior rugby (19-45 female) nil - 2 nil 

 
 

 
  Junior cricket (7-17 male) 3.4 1.7 0 0.0 

Junior cricket (7-17 female) nil - 0 0.0 

Senior cricket (18-55 male) 4.0 2.0 3 0.7 

Senior cricket (18-55 female) nil - 3 nil 

 
 

 
  Junior hockey (11-15 male) 0.8 0.4 0 0.0 

Junior hockey (11-15 female) 1.5 0.75 0 0.0 

Senior hockey (16-45 male) 0.3 0.15 4 0.0 

Senior hockey (16-45 female) 0.1 0.05 4 0.0 

P
age 185



 
53 Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy Community Area Profiles (Action Plan Part 2)  

 
These changes in themselves will not necessarily require additional pitch space that cannot already be found. However, they will increase demand on existing facilities, and require the improvement and expansion 
of existing key venues to cope with these increased demands. 
Because some sports cohorts don’t currently have teams representing them, future projections are not made. However, sports development initiatives can change things, although such change is not likely to be 
significantly, and has therefore been discounted. 
 
Site Specific Actions 
 
Table F: Site specific actions 

Where? What? When? (Short =0-3 years; Medium = 3-6 years; 
Long = 6+ years) 

Partners 

Site search Football: one full-size 3G pitch as part of a wider 
hub development (potentially with rugby). 

Long FA, Wiltshire Council, Developer contributions 

Salisbury RUFC Rugby: changing room expansion/upgrade. Short/Medium RFU, Wiltshire Council, Developer contributions 

Site search Cricket: site for an additional cricket field. Which 
might be provided as part of a hub development.  

Long ECB, Wiltshire Council, Developer contributions 

South & West Wilts Sports Club Hockey: safeguard land for the future provision on 
a second hockey-compliant AGP through the 
decanting of football activity to a new hub site. 

Long EH, Wiltshire Council, Developer contributions 

P
age 186



 
54 Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy Community Area Profiles (Action Plan Part 2)  

 

 

South West Wiltshire 
 
This Community Board area combines three of the Council’s Community areas (Wilton, Tisbury, Mere) which together extend over an expanisive and largely very 
rural area of renowned historic and landscape value. The town of Wilton serves as the main service centre for the Wilton community area although the City of 
Salisbury, just three miles to the east, provides a greater range of shops and facilities. The Tisbury Community Area is made up of 16 rural parishes in the south 
west of Wiltshire. Tisbury, a market town, is the most prominent in the region. The Mere Community Area covers mainly rural countryside in the south west of 
Wiltshire. It is dominated by one settlement, the ancient market town of Mere, and comprises seven parishes.  
Table A: Population15 

Area 2015 population 2026 population Population trend-based change 

(2015-2026) 

Allocated housing in core strategy 
to 2026 

Southern Wiltshire (43,248 hectares) 23,272 26,629 3,357 1,160 

Table B: Pitch sport team numbers 

2015 AGE GROUPS 2015 AGE GROUP POPULATION 2015 TEAMS 

Mini-soccer (6-9 mixed gender) 805 5 

Junior football (10-15 male) 665 7 

Junior football (10-15 female) 694 0 

Senior football (16-45 male) 3,035 18 

Senior football (16-45 female) 2,826 0 

   

Mini-rugby (7-12 mixed gender) 1,232 0 

Junior rugby (13-18 male) 654 0 

Junior rugby (13-18 female) 736 0 

Senior rugby (19-45 male) 2,743 2 

Senior rugby (19-45 female) 2,456 0 

   

Junior cricket (7-17 male) 1,060 14 

Junior cricket (7-17 female) 1,265 0 

Senior cricket (18-55 male) 4,021 15 

Senior cricket (18-55 female) 3,914 0 

   

Junior hockey (11-15 male) 460 10 

Junior hockey (11-15 female) 588 10 

Senior hockey (16-45 male) 3,035 10 

Senior hockey (16-45 female) 2,826 10 
 

 

                                                 
15

 From a forecast produced by Wiltshire Council on 12/05/2015 using POPGROUP software developed by Bradford Council, the University of Manchester and Andelin Associates 
 

P
age 187



 
55 Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy Community Area Profiles (Action Plan Part 2)  

 
Key grass pitch sport sites 
All sites within the Community Board area are identified in the Needs Assessment and underlying databases. The following have been identified as key sites with the Community Board area. The priority ranking is 
relative to its estimated importance to pitch sports strategically, and within Wiltshire generally. A lower order ranking (such as a ‘3’) does not mean that a site does not have importance in a local context. 
 
n.b. The Salisbury Youth FC teams play at the pitches off Netherhampton Road, which was not the case at the time of data capture and analysis. Therefore, the figures for this site are an estimate only of the current 
position. 
 
Table C: Supply and Use of key local grass pitch sport sites (figures based on 2015 data and estimates) 
  Pitches Teams (i.e. male and female, all age-

groups) 
Net site capacity 

Priority 
Order 
(1,2,3,4) 

Name Adult 
Football 

Youth 
Football 
(11v11) 

Youth 
Football 

(9v9) 

Minisoccer 
(7v7) 

Minisoccer 
(5v5) 

Cricket 
Fields 

Adult 
Rugby 

Mini 
Rugby 

Football 
team 
count 

Rugby 
team 
count 

Cricket 
team 
count 

Net site 
football 
capacity 

Net site 
adult 
grass 

wicket 
capacity 

Net site 
rugby 

capacity 

3 Fovant CC (East Farm)      1   0 0 4 0 -5  

3 Tisbury Lower Recreation 
Ground 

1        2 0 0 2 0  

3 Chilmark Cricket Ground      1   0 0 1 0 25  

3 Kilmington & Stourton Cricket 
Club 

     1   0 0 7 0 10  

3 Duchy Manor 1   2  1   5 0 6 2.25 10  

3 Dinton Recreation Ground      1 1  0 1 4 0 -5 1.5 

3 South Newton Recreation 
Ground 

1     1   6 0 2 0.13 10  

3 Chalke Valley Sports Centre 1   2 2 1   6 0 4 9 25  

3 Mere Peace Memorial Sports & 
Recreation Ground 

2        4 0 0 4 0  

3 cricket field at Compton 
Chamberlayne 

     1   0 0 1 0 25  

3 Donhead Sports Club 1        2 0 0 1 0  

3 Off Netherhampton Road 2 1     1  8 1 0 2.3 0 1.5 

 
AGP provision 
There is AGP provision at the following locations. 
 
Table D: AGP provision locally 

Name Sub area AGP type Facility Status Access Type Surface Hockey matchplay compliant 

ST MARYS SCHOOL (close to 
Shaftesbury but just inside 
Wiltshire border) 

South West Wiltshire Sand full-size Operational Sports Club / Community Association Sand Filled TRUE 

 
  

P
age 188



 
56 Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy Community Area Profiles (Action Plan Part 2)  

Sport-by-Sport overview (see Needs Assessment for details) 

 Football: The biggest clubs in this rural area in terms of team numbers are the following (grounds in brackets): Chalke Valley FC (Chalke Valley Sports Centre); Mere Town Youth (Sunday) F.C. (Duchy Manor); 
Mere Town FC (Mere Peace Memorial Sports & Recreation Ground); South Newton & Wishford Youth FC (South Newton Recreation Ground). 

 Cricket: The following are the biggest clubs in the area based on team numbers (home grounds in brackets): Kilmington & Stourton CC (at own home ground, as named); Mere CC (Dutchy Manor); Fovant CC 
(Fovant CC (East Farm)); Dinton CC (Dinton Recreation Ground); Chalke Valley CC (Chalke Valley Sports Centre). 

 Rugby: There are two single team clubs is the area, and these are: Dinton RFC (Durrington Recreation Ground); and, Wheatsheaf Cabin Crew RFC (off Netherhampton Road near Salisbury) 

 Hockey: There is no hockey club based in the area. 
 
Current and likely future issues: 

 General: There is no apparent peak time shortage of grass pitches of any kind within the area, and limited evidence of overuse of pitches at any venues, and certainly when compared with other areas where 
population is more heavily concentrated. Most football pitches in the area are rated as being of standard quality based on FA approved rating systems. There is a net peak-time surplus of cricket fields on 
Saturdays. 

 Football: Based on calculations (explained in the Appendix B) there is a requirement of 0.7 of a full-size 3G pitch to meet the training needs of teams in the area. There is no existing such provision in the 
area, and no existing AGPs that can be converted to this surface type. The area cannot in itself warrant the provision of a full-size 3G pitch, but perhaps could justify smaller provision at a centrally place 
venue. However, the area is geographically very large and travel time would need to be factored into the potential attraction of such a facility. A better strategy for this area might to be to focus on the 
provision of improved training lights and other ancillary provision at key locations for football, such as Chalke Valley Sports Centre and South Newton Recreation Ground. Planned population change will not 
result in a need to increase the amount of grass pitch space, and the focus should be on such qualitative improvements  

 Cricket:  The planned population change will not result in a need to increase the amount of grass pitch space, and the focus should be on qualitative improvements. These may be provision of non-turf pitches 
and/or practice nets. 

 Rugby: The planned population change will not result in a need to increase the amount of grass pitch space. The two one-team clubs that exist will need to demonstrate realistic growth aspirations before 
facility improvements can be justified for rugby at their home grounds. 

 Hockey: It would be inappropriate to seek to establish a new club in the area given the sparse population base. Instead the focus should be on improving the offer at the nearest local clubs at Salisbury or 
Warminster (or other clubs outside Wiltshire, such as in Gillingham.) 

 
Estimated future changes in team numbers in the area, and resulting change in demand for pitches 
The following combines projected natural population change with the likely impact of allocated growth in the core strategy up to 2026, and identifies what the likely change in team numbers will be, together with 
the likely impact in grass pitch numbers required. The method of calculation and assumptions are explained in the Appendix A. 
  

P
age 189



 
57 Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy Community Area Profiles (Action Plan Part 2)  

Table E: Future pitch requirements 

Age Groups A. Total new teams B. Total extra matches 
per week (A*0.5) 

C. Matches per pitch D. Pitches required 
(B/C) 

Mini-soccer (6-9 mixed gender) 1.2 0.6 4 0.1 

Junior football (10-15 male) 1.2 0.6 2 0.3 

Junior football (10-15 female) nil - 2 nil 

Senior football (16-45 male) 1.1 0.55 2 0.3 

Senior football (16-45 female) nil - 2 nil 

 
 

 
  Mini-rugby (7-12 mixed gender) nil - 0 0.0 

Junior rugby (13-18 male) nil - 0 0.0 

Junior rugby (13-18 female) nil - 0 0.0 

Senior rugby (19-45 male) 0.2 0.1 2 0.1 

Senior rugby (19-45 female) nil - 2 nil 

 
 

 
  Junior cricket (7-17 male) -0.1 -0.05 0 0.0 

Junior cricket (7-17 female) nil - 0 0.0 

Senior cricket (18-55 male) 1.0 0.5 3 0.2 

Senior cricket (18-55 female) nil - 3 nil 

Junior hockey (11-15 male) -0.5 -0.25 0 0.0 

Junior hockey (11-15 female) -0.1 -0.05 0 0.0 

Senior hockey (16-45 male) 0.0 - 4 0.0 

Senior hockey (16-45 female) -0.5 -0.25 4 -0.1 

     

 
These changes in themselves will not necessarily require additional pitch space that cannot already be found. However, they will increase demand on existing facilities, and require the improvement and expansion 
of existing key venues to cope with these increased demands. 
Because some sports cohorts don’t currently have teams representing them, future projections are not made. However, sports development initiatives can change things, although such change is not likely to be 
significantly, and has therefore been discounted. 
 
Site Specific Actions 
 
Table F: Site specific actions 

Where? What? When? (Short =0-3 years; Medium = 3-6 years; 
Long = 6+ years) 

Partners 

General Recommendation Football and Cricket: There is no need to provide 
additional pitch space as a result of population 
growth, as the existing pitch stock can support this 
growth. However, some qualitative improvements 
should be made to existing facilities, but these will 
be relatively-small scale and determined, once a 
clearer understanding of in which settlements 
growth will occurs. 

  

 
 

P
age 190



 
58 Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy Community Area Profiles (Action Plan Part 2)  

 

 

Southern Wiltshire 
 
The Southern Wiltshire Community Board Area sits in the south-east corner of Wiltshire where the chalk of the Salisbury Plain dips down to form the 
Hampshire Basin with its surface sands and gravels. The area’s heritage is significant. There is no principal settlement although the area is peppered with 
smaller settlements, including Laverstock, Ford, and Downton. It has proximity to Salisbury within Wiltshire, but also to Southampton in the south east. 
 
Table A: Population16 

Area 2015 population 2026 population Population trend-based change 

(2015-2026) 

Allocated housing in core strategy 
to 2026 

Southern Wiltshire (21,957 hectares) 21,986 22,267 281 615 

 
Table B: Pitch sport team numbers 

2015 AGE GROUPS 2015 AGE GROUP POPULATION 2015 TEAMS 

Mini-soccer (6-9 mixed gender) 1,145 19 

Junior football (10-15 male) 927 18 

Junior football (10-15 female) 802 6 

Senior football (16-45 male) 3,286 21 

Senior football (16-45 female) 3,547 2 

   

Mini-rugby (7-12 mixed gender) 1,672 0 

Junior rugby (13-18 male) 869 0 

Junior rugby (13-18 female) 815 0 

Senior rugby (19-45 male) 2,905 0 

Senior rugby (19-45 female) 3,138 0 

   

Junior cricket (7-17 male) 1,471 9 

Junior cricket (7-17 female) 1,513 2 

Senior cricket (18-55 male) 4,736 13 

Senior cricket (18-55 female) 5,122 0 

   

Junior hockey (11-15 male) 632 0 

Junior hockey (11-15 female) 671 0 

Senior hockey (16-45 male) 3,286 0 

Senior hockey (16-45 female) 3,547 0 
  

                                                 
16

 From a forecast produced by Wiltshire Council on 12/05/2015 using POPGROUP software developed by Bradford Council, the University of Manchester and Andelin Associates 
 

P
age 191



 
59 Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy Community Area Profiles (Action Plan Part 2)  

 
 
Key grass pitch sport sites 
All sites within the Community Board area are identified in the Needs Assessment and underlying databases. The following have been identified as key sites with the Community Board area. The priority ranking is 
relative to its estimated importance to pitch sports strategically, and within Wiltshire generally. A lower order ranking (such as a ‘3’) does not mean that a site does not have importance in a local context. 
 
Table C: Supply and Use of key local grass pitch sport sites (figures based on 2015 data and estimates) (Excluded from this list is the Ray McEnhill Stadium (which is the home of Salisbury FC) due to its semi-
professional status. However, it is recognised that this pitch is used on some occasions for community activity) 
 
  Pitches Teams (i.e. male and female, all age-

groups) 
Net site capacity 

Priority 
Order 
(1,2,3,4) 

Name Adult 
Football 

Youth 
Football 
(11v11) 

Youth 
Football 

(9v9) 

Minisoccer 
(7v7) 

Minisoccer 
(5v5) 

Cricket 
Fields 

Adult 
Rugby 

Mini 
Rugby 

Football 
team 
count 

Rugby 
team 
count 

Cricket 
team 
count 

Net site 
football 
capacity 

Net site 
adult 
grass 

wicket 
capacity 

Net site 
rugby 

capacity 

2 Barry's Field, Winterslow 1 1    1   15 0 5 -6.75 -5  

2 Junction Road 
Recreation Ground 

2        19 0 0 -16.38 0  

2 Redlynch Recreation 
Ground 

2     1   3 0 11 3.5 -20  

3 Brian White Head Sports 
and Social Club 

1        2 0 0 2 0  

3 Laverstock & Ford Sports 
Club 

2        9 0 0 1.13 0  

3 cricket field at Coombe 
Bissett 

     1   0 0 1 0 25  

3 Memorial Ground, 
Romsey Road 

1     1   1 0 3 1.5 -5  

3 Normansland Recreation 
Ground 

1   1     1 0 0 3.5 0  

3 Alderbury Football Club 1        3 0 0 0.38 0  

3 Coronation Field      1   0 0 4 0 10  

3 Salisbury City Football 
Club 

1   1     10 0 0 1 0  

 
AGP provision 
There is no AGP provision. 
 
Sport-by-Sport overview (see Needs Assessment for details) 

 Football: The biggest clubs in the area in terms of team numbers are the following (grounds in brackets):  Alderbury Youth F.C. (Junction Road Recreation Ground); Salisbury City FC (Salisbury City FC ground); 
Laverstock & Ford Youth FC (Laverstock & Ford Sports Club); Alderbury Youth F.C (Junction Road Recreation Ground). The Salisbury City FC ground has a geographical affinity with the City of Salisbury. 

 Cricket: The biggest clubs in the area in terms of team numbers are the following (grounds in brackets): Redlynch & Hale CC (Redlynch Recreation Ground); Winterslow CC (Barry's Field, Winterslow); Farley 
CC (Coronation Field) 

 Rugby: There are no rugby clubs in the area. 

 Hockey: There are no hockey clubs in the area. 
  

P
age 192



 
60 Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy Community Area Profiles (Action Plan Part 2)  

Current and likely future issues: 

 General: Overall, there is evidence of a peaktime shortage of grass youth football pitches on both Saturdays and Sundays, notably at two key local football venues- Barry’s Field and Junction Road. These grass 
pitch venues also appear to be heavily used. Redlynch Recreation Ground is also heavily used for adult cricket. Most football pitches in the area are rated as being of standard or good quality based on FA 
approved rating systems; the good pitches include those at Redlynch and Junction Road Recreation Grounds, and Barry’s Field, despite their heavy use. There is a net peak-time surplus of cricket fields on 
Saturdays. 

 Football: there is an issue in respect of access to AGP provision both for training and, increasingly for match play. Based on calculations (explained in the Appendix B) there is a requirement of 1.6 of a full-size 
3G pitch to meet the training needs of teams in the area. Demand will be bolstered by future population growth. There are no existing such facilities in the area. Given the nature of the area, it might be more 
appropriate to provide smaller 3G provision at key local venues, such as Junction Recreation Ground and Barry’s Field. There are issues surrounding the future of Salisbury FC and its home ground, although 
this is more geographically related to the Salisbury City area. The projected level of population change does not suggest a level of additional demand that cannot be accommodated by the existing grass pitch 
stock. However, there are issues in relation to the wear and tear on some pitches, and the geographical mismatch between some venues and the catchments of member users. There appears to be significant 
overplay at the Junction Road Recreation Ground. Alderbury FC runs both adult and youth/mini teams across two sites and would like to expand activity. However, lack of space at the existing Junction Road 
Recreation Ground and existing drainage/pitch maintenance issues are experienced, at this thriving local football venue. Elsewhere at Barry’s Field, there are also drainage/ flooding issues, as well as a 
mismatch of pitch markings with team requirements. The main resident club at this site suggests that most of their players come from the Salisbury and Amesbury areas, and improved provision in those 
areas may reduce the need to travel to get to ‘home’ facilities. Laverstock Sports & Social Club also suffers from drainage issues, and poor training lights. 

 Cricket:  The projected level of population change does not suggest a level of additional demand that cannot be accommodated by the existing grass pitch stock. The quality of the bigger venues is generally 
quite high, although some elements of ancillary provision may need updating. 

 Rugby: Given the rural nature of the area, it would be inappropriate to encourage the establishment of a new rugby club in this area, and potential players would be better served by improved access to the 
Salisbury RUFC. 

 Hockey: Given the rural nature of the area, it would be inappropriate to encourage the establishment of a new hockey club in this area, and potential players would be better served by improved access to 
the Salisbury Hockey Club. 

 
Estimated future changes in team numbers in the area, and resulting change in demand for pitches 
The following combines projected natural population change with the likely impact of allocated growth in the core strategy up to 2026, and identifies what the likely change in team numbers will be, together with 
the likely impact in grass pitch numbers required. The method of calculation and assumptions are explained in the Appendix A. 
 
Table E: Future pitch requirements 

Age Groups A. Total new teams B. Total extra matches 
per week (A*0.5) 

C. Matches per pitch D. Pitches required 
(B/C) 

Mini-soccer (6-9 mixed gender) 3.5 1.75 4 0.4 

Junior football (10-15 male) 4.5 2.25 2 1.1 

Junior football (10-15 female) 1.7 0.85 2 0.4 

Senior football (16-45 male) 3.5 1.75 2 0.9 

Senior football (16-45 female) 0.2 0.1 2 0.1 

 
 

 
  Mini-rugby (7-12 mixed gender) nil - 0 0.0 

Junior rugby (13-18 male) nil - 0 0.0 

Junior rugby (13-18 female) nil - 0 0.0 

Senior rugby (19-45 male) nil - 2 nil 

Senior rugby (19-45 female) nil - 2 nil 

 
 

 
  Junior cricket (7-17 male) 1.8 0.9 0 0.0 

Junior cricket (7-17 female) 0.5 0.25 0 0.0 

Senior cricket (18-55 male) 1.2 0.6 3 0.2 

Senior cricket (18-55 female) nil - 3 nil 

 
 

 
  Junior hockey (11-15 male) nil - 0 0.0 

P
age 193



 
61 Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy Community Area Profiles (Action Plan Part 2)  

Age Groups A. Total new teams B. Total extra matches 
per week (A*0.5) 

C. Matches per pitch D. Pitches required 
(B/C) 

Junior hockey (11-15 female) nil - 0 0.0 

Senior hockey (16-45 male) nil - 4 nil 

Senior hockey (16-45 female) nil - 4 nil 

 
These changes in themselves will not necessarily require additional pitch space that cannot already be found. However, they will increase demand on existing facilities, and require the improvement and expansion 
of existing key venues to cope with these increased demands. 
Because some sports cohorts don’t currently have teams representing them, future projections are not made. However, sports development initiatives can change things, although such change is not likely to be 
significantly, and has therefore been discounted. 
 
Site Specific Actions 
 
Table F: Site specific actions 

Where? What? When? (Short =0-3 years; Medium = 3-6 years; 
Long = 6+ years) 

Partners 

Ray McEnhill Stadium Football: Work with Football Club and Trustees to 
help secure a long term future for the Football Club 
at the Stadium 

Short/medium FA, Wiltshire Council, Club, Club trustees 

Junction Recreation Ground Football: Explore opportunities for extension of 
Recreation Ground 

Short FA, Wiltshire Council, Parish Council, landowner, 
club. 

 Football: Improve pitch drainage and surface Medium FA, Wiltshire Council, Parish Council, club, 
Developer contributions 

Barry’s Field Football: Improve pitch drainage Medium FA, Wiltshire Council, Parish Council, Developer 
contributions 

Laverstock Sport & Social Club Football: Improve pitch drainage Medium FA, Wiltshire Council, club, Developer contributions 

Potentially various cricket venues Cricket: Some qualitative improvements should be 
made to existing facilities, but these will be 
relatively-small scale and determined, once a 
clearer understanding of in which settlements 
growth will occurs. This includes Downton.  Whilst 
not presently having a cricket pitch, Downton has 
made it clear through their Neighbourhood Plan 
that they want a cricket pitch. 

Long ECB, Wiltshire Council, Developer contributions, 
Parish Council 
 

 
 

P
age 194



 
62 Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy Community Area Profiles (Action Plan Part 2)  

 

Tidworth 
The Tidworth Community Area covers rural countryside in the east of the County of Wiltshire bordering the County of Hampshire. There are two main 
settlements, Ludgershall, characterised by its castle, and the town of Tidworth. The town of Tidworth came into being with the acquisition by the Army in 1897 
of large tracts of Salisbury Plain as a training ground. Since then the area has been dominated by the Army and the Tidworth, Netheravon and Bulford Garrison is 
one of the largest garrisons in the UK. However, the community area’s history dates back far earlier than the current military dominance suggests. The numbers 
of military personnel and their families based in the Salisbury Plain area have been increasing since 2006 and will continue to do so under the Army 2020 
rebasing plan with a number of Germany-based units relocating to Wiltshire. The aspiration for the Salisbury Plain Garrison is that it will improve the quality of 
life for those living and working within it, with greater stability and more opportunity for integration with the civilian community. 
Table A: Population17 

Area 2015 population 2026 population Population trend-based change 

(2015-2026) 

Allocated housing in core strategy 
to 2026 

Tidworth (18,307 hectares) 20,971 30,525 9,554 1,920 

Table B: Pitch sport team numbers 

2015 AGE GROUPS 2015 AGE GROUP POPULATION 2015 TEAMS 

Mini-soccer (6-9 mixed gender) 1,207 6 

Junior football (10-15 male) 811 9 

Junior football (10-15 female) 610 1 

Senior football (16-45 male) 6,838 7 

Senior football (16-45 female) 3,991 1 

   

Mini-rugby (7-12 mixed gender) 1,579 0 

Junior rugby (13-18 male) 896 0 

Junior rugby (13-18 female) 580 0 

Senior rugby (19-45 male) 6,367 0 

Senior rugby (19-45 female) 3,708 0 

   

Junior cricket (7-17 male) 1,388 3 

Junior cricket (7-17 female) 1,232 0 

Senior cricket (18-55 male) 7,618 5 

Senior cricket (18-55 female) 4,874 0 

   

Junior hockey (11-15 male) 541 0 

Junior hockey (11-15 female) 498 0 

Senior hockey (16-45 male) 6,838 0 

Senior hockey (16-45 female) 3,991 

 

0 

 

 

 
                                                 
17

 From a forecast produced by Wiltshire Council on 12/05/2015 using POPGROUP software developed by Bradford Council, the University of Manchester and Andelin Associates 
 

P
age 195



 
63 Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy Community Area Profiles (Action Plan Part 2)  

 
Key grass pitch sport sites 
All sites within the Community Board area are identified in the Needs Assessment and underlying databases. The following have been identified as key sites with the Community Board area. The priority ranking is 
relative to its estimated importance to pitch sports strategically, and within Wiltshire generally. A lower order ranking (such as a ‘3’) does not mean that a site does not have importance in a local context. 
 
Table C: Supply and Use of key local grass pitch sport sites (figures based on 2015 data and estimates) 
  Pitches Teams (i.e. male and female, all age-

groups) 
Net site capacity 

Priority 
Order 
(1,2,3,4) 

Name Adult 
Football 

Youth 
Football 
(11v11) 

Youth 
Football 

(9v9) 

Minisoccer 
(7v7) 

Minisoccer 
(5v5) 

Cricket 
Fields 

Adult 
Rugby 

Mini 
Rugby 

Football 
team 
count 

Rugby 
team 
count 

Cricket 
team 
count 

Net site 
football 
capacity 

Net site 
adult 
grass 

wicket 
capacity 

Net site 
rugby 

capacity 

2 Arcot Road  1      1  12 0 0 -1.13 0  

3 King George V Playing Field 1     1   0 0 1 2 25  

3 Enford Recreation Ground  1       2 0 0 0 0  

3 Ludgershall Sports & Social 
Club Football Ground 

1        8 0 0 -3.75 0  

3 Collingbourne Ducis 
Recreation Ground 

1     1   1 0 7 2.13 -20  

3 The Wellington Academy 1 1     1  1 0 0 1.5 0  

 
AGP provision 
There is AGP provision at the following locations. 
 
Table D: AGP provision locally 

Name Sub area AGP type Facility Status Access Type Surface Hockey matchplay compliant 

THE WELLINGTON ACADEMY Tidworth 3G full-size Operational Pay and Play Rubber crumb pile (3G)  FALSE 

TIDWORTH OVAL Tidworth Sand full-size Operational Private Use Sand Filled TRUE 

 
The 3G pitch at the Wellington Academy is not currently on the FA register of match play compliant 3G pitches due to its specification. 
 
Sport-by-Sport overview (see Needs Assessment for details) 

 General: with this area there is a very large amount of pitch sport activity through MoD teams, and almost exclusively on MoD controlled facilities. MoD facilities with a few exceptions are generally 
unavailable for community use, except on a very short term basis due to MoD operational priorities. MoD activity is therefore not considered here18. 

 Football: The biggest clubs in the area in terms of team numbers are the following (grounds in brackets): Tidworth Town FC and Tidworth Youth FC (Arcot Road); Ludgershall Sports FC (Ludgershall Sports & 
Social Club Football Ground). There are a few other smaller clubs and grounds in the area. The Arcot and Ludgershall venues are heavily used. The Arcot Road site is currently on a rolling lease from the Town 
Council to Tidworth Town FC. 

 Cricket: The Collingbourne CC club (with 7 teams) is much the larger of the two clubs in the area, and plays at Collingbourne Ducis Recreation Ground. 

 Rugby: There are no rugby civilian rugby clubs based in the area. 

 Hockey: There are no civilian hockey clubs based in the area. 
  

                                                 
18

 Due to the Army Rebasing Programme, the Sports and Community Access Scheme (SCAS) agreement has been drawn up which will provide significant opportunities for the community to access Army / MOD Sports and Leisure Facilities inside and outside 
of the wire. As this agreement is linked to specific Planning Applications and associated triggers it is probable that the Scheme will not be open for use until 2017 

P
age 196



 
64 Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy Community Area Profiles (Action Plan Part 2)  

Current and likely future issues: 

 General: There is currently an apparent shortage of pitches in the area for youth football on Sundays, and principally at Ludgershall Sports and Social Club. There is theoretically heavy use of cricket wickets at 
Collingbourne Ducis Recreation Ground. Planned and natural population change will impact upon the requirement for sports pitches for all 4 key sports (see later). Most football pitches in the area are rated 
as being of standard quality or better based on FA approved rating systems. There is a net peak-time surplus of cricket fields on Saturdays, although see comments for cricket (below). 

 Football: Based on calculations (explained in the Appendix B) there is no immediate requirement for additional full-size 3G pitches to meet the training needs of teams in the area. There is already one full-
size AGP at the Wellington Academy that is available for community use, and currently only 24 teams playing in the area. However, further demand will be bolstered by future population growth. As the table 
below shows projected population change will lead to a demand for additional pitches which the existing pitch stock is likely to be hard-pressed to meet. Existing venues are all small in scale. One option 
might be an extension to existing grass pitch facilities at the Wellington Academy, but which would need to be operated as part of a formal community use arrangement. 

 Cricket:  As with football, projected population change will produce additional demand for cricket space that will be moving towards an extra cricket field. Again, it is difficult to see how this demand might be 
absorbed from within the existing stock of pitches. As with football, a logical project might be an extension to existing grass pitch facilities at the Wellington Academy, but which would need to be operated 
on a bone fide community use arrangement. 

 Rugby: It would be inappropriate to encourage the establishment of a new civilian club in the area. Potential civilian players would be better encouraged to play at either the Pewsey Vale Club several miles 
to the north; or, perhaps more realistically, to seek out opportunities with local clubs in the Andover area. 

 Hockey: It would be inappropriate to encourage the establishment of a new civilian club in the area. Potential civilian players would be better encouraged to seek out opportunities with local clubs in 
Salisbury or the Andover area. 

 
Estimated future changes in team numbers in the area, and resulting change in demand for pitches 
The following combines projected natural population change with the likely impact of allocated growth in the core strategy up to 2026, and identifies what the likely change in team numbers will be, together with 
the likely impact in grass pitch numbers required. The method of calculation and assumptions are explained in the Appendix A. 
 
Table E: Future pitch requirements 

Age Groups A. Total new teams B. Total extra matches 
per week (A*0.5) 

C. Matches per pitch D. Pitches required 
(B/C) 

Mini-soccer (6-9 mixed gender) 5.6 2.8 4 0.7 

Junior football (10-15 male) 9.9 4.55 2 2.5 

Junior football (10-15 female) 1.1 0.55 2 0.3 

Senior football (16-45 male) 6.0 0.3 2 1.5 

Senior football (16-45 female) 0.5 0.25 2 0.1 

 
 

 
  Mini-rugby (7-12 mixed gender) nil - 0 0.0 

Junior rugby (13-18 male) nil - 0 0.0 

Junior rugby (13-18 female) nil - 0 0.0 

Senior rugby (19-45 male) nil - 2 nil 

Senior rugby (19-45 female) nil - 2 nil 

 
 

 
  Junior cricket (7-17 male) 3.3 1.65 0 0.0 

Junior cricket (7-17 female) nil - 0 0.0 

Senior cricket (18-55 male) 4.0 2.0 3 0.7 

Senior cricket (18-55 female) nil - 3 nil 

 
 

 
  Junior hockey (11-15 male) nil - 0 0.0 

Junior hockey (11-15 female) nil - 0 0.0 

Senior hockey (16-45 male) nil - 4 nil 

Senior hockey (16-45 female) nil - 4 nil 

 

P
age 197



 
65 Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy Community Area Profiles (Action Plan Part 2)  

These changes in themselves will not necessarily require additional pitch space that cannot already be found. However, they will increase demand on existing facilities, and require the improvement and expansion 
of existing key venues to cope with these increased demands. 
Because some sports cohorts don’t currently have teams representing them, future projections are not made. However, sports development initiatives can change things, although such change is not likely to be 
significantly, and has therefore been discounted. 
 
Site Specific Actions 
 
Table F: Site specific actions 

Where? What? When? (Short =0-3 years; Medium = 3-6 years; 
Long = 6+ years) 

Partners 

Wellington Academy or alternative venue Football: Provide an additional 2 adult pitches and 
3 youth pitches (11 v 11 size). The latter would 
allow for flexible marking space. 

Long FA, Wiltshire Council, Developer contributions 

Wellington Academy Football: upgrade existing 3G pitch to allow it to be 
included on the FA 3G register. 

Short FA, Wiltshire Council, Developer contributions 

Wellington Academy or alternative venue Cricket: Provide an additional cricket field and grass 
table. 

Long FA, Wiltshire Council, Developer contributions 

 Community Use: The above should be subject to 
bone fide community use arrangements. 

Long ECB, Wiltshire Council, Developer contributions 

Arcot Road Football: Seek secure-longer term lease for the 
resident club 

Short FA, Club, Tidworth Town Council 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 198



 
66 Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy Community Area Profiles (Action Plan Part 2)  

 

Trowbridge 
 
The Trowbridge Community Area lies on the western border of Wiltshire. Trowbridge is the county town of Wiltshire, brought about originally by the town’s 
early rail connections with the rest of the county. Trowbridge is still a working town. It contains the main offices of Wiltshire Council and modern office and 
industrial businesses on the White Horse Industrial Estate. The community area contains five parishes, set in a farmed rural landscape. Trowbridge is the second 
most populous Community Area in Wiltshire, after Chippenham. It is an area of new house building and inward migration. The town has seen considerable 
economic change. Trowbridge provides shops, schools and services for a wide catchment area.  
 
Table A: Population19 

Area 2015 population 2026 population Population trend-based change 

(2015-2026) 

Allocated housing in core strategy 
to 2026 

Trowbridge (4,163 hectares) 43,638 48,442 4,804 6,975 

 
Table B: Pitch sport team numbers 

2015 AGE GROUPS 2015 AGE GROUP POPULATION 2015 TEAMS 

Mini-soccer (6-9 mixed gender) 2,246 17 

Junior football (10-15 male) 1,829 13 

Junior football (10-15 female) 1,473 1 

Senior football (16-45 male) 7,990 15 

Senior football (16-45 female) 8,313 2 

   

Mini-rugby (7-12 mixed gender) 3,153 6 

Junior rugby (13-18 male) 1,794 5 

Junior rugby (13-18 female) 1,564 0 

Senior rugby (19-45 male) 7,189 4 

Senior rugby (19-45 female) 7,513 0 

   

Junior cricket (7-17 male) 2,938 4 

Junior cricket (7-17 female) 2,795 5 

Senior cricket (18-55 male) 10,615 7 

Senior cricket (18-55 female) 10,865 0 

   

Junior hockey (11-15 male) 1,274 0 

Junior hockey (11-15 female) 1,232 0 

Senior hockey (16-45 male) 7,990 0 

Senior hockey (16-45 female) 8,313 0 
 

                                                 
19

 From a forecast produced by Wiltshire Council on 12/05/2015 using POPGROUP software developed by Bradford Council, the University of Manchester and Andelin Associates 
 

P
age 199



 
67 Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy Community Area Profiles (Action Plan Part 2)  

 
 
Key grass pitch sport sites 
All sites within the Community Board area are identified in the Needs Assessment and underlying databases. The following have been identified as key sites with the Community Board area. The priority ranking is 
relative to its estimated importance to pitch sports strategically, and within Wiltshire generally. A lower order ranking (such as a ‘3’) does not mean that a site does not have importance in a local context. 
 
Table C: Supply and Use of key local grass pitch sport sites (figures based on 2015 data and estimates) 
  Pitches Teams (i.e. male and female, all age-

groups) 
Net site capacity 

Priority 
Order 
(1,2,3,4) 

Name Adult 
Football 

Youth 
Football 
(11v11) 

Youth 
Football 

(9v9) 

Minisoccer 
(7v7) 

Minisoccer 
(5v5) 

Cricket 
Fields 

Adult 
Rugby 

Mini 
Rugby 

Football 
team 
count 

Rugby 
team 
count 

Cricket 
team 
count 

Net site 
football 
capacity 

Net site 
adult 
grass 

wicket 
capacity 

Net site 
rugby 

capacity 

1 Seymour Road      2   6 0 13 -1.88 0  

2 Doric Park (Trowbridge RFC)       4  0 14 0 0 0 3.75 

2 Bradley Road (AKA 
Woodmarsh) 

1  1 2 2    21 0 0 2.75 0  

3 North Bradley Peace 
Memorial Recreation Ground 

1     1   1 0 1 1.5 25  

3 Seymour Playing Fields 1        1 0 0 0.5 0  

3 Whaddon Lane Playing Field 1        2 0 0 0 0  

3 The Playing Field at Southwick 1     1   1 0 2 0.5 10  

3 The Clarendon College  2 1    1  2 0 0 2 0  

3 Lambrok Playing Field 2        6 0 0 -2.88 0  

3 John of Gaunt School 2      2  8 0 0 -2 0  

 
AGP provision 
There is AGP provision at the following locations. 
 
Table D: AGP provision locally 

Name Sub area AGP type Facility Status Access Type Surface Hockey matchplay compliant 

JOHN OF GAUNT SCHOOL Trowbridge Sand full-size Operational Sports Club / Community Association Sand Filled TRUE 

 
Sport-by-Sport overview (see Needs Assessment for details) 

 Football: The biggest clubs in the area in terms of team numbers are the following (grounds in brackets): Trowbridge Town F.C  and Trowbridge Youth FC (Bradley Road/Woodmarsh and John of Gaunt 
School); Trowbridge Rangers FC and Trowbridge Rangers Youth FC  (off Seymour Road); Trowbridge Wanderers  F.C. (Lambrok Playing Fields). There are other smaller clubs and venues. Club team activity can 
be dissipated across several venues. 

 Cricket: There are three clubs in the area of which Trowbridge CC is much the largest (playing at Seymour Road with 13 teams across the age groups). Beehive and Southwick are an aspiring 2-team club 
playing at Southwick Playing Field. 

 Rugby: All club rugby activity is focussed on Trowbridge RUFC at its new venue at Doric Park to the north east of the town (14 teams across the age groups). 

 Hockey: There are no hockey clubs in this area, or indeed in nearby Melksham or Bradford on Avon. 
 
Current and likely future issues: 

 General: Currently, there is no apparent shortage of grass pitches for any sport at peak times, although for football club teams can be spread over more than one site to meet demand for pitches. There is 
heavy use of grass football pitches at Seymour Road, Lambrok Playing Field, and John of Gaunt School. As reviewed below, the pressure on local cricket facilities will potentially increase with the loss of 
Trowbridge CCs second ground.  Planned and natural population change will impact upon the requirement for sports pitches for all 4 key sports (see later). Most football pitches in the area are rated as being 

P
age 200



 
68 Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy Community Area Profiles (Action Plan Part 2)  

of only standard or poor quality based on FA approved rating systems, and Trowbridge has probably the worst overall quality of any profile area; the most notable pitches of a poor standard are at Bradley 
Road (Woodmarsh) and Lambrok Playing Field. There is a net peak-time surplus of cricket fields on Saturdays, although see comments for cricket (below). 

 Football: there is an issue in respect of access to AGP provision both for training and, increasingly for match play. Based on calculations (explained in the Appendix B) there is a requirement of 1.1 of a full-size 
3G pitch to meet the training needs of teams in the area. Demand will be bolstered by future population growth. There is no such existing venue in the area. There might be potential to replace the existing 
surface of the sand-based AGP and John of Gaunt School, but see comments under Hockey. Grass pitch stock with the area is already heavily used, and planned population will increase demand which the 
existing grass pitch stock won’t be able to meet. In addition, some clubs have to spread their teams over several sites, which is dysfunctional (especially in the case of the Trowbridge Town FC teams). The 
main Bradley Road venue suffers drainage issues; has very poor ancillary accommodation, and there are no floodlights. The Club (and local football generally) would benefit from a relocation. Drainage 
appears to be a problem at several sites, and there is very heavy use at some (such as Lambrok Playing Field). 

 Cricket:  The Trowbridge CC has now lost use of its second ground on Seymour Road, due to hospital redevelopment. Although, the relocation of Trowbridge CC facilities is the subject of a planning 
agreement (and therefore funding available) the figures in the table below suggest that projected population change will lead to extra demand verging on 1 new cricket field, and it would be impossible to 
meet this from the existing grass pitch stock. Elsewhere, the Beehive and Southwick Club would benefit from improvements to facilities to allow them at some point to enter higher league play. 

 Rugby: With the successful move to Doric Park, local rugby is well catered for and flourishing. However, the growth in teams has led to looming capacity issues in respect of club changing accommodation to 
meet the different age and gender requirements. There is also an increasing need to floodlight a second pitch for training use. 

 Hockey: There is no hockey club currently based in either Melksham, Trowbridge, or Bradford on Avon areas, and this is unfortunate given the combined population of these three areas. The existing sand 
based AGP at John of Gaunt could provide the base for a start-up club- especially if the recommended 3G pitch for football was developed elsewhere in the town, as that would free up pitch time currently 
used by football. 

 
Estimated future changes in team numbers in the area, and resulting change in demand for pitches 
The following combines projected natural population change with the likely impact of allocated growth in the core strategy up to 2026, and identifies what the likely change in team numbers will be, together with 
the likely impact in grass pitch numbers required. The method of calculation and assumptions are explained in the Appendix A. 
 
Table E: Future pitch requirements 

Age Groups A. Total new teams B. Total extra matches 
per week (A*0.5) 

C. Matches per pitch D. Pitches required 
(B/C) 

Mini-soccer (6-9 mixed gender) 9.4 4.7 4 1.2 

Junior football (10-15 male) 12.5 6.25 2 3.1 

Junior football (10-15 female) 1.0 0.5 2 0.2 

Senior football (16-45 male) 8.7 4.35 2 2.2 

Senior football (16-45 female) 0.5 0.25 2 0.1 

 
 

 
  Mini-rugby (7-12 mixed gender) 3.5 1.75 0 0.0 

Junior rugby (13-18 male) 2.5 1.25 0 0.0 

Junior rugby (13-18 female) nil - 0 0.0 

Senior rugby (19-45 male) 1.5 0.75 2 0.4 

Senior rugby (19-45 female) nil - 2 nil 

 
 

 
  Junior cricket (7-17 male) 4.8 2.4 0 0.0 

Junior cricket (7-17 female) 1.6 0.8 0 0.0 

Senior cricket (18-55 male) 5.5 2.75 3 0.9 

Senior cricket (18-55 female) nil - 3 nil 

 
 

 
  Junior hockey (11-15 male) nil - 0 0.0 

Junior hockey (11-15 female) nil - 0 0.0 

Senior hockey (16-45 male) nil - 4 nil 

Senior hockey (16-45 female) nil - 4 nil 

 

P
age 201



 
69 Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy Community Area Profiles (Action Plan Part 2)  

These changes in themselves will not necessarily require additional pitch space that cannot already be found. However, they will increase demand on existing facilities, and require the improvement and expansion 
of existing key venues to cope with these increased demands. 
Because some sports cohorts don’t currently have teams representing them, future projections are not made. However, sports development initiatives can change things, although such change is not likely to be 
significantly, and has therefore been discounted. 
 
Site Specific Actions 
 
Table F: Site specific actions 

Where? What? When? (Short =0-3 years; Medium = 3-6 years; 
Long = 6+ years) 

Partners 

Site search (potentially adjacent to Trowbridge 
RUFC. 

Football: A new football and pitch sports hub for 
Trowbridge that could provide at least 1 full-size 3G 
pitch, grass pitches, ancillary provision. Space 
should be found for at least 2 extra adult pitches 
and 3 x 11v11 youth pitches (the latter would offer 
flexibility in marking out). 

Medium / Long FA ,Trowbridge Town Council, Wiltshire Council, 
Developer contributions 

Trowbridge Town FC ground at Bradley Road (AKA 
Woodmarsh) 

Football: Help the Trowbridge Town FC to secure 
this site, so allowing it to acquire security of tenure 
and apply for external funding.  

Short/medium FA, Trowbridge Town Council, Wiltshire Council, 
Developer contributions 

Lambrok Recreation Ground Football: Improve drainage Medium FA, Wiltshire Council, Developer contributions, 
Trowbridge Town Council 

Relocation Cricket: Relocation of Trowbridge CC facilities as 
part of a planning agreement. However, relocation 
proposals may also need to factor in the extra 
demand from projected population growth which 
could amount to the near equivalent of 1 cricket 
field. 

Long ECB, Wiltshire Council, Developer contributions, 
Trowbridge Town Council 

Southwick Recreation Ground Cricket: Sightscreens; Mobile covers; 
Accommodation for scorers 

Medium ECB, Wiltshire Council, Developer contributions 

Doric Park Rugby: Expand changing accommodation; and, 
provide floodlighting on a second pitch 

Medium RFU, Wiltshire Council, Developer contributions 

John of Gaunt School Hockey: The viability of establishing a new hockey 
club at this venue should be considered. 

Medium EH, Wiltshire Council, Developer contributions,  
Trowbridge Town Council 

 
 
 
 

P
age 202



 
70 Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy Community Area Profiles (Action Plan Part 2)  

 

 

Warminster 
 
Warminster is an important service centre for its large rural catchment of villages. Warminster is home to a major military garrison, which uses Salisbury Plain 
as a training area. The effects of this can be felt not only by the immediate impact of a visiting regiment, but also by the tendency of many military personnel to 
make the town their home on retirement. Warminster is by far the largest settlement in what is a largely very rural area. Other, smaller settlements in the area 
include Sutton Veny, Chitterne and Corsley  
 
Table A: Population20 

Area 2015 population 2026 population Population trend-based change 

(2015-2026) 

Allocated housing in core strategy 
to 2026 

Warminster (28,047 hectares) 24,758 24,715 -43 2,060 

 
Table B: Pitch sport team numbers 

2015 AGE GROUPS 2015 AGE GROUP POPULATION 2015 TEAMS 

Mini-soccer (6-9 mixed gender) 2,246 17 

Junior football (10-15 male) 1,829 13 

Junior football (10-15 female) 1,473 1 

Senior football (16-45 male) 7,990 15 

Senior football (16-45 female) 8,313 2 

   

Mini-rugby (7-12 mixed gender) 3,153 6 

Junior rugby (13-18 male) 1,794 5 

Junior rugby (13-18 female) 1,564 0 

Senior rugby (19-45 male) 7,189 4 

Senior rugby (19-45 female) 7,513 0 

   

Junior cricket (7-17 male) 2,938 4 

Junior cricket (7-17 female) 2,795 5 

Senior cricket (18-55 male) 10,615 7 

Senior cricket (18-55 female) 10,865 0 

   

Junior hockey (11-15 male) 1,274 0 

Junior hockey (11-15 female) 1,232 0 

Senior hockey (16-45 male) 7,990 0 

Senior hockey (16-45 female) 8,313 0 
 

                                                 
20

 From a forecast produced by Wiltshire Council on 12/05/2015 using POPGROUP software developed by Bradford Council, the University of Manchester and Andelin Associates 
 

P
age 203



 
71 Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy Community Area Profiles (Action Plan Part 2)  

 
 
Key grass pitch sport sites 
All sites within the Community Board area are identified in the Needs Assessment and underlying databases. The following have been identified as key sites with the Community Board area. The priority ranking is 
relative to its estimated importance to pitch sports strategically, and within Wiltshire generally. A lower order ranking (such as a ‘3’) does not mean that a site does not have importance in a local context. 
 
Table C: Supply and Use of key local grass pitch sport sites (figures based on 2015 data and estimates) 
  Pitches Teams (i.e. male and female, all age-

groups) 
Net site capacity 

Priority 
Order 
(1,2,3,4) 

Name Adult 
Football 

Youth 
Football 
(11v11) 

Youth 
Football 

(9v9) 

Minisoccer 
(7v7) 

Minisoccer 
(5v5) 

Cricket 
Fields 

Adult 
Rugby 

Mini 
Rugby 

Football 
team 
count 

Rugby 
team 
count 

Cricket 
team 
count 

Net site 
football 
capacity 

Net site 
adult 
grass 

wicket 
capacity 

Net site 
rugby 

capacity 

2 Highbury Field Football 
Ground 

1        14 0 0 -3.5 0  

2 Warminster Cricket Club      1   0 0 9 0 -35  

2 Folly Lane pitches 
(Warminster RFC) 

      2  0 10 0 0 0 -1.13 

3 Battlebury Barracks (east) 1      2  5 0 0 -0.13 0  

3 Hornshingham Playing Fields   1      2 0 0 1 0  

3 Deverills Cricket Field       1  0 0 1 0 0  

3 Codford Village Hall and 
Playing Field 

1        2 0 0 1 0  

3 off Park  Street, Heytesbury 1     1   2 0 6 1 10  

3 Warminster Town Football 
Club 

1        5 0 0 0.5 0  

3 Warminster Kingdown/St 
John's CE Primary School 

 1     2  2 0 0 0 0  

3 Sutton Veny Recreation 
Ground 

   1     0 0 1 0 20  

 
 
AGP provision 
There is AGP provision at the following locations. 
 
Table D: AGP provision locally 

Name Sub area AGP type Facility Status Access Type Surface Hockey matchplay compliant 

WARMINSTER KINGDOWN SCHOOL (see 
below for hockey team numbers) 

Warminster Sand full-size Operational Sports Club / Community Association Sand Filled TRUE 

WARMINSTER SCHOOL Warminster Sand full-size Operational Pay and Play Sand Dressed TRUE 

LAND WARFARE CENTRE Warminster Sand full-size Operational Private Use Sand Filled TRUE 

WARMINSTER PREPARATORY SCHOOL Warminster Sand half-size Operational Private Use Sand Filled FALSE 

 
  

P
age 204



 
72 Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy Community Area Profiles (Action Plan Part 2)  

Sport-by-Sport overview (see Needs Assessment for details) 

 Football: The biggest clubs in the area in terms of team numbers are the following (grounds in brackets): Warminster Highbury Youth FC (Highbury Field Football Ground & Hornshingham Playing Fields); 
Warminster Town FC and Youth FC (Warminster Town FC ground); Warminster Sky Blue FC (Battlebury Barracks East). 

 Cricket: The biggest clubs in the area in terms of team numbers are the following (grounds in brackets): Warminster CC (Warminster Cricket Club) with 9 teams; and, Heytesbury & Sutton Veny CC (off Park 
Street, Heytesbury) with 6 teams. There are smaller 1-team clubs at two other venues. 

 Rugby: Warminster RUFC fields 10 teams at its Folly Lane ground. 

 Hockey: West Wilts HC fields 17 teams across the age groups (9 adult and 8 junior teams) and plays most of its matches at Warminster Kingdown School, and uses the Land Warfare venue as a second 
ground. The hockey club uses the cricket club clubhouse. Opportunity for a clubhouse should be considered. 

 
Current and likely future issues: 

 General: Within the area, there heavy usage for all sports. However, a key local youth football club (Warminster Highbury) has to use remote venues to meet all its needs. There is heavy use of Warminster 
CCs grass wickets for adult cricket, and theoretically heavy use of rugby pitches at Warminster RUFC. Most football pitches in the area are rated as being of standard quality based on FA approved rating 
systems. There is a net peak-time surplus of cricket fields on Saturdays, although see comments for cricket (below). 

 Football: there is an issue in respect of access to AGP provision both for training and, increasingly for match play. Based on calculations (explained in the Appendix B) there is a requirement of 0.8 of a full-size 
3G pitch to meet the training needs of teams in the area. Demand will be bolstered by future population growth. There is no existing such provision and there is no potential to convert existing AGP venues, 
as the Warminster Kingdown facility is used heavily for club hockey, and other facilities are largely not in community use. The Warminster Highbury Youth FC is short on space at its main venue, and has to 
use a second venue at a remote location to mark out some pitches. This club needs a bigger ground. Projected population change is unlikely to bring a demand that cannot be met through the existing pitch 
stock, but it would be highly desirable to relocate the above youth club to a bigger venue, and also to move towards finding a venue for a 3G pitch, as the increase in the projected number of teams by 2026 is 
likely to justify this provision, and probably well-before this end-date. 

 Cricket:  Projected population change will not increase the demand for pitch space beyond what can be provided through the current pitch stock, and the focus should be on qualitative improvements. 
Provision of a non-turf strip at the Town club would be an asset. With the merger of Heytesbury and Sutton Veny CC into a single club, there is spare capacity over the two venues used. Warminster CC has 
negotiated access to MoD facilities for its third Saturday adult team, but may in the longer-term benefit from a second dedicated venue under its control; this prospect should be kept under review.  

 Rugby: Projected population change will not increase the demand for pitch space beyond what can be provided through the current pitch stock, and the focus should be on qualitative improvements, such as 
to the existing pitches and improved lighting. 

 Hockey: Projected population change will not increase the demand for pitch space beyond what can be provided through the AGP stock, and the focus should be on qualitative improvements. However, the 
local issue for the West Wilts Club is continued use and access to their key pitches at Warminster Kingdown School and at the Land Warfare Centre as the second venue. If a full-size 3G pitch were to be 
provided for football training in the area, this would help to release space at the main venue for hockey development. The existing surface needs to be protected and upgraded, and ideally a clubhouse on-
site. 

 
Estimated future changes in team numbers in the area, and resulting change in demand for pitches 
The following combines projected natural population change with the likely impact of allocated growth in the core strategy up to 2026, and identifies what the likely change in team numbers will be, together with 
the likely impact in grass pitch numbers required. The method of calculation and assumptions are explained in the Appendix A. 
  

P
age 205



 
73 Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy Community Area Profiles (Action Plan Part 2)  

Table E: Future pitch requirements 

Age Groups A. Total new teams B. Total extra matches 
per week (A*0.5) 

C. Matches per pitch D. Pitches required 
(B/C) 

Mini-soccer (6-9 mixed gender) 2.2 1.1 4 0.3 

Junior football (10-15 male) 5.2 2.6 2 1.3 

Junior football (10-15 female) 0.2 0.1 2 0.1 

Senior football (16-45 male) 1.2 0.6 2 0.3 

Senior football (16-45 female) 0.0 - 2 0.0 

 
 

 
  Mini-rugby (7-12 mixed gender) 1.0 0.5 0 0.0 

Junior rugby (13-18 male) 0.7 0.35 0 0.0 

Junior rugby (13-18 female) nil - 0 0.0 

Senior rugby (19-45 male) 0.2 0.1 2 0.0 

Senior rugby (19-45 female) nil  2 nil 

 
 

 
  Junior cricket (7-17 male) 2.4 1.2 0 0.0 

Junior cricket (7-17 female) nil - 0 0.0 

Senior cricket (18-55 male) 0.0 - 3 0.0 

Senior cricket (18-55 female) nil - 3 nil 

 
 

 
  Junior hockey (11-15 male) 0.8 0.4 0 0.0 

Junior hockey (11-15 female) 0.1 0.05 0 0.0 

Senior hockey (16-45 male) -0.5 -0.25 4 -0.1 

Senior hockey (16-45 female) -0.2 -0.1 4 0.0 

 
These changes in themselves will not necessarily require additional pitch space that cannot already be found. However, they will increase demand on existing facilities, and require the improvement and expansion 
of existing key venues to cope with these increased demands. 
Because some sports cohorts don’t currently have teams representing them, future projections are not made. However, sports development initiatives can change things, although such change is not likely to be 
significantly, and has therefore been discounted. 
 
Site Specific Actions 
 
Table F: Site specific actions 

Where? What? When? (Short =0-3 years; Medium = 3-6 years; 
Long = 6+ years) 

Partners 

Site search Football: Provision of full-size 3G pitch as part of a 
larger football hub site for the area, with 
Warminster Highbury Youth Club being invited to 
be an anchor tenant club. 

Long FA, Wiltshire Council, Developer contributions 

Warminster CC Cricket: Provision of non-turf strip Medium ECB, Wiltshire Council, Developer contributions 

Warminster Kingdown School Hockey: On-going protection and maintenance of 
surface for hockey, and ideally undertaken with the 
above 3G project for football, which would release 
space at the school for more hockey play and 
development. Explore scope for clubhouse 

On-going EH, Wiltshire Council, Developer contributions 

Folly Lane (Warminster RUFC) Rugby: Pitch and lighting improvements Short Developer contributions, Club, Wiltshire Council 

P
age 206



 
74 Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy Community Area Profiles (Action Plan Part 2)  

 

Westbury 
 
Westbury is a market town and service centre for its rural hinterland. Its heritage includes a proud history of cloth-making, lasting some 600 years, weaving 
and glove-making, which along with leather-working became important industries in the 19th century. Westbury has very good rail links to other parts of the 
country. It is on the Bristol line and express trains from London to the West Country stop at the Westbury Station. Westbury is a significant commercial and 
industrial centre due to the major West Wiltshire Trading Estate and adjacent Northacre Industrial Estate, which help provide employment to an expanding 
population 
 
Table A: Population21 

Area 2015 population 2026 population Population trend-based change 

(2015-2026) 

Allocated housing in core strategy 
to 2026 

Westbury (7,328 hectares) 20,505 23,016 2,511 1,650 

 
Table B: Pitch sport team numbers 

2015 AGE GROUPS 2015 AGE GROUP POPULATION 2015 TEAMS 

Mini-soccer (6-9 mixed gender) 1,110 5 

Junior football (10-15 male) 967 14 

Junior football (10-15 female) 781 1 

Senior football (16-45 male) 4,053 11 

Senior football (16-45 female) 3,962 1 

   

Mini-rugby (7-12 mixed gender) 1,627 5 

Junior rugby (13-18 male) 1,007 3 

Junior rugby (13-18 female) 825 0 

Senior rugby (19-45 male) 3,609 2 

Senior rugby (19-45 female) 3,514 0 

   

Junior cricket (7-17 male) 1,513 8 

Junior cricket (7-17 female) 1,496 0 

Senior cricket (18-55 male) 5,499 9 

Senior cricket (18-55 female) 5,545 0 

   

Junior hockey (11-15 male) 708 4 

Junior hockey (11-15 female) 659 4 

Senior hockey (16-45 male) 4,053 6 

Senior hockey (16-45 female) 3,962 3 
 

                                                 
21

 From a forecast produced by Wiltshire Council on 12/05/2015 using POPGROUP software developed by Bradford Council, the University of Manchester and Andelin Associates 
 

P
age 207



 
75 Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy Community Area Profiles (Action Plan Part 2)  

 
 
 
Key grass pitch sport sites 
All sites within the Community Board area are identified in the Needs Assessment and underlying databases. The following have been identified as key sites with the Community Board area. The priority ranking is 
relative to its estimated importance to pitch sports strategically, and within Wiltshire generally. A lower order ranking (such as a ‘3’) does not mean that a site does not have importance in a local context. 
 
Table C: Supply and Use of key local grass pitch sport sites (figures based on 2015 data and estimates) 
  Pitches Teams (i.e. male and female, all age-

groups) 
Net site capacity 

Priority 
Order 
(1,2,3,4) 

Name Adult 
Football 

Youth 
Football 
(11v11) 

Youth 
Football 

(9v9) 

Minisoccer 
(7v7) 

Minisoccer 
(5v5) 

Cricket 
Fields 

Adult 
Rugby 

Mini 
Rugby 

Football 
team 
count 

Rugby 
team 
count 

Cricket 
team 
count 

Net site 
football 
capacity 

Net site 
adult 
grass 

wicket 
capacity 

Net site 
rugby 

capacity 

2 
 

Redland Lane Field 1 1       19 0 0 -15.88 0  

2 Leighton Recreation 
Centre 

2     1   9 0 7 -0.5 10  

3 Westbury United 
Football Club 

1        4 0 0 -0.38 0  

3 Westbury C of E Junior 
School 

  1      3 0 0 -0.5 0  

3 Dilton Marsh Playing 
Field 

1   1     4 0 0 2.13 0  

3 Bratton Recreation 
Ground 

1     1   2 0 2 2 10  

3 Westbury RFC (Westbury 
Country Park) 

      2  0 7 0 0 0 0.5 

 
AGP provision 
There is no AGP provision. 

 Football: The biggest clubs in the area in terms of team numbers are the following (grounds in brackets): Westbury Youth FC (Redland Lane Field and Westbury C of E Junior School); and, Dilton Rovers (Adult 
and Youth) F.C. (Dilton Marsh Playing Field).  Leighton Recreation Centre is also a venue for several smaller clubs. 

 Cricket: Westbury & District CC (7 teams) play at Leighton Recreation Centre. There are also two single-team clubs at playing at Bratton Recreation Ground. 

 Rugby: Westbury RUFC fields 7 teams and plays at Westbury RFC (Westbury Country Park). 

 Hockey: There is no hockey club based in the area, with the nearest being at Warminster. 
 
Current and likely future issues: 

 General: There is no strong evidence of a current peak time shortage of grass pitches, although there may be issues at Redlynch Playing Field and Leighton Leisure Centre in respect of marked-out youth 
provision at the weekend. The Redlynch Playing Field is very heavily used for football. Most football pitches in the area are rated as being of standard quality based on FA approved rating systems. There is a 
net peak-time surplus of cricket fields on Saturdays, although see comments for cricket (below). 

 Football: there is an issue in respect of access to AGP provision both for training and, increasingly for match play. Based on calculations (explained in the Appendix B) there is a requirement of about 1 full-
size 3G pitch to meet the training needs of teams in the area. Demand will be bolstered by future population growth. There are no such facilities currently in the area. The thriving Westbury Youth FC plays at 
two venues (Redland Lane Recreation Ground and Westbury C of E School). The two sites are heavily used and the club requires more space. Elsewhere locally important sites suffer waterlogging and bad 
drainage. Projected population change is unlikely to bring a demand that cannot be met through the existing pitch stock, but it would be highly desirable to relocate at least the above youth club to a bigger 
venue, and also to move towards finding a venue for a 3G pitch, as the increase in the projected number of teams by 2026 is likely to further justify this provision, and probably well-before this end-date. 

P
age 208



 
76 Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy Community Area Profiles (Action Plan Part 2)  

Westbury United FC might also consider a relocation from their current club-owned ground, which is hemmed in by development, and leaves no scope for expansion. In addition, relocating football activity 
from Leighton Recreation Centre could also free up space for this venue to develop as a dedicated cricket venue. 

 Cricket:  The Westbury and District CC main ground is also shared as a venue for football. If a hub site in Westbury for football were to be developed, this would allow the Leighton venue to be developed for 
dedicated cricket activity. 

 Rugby: Projected population change is unlikely to bring a demand that cannot be met through the existing pitch stock, and the focus should be on qualitative improvements. The local club needs permanent 
changing facilities and clubhouse facilities. Drainage in wet weather also continues to be a problem. 

 Hockey: It would be inappropriate to encourage the establishment of a new club, especially given the lack of facilities. Potential players should instead be encouraged to seek out opportunities in nearby 
Warminster. 

 
Estimated future changes in team numbers in the area, and resulting change in demand for pitches 
The following combines projected natural population change with the likely impact of allocated growth in the core strategy up to 2026, and identifies what the likely change in team numbers will be, together with 
the likely impact in grass pitch numbers required. The method of calculation and assumptions are explained in the Appendix A. 
 
Table E: Future pitch requirements 

Age Groups A. Total new teams B. Total extra matches 
per week (A*0.5) 

C. Matches per pitch D. Pitches required 
(B/C) 

Mini-soccer (6-9 mixed gender) 0.7 0.35 4 0.1 

Junior football (10-15 male) 1.8 0.9 2 0.5 

Junior football (10-15 female) 0.2 0.1 2 0.0 

Senior football (16-45 male) 1.9 0.95 2 0.5 

Senior football (16-45 female) nil - 2 nil 

 
 

 
  Mini-rugby (7-12 mixed gender) 0.3 0.15 0 0.0 

Junior rugby (13-18 male) nil - 0 0.0 

Junior rugby (13-18 female) nil - 0 0.0 

Senior rugby (19-45 male) 0.3 0.15 2 0.1 

Senior rugby (19-45 female) 0.1 0.05 2 0.0 

 
 

 
  Junior cricket (7-17 male) 0.6 0.3 0 0.0 

Junior cricket (7-17 female) nil - 0 0.0 

Senior cricket (18-55 male) 0.4 0.2 3 0.1 

Senior cricket (18-55 female) nil - 3 nil 

 
 

 
  Junior hockey (11-15 male) nil - 0 0.0 

Junior hockey (11-15 female) nil - 0 0.0 

Senior hockey (16-45 male) nil - 4 nil 

Senior hockey (16-45 female) nil - 4 nil 

 
These changes in themselves will not necessarily require additional pitch space that cannot already be found. However, they will increase demand on existing facilities, and require the improvement and expansion 
of existing key venues to cope with these increased demands. 
Because some sports cohorts don’t currently have teams representing them, future projections are not made. However, sports development initiatives can change things, although such change is not likely to be 
significantly, and has therefore been discounted. 
  

P
age 209



 
77 Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy Community Area Profiles (Action Plan Part 2)  

Site Specific Actions 
 
Table F: Site specific actions 

Where? What? When? (Short =0-3 years; Medium = 3-6 years; 
Long = 6+ years) 

Partners 

Site search Football:  hub site to accommodate potentially 
Westbury Youth FC and others (such as Westbury 
Town FC and perhaps teams who currently use 
Leighton Recreation Centre. A full-size 3G pitch 
should be part of this project. 

Long FA, Wiltshire Council, Developer contributions, 
potential anchor clubs 

Leighton Recreation Centre Cricket: Commitment to this ground being a 
dedicated cricket venue, and to be managed and 
developed accordingly, including a bespoke cricket 
pavilion. 

Long ECB, Wiltshire Council, Developer contributions, 
potential anchor clubs 

Westbury Country Park (Westbury RUFC) Rugby: Permanent changing facilities and improved 
drainage. 

Long RFU, Wiltshire Council, Developer contributions, 

 
 

P
age 210



   Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy and Action Plan  

Appendix A: Explanation of forecasts 
 
Each of the area profiles contains a forecast of the likely teams (and therefore the net requirement for additional pitches) arising from the changing population within each area. 
 
The first step in this process is to work out current participation rates within the population. These Team Generation Rates (TGRs) are estimated by working out the number of people within an appropriate 
population cohort it takes to create a team within that cohort, and for each sport- the age groups used are detailed in Table E within each profile. Details in respect of current TGRs for each area and for Wiltshire as 
a whole are provided in the Needs Assessment, and associated appendices. 
 
The next step is to apply these TGRs to future population change, and there have been various elements to this, but which have made use of the following: 
 
• A trend-based forecast produced by Wiltshire Council on 12/05/2015 using POPGROUP software developed by Bradford Council, the University of Manchester and Andelin Associates- these data were used in 

combination with current TGRs to project a trend-based change in participation within Wiltshire as a whole and the 18 profile areas. 
• Allocations provided in the Wiltshire Council Core Strategy for individual community areas within the local authority (these being combined into area board geographies where appropriate).  These allocations 

were multiplied by the average occupancy rate for Wiltshire Council, which approximates to 2 persons per household. The total population figures from these estimates were then broken down into TGR groups 
using the average TGRs for Wiltshire as a whole. 

 
Combining the above has provided an estimate of the changing numbers of teams within each area up until 2016. (Table E). 
 
It is recognised that there is an element of double-counting in this exercise, but this is unavoidable given there is no certainty as to what element of new housing growth within each area (and Wiltshire in general) 
will be accommodating people migrating into an area (as opposed to existing residents moving house). The project steering group considered it essential to factor in the impact of allocated new housing in each 
profile area, in order to understand better the geographical impact of additional demand that might arise from these allocations. 
 

Appendix B: Explanation of FA AGP modelling: 
 
The FA considers high quality 3G AGPs to be an essential tool in promoting coach and player development. They can support intensive use and as such are great assets for both playing and training. Primarily such 
facilities have been installed for community use and training, however, are increasingly used for competition which The FA wholly supports. 
 
Training demand 
 
Getting access to good quality, affordable training facilities is a problem for many clubs throughout the Country. In the winter months, midweek training is only possible at floodlit facilities.  
 
The FA’s long term ambition is to provide every affiliated team in England the opportunity to train once per week on a floodlit 3G AGP, together with priority access for every Charter Standard Community Club 
through a partnership agreement. The FA Standard is calculated by using the latest Sport England research "AGPs State of the Nation March 2012".  
 
Assuming that 51% of AGP usage is by sports clubs, when factoring in the number of training slots available per pitch type per hour from 17.00 – 22.00 Mon-Fri and 09.00 – 17.00 Saturday & Sundays (peak time), it is 
estimated that one full size AGP can service 42 teams.  
 
The calculation estimate is based on the following assumptions: 
Assuming peak training usage 3 nights a week (Tuesday/Wednesday/Thursday) with 4 hours each night (5pm-9pm) = 12 hours peak training usage: 
FTP in 1/4 = 12 (hours) x 4 (available pitches) = 48 slots/teams 
FTP in 1/3 = 12 x 3 = 36 slots/teams 
42 teams using the peak demand available training is the midpoint in above. Obviously Monday (5pm-10pm), Friday (5pm-10pm), and then Tuesday, Wednesday and Thursday (9pm-10pm) assuming to be used for 
other activity/additional training/recreational use. 
There is also evidence that peak training demand can extend to 4 nights a week - Monday (5pm-8pm), Tuesday (5pm-8pm), Wednesday (5pm-8pm), Thursday (5pm-8pm) but the calculations are still the same as 
above given its still 12 hours of use on the evenings. 
 
 

P
age 211



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

  
2017 

Wiltshire Playing Pitch 
Strategy Needs 
Assessment 

NEEDS ASSESSMENT 

FEBRUARY 2017 

Page 213



Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy Needs Assessment       1 | P a g e   

 

 

Glossary of terms    

    

Part  Section Title Page 

Part A: General    

 1 Introduction 4 

 2 Methodology 7 

 3 Context 8 

 4 Overview of pitch provision 23 

Part B: Playing Pitch 
Assessment 

   

 5 Football 28 

 6 Cricket 92 

 7 Rugby 148 

 8 Hockey 175 

Part C: Strategy and 
Action Plan (separate) 

 Strategy  

  Action Plan  

 

Appendix 1: Methodology- additional notes 

Appendix 2: Active People Surveys and Market Segmentation 

Appendix 3: All-data spreadsheet 

Appendix 4: Full explanation of match equivalents and capacity for football and rugby 

Appendix 5: Projected team changes by Community Area based on population change (2015-
2026) 

  

Page 214



Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy Needs Assessment       2 | P a g e   

 

Glossary of Terms 

 

AGP Artificial Grass Pitch(es) 

ANOG Assessment of Needs and Opportunities Guide 

APS Active People Survey(s) 

DPD Development Plan Document(s) 

ECB England and Wales Cricket Board 

EH England Hockey 

FA Football Association 

FIFA Federation of International Football Associations 

NPPF National Planning Policy Framework 

PPS Playing Pitch Strategy 

RFU Rugby Football Union 

 

 

 

  

Page 215



Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy Needs Assessment       3 | P a g e   

 

PART A: GENERAL 

  

Page 216



1.0 INTRODUCTION 

 

Description of report 

1.1 This is one of several documents that comprise a wider open space, sport and recreation 
study for Wiltshire. It considers the provision of playing pitches for the community. 

Study Overview  

1.2 The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) requires local planning authorities to set out 
policies to help enable communities to access high quality open spaces and opportunities for sport 
and recreation. These policies need to be based on a thorough understanding of local needs for 
such facilities and opportunities available for new provision.  

1.3 In view of the above, in 2014 Wiltshire Council appointed Ethos Environmental Planning in 
conjunction with Leisure and the Environment to produce a new open space, outdoor sport and 
recreation audit and assessment- a needs assessment and strategy to inform the decision making 
process up to 2026.  

1.4 This report is a needs assessment covering the supply of and demand for playing pitch 
sports within Wiltshire. The Needs Assessment underpins a Playing Pitch Strategy (PPS) for 
Wiltshire. The PPS will cover the four key pitch sports of football, cricket, hockey, and rugby. Other 
pitch sports, have a relatively insignificant demand for space within the local authority, and tend to 
be provided on a restricted access basis, as they are available primarily for education or MoD 
personnel use. 

Vision and Objectives 

1.5 The vision is “To achieve the best possible quality, quantity, and type of playing pitch 
provision to meet the varying needs of Wiltshire’s residents, throughout the local authority area.” 

1.6 The objectives are: 

 To develop a playing pitch strategy following the Sport England methodology that will: 

 Provide an evidence base to underpin the statutory land-use planning process in respect of 
its forward planning and development control functions. 

 Underpin a range of council policies and strategies, and especially the development plan 
framework; leisure strategies; and community infrastructure plans. 

 Inform the council in its negotiation and securing of Section 106 agreements, and other 
developer contributions. 

 Help in the overall management, protection, improvement and conservation of the playing 
pitch stock to the best advantage of the residents of Wiltshire. 

1.7 The agreed time-horizon will be to 2026. 

Methodology 

1.8 In terms of that part of the assessment dealing with playing pitches, the appropriate 
guidance to follow is provided by Sport England in its ‘Playing Pitch Strategy Guidance’ which is 
explained in Section 2.  

1.9 The report is made up of 3 Parts and 10 main sections:  

Page 217



Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy Needs Assessment       5 | P a g e   

 

 Part A contains three overarching sections relevant to all parts of the report: (this) 
Introduction, methodology, and context; 

 Part B contains an overview section of pitch provision in general within the local authority; 
and, four sports specific sections dealing with key pitch sports of football, cricket, rugby, and 
hockey. The local authority has been divided into 18 sub areas reflecting the 18 Community 
Areas that have been established within the local authority; and, help promote local 
democracy and identify diverse local needs. 

 Part C has two separate sections offering a strategy and action plan for playing, and this is a 
separate volume. 

A remit that is based on Community Need 

1.10 Fundamentally, this report is an assessment of community needs for playing pitches of 
various kinds. Facilities required specifically by institutions, such as schools, and the Ministry of 
Defence (MoD), are only covered by this report if they also have a (potential) secondary function in 
meeting wider community needs. In parts of the country where recreation land is in short supply 
and expensive to create, the dual use of facilities to meet a variety of needs can be highly cost-
effective. 

A ‘snapshot in time’ 

The sporting landscape of Wiltshire is always changing- clubs and teams come and go, and facilities 
change. This strategy is based on a needs assessment that used data from a certain point in time. 
Already things have moved on. Improved sports infrastructure at sites in Royal Wootton Bassett 
and Calne (for example) are acknowledged in this document, but could not be fully incorporated. 
The Woolmore Farm development was nearing completion at the time of the audit. This will lead to 
the transfer of Melksham Rugby Club and Melksham Town Football Club from the Conigre site in 
Melksham to Woolmore Farm in Autumn 2016.  For the purposes of continuity and to avoid 
duplication of club, team and usage analysis within the documentation, usage of Conigre (and 
Melksham Oak Community School by the football club), will be retained, but data projections will 
be given where feasible and reference made to the fact that this significant change will be taking 
place.  The first refresh of the documentation will account fully for this change. Similarly, there are 
other planned changes in provision which are acknowledged but for which plans are not yet 
finalised, and therefore details of proposals and teams using them cannot be provided in this 
project. More generally, grass pitch sizes (for football in particular) can be remarked to meet 
changing age group needs. Sites can also become more or less heavily used as team numbers 
change. 

Page 218



Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy Needs Assessment       6 | P a g e   

 

  

What is community use?  

At its simplest ‘community use’ is a term that is used to describe the extent to 
which a given sport or recreation facility is available for use by members of the 
general community- either on a pay-as-you go informal basis, or as part of an 
organised club or group. 

In practice, the above definition of community use will include a wide range of 
management regimes whose admission policies will span informal ‘pay-as-you-
go’ access, by the general community; and, through to use by organised clubs 
and groups by booking or longer-term agreements etc. Whether, individual 
facilities are considered to be available for significant community use depends of 
several factors, including: 

 Type of facility (and whether its size and design might be of use to the 
community at large, or at least significant groups within the community); 

 The cost of using facilities, and whether these might generally be 
considered to be affordable; 

 The times and days of availability (times of most demand for the general 
community are likely to be in the evenings and at the weekends, as well 
as during mid-week lunchtime (a popular for people at work). 

 The extent to which such use by the community is ‘assured’ over the 
longer-term. 

In terms of utility for the general community different facilities will therefore 
have diverse value by nature of because of their varying scale, location, and 
management/pricing policies. This is not to deny the importance of other smaller 
provision for local clubs and groups, as well as those residents who prefer to pay 
for access to private/commercial facilities. 

Determining which facilities offer a significant level of community use is 
therefore a matter of judgement.  

In the context of this needs assessment the following categorisation has been 
used. 

A Sites available for community use and used 
A1 Local authority 
A2 Club 
A3 Education 

B Sites available for community use and used 
C Sites unavailable for community use 
D Sites last used as playing pitches but currently unused, although 

undeveloped. 
 

Page 219



2.0 METHODOLOGY 

 

General 

2.1 This Assessment has used current Sport England Playing Pitch Strategy (PPS) guidance as a 
methodology. 

The PPS Guidance (See Appendix 1 for a fuller description) 

2.2 Sport England (Playing Pitch Guidance: an approach to developing and delivering a playing 
pitch strategy) 2013 advocates a 10 step approach to developing a PPS (divided in 5 discrete stages) 

2.3 Under the PPS methodology, these 10 steps are linked under 5 stages as follows: 

 

Stage A Step 1    Prepare and tailor the approach 

   Stage B Step 2 Gather supply information 

 Step 3  Gather demand information 

Stage C Step 4 Understand the situation at individual sites 

 Step 5 Develop the current and future pictures of provision 

 Step 6 Identify the key findings 

Stage D Step 7 Develop the recommendations and action plan 

 Step 8 Write and adopt the strategy 

Stage E Step 9 Apply and deliver the strategy 

 Step 10 Keep the strategy robust 

 

2.4 As mentioned, this Assessment was conducted as part of a wider dealing with Open Space, 
Outdoor Sport and Recreation within Wiltshire. A great deal of consultation and site audit work was 
conducted as part of this wider project, and the playing pitch Needs Assessment has made best use 
of this work, so as to avoid duplication of effort and conserve resources. In particular, there was 
coordination of effort in respect of consultation, and site audits and quality assessments, where 
possible. 

 

 

 

Page 220



Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy Needs Assessment       8 | P a g e   

 

3.0 CONTEXT 

General 

3.1 This section includes important contextual information about Wiltshire Council relevant to 
the analysis contained in this report.  It considers: 

 The current demographic character of the local authority, and how it is likely to change in 
the coming years, 

 A review of the particular characteristics of the population in respect of how this influences 
people’s inclination to take part in sport and active recreation. 

 A brief review of the policies and priorities of the local authority, as well as other key 
stakeholders and that have relevance to planning for sport and recreation within the local 
authority.   

 An understanding of the local strategic context, population and sports participation trends is 
essential in order to ensure that facility provision is tailored to the characteristics, profile 
and aspirations for the local area.  

Population 

3.2 As at 2015 the Wiltshire Council area was estimated to have a population of 485,768.  This 
figure is based upon population projections commissioned by the Council1.  The same projections 
calculate that by the year 2026 the population will have increased to 530,281.  This figure is itself 
only based upon previous trends, and does not necessarily take into account the impact of planned 
new residential growth yet to be determined. 

3.3 Figure 3.1 shows the overall predicted change in the general population level, up to and 
beyond 2026, and up to 2036 where the population is projected to increase to 559,503.  

  

                                                 
1
 From a forecast produced by Wiltshire Council on 12/05/2015 using POPGROUP software developed by Bradford 

Council, the University of Manchester and Andelin Associates 

Page 221



Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy Needs Assessment       9 | P a g e   

 

Figure 3.1: Changing local population2 

 

Compiled from a forecast produced by Wiltshire Council on 12/05/2015 using POPGROUP software developed by Bradford Council, the University of Manchester and Andelin 
Associates 

 

                                                 
2
 The step-change increase projected for around 2018-19 is as a result of Army Rebasing and the planned move of over 4,000 service personnel and their families.  

P
age 222



Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy Needs Assessment       10 | P a g e   

 

 

3.5 As ‘pitch sport’ participation is dominated by the younger age groups it is very important to 
examine the likely changes in the relevant cohorts and these are shown between 2015 and 2026 in 
Figure 3.2 below. The figure shows the change in overall populations between 2015 and 2026 for 
age groupings for, as an example, football (used by the Football Association (FA) to determine team 
and pitch sizes). FA age groupings have been used here because they tend to be quite similar for all 
major pitch sports, although cricket tends to retain participation amongst older players for longer 
than other pitch sports. 

 

Figure 3.2: Overall change in football age groups 2015 to 2026. 

 

Compiled from a forecast produced by Wiltshire Council on 12/05/2015 using POPGROUP software 
developed by Bradford Council, the University of Manchester and Andelin Associates 

 

3.6 Although Figure 3.1 suggests an overall population increase of around 8.4% between 2015 
and 2026, Figure 3.2 suggests:  

 4.5% for 16-45 years 

 16% for 10-15 years 

 5% for 6-9 years 

 5.1% for 6-45 years overall 

3.7 Generally speaking, the rate of rise in population within the pitch sport playing age groups 
will be lower than that for the population as a whole within Wiltshire. The overall, and cohort-
specific rates of change will however vary across the Council area, and the former are shown by 
Community Area (CAs) below (Figure 3.3 and Map 3.1). Much of the change in Tidworth will be 
accounted for by movements of military personnel and their dependents.

Page 223



Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy Needs Assessment       11 | P a g e   

 

Figure 3.3: Population change by CA (2015-2026)3 

 

Community Area 2015 
population 

2026 
population 

Population 
change (2015-

2026) 

Salisbury 41,703 41,628 -75 

Warminster 24,758 24,715 -43 

Marlborough 18,142 18,305 163 

South West Wiltshire 21,986 22,267 281 

Bradford on Avon 18,293 19,000 707 

Corsham 21,103 21,964 861 

Chippenham 45,761 46,787 1,026 

Pewsey 14,286 15,485 1,199 

Calne 23,760 25,294 1,534 

Malmesbury 20,104 22,330 2,226 

Melksham 29,288 31,538 2,250 

Westbury 20,505 23,016 2,511 

Royal Wootton Bassett and Cricklade 30,083 33,294 3,211 

Southern Wiltshire 23,272 26,629 3,357 

Devizes 33,743 38,325 4,582 

Trowbridge 43,638 48,442 4,804 

Amesbury 34,292 40,593 6,301 

Tidworth 20,971 30,525 9,554 

 

 
                                                 
3 Compiled from a forecast produced by Wiltshire Council on 12/05/2015 using POPGROUP software developed by Bradford Council, 

the University of Manchester and Andelin Associates 

 

Page 224



Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy Needs Assessment       12 | P a g e   

 

Map 3.1: Population change (2015-2026)4  

 

 

                                                 
4
 Compiled from a forecast produced by Wiltshire Council on 12/05/2015 using POPGROUP software developed by Bradford 

Council, the University of Manchester and Andelin Associates 

 

Page 225



Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy Needs Assessment       13 | P a g e   

 

3.8 Existing and potential need for playing pitches and other outdoor sports will be influenced 
by the distribution of the population throughout the local authority. All other things being equal, 
the more densely populated an area, the more potential need there will be for access to sports 
opportunities. The areas with the highest concentrations of population, are often those where it is 
difficult to find the space to provide additional facilities.  

3.9 Map 3.2 below shows the overall distribution of population within the local authority (and is 
based on population data available from the Census Output Area level from the 2011 Census).   

 

Map 3.2: Population density (based on 2011 Census) 

 

 

3.10 Perhaps the most striking characteristic of Wiltshire is its size, and the distances that 
therefore may need to be covered from rural areas to access sports facilities in general. 

Page 226



Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy Needs Assessment       14 | P a g e   

 

Local participation levels in sport and active recreation 

3.11 The Sport England Active People surveys have now been running for several years.  Further 
details of the Active People Surveys (APS) are contained in Appendix 2. Essentially, the analysis is 
based on a regular sample survey of participation by the adult public aged 16 years and over.  The 
sequence of surveys has now reached Active People year eight (AP9).  Data have been released by 
Sport England allowing for independent mapping of participation rates to a local Census Middle 
Super Output Area for APS 6.  The results of this mapping are shown on the following Map 3.3. 

 

Map 3.3: Levels of sports participation and deprivation (sports participation is measured for the 
adult population (at least 1 x 30 minutes/week)) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

3.12 Research has shown that there is a high correlation between levels of deprivation, and 
participation levels in sport and recreation. 

Page 227



Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy Needs Assessment       15 | P a g e   

 

3.13 Consistent with the relatively high levels of affluence enjoyed by most local residents, rates 
of regular participation in sport and active recreation are generally higher, and often significantly 
higher, than the national averages for England.  However, the geographical areas where 
participation rates appear lower than those for England as a whole are where levels of measured 
deprivation are highest. 

Propensity to participate in sport and active recreation 

3.14 Sport England has developed a Market Segmentation analysis for adults over the age of 16 
years.  The adult population has been divided into 19 separate demographic groups within four 
overall categories are (A, B, C, D) each embracing one of four age groups within the adult 
population (A being the youngest, and D being the oldest).  Further information on this analytical 
method is contained within Appendix 2. 

3.15 Each of the 19 age groups has been given a personalised title.  The overall breakdown of the 
local authority’s population is shown in the Figure 3.4 below.  It will be seen that, numerically, the 
most dominant categories are Tim, Philip, Roger & Joy, and Elaine.  Although, these groups are not 
the youngest within the adult population their characteristics yield a greater propensity to take part 
in sport and active recreation compared with some other groups.  

3.16 The segments most likely to play football in the adult population are ‘Ben’s’, ‘Jamies’, ‘Tims’, 
and ‘Kevs’ in the male groupings; and ‘Leannes’ in the female segments. The representation of 
these 19 groups within the population other is also expressed in percentage form in Figure 3.5. 

 

Figure 3.4: Numerical breakdown of adult population by Sport England Market Segmentation  

 

  

Page 228



Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy Needs Assessment       16 | P a g e   

 

Figure 3.5: Percentage breakdown of adult population by Sport England Market Segmentation  

 

 

3.17 Figure 3.6 below combines the 19 different groups into the four overall categories (A, B, C, 
D) and displays them as pie charts for each of the Middle Super Output Areas (MSOAs) contained 
within the local authority.  This provides a geographical representation of the dominance of 
particular categories throughout the local authority. 

 

  

Page 229



Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy Needs Assessment       17 | P a g e   

 

Figure 3.6: Distribution of overall Sport England Market Segmentation Categories within the local 
authority 

 

 

3.18 As the population evolves the relative size for each of these four categories will change over 
time within any given area. 

National Policy 

3.19 At a national level, there are several key policies that impact upon the preparation of this 
PPS.  

3.20 The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) clearly establishes the requirement that 
local plans ensure that there is proper provision of community and cultural facilities to meet local 
needs. The NPPF’s expectations for the development of local planning policy for sport and physical 
activity/recreation, is set out in paragraphs 73 and 74 which require there to be a sound (i.e. up-to-

Page 230



Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy Needs Assessment       18 | P a g e   

 

date and verifiable) evidence base underpinning policy and its application. Paragraph 73 indicates 
that: ‘Access to high quality open spaces and opportunities for sport and recreation can make an 
important contribution to the health and well-being of communities. Planning policies should be 
based on robust and up to date assessments of the needs for open space, sports and recreation 
facilities and opportunities for new provision. The assessments should identify specific needs and 
quantitative or qualitative deficits or surpluses of open space, sports and recreational facilities in the 
local area. Information gained from the assessments should be used to determine what open space, 
sports and recreational provision is required.’ 

3.21 Paragraph 74 states that: ‘Existing open space, sports and recreational buildings and land, 
including playing fields, should not be built on unless: 

 an assessment has been undertaken which has clearly shown the open space, buildings or 
land to be surplus to requirements; or 

 the loss resulting from the proposed development would be replaced by equivalent or 
better provision in terms of quantity and quality in a suitable location; or 

 the development is for alternative sports and recreational provision, the needs for which 
clearly outweigh the loss.’ 

3.22 Sporting Future - A New Strategy for an Active Nation. This cross-government strategy 
seeks to address flatlining levels of sport participation and high levels of inactivity in this country. 
Through this strategy, government is redefining what success in sport means, with a new focus on 
five key outcomes: physical wellbeing, mental wellbeing, individual development, social and 
community development and economic development. In future, funding decisions will be made on 
the basis of the outcomes that sport and physical activity can deliver. 

3.23 It is government’s ambition that all relevant departments work closer together to create a 
more physically active nation, where children and young people enjoy the best sporting 
opportunities available and people of all ages and backgrounds can enjoy the many benefits that 
sport and physical activity bring, at every stage in their lives. 

3.24 Government is reaffirming its commitment to Olympic and Paralympic success but also 
extending that ambition to non-Olympic sports where it will support success through grassroots 
investment in those sports, and by sharing UK Sport’s knowledge and expertise. The strategy 
outlines what is expected of the sector to deliver this vision, and how the government will support 
it in getting there. 

3.25 Public investment into community sport is to reach children as young as five as part of a 
ground-breaking new this new strategy. The move will see Sport England’s remit changed from 
investing in sport for those aged 14 and over to supporting people from five years old right through 
to pensioners, in a bid to create a more active nation. 

3.26 Investment will be targeted at sport projects that have a meaningful, measurable impact on 
how they are improving people’s lives – from helping young people gain skills to get into work, to 
tackling social inclusion and improving physical and mental health.  

3.27 Funding will also be targeted at groups who have low participation rates to encourage those 
who do not take part in sport and physical activity to get involved. This includes supporting women, 
disabled people, those in lower socio-economic groups and older people. Sport England will set up 
a new fund in 2016 to get inactive people physically active and will support and measure 
participation in sport and wider physical activity going forward. 

Page 231



Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy Needs Assessment       19 | P a g e   

 

3.28 Sport England Strategy – ‘Towards and Active Nation’ 2016-2021. In response to the 
Government’s strategy, Sport England’s new strategy vision is that that everyone in England, 
regardless of age, background or ability, feels able to take part in sport or activity. Sport England’s 
new vision and its supporting aims will therefore contribute to achieving the government's. Key 
features of the new Strategy are: 

 Dedicated funding to get children and young people active from the age of five, including a 
new fund for family based activities and offering training to at least two teachers in every 
secondary school in England to help them better meet the needs of all children, irrespective 
of their level of sporting ability. 

 Working with the sport sector to put customers at the heart of everything they do, and 
using the principles of behaviour change to inform their work. 

 Piloting new ways of working locally by investing in up to 10 places in England – a mix of 
urban and rural areas. 

 Investing up to £30m in a new volunteering strategy, enabling more people to get the 
benefits of volunteering and attracting a new, more diverse range of volunteers. 

 Helping sport keep pace with the digital expectations of customers – making it as easy to 
book a badminton court as a hotel room. 

 Working closely with governing bodies of sport and others who support people who already 
play regularly, to help them become more efficient, sustainable and diversify their sources 
of funding.    

3.29 With respect to the final bullet point (above) a projected 38% of Sport England controlled 
investment will be directed through the National Governing Bodies of Sport. This is the largest of 
Sport England’s funding programmes. 

3.30 National Governing Body (NGB) 2013-17 funding. NGB 2013-17 funding is the centrepiece 
of Sport England’s strategy with over £450 million to be invested in work with NGBs. Young people 
(14-25 years old) will benefit from 60% of this investment. Programmes will include helping young 
people move from school sport into club sport and working with universities and colleges to create 
more sporting opportunities for students. Additional funding will be available to governing bodies 
that are successfully increasing participation. 

3.31 The FA is now promoting strongly the provision of 3G AGPs for both training and now also 
for matchplay- the latter especially for junior/minisoccer age groups. This policy initiative is 
discussed further later in this section. However, it will have implications in respect of the demand 
for 3G AGPs at certain times of the day and, potentially, the encouragement of a move of teams 
training from other types of artificial surface. 

3.32 Likewise, the RFU Council has recently approved a strategy to invest in Artificial Grass 
Pitches (AGP) which will see 100 artificial, floodlit pitches installed across the country over a four-
year period. The strategy will see the creation of: 

 60 AGPs on rugby club sites to be used by the host club and other local clubs; and 

 40 on community sites with a guaranteed number of hours for use by rugby. 

3.33 The key drivers for this are to sustain and grow participation while addressing the increasing 
pressure on natural turf pitches, changing player expectations, competition from other sports 

Page 232



Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy Needs Assessment       20 | P a g e   

 

investing in artificial pitches and changing weather conditions. It is evident nationally that the focus 
on increasing participation, links to the Council’s own priorities of improving health and well-being 
through more active lifestyles and widening access to sport.  

3.34 All these above strategies will require review, as appropriate, to reflect altered national 
government priorities. 

Local Development Plans 

3.35 The Council formally adopted the Wiltshire Core Strategy Development Plan Document in 
January 2015. The Core Strategy replaces the south Wiltshire Core Strategy as well as a number of 
policies from the former district council's local plans. 

3.36 The Core Strategy sets out a Spatial Vision for the planning of Wiltshire over the next 
decade.  

3.37 “By 2026 Wiltshire will have stronger, more resilient communities based on a sustainable 
pattern of development, focused principally on Trowbridge, Chippenham and Salisbury.  

3.38 Market towns and service centres will have become more self-contained and supported by 
the necessary infrastructure, with a consequent reduction in the need to travel. In all settlements 
there will be an improvement in accessibility to local services, a greater feeling of security and the 
enhancement of a sense of community and place. This pattern of development, with a more 
sustainable approach towards transport and the generation and use of power and heat, will have 
contributed towards tackling climate change.        

3.39 Employment, housing and other development will have been provided in sustainable 
locations in response to local needs as well as the changing climate and incorporating exceptional 
standards of design. Wiltshire’s important natural, built and historic environment will have been 
safeguarded and, where necessary, extended and enhanced to provide appropriate green 
infrastructure, while advantage will have been taken of Wiltshire’s heritage to promote cultural and 
lifestyle improvements as well as tourism for economic benefit. Partnership working with 
communities will have helped plan effectively for local areas and allow communities to receive the 
benefit of managed growth, where appropriate.” 

3.40 The strategy makes provision for at least 42,000 new homes in Wiltshire in the plan period 
from 2006 to 2026. It sets out a plan for an appropriate mix of types, sizes and tenures, particularly 
to address affordable housing needs, and will ensure a continuous supply of housing over the plan 
period that is aligned to job growth and the delivery of infrastructure. 

3.41 The primary focus of new housing development will have been at Trowbridge, Chippenham 
and Salisbury and the market towns. More modest growth, proportionate to the size of the 
settlement, will have been delivered in smaller settlements through site allocation development 
plan documents, community-led planning policy documents, including neighbourhood plans, and 
partnership working with the local communities. The benefits from the development of new homes 
will have been successfully captured for local communities. 

Wiltshire Corporate Business Plan (2013-17) 

3.42 The Council’s business plan sets out how it intends to meet challenges whilst delivering its 
vision to create stronger, more resilient communities.  

3.43 The Business Plan’s priorities are to: 

 protect those who are most vulnerable  

Page 233



Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy Needs Assessment       21 | P a g e   

 

 boost the local economy; and,  

 bring communities together to enable and support them to do more for themselves 

3.44 The Plan highlights that over its span funding from central government will reduce by £22 
million and with the predicted increase in service demands, combined with inflation, it will mean 
pressures of around another £100 million. As a result, the plan outlines how the council will work 
innovatively to realign £120m over the next four years to deliver its priorities. 

3.45 The plan explains how, among other things, the council will invest in highway maintenance, 
create a campus opportunity in each community area, stimulate economic growth and provide 
opportunities for every child and young person to improve their attainment and achieve their full 
potential 

3.46 The Plan identified 12 key actions that are designed to achieve the above priorities; and 2 of 
these are especially relevant to this PPS: 

 Create a campus opportunity in each community area; and,  

 Integrate public health at the heart of all public services 

Wiltshire’s Joint Health Health & Well Being Strategy 2015 – 2018 

3.47 Health and Wellbeing Board was formally established in 2013. It brings together the leaders 
of the health and social care system in Wiltshire to deliver a set of specific responsibilities which are 
set out in legislation and includes duties to:  

 to prepare a Joint Strategic Assessment (JSA); 

 prepare a Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy (JHWS); and,  

 to encourage integrated working between health and social care.   

 

3.48 A Joint Strategic Assessment has been published by the Health and Wellbeing Board. It 
provides a shared analysis of the health of Wiltshire’s population – allowing the Council and its 
partners to look at and agree the key issues facing the area and providing an evidence base for 
developing future plans and strategies designed to deal with these issues.    

3.49 The JSA for Health and Wellbeing has emerged as the assessment tool on which all 
commissioning decisions for the area are based and, as such, it provides detailed information on 
each community area in Wiltshire and covers a breadth of topics focusing on health and social 
needs as well as wider factors affecting the wellbeing of our community. The topics include climate 
change and the economy, recognising the dynamic nature of health and wellbeing and the factors 
that influence it. The role of the JSA for Health and Wellbeing includes providing knowledge of 
these influences so we can plan services and build resilient communities for Wiltshire.   

3.50 The JSA shows that people in Wiltshire are living longer, healthier lives in Wiltshire. This is 
something to be celebrated – but it brings with it new challenges. Without action, the demand for 
health services is predicted to increase substantially, putting strain on carers and public services. Ill-
health and physical inactivity are not only detrimental to individuals and wider communities, they 
also have financial implications for public services. Increased levels of demand and limits on funding 
means that new models of delivery need to be considered.     

Page 234



Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy Needs Assessment       22 | P a g e   

 

3.51 A refreshed Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy (2015-18) has been prepared for 
consultation in light of the new Joint Strategic Assessment and in recognition of further changes 
and opportunities since the first strategy was published.    

3.52 It sets out our vision for encouraging integrated working in the future. It is not about taking 
action on everything at once. It sets out the main areas where working together will be vital for 
making a real difference to people’s lives – breaking down the barriers in how care is provided.   

3.53 It describes a road map to the future delivery of sustainable, integrated services to help the 
people of Wiltshire establish and maintain their wellbeing, as well as supporting those experiencing 
ill health.    

Issues 

3.54 The character of the local authority’s population continues to change, and this has a 
profound effect on the types of sport, play and leisure activity appealing to local people. However, 
sport is still a very important way of getting people active and living a healthier lifestyle. 

3.55 Many ‘conventional’ sports and facilities are seeing a decline in popularity- and in some 
cases participation and use is unlikely to return up to former levels. Other activities (sometimes 
derivatives of traditional sports) are becoming increasingly popular. In a modern, fast-moving world 
income, time, and social media also help dictate what people can and do with their free-time 

3.56 The Council is working in a financially challenging environment- this brings problems, but it 
also presents a clear opportunity for reviewing and transforming the way in which the Council and 
its partners delivers its service with respect to the sports covered in this report. 

3.57 Similarly, many agencies, groups and organisations have shared aspirations in respect of the 
‘health agenda’ and great potential exists for collaboration between public and voluntary sectors, 
as well as social and commercial enterprises to realise these aspirations 

3.58 The various factors considered above suggest that the following will be the major 
determinants in the demand for pitch sports into the foreseeable future within the local authority: 

 A growing population, which may be further accentuated by planned new residential growth 
that has not yet been allocated. 

 The representation within the local population of adult age groups with characteristics that 
make them more likely to take part in sport and active recreation; 

 New forms of the sports concerned, with the aim of appealing to children and young people, 
together with adults whose other ‘life commitments’ do not give them the opportunity to 
play traditional forms of the sports, and at the traditional times. 

 High existing levels of regular adult participation in sport generally compared with the 
national averages, which suggest that any further growth in participation levels will have to 
progress from an already quite high base. 

3.59 The relative affluence of the population facilitates relatively high levels of participation 
within the local population. However, there are geographical pockets within the urban area that 
exhibit quite high levels of economic and social deprivation, and where and the levels of 
participation in sport and active recreation are depressed as a consequence.  Improving prospects 
for participating should be a priority for the local authority and its partners in these areas, with the 
consequent health and economic benefits. 

Page 235



Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy Needs Assessment       23 | P a g e   

 

4.0 OVERVIEW OF PITCH PROVISION IN THE LOCAL AUTHORITY 

General 

4.1 The following totals all known grass football, cricket, rugby grass pitches in the local 
authority. Not all of these will be theoretically available in practice for community use. The 
provision of pitches is analysed in more detail on a sport-by-sport basis later in this report. 

Table 4.1: Grass pitch provision in the local authority 

Adult 
Football 

Youth 
Football 
(11v11) 

Youth 
Football 

(9v9) 

Minisoccer 
(7v7) 

Minisoccer 
(5v5) 

Cricket 
Fields 

Adult 
Rugby 

Mini 
Rugby 

189 47 32 69 51 108 101 15 

 

4.2 Of the 612 pitches in Table 4.1 most are noted as being in the ‘public sector’. The 
breakdown of ownership is as follows. Local authorities (which includes both Wiltshire Council and 
local town and parish councils) are by far the largest provider. The education sector and club sector 
are both also significant providers.  The MoD also controls a significant stock of grass playing 
pitches, and these are sometimes made available for community use. However, the MoD pitches 
are rarely in secured community use for a variety of reasons, and are are often ‘behind the wire’, 
and therefore largely unavailable with a few exceptions. 

4.3 Not included in the above table are pitches that are categorized as ‘D’- pitches that were 
once available, but are on sites that are closed, or disused, but remain undeveloped. The only 
known example within the local authority is the Westinghouse Sportsground in Chippenham, which 
has permission for residential development but, at the time of this report, remained undeveloped. 
As a sportsground, it is strategically well-located in relation to other key sports sites within the 
Town. 

4.4 There are also many examples of former pitches in recreation grounds throughout rural 
Wiltshire, which are no longer marked out and used for matches, but which have other recreational 
functions. 

Figure 4.1: Ownership by sector 

 

Page 236



Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy Needs Assessment       24 | P a g e   

 

4.5 In addition, there are Artificial Grass Pitches (AGPs) at various locations, and which are more 
fully described in the relevant sections (primarily for football and hockey). The provision of pitches 
is analysed in more detail on a sport-by-sport basis later in this report. AGPs are now accepted as 
essential facilities for match play for hockey, as well as for football match play and rugby training. 

4.6 Various sites (especially a significant number of primary/junior schools) have grass spaces, 
but which are not formally marked as pitches (at least at the time of the study). These have been 
identified as part of the wider assessment and site identification process, and background 
information is therefore held. Playing fields last used as such, but which are now closed, but 
undeveloped have also been identified. 

4.7 Mini-soccer and some other junior provision appears to be relatively low compared to the 
number of such teams playing in local leagues. As will be explained in Section 5, it appears that 
many mini-soccer and other junior/youth teams share playing surfaces with teams from older age 
groups. 

4.8 Map 4.1 shows the distribution of provision through the local authority, and it is graded by a 
combination of the size of each site, and the amount of activity/pitch sport use taking place on each 
site.  

  

Page 237



Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy Needs Assessment       25 | P a g e   

 

Map 4.1: Overall grass pitch provision in the local authority 

 

Page 238



Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy Needs Assessment       26 | P a g e   

 

4.10 The grading of sites has been based principally on the following criteria: 

 Level 1: very large sites accommodating relatively large numbers of pitches as well as teams- 
these tend to be found in the larger urban areas; 

 Level 2: Other large sites, but with not quite the levels of pitch provision and team activity 
as the above- often these can highly important single-sport sites such as for rugby and 
cricket, for example. 

 Level 3: Where there is some pitch provision and associated team activity, but not sufficient 
to warrant inclusion as Level 1 and 2 sites; and, 

 Level 4: Site which have some pitch provision but no use by community teams, as far as has 
been ascertained. 

4.11 The Level 1 and 2 sites have been named on the map, and will be further analysed in later 
sports-specific sections. All but one of the defined Level 1 sites are located in the northern half of 
the local authority. 

4.12 In some areas, because of the absence of Level 1 and 2 sites, Level 3 sites will assume 
greater importance. 

4.13 Grass and artificial pitch provision is analysed in detail in the various sport-by-sport sections.  

Sites that are wholly or partly excluded from the study analysis.  

4.14 This report acknowledges the existence of playing pitches on many infant/junior/primary 
school sites. Where such facilities are known to be available for community use they have been 
included in the analysis. Other small school sites may though have some potential to be used by 
community teams at some point in the future.  

4.15 Many small school sites have grass space, but pitches won’t be marked out. 

Multi-Functional Recreation Grounds 

4.16 There is a significant number of sites around the local authority that host more than one 
pitch sport, and these can therefore be particularly important local sports venues. Whilst the 
analysis in the following four sections is largely sports-specific, those sites hosting more than one 
pitch sport will be acknowledged. 

A constantly evolving picture 

4.17 The audit of both pitches and teams conducted for this study, can only represent a snapshot 
in time. The numbers of clubs and teams will change year-in, year-out. Likewise, the stock of sports 
pitches will change over time, although more gradually. 

4.18 To evidence the above point, there have been some recent and significant changes in the 
provision of pitches in some locations, for example: 

4.19 The provision of a new full-size AGP as part of the redevelopment of Springfield School, as 
part of a ‘community campus’ development for the Corsham Community Area; and, 

4.20 The recent opening of a new ‘sports hub’ based at the Gerard Buxton Sports Ground in 
Royal Wootton Bassett. 

4.21 There are also changes in Melksham, with the co-relocation of the Melksham Town Football 
and Rugby Clubs to Woolmore Farm in Autumn 2016, again, as part of a Community Area Campus 
scheme. In fact, the Wiltshire Council Community Campus development programme, although still 

Page 239



Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy Needs Assessment       27 | P a g e   

 

itself evolving, is likely to be a driver for the upgrading and rationalization of sports facilities in 
other parts of Wiltshire. Some of these schemes will not be at a stage to be properly captured by 
this study. Indeed, the use of new provision at the (above) Gerard Buxton Sports Ground could not 
be fully captured. However, for each of the four sports covered by this report, recent as well as 
proposed developments likely to alter the local supply of playing pitches will be identified. 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 240



Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy Needs Assessment       28 | P a g e   

 

5.0 FOOTBALL 

Introduction 

5.1 This section assesses the adequacy of pitches for football in the local authority by presenting 
the following: 

 an overview of pitch supply;  

 an overview of demand for football; 

 the pattern of play of football;  

 a review of the capacity and adequacy of current provision across the local authority, 
including an understanding of activity at individual sites; 

 the future picture of provision for football across the local authority; and, 

 a summary of findings and the key issues for the strategy to address. 

Supply: Overview of Pitches  

5.2 There are 18 Community Areas within the local authority, and it is important therefore to 
conduct some of the analyses and reporting at the Community Area level, to better reflect local 
characteristics and needs.  

5.3 There are estimated to be 404 individual formal grass football pitches in the local authority 
currently marked out for play. This figure therefore excludes 36 AGPs of varying size, many of which 
are used for football, but which are subject to a related assessment in a later section of this report.  

5.4 Other sites (especially a significant number of primary/junior schools) have grass spaces, but 
which are not formally marked as pitches (at least at the time of the study). 

5.5 Table 5.1 summarises the breakdown of pitch sizes that are available across the local 
authority. The table also outlines the level of community access that is available. Further detail is 
provided in Appendix 3 

 

  

Page 241



Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy Needs Assessment       29 | P a g e   

 

Table 5.1: Total grass football pitches in the local authority 

 

Availability Adult 
pitches 

Youth 
pitches 

(11v11) 

Youth 
pitches 
(9v9) 

Minisoccer 
(7v7) pitches 

Minisoccer 
(5v5) pitches 

‘A' Total- Pitch 
Provision 
Available to the 
Community 
(Used) 

154 35 23 54 39 

‘B' Total- Pitch 
Provision 
Available to the 
Community 
 (Not used) 

22 4 2 4 4 

‘C' Total- Pitch 
Provision Not 
Available to the 
Community 

24 8 8 13 10 

 

Figure 5.2 breaks the above provision down by % segments 

Figure 5.2: Stock by pitch type 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

5.6 It can be seen that the overall pitch stock is dominated by adult pitch provision. The extent 
of this dominance has to be offset by the fact that adult pitches will also be sometimes ‘over-
marked’ to take into account recent rule changes introduced by the FA to ensure that teams of 
various ages play on appropriately sized pitches. 

  

Page 242



Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy Needs Assessment       30 | P a g e   

 

Overall quality of pitch stock: summary 

5.7 The scores given to both the pitch quality and built facilities are based upon Sport England’s 
playing pitch  guidance – Appendix 2d. (http://www.sportengland.org/facilities-planning/planning-
for-sport/planning-tools-and-guidance/playing-pitch-strategy-guidance/) 

5.8 The final pitch quality scores were based upon the amalgamation of scores for the playing 
surface (grass length/cover, size/slope/evenness of pitch and any problem areas) with scores for 
the pitch maintenance programme (frequency and adequacy of grass cutting, seeding and 
application of remedial dressings). The majority of sites with community use have been assessed 
with on-site assessments. These scores were reviewed and sometimes amended to take into 
account the views of local clubs, league and NGB reps, as well as site mangers, so as to achieve a 
rounded assessment, not dependent on the outcome of a single visit on a given day. Where on-site 
visits were not possible in the time available (such as small schools and on private sites), the 
comments of clubs and schools (where provided) were the primary source of information, albeit 
with additional checking of secondary sources, as well as external viewings from off the site.  

5.9 The final ‘quality scores’ are therefore as a result of ‘triangulating’ using information from a 
variety of sources. 

Quality Summary Assessment 

5.10 The quality of such pitches is considered further in the site/area-based review provided later 
in this section.   However, the following is a general summary: 

 

Figure 5.3: football pitch/site quality 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

5.11 The vast majority of pitches and sites were assessed to be of ‘standard’ quality. It is also 
noted (Figure 5.4) that a sizable proportion of the local authority stock of pitches were rated as 
being of Good quality. 

5.12 This is at variance with the findings of many other similar studies conducted, but could be 
explained by the large stock of parish council-controlled pitches, which might, overall, receive a 
relatively low amount of use compared to urban-based local authorities, and therefore retaining a 
higher quality score. 

Page 243

http://www.sportengland.org/facilities-planning/planning-for-sport/planning-tools-and-guidance/playing-pitch-strategy-guidance/
http://www.sportengland.org/facilities-planning/planning-for-sport/planning-tools-and-guidance/playing-pitch-strategy-guidance/


Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy Needs Assessment       31 | P a g e   

 

 

5.13 There are few sites/pitches that are considered to be in Poor condition overall, although it is 
to be noted that extreme weather conditions have made several sites unusable for football for 
considerable periods over recent seasons- this is an issue that cannot necessarily be attributed to 
poor quality, although inadequate and poorly maintained drainage will have its effect. 

 

Table 5.4: Site/pitch quality 

 

 Number of sites Good Standard Poor 

Club 22 8 (36%) 14 (64%) 0 

Education 57 (2%) 56 (98%) 0 

LA 121  52 (43%) 61 (50%) 8 (7%) 

Other 18  3 (17%) 16 (23%) 0 

 

5.14 The site assessments also recorded the existence of changing facilities, and made an 
assessment of their quality as far as possible. In almost all cases it was not possible to access these 
facilities to make internal assessments. This is where the views of clubs obtained from the club 
questionnaire survey were especially helpful. 

Generic Quality Issues Constraining Development of Clubs 

5.15 Various clubs have made comments about the quality of local facilities and how they impact 
on their aspirations to ‘grow’ and potentially field more teams, and these are identified later in this 
section.  

Overview of demand: participation and teams 

Active People and Market Segmentation (Sport England) 

5.16 Analysis of the Sport England Active People and Market Segmentation data suggests that 
there are certain groups which are significant within the overall population that will have a 
propensity to play football.  These will be focused on young people within their twenties and 
thirties.  The context (Section 3) describes the representation of these groups within the overall 
population. However, football is also hugely popular amongst children and youth population 
groups, and these are not covered by the Market Segmentation data. Because the assessments of 
demand conducted for this study involve counts of ‘teams’ it is likely to provide a far more accurate 
assessment of local participation (in codified football) than offered by the sample-based estimates 
provided by either Active People, or Market Segmentation analysis. However, on the basis that 
some of numbers provided by the Sport England data might be considered to offer aspirational 
targets, local participation counts might be indirectly compared with these figures to assess how 
the local authority area is performing relatively. 

 

Page 244



Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy Needs Assessment       32 | P a g e   

 

 

Current Football Participation – Match Play 

5.17 The Wiltshire FA maintains records of numbers of affiliated clubs in the local authority, and 
their most recent participation report estimates have also been compared with the answers from 
club questionnaires to generate an estimate of teams that are playing within the Wiltshire local 
authority area.5  

5.18 The administrative boundaries of the Wiltshire FA do not coincide with those of Wiltshire 
Council. For example, Wiltshire FA administers the Swindon area. Clubs and teams based outside 
the Wiltshire Council area have therefore been largely excluded from the assessment, the only 
exceptions being where there is evidence of local clubs and teams having to use facilities outside 
the area of their choice because of lack of suitable provision within the local authority. In this 
regard, perhaps the most significant example is in the Salisbury area, due to the need of several 
Salisbury Youth FC teams to travel outside the City area to find venues for training and matchplay. 

5.19 Even when ‘external clubs’ are excluded, the vastness of Wiltshire Council means that it 
accommodates some teams playing in leagues that draw most of their teams/players from 
neighbouring local authorities in Hampshire, Somerset, and Bath and North East Somerset.  

5.20 The principal leagues operating within Wiltshire are: 

Adult (Saturday) 

 Wiltshire Football League 

 Swindon & District League 

 Trowbridge & District League 

 Salisbury & District League 

Some clubs affiliated to the Wiltshire County FA play in the following leagues within the FA National 
Football Pyramid: 

 Hellenic League (Premier Division) 

 Western League (Premier Division) 

 Wessex League 

 Southern League 

 Conference South 

 Conference Premier 

Adult (Sunday) 

 Chippenham & District League 

 Swindon Sunday League 

 Salisbury & District League 

                                                 
5
 The Wiltshire FA area also includes the Swindon local authority areas, but teams playing in this part of the County FA 

area have been excluded from this study, except where they make use of sites in Wiltshire local authority. 

Page 245



Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy Needs Assessment       33 | P a g e   

 

Youth 

 Mid Wilts Youth & Minor League 

 North Wilts Youth & Minor League 

 South Wilts Youth & Minor League 

 Wiltshire County FA Youth Floodlight League 

Womens & Girls 

 Wiltshire Womens & Girls League  

Some female clubs affiliated to the Wiltshire County FA play in the following leagues within the FA 
Women’s National Football Pyramid:  
 South West Regional Division 1 

 South West Regional League Premier Division (step 4) 

 South West Combination League 

 FA Womens Southern Premier League 

 FA Womens National Premier League 

 FA Womens Super League 

Disability Football 

 Dorset & Wiltshire Ability Counts League 

 Social Inclusion 

 Wiltshire Social Inclusion League  

5.21 Football is the most popular pitch sport in the local authority. Figure 5.5 summarises the 
number of teams and indicates that while there are strong participation rates for males and junior 
boys, senior and junior female game is less well established. In total there are 918 teams playing, as 
follows. 

Figure 5.5: Football teams in the local authority (as at mid-year 2015) 

Page 246



Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy Needs Assessment       34 | P a g e   

 

 

5.22 These figures are ‘best estimate’ based on data from the FA and will in any event change 
over the course of time. Trends in football participation tend to ebb and flow, and can be 
influenced by demographics, sports development campaigns, and international success amongst 
other things.  

5.23 The figures also exclude adult teams playing in ‘Futsal’6 and other small-sided leagues that 
will play either outdoors on AGPs or else indoors in larger leisure centres. 

Trends in numbers of teams 

5.24 The club questionnaire survey asked whether clubs felt that team numbers had increased, 
stayed the same, or declined in recent years, with the following results. 

 

 

 

 

 

  

                                                 
6
 Futsal is a variant of association football that is played on a smaller field and mainly played indoors. It can be 

considered a version of five-a-side football. Its name comes from the Portuguese Futebol de salão, which can be 
translated as "room football". It was developed in Brazil in the 1930s and 1940s. 

Page 247



Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy Needs Assessment       35 | P a g e   

 

Table 5.6: Trend in team numbers 

Please can you tell us if, in the 
previous three years, the 
number of teams in your club 
has:  

    

 Increased Decreased Stayed the 
same 

Response Total 

Adult Male 16% 26% 58% 50 

Adult Ladies 13.3% 13.3% 73.3% 15 

Youth Male 33.3% 33.3% 33.3% 36 

Youth Female 17.6% 23.5% 58.8% 17 

Mini-soccer 41.4% 20.7% 37.9% 29 

5.25 The observations here are that for the various age and gender categories the majority of 
clubs observed: 

 Adult male teams had remained the same (although a significant minority of respondents 
felt numbers had declined); 

 Adult female teams had largely remained the same in numbers;  

 A general stasis in the numbers of youth teams (although perhaps female teams had 
increased in numbers slightly); and, 

 An increase in mini-soccer teams. 

5.26 The comparatively recent introduction of smaller team and pitch sizes will have accounted 
for an increase in teams and players, and therefore demand for junior and mini-soccer pitches. This 
is because smaller teams will allow for more players to play, and therefore increase the demand for 
pitches in the younger age-groups’ in particular.  

Club player catchments 

5.27 The club questionnaire asked how far their players travelled to get to their ‘home ground’, 
with the following results. 

 

  

Page 248



Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy Needs Assessment       36 | P a g e   

 

Table 5.7: We would like to understand the area from which your members are drawn. Please 
state approximately, the percentage of where your members live. 

 

Percentage of 
members 

10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100% 

Less than 1 mile 
from your main 
venue 

40% 30% 7% 5% 5% 0% 5% 7% 0% 2% 

Between 1 and 5 
miles from main 
venue 

10% 6% 4% 10% 12% 4% 20% 26% 2% 6% 

More than 5 
miles from main 
venue 

47% 17% 4% 6% 4% 0% 2% 6% 6% 6% 

 

5.28 The above responses suggest that the travel distance from a players live and where they 
play most games can often be further than 5 miles, and this is perhaps explained by the rural nature 
of much of the local authority. 

Time of match play 

5.29 This figure indicates the general times of match play for the various age/gender groups. 
Kick-off times can sometimes vary resulting from local agreements, and so the figure is based on 
the best available estimates. 

5.30 The figure highlights the importance of weekend play in respect of matches played on grass 
pitches. (There are small-sided football leagues as well as training activity held on artificial surfaces 
during the week, but this type of activity is covered elsewhere in this section). 

 

  

Page 249



Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy Needs Assessment       37 | P a g e   

 

Figure 5.8: Time of match play  

 

 

Training patterns 

5.31 Training is an important part of playing in competitive football- the majority of clubs and 
teams will train in some way, albeit that the intensity and regularity of training will vary according 
to the level of performance. Of the clubs responding to the questionnaire survey the following 
pattern of responses was received for where clubs train. 

Figure 5.9: Where teams train 

Page 250



Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy Needs Assessment       38 | P a g e   

 

5.32 It will be seen that a large majority of clubs and teams train away from their home ground. 
55% however, do train on their home ground, and a significant minority (30%) train on the pitch. 
Training on a pitch that is also used for matches will add to the wear and tear of the pitch. 

5.33 Where clubs indicated that they trained away from their home ground, they were invited to 
identify the locations for training, and the type of facility. The overwhelming response in this regard 
highlighted the importance of both indoor provision, such as sports halls; and, AGPs for midweek 
training. For most teams training takes place mid-week, and in the autumn and winter months 
there is a requirement for lighting. Synthetic surfaces also ensure a robust medium that is not 
subject to the variable whether/climatic conditions. 

Availability of facilities 

5.34 Clubs were asked if they had experienced difficulty either accessing pitches/facilities for 
home matches, or training, with the below overall responses, and followed by some verbatim 
comments about why clubs felt they experienced any difficulty. 

Figure 5.10: Difficulty in obtaining pitches for training and/or match play 

 

5.35 The detailed comments made by responding clubs have, where appropriate, been taken into 
account in the site-by-site analysis.  Overall, there are some strong issues that emerge from the 
comments: 

 Firstly, the sometimes poor condition found on various pitches and venues, which can often 
be a combination of too many games being played, and especially when weather is bad. 

 Very adverse climatic conditions in recent years that have made some pitches unplayable 
for weeks on end. 

 The lack of availability of AGPs (and especially those with the generic 3G surface) on which 
to train (and sometimes play). This is combined with the perceived high cost of those that 
might otherwise be available. 

 Sharing pitches with cricket, causes seasons to be curtailed. 

 Expense of non-turf winter training. 

 

Page 251



Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy Needs Assessment       39 | P a g e   

 

Multi-functional venues 

5.36 Many pitches are located in public parks and recreation grounds and they often therefore 
have many functions. This can cause problems for football matches when these other uses cause 
wear and tear, and other damage. The following indicates that many responding clubs to the survey 
do in fact ‘share’ their pitches with other activities. 

Figure 5.11: Are venues shared with other activities? 

The nature of these other activities can be varied, and covers, dog-walking; informal sport; ‘other 
teams’ training, occasional events (such as fairs etc). There can be illicit activity and vandalism that 
damages surfaces and facilities.  

5.37 As many playing fields in the local authority also function as public recreational areas and as 
such are also used for more informal recreation. This certainly impacts upon the quality of some 
pitches, particularly with regards dog fouling. During the football season, the use is not sufficiently 
extensive to reduce the capacity of pitches, but it does have an impact in terms of the quality of 
facilities. 

5.38 The majority of schools in the local authority have their own playing fields and only a small 
proportion do not have any outdoor space at all. Not all schools mark out their playing field area as 
formal pitches, but most have the capacity so to do.  There do not therefore appear to be any 
significant examples of schools using external grass pitches (such as local authority sites). If this 
does happen, their pattern of play would be largely complementary to other users. 

Local Demand and Supply 

5.39 Supply and demand is measured through the use of ‘match equivalents’ and ‘match 
capacity’ to ensure that a comparison is possible. Both the adequacy of pitch provision to meet 
demand over the course of a week; and the capacity of a pitch to meet demand at peak time are 
measured. To measure demand, a team playing home fixtures every other week would generate 
the equivalent of 0.5 match equivalents per week (one fixture every other week).  

5.40 Match equivalent values are also used to measure the use of pitches by educational 
establishments and the impact of casual access and training. Weightings have been factored in to 
take account of considerations like shared education use, and pitch quality. 

 

Peak Time Demand 

Page 252



Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy Needs Assessment       40 | P a g e   

 

5.41 The ability of a pitch to accommodate demand at peak time is as important as the overall 
capacity of the site over a week. The local leagues all have specific kick off times and while these 
are flexible to a degree, it is important that there are enough pitches available when teams wish to 
use them.   It should be noted that pitches can only be considered to have spare capacity at peak 
time when they are not already utilised to their full capacity over the course of a week. An adult 
pitch that is not used on a Saturday afternoon (local authority-wide peak time), but is used three 
times per week at other times (Sunday morning, Sunday afternoon and midweek for example) 
would not be considered able to sustain additional play at peak-time, even though no one would be 
using the facility then, as this would be detrimental to the quality of the pitch.    

Capacity Scores 

5.42 FA guidelines on playing pitch capacity are used to measure supply – pitch capacity is based 
upon the quality of the pitch and the consequential number of matches that it can sustain per 
week. The assumptions used are set out in Table 5.11 

Table 5.11: Capacity Scores based upon Pitch Quality 

Agreed pitch quality 
rating 

Number of match equivalent sessions a week 

Adult football Youth football Mini soccer 

Good 3 4 6 

Standard 2 2 4 

Poor 1 1 2 

 

5.43 The following table sets out the pitches junior teams should be playing on based on FA 
regulations.  

  

Page 253



Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy Needs Assessment       41 | P a g e   

 

Table 5.12:  FA recommended pitch sizes 

  
Recommended size 

without run-off 
Recommended size 

including runoff 
Recommended 

size of goalposts 

Age Type Length x width (m) Length x width (m) 
Height x width 

(m) 

Mini soccer 
U7/U8 

5v5 37 27 43 33 1.83 3.66 

Mini soccer 
U9/U10 

7v7 55 37 61 43 1.83 3.66 

Youth U11/U12 9v9 73 46 79 52 2.13 4.88 

Youth U13/U14 11v11 82 50 88 56 2.13 6.40 

Youth U15/U16 11v11 91 55 97 61 2.44 7.32 

Youth u17/U18 11v11 100 64 106 70 2.44 7.32 

Over 18 (senior 
ages) 

11v11 100 64 106 70 2.44 7.32 

5.45 The following matrix Table 5.13 summarises the use of local pitches relative to their 
assessed capacity on a site-by site-basis. The site pitch capacities were derived from site pitch 
quality assessments undertaken in February 2015 using the recommended Sport England approach. 
Various characteristics of sites’ pitches (and also, wherever possible, ancillary facilities) were 
assessed, leading to an overall quality score being generated- this in turn provided a match rating, 
offering a guide to how many matches a week a pitch of a given standard might sustain on a regular 
basis, without undue wear and tear.  

5.46 In the Table, where estimated usage of pitches is calculated to exceed notional capacity, the 
Match Capacity figures are shown in Red in the tables. In respect of references to ownership ‘LA’ 
means Local Authority- this can mean either the Wiltshire Council, or else a parish council.  

5.47 For different types of pitches on a given site, the table (and the maps) total up the Match 
Capacity (that is the amount of match play (or its equivalent) that can be absorbed each week 
without undue wear and tear on the pitches). It then compares this with the estimated total Match 
Equivalents that are hosted by pitches on a given site.  

5.48 Match Equivalents are derived from an assessment of the number of match equivalent 
sessions taking place on a weekly basis in the season. These will include both the matches 
themselves, as well as training activity. The amount of training activity that takes place on a pitch is 
a key determinant of its overall susceptibility to wear and tear. Where club training activity was 
known or thought to take place wholly on a grass pitch, an estimate was made of ‘squad sizes’ 
(expressed as a multiple of the team (as squads are normally bigger than teams), and the length 
and frequency of training sessions. The information sources used in this regard were club 
questionnaire returns, and club websites. Often teams will train on the grass pitches during the 

Page 254



Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy Needs Assessment       42 | P a g e   

 

later evenings at the beginning and end of the season, and train either on an AGP or indoors 
(usually in a sports hall) during the darker mid-season period. To reflect this pattern the multiple 
factored in to reflect squad training sizes is usually reduced (to 0.75 of a team). 

5.49 Different age groups will have varying impacts upon the wear and tear of pitches. For 
example, an adult male team will produce more wear and tear than a youth 11 v 11 team. The 
latter will in turn produce more wear and tear than a mini-soccer team. The Sport England guidance 
relating to the weighting attached to each age-group has been taken into account in the various 
calculations. 

5.50 At some venues casual activity (such as informal matches in public parks and recreation 
grounds) can add to wear and tear on pitches. Where there is a known tendency for this to happen 
it has been noted. Where pitches are located on education sites, the usage of curriculum activity 
must also be taken into account. To reflect this, the Pitch Quality Ratings in Table 5.11 were halved. 
For example, if a Good quality adult pitch can under other circumstances be rated as able to host 3 
adult community games a week, if it is on a school site the allowance is reduced to 1.5 
games/week. 

5.51 The calculations and assumptions underlying Equivalent Match Capacity and Match 
Equivalents are more fully explained in the Appendix 4. 

 

 

Page 255



Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy Needs Assessment       43 | P a g e   

 

 

Table 5.13: Site usage compared to site capacity 

Name 

A
va

ila
b

ili
ty

 

O
w

n
er

sh
ip

 

Su
b

 A
re

a
 

A
. T

o
ta

l a
d

u
lt

 m
at

ch
 e

q
u

iv
al

en
ts

/w
ee

k
 

B
. 

To
ta

l j
u

n
io

r 
m

at
ch

 

eq
u

iv
al

e
n

ts
/w

ee
k

 

C
. 

To
ta

l m
in

is
o

cc
er

 m
at

ch
 

eq
u

iv
al

e
n

tS
/w

e
ek

 

D
. 

To
ta

l a
d

u
lt

 p
it

ch
e

s 

E.
 T

o
ta

l y
o

u
th

 p
it

ch
es

 (
1

1
v1

1
) 

F.
 T

o
ta

l y
o

u
th

 p
it

ch
e

s(
9

v9
) 

G
. 

To
ta

l m
in

i s
o

cc
er

 p
it

ch
es

 (
7

v7
) 

H
. 

To
ta

l m
in

i s
o

cc
er

 p
it

ch
es

 (
5

v5
) 

I.
 F

o
o

tb
al

l p
it

ch
 r

at
in

g
 

J.
 A

d
u

lt
 p

it
ch

es
: 

N
u

m
b

er
 o

f 
m

at
ch

 

eq
u

iv
al

e
n

t 
se

ss
io

n
s 

a 
w

ee
k/

p
it

ch
 

K
. 

Ju
n

io
r 

p
it

ch
es

: 
N

u
m

b
er

 o
f 

m
at

ch
 

eq
u

iv
al

e
n

t 
se

ss
io

n
s 

a 
w

ee
k/

p
it

ch
 

L.
 M

in
is

o
cc

er
 p

it
ch

es
: 

N
u

m
b

er
 o

f 

m
at

ch
 e

q
u

iv
al

en
t 

se
ss

io
n

s 
a 

w
ee

k/
p

it
ch

 

M
. 

A
d

u
lt

 p
it

ch
e

s 
M

A
TC

H
  C

A
P

A
C

IT
Y

 

(D
*J

) 

N
. 

Ju
n

io
r 

p
it

ch
es

 (
al

l s
iz

es
) 

M
A

TC
H

 

C
A

P
A

C
IT

Y
 (

E 
+

 F
) 

* 
K

 

O
. 

M
in

is
o

cc
er

 p
it

ch
es

 (
al

l s
iz

e
s)

 

M
A

TC
H

 C
A

P
A

C
IT

Y
 (

G
 +

 H
) 

* 
L 

P
. 

A
d

u
lt

 p
it

ch
 n

et
 s

it
e 

ca
p

ac
it

y 
(M

-A
) 

Q
. 

Ju
n

io
r 

p
it

ch
 n

et
 s

it
e

 c
ap

ac
it

y 
(N

-B
) 

R
. 

M
in

i p
it

ch
 n

et
 s

it
e 

ca
p

ac
it

y 
(O

-C
) 

Abbeyfield School C Education Calne 0 0 0 1         Standard 2 2 4 2 0 0 2 0 4 

Airfield Camp C MoD Amesbury 0 0 0 1         Standard 2 2 4 2 0 0 2 0 4 

Aldbourne Sports Field A1 LA Marlborough 0 0 0 1   1     Standard 2 2 4 2 2 0 2 2 4 

Alderbury Football Club A2 Club Southern Wiltshire 2.63 0 0 1         Good 3 4 6 3 0 0 0.37 0 6 

All Cannings School, Chandlers Lane, All Cannings C Education Devizes 0 0 0         2 Standard 2 2 4 0 0 8 0 0 4 

All Cannings Village Green A1 LA Devizes 0.5 0 0 1         Good 3 4 6 3 0 0 2.5 0 6 

All Cannings Bridge House Cricket Pitch A1 LA Devizes 0 0 0           Standard 2 2 4 0 0 0 0 0 4 

All Saints C of E Primary School, Netheravon C Education Tidworth 0 0 0       1   Standard 2 2 4 0 0 1 0 0 4 

Aloeric Primary School C Education Melksham 0 0 0         2 Standard 2 2 4 0 0 8 0 0 4 

Amesbury Sports Centre A1 LA Amesbury 0.5 0 0 2         Good 3 4 6 6 0 0 5.5 0 6 

Andover Road, Rushall A1 LA Pewsey 0 0 0 1         Good 3 4 6 3 0 0 3 0 6 

Appleford School C Education Amesbury 0 0 0       2   Standard 2 2 4 0 0 2 0 0 4 

Archers Gate & Boscombe Down A2 MoD Amesbury 0 3.5 0.25           Standard 2 2 4 0 0 0 0 -3.5 3.75 

Arcot Road (Aspire Defence Ground) MoD Tidworth 0.5 3 0.63 1         Good 3 4 6 3 0 0 2.5 -3 5.37 

Atworth Recreation Ground A1 LA Melksham 1 0 0 1     1   Poor 1 1 2 1 0 1 0 0 2 

Avebury Sports Field A2 Other Marlborough 0.88 0.88 1.13 1         Standard 2 2 4 2 0 0 1.12 -0.88 2.87 

Avon Valley College B Education Amesbury 0 0 0 1     1   Standard 1 1 2 1 0 1 1 0 2 

Awdry Avenue Football Pitch A1 LA Melksham 3 0.5 0 1         Poor 1 1 2 1 0 0 -2 -0.5 2 

Ballards Ash Sports Ground A1 LA 
Royal Wootton Bassett and 
Cricklade 

2.88 9 1.25 1 1 
  

1 1 Standard 2 2 4 2 1 5 -0.88 -8 2.75 

Barry's Field, Winterslow A1 LA Southern Wiltshire 1 4.75 5 1 1       Good 3 4 6 3 1 0 2 -3.75 1 

Battlebury Barracks (east) MoD Warminster 1 1 0.13 1         Standard 2 2 4 2 0 0 1 -1 3.87 

Battlebury Barracks (west) C MoD Warminster 0 0 0 1         Standard 2 2 4 2 0 0 2 0 4 

Bearfield Playing Field pitch (closed?) LA Bradford on Avon 0 0 0           Standard 2 2 4 0 0 0 0 0 4 

Bellefield Primary & Nursery School C Education Trowbridge 0 0 0       1   Standard 2 2 4 0 0 1 0 0 4 

Bemerton Heath Harlequins Football Club A2 Club Salisbury 1.5 1 0.13 1         Standard 2 2 4 2 0 0 0.5 -1 3.87 

P
age 256



Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy Needs Assessment       44 | P a g e   

 

Name 

A
va

ila
b

ili
ty

 

O
w

n
er

sh
ip

 

Su
b

 A
re

a
 

A
. T

o
ta

l a
d

u
lt

 m
at

ch
 e

q
u

iv
al

en
ts

/w
ee

k
 

B
. 

To
ta

l j
u

n
io

r 
m

at
ch

 

eq
u

iv
al

e
n

ts
/w

ee
k

 

C
. 

To
ta

l m
in

is
o

cc
er

 m
at

ch
 

eq
u

iv
al

e
n

tS
/w

e
ek

 

D
. 

To
ta

l a
d

u
lt

 p
it

ch
e

s 

E.
 T

o
ta

l y
o

u
th

 p
it

ch
es

 (
1

1
v1

1
) 

F.
 T

o
ta

l y
o

u
th

 p
it

ch
e

s(
9

v9
) 

G
. 

To
ta

l m
in

i s
o

cc
er

 p
it

ch
es

 (
7

v7
) 

H
. 

To
ta

l m
in

i s
o

cc
er

 p
it

ch
es

 (
5

v5
) 

I.
 F

o
o

tb
al

l p
it

ch
 r

at
in

g
 

J.
 A

d
u

lt
 p

it
ch

es
: 

N
u

m
b

er
 o

f 
m

at
ch

 

eq
u

iv
al

e
n

t 
se

ss
io

n
s 

a 
w

ee
k/

p
it

ch
 

K
. 

Ju
n

io
r 

p
it

ch
es

: 
N

u
m

b
er

 o
f 

m
at

ch
 

eq
u

iv
al

e
n

t 
se

ss
io

n
s 

a 
w

ee
k/

p
it

ch
 

L.
 M

in
is

o
cc

er
 p

it
ch

es
: 

N
u

m
b

er
 o

f 

m
at

ch
 e

q
u

iv
al

en
t 

se
ss

io
n

s 
a 

w
ee

k/
p

it
ch

 

M
. 

A
d

u
lt

 p
it

ch
e

s 
M

A
TC

H
  C

A
P

A
C

IT
Y

 

(D
*J

) 

N
. 

Ju
n

io
r 

p
it

ch
es

 (
al

l s
iz

es
) 

M
A

TC
H

 

C
A

P
A

C
IT

Y
 (

E 
+

 F
) 

* 
K

 

O
. 

M
in

is
o

cc
er

 p
it

ch
es

 (
al

l s
iz

e
s)

 

M
A

TC
H

 C
A

P
A

C
IT

Y
 (

G
 +

 H
) 

* 
L 

P
. 

A
d

u
lt

 p
it

ch
 n

et
 s

it
e 

ca
p

ac
it

y 
(M

-A
) 

Q
. 

Ju
n

io
r 

p
it

ch
 n

et
 s

it
e

 c
ap

ac
it

y 
(N

-B
) 

R
. 

M
in

i p
it

ch
 n

et
 s

it
e 

ca
p

ac
it

y 
(O

-C
) 

Bishop Wadworth's School B Education Salisbury 0 0 0       1 2 Standard 1 1 2 0 0 5 0 0 2 

Bishopdown A1 LA Salisbury 3 0 0 1         Poor 1 1 4 1 0 0 -2 0 4 

Bishops Cannings C of E Primary School C Education Devizes 0 0 0         1 Standard 2 2 4 0 0 4 0 0 4 

Bishopstone Recreation Ground A1 LA South West Wiltshire 0 0 0 1         Standard 2 2 4 2 0 0 2 0 4 

Bonnymead A2 Club Amesbury 1.5 0 0 1         Standard 2 2 4 2 0 0 0.5 0 4 

Boscombe Down Sports Field C MoD Amesbury 0 0 0 1         Good 3 4 6 3 0 0 3 0 6 

Bower Hill Playing Fields A1 LA Melksham 1 3.5 0.88 3     2 1 Good 3 4 6 9 0 8 8 -3.5 5.12 

Bowood Sports Ground A2 Private Calne 0.5 4 0.38   1 1 2 2 Standard 2 2 4 0 3 10 -0.5 -1 3.62 

Box Recreation Ground A1 LA Corsham 0.5 0 0 1         Good 3 4 6 3 0 0 2.5 0 6 

Bradenstoke Recreation Ground A1 LA 
Royal Wootton Bassett and 
Cricklade 

0 0 0 1 
        

Standard 2 2 4 2 0 0 2 0 4 

Bradford & Winsley Community Sports Association A2 Club Bradford on Avon 1 7 1.5   2   3 1 Standard 2 2 4 0 2 7 -1 -5 2.5 

Bradford on Avon Sports and Social Club A2 Club Bradford on Avon 1 0 0 1         Standard 2 2 4 2 0 0 1 0 4 

Bradley Road A2 Club Trowbridge 2 1.5 1.75 1   1 2 2 Poor 1 1 2 1 1 6 -1 -0.5 0.25 

Bradon Forest School A3 Education 
Royal Wootton Bassett and 
Cricklade 

0 1 0.5 2 
  

1 
    

Standard 1 1 2 2 1 0 2 0 1.5 

Bradstone Sports Field A1 LA Malmesbury 1 0 0 1         Standard 2 2 4 2 0 0 1 0 4 

Bratton Recreation Ground A1 LA Westbury 1 0 0 1         Good 3 4 6 3 0 0 2 0 6 

Brian White Head Sports and Social Club A1 LA Southern Wiltshire 1 0 0 1         Good 3 4 6 3 0 0 2 0 6 

Broad Hinton C of E Primary School C Education Marlborough 0 0 0         1 Standard 2 2 4 0 0 4 0 0 4 

Broughton Gifford Common A1 LA Melksham 0 0 0.38 1         Standard 2 2 4 2 0 0 2 0 3.62 

Bulford Barracks Sports Ground C MoD Amesbury 0 0 0 1         Standard 2 2 4 2 0 0 2 0 4 

Bulford Recreation Ground A1 LA Amesbury 0.5 0 0 1       1 Standard 2 2 4 2 0 4 1.5 0 4 

Burbage & Easton Royal Sports Club A2 Club Pewsey 0 0 0           Standard 2 2 4 0 0 0 0 0 4 

Calne Recreation Ground A1 LA Calne 0 0 0 1         Good 3 4 6 3 0 0 3 0 6 

Calne Town Football Club A2 Club Calne 1.5 0 0 1         Good 3 4 6 3 0 0 1.5 0 6 

Castle Combe Sports Field A1 LA Chippenham 1.5 3.5 0.88 1   1   1 Good 3 4 6 3 4 6 1.5 0.5 5.12 

Castle Meadow Playing Field A1 LA South West Wiltshire 0 0 0 1         Standard 2 2 4 2 0 0 2 0 4 

P
age 257



Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy Needs Assessment       45 | P a g e   

 

Name 

A
va

ila
b

ili
ty

 

O
w

n
er

sh
ip

 

Su
b

 A
re

a
 

A
. T

o
ta

l a
d

u
lt

 m
at

ch
 e

q
u

iv
al

en
ts

/w
ee

k
 

B
. 

To
ta

l j
u

n
io

r 
m

at
ch

 

eq
u

iv
al

e
n

ts
/w

ee
k

 

C
. 

To
ta

l m
in

is
o

cc
er

 m
at

ch
 

eq
u

iv
al

e
n

tS
/w

e
ek

 

D
. 

To
ta

l a
d

u
lt

 p
it

ch
e

s 

E.
 T

o
ta

l y
o

u
th

 p
it

ch
es

 (
1

1
v1

1
) 

F.
 T

o
ta

l y
o

u
th

 p
it

ch
e

s(
9

v9
) 

G
. 

To
ta

l m
in

i s
o

cc
er

 p
it

ch
es

 (
7

v7
) 

H
. 

To
ta

l m
in

i s
o

cc
er

 p
it

ch
es

 (
5

v5
) 

I.
 F

o
o

tb
al

l p
it

ch
 r

at
in

g
 

J.
 A

d
u

lt
 p

it
ch

es
: 

N
u

m
b

er
 o

f 
m

at
ch

 

eq
u

iv
al

e
n

t 
se

ss
io

n
s 

a 
w

ee
k/

p
it

ch
 

K
. 

Ju
n

io
r 

p
it

ch
es

: 
N

u
m

b
er

 o
f 

m
at

ch
 

eq
u

iv
al

e
n

t 
se

ss
io

n
s 

a 
w

ee
k/

p
it

ch
 

L.
 M

in
is

o
cc

er
 p

it
ch

es
: 

N
u

m
b

er
 o

f 

m
at

ch
 e

q
u

iv
al

en
t 

se
ss

io
n

s 
a 

w
ee

k/
p

it
ch

 

M
. 

A
d

u
lt

 p
it

ch
e

s 
M

A
TC

H
  C

A
P

A
C

IT
Y

 

(D
*J

) 

N
. 

Ju
n

io
r 

p
it

ch
es

 (
al

l s
iz

es
) 

M
A

TC
H

 

C
A

P
A

C
IT

Y
 (

E 
+

 F
) 

* 
K

 

O
. 

M
in

is
o

cc
er

 p
it

ch
es

 (
al

l s
iz

e
s)

 

M
A

TC
H

 C
A

P
A

C
IT

Y
 (

G
 +

 H
) 

* 
L 

P
. 

A
d

u
lt

 p
it

ch
 n

et
 s

it
e 

ca
p

ac
it

y 
(M

-A
) 

Q
. 

Ju
n

io
r 

p
it

ch
 n

et
 s

it
e

 c
ap

ac
it

y 
(N

-B
) 

R
. 

M
in

i p
it

ch
 n

et
 s

it
e 

ca
p

ac
it

y 
(O

-C
) 

Chafyn Grove School C Education Salisbury 0 0 0       1   Standard 2 2 4 0 0 1 0 0 4 

Chalke Valley Sports Centre A1 LA South West Wiltshire 2 1 0 1     2 2 Standard 2 2 4 2 0 10 0 -1 4 

Charter Primary School C Education Chippenham 0 0 0           Standard 2 2 4 0 0 0 0 0 4 

Cherhill C of E Primary School C Education Calne 0 0 0         1 Standard 2 2 4 0 0 4 0 0 4 

Cherhill CC (Quernford Gate) A1 LA Calne 0 0 0           Standard 2 2 4 0 0 0 0 0 4 

Chesnut Springs Playing Field A1 LA 
Royal Wootton Bassett and 
Cricklade 

0 3 0.5 
  

1 1 2 1 Good 3 4 6 0 5 8 0 2 5.5 

Chilmark Cricket Ground A2 Club South West Wiltshire 0 0 0           Standard 2 2 4 0 0 0 0 0 4 

Chippenham RFC (Allington Fields) A2 Club Chippenham 0 0 0           Standard 2 2 4 0 0 0 0 0 4 

Chippenham Sports Club/Hardenhuish Park A2 Club Chippenham 2 0 0 1     Standard 2 2 4 2 0 0 0 0 0 

Chippenham Sports Club cricket field A2 Club Chippenham 0 0 0           Standard 2 2 4 0 0 0 0 0 4 

Chirton Primary School C Education Pewsey 0 0 0         1 Standard 2 2 4 0 0 4 0 0 4 

Chitterne Recreation Ground A2 Club Warminster 0 0 0           Standard 2 2 4 0 0 0 0 0 4 

Church Road Grass Pitches C Education Southern Wiltshire 0 0 0 2 1 1     Standard 2 2 4 4 3 0 4 3 4 

Codford Village Hall and Playing Field A1 LA Warminster 1 0 0 1         Standard 2 2 4 2 0 0 1 0 4 

Coldharbour Playing Fields (Warminster School) C Education Warminster 0 0 0           Standard 2 2 4 0 0 0 0 0 4 

Colerne RUFC (Higgins Field) C MoD Corsham 0 0 0           Standard 2 2 4 0 0 0 0 0 4 

Collingbourne Dulcis Recreation Ground A1 LA Tidworth 0.88 0 0 1         Good 3 4 6 3 0 0 2.12 0 6 

Compton Bassett Cricket Club A2 Private Calne 0 0 0           Standard 2 2 4 0 0 0 0 0 4 

Cornflower Play Area A1 LA Melksham 0 0 0.88     1     Standard 2 2 4 0 2 0 0 2 3.12 

Coronation Field A1 LA Southern Wiltshire 0 0 0           Standard 2 2 4 0 0 0 0 0 4 

Corsham Cricket Club A1 LA Corsham 0 0 0           Standard 2 2 4 0 0 0 0 0 4 

Corsham Primary School C Education Corsham 0 0 0     1     Standard 2 2 4 0 2 0 0 2 4 

Corsham School & Visual Arts Centre B Education Corsham 0 0 0           Standard 1 1 2 0 0 0 0 0 2 

Corsham Town Football and Rugby Clubs A1 LA Corsham 1.88 0 0 1         Good 3 4 6 3 0 0 1.12 0 6 

Corsley War Memorial Field A1 LA Warminster 0 0 0           Standard 2 2 4 0 0 0 0 0 4 

Corston Regis County Primary School (grass pitch) C Education Corsham 0 0 0     1     Standard 2 2 4 0 2 0 0 2 4 

cricket field at Compton Chamberlayne A2 Club South West Wiltshire 0 0 0           Standard 2 2 4 0 0 0 0 0 4 

P
age 258



Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy Needs Assessment       46 | P a g e   

 

Name 

A
va

ila
b

ili
ty

 

O
w

n
er

sh
ip

 

Su
b

 A
re

a
 

A
. T

o
ta

l a
d

u
lt

 m
at

ch
 e

q
u

iv
al

en
ts

/w
ee

k
 

B
. 

To
ta

l j
u

n
io

r 
m

at
ch

 

eq
u

iv
al

e
n

ts
/w

ee
k

 

C
. 

To
ta

l m
in

is
o

cc
er

 m
at

ch
 

eq
u

iv
al

e
n

tS
/w

e
ek

 

D
. 

To
ta

l a
d

u
lt

 p
it

ch
e

s 

E.
 T

o
ta

l y
o

u
th

 p
it

ch
es

 (
1

1
v1

1
) 

F.
 T

o
ta

l y
o

u
th

 p
it

ch
e

s(
9

v9
) 

G
. 

To
ta

l m
in

i s
o

cc
er

 p
it

ch
es

 (
7

v7
) 

H
. 

To
ta

l m
in

i s
o

cc
er

 p
it

ch
es

 (
5

v5
) 

I.
 F

o
o

tb
al

l p
it

ch
 r

at
in

g
 

J.
 A

d
u

lt
 p

it
ch

es
: 

N
u

m
b

er
 o

f 
m

at
ch

 

eq
u

iv
al

e
n

t 
se

ss
io

n
s 

a 
w

ee
k/

p
it

ch
 

K
. 

Ju
n

io
r 

p
it

ch
es

: 
N

u
m

b
er

 o
f 

m
at

ch
 

eq
u

iv
al

e
n

t 
se

ss
io

n
s 

a 
w

ee
k/

p
it

ch
 

L.
 M

in
is

o
cc

er
 p

it
ch

es
: 

N
u

m
b

er
 o

f 

m
at

ch
 e

q
u

iv
al

en
t 

se
ss

io
n

s 
a 

w
ee

k/
p

it
ch

 

M
. 

A
d

u
lt

 p
it

ch
e

s 
M

A
TC

H
  C

A
P

A
C

IT
Y

 

(D
*J

) 

N
. 

Ju
n

io
r 

p
it

ch
es

 (
al

l s
iz

es
) 

M
A

TC
H

 

C
A

P
A

C
IT

Y
 (

E 
+

 F
) 

* 
K

 

O
. 

M
in

is
o

cc
er

 p
it

ch
es

 (
al

l s
iz

e
s)

 

M
A

TC
H

 C
A

P
A

C
IT

Y
 (

G
 +

 H
) 

* 
L 

P
. 

A
d

u
lt

 p
it

ch
 n

et
 s

it
e 

ca
p

ac
it

y 
(M

-A
) 

Q
. 

Ju
n

io
r 

p
it

ch
 n

et
 s

it
e

 c
ap

ac
it

y 
(N

-B
) 

R
. 

M
in

i p
it

ch
 n

et
 s

it
e 

ca
p

ac
it

y 
(O

-C
) 

cricket field at Coombe Bissett A2 Club Southern Wiltshire 0 0 0           Standard 2 2 4 0 0 0 0 0 4 

cricket field off Frome Road, Wingfield B Private Bradford on Avon 0 0 0           Standard 2 2 4 0 0 0 0 0 4 

cricket field off Hackett Place C Education Trowbridge 0 0 0           Standard 2 2 4 0 0 0 0 0 4 

cricket field off Salisbury Road, Tidworth C MoD Tidworth 0 0 0           Standard 2 2 4 0 0 0 0 0 4 

cricket ground, West Lavington A3 Education Devizes 0 0 0           Standard 1 1 2 0 0 0 0 0 2 

Cricklade Leisure Centre A1 LA 
Royal Wootton Bassett and 
Cricklade 

2 1 0.63 2 
        

Standard 2 2 4 4 0 0 2 -1 3.37 

Crudwell C of E Primary School C Education Malmesbury 0 0 0       1   Standard 2 2 4 0 0 1 0 0 4 

Crudwell Village Hall A1 LA Malmesbury 0 0 0 1     1   Standard 2 2 4 2 0 1 2 0 4 

Culver Close Playing Field A1 LA Bradford on Avon 1 0 0 1         Good 3 4 6 3 0 0 2 0 6 

Dauntsey's School A3 Education Devizes 0.88 0 0           Standard 1 1 1 0 0 0 -0.88 0 1 

Deverills Cricket Field A2 Private Warminster 0 0 0           Standard 2 2 4 0 0 0 0 0 4 

Devizes School & Leisure Centre B Education Devizes 0 0 0 1         Standard 2 2 4 2 0 0 2 0 4 

Devizes Sports Club A2 Club Devizes 0.5 0 0           Standard 2 2 4 0 0 0 -0.5 0 4 

Devizes Town Football Club A2 Club Devizes 2.5 3.5 0.13 1         Standard 2 2 4 2 0 0 -0.5 -3.5 3.87 

Dilton Marsh Playing Field A1 LA Westbury 0.5 0 0.38 1     1   Standard 2 2 4 2 0 1 1.5 0 3.62 

Dilton Marsh Primary School C Education Westbury 0 0 0       1   Standard 2 2 4 0 0 1 0 0 4 

Dinton Recreation Ground A1 LA South West Wiltshire 0 0 0           Good 3 4 6 0 0 0 0 0 6 

Donhead Sports Club A2 Club South West Wiltshire 1 0 0 1         Standard 2 3 4 2 0 0 1 0 4 

Doric Park (Trowbridge RFC) A2 Club Trowbridge 0 0 0           Standard 2 2 4 0 0 0 0 0 4 

Downland School C Education Devizes 0 0 0     1     Standard 2 2 4 0 2 0 0 2 4 

DTSL Sports Ground, Porton Down MoD Amesbury 1 2 0.13 1         Standard 2 2 4 2 0 0 1 -2 3.87 

Duchy Manor A1 LA South West Wiltshire 0 1.5 0.25 1     2   Standard 2 2 4 2 0 2 2 -1.5 3.75 

Durrington Recreation Ground A1 LA Amesbury 1 1 0.63 1         Standard 2 2 4 2 0 0 1 -1 3.37 

Earl Danby's C of E Primary School C Education Malmesbury 0 0 0           Standard 2 2 4 0 0 0 0 0 4 

Earlestoke & Coulston Cricket Club A2 Club Devizes 0 0 0           Standard 2 2 4 0 0 0 0 0 4 

Elcot Lane Playing Field A1 LA Marlborough 2 1.5 0.5 2         Standard 2 2 4 4 0 0 2 -1.5 3.5 

end of East Gormeldon road, Gormeldon A1 LA Amesbury 0 0 0         1 Standard 2 2 4 0 0 4 0 0 4 

P
age 259



Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy Needs Assessment       47 | P a g e   

 

Name 

A
va

ila
b

ili
ty

 

O
w

n
er

sh
ip

 

Su
b

 A
re

a
 

A
. T

o
ta

l a
d

u
lt

 m
at

ch
 e

q
u

iv
al

en
ts

/w
ee

k
 

B
. 

To
ta

l j
u

n
io

r 
m

at
ch

 

eq
u

iv
al

e
n

ts
/w

ee
k

 

C
. 

To
ta

l m
in

is
o

cc
er

 m
at

ch
 

eq
u

iv
al

e
n

tS
/w

e
ek

 

D
. 

To
ta

l a
d

u
lt

 p
it

ch
e

s 

E.
 T

o
ta

l y
o

u
th

 p
it

ch
es

 (
1

1
v1

1
) 

F.
 T

o
ta

l y
o

u
th

 p
it

ch
e

s(
9

v9
) 

G
. 

To
ta

l m
in

i s
o

cc
er

 p
it

ch
es

 (
7

v7
) 

H
. 

To
ta

l m
in

i s
o

cc
er

 p
it

ch
es

 (
5

v5
) 

I.
 F

o
o

tb
al

l p
it

ch
 r

at
in

g
 

J.
 A

d
u

lt
 p

it
ch

es
: 

N
u

m
b

er
 o

f 
m

at
ch

 

eq
u

iv
al

e
n

t 
se

ss
io

n
s 

a 
w

ee
k/

p
it

ch
 

K
. 

Ju
n

io
r 

p
it

ch
es

: 
N

u
m

b
er

 o
f 

m
at

ch
 

eq
u

iv
al

e
n

t 
se

ss
io

n
s 

a 
w

ee
k/

p
it

ch
 

L.
 M

in
is

o
cc

er
 p

it
ch

es
: 

N
u

m
b

er
 o

f 

m
at

ch
 e

q
u

iv
al

en
t 

se
ss

io
n

s 
a 

w
ee

k/
p

it
ch

 

M
. 

A
d

u
lt

 p
it

ch
e

s 
M

A
TC

H
  C

A
P

A
C

IT
Y

 

(D
*J

) 

N
. 

Ju
n

io
r 

p
it

ch
es

 (
al

l s
iz

es
) 

M
A

TC
H

 

C
A

P
A

C
IT

Y
 (

E 
+

 F
) 

* 
K

 

O
. 

M
in

is
o

cc
er

 p
it

ch
es

 (
al

l s
iz

e
s)

 

M
A

TC
H

 C
A

P
A

C
IT

Y
 (

G
 +

 H
) 

* 
L 

P
. 

A
d

u
lt

 p
it

ch
 n

et
 s

it
e 

ca
p

ac
it

y 
(M

-A
) 

Q
. 

Ju
n

io
r 

p
it

ch
 n

et
 s

it
e

 c
ap

ac
it

y 
(N

-B
) 

R
. 

M
in

i p
it

ch
 n

et
 s

it
e 

ca
p

ac
it

y 
(O

-C
) 

Enford Recreation Ground A1 LA Tidworth 1 0 0   1       Good 3 4 6 0 1 0 -1 1 6 

Fairview Field, Cricklade A1 LA 
Royal Wootton Bassett and 
Cricklade 

0 0 0 
          

Standard 2 2 4 0 0 0 0 0 4 

Figheldean Recreation Ground A1 LA Amesbury 0.5 0 0 1         Standard 2 2 4 2 0 0 1.5 0 4 

Fisherton Recreation Ground (closed?) LA Amesbury 0 0 0           Standard 2 2 4 0 0 0 0 0 4 

Five Rivers Leisure Centre A1 LA Salisbury 0 1 0       2   Standard 2 2 4 0 0 2 0 -1 4 

Folly Lane pitches (Warminster RFC) A2 Club Warminster 0 0 0           Standard 2 2 4 0 0 0 0 0 4 

Fovant CC (East Farm) A2 Private South West Wiltshire 0 0 0           Standard 2 2 4 0 0 0 0 0 4 

Frogwell Primary School C Education Chippenham 0 0 0           Standard 2 2 4 0 0 0 0 0 4 

Gerard Buxton Playing Field A2 Club 
Royal Wootton Bassett and 
Cricklade 

2 0 0 1 
        

Standard 2 2 4 2 0 0 0 0 4 

Goatacre Cricket Club A2 Club Calne 0 0 0           Standard 2 2 4 0 0 0 0 0 4 

Goatacre Recreation Ground A1 LA Calne 1 0 0 2         Good 3 4 6 6 0 0 5 0 6 

Gormeldon Primary School C Education Amesbury 0 0 0           Standard 2 2 4 0 0 0 0 0 4 

Great Somerford FC A2 Private Malmesbury 0.5 0 0 1         Standard 2 2 4 2 0 0 1.5 0 4 

Green Lane Recreation Centre A1 LA Corsham 0.5 1 0.5 1         Good 3 4 6 3 0 0 2.5 -1 5.5 

Grittleton House School C Education Chippenham 0 0 0           Standard 2 2 4 0 0 0 0 0 4 

Hampton Park Pavilion A1 LA Salisbury 0 0 0       1   Standard 2 2 4 0 0 1 0 0 4 

Harnham C of E Junior School C Education Salisbury 0 0 0           Standard 2 2 4 0 0 0 0 0 4 

Harnham Cricket Ground B LA Salisbury 0 0 0           Standard 2 2 4 0 0 0 0 0 4 

Harnham Recreation Ground A1 LA Salisbury 1.5 1.5 0.13 1         Good 2 2 4 2 0 0 0.5 -1.5 3.87 

Heddington C of E Primary School (r/o) C Education Calne 0 0 0           Standard 2 2 4 0 0 0 0 0 4 

Highbury Field Football Ground A2 Club Warminster 0 5 0.5 1         Standard 2 2 4 2 0 0 2 -5 3.5 

Hilmarton Primary School C Education Calne 0 0 0           Standard 2 2 4 0 0 0 0 0 4 

Hilmarton Recreation Ground A1 LA Calne 0 0 0       1   Standard 2 2 4 0 0 1 0 0 4 

Holbrook Primary School C Education Trowbridge 0 0 0           Standard 2 2 4 0 0 0 0 0 4 

Holt Playing Field A1 LA Bradford on Avon 1 0.88 0 1         Good 3 4 6 3 0 0 2 -0.88 6 

Holy Trinity C of E Primary School C Education Calne 0 0 0           Standard 2 2 4 0 0 0 0 0 4 

P
age 260



Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy Needs Assessment       48 | P a g e   

 

Name 

A
va

ila
b

ili
ty

 

O
w

n
er

sh
ip

 

Su
b

 A
re

a
 

A
. T

o
ta

l a
d

u
lt

 m
at

ch
 e

q
u

iv
al

en
ts

/w
ee

k
 

B
. 

To
ta

l j
u

n
io

r 
m

at
ch

 

eq
u

iv
al

e
n

ts
/w

ee
k

 

C
. 

To
ta

l m
in

is
o

cc
er

 m
at

ch
 

eq
u

iv
al

e
n

tS
/w

e
ek

 

D
. 

To
ta

l a
d

u
lt

 p
it

ch
e

s 

E.
 T

o
ta

l y
o

u
th

 p
it

ch
es

 (
1

1
v1

1
) 

F.
 T

o
ta

l y
o

u
th

 p
it

ch
e

s(
9

v9
) 

G
. 

To
ta

l m
in

i s
o

cc
er

 p
it

ch
es

 (
7

v7
) 

H
. 

To
ta

l m
in

i s
o

cc
er

 p
it

ch
es

 (
5

v5
) 

I.
 F

o
o

tb
al

l p
it

ch
 r

at
in

g
 

J.
 A

d
u

lt
 p

it
ch

es
: 

N
u

m
b

er
 o

f 
m

at
ch

 

eq
u

iv
al

e
n

t 
se

ss
io

n
s 

a 
w

ee
k/

p
it

ch
 

K
. 

Ju
n

io
r 

p
it

ch
es

: 
N

u
m

b
er

 o
f 

m
at

ch
 

eq
u

iv
al

e
n

t 
se

ss
io

n
s 

a 
w

ee
k/

p
it

ch
 

L.
 M

in
is

o
cc

er
 p

it
ch

es
: 

N
u

m
b

er
 o

f 

m
at

ch
 e

q
u

iv
al

en
t 

se
ss

io
n

s 
a 

w
ee

k/
p

it
ch

 

M
. 

A
d

u
lt

 p
it

ch
e

s 
M

A
TC

H
  C

A
P

A
C

IT
Y

 

(D
*J

) 

N
. 

Ju
n

io
r 

p
it

ch
es

 (
al

l s
iz

es
) 

M
A

TC
H

 

C
A

P
A

C
IT

Y
 (

E 
+

 F
) 

* 
K

 

O
. 

M
in

is
o

cc
er

 p
it

ch
es

 (
al

l s
iz

e
s)

 

M
A

TC
H

 C
A

P
A

C
IT

Y
 (

G
 +

 H
) 

* 
L 

P
. 

A
d

u
lt

 p
it

ch
 n

et
 s

it
e 

ca
p

ac
it

y 
(M

-A
) 

Q
. 

Ju
n

io
r 

p
it

ch
 n

et
 s

it
e

 c
ap

ac
it

y 
(N

-B
) 

R
. 

M
in

i p
it

ch
 n

et
 s

it
e 

ca
p

ac
it

y 
(O

-C
) 

Hornshingham Playing Fields A1 LA Warminster 0 1 0     1     Standard 2 2 4 0 2 0 0 1 4 

Hudsons Field A1 LA Salisbury 3 0 0 3     2 1 Standard 2 2 4 6 0 6 3 0 4 

Hullavington CofE Primary School C Education Chippenham 0 0 0       1   Standard 2 2 4 0 0 1 0 0 4 

Idmiston Primary School C Education Amesbury 0 0 0           Standard 1 1 2 0 0 0 0 0 2 

Ivy Lane Primary School C Education Chippenham 0 0 0           Standard 2 2 4 0 0 0 0 0 4 

John of Gaunt School A3 Education Trowbridge 0 4 0 2         Standard 1 1 2 2 0 0 2 -4 2 

Jubilee Field A1 LA Devizes 0.5 2 0 1   1     Good 3 4 6 3 4 0 2.5 2 6 

Jubilee Playing Field A1 LA Chippenham 0 0.5 0 1         Standard 2 2 4 2 0 0 2 -0.5 4 

Junction Road Recreation Ground A1 LA Southern Wiltshire 0 10.5 7.88 2         Good 1 1 6 2 0 0 2 -10.5 -1.88 

Kennett Valley Village Hall A1 LA Marlborough 0 0 0           Standard 2 2 4 0 0 0 0 0 4 

Kilmington & Stourton Cricket Club A2 Club South West Wiltshire 0 0 0           Standard 2 2 4 0 0 0 0 0 4 

King George V Playing Field A1 LA Tidworth 0 0 0 1         Standard 2 2 4 2 0 0 2 0 4 

King George V Playing Fields A1 LA Melksham 0 2 0 1         Poor 1 1 2 1 0 0 1 -2 2 

Kington Langley Playing Field A1 LA Chippenham 0.5 0 0 1       1 Good 3 4 6 3 0 6 2.5 0 6 

Lambrok Playing Field A1 LA Trowbridge 4.88 0 0 2         Poor 1 1 2 2 0 0 -2.88 0 2 

Land Warfare Centre, Warminster C MoD Warminster 0 0 0 3         Standard 2 2 4 6 0 0 6 0 4 

Landford Recreation Ground A1 LA Southern Wiltshire 0 0 0 1         Standard 2 2 4 2 0 0 2 0 4 

Langley Burrell Playing Field A1 LA Chippenham 0 0 0 1         Good 3 4 6 3 0 0 3 0 6 

Laverstock & Ford Sports Club A2 Club Southern Wiltshire 4.25 0.5 0.13 2         Good 3 4 6 6 0 0 1.75 -0.5 5.87 

Lavington School A3 Education Devizes 0 0.5 0 2     1   Standard 1 1 2 2 0 1 2 -0.5 2 

Lea and Garsdon C of E Primary School C Education Malmesbury 0 0 0           Standard 2 2 4 0 0 0 0 0 4 

Leafy Lane, Hawthorn A1 LA Corsham 2.5 4 1.25 3 1 1 4   Good 3 4 6 9 5 4 6.5 1 4.75 

Leehurst Swan School C Education Salisbury 0 0 0 1         Standard 2 2 4 2 0 0 2 0 4 

Leighton Recreation Centre A1 LA Westbury 3.5 1 0 2         Standard 2 2 4 4 0 0 0.5 -1 4 

Little Marsh Playing Field A1 LA Melksham 1.5 0.5 0           Standard 2 2 4 0 0 0 -1.5 -0.5 4 

Longleaze Primary School C Education 
Royal Wootton Bassett and 
Cricklade 

0 0 0 
          

Standard 2 2 4 0 0 0 0 0 4 

Ludgershall Sports & Social Club Football Ground A2 Club Tidworth 1.5 3.13 1.13 1         Standard 2 3 4 2 0 0 0.5 -3.13 2.87 

P
age 261



Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy Needs Assessment       49 | P a g e   

 

Name 

A
va

ila
b

ili
ty

 

O
w

n
er

sh
ip

 

Su
b

 A
re

a
 

A
. T

o
ta

l a
d

u
lt

 m
at

ch
 e

q
u

iv
al

en
ts

/w
ee

k
 

B
. 

To
ta

l j
u

n
io

r 
m

at
ch

 

eq
u

iv
al

e
n

ts
/w

ee
k

 

C
. 

To
ta

l m
in

is
o

cc
er

 m
at

ch
 

eq
u

iv
al

e
n

tS
/w

e
ek

 

D
. 

To
ta

l a
d

u
lt

 p
it

ch
e

s 

E.
 T

o
ta

l y
o

u
th

 p
it

ch
es

 (
1

1
v1

1
) 

F.
 T

o
ta

l y
o

u
th

 p
it

ch
e

s(
9

v9
) 

G
. 

To
ta

l m
in

i s
o

cc
er

 p
it

ch
es

 (
7

v7
) 

H
. 

To
ta

l m
in

i s
o

cc
er

 p
it

ch
es

 (
5

v5
) 

I.
 F

o
o

tb
al

l p
it

ch
 r

at
in

g
 

J.
 A

d
u

lt
 p

it
ch

es
: 

N
u

m
b

er
 o

f 
m

at
ch

 

eq
u

iv
al

e
n

t 
se

ss
io

n
s 

a 
w

ee
k/

p
it

ch
 

K
. 

Ju
n

io
r 

p
it

ch
es

: 
N

u
m

b
er

 o
f 

m
at

ch
 

eq
u

iv
al

e
n

t 
se

ss
io

n
s 

a 
w

ee
k/

p
it

ch
 

L.
 M

in
is

o
cc

er
 p

it
ch

es
: 

N
u

m
b

er
 o

f 

m
at

ch
 e

q
u

iv
al

en
t 

se
ss

io
n

s 
a 

w
ee

k/
p

it
ch

 

M
. 

A
d

u
lt

 p
it

ch
e

s 
M

A
TC

H
  C

A
P

A
C

IT
Y

 

(D
*J

) 

N
. 

Ju
n

io
r 

p
it

ch
es

 (
al

l s
iz

es
) 

M
A

TC
H

 

C
A

P
A

C
IT

Y
 (

E 
+

 F
) 

* 
K

 

O
. 

M
in

is
o

cc
er

 p
it

ch
es

 (
al

l s
iz

e
s)

 

M
A

TC
H

 C
A

P
A

C
IT

Y
 (

G
 +

 H
) 

* 
L 

P
. 

A
d

u
lt

 p
it

ch
 n

et
 s

it
e 

ca
p

ac
it

y 
(M

-A
) 

Q
. 

Ju
n

io
r 

p
it

ch
 n

et
 s

it
e

 c
ap

ac
it

y 
(N

-B
) 

R
. 

M
in

i p
it

ch
 n

et
 s

it
e 

ca
p

ac
it

y 
(O

-C
) 

Malmesbury C of E Primary School C Education Malmesbury 0 0 0           Standard 2 2 4 0 0 0 0 0 4 

Malmesbury School C Education Malmesbury 0 0 0           Standard 2 2 4 0 0 0 0 0 4 

Malmesbury Victoria Football Ground A2 Club Malmesbury 2.5 1 0 1         Poor 1 1 2 1 0 0 -1.5 -1 2 

Malmesbury Youth FC (Red Bull Pitches) A2 Club Malmesbury 0 7 6.75   3 1 2 3 Standard 2 2 4 0 5 14 0 -2 -2.75 

Marlborough College C Education Marlborough 0 0 0           Standard 2 2 4 0 0 0 0 0 4 

Marlborough Cricket Club A2 Club Marlborough 0 0 0           Standard 2 2 4 0 0 0 0 0 4 

Marlborough School C Education Marlborough 0 0 0   1       Standard 2 2 4 0 1 0 0 1 4 

Marlborough School Pitches C Education Marlborough 0 0 0           Standard 2 2 4 0 0 0 0 0 4 

Matravers School B Education Westbury 0 0 0 1 1       Standard 1 1 2 1 1 0 1 1 2 

Melksham Oak Community School A3 Education Melksham 1.5 1.5 0 4 2       Standard 1 1 2 4 2 0 2.5 0.5 2 

Memorial Ground, Romsey Road A1 LA Southern Wiltshire 0.5 0 0 1         Standard 2 2 4 2 0 0 1.5 0 4 

Mere Peace Memorial Sports & Recreation Ground A1 LA South West Wiltshire 2 0 0 2         Good 3 4 6 6 0 0 4 0 6 

Meriton Recreation Ground, Corsham A1 LA Corsham 0.5 0 0 1         Good 3 4 6 3 0 0 2.5 0 6 

Middle Street Meadow A1 LA Salisbury 1.5 0 0 1         Good 3 4 6 3 0 0 1.5 0 6 

Mildenhall CC A1 LA Marlborough 0 0 0           Standard 2 2 4 0 0 0 0 0 4 

Minety C of E Primary School C Education Malmesbury 0 0 0         1 Standard 2 2 4 0 0 4 0 0 4 

Minety Playing Fields A1 LA Malmesbury 1 0 0           Standard 2 2 4 0 0 0 -1 0 4 

Monkton Farleigh Primary School (closed?) C Education Bradford on Avon 0 0 0           Standard 2 2 4 0 0 0 0 0 4 

Monkton Park Primary School pitch C Education Chippenham 0 0 0           Standard 2 2 4 0 0 0 0 0 4 

Noremarsh Community Junior School C Education 
Royal Wootton Bassett and 
Cricklade 

0 0 0 
          

Standard 2 2 4 0 0 0 0 0 4 

Normansland Recreation Ground A1 LA Southern Wiltshire 0.5 0 0 1     1   Good 3 4 6 3 0 1 2.5 0 6 

North Bradley C of E Primary School C Education Trowbridge 0 0 0           Standard 2 2 4 0 0 0 0 0 4 

North Bradley Peace Memorial Recreation Ground A1 LA Trowbridge 0.5 0 0 1         Standard 2 2 4 2 0 0 1.5 0 4 

Nuntgon Recreation Ground A1 LA Southern Wiltshire 0 0 0 1         Standard 2 2 4 2 0 0 2 0 4 

Oaksey Playing Field A1 LA Malmesbury 0 0 0.25 1 1       Standard 2 2 4 2 1 0 2 1 3.75 

off Alton Road, Wilcot A2 Club Pewsey 0 0 0           Standard 2 2 4 0 0 0 0 0 4 

off Bradley Lane, Maiden Bradley A1 LA Warminster 0 0 0   1       Standard 2 2 4 0 1 0 0 1 4 

P
age 262



Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy Needs Assessment       50 | P a g e   

 

Name 

A
va

ila
b

ili
ty

 

O
w

n
er

sh
ip

 

Su
b

 A
re

a
 

A
. T

o
ta

l a
d

u
lt

 m
at

ch
 e

q
u

iv
al

en
ts

/w
ee

k
 

B
. 

To
ta

l j
u

n
io

r 
m

at
ch

 

eq
u

iv
al

e
n

ts
/w

ee
k

 

C
. 

To
ta

l m
in

is
o

cc
er

 m
at

ch
 

eq
u

iv
al

e
n

tS
/w

e
ek

 

D
. 

To
ta

l a
d

u
lt

 p
it

ch
e

s 

E.
 T

o
ta

l y
o

u
th

 p
it

ch
es

 (
1

1
v1

1
) 

F.
 T

o
ta

l y
o

u
th

 p
it

ch
e

s(
9

v9
) 

G
. 

To
ta

l m
in

i s
o

cc
er

 p
it

ch
es

 (
7

v7
) 

H
. 

To
ta

l m
in

i s
o

cc
er

 p
it

ch
es

 (
5

v5
) 

I.
 F

o
o

tb
al

l p
it

ch
 r

at
in

g
 

J.
 A

d
u

lt
 p

it
ch

es
: 

N
u

m
b

er
 o

f 
m

at
ch

 

eq
u

iv
al

e
n

t 
se

ss
io

n
s 

a 
w

ee
k/

p
it

ch
 

K
. 

Ju
n

io
r 

p
it

ch
es

: 
N

u
m

b
er

 o
f 

m
at

ch
 

eq
u

iv
al

e
n

t 
se

ss
io

n
s 

a 
w

ee
k/

p
it

ch
 

L.
 M

in
is

o
cc

er
 p

it
ch

es
: 

N
u

m
b

er
 o

f 

m
at

ch
 e

q
u

iv
al

en
t 

se
ss

io
n

s 
a 

w
ee

k/
p

it
ch

 

M
. 

A
d

u
lt

 p
it

ch
e

s 
M

A
TC

H
  C

A
P

A
C

IT
Y

 

(D
*J

) 

N
. 

Ju
n

io
r 

p
it

ch
es

 (
al

l s
iz

es
) 

M
A

TC
H

 

C
A

P
A

C
IT

Y
 (

E 
+

 F
) 

* 
K

 

O
. 

M
in

is
o

cc
er

 p
it

ch
es

 (
al

l s
iz

e
s)

 

M
A

TC
H

 C
A

P
A

C
IT

Y
 (

G
 +

 H
) 

* 
L 

P
. 

A
d

u
lt

 p
it

ch
 n

et
 s

it
e 

ca
p

ac
it

y 
(M

-A
) 

Q
. 

Ju
n

io
r 

p
it

ch
 n

et
 s

it
e

 c
ap

ac
it

y 
(N

-B
) 

R
. 

M
in

i p
it

ch
 n

et
 s

it
e 

ca
p

ac
it

y 
(O

-C
) 

off Britford Road, Salisbury (Bishop Wordworth's School) C Education Salisbury 0 0 0           Standard 2 2 4 0 0 0 0 0 4 

off Church Lane, Rushall B Other Pewsey 0 0 0           Standard 2 2 4 0 0 0 0 0 4 

off Church Lane, Stanton St Quintin C MoD Chippenham 0 0 0 1         Standard 2 2 4 2 0 0 2 0 4 

off Farm Lane, Bedwyn A1 LA Pewsey 0 0 0 1         Standard 2 2 4 2 0 0 2 0 4 

off Frees Avenue, Marlborough A1 LA Marlborough 0 3 0.88 

  

1 2 2 Standard 2 2 4 0 2 10 0 -1 9.12 

                      

off Frog Lane Bedwyn A1 LA Pewsey 0 0 0           Standard 2 2 4 0 0 0 0 0 4 

off Green Lane, Devizes A1 LA Devizes 0.5 1 0.88   1   1 1 Good 2 2 4 0 1 5 -0.5 0 3.12 

off Henrys Garth, Burbage A1 LA Pewsey 0.5 0 0 1   1     Good 3 4 6 3 4 0 2.5 4 6 

off High Road, Ashton Keynes A1 LA Malmesbury 0 2.5 0.5 1   1 2 1 Standard 2 2 4 2 2 6 2 -0.5 3.5 

off High Street, Sutton Veny A1 LA Warminster 0 0 0 1     1   Standard 2 2 4 2 0 1 2 0 4 

off Highfield, Bromham A1 LA Devizes 0 0 0       1   Standard 2 2 4 0 0 1 0 0 4 

off Hillside, Leigh A1 LA Malmesbury 0 0 0         1 Standard 2 2 4 0 0 4 0 0 4 

off Jubilee Hill, Durnford A2 Private Amesbury 0 0 0           Standard 2 2 4 0 0 0 0 0 4 

off Lipgate A1 LA Devizes 0 0 0       1   Standard 2 2 4 0 0 1 0 0 4 

off Manor Lane, Broad Hinton A2 Private Marlborough 0 0 0           Standard 2 2 4 0 0 0 0 0 4 

off Meerut Road, Tidworth C MoD Tidworth 0 0 0 1         Standard 2 2 4 2 0 0 2 0 4 

Off Netherhampton Road A2 Other South West Wiltshire 1.5 0.88 0.5 2 1    Standard 2 2 4 4 1 0 2.5 0.12 -0.5 

off Park  Street A2 Club Warminster 1 0 0 1         Standard 2 2 4 2 0 0 1 0 4 

off Pool Green, Neston A1 LA Corsham 0 0 0         1 Standard 2 2 4 0 0 4 0 0 4 

off Portway, Gomeldon A1 LA Amesbury 0 0 0           Standard 2 2 4 0 0 0 0 0 4 

off Redhills, Broadtown A1 LA 
Royal Wootton Bassett and 
Cricklade 

0 0 0 
      

1 
  

Standard 2 2 4 0 0 1 0 0 4 

off Riverside Drive, Melksham A1 LA Melksham 0 0 0         1 Good 3 4 6 0 0 6 0 0 6 

off Stag Lane, Chilton Foliat A1 LA Marlborough 0 0 0     1     Standard 2 2 4 0 2 0 0 2 4 

off Stoneover Lane, Wootton Bassett A1 LA 
Royal Wootton Bassett and 
Cricklade 

0 0 0 
          

Standard 2 2 4 0 0 0 0 0 4 

off Swindon Road, Brinkworth A1 LA Malmesbury 0 0 0     1     Standard 2 2 4 0 2 0 0 2 4 

P
age 263



Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy Needs Assessment       51 | P a g e   

 

Name 

A
va

ila
b

ili
ty

 

O
w

n
er

sh
ip

 

Su
b

 A
re

a
 

A
. T

o
ta

l a
d

u
lt

 m
at

ch
 e

q
u

iv
al

en
ts

/w
ee

k
 

B
. 

To
ta

l j
u

n
io

r 
m

at
ch

 

eq
u

iv
al

e
n

ts
/w

ee
k

 

C
. 

To
ta

l m
in

is
o

cc
er

 m
at

ch
 

eq
u

iv
al

e
n

tS
/w

e
ek

 

D
. 

To
ta

l a
d

u
lt

 p
it

ch
e

s 

E.
 T

o
ta

l y
o

u
th

 p
it

ch
es

 (
1

1
v1

1
) 

F.
 T

o
ta

l y
o

u
th

 p
it

ch
e

s(
9

v9
) 

G
. 

To
ta

l m
in

i s
o

cc
er

 p
it

ch
es

 (
7

v7
) 

H
. 

To
ta

l m
in

i s
o

cc
er

 p
it

ch
es

 (
5

v5
) 

I.
 F

o
o

tb
al

l p
it

ch
 r

at
in

g
 

J.
 A

d
u

lt
 p

it
ch

es
: 

N
u

m
b

er
 o

f 
m

at
ch

 

eq
u

iv
al

e
n

t 
se

ss
io

n
s 

a 
w

ee
k/

p
it

ch
 

K
. 

Ju
n

io
r 

p
it

ch
es

: 
N

u
m

b
er

 o
f 

m
at

ch
 

eq
u

iv
al

e
n

t 
se

ss
io

n
s 

a 
w

ee
k/

p
it

ch
 

L.
 M

in
is

o
cc

er
 p

it
ch

es
: 

N
u

m
b

er
 o

f 

m
at

ch
 e

q
u

iv
al

en
t 

se
ss

io
n

s 
a 

w
ee

k/
p

it
ch

 

M
. 

A
d

u
lt

 p
it

ch
e

s 
M

A
TC

H
  C

A
P

A
C

IT
Y

 

(D
*J

) 

N
. 

Ju
n

io
r 

p
it

ch
es

 (
al

l s
iz

es
) 

M
A

TC
H

 

C
A

P
A

C
IT

Y
 (

E 
+

 F
) 

* 
K

 

O
. 

M
in

is
o

cc
er

 p
it

ch
es

 (
al

l s
iz

e
s)

 

M
A

TC
H

 C
A

P
A

C
IT

Y
 (

G
 +

 H
) 

* 
L 

P
. 

A
d

u
lt

 p
it

ch
 n

et
 s

it
e 

ca
p

ac
it

y 
(M

-A
) 

Q
. 

Ju
n

io
r 

p
it

ch
 n

et
 s

it
e

 c
ap

ac
it

y 
(N

-B
) 

R
. 

M
in

i p
it

ch
 n

et
 s

it
e 

ca
p

ac
it

y 
(O

-C
) 

off Tetbury Lane, Chartlon A1 LA Malmesbury 0 0 0           Standard 2 2 4 0 0 0 0 0 4 

off The Butts, Potterne C Education Marlborough 0 0 0       1   Standard 2 2 4 0 0 1 0 0 4 

off The Lynch, Shalbourne A1 LA Pewsey 0.5 0 0 1         Poor 3 4 6 3 0 0 2.5 0 6 

off The Street, Grittleton A1 LA Chippenham 0 0 0           Standard 2 2 4 0 0 0 0 0 4 

off The Street, Marden B Private Pewsey 0 0 0           Standard 2 2 4 0 0 0 0 0 4 

off The Street, Milton Lilbourne A1 Education Pewsey 0 0 0 1         Good 3 4 6 3 0 0 3 0 6 

off Westbury Road, Edington A1 LA Westbury 0 0 0         1 Standard 2 2 4 0 0 4 0 0 4 

off Yatton Road, Biddestone A2 Club Chippenham 2.5 1 0 1         Standard 2 2 4 2 0 0 -0.5 -1 4 

Old Hospital Recreation Land A1 LA Pewsey 0 3 0.38 1   1 1 1 Standard 2 3 4 2 3 5 2 0 3.62 

Pembroke Park Primary School A3 Education Salisbury 1 3 0.5     1     Standard 1 1 2 0 1 0 -1 -2 1.5 

Pennymead A1 LA Malmesbury 0 0 0       1   Standard 2 2 4 0 0 1 0 0 4 

Pewsey Vale Football Club A2 Club Pewsey 3.13 0 0 1         Good 3 4 6 3 0 0 -0.13 0 6 

Pewsey Vale School B Education Pewsey 0 0 0 2 1       Standard 1 1 2 2 1 0 2 1 2 

pitch at Chilmark School C Education South West Wiltshire 0 0 0       1   Standard 2 2 4 0 0 1 0 0 4 

pitch off Bath Road, Shaw B Other Melksham 0 0 0     1     Standard 2 2 4 0 2 0 0 2 4 

pitch off Coppershell A1 LA Corsham 0 0 0         1 Standard 2 2 4 0 0 4 0 0 4 

pitch off Forest Road, Wootton Rivers A1 LA Pewsey 0 0 0         1 Standard 2 2 4 0 0 4 0 0 4 

pitch off Limpley Stoke Road, Winsley A1 LA Bradford on Avon 0 0 0   1       Standard 2 2 4 0 1 0 0 1 4 

pitch off Priestley Grove, Calne A1 LA Calne 0.5 0 0 1         Good 3 4 6 3 0 0 2.5 0 6 

pitch off Winterslow Road, Idmiston C Education Amesbury 0 0 0       1   Standard 2 2 4 0 0 1 0 0 4 

pitches off Grand Trunk Road, Tidworth Garrison C MoD Tidworth 0 0 0 1         Standard 2 2 4 2 0 0 2 0 4 

Pitton C of E Primary School C Education Southern Wiltshire 0 0 0           Standard 2 2 4 0 0 0 0 0 4 

Potterne Cricket Club A2 Private Devizes 0 0 0           Standard 2 2 4 0 0 0 0 0 4 

Poulton Playing Field (inc Bradford News FC) A1 LA Bradford on Avon 1 0 0 1         Standard 2 2 4 2 0 0 1 0 4 

Priestley Primary School C Education Calne 0 0 0           Standard 2 2 4 0 0 0 0 0 4 

Princecroft Primary School C Education Warminster 0 0 0           Standard 2 2 4 0 0 0 0 0 4 

Prinkney Park, Sherston A2 Club Malmesbury 0 0 0           Standard 2 2 4 0 0 0 0 0 4 

P
age 264



Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy Needs Assessment       52 | P a g e   

 

Name 

A
va

ila
b

ili
ty

 

O
w

n
er

sh
ip

 

Su
b

 A
re

a
 

A
. T

o
ta

l a
d

u
lt

 m
at

ch
 e

q
u

iv
al

en
ts

/w
ee

k
 

B
. 

To
ta

l j
u

n
io

r 
m

at
ch

 

eq
u

iv
al

e
n

ts
/w

ee
k

 

C
. 

To
ta

l m
in

is
o

cc
er

 m
at

ch
 

eq
u

iv
al

e
n

tS
/w

e
ek

 

D
. 

To
ta

l a
d

u
lt

 p
it

ch
e

s 

E.
 T

o
ta

l y
o

u
th

 p
it

ch
es

 (
1

1
v1

1
) 

F.
 T

o
ta

l y
o

u
th

 p
it

ch
e

s(
9

v9
) 

G
. 

To
ta

l m
in

i s
o

cc
er

 p
it

ch
es

 (
7

v7
) 

H
. 

To
ta

l m
in

i s
o

cc
er

 p
it

ch
es

 (
5

v5
) 

I.
 F

o
o

tb
al

l p
it

ch
 r

at
in

g
 

J.
 A

d
u

lt
 p

it
ch

es
: 

N
u

m
b

er
 o

f 
m

at
ch

 

eq
u

iv
al

e
n

t 
se

ss
io

n
s 

a 
w

ee
k/

p
it

ch
 

K
. 

Ju
n

io
r 

p
it

ch
es

: 
N

u
m

b
er

 o
f 

m
at

ch
 

eq
u

iv
al

e
n

t 
se

ss
io

n
s 

a 
w

ee
k/

p
it

ch
 

L.
 M

in
is

o
cc

er
 p

it
ch

es
: 

N
u

m
b

er
 o

f 

m
at

ch
 e

q
u

iv
al

en
t 

se
ss

io
n

s 
a 

w
ee

k/
p

it
ch

 

M
. 

A
d

u
lt

 p
it

ch
e

s 
M

A
TC

H
  C

A
P

A
C

IT
Y

 

(D
*J

) 

N
. 

Ju
n

io
r 

p
it

ch
es

 (
al

l s
iz

es
) 

M
A

TC
H

 

C
A

P
A

C
IT

Y
 (

E 
+

 F
) 

* 
K

 

O
. 

M
in

is
o

cc
er

 p
it

ch
es

 (
al

l s
iz

e
s)

 

M
A

TC
H

 C
A

P
A

C
IT

Y
 (

G
 +

 H
) 

* 
L 

P
. 

A
d

u
lt

 p
it

ch
 n

et
 s

it
e 

ca
p

ac
it

y 
(M

-A
) 

Q
. 

Ju
n

io
r 

p
it

ch
 n

et
 s

it
e

 c
ap

ac
it

y 
(N

-B
) 

R
. 

M
in

i p
it

ch
 n

et
 s

it
e 

ca
p

ac
it

y 
(O

-C
) 

Prior Park Preparatory School C Education 
Royal Wootton Bassett and 
Cricklade 

0 0 0 
          

Standard 2 2 4 0 0 0 0 0 4 

Purton Cricket Club A2 Club 
Royal Wootton Bassett and 
Cricklade 

0 0 0 
          

Standard 2 2 4 0 0 0 0 0 4 

RAF Larkhill (football ptich of Brackenbury Road) C MoD Amesbury 0.5 0 0 1         Standard 2 2 4 2 0 0 1.5 0 4 

RAF Larkhill, (Bell Road Cricket Field) MoD Amesbury 0 0 0           Standard 2 2 4 0 0 0 0 0 4 

Ramsbury Primary School C Education Marlborough 0 0 0           Standard 2 2 4 0 0 0 0 0 4 

Ramsbury Recreation Centre A1 LA Marlborough 1.75 4.38 4.5 1 1 1   1 Good 3 4 6 3 5 6 1.25 0.62 1.5 

Redland Lane Field A1 LA Westbury 0.88 11.25 6.75 1 1       Standard 2 2 4 2 1 0 1.12 -10.25 -2.75 

Redlynch Recreation Ground A1 LA Southern Wiltshire 2.5 0 0 2         Good 3 4 6 6 0 0 3.5 0 6 

Rowdeford School C Education Devizes 0 0 0   1       Standard 2 2 4 0 1 0 0 1 4 

Royal Wootton Bassett Academy B Education 
Royal Wootton Bassett and 
Cricklade 

0 0 0 
          

Standard 1 1 2 0 0 0 0 0 2 

Rudloe Recreation Ground A1 LA Corsham 0 0 0         1 Good 3 4 6 0 0 6 0 0 6 

rugby field off Chatham Close C MoD Salisbury 0 0 0           Standard 2 2 4 0 0 0 0 0 4 

Rushall C of E Primary School C Education Pewsey 0 0 0           Standard 2 2 4 0 0 0 0 0 4 

Salisbury & South Wilts Sports Club A2 Club Salisbury 0 0.5 0 2     Good 3 4 6 6 0 0 6 -0.5 0 

Salisbury City Football Club A2 Club Southern Wiltshire 2 0 0 1     Standard 2 0 0 2 0 0 0 0 0 

Salisbury Road Recreation Ground A1 LA Marlborough 0 2.5 0 1         Good 3 4 6 3 0 0 3 -2.5 6 

Sands Lane, Rowde A1 LA Devizes 1.5 0 0 2         Good 3 4 6 6 0 0 4.5 0 6 

Sarum Academy C Education Salisbury 0 0 0 1         Standard 2 2 4 2 0 0 2 0 4 

School adj to Westinghouse Cricket Club C Education Chippenham 0 0 0           Standard 2 2 4 0 0 0 0 0 4 

School at Longbridge Deverill C Education Warminster 0 0 0           Standard 2 2 4 0 0 0 0 0 4 

school at Middle Woodford C Education Amesbury 0 0 0     1     Standard 2 2 4 0 2 0 0 2 4 

School Lane Playing Field A3 Education Bradford on Avon 0 5.75 6.75         2 Standard 1 1 2 0 0 4 0 -5.75 -4.75 

school north west of Potterne village C Education Devizes 0 0 0           Standard 2 2 4 0 0 0 0 0 4 

school of Broad Cloth Lane C Education Trowbridge 0 0 0           Standard 2 2 4 0 0 0 0 0 4 

school off Arundel Close, Westbury C Education Westbury 0 0 0           Standard 2 2 4 0 0 0 0 0 4 

school off Bedford Road C Education Salisbury 0 0 0           Standard 2 2 4 0 0 0 0 0 4 

P
age 265



Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy Needs Assessment       53 | P a g e   

 

Name 

A
va

ila
b

ili
ty

 

O
w

n
er

sh
ip

 

Su
b

 A
re

a
 

A
. T

o
ta

l a
d

u
lt

 m
at

ch
 e

q
u

iv
al

en
ts

/w
ee

k
 

B
. 

To
ta

l j
u

n
io

r 
m

at
ch

 

eq
u

iv
al

e
n

ts
/w

ee
k

 

C
. 

To
ta

l m
in

is
o

cc
er

 m
at

ch
 

eq
u

iv
al

e
n

tS
/w

e
ek

 

D
. 

To
ta

l a
d

u
lt

 p
it

ch
e

s 

E.
 T

o
ta

l y
o

u
th

 p
it

ch
es

 (
1

1
v1

1
) 

F.
 T

o
ta

l y
o

u
th

 p
it

ch
e

s(
9

v9
) 

G
. 

To
ta

l m
in

i s
o

cc
er

 p
it

ch
es

 (
7

v7
) 

H
. 

To
ta

l m
in

i s
o

cc
er

 p
it

ch
es

 (
5

v5
) 

I.
 F

o
o

tb
al

l p
it

ch
 r

at
in

g
 

J.
 A

d
u

lt
 p

it
ch

es
: 

N
u

m
b

er
 o

f 
m

at
ch

 

eq
u

iv
al

e
n

t 
se

ss
io

n
s 

a 
w

ee
k/

p
it

ch
 

K
. 

Ju
n

io
r 

p
it

ch
es

: 
N

u
m

b
er

 o
f 

m
at

ch
 

eq
u

iv
al

e
n

t 
se

ss
io

n
s 

a 
w

ee
k/

p
it

ch
 

L.
 M

in
is

o
cc

er
 p

it
ch

es
: 

N
u

m
b

er
 o

f 

m
at

ch
 e

q
u

iv
al

en
t 

se
ss

io
n

s 
a 

w
ee

k/
p

it
ch

 

M
. 

A
d

u
lt

 p
it

ch
e

s 
M

A
TC

H
  C

A
P

A
C

IT
Y

 

(D
*J

) 

N
. 

Ju
n

io
r 

p
it

ch
es

 (
al

l s
iz

es
) 

M
A

TC
H

 

C
A

P
A

C
IT

Y
 (

E 
+

 F
) 

* 
K

 

O
. 

M
in

is
o

cc
er

 p
it

ch
es

 (
al

l s
iz

e
s)

 

M
A

TC
H

 C
A

P
A

C
IT

Y
 (

G
 +

 H
) 

* 
L 

P
. 

A
d

u
lt

 p
it

ch
 n

et
 s

it
e 

ca
p

ac
it

y 
(M

-A
) 

Q
. 

Ju
n

io
r 

p
it

ch
 n

et
 s

it
e

 c
ap

ac
it

y 
(N

-B
) 

R
. 

M
in

i p
it

ch
 n

et
 s

it
e 

ca
p

ac
it

y 
(O

-C
) 

school off Bishopdown Road C Education Salisbury 0 0 0           Standard 2 2 4 0 0 0 0 0 4 

school off Bradford Road, Atworth C Education Melksham 0 0 0           Standard 2 2 4 0 0 0 0 0 4 

school off Brickley Lane, Devizes C Education Devizes 0 0 0           Standard 2 2 4 0 0 0 0 0 4 

school off Broad Street, Woodborough C Education Pewsey 0 0 0           Standard 2 2 4 0 0 0 0 0 4 

school off Broad Town Road, Broadtown C Education 
Royal Wootton Bassett and 
Cricklade 

0 0 0 
          

Standard 2 2 4 0 0 0 0 0 4 

school off Burcombe Lane, Wilton C Education South West Wiltshire 0 0 0         1 Standard 2 2 4 0 0 4 0 0 4 

school off Church Rise, Neston C Education Corsham 0 0 0           Standard 2 2 4 0 0 0 0 0 4 

school off Devizes Road, Rowde C Education Devizes 0 0 0           Standard 2 2 4 0 0 0 0 0 4 

School off Drove Lane, Market Lavington A2 Club Devizes 0 0.5 0.38 1         Standard 2 2 4 2 0 0 2 -0.5 3.62 

School off Firs Road, Alderbury C Education Southern Wiltshire 0 0 0       1   Standard 2 2 4 0 0 1 0 0 4 

school off Gosditch, Ashton Keynes C Education Malmesbury 0 0 0           Standard 2 2 4 0 0 0 0 0 4 

school off Hackett Place C Education Trowbridge 0 0 0           Standard 2 2 4 0 0 0 0 0 4 

school off Hazel Grove, Trowbridge C Education Trowbridge 0 0 0           Standard 2 2 4 0 0 0 0 0 4 

school off Hubert Hamilton Road, Bulford C Education Amesbury 0 0 0           Standard 2 2 4 0 0 0 0 0 4 

school off Imber Close, Warminster C Education Warminster 0 0 0           Standard 2 2 4 0 0 0 0 0 4 

school off Parsonage Road, Amesbury C Education Amesbury 0 0 0           Standard 2 2 4 0 0 0 0 0 4 

school off Pound Lane, Semington C Education Melksham 0 0 0           Standard 2 2 4 0 0 0 0 0 4 

school off Preston Road, Lyneham C Education 
Royal Wootton Bassett and 
Cricklade 

0 0 0 
          

Standard 2 2 4 0 0 0 0 0 4 

school off Sandalwood Road, Westbury C Education Westbury 0 0 0           Standard 2 2 4 0 0 0 0 0 4 

school off Shears Drive, Amesbury C Education Amesbury 0 0 0           Standard 2 2 4 0 0 0 0 0 4 

school off St Thomas Way, Laverstock C Education Salisbury 0 0 0           Standard 2 2 4 0 0 0 0 0 4 

school off The Oaks, Chippenham C Education Chippenham 0 0 0           Standard 2 2 4 0 0 0 0 0 4 

school off Tyning Road, Winsley C Education Bradford on Avon 0 0 0           Standard 2 2 4 0 0 0 0 0 4 

school off Wick Lane, Devizes C Education Devizes 0 0 0           Standard 2 2 4 0 0 0 0 0 4 

schools off High Street, Cheverell Magna C Education Devizes 0 0 0       1   Standard 2 2 4 0 0 1 0 0 4 

schools off High Street, Cheverell Magna C Education Devizes 0 0 0     1     Standard 2 2 4 0 2 0 0 2 4 

P
age 266



Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy Needs Assessment       54 | P a g e   

 

Name 

A
va

ila
b

ili
ty

 

O
w

n
er

sh
ip

 

Su
b

 A
re

a
 

A
. T

o
ta

l a
d

u
lt

 m
at

ch
 e

q
u

iv
al

en
ts

/w
ee

k
 

B
. 

To
ta

l j
u

n
io

r 
m

at
ch

 

eq
u

iv
al

e
n

ts
/w

ee
k

 

C
. 

To
ta

l m
in

is
o

cc
er

 m
at

ch
 

eq
u

iv
al

e
n

tS
/w

e
ek

 

D
. 

To
ta

l a
d

u
lt

 p
it

ch
e

s 

E.
 T

o
ta

l y
o

u
th

 p
it

ch
es

 (
1

1
v1

1
) 

F.
 T

o
ta

l y
o

u
th

 p
it

ch
e

s(
9

v9
) 

G
. 

To
ta

l m
in

i s
o

cc
er

 p
it

ch
es

 (
7

v7
) 

H
. 

To
ta

l m
in

i s
o

cc
er

 p
it

ch
es

 (
5

v5
) 

I.
 F

o
o

tb
al

l p
it

ch
 r

at
in

g
 

J.
 A

d
u

lt
 p

it
ch

es
: 

N
u

m
b

er
 o

f 
m

at
ch

 

eq
u

iv
al

e
n

t 
se

ss
io

n
s 

a 
w

ee
k/

p
it

ch
 

K
. 

Ju
n

io
r 

p
it

ch
es

: 
N

u
m

b
er

 o
f 

m
at

ch
 

eq
u

iv
al

e
n

t 
se

ss
io

n
s 

a 
w

ee
k/

p
it

ch
 

L.
 M

in
is

o
cc

er
 p

it
ch

es
: 

N
u

m
b

er
 o

f 

m
at

ch
 e

q
u

iv
al

en
t 

se
ss

io
n

s 
a 

w
ee

k/
p

it
ch

 

M
. 

A
d

u
lt

 p
it

ch
e

s 
M

A
TC

H
  C

A
P

A
C

IT
Y

 

(D
*J

) 

N
. 

Ju
n

io
r 

p
it

ch
es

 (
al

l s
iz

es
) 

M
A

TC
H

 

C
A

P
A

C
IT

Y
 (

E 
+

 F
) 

* 
K

 

O
. 

M
in

is
o

cc
er

 p
it

ch
es

 (
al

l s
iz

e
s)

 

M
A

TC
H

 C
A

P
A

C
IT

Y
 (

G
 +

 H
) 

* 
L 

P
. 

A
d

u
lt

 p
it

ch
 n

et
 s

it
e 

ca
p

ac
it

y 
(M

-A
) 

Q
. 

Ju
n

io
r 

p
it

ch
 n

et
 s

it
e

 c
ap

ac
it

y 
(N

-B
) 

R
. 

M
in

i p
it

ch
 n

et
 s

it
e 

ca
p

ac
it

y 
(O

-C
) 

Seagry C of E Primary School C Education Chippenham 0 0 0           Standard 2 2 4 0 0 0 0 0 4 

Seagry Cricket Club A2 Private Chippenham 0 0 0           Standard 2 2 4 0 0 0 0 0 4 

Seend C of E Primary School C Education Melksham 0 0 0           Standard 2 2 4 0 0 0 0 0 4 

Seymour Playing Fields A1 LA Trowbridge 0.5 0 0 1         Poor 1 1 2 1 0 0 0.5 0 2 

Seymour Road A2 Club Trowbridge 0.5 1 0.38           Standard 2 2 4 0 0 0 -0.5 -1 3.62 

Sheldon School A3 Education Chippenham 2 0 0 3         Standard 1 1 2 3 0 0 1 0 2 

Shrewton Recreation Ground A1 LA Amesbury 0.88 0.5 0 1         Standard 2 2 4 2 0 0 1.12 -0.5 4 

South Newton Recreation Ground A1 LA South West Wiltshire 0.5 1 0.38 1         Standard 2 3 6 2 0 0 1.5 -1 5.62 

South Wilts Grammar School for Girls C Education Salisbury 0 0 0           Standard 2 2 4 0 0 0 0 0 4 

Southam and the Water Pitches C 
  

Royal Wootton Bassett and 
Cricklade 

0 0 0 
          

Standard 2 2 4 0 0 0 0 0 4 

Southbroom St James Church Academy C Education Devizes 0 0.5 0.75   2       Standard 2 2 4 0 2 0 0 1.5 3.25 

Spaniel's Bridge A2 Club Devizes 0 0 0           Standard 2 2 4 0 0 0 0 0 4 

Springfields School A3 Education Calne 0 2 0.25   1 1 1   Standard 1 1 2 0 2 1 0 0 1.75 

Spye Park Cricket Club A2 Club Devizes 0 0 0           Standard 2 2 4 0 0 0 0 0 4 

St Augustine's Catholic Technology College C Education Trowbridge 0 0 0   1 1     Standard 2 2 4 0 3 0 0 3 4 

St Dunstan C of E Primary School C Education Calne 0 0 0           Standard 2 2 4 0 0 0 0 0 4 

St Edmunds RC Primary School C Education Calne 0 0 0           Standard 2 2 4 0 0 0 0 0 4 

St John's Catholic Primary School C Education Trowbridge 0 0 0           Standard 2 2 4 0 0 0 0 0 4 

St John's School & Community College A3 Education Marlborough 0.5 0 0 2         Standard 1 1 2 2 0 0 1.5 0 2 

St Laurence School A3 Education Bradford on Avon 0 1.5 0 2         Standard 1 1 2 2 0 0 2 -1.5 2 

St Mary's Recreation Field A1 LA Melksham 1 0.88 0 1 1       Good 3 4 6 3 1 0 2 0.12 6 

St Mary's School C Education South West Wiltshire 0 0 0           Standard 2 2 4 0 0 0 0 0 4 

St Mary's Sports Centre A1 LA Calne 0 0 0           Standard 2 2 4 0 0 0 0 0 4 

Stallards Recreation Ground A1 LA Trowbridge 0 0 0   1       Poor 1 1 2 0 1 0 0 1 2 

Stanley Park A1 LA Calne 9 13 2.63 5   1 5 4 Good 3 4 6 15 4 29 6 -9 3.37 

Steeple Langford Recreation Ground A1 LA Amesbury 0 0 0           Standard 2 2 4 0 0 0 0 0 4 

Stonar School A3 Education Melksham 0 1 0.25       1 1 Standard 1 1 2 0 0 3 0 -1 1.75 

P
age 267



Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy Needs Assessment       55 | P a g e   

 

Name 

A
va

ila
b

ili
ty

 

O
w

n
er

sh
ip

 

Su
b

 A
re

a
 

A
. T

o
ta

l a
d

u
lt

 m
at

ch
 e

q
u

iv
al

en
ts

/w
ee

k
 

B
. 

To
ta

l j
u

n
io

r 
m

at
ch

 

eq
u

iv
al

e
n

ts
/w

ee
k

 

C
. 

To
ta

l m
in

is
o

cc
er

 m
at

ch
 

eq
u

iv
al

e
n

tS
/w

e
ek

 

D
. 

To
ta

l a
d

u
lt

 p
it

ch
e

s 

E.
 T

o
ta

l y
o

u
th

 p
it

ch
es

 (
1

1
v1

1
) 

F.
 T

o
ta

l y
o

u
th

 p
it

ch
e

s(
9

v9
) 

G
. 

To
ta

l m
in

i s
o

cc
er

 p
it

ch
es

 (
7

v7
) 

H
. 

To
ta

l m
in

i s
o

cc
er

 p
it

ch
es

 (
5

v5
) 

I.
 F

o
o

tb
al

l p
it

ch
 r

at
in

g
 

J.
 A

d
u

lt
 p

it
ch

es
: 

N
u

m
b

er
 o

f 
m

at
ch

 

eq
u

iv
al

e
n

t 
se

ss
io

n
s 

a 
w

ee
k/

p
it

ch
 

K
. 

Ju
n

io
r 

p
it

ch
es

: 
N

u
m

b
er

 o
f 

m
at

ch
 

eq
u

iv
al

e
n

t 
se

ss
io

n
s 

a 
w

ee
k/

p
it

ch
 

L.
 M

in
is

o
cc

er
 p

it
ch

es
: 

N
u

m
b

er
 o

f 

m
at

ch
 e

q
u

iv
al

en
t 

se
ss

io
n

s 
a 

w
ee

k/
p

it
ch

 

M
. 

A
d

u
lt

 p
it

ch
e

s 
M

A
TC

H
  C

A
P

A
C

IT
Y

 

(D
*J

) 

N
. 

Ju
n

io
r 

p
it

ch
es

 (
al

l s
iz

es
) 

M
A

TC
H

 

C
A

P
A

C
IT

Y
 (

E 
+

 F
) 

* 
K

 

O
. 

M
in

is
o

cc
er

 p
it

ch
es

 (
al

l s
iz

e
s)

 

M
A

TC
H

 C
A

P
A

C
IT

Y
 (

G
 +

 H
) 

* 
L 

P
. 

A
d

u
lt

 p
it

ch
 n

et
 s

it
e 

ca
p

ac
it

y 
(M

-A
) 

Q
. 

Ju
n

io
r 

p
it

ch
 n

et
 s

it
e

 c
ap

ac
it

y 
(N

-B
) 

R
. 

M
in

i p
it

ch
 n

et
 s

it
e 

ca
p

ac
it

y 
(O

-C
) 

Studley Green Primary School C Education Trowbridge 0 0 0           Standard 2 2 4 0 0 0 0 0 4 

Sutton Benger C of E Primary School C Education Chippenham 0 0 0           Standard 2 2 4 0 0 0 0 0 4 

Sutton Benger Recreation Ground A1 LA Chippenham 1 0 0 1 1     1 Standard 2 2 4 2 1 4 1 1 4 

The Avenue Primary School & Children's Centre C Education Warminster 0 0 0           Standard 2 2 4 0 0 0 0 0 4 

The Beeches A1 LA Melksham 1.5 1 0 1         Poor 1 1 2 1 0 0 -0.5 -1 2 

The Beversbrook Sports Complex A1 LA Calne 8.5 17 1.5 3 2 1 3   Good 3 4 6 9 6 3 0.5 -11 4.5 

The Clarendon College A3 Education Trowbridge 1 0 0   2 1     Standard 1 1 2 0 3 0 -1 3 2 

The Conigre 

Woolmore Farm (from Autumn 2016) 

A1 

(A1) 

LA 

(LA) 

Melksham 

(Melksham) 

4 

(4.5) 

0 

(10) 

0.38 

(2.75) 

1 

(2) ( 4) ( 2) ( 2) ( 2) 

Poor 

(Good) 

1 

(3) 

2 

(4) 

2 

(6) 

1 

(6) 

0 

(24) 

0 

(24) 

-3 

(1.5) 

0 

(14) 

1.62 

(21.25) 

The Downs A2 Club Bradford on Avon 0 0 0           Standard 2 2 4 0 0 0 0 0 4 

The Elisha Field, Market Lavington A1 LA Devizes 0 0 1.13   1 1     Standard 2 2 4 0 3 0 0 3 2.87 

The George Ward School (closed?) C Education Melksham 0 0 0           Standard 2 2 4 0 0 0 0 0 4 

The Godolphin School C Education Salisbury 0 0 0           Standard 2 2 4 0 0 0 0 0 4 

The Green Recreation Ground, Christian Malford A1 LA Chippenham 0 0 0         1 Standard 2 2 4 0 0 4 0 0 4 

The Green, Dauntsey A1 LA Malmesbury 0 0 0           Standard 2 2 4 0 0 0 0 0 4 

The Grove Recreation Ground A1 LA Trowbridge 0 0 0       1   Standard 2 2 4 0 0 1 0 0 4 

The John Bentley School B Education Calne 0 0 0 2         Standard 1 1 2 2 0 0 2 0 2 

The Lye Field A1 LA Melksham 1 0.5 0.63 1         Good 3 4 6 3 0 0 2 -0.5 5.37 

The Manor C of E VC Primary School C Education Melksham 0 0 0           Standard 2 2 4 0 0 0 0 0 4 

The Manor, High Street, Keevil A2 Private Melksham 0 0 0           Standard 2 2 4 0 0 0 0 0 4 

The Playing Field (Lacock) A2 Other Corsham 1 0 0 1         Good 3 4 6 3 0 0 2 0 6 

The Playing Field at Southwick A1 LA Trowbridge 0 0.5 0 1         Poor 1 1 2 1 0 0 1 -0.5 2 

The Portway A1 LA Salisbury 0 0 0   1       Standard 2 2 4 0 1 0 0 1 4 

The Red House A1 LA 
Royal Wootton Bassett and 
Cricklade 

1.5 0 0 1 
        

Standard 2 2 4 2 0 0 0.5 0 4 

The Sports Field, Sherston A1 LA Malmesbury 1.88 0 0 1         Good 3 4 6 3 0 0 1.12 0 6 

The Wellington Academy A3 Education Tidworth 0.5 0 0 1 1       Standard 1 1 2 1 1 0 0.5 1 2 

The Worthys A2 Club Malmesbury 0 0 0           Standard 2 2 4 0 0 0 0 0 4 

P
age 268



Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy Needs Assessment       56 | P a g e   

 

Name 

A
va

ila
b

ili
ty

 

O
w

n
er

sh
ip

 

Su
b

 A
re

a
 

A
. T

o
ta

l a
d

u
lt

 m
at

ch
 e

q
u

iv
al

en
ts

/w
ee

k
 

B
. 

To
ta

l j
u

n
io

r 
m

at
ch

 

eq
u

iv
al

e
n

ts
/w

ee
k

 

C
. 

To
ta

l m
in

is
o

cc
er

 m
at

ch
 

eq
u

iv
al

e
n

tS
/w

e
ek

 

D
. 

To
ta

l a
d

u
lt

 p
it

ch
e

s 

E.
 T

o
ta

l y
o

u
th

 p
it

ch
es

 (
1

1
v1

1
) 

F.
 T

o
ta

l y
o

u
th

 p
it

ch
e

s(
9

v9
) 

G
. 

To
ta

l m
in

i s
o

cc
er

 p
it

ch
es

 (
7

v7
) 

H
. 

To
ta

l m
in

i s
o

cc
er

 p
it

ch
es

 (
5

v5
) 

I.
 F

o
o

tb
al

l p
it

ch
 r

at
in

g
 

J.
 A

d
u

lt
 p

it
ch

es
: 

N
u

m
b

er
 o

f 
m

at
ch

 

eq
u

iv
al

e
n

t 
se

ss
io

n
s 

a 
w

ee
k/

p
it

ch
 

K
. 

Ju
n

io
r 

p
it

ch
es

: 
N

u
m

b
er

 o
f 

m
at

ch
 

eq
u

iv
al

e
n

t 
se

ss
io

n
s 

a 
w

ee
k/

p
it

ch
 

L.
 M

in
is

o
cc

er
 p

it
ch

es
: 

N
u

m
b

er
 o

f 

m
at

ch
 e

q
u

iv
al

en
t 

se
ss

io
n

s 
a 

w
ee

k/
p

it
ch

 

M
. 

A
d

u
lt

 p
it

ch
e

s 
M

A
TC

H
  C

A
P

A
C

IT
Y

 

(D
*J

) 

N
. 

Ju
n

io
r 

p
it

ch
es

 (
al

l s
iz

es
) 

M
A

TC
H

 

C
A

P
A

C
IT

Y
 (

E 
+

 F
) 

* 
K

 

O
. 

M
in

is
o

cc
er

 p
it

ch
es

 (
al

l s
iz

e
s)

 

M
A

TC
H

 C
A

P
A

C
IT

Y
 (

G
 +

 H
) 

* 
L 

P
. 

A
d

u
lt

 p
it

ch
 n

et
 s

it
e 

ca
p

ac
it

y 
(M

-A
) 

Q
. 

Ju
n

io
r 

p
it

ch
 n

et
 s

it
e

 c
ap

ac
it

y 
(N

-B
) 

R
. 

M
in

i p
it

ch
 n

et
 s

it
e 

ca
p

ac
it

y 
(O

-C
) 

Tidworth Oval C MoD Tidworth 0 0 0 1         Standard 2 2 4 2 0 0 2 0 4 

Tisbury & District Sports Centre A1 LA South West Wiltshire 0 0 0         1 Standard 2 2 4 0 0 4 0 0 4 

Tisbury Lower Recreation Ground A1 LA South West Wiltshire 1 0 0 1         Good 3 4 6 3 0 0 2 0 6 

Trafalgar School at Downton C Education Southern Wiltshire 0 0 0 1 2       Standard 2 2 4 2 2 0 2 2 4 

Urchfont C of E Primary School C Education Devizes 0 0 0           Standard 2 2 4 0 0 0 0 0 4 

Urchfont Cricket Club A2 Club Devizes 0 0 0           Standard 2 2 4 0 0 0 0 0 4 

Victoria Park pitch A1 LA Salisbury 2 0 0 1     Poor 1 1 2 1 0 0 -1 0 0 

Victory Field Recreation Ground (might be Culver Close Playing Field) A1 LA Bradford on Avon 0 3 0           Standard 2 2 4 0 0 0 0 -3 4 

Walwayne Court School C Education Trowbridge 0 0 0           Standard 2 2 4 0 0 0 0 0 4 

Warminster Kingdown/St John's CE Primary School A3 Education Warminster 1 0 0   1       Standard 1 1 2 0 1 0 -1 1 2 

Warminster School & Preparatory School C Education Warminster 0 0 0           Standard 2 2 4 0 0 0 0 0 4 

Warminster Town Cricket Club A2 Club Warminster 0 0 0           Standard 2 2 4 0 0 0 0 0 4 

Warminster Town Football Club A2 Club Warminster 2 0.5 0 1         Good 3 4 6 3 0 0 1 -0.5 6 

West Lavington Playing Field A1 LA Devizes 0 1 0 1 1       Good 3 4 6 3 1 0 3 0 6 

Westbury C of E Junior School A3 Education Westbury 0 1.5 0     1     Standard 1 1 2 0 1 0 0 -0.5 2 

Westbury RFC (Westbury Country Park) A2 Club Westbury 0 0 0           Standard 2 2 4 0 0 0 0 0 4 

Westbury United Football Club A2 Club Westbury 2.38 0 0 1         Standard 2 2 4 2 0 0 -0.38 0 4 

Westinghouse Cricket Club (Closed) A2 Private Chippenham              Standard          

Westwood Playing Field A1 LA Bradford on Avon 0.5 0 0 1         Standard 2 2 4 2 0 0 1.5 0 4 

Westwood Playing Field A1 LA Bradford on Avon 0 0 0           Standard 2 2 4 0 0 0 0 0 4 

Whaddon Lane Playing Field A1 LA Trowbridge 1 0 0 1         Poor 1 1 2 1 0 0 0 0 2 

Whitelion Park (closed?) LA Malmesbury 0 0 0   2       Good 3 4 6 0 2 0 0 2 6 

Wilton Middle School (closed?) Education South West Wiltshire 0 0 0           Standard 2 2 4 0 0 0 0 0 4 

Wiltshire College (Chippenham) C Education Chippenham 0 0 0 1         Standard 2 2 4 2 0 0 2 0 4 

Wiltshire College (Lackham) B Education Corsham 0 0 0 2         Standard 1 1 2 2 0 0 2 0 2 

Wingfield C of E Primary School (closed?) C Education Bradford on Avon 0 0 0           Standard 2 2 4 0 0 0 0 0 4 

Winterslow Recreation Ground A1 LA Southern Wiltshire 0 0 0   1       Standard 2 2 4 0 1 0 0 1 4 

P
age 269



Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy Needs Assessment       57 | P a g e   

 

Name 

A
va

ila
b

ili
ty

 

O
w

n
er

sh
ip

 

Su
b

 A
re

a
 

A
. T

o
ta

l a
d

u
lt

 m
at

ch
 e

q
u

iv
al

en
ts

/w
ee

k
 

B
. 

To
ta

l j
u

n
io

r 
m

at
ch

 

eq
u

iv
al

e
n

ts
/w

ee
k

 

C
. 

To
ta

l m
in

is
o

cc
er

 m
at

ch
 

eq
u

iv
al

e
n

tS
/w

e
ek

 

D
. 

To
ta

l a
d

u
lt

 p
it

ch
e

s 

E.
 T

o
ta

l y
o

u
th

 p
it

ch
es

 (
1

1
v1

1
) 

F.
 T

o
ta

l y
o

u
th

 p
it

ch
e

s(
9

v9
) 

G
. 

To
ta

l m
in

i s
o

cc
er

 p
it

ch
es

 (
7

v7
) 

H
. 

To
ta

l m
in

i s
o

cc
er

 p
it

ch
es

 (
5

v5
) 

I.
 F

o
o

tb
al

l p
it

ch
 r

at
in

g
 

J.
 A

d
u

lt
 p

it
ch

es
: 

N
u

m
b

er
 o

f 
m

at
ch

 

eq
u

iv
al

e
n

t 
se

ss
io

n
s 

a 
w

ee
k/

p
it

ch
 

K
. 

Ju
n

io
r 

p
it

ch
es

: 
N

u
m

b
er

 o
f 

m
at

ch
 

eq
u

iv
al

e
n

t 
se

ss
io

n
s 

a 
w

ee
k/

p
it

ch
 

L.
 M

in
is

o
cc

er
 p

it
ch

es
: 

N
u

m
b

er
 o

f 

m
at

ch
 e

q
u

iv
al

en
t 

se
ss

io
n

s 
a 

w
ee

k/
p

it
ch

 

M
. 

A
d

u
lt

 p
it

ch
e

s 
M

A
TC

H
  C

A
P

A
C

IT
Y

 

(D
*J

) 

N
. 

Ju
n

io
r 

p
it

ch
es

 (
al

l s
iz

es
) 

M
A

TC
H

 

C
A

P
A

C
IT

Y
 (

E 
+

 F
) 

* 
K

 

O
. 

M
in

is
o

cc
er

 p
it

ch
es

 (
al

l s
iz

e
s)

 

M
A

TC
H

 C
A

P
A

C
IT

Y
 (

G
 +

 H
) 

* 
L 

P
. 

A
d

u
lt

 p
it

ch
 n

et
 s

it
e 

ca
p

ac
it

y 
(M

-A
) 

Q
. 

Ju
n

io
r 

p
it

ch
 n

et
 s

it
e

 c
ap

ac
it

y 
(N

-B
) 

R
. 

M
in

i p
it

ch
 n

et
 s

it
e 

ca
p

ac
it

y 
(O

-C
) 

Zouch Primary School (closed?) Education Tidworth 0 0 0           Standard 2 2 4 0 0 0 0 0 4 

 

NB:  The figures provided for Woolmore Farm relate to the re-location of Melksham Town Football Club from the Conigre site to Woolmore Farm in Autumn 2016.  The data is based on Melksham Town Football Club and its volume of teams, with the assumption that 
the teams are able to train off the main playing pitch. 
 

P
age 270



Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy Needs Assessment       58 | P a g e   

 

Comment 

5.52 In reality much of this apparent ‘overplay’ is due to the fact that junior and mini soccer teams 
often play on ‘over-marked’ larger pitches, and do not have dedicated pitch space of their own. 

5.53 The scores provided in Tables 5.13 are derived largely from sites audits conducted on a given 
day. And whilst the audits were planned to coincide with the ‘winter’ part of the football season, 
the results do not necessarily reflect conditions that clubs and teams face when weather conditions 
are extremely adverse. Over recent seasons, autumn and winter rainfall has been heavy, and often 
for protracted periods, and this has resulted in major fixture disruptions due to flooding and 
waterlogging. Perhaps if all pitches were constructed and maintained to a high technical 
specification some of the disruption could have been avoided, but this is unlikely ever to be 
economically viable for the majority of pitches.  

5.54 The above technical assessment therefore also needs to be informed from other sources, 
including those who actually use the facilities. The ‘Red Figure’ sites have been distilled from the 
above table and are summarised in Map 5.1 and Table 5.14 below, together with a summary of 
relevant comments received from clubs responding to the questionnaire survey. 

  

Page 271



Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy Needs Assessment       59 | P a g e   

 

Map 5.1: Estimated team numbers on site and net football capacity inc. over-use (red figures)

 

NB:  Site capacity and over-use at the Conigre site in Melksham will be alleviated in Autumn 2016, due to Melksham 
Town FC and Melksham RFC moving to Woolmore Farm. 

Page 272



Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy Needs Assessment       60 | P a g e   

 

Table 5.14: ‘Red figure’ sites (the full dataset is contained in Appendix 3: All Data Spreadsheet) 

The final additional column D aggregates overall net deficits for each site by combining the totals in A, B, and C. The figures in Column D are provided as a guide, and should not be read in isolation from those in A, B, and C. 

Name Availability Ownership Sub Area 
Football pitch 
rating 

A. Adult pitch 
net site capacity 

B. Junior pitch 
net site capacity 

C. Mini pitch net 
site capacity 

Combined net site 
capacity (A+B+C) 

Comments from consultation 

Redland Lane Field A1 LA Westbury Standard 1.12 -10.25 -2.75 -11.88 

Site is congested with pitches- need 
bigger site. Club would prefer all its teams 
to play on site, but school facilities also 
have to be used. Club claims that 
standard of facilities stop it from 
developing further- floodlights would be 
welcomed. 

School Lane Playing Field A3 Education Bradford on Avon Standard 0 -5.75 -4.75 -10.50  

Junction Road Recreation 
Ground 

A1 LA 
Southern 
Wiltshire 

Good 2 -10.5 -1.88 -10.38 
 

Ballards Ash Sports 
Ground 

A1 LA 
Royal Wootton 
Bassett and 
Cricklade 

Standard -0.88 -8 2.75 -6.13 
 

The Beversbrook Sports 
Complex 

A1 LA Calne Good 0.5 -11 4.5 -6.00 

"Very high pitch use at Beversbrook as a 
lot of different teams from FC Calne and 
from other clubs play there. Probably 
close to maximum capacity." 

Malmesbury Youth FC 
(Red Bull Pitches) 

A2 Club Malmesbury Standard 0 -2 -2.75 -4.75 
 

Bradford & Winsley 
Community Sports 
Association 

A2 Club Bradford on Avon Standard -1 -5 2.5 -3.50 
Major problems resulting from wet 
weather/water-logging 

Pembroke Park Primary 
School 

A3 Education Salisbury Standard -1 -2 1.5 -1.50 
 

The Conigre A1 LA Melksham Poor -3 0 1.62 -1.38  

Bradley Road A2 Club Trowbridge Poor -1 -0.5 0.25 -1.25  

Lambrok Playing Field A1 LA Trowbridge Poor -2.88 0 2 -0.88  

Barry's Field, Winterslow A1 LA 
Southern 
Wiltshire 

Good 2 -3.75 1 -0.75 
 

Awdry Avenue Football A1 LA Melksham Poor -2 -0.5 2 -0.50  

P
age 273



Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy Needs Assessment       61 | P a g e   

 

Name Availability Ownership Sub Area 
Football pitch 
rating 

A. Adult pitch 
net site capacity 

B. Junior pitch 
net site capacity 

C. Mini pitch net 
site capacity 

Combined net site 
capacity (A+B+C) 

Comments from consultation 

Pitch 

Malmesbury Victoria 
Football Ground 

A2 Club Malmesbury Poor -1.5 -1 2 -0.50 
 

Devizes Town Football 
Club 

A2 Club Devizes Standard -0.5 -3.5 3.87 -0.13 
 

John of Gaunt School A3 Education Trowbridge Standard 2 -4 2 0.00  

Dauntsey's School A3 Education Devizes Standard -0.88 0 1 0.12  

off Frees Avenue, 
Marlborough 

A1 LA Marlborough Standard 0 -3 3.12 0.12 
 

Ludgershall Sports & 
Social Club Football 
Ground 

A2 Club Tidworth Standard 0.5 -3.13 2.87 0.24 
 

Archers Gate & 
Boscombe Down 

A2 MoD Amesbury Standard 0 -3.5 3.75 0.25 
 

Stanley Park A1 LA Calne Good 6 -9 3.37 0.37  

Highbury Field Football 
Ground 

A2 Club Warminster Standard 2 -5 3.5 0.50 
 

The Beeches A1 LA Melksham Poor -0.5 -1 2 0.50  

Stonar School A3 Education Melksham Standard 0 -1 1.75 0.75  

King George V Playing 
Fields 

A1 LA Melksham Poor 1 -2 2 1.00 
 

Victoria Park pitch A1 LA Salisbury Poor -1 0 2 1.00  

Victory Field Recreation 
Ground (might be Culner 
Close Playing Field) 

A1 LA Bradford on Avon Standard 0 -3 4 1.00 
 

Westbury C of E Junior 
School 

A3 Education Westbury Standard 0 -0.5 2 1.50 
 

Atworth Recreation 
Ground 

A1 LA Melksham Poor 0 0 2 2.00 
 

P
age 274



Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy Needs Assessment       62 | P a g e   

 

Name Availability Ownership Sub Area 
Football pitch 
rating 

A. Adult pitch 
net site capacity 

B. Junior pitch 
net site capacity 

C. Mini pitch net 
site capacity 

Combined net site 
capacity (A+B+C) 

Comments from consultation 

Bishopdown A1 LA Salisbury Poor -2 0 4 2.00  

Chippenham Sports Club A2 Club Chippenham Standard -2 0 4 2.00  

Little Marsh Playing Field A1 LA Melksham Standard -1.5 -0.5 4 2.00  

Warminster Kingdown/St 
John's CE Primary School 

A3 Education Warminster Standard -1 1 2 2.00 
 

Bowood Sports Ground A2 Private Calne Standard -0.5 -1 3.62 2.12  

Seymour Road A2 Club Trowbridge Standard -0.5 -1 3.62 2.12  

off Yatton Road, 
Biddestone 

A2 Club Chippenham Standard -0.5 -1 4 2.50 
 

St Laurence School A3 Education Bradford on Avon Standard 2 -1.5 2 2.50  

The Playing Field at 
Southwick 

A1 LA Trowbridge Poor 1 -0.5 2 2.50 
 

off Green Lane, Devizes A1 LA Devizes Good -0.5 0 3.12 2.62  

DTSL Sports Ground, 
Porton Down 

  MoD Amesbury Standard 1 -2 3.87 2.87 
 

Harnham Recreation 
Ground 

A1 LA Salisbury Good 0.5 -1.5 3.87 2.87 
 

Chalke Valley Sports 
Centre 

A1 LA 
South West 
Wiltshire 

Standard 0 -1 4 3.00 
 

Five Rivers Leisure Centre A1 LA Salisbury Standard 0 -1 4 3.00  

Minety Playing Fields A1 LA Malmesbury Standard -1 0 4 3.00  

Avebury Sports Field A2 Other Marlborough Standard 1.12 -0.88 2.87 3.11  

Bemerton Heath 
Harlequins Football Club 

A2 Club Salisbury Standard 0.5 -1 3.87 3.37 
 

Durrington Recreation 
Ground 

A1 LA Amesbury Standard 1 -1 3.37 3.37 
 

Devizes Sports Club A2 Club Devizes Standard -0.5 0 4 3.50  

P
age 275



Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy Needs Assessment       63 | P a g e   

 

Name Availability Ownership Sub Area 
Football pitch 
rating 

A. Adult pitch 
net site capacity 

B. Junior pitch 
net site capacity 

C. Mini pitch net 
site capacity 

Combined net site 
capacity (A+B+C) 

Comments from consultation 

Lavington School A3 Education Devizes Standard 2 -0.5 2 3.50  

Leighton Recreation 
Centre 

A1 LA Westbury Standard 0.5 -1 4 3.50 
 

Westbury United Football 
Club 

A2 Club Westbury Standard -0.38 0 4 3.62 
 

Battlebury Barracks (east)   MoD Warminster Standard 1 -1 3.87 3.87  

Elcot Lane Playing Field A1 LA Marlborough Standard 2 -1.5 3.5 4.00  

The Clarendon College A3 Education Trowbridge Standard -1 3 2 4.00  

Duchy Manor A1 LA 
South West 
Wiltshire 

Standard 2 -1.5 3.75 4.25 
 

Cricklade Leisure Centre A1 LA 
Royal Wootton 
Bassett and 
Cricklade 

Standard 2 -1 3.37 4.37 
 

Salisbury City Football 
Club 

A2 Club 
Southern 
Wiltshire 

Standard 3 -2 3.62 4.62 
 

Shrewton Recreation 
Ground 

A1 LA Amesbury Standard 1.12 -0.5 4 4.62 
 

Arcot Road (Aspire 
Defence Ground) 

  MoD Tidworth Good 2.5 -3 5.37 4.87 
 

off High Road, Ashton 
Keynes 

A1 LA Malmesbury Standard 2 -0.5 3.5 5.00 
 

School off Drove Lane, 
Market Lavington 

A2 Club Devizes Standard 2 -0.5 3.62 5.12 
 

Jubilee Playing Field A1 LA Chippenham Standard 2 -0.5 4 5.50  

Salisbury & South Wilts 
Sports Club 

A2 Club Salisbury Good 5.5 -5 5 5.50 
 

Pewsey Vale Football 
Club 

A2 Club Pewsey Good -0.13 0 6 5.87 

Issues with potential overuse of pitch, and 
especially in relation to training in winter 
months. The most pressing issue is that 
ground grading does not achieve level H 
and has allowed the FA to withdraw club 

P
age 276



Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy Needs Assessment       64 | P a g e   

 

Name Availability Ownership Sub Area 
Football pitch 
rating 

A. Adult pitch 
net site capacity 

B. Junior pitch 
net site capacity 

C. Mini pitch net 
site capacity 

Combined net site 
capacity (A+B+C) 

Comments from consultation 

from the FA Cup and Vase. Potentially if 
not rectified club will also be relegated 
from the Sydenhams League. 

Enford Recreation 
Ground 

A1 LA Tidworth Good -1 1 6 6.00 
 

South Newton Recreation 
Ground 

A1 LA 
South West 
Wiltshire 

Standard 1.5 -1 5.62 6.12 
 

Salisbury Road Recreation 
Ground 

A1 LA Marlborough Good 3 -2.5 6 6.50 
 

Warminster Town 
Football Club 

A2 Club Warminster Good 1 -0.5 6 6.50 
 

The Lye Field A1 LA Melksham Good 2 -0.5 5.37 6.87  

Green Lane Recreation 
Centre 

A1 LA Corsham Good 2.5 -1 5.5 7.00 
 

Holt Playing Field A1 LA Bradford on Avon Good 2 -0.88 6 7.12  

Laverstock & Ford Sports 
Club 

A2 Club 
Southern 
Wiltshire 

Good 1.75 -0.5 5.87 7.12 
 

Bower Hill Playing Fields A1 LA Melksham Good 8 -3.5 5.12 9.62  

 

NB:  Site capacity and over-use at the Conigre site in Melksham will be alleviated in Autumn 2016, due to Melksham Town FC and Melksham RFC moving to Woolmore Farm. 

P
age 277



Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy Needs Assessment       65 | P a g e   

 

5.55 Combined, the above Tables 5.13 and 5.14 above list includes some key grass pitch sites in 
respect of local football. The following table lists the main ‘community football’ sites by pitch 
numbers, and the large majority (in italics) have been cited in the Tables 5.13 and 5.14. 

Table 5.15: Key football sites, showing those that have been identified as problematic 

Name Sub Area Football team 
count 

Site 
Level  
Order 

(1,2,3,4)- 
see 

Section 
4 

Total 
football 
pitches 

In 
Tables 

5.13/14? 

Stanley Park Calne 65 1 15 Yes 

The Beversbrook 
Sports Complex 

Calne 55 1 9 Yes 

Ballards Ash 
Sports Ground 

Royal Wootton Bassett 
and Cricklade 

30 1 4 Yes 

Bradford & 
Winsley 
Community Sports 
Association 

Bradford on Avon 28 1 6 Yes 

Leafy Lane, 
Hawthorn 

Corsham 23 1 9 No 

Bradley Road Trowbridge 21 2 6 No 

Junction Road 
Recreation 
Ground 

Southern Wiltshire 19 2 2 Yes 

Redland Lane 
Field 

Westbury 19 2 2 Yes 

Devizes Town 
Football Club 

Devizes 18 2 1 Yes 

Castle Combe 
Sports Field 

Chippenham 17 2 3 No 

Salisbury & South 
Wilts Sports Club 

Salisbury 16 1 2 Yes 

Malmesbury 
Youth FC (Red Bull 

Malmesbury 15 2 9 No 

Page 278



Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy Needs Assessment       66 | P a g e   

 

Name Sub Area Football team 
count 

Site 
Level  
Order 

(1,2,3,4)- 
see 

Section 
4 

Total 
football 
pitches 

In 
Tables 

5.13/14? 

Pitches) 

Barry's Field, 
Winterslow 

Southern Wiltshire 15 2 2 Yes 

Highbury Field 
Football Ground 

Warminster 14 2 1 Yes 

School Lane 
Playing Field 

Bradford on Avon 13 2 2 Yes 

off Frees Avenue, 
Marlborough 

Marlborough 13 2 0 Yes 

Bowood Sports 
Ground 

Calne 12 2 6 Yes 

Pembroke Park 
Primary School 

Salisbury 12 3 1 Yes 

Arcot Road (Aspire 
Defence Ground) 

Tidworth 12 2 1 Yes 

Ramsbury 
Recreation Centre 

Marlborough 11 2 4 Yes 

The Conigre Melksham 11 1 1 Yes 

Bower Hill Playing 
Fields 

Melksham 10 2 6 Yes 

Salisbury City 
Football Club 

Southern Wiltshire 10 3 4 Yes 

off Green Lane, 
Devizes 

Devizes 10 3 3 Yes 

Cricklade Leisure 
Centre 

Royal Wootton Bassett 
and Cricklade 

10 3 2 Yes 

Woolmore Farm Melksham Autumn 2016 1 12 5.13 

Page 279



Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy Needs Assessment       67 | P a g e   

 

5.56 The above list does not diminish the importance of smaller sites for local teams.  

5.57 The preceding site-by-site analysis can be converted into a sub area-wide picture of use and 
capacity. In terms of estimated use of grass pitches relative to notional capacity, the Table 5.16 
aggregates the figures for all the sites to form the sub area-wide totals, for the main pitch types: 
adult; youth/junior; and, mini-soccer. As will be seen, for adult football pitches usage is estimated 
to be well below notional capacity. For youth/junior pitches and mini-soccer the situation worse, 
with usage outstripping notional capacity.  

Table 5.16: Estimated capacity of pitches relative to estimated use 

Sub Area 
Adult pitch net 

capacity 
Junior pitch net 

capacity 
Mini pitch net site 

capacity 

Amesbury 22.62 -7.00 3.49 

Bradford on Avon 17.00 -13.63 -2.75 

Calne 40.50 -13.50 17.24 

Chippenham 17.50 2.50 9.12 

Corsham 32.12 2.50 7.25 

Devizes 27.62 4.50 1.98 

Malmesbury 15.62 7.50 5.50 

Marlborough 18.87 1.24 -4.01 

Melksham 26.50 -0.88 5.60 

Pewsey 28.87 10.50 5.12 

Royal Wootton Bassett and 
Cricklade 9.62 -4.00 4.62 

Salisbury 23.00 -8.50 5.24 

South West Wiltshire 34.00 -2.00 7.37 

Southern Wiltshire 46.62 -14.25 -12.39 

Tidworth 13.62 -3.13 -1.76 

Trowbridge 6.62 2.00 3.37 

Warminster 15.00 -1.50 -0.13 

Westbury 12.74 -9.25 -4.63 

Page 280



Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy Needs Assessment       68 | P a g e   

 

Spare capacity 

5.58 On the face of it Table 5.13 identifies a considerable number of sites with football pitches 
that are not being used up to their full capacity. The ‘All Data’ spreadsheet included as Appendix 3 
includes data on estimated use of all sites by teams playing there, based on times of peak demand. 
The data suggest that there is some spare capacity at times of peak demand for adult and junior 
play on some of the sites that don’t appear to be used to their full capacity. However, many of 
these sites are relatively small, and isolated, and would not be suited to meeting the needs of 
existing clubs whose teams find themselves playing on overused pitches: some others, however, 
may be suited to meeting the needs of existing clubs with the above problems- importantly, the 
background data now exist to help match clubs experiencing problems, with sites that might help 
them address these problems. 

5.59 It would be wrong to interpret MoD controlled sites as having the potential to absorb 
additional community use, as they are largely not afforded long-term protection in terms of 
community use, and any use that they do have by outside teams is largely incidental to military 
operational requirements. 

5.60 Education sites are clearly part of a sector that potentially offers scope for additional use of 
grass pitches, excepting the fact that their primary function is to meet curricular needs, and this will 
reduce their capacity to host matches involving teams from the community. Future Community 
Campus developments as part of the Wiltshire Council’s programme may involve schools in some 
way, and there could be opportunities to secure and upgrade grass pitch provision on education 
sites as part of this programme- this will mean schools entering into binding agreements to allow 
such use. 

5.61 The weight of evidence does suggest though that the main issues facing community football 
in many parts of Wiltshire is that of burgeoning multi-team/age-group clubs requiring larger and 
improved facilities to enable them to grow further and field more teams. Traditionally clubs would 
have had to seek either a single new larger site (which can be difficult to find and expensive to 
finance); or else, rent/lease facilities a second venue (which amongst other things means spreading 
the club over a larger geography and diluting focus and sense of identity).  

5.62 Many of the problems relating to apparent ‘overuse of pitches’ and difficulty in finding 
robust venues for winter training are part of the wider state-of- affairs outlined above. 

Security of tenure 

5.63 A significant number of clubs have long-term leases or outright ownership of their facilities. 
Other clubs, although perhaps only renting facilities, will often use facilities that are either local 
authority owned, or else vested in some form of trust. The latter, although not allowing for clubs to 
‘put down their roots’ and further develop facilities, will afford some limited form of security of 
tenure.  

5.64 The majority of clubs may not have any realistic aspirations to own their own grounds, and 
most small clubs will continue to be reliant on hiring pitches from local authorities, education 
establishments and others. Problems in this regard will only tend to arise if there is no certainty of 
tenure; and/or clubs would like to develop their own facilities, but are thwarted by lack of long-
term control of their home base. Larger clubs tend to have greater control of their own destiny as a 
result of having some control of some or all of their facilities (perhaps on a long-term lease, if not 
outright ownership). 

Page 281



Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy Needs Assessment       69 | P a g e   

 

5.65 The responses to the club questionnaire survey did not indicate any major concerns about 
the lack of future security, although one of the football clubs using Ballards Ash Sportsground in 
Wootton Bassett, expressed concerns about the aspirations of the resident rugby club to field more 
teams, and the impact this might have on the supply of football pitches at this venue. 

The role of AGPs in meeting Local Football Needs 

5.66 Throughout this section there have been references to the use of AGPs by local football 
clubs. Their use for casual, small-sided football, as well as football training is now commonplace. 
However, the later FA supported Third Generation (3G) surfaces can also support competitive play, 
with the endorsement of local leagues. This is increasingly the case with mini-soccer in some parts 
of the country. 

5.67 A significant number of local clubs have expressed a desire access to AGP to satisfy at least 
some of their training needs. The remainder of this section explores the existing and potential roles 
of such facilities. 

Overview 

5.68 AGPs are frequently used for football training and are becoming more commonplace for 
competitive play (and are now approved surfaces by FIFA). There are a variety of different surfaces 
of AGPs and their suitability for football is as follows; 

 Long pile 3G with shock pad – suitable 

 Long pile 3G – preferred surface for football 

 Short pile 3G – acceptable surface for some competitive football and football training 

 Sand filled – acceptable surface for football training 

 Sand dressed – acceptable surface for football training 

 Water based – acceptable surface for football training if irrigated. 

 

  

Page 282



Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy Needs Assessment       70 | P a g e   

 

Quantity 

5.69 In the Wiltshire local authority, there is a varied stock of AGPs that might be used for 
football training or competition in some way, albeit most not meeting current FA requirements for 
competitive play. The following Table and associated Map provide detail. 

5.70 The most recent addition is the new full-size facility at the Gerard Buxton Sports Ground 
sport hub in Royal Wootton Bassett, which was completed in late 2015. Elsewhere, proposals 
regularly emerge for additional AGP facilities, although some of these never come to fruition. 

5.71 At the time of writing this report a full-size 3G facility at the Beversbrook Sports Ground in 
Calne was being completed; and, potentially, for a similar facility at a new sports hub in Melksham 
to accommodate Melksham Town FC and RFC, (as part of a wider campus redevelopment), and in 
Devizes. In summary the existing stock of facilities comprise: 

 5 x full size, floodlit, 3G pitches – the preferred surface for football; 

 2 x smaller/reduced-size 3G pitches – one on a club site, and one on a school site, with both 
being floodlit; 

 20 x sand-based full-size pitches, with varied availability and suitability for football training; 
and, 

 8 x reduced--size sand-based pitches, again with varied availability and suitability for 
football training. 

 Of the above 3G pitches, only three (at Chippenham (Stanley Park), Calne (Beversbrook), 
and Royal Wootton Bassett) have so far been approved by the FA for matchplay. 

 The above numbers do not include a facility at RAF Boscombe Down, which has been 
condemned and is unusable. 

5.72 Clearly, the geographical distribution of the above facilities will influence the extent to 
which they are accessible for local clubs to use, in addition to their ownership and the way they are 
managed. Map 5.2 shows their distribution. 

  

Page 283



Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy Needs Assessment       71 | P a g e   

 

Map 5.2: AGPs in Wiltshire 

 

 

Page 284



Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy Needs Assessment       72 | P a g e   

 

Table 5.17: AGPs in the local authority 

 

Name Sub area Availability 
(see Para 
1.10 for 
definition) 

Floodlit? AGP type Facility 
Status 

Access 
Type 

Ownership 
Type 

Management Type Year 
Built 

AVON VALLEY 
COLLEGE 

Amesbury A3 Yes 3G reduced-
size 

Operational Pay and 
Play 

Foundation 
School 

Commercial Management 2013 

BULFORD 
BARRACKS GROUND 

Amesbury B Yes 3G full-size Operational Pay and 
Play 

MOD MOD 2013 

RAF LARKHILL Amesbury C Yes Sand full-
size 

Operational Private Use MOD MOD  

ST LAURENCE 
SCHOOL 

Bradford on 
Avon 

B No Sand 
reduced-size 

Operational Private Use Academies School/College/University 
(in house) 

2010 

ABBEYFIELD 
SCHOOL 

Calne C No Sand 
reduced-size 

Operational Private Use Community 
school 

School/College/University 
(in house) 

2008 

BEVERSBOOK 
SPORTS COMPLEX 

Calne A1 Yes 3G full-size Operational Pay and 
Play 

Local 
Authority 

Local Authority (in house) 2016 

ST MARY'S SCHOOL 
(CALNE) 

Calne C Yes Sand full-
size 

Operational Private Other 
Independent 
School 

School/College/University 
(in house) 

2015 

STANLEY PARK 
SPORTS GROUND 

Calne A1 Yes 3G full-size Operational Pay and 
Play 

Local 
Authority 

Local Authority (in house) 2011 

CHIPPENHAM 
SPORTS CLUB 

Chippenham A2 Yes Sand full-
size 

Operational Sports Club 
/ 
Community 
Association 

Sports Club Sport Club  

P
age 285



Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy Needs Assessment       73 | P a g e   

 

Name Sub area Availability 
(see Para 
1.10 for 
definition) 

Floodlit? AGP type Facility 
Status 

Access 
Type 

Ownership 
Type 

Management Type Year 
Built 

CORSHAM TOWN 
FOOTBALL CLUB 

Corsham A2 No Sand 
reduced-size 

Operational Pay and 
Play 

Commercial Sport Club 

LEAFY LANE Corsham A2 Yes 3G reduced-
size 

Operational Pay and 
Play 

Commercial Commercial Management 2008 

SPRINGFIELD 
COMMUNITY 
CAMPUS 

Corsham A3 Yes Sand full-
size 

Operational Pay and 
Play 

Community 
school 

Local Authority (in house) 2014 

DAUNTSEYS 
SCHOOL 

Devizes C No Sand full-
size 

Operational Private Use Other 
Independent 
School 

School/College/University 
(in house) 

1992 

DAUNTSEYS 
SCHOOL 

Devizes C No Sand 
reduced-size 

Operational Private Use Other 
Independent 
School 

School/College/University 
(in house) 

2008 

DAUNTSEYS 
SCHOOL 

Devizes C Yes Sand full-
size 

Operational Private Use Other 
Independent 
School 

School/College/University 
(in house) 

2008 

DEVIZES LEISURE 
CENTRE 

Devizes A1 Yes Sand full-
size 

Operational Pay and 
Play 

Local 
Authority 

Local Authority (in house) 2006 

MARLBOROUGH 
COLLEGE 

Marlborough A3 Yes Sand full-
size 

Operational Sports Club 
/ 
Community 
Association 

Other 
Independent 
School 

School/College/University 
(in house) 

1998 

MARLBOROUGH 
COLLEGE 

Marlborough A3 Yes Sand full-
size 

Operational Sports Club 
/ 
Community 

Other 
Independent 

School/College/University 
(in house) 

1998 

P
age 286



Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy Needs Assessment       74 | P a g e   

 

Name Sub area Availability 
(see Para 
1.10 for 
definition) 

Floodlit? AGP type Facility 
Status 

Access 
Type 

Ownership 
Type 

Management Type Year 
Built 

Association School 

RAMSBURY 
RECREATION 
CENTRE 

Marlborough A1 No Sand 
reduced-size 

Operational Pay and 
Play 

Other Trust 2005 

MELKSHAM OAK 
COMMUNITY 
SCHOOL 

Melksham A3 Yes Sand full-
size 

Operational Sports Club 
/ 
Community 
Association 

Academies School/College/University 
(in house) 

2010 

STONAR SCHOOL Melksham A2 Yes Sand full-
size 

Operational Sports Club 
/ 
Community 
Association 

Other 
Independent 
School 

School/College/University 
(in house) 

1994 

CRICKLADE LEISURE 
CENTRE 

Royal 
Wootton 
Bassett and 
Cricklade 

A1 Yes Sand 
reduced-size 

Operational Pay and 
Play 

Community 
Organisation 

Community Organisation 2010 

GERARD BUXTON 
SPORTS GROUND 

Royal 
Wootton 
Bassett and 
Cricklade 

A1 Yes 3G full-size     

PRIOR PARK 
PREPARATORY 
SCHOOL 

Royal 
Wootton 
Bassett and 
Cricklade 

C No Sand 
reduced full-
size 

Operational Private Use Other 
Independent 
School 

School/College/University 
(in house) 

2007 

ROYAL WOOTTON 
BASSETT ACADEMY 

Royal 
Wootton 

A3 Yes Sand full-
size 

Operational Pay and 
Play 

Community 
school 

Commercial Management 2002 

P
age 287



Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy Needs Assessment       75 | P a g e   

 

Name Sub area Availability 
(see Para 
1.10 for 
definition) 

Floodlit? AGP type Facility 
Status 

Access 
Type 

Ownership 
Type 

Management Type Year 
Built 

Bassett and 
Cricklade 

CHAFYN GROVE 
SCHOOL 

Salisbury B No Sand full-
size 

Operational Private Use Other 
Independent 
School 

School/College/University 
(in house) 

2003 

SALISBURY & 
SOUTH WILTS 
SPORTS CLUB 

Salisbury A2 Yes Sand full-
size 

Operational Pay and 
Play 

Sports Club Sport Club 1998 

ST MARYS SCHOOL South West 
Wiltshire 

A2 Yes Sand full-
size 

Operational Sports Club 
/ 
Community 
Association 

Other 
Independent 
School 

School/College/University 
(in house) 

2001 

THE WELLINGTON 
ACADEMY 

Tidworth A3 Yes 3G full-size Operational Pay and 
Play 

Academies School/College/University 
(in house) 

2012 

TIDWORTH OVAL Tidworth C Yes Sand full-
size 

Operational Private Use MOD MOD 2000 

JOHN OF GAUNT 
SCHOOL 

Trowbridge A3 Yes Sand full-
size 

Operational Sports Club 
/ 
Community 
Association 

Community 
school 

School/College/University 
(in house) 

1998 

LAND WARFARE 
CENTRE 

Warminster C Yes Sand full-
size 

Operational Private Use MOD MOD  

WARMINSTER 
KINGDOWN 

Warminster A2 Yes Sand full-
size 

Operational Sports Club 
/ 
Community 

Community 
school 

School/College/University 
(in house) 

2003 

P
age 288



Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy Needs Assessment       76 | P a g e   

 

Name Sub area Availability 
(see Para 
1.10 for 
definition) 

Floodlit? AGP type Facility 
Status 

Access 
Type 

Ownership 
Type 

Management Type Year 
Built 

Association 

WARMINSTER 
PREPARATORY 
SCHOOL 

Warminster C No Sand 
reduced-size 

Operational Private Use EY Setting School/College/University 
(in house) 

2009 

WARMINSTER 
SCHOOL 

Warminster A3 Yes Sand full-
size 

Operational Pay and 
Play 

Other 
Independent 
School 

School/College/University 
(in house) 

1991 

 

 

P
age 289



Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy Needs Assessment       77 | P a g e   

 

Adequacy of AGP Provision 

5.73 An attempt has been made to estimate supply and demand on a site-specific basis 
considering: 

 the amount of play that a site is able to sustain - based upon the number of hours that the 
pitch is accessible to the community during peak periods (up to a maximum of 34 hours per 
week).  Peak periods have been deemed to be Monday to Thursday 17:00 to 21:00; Friday 
17:00 to 19:00 and Saturday and Sunday 09:00 to 17:00, although individual sites differ 
according to their own policy, planning restrictions etc; 

 the amount of play that takes place (measured in hours); and, 

 whether there is any spare capacity at the site based upon a comparison between the 
capacity of the site and the actual usage. 

5.74 It should be noted that pitch bookings and conversations with pitch operators has been 
used to compile usage for AGPs. Whilst the analysis seeks to represent the regular weekly usage, it 
is clear that there is significant variation in usage from season to season, and maybe even from 
week to week. The peak time capacity for AGPs is midweek evenings.  

5.75 Table 5.18 estimates usage in relation to capacity. From these it is clear that some spare 
capacity may exist at particular venues, but it is uncertain whether a) this is at times suited to those 
clubs looking for training facilities; b) it is located in in relation to this demand; and c) it is 
affordable. With regard to the last of these points several clubs have expressed a concern about the 
cost of hiring AGP space for training, and perhaps this is a reflection of a lack of facilities relative to 
demand, which allows some providers to charge more for usage than might be the case if the 
choice of facilities was wider, and therefore greater competition amongst providers to attract 
users. Other relevant points are made in the Note column in Table 5.18. 

 

 

Page 290



Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy Needs Assessment       78 | P a g e   

 

 

Table 5.18: capacity of existing AGPs to absorb additional; community football activity 

Name Sub area AGP type Floodlit Access Type 

Estimated 
community 
use capacity 

(hours) 

Estimated 
community 
use (hours) 

Significant 
availability 

on weekday 
evenings (10 

hours +)? 

Significant 
availability on 
weekends (10 

hours +)? Note 

STANLEY PARK 
SPORTS GROUND Calne 3G full-size Yes Pay and Play 86 35-50 No No 

Modern and heavily 
subscribed facility, by 
teams using Stanley 
Park 

THE WELLINGTON 
ACADEMY Tidworth 3G full-size Yes Pay and Play 44 35 No Yes 

This is not an FA 
accredited pitch and 
so cannot be used for 
match play 

BULFORD BARRACKS 
GROUND Amesbury 3G full-size Yes Pay and Play 20 20 No No 

This is an MoD 
controlled facility, 
and will have quite 
limited times of 
access. There is also 
no assured 
community access. 
This is not an FA 
accredited pitch and 
so cannot be used for 
match play 

GERARD BUXTON 
SPORTS GROUND 

Royal Wootton 
Bassett and 
Cricklade 3G full-size Yes Pay and Play 86 35 

  

This is a brand new 
facility, and 
programming is yet 
to reach maturity. It 

P
age 291



Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy Needs Assessment       79 | P a g e   

 

Name Sub area AGP type Floodlit Access Type 

Estimated 
community 
use capacity 

(hours) 

Estimated 
community 
use (hours) 

Significant 
availability 

on weekday 
evenings (10 

hours +)? 

Significant 
availability on 
weekends (10 

hours +)? Note 

is likely that use will 
be club-dominated. 
This is not yet an FA 
accredited pitch and 
so cannot be used for 
match play 

LEAFY LANE Corsham 

3G 
reduced-
size Yes Pay and Play 86 35 No No 

Heavily used by 
resident club at peak 
times. 

AVON VALLEY 
COLLEGE Amesbury 

3G 
reduced-
size Yes Pay and Play 35 25 No No 

Small pitch on school 
site, unlikely to have 
much spare capacity 
for use by community 
teams. 

DEVIZES LEISURE 
CENTRE Devizes 

Sand full-
size Yes Pay and Play 41 35+ No No 

Heavily used venue, 
that is used by local 
schools during the 
day. This is also an 
important venue for 
local hockey. 

STONAR SCHOOL Melksham 
Sand full-
size Yes 

Sports Club / 
Community 
Association 10 10 No No 

Limited potential use 
by the community of 
this public school 
venue. 

 

P
age 292



Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy Needs Assessment       80 | P a g e   

 

Name Sub area AGP type Floodlit Access Type 

Estimated 
community 
use capacity 

(hours) 

Estimated 
community 
use (hours) 

Significant 
availability 

on weekday 
evenings (10 

hours +)? 

Significant 
availability on 
weekends (10 

hours +)? Note 

ST MARY'S SCHOOL 
(CALNE) Calne 

Sand full-
size Yes 

Sports Club / 
Community 
Association 10 10 No No 

Limited potential use 
by the community of 
this public school 
venue. 

SALISBURY & SOUTH 
WILTS SPORTS CLUB Salisbury 

Sand full-
size Yes Pay and Play 86 60 No No 

Thriving facility for 
hockey, and unlikely 
to have extra 
capacity for football 
activity 

ST MARYS SCHOOL 
South West 
Wiltshire 

Sand full-
size Yes 

Sports Club / 
Community 
Association 10 10 No No 

Limited potential use 
by the community of 
this public school 
venue. (What 
availability there is 
allocated to 
Gillingham Hockey 
Club) 

WARMINSTER 
KINGDOWN Warminster 

Sand full-
size Yes 

Sports Club / 
Community 
Association 41 35 No No 

Heavily used venue, 
that is used by local 
schools during the 
day, and well used 
for hockey and 
football at other 
times. 

CHIPPENHAM 
Chippenham 

Sand full-
Yes 

Sports Club / 
Community 

86 60-65 No No 
Thriving facility for 
hockey, and unlikely 

P
age 293



Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy Needs Assessment       81 | P a g e   

 

Name Sub area AGP type Floodlit Access Type 

Estimated 
community 
use capacity 

(hours) 

Estimated 
community 
use (hours) 

Significant 
availability 

on weekday 
evenings (10 

hours +)? 

Significant 
availability on 
weekends (10 

hours +)? Note 

SPORTS CLUB size Association to have extra 
capacity for football 
activity. There is an 
‘air-dome’ that can 
be used for 5-a-side 
football. 

JOHN OF GAUNT 
SCHOOL Trowbridge 

Sand full-
size Yes 

Sports Club / 
Community 
Association 35 30 No No 

Understood to be 
some football 
training and 5-a-side, 
but little scope for 
more. 

ROYAL WOOTTON 
BASSETT ACADEMY 

Royal Wootton 
Bassett and 
Cricklade 

Sand full-
size Yes Pay and Play 35 30 No No 

During community 
hours the site is 
already used heavily 
for hockey and for 
some football. 
Limited potential for 
additional football 
training. 

WARMINSTER 
SCHOOL Warminster 

Sand full-
size Yes Pay and Play 10 10 No No 

Limited potential use 
by the community of 
this public school 
venue. 

MARLBOROUGH 
COLLEGE x 2 Marlborough 

Sand full-
size Yes 

Sports Club / 
Community 
Association 15 15 No No 

Community use by 
local hockey teams, 
and no scope for 

P
age 294



Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy Needs Assessment       82 | P a g e   

 

Name Sub area AGP type Floodlit Access Type 

Estimated 
community 
use capacity 

(hours) 

Estimated 
community 
use (hours) 

Significant 
availability 

on weekday 
evenings (10 

hours +)? 

Significant 
availability on 
weekends (10 

hours +)? Note 

community football 
use. 

SPRINGFIELD 
COMMUNITY 
CAMPUS Corsham 

Sand full-
size Yes Pay and Play 40 30 ? ? 

This is a brand new 
facility, and 
programming is yet 
to be reach maturity. 
It is already being 
used for hockey by a 
newly established 
club, and there is 
some football 
activity. 

MELKSHAM OAK 
COMMUNITY 
SCHOOL Melksham 

Sand full-
size Yes 

Sports Club / 
Community 
Association 35 25 No No 

Of the hours available 
for community use 
there appears limited 
scope for additional 
football 

ST LAURENCE 
SCHOOL Bradford on Avon 

Sand full-
size No Private Use 10 10 No No 

Very limited 
community use. 

CHAFYN GROVE 
SCHOOL Salisbury 

Sand full-
size No Private Use N.A. N.A. N.A. N.A. 

Limited, if any, 
community use. 

TIDWORTH OVAL Tidworth 
Sand full-
size Yes Private Use N.A. N.A. N.A. N.A. 

Limited, if any, 
community use. 

PRIOR PARK Royal Wootton Sand full-
No Private Use N.A. N.A. N.A. N.A. 

Limited, if any, 

P
age 295



Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy Needs Assessment       83 | P a g e   

 

Name Sub area AGP type Floodlit Access Type 

Estimated 
community 
use capacity 

(hours) 

Estimated 
community 
use (hours) 

Significant 
availability 

on weekday 
evenings (10 

hours +)? 

Significant 
availability on 
weekends (10 

hours +)? Note 

PREPARATORY 
SCHOOL 

Bassett and 
Cricklade 

size community use. 

DAUNTSEYS SCHOOL Devizes 
Sand full-
size No Private Use N.A. N.A. N.A. N.A. 

Limited, if any, 
community use. 

DAUNTSEYS SCHOOL Devizes 
Sand full-
size Yes Private Use N.A. N.A. N.A. N.A. 

Limited, if any, 
community use. 

LAND WARFARE 
CENTRE Warminster 

Sand full-
size Yes Private Use N.A. N.A. N.A. N.A. 

Limited, if any, 
community use for 
football. What 
community 
availability there 
exists is  allocated to 
club hockey. 

RAF LARKHILL Amesbury 
Sand full-
size No Private Use N.A. N.A. N.A. N.A. 

Some occasional 
community use for 
hockey, but not for 
football. 

CRICKLADE LEISURE 
CENTRE 

Royal Wootton 
Bassett and 
Cricklade 

Sand 
reduced-
size Yes Pay and Play 

    

RAMSBURY 
RECREATION CENTRE Marlborough 

Sand 
reduced-
size Yes Pay and Play 

    

P
age 296



Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy Needs Assessment       84 | P a g e   

 

Name Sub area AGP type Floodlit Access Type 

Estimated 
community 
use capacity 

(hours) 

Estimated 
community 
use (hours) 

Significant 
availability 

on weekday 
evenings (10 

hours +)? 

Significant 
availability on 
weekends (10 

hours +)? Note 

CORSHAM TOWN 
FOOTBALL CLUB Corsham 

Sand 
reduced-
size No Pay and Play 80 50 No No Heavily used by club. 

ABBEYFIELD SCHOOL Calne 

Sand 
reduced-
size No Private Use N.A. N.A. N.A. N.A. 

Little or no 
community use. 

ST EDMUNDS RC 
PRIMARY SCHOOL Calne 

Sand 
reduced-
size No Private Use N.A. N.A. N.A. N.A. 

Little or no 
community use. 

WARMINSTER 
PREPARATORY 
SCHOOL Warminster 

Sand 
reduced-
size No Private Use N.A. N.A. N.A. N.A. 

Little or no 
community use. 

 

 

P
age 297



Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy Needs Assessment       85 | P a g e   

 

 

FA Calculated requirements 

5.76 Discussions held with the FA Regional and County Facility Development Officers, as well as 
league secretaries tend to confirm the view expressed by many local clubs (and some operators) 
that there are insufficient 3G pitches available for training, in particular.  

5.77 Information provided by the FA suggest a need for just under 21 full-size 3G pitches (for 
football training) based on an assumption of 918 teams within the local authority; and, that 42 
teams could be allocated viable training slots on a single such pitch. As there are 5 full-size 3G 
pitches currently in the local authority, this leaves a deficit of around 17 full-size 3G pitches.7 In fact 
if only those full-size 3G pitches included on the FA register of accredited pitches are included (of 
which there are 3- at Royal Wootton Bassett (Gerard Buxton), Calne (Beversbrook), and 
Chippenham (Stanley Park)) there would be a calculated need for 19 additional pitches. 

5.78 If another full-size 3G pitch (at the Wellington Academy) is included in the calculations the 
deficit would reduced to 18. There is also a small number of smaller-size pitches, that can also make 
a contribution to meeting team training needs. 

5.79 These pitches do not take into account existing pitches that are sand-based, and/or those 
that are less than full-size (irrespective of whether they are 3G or sand-based surface).  

5.80 To implement this standard of provision would require a prodigious financial investment, 
and so there is therefore a need to prioritise geographical areas where provision needs to be 
improved. The following Map 5.3 overlays the notional 15-minute drivetime catchments of the only 
three full-size 3G AGPs in full community use onto the previous Map 5.1, which showed the 
concentration of team numbers and sites with apparent over-use of their turf pitches. 

5.81 By some reckoning perhaps no part of Wiltshire is as well-served with this type of facility as 
it should be: however, the are some very obvious geographical blackspots in current provision: 

5.82 The Trowbridge/Melksham/Bradford on Avon area is currently the most serious and obvious 
blackspot, given the weight of team numbers and the apparent over-use of grass pitches. Although 
a full-AGP could be provided in the future at the new Woolmore Farm development (involving the 
co-relocation of the Town Football and Rugby Clubs), this is unlikely to have anywhere near the 
capacity and geographical location to satisfy the needs of teams in the Trowbridge and Bradford 
areas. 

5.83 Further to the south, in the Warminster and Westbury areas there are large concentrations 
of teams, and especially when considered together. 

5.84 Salisbury and the South Wiltshire areas have some large concentrations of teams, overplay, 
but no full-size 3G pitch. 

5.85 Devizes is a market town with an essentially vary rural hinterland, but it does have a strong 
tradition of local club football, and perhaps would merit provision, and especially if it could be 
made in conjunction with local rugby interests on a mutually compliant 3G surface. 

5.86 In other locations, such as in the Marlborough, Pewsey, Tidworth, and South West Wiltshire 
Community Areas, it may be more difficult to justify provision of 3G pitches as an immediate 

                                                 
7
 This guidance may be reviewed in the coming months, but was not available for use at the time of preparing this 

report. 

Page 298



Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy Needs Assessment       86 | P a g e   

 

priority, if based on the needs of clubs alone. However, it is very conceivable that provision could 
be made on school sites with joint education/other funding.  

Map 5.3: Full-size 3G AGPs in community use with their 15-minute drive catchments 

 

Page 299



Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy Needs Assessment       87 | P a g e   

 

 

 

Scenario Testing (b): The Future 

 

Future Picture of Provision 

5.87 The future requirement for playing pitches will be impacted by several factors, including: 

 changes to the number of people living in the area and / or to the demographic profile of 
the population; 

 changes in participation trends and in how pitch sports are played; 

 club specific development plans and aspirations; and 

 amendments to the current facility stock either through the provision of new pitches or the 
loss of current pitches. 

5.88 These issues are considered in turn in order to build a picture of future demand for playing 
pitches. 

A Population Change 

Team Generation Rates and future natural population change in the population 

5.89 Team Generation Rates (TGRs) indicate how many people in a specified age group are 
required to generate one team. TGRs are derived by dividing the appropriate population age band 
by the number of teams playing within that area in that age band. By applying TGRs to natural 
population growth projections, we can project the theoretical number of teams that would be 
generated from natural population growth and gain an understanding of future demand.  

5.90 Table 5.19 summarises the current TGRs for football in the local authority, and uses them to 
assess the potential impact of projected changes to the population profile on demand for football.  

 

  

Page 300



Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy Needs Assessment       88 | P a g e   

 

Table 5.19: TGRs and potential change to number of football teams in the local authority: 2015-
20368 

 

2015 AGE GROUPS 2015 AGE 
GROUP 
POPULATION 

2015 
TEAMS 

2015 TGRs 2026 AGE 
GROUPS 

2026 
TEAMS 

CHANGE(+/-) 

Mini-soccer (6-9 mixed 
gender) 

23,806 259 92 25,042 272.4 13.4 

Junior football (10-15 male) 19,990 327 61 22,680 371.0 44.0 

Junior football (10-15 
female) 

16,590 26 638 18,919 29.7 3.7 

Senior football (16-45 male) 85,260 290 294 90,605 308.2 18.2 

Senior football (16-45 
female) 

82,704 16 5,169 83,421 16.1 0.1 

 

5.91 These are for local authority as a whole and it is important to consider the same analysis for 
the 18 Community Areas. This information is provided in Appendix 5. 

5.92 The above suggests a growth in all age/gender groups in team numbers by 2026 and, in 
particular in the junior male and adult male age groups. The population data on which the above 
calculations are predicated9 are themselves only based upon previous trends, and do not 
necessarily take into account the impact of planned new residential growth yet to be determined. 

Projected change in the population resulting from planned new growth 

5.93 The above projects the change in team numbers arising out of natural change in the 
population up to 2026. There is also a need to consider any additional teams generated from 
localised population change resulting from planned new development. This new development may 
give rise to a significant local redistribution of the population, and conceivably in the spatial 
demand for playing pitches.  The precise housing growth allocations to be catered for in the 
emerging new development plan are currently not determined 

B Changes in participation trends and how football is played 

5.94 Although population growth will influence demand, changes in participation may perhaps 
have the most significant impact on demand for playing pitches.   

5.95 Changes to youth football have only been introduced very recently (including the creation of 
5 v 5 and 9 v 9) and as such, the impact is not yet fully apparent. The FA indicate that in pilot areas, 
the introductions of these new formats has seen an increase in the number of teams playing and 
greater retention of players through the older age groups. In particular: 

                                                 
8 Compiled from a forecast produced on 12/05/2015 using POPGROUP software developed by Bradford Council, the University of 

Manchester and Andelin Associates 

 
9 Compiled from a forecast produced on 19/03/2015 using POPGROUP software developed by Bradford Council, the University of Manchester and 
Andelin Associates 

Page 301



Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy Needs Assessment       89 | P a g e   

 

5.96 where historically two 7 v 7 teams would merge to become one 11 v 11 team when starting 
to play junior football, now the two teams will seek additional players and instead of merging will 
remain as two 9 v 9 teams; and 

5.97 the same will happen at 9 v 9 age groups, where 9 v 9 teams transition to 11 v 11 teams, 
they will stay as two teams and seek additional players instead of merging. 

5.98 The FA therefore believe that there will be an increase in the overall number of teams (and 
participants) in future years as a result of the youth review and that higher levels of demand will 
occur as a result. In this event: 

5.99 the already insufficient stock of age appropriate junior football pitches would become even 
more constrained, and mini soccer pitches (7 v 7 and 5 v 5) would also become insufficient; and 

5.100 if issues relating to the drop off in the transition between junior and senior football were 
addressed however, the spare capacity currently seen in adult football pitches may also become 
constrained. 

5.101 A number of football initiatives are also being implemented by Sport England, focusing on 
14 – 24 year olds, and this is similarly expected by the FA to increase the number of teams being 
formed. 

Club development plans and aspirations 

5.102 Several football clubs have aspirations to grow and this will impact both on demand across 
the local authority as a whole but also more locally at a site specific level.   Club aspirations are set 
out in Table 5.20.  

Table 5.20: Club aspirations to field more teams  

Does your club plan to run more 
teams? 

  

 Response Percent Response Total 

Yes 53% 32 

No 47% 28 

 answered 60 

 skipped 2 

5.103 Slightly more than half of the responding clubs said that they would like to field more teams. 
Of those clubs stating that they would like to field additional teams  

5.104 These are bone fide statements on the clubs’ part. Where clubs stated that they would like 
to field teams in a particular category, we have provided a very indicative quantification of how 
many teams this might be. 

 

 

 

Page 302



Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy Needs Assessment       90 | P a g e   

 

 

Table 5.21: Estimate of additional teams that responding clubs might field 

Adult men’s teams Adult 
women’s 

teams 

Youth 
boys’ 
teams 

Youth 
girls’ 

teams 

Mini 
soccer 
teams 

Other (e.g. Vets) 

13 2 18 8 17 0 

 

5.105 Taking into account the necessary caveat, the above aspirations suggest that responding 
team might like to field an additional: 

 25 adult teams; 

 26 junior teams; and, 

 17 mini soccer teams. 

5.106 The clubs responding to the questionnaire survey represented about 50% of the teams 
estimated to exist within the Wiltshire local authority. Assuming the above moderated aspirational 
figures are reasonable, they might be doubled to reflect the remainder of the local authority’s clubs 
and teams. This would provide: 

 50 adult teams; 

 52 junior teams; and, 

 34 mini soccer teams 

5.107 This represents about 14/15% of the current total number of teams in the local authority. 

5.108 The clubs have also stated some of the obstacles that, they feel, stand in the way of them 
realising these aspirations. In practice, there may be little that can be done to reduce some of these 
obstacles, especially in the current financial climate. However, the statements serve to emphasise 
that some clubs would like to expand their activities were it not for the existence of certain 
obstacles- one of the goals of the strategy which this needs assessment underpins should be to 
seek ways in which these obstacles can be mitigated.  

Figure 5.12: Obstacles given by clubs as stopping them fielding more teams. 

 

Page 303



Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy Needs Assessment       91 | P a g e   

 

5.109 As can be seen, the jointly most cited reason was shortage of coaches and volunteers: this is 
undoubtedly a huge issue that affects the future health and growth of many sports provided by the 
voluntary sector. However, many of the other most cited reasons have already been discussed in 
this section, and the fact that they are given prominent attention by clubs confirms the importance 
of them as issues to be addressed as far as possible in the strategy. 

5.110 When adding the ‘aspiration-driven’ extra teams to additional teams arising from projected 
population growth (2026), the total increased future demand will be: 

Table 5.22: Summary potential overall growth in team numbers 

Extra teams from 
population growth 

Extra teams for 
aspirational growth 

Extra 
teams 
(A+B) 

Grass 
pitches 

required 

Note 

Adult 18 Adult 50 68 17 Assumes 2 
games/pitch/week 

Junior 48 Junior 52 100 25 Assumes 2 
games/pitch/week 

Mini 13 Mini 34 47 12 Assumes 4 
games/pitch/week 

 

5.111 The population projections underpinning Table 5.19 are trend-based, and will therefore take 
into account previous housebuilding rates within the local authority. However, future development 
plan allocations will need to be confirmed, and the estimates in Table 5.19 should be amended 
when new population data are available.   

5.112 This section has identified that there are some playing pitch locations that appear to be 
used to less than their likely carrying capacity and, in all likelihood, some of these will be available 
to meet the needs of existing and future clubs at times they wish to play. 

5.113 It is therefore entirely conceivable that some of the existing football pitch venues can be 
used to address the demographic and aspiration-driven needs identified above: the data provided 
in Appendix 5 for the 18 Community Areas will help to inform the process at the more local level. 

Key issues for the strategy to address 

5.114 Wet weather really impacts upon the ability of pitches to absorb play and training. 

5.115 There is a need for more AGPs both for training and, increasingly, for matchplay to help deal 
with wet weather, and increased demand leading to wear and tear.  

5.116 The FA should play a central role in advising on the establishment of such venues. 

5.117 If there were to be geographical priority areas for additional facilities they would be located 
in the vicinity of existing hub and spoke clubs; on school sites; and on good communication links. 
The immediate priority areas for new provision should be: 

 The Trowbridge/Melksham/Bradford on Avon areas  

 The Calne area  

Page 304



Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy Needs Assessment       92 | P a g e   

 

 the Warminster/Westbury areas  

 Salisbury/South Wiltshire  

 Devizes  

5.118 The Strategy and Action Plan should provide detail on the specific needs of each community 
area, and how and where they might best be met locally. 

5.119 Some of these schemes might be achieved via the Community Campus development 
programmes, and could be larger hub venues for football and other sports, and including new grass 
pitches. ‘Land swaps’ might help to initiate such schemes, with existing underused and badly 
located venues being identified and released for development to fund new or upgraded facilities in 
better locations. 

5.120 The strategy should consider the development of a grass pitch improvement programme, 
given issues highlighted with regard to wet weather/waterlogging.  

5.121 There are geographical hotspots of demand where access to good quality pitches is 
problematic  

5.122 It might be an aim to get as much junior matchplay onto AGPs as possible. 

5.123 The FA and Wiltshire local authority should work together to initiate a volunteers 
training/experience programme to help bolster the volunteer base for local football, but which will 
enhance the curricular vitae of young people, and widen their portfolio of transferable skills. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 305



Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy Needs Assessment       93 | P a g e   

 

6.0 CRICKET 

General 

6.45 This section evaluates the adequacy of pitches for cricket and provides: 

 an overview of the supply and demand for cricket pitches;  

 an understanding of activity at individual sites in the local authority; 

 a picture of the adequacy of current provision; 

 the future picture of provision for cricket; and, 

 a summary of key issues. 

Pitch Supply 

6.46 There are 104 sites containing grass fields used for cricket. This figure includes all known 
public, private, school and other pitches whether or not they offer community use, as summarised 
in Table 6.1. The list does not include sites outside the local authority. The Wiltshire Cricket Board 
administrative border is not the same as that for the Wiltshire local authority, and pitches located 
in the former but outside the latter have been excluded. 

6.47 In addition to the cricket fields, there will be some non-turf wickets located on school sites, 
but which have not been included, because they are not sited within a recognised cricket field, that 
is regularly used as such. Map 6.1 (included in Appendix 6) locates all the sites listed in the Table 
6.1. 

Table 6.1: Cricket fields in Wiltshire 

Sub Area Name Availability Ownership Number 
of grass 
cricket 
wicket 
strips 

Number 
of 

artificial 
cricket 
wicket 
strips 

Amesbury off Portway, Gomeldon A1 LA 8 0 

Amesbury Shrewton Recreation Ground A1 LA 8 1 

Amesbury Steeple Langford Recreation 
Ground 

A1 LA 8 1 

Amesbury Bonnymead A2 Club 8 1 

Amesbury off Jubilee Hill, Durnford A2 Private 8 0 

Amesbury DTSL Sports Ground, Porton Down MoD   

Amesbury RAF Larkhill, (Bell Road Cricket Field) MoD   

Bradford on Avon Victory Field Recreation 
Ground (or Culver Close 

A1 LA 8 0 

Page 306



Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy Needs Assessment       94 | P a g e   

 

Sub Area Name Availability Ownership Number 
of grass 
cricket 
wicket 
strips 

Number 
of 

artificial 
cricket 
wicket 
strips 

Playing Field) 

Bradford on Avon The Downs A2 Club 8 0 

Bradford on Avon cricket field off Frome Road, 
Wingfield 

B Private 8 0 

Calne Calne Recreation Ground A1 LA 8 1 

Calne Cherhill CC (Quemerford Gate) A1 LA 8 0 

Calne Goatacre Cricket Club (x 2 
fields) 

A2 Club 8 x2 1 

Calne The Beversbrook Sports 
Complex 

A1 LA 10 0 

Calne Compton Bassett Cricket Club A2 Private 8 0 

Chippenham Kington Langley Playing Field A1 LA 8 0 

Chippenham off The Street, Grittleton A1 LA 8 0 

Chippenham Sutton Benger Recreation 
Ground 

A1 LA 8 0 

Chippenham The Green Recreation Ground, 
Christian Malford 

A1 LA 8 0 

Chippenham Chippenham Sports Club 
cricket field 

A2 Club 10 0 

Chippenham off Yatton Road, Biddestone A2 Club 16 1 

Chippenham Seagry Cricket Club A2 Private 8 0 

Chippenham Westinghouse Cricket Club 
(Closed) 

A2 Private   

Corsham Box Recreation Ground A1 LA 8 1 

Corsham Corsham Cricket Club A1 LA 8 1 

Corsham Leafy Lane, Hawthorn A1 LA 8 1 

Page 307



Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy Needs Assessment       95 | P a g e   

 

Sub Area Name Availability Ownership Number 
of grass 
cricket 
wicket 
strips 

Number 
of 

artificial 
cricket 
wicket 
strips 

Corsham The Playing Field (Lacock) A2 Other 8 0 

Devizes All Cannings Bridge House 
Cricket Pitch 

A1 LA 8 1 

Devizes The Elisha Field, Market 
Lavington 

A1 LA 8 0 

Devizes Devizes Sports Club A2 Club 20 1 

Devizes Earlestoke & Coulston Cricket 
Club 

A2 Club 8 0 

Devizes Potterne Cricket Club A2 Private 8 1 

Devizes Spaniel's Bridge (Bishop 
Cannings and Potterne CCs) 

A2 Club 8 1 

Devizes Spye Park Cricket Club A2 Club 8 0 

Devizes Urchfont Cricket Club A2 Club 8 0 

Devizes cricket ground, West Lavington A3 Education 8 0 

Malmesbury Bradstone Sports Field A1 LA 8 0 

Malmesbury Minety Playing Fields A1 LA 8 0 

Malmesbury Oaksey Playing Field A1 LA 8 0 

Malmesbury off Tetbury Lane, Charlton A1 LA 8 0 

Malmesbury Prinkney Park, Sherston A2 Club 8 0 

Malmesbury The Worthys A2 Club 8 0 

Marlborough Kennett Valley Village Hall A1 LA 8 0 

Marlborough Mildenhall CC A1 LA 8 0 

Marlborough Ramsbury Recreation Centre A1 LA 8 1 

Marlborough Avebury Sports Field A2 Other 8 0 

Marlborough Marlborough Cricket Club (x2 A2 Club 18 0 

Page 308



Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy Needs Assessment       96 | P a g e   

 

Sub Area Name Availability Ownership Number 
of grass 
cricket 
wicket 
strips 

Number 
of 

artificial 
cricket 
wicket 
strips 

fields) 

Marlborough off Manor Lane, Broad Hinton A2 Private 8 0 

Marlborough Marlborough School Pitches C Education  3 

Melksham Broughton Gifford Common A1 LA 8 0 

Melksham King George V Playing Fields A1 LA 8 0 

Melksham The Conigre A1 LA 8 1 

Melksham The Lye Field A1 LA 8 1 

Melksham The Manor, High Street, Keevil A2 Private 8 0 

Melksham Melksham Oak Community 
School 

A3 Education 8 1 

Pewsey off Frog Lane Bedwyn A1 LA 8 0 

Pewsey off The Lynch, Shalbourne A1 LA 8 0 

Pewsey Burbage & Easton Royal Sports 
Club 

A2 Club 8 1 

Pewsey off Alton Road, Wilcot A2 Club 8 1 

Pewsey off The Street, Marden B Private 8 0 

Royal Wootton 
Bassett and 
Cricklade 

Ballards Ash Sports Ground A1 LA 8 0 

Royal Wootton 
Bassett and 
Cricklade 

Gerard Buxton Playing Field A2 Club 10 0 

Royal Wootton 
Bassett and 
Cricklade 

Purton Cricket Club A2 Club 8 0 

Royal Wootton 
Bassett and 
Cricklade 

Southam and the Water 
Pitches 

C  8 1 

Page 309



Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy Needs Assessment       97 | P a g e   

 

Sub Area Name Availability Ownership Number 
of grass 
cricket 
wicket 
strips 

Number 
of 

artificial 
cricket 
wicket 
strips 

Salisbury Hampton Park Pavilion A1 LA 8 0 

Salisbury Salisbury & South Wilts Sports 
Club 

A2 Club 20 1 

Salisbury Bishop Wadworth's School B Education 8 0 

Salisbury Harnham Cricket Ground B LA 8 0 

Salisbury Chafyn Grove School C Education   

South West 
Wiltshire 

Chalke Valley Sports Centre A1 LA 8 0 

South West 
Wiltshire 

Dinton Recreation Ground A1 LA 8 0 

South West 
Wiltshire 

Duchy Manor A1 LA 8 0 

South West 
Wiltshire 

South Newton Recreation 
Ground 

A1 LA 8 0 

South West 
Wiltshire 

Tisbury & District Sports 
Centre 

A1 LA 8 0 

South West 
Wiltshire 

Chilmark Cricket Ground A2 Club 8 0 

South West 
Wiltshire 

cricket field at Compton 
Chamberlayne 

A2 Club 8 0 

South West 
Wiltshire 

Fovant CC (East Farm) A2 Private 8 0 

South West 
Wiltshire 

Kilmington & Stourton Cricket 
Club 

A2 Club 8 1 

Southern Wiltshire Barry's Field, Winterslow A1 LA 8 1 

Southern Wiltshire Coronation Field A1 LA 8 0 

Southern Wiltshire Landford Recreation Ground A1 LA 8 0 

Southern Wiltshire Memorial Ground, Romsey A1 LA 8 0 

Page 310



Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy Needs Assessment       98 | P a g e   

 

Sub Area Name Availability Ownership Number 
of grass 
cricket 
wicket 
strips 

Number 
of 

artificial 
cricket 
wicket 
strips 

Road 

Southern Wiltshire Redlynch Recreation Ground A1 LA 8 1 

Southern Wiltshire cricket field at Coombe Bissett A2 Club 8 0 

Tidworth Collingbourne Dulcis 
Recreation Ground 

A1 LA 8 1 

Tidworth King George V Playing Field A1 LA 8 1 

Tidworth cricket field off Salisbury Road, 
Tidworth 

C MoD   

Trowbridge North Bradley Peace Memorial 
Recreation Ground 

A1 LA 8 0 

Trowbridge The Playing Field at Southwick A1 LA 8 0 

Trowbridge Seymour Road A2 Club 24 1 

Trowbridge cricket field off Hackett Place C Education   

Warminster Corsley War Memorial Field A1 LA 8 0 

Warminster off High Street, Sutton Veny A1 LA 8 0 

Warminster Chitterne Recreation Ground A2 Club 8 0 

Warminster off Park Street, Heytesbury A2 Club 8 0 

Warminster Warminster Town Cricket Club A2 Club 8 0 

Warminster Land Warfare Centre, 
Warminster 

C MoD   

Westbury Bratton Recreation Ground A1 LA 8 0 

Westbury Leighton Recreation Centre A1 LA 8 0 

 

6.48 Facility ownership/management is dominated by the local authority and club sectors (the 
former also includes local town and parish councils). As will be explained later in this section, some 
of the sites are more heavily used than others. Those with the heaviest use tend to be located in 

Page 311



Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy Needs Assessment       99 | P a g e   

 

the main urban areas. However, Wiltshire maintains a strong heritage of village cricket, and there 
continue to be many such clubs playing cricket to a relatively high standard.  

Management and Maintenance of Cricket Pitches 

Pitch Quality 

6.49 The quality of cricket pitches is a key component of provision. The importance of quality in 
cricket means that some leagues require umpires to rate the pitches after each match, ensuring 
that they are fit for purposes and that any issues with the overall pitch quality, the wicket, or the 
outfield are identified. If pitches and associated ancillary provision are not up to the required 
quality standards, this can lead to relegation from the league and / or loss of promotion. 

6.50 The quality of pitches in the local authority was therefore assessed through site visits 
undertaken using the non-technical assessment that accompanies the Playing Pitch Strategy 
Guidance note and prepared by the ECB, as well as consultation with local cricket clubs, and the 
Wiltshire County Cricket Board.  

6.51 Assessments indicate that the overall quality of cricket pitches in the local authority is 
largely ranging between standard and good, with a small number of exceptions. 

6.52 While many sites are used exclusively for cricket others are multi-use. Often cricket squares 
are located in recreation or sports grounds that are used for football and rugby, as well as other 
more informal recreation. They can also be located in public recreation grounds that are free-to-
access and have a multi-functional nature. This can add to the wear and tear on surfaces and 
impact upon the ability to undertake maintenance.  

6.53 Table 6.2 summarises the sites containing cricket pitches in the local authority and the 
quality issues identified.  

 

Page 312



Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy Needs Assessment       100 | P a g e   

 

Table 6.2: Cricket sites in the local authority and a quality assessment 

Name Sub Area Availability  Club rating of 
wicket (from 
questionnaire, 
where available) 

Cricket 
venue 
overall 
rating 

All Cannings Bridge 
House Cricket Pitch 

Devizes A1  Acceptable Good 

Ballards Ash Sports 
Ground 

Royal Wootton 
Bassett and 
Cricklade 

A1 Multi-sports venue: cricket, rugby, and football 
played 

 Standard 

Barry's Field, 
Winterslow 

Southern Wiltshire A1 Used for cricket and football  Good 

Box Recreation 
Ground 

Corsham A1 Multi sports venue Good Good 

Bradstone Sports 
Field 

Malmesbury A1   Standard 

Bratton Recreation 
Ground 

Westbury A1 Resident club considers facilities to be very basic. 
Shared outfield with football causes problems 

Acceptable Standard 

Broughton Gifford 
Common 

Melksham A1   Good 

Calne Recreation 
Ground 

Calne A1   Standard 

P
age 313



Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy Needs Assessment       101 | P a g e   

 

Name Sub Area Availability  Club rating of 
wicket (from 
questionnaire, 
where available) 

Cricket 
venue 
overall 
rating 

Chalke Valley Sports 
Centre 

South West 
Wiltshire 

A1   Good 

Cherhill CC 
(Quemerford Gate) 

Calne A1   Standard 

Collingbourne Dulcis 
Recreation Ground 

Tidworth A1 Dog fouling an issue on this public recreation ground Good Good 

Coronation Field Southern Wiltshire A1 Resident club considers facilities could be improved 
but have insufficient funding 

Good Good 

Corsham Cricket 
Club 

Corsham A1 Cricket Club states that "Club is currently required to 
install limited perimeter netting for health and safety 
reasons which adds additional onus on the Club to 
erect before and after matches.  It remains to be 
seen how effective these will be given restrictions 
imposed by being located in a conservation area. " 

Good Standard 

Corsley War 
Memorial Field 

Warminster A1   Good 

Dinton Recreation 
Ground 

South West 
Wiltshire 

A1  Good Good 

Duchy Manor South West A1   Standard 

P
age 314



Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy Needs Assessment       102 | P a g e   

 

Name Sub Area Availability  Club rating of 
wicket (from 
questionnaire, 
where available) 

Cricket 
venue 
overall 
rating 

Wiltshire 

Goatacre Recreation 
Ground 

Calne A1 Club recently moved to new venue  Standard 

Hampton Park 
Pavilion 

Salisbury A1   Standard 

Kennett Valley 
Village Hall 

Marlborough A1 Used for friendlies  Standard 

King George V 
Playing Field 

Tidworth A1   Standard 

King George V 
Playing Fields 

Melksham A1 The cricket club states that "Ideally we would like to 
develop our own ground, with our own facilities 
including covers, sight screens. If we had the money 
we would love to own the back field of George Ward 
School." . The Cricket Club states that the outfield at 
KGV is too long for cricket. 

Acceptable Good 

Kington Langley 
Playing Field 

Chippenham A1   Standard 

Landford Recreation 
Ground 

Southern Wiltshire A1   Standard 

P
age 315



Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy Needs Assessment       103 | P a g e   

 

Name Sub Area Availability  Club rating of 
wicket (from 
questionnaire, 
where available) 

Cricket 
venue 
overall 
rating 

Leafy Lane, 
Hawthorn 

Corsham A1 Football is the dominant sport on this site. Acceptable Standard 

Leighton Recreation 
Centre 

Westbury A1 Resident club would like to develop its own pavilion. 
Shared outfield with football causes problems 

Acceptable Good 

Memorial Ground, 
Romsey Road 

Southern Wiltshire A1 Cricket club states concern over rental costs Acceptable Good 

Mildenhall CC* Marlborough A1   Good 

Minety Playing 
Fields 

Malmesbury A1   Standard 

North Bradley Peace 
Memorial 
Recreation Ground 

Trowbridge A1   Good 

Oaksey Playing Field Malmesbury A1  Good Standard 

off Frog Lane 
Bedwyn 

Pewsey A1   Standard 

off High Street, 
Sutton Veny 

Warminster A1   Standard 

P
age 316



Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy Needs Assessment       104 | P a g e   

 

Name Sub Area Availability  Club rating of 
wicket (from 
questionnaire, 
where available) 

Cricket 
venue 
overall 
rating 

off Portway, 
Gomeldon 

Amesbury A1 The resident club considers the pavilion to be in poor 
condition which restricts participation. It is currently 
trying to raise funds to build a new one. 

Good Standard 

off Tetbury Lane, 
Charlton 

Malmesbury A1  Good Standard 

off The Lynch, 
Shalbourne 

Pewsey A1 Shalbourne Parish and Shalbourne Social Club are 
currently undertaking plans to redevelop/rebuild the 
changing facilities. Plans are in place for a new 
pavilion and funding is being sought. 

 Standard 

off The Street, 
Grittleton 

Chippenham A1   Standard 

Ramsbury 
Recreation Centre 

Marlborough A1   Standard 

Redlynch Recreation 
Ground 

Southern Wiltshire A1  Good Good 

Shrewton 
Recreation Ground 

Amesbury A1   Good 

South Newton 
Recreation Ground 

South West 
Wiltshire 

A1   Standard 

P
age 317



Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy Needs Assessment       105 | P a g e   

 

Name Sub Area Availability  Club rating of 
wicket (from 
questionnaire, 
where available) 

Cricket 
venue 
overall 
rating 

Southam and the 
Water Pitches 

Royal Wootton 
Bassett and 
Cricklade 

A1   Standard 

Steeple Langford 
Recreation Ground 

Amesbury A1  Good Good 

Sutton Benger 
Recreation Ground 

Chippenham A1 Shared multi-sport venue. Grounds maintenance 
relies on volunteers 

Acceptable Standard 

The Beversbrook 
Sports Complex 

Calne A1 Important multi-sport venue, but cricket is separate 
from other pitches 

 Good 

The Conigre Melksham A1 Important multi sports site (now part of significant 
changes that will enable it to become a dedicated 
cricket venue). 

 Standard 

The Elisha Field, 
Market Lavington 

Devizes A1   Good 

The Green 
Recreation Ground, 
Christian Malford 

Chippenham A1  Good Standard 

The Lye Field Melksham A1  Acceptable Good 

P
age 318



Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy Needs Assessment       106 | P a g e   

 

Name Sub Area Availability  Club rating of 
wicket (from 
questionnaire, 
where available) 

Cricket 
venue 
overall 
rating 

The Playing Field at 
Southwick 

Trowbridge A1   Good 

Tisbury & District 
Sports Centre 

South West 
Wiltshire 

A1   Standard 

Culver Close Bradford on Avon A1  Poor Standard 

Avebury Sports Field Marlborough A2   Good 

Bonnymead Amesbury A2  Good Poor 

Burbage & Easton 
Royal Sports Club 

Pewsey A2   Standard 

Chilmark Cricket 
Ground 

South West 
Wiltshire 

A2   Good 

Chippenham Sports 
Club cricket field 

Chippenham A2   Standard 

Chitterne 
Recreation Ground 

Warminster A2  Good Standard 

Compton Bassett 
Cricket Club 

Calne A2   Standard 

P
age 319



Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy Needs Assessment       107 | P a g e   

 

Name Sub Area Availability  Club rating of 
wicket (from 
questionnaire, 
where available) 

Cricket 
venue 
overall 
rating 

cricket field at 
Compton 
Chamberlayne 

South West 
Wiltshire 

A2   Good 

cricket field at 
Coombe Bissett 

Southern Wiltshire A2   Standard 

cricket field at 
Savernake 
(Marlborough 
Cricket Club) 

Marlborough A2   Good 

Devizes Sports Club Devizes A2  Good Good 

Earlestoke & 
Coulston Cricket 
Club 

Devizes A2 Cricket Club states that it only recently purchased 
the ground. The pitch is occasionally used by other 
local cricket teams when their ground is unavailable. 
At present it is solely used for cricket. Club is in 
negotiations with a local archery club to establish a 
long-term partnership with shared use. The club has 
a development plan for the next few years: in 
particular for the pavilion and electricity supply. It 
states it is unlikely to be able to afford these without 
access to external funding/grants. 

 Good 

P
age 320



Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy Needs Assessment       108 | P a g e   

 

Name Sub Area Availability  Club rating of 
wicket (from 
questionnaire, 
where available) 

Cricket 
venue 
overall 
rating 

Fovant CC (East 
Farm) 

South West 
Wiltshire 

A2   Standard 

Gerard Buxton 
Playing Field 

Royal Wootton 
Bassett and 
Cricklade 

A2 Wootton Bassett CC is moving to a new ground for 
the 2016 season which will have 2 cricket pitches. 
This is the new multi-sport Wootton Bassett Sports 
Hub at the Gerard Buxton Sportsground. 

Good Good 

Goatacre Cricket 
Club 

Calne A2 A new main venue for this club. The club uses two 
cricket fields in close proximity 

Good Standard 

Kilmington & 
Stourton Cricket 
Club 

South West 
Wiltshire 

A2   Standard 

off Alton Road, 
Wilcot 

Pewsey A2  Good Standard 

off Jubilee Hill, 
Durnford 

Amesbury A2   Standard 

off Manor Lane, 
Broad Hinton 

Marlborough A2  Acceptable Good 

off Park  Street Warminster A2   Good 

P
age 321



Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy Needs Assessment       109 | P a g e   

 

Name Sub Area Availability  Club rating of 
wicket (from 
questionnaire, 
where available) 

Cricket 
venue 
overall 
rating 

off Yatton Road, 
Biddestone 

Chippenham A2 Cricket Club states it is planning to expand the 
changing facility by 2 changing rooms, and seeks 
financial support. 

Good Good 

Potterne Cricket 
Club 

Devizes A2  Good Good 

Prinkney Park, 
Sherston 

Malmesbury A2   Good 

Purton Cricket Club Royal Wootton 
Bassett and 
Cricklade 

A2  Good Good 

Salisbury & South 
Wilts Sports Club 

Salisbury A2 Cricket Club suggests "Sub-standard” quality of 
existing practise net facilities and volume of matches 
played puts pressure the playing 
surfaces.......suggests Replacement of 3 lane practice 
net facility, and replacement artificial wickets, or 
extension of existing square. 

(n.b. new practice nets have now been installed) 

Good Good 

Seagry Cricket Club Chippenham A2  Good Standard 

Seymour Road Trowbridge A2 Shared outfield with football  Good 

P
age 322



Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy Needs Assessment       110 | P a g e   

 

Name Sub Area Availability  Club rating of 
wicket (from 
questionnaire, 
where available) 

Cricket 
venue 
overall 
rating 

Spaniel's Bridge Devizes A2   Good 

Spye Park Cricket 
Club 

Devizes A2  Acceptable Standard 

The Downs Bradford on Avon A2 The club feels it needs to expand the pavilion to 
provide for girls’ accommodation, due to the 
demand from girls to play. 

Good Good 

The Manor, High 
Street, Keevil 

Melksham A2   Standard 

The Playing Field 
(Lacock) 

Corsham A2  Poor Standard 

The Worthys Malmesbury A2 The cricket club states that "Old facilities. High 
maintenance costs for wooden structures." 

Good Standard 

Urchfont Cricket 
Club 

Devizes A2   Good 

Warminster Town 
Cricket Club 

Warminster A2   Good 

Westinghouse 
Cricket Club (Closed) 

Chippenham     

P
age 323



Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy Needs Assessment       111 | P a g e   

 

Name Sub Area Availability  Club rating of 
wicket (from 
questionnaire, 
where available) 

Cricket 
venue 
overall 
rating 

cricket ground, 
West Lavington 

Devizes A3   Standard 

Melksham Oak 
Community School 

Melksham A3   Poor 

Bishop Wadworth's 
School 

Salisbury B    

cricket field off 
Frome Road, 
Wingfield 

Bradford on Avon B    

Harnham Cricket 
Ground 

Salisbury B   Standard 

off The Street, 
Marden 

Pewsey B    

 

P
age 324



Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy Needs Assessment       112 | P a g e   

 

 

6.55 The MoD control some sportsground that have provision for cricket, and these may be 
available to some extent for use by community clubs. Given the lack of security of tenure on these 
facilities, and difficulty in access, they have been excluded from the assessment. 

6.56 Bringing together both the findings of the site specific information presented in Table 6.2, it 
is clear that across the local authority: 

6.57 Dedicated cricket sites are generally of an average to good standard, although there are 
specific issues on certain sites, and some of the ancillary facilities are quite basic and require 
refurbishment/overhaul.  

6.58 Issues may exist in relation to those facilities that are not part of a dedicated cricket site. 
Especially in terms of protection of the playing surface from other users, and the curtailing of the 
season where cricket shares a surface with winter sports.  

Wiltshire Cricket Board survey of club needs 

6.59 The Wiltshire Cricket Board has raised concerns in respect of clubs who may have issues 
with facilities that would prevent them for progressing in league cricket. This occurs when clubs 
reach the top of the Wiltshire County Cricket League (WCCL) structure and therefore need to meet 
more stringent facility criteria in order to achieve promotion in to the West of England Premier 
League (WEPL). As a result, the Board has audited the clubs playing in the top two divisions of the 
WCCL in order to understand what facility requirements they may have in order to support them to 
gain access in to WEPL. The Board used WEPL facilities criteria as the basis for conducting this audit 
and asked clubs in WCCL Divisions 1 and 2 to feed back where they had gaps. 

6.60 The results of the audit highlight the following facility requirements from clubs: 

Table 6.3: Survey of facilities of higher performing WCCL clubs with respect to WEPL 
requirements 
 

Club and site Requirements 

Beehive Southwick CC – The Playing Field at 
Southwick 

1. Sightscreens 
2. Mobile covers 
3. Accommodation for scorers 

Beanacre and Melksham CC – Conigre 
 

1. Pavilion upgrade/replacement at 
Melksham House 
2. Sightscreens 
3. Mobile covers 
4. Accommodation for umpires (part of 
pavilion upgrade?) 
5. Accommodation for scorers (part of 
pavilion upgrade?) 

Bradford On Avon CC – Culver Close 1. Pavilion upgrade 
2. Sightscreens 
3. Mobile covers 
4. Side sheets 

Page 325



Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy Needs Assessment       113 | P a g e   

 

Club and site Requirements 

Lacock CC – The Playing Field, Lacock 1. Pavilion upgrade – the club has 400 sq 
meters of the Red Lion Car Park available to 
construct a multi purpose facility 

Winsley CC – The Downs 1. Changing facilities for girls 
2. Increased car parking 
3. Adjacent field available for purchase for 
second ground (club currently travelling 
outside of Winsley for 3rd XI and junior 
games) 

  

Security of tenure 

6.61 A significant number of clubs have long-term leases or outright ownership of their facilities. 
Other clubs, although perhaps only renting, will often use facilities that are either local authority 
owned, or else vested in some form of trust. The latter, although not allowing for clubs to ‘put 
down their roots’ and further develop facilities, will afford some limited form of security of tenure. 
The clubs questionnaire survey indicated the following responses in respect of ground ownership. 
Further details are contained in the All Data Spreadsheet included as Appendix 3 

Table 6.4: Ground ownership 

Does your club/team own its home ground?    

 Response Percent  

Yes 27%  

No 73%  

   
 answered 41 

 skipped 3 

 

Demand 

Participation across the local authority and the structure of competition. 

6.62 There are estimated to be 366 cricket teams of various age groups in the local authority.  

6.63 In terms of competition for adult cricket there are various league and cup competitions that 
Wiltshire clubs participate in. These competitions vary in their standard, ranging from premier 
league cricket governed by the West of England Premier League to more local cricket governed by 
the Wiltshire County Cricket League. 

6.64 However, aside from league and cup cricket there are many other ways in which adults can 
play. For example, there is an indoor cricket structure within the county and there is over 50s and 
60s cricket also available. 

Page 326

http://www.wiltshirecricket.co.uk/adult-cricket/league-cricket/
http://www.wiltshirecricket.co.uk/adult-cricket/cup-cricket/


Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy Needs Assessment       114 | P a g e   

 

6.65 As with most pitch sports, there is a pyramid structure to the league system, and this has 
been reviewed and reformatted very recently. 

6.66 At the highest level, there is the West of England Premier League (in the south of the 
Wiltshire County, it will be the South of England Premier League. Below this league there is a 
supporting structure of feeder leagues and divisions covering Wiltshire, and the two other areas 
constituting the England and Wales Cricket Board (ECB) ‘West of England’ Region. The following 
Figure 6.1 is taken from the Wiltshire Cricket Board website, and illustrates the structure well.  

Figure 6.1: New league structure from 2016 onwards. 

 

 

  

Page 327



Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy Needs Assessment       115 | P a g e   

 

6.67 The new structure achieves the following: 

 Reduced travel (and day length) for those currently playing 1st XI Premier Two cricket. 

 Reduced overs played (and day length) for 1st XI tier 4 players. 

 Reduced day length and increasing challenging opposition for those currently playing 2nd XI 
Premier Two cricket. 

 Reduced travel for those currently playing 2nd XI Premier Two cricket. 

 All teams at all levels to incur either the same or reduced travelling 

 Provides the strongest quality of cricket possible for all clubs and their teams. 

 Provides meaningful cricket for 2nd XIs (and 3rds, 4ths etc). 

 Creates fluidity that will allow cricket teams to reach their potential and to find the level 
appropriate to their players’ abilities. 

 Solves promotion and relegation problems (geography and simplicity) within 1st and 2nd XI 
structures of WEPL. 

 Minimises and ensures avoidance of unnecessary travel. 

6.68 During 2015, teams from both WEPL and the Wiltshire County Cricket League played for 
their places in the new structure with a full understanding of how the new structure will be 
introduced and how the placement of teams will work. 

6.69 Below this structure, there is also a raft of supporting local leagues supporting adult and 
junior play, with play both at the weekends and midweek. 

6.70 The clubs/teams and where they play are as follows: 

Page 328



Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy Needs Assessment       116 | P a g e   

 

Table 6.5: Clubs/teams and where they play (n.b. not all known clubs are affiliated with the Wiltshire Cricket Board (those that are not are indicated 
with an asterisk) 

 

Name Ground Sub Area Men's 
teams 

Ladies’ 
Teams 

Boys' 
teams 

Girls' 
teams 

League 

Amesbury CC Bonnymead Amesbury 2    HCCL, S&DMWCL 

Boscombe Down CC pitches off Stockport Road, Amesbury Amesbury 1    OSIMWCL 

Great Durnford CC off Jubilee Hill, Durnford Amesbury 2     

Porton CC (CSSC) DTSL Sports Ground, Porton Down Amesbury 1    S&DMWCL 

Shrewton CC Shrewton Recreation Ground Amesbury 4  2  HCCL; OSICL; WYCL; 
S&DCL 

Steeple Langford CC Steeple Langford Recreation Ground Amesbury 3  4  HCCL; OSICL; WYCL 

Winterbourne CC off Portway, Gomeldon Amesbury 3  3  HCCL; S&DMWCL 

Bradford on Avon Culner Close Playing Field Bradford on 
Avon 

3  2  WCCL; regular friendlies 

Canal Taverners CC Victory Field Recreation Ground 
(might be Culner Close Playing Field) 

Bradford on 
Avon 

1    VCL 

Winsley CC The Downs Bradford on 
Avon 

3  8  WEPCL; WCCL; B&DYCL, 
SWCC 

P
age 329



Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy Needs Assessment       117 | P a g e   

 

Name Ground Sub Area Men's 
teams 

Ladies’ 
Teams 

Boys' 
teams 

Girls' 
teams 

League 

Winsley CC Victory Field Recreation Ground 
(might be Culner Close Playing Field) 

Bradford on 
Avon 

2    SWCC; Social 

Calne CC The Beversbrook Sports Complex Calne 3 1 4 5 WEPCL; WCCL; C&DECL; 
WYCL 

Cherhill CC Cherhill CC (Quernford Gate) Calne 2    WCCL; C&DECL 

Compton Bassett CC 
(Manor Farm) 

Compton Bassett Cricket Club Calne 1    ? 

Goatacre CC Goatacre Cricket Club Calne 5  3  WEPCL; WCCL; C&DECL; 
WCYL; KDYL 

Biddestone CC off Yatton Road, Biddestone Chippenham 5 1 7 1 WEPCL; VCL; WYCL 

Chippenham CC Sheldon School Chippenham 2    WCCL 

Chippenham CC Chippenham Sports Club cricket field Chippenham 3  4 3 WEPCL; WCCL; WWCL; 
WYCL;B&DYCL 

Christian Malford CC The Green Recreation Ground, 
Christian Malford 

Chippenham 2    C&DECL; VCL 

Grittleton CC off The Street, Grittleton Chippenham 1     

Kington Langley CC Kington Langley Playing Field Chippenham 1    Malmesbury Village 
League 

P
age 330



Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy Needs Assessment       118 | P a g e   

 

Name Ground Sub Area Men's 
teams 

Ladies’ 
Teams 

Boys' 
teams 

Girls' 
teams 

League 

Seagry CC Seagry Cricket Club Chippenham 2    SWCCL; friendlies 

Sutton Benger CC Sutton Benger Recreation Ground Chippenham 2    VCL; C&DECL 

Box CC Box Recreation Ground Corsham 2    WCCL; WYCL 

Corsham CC Leafy Lane, Hawthorn Corsham 2    WCCL 

Corsham CC Corsham Cricket Club Corsham 3  4 4 WEPCL; WCCL; NSCL; 
WYCL; B&DYCL 

Lacock CC The Playing Field (Lacock) Corsham 2    WCCL 

All Cannings CC Bridge House Cricket Pitch Devizes 1  2  WCCL 

Bishops Cannings CC Spaniel's Bridge Devizes 1  4  WYCL 

Dauntsey Gentlemen 
CC 

cricket ground, West Lavington Devizes 2    WCCL 

Devizes CC Devizes Sports Club Devizes 4 1 4  WEPCL; WCCL; WYCL 

Erlestoke & Coulston 
CC 

Erlestoke & Coulston Cricket Club Devizes 1  1  friendlies 

Lavington CC The Elisha Field, Market Lavington Devizes 2    WCCL 

Potterne CC Potterne Cricket Club Devizes 3 1  1 WEPCL; WCCL; 

P
age 331



Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy Needs Assessment       119 | P a g e   

 

Name Ground Sub Area Men's 
teams 

Ladies’ 
Teams 

Boys' 
teams 

Girls' 
teams 

League 

WWMWCL; KYCL; WYCL 

Potterne CC Spaniel's Bridge Devizes 2  4  WCCL 

Spye Park CC Spye Park Cricket Club Devizes 3  3  WCCL; C&DECL 

Urchfont CC Urchfont Cricket Club Devizes 2  3  WCCL 

Ashton Keynes CC Bradstone Sports Field Malmesbury 1    Cot&DCA 

Charlton CC off Tetbury Lane, Chartlon Malmesbury 1    Cot&DCA 

Malmesbury CC off Tetbury Lane, Chartlon Malmesbury   5 1 WCYL 

Malmesbury CC The Worthys Malmesbury 3    WEPCL; Cot&DCA 

Minety CC Minety Playing Fields Malmesbury 1     

Oaksey CC Oaksey Playing Field Malmesbury 2    Cot&DCA; midweek T20 

Peterborough Arms 
CC 

The Green, Dauntsey Malmesbury 1    C&DECL 

Sherston Magna CC Prinkney Park, Sherston Malmesbury 2    COT&DCA; VCL; CDCA 

Aldbourne Dabchicks 
CC 

Ramsbury Recreation Centre (also 
play occassional games at 
Marlborough School) 

Marlborough 1    friendlies and mw 

P
age 332



Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy Needs Assessment       120 | P a g e   

 

Name Ground Sub Area Men's 
teams 

Ladies’ 
Teams 

Boys' 
teams 

Girls' 
teams 

League 

Avebury CC Avebury Sports Field Marlborough 1    WCCL 

Marlborough CC cricket field at Savernake Marlborough 4  3  WEPCL; WCCL; 
S&FDMWL; WCYL 

Mildenhall CC 
(friendlies?) 

Mildenhall CC Marlborough      

Minal CC Mildenhall CC Marlborough 2     

Pewsey CC cricket field at Savernake Marlborough 1    SF&DMWL 

Ramsbury CC Ramsbury Recreation Centre Marlborough 1  3  WCCL 

White Horse CC off Manor Lane, Broad Hinton Marlborough 2    WCCL 

Beanacre & 
Melksham CC 

King George V Playing Fields (will 
shortly relocate to the 
Conigre/Melksham House facility) 

Melksham 3  2  WCCL; C&DECL; B&DYCL 

Broughton Gifford CC Broughton Gifford Common Melksham 1    C &DECL 

Golden Fleece CC 
(friendly) 

The Beeches Melksham 1    regular friendlies 

Keevil CC The Manor, High Street, Keevil Melksham 1    WCCL 

Seend CC (friendlies) The Lye Field Melksham 1    T20 

P
age 333



Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy Needs Assessment       121 | P a g e   

 

Name Ground Sub Area Men's 
teams 

Ladies’ 
Teams 

Boys' 
teams 

Girls' 
teams 

League 

Semington CC 
(midweek) 

The Conigre Melksham 1    C&DECL 

Burbage and Easton 
Royal CC 

Burbage & Easton Royal Sports Club Pewsey 4 1 4  WEPCL; WCCL; WYCL 

Great Bedwyn CC off Frog Lane Bedwyn Pewsey 3    WCCL; SF&DMWL 

Shalbourne CC 
(midweek) 

off The Lynch, Shalbourne Pewsey 1    SF&DMWCL 

Wilcot CC off Alton Road, Wilcot Pewsey 1  2  WCCL 

Cricklade CC Southam and the Water Pitches Royal Wootton 
Bassett and 
Cricklade 

3  3  CCL, regular friendlies 

Purton CC Purton Cricket Club Royal Wootton 
Bassett and 
Cricklade 

3  3 2 WEPCL; WCCL 

Royal Wootton 
Bassett CC 

Gerard Buxton Playing Field (now 
completely relocated to this site) 

Royal Wootton 
Bassett and 
Cricklade 

4  5  WCCL 

Hampton Park CC Hampton Park Pavilion Salisbury 2    HCCL; S&DMWL 

New Inn Salisbury CC Salisbury & South Wilts Sports Club Salisbury 1    OSICL 

P
age 334



Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy Needs Assessment       122 | P a g e   

 

Name Ground Sub Area Men's 
teams 

Ladies’ 
Teams 

Boys' 
teams 

Girls' 
teams 

League 

South Wilts CC Salisbury & South Wilts Sports Club Salisbury 5  3  SPCL; HCCL,WCYL, 
S&DMWCL 

Wilton CC Salisbury & South Wilts Sports Club Salisbury 1    HCCL 

Chalke Valley CC Chalke Valley Sports Centre South West 
Wiltshire 

1  3  OSICL 

Chilmark CC Chilmark Cricket Ground South West 
Wiltshire 

1    regular friendlies? 

Compton 
Chamberlayne CC 

cricket field at Compton 
Chamberlayne 

South West 
Wiltshire 

1    ? 

Dinton CC Dinton Recreation Ground South West 
Wiltshire 

3  1  HCCL; S&DMWCL 

Fovant CC Fovant CC (East Farm) South West 
Wiltshire 

3  1  DCCL; OSICL 

Kilmington & Stourton 
CC 

Kilmington & Stourton Cricket Club South West 
Wiltshire 

2  5  SCCL; NDCAL 

Mere CC Duchy Manor South West 
Wiltshire 

2  4   

South Newton CC South Newton Recreation Ground South West 
Wiltshire 

2    HCCL; S&D T20 

P
age 335



Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy Needs Assessment       123 | P a g e   

 

Name Ground Sub Area Men's 
teams 

Ladies’ 
Teams 

Boys' 
teams 

Girls' 
teams 

League 

Coombe Bissett & 
Homington CC 

cricket field at Coombe Bissett Southern 
Wiltshire 

1    Regular friendlies 

Farley CC Coronation Field Southern 
Wiltshire 

2  2  HCCL 

Redlynch & Hale CC Redlynch Recreation Ground Southern 
Wiltshire 

4  5 2 HCCL 

Whiteparish CC Memorial Ground, Romsey Road Southern 
Wiltshire 

3    HCCL; BMWCL 

Winterslow CC Barry's Field, Winterslow Southern 
Wiltshire 

3  2  HCCL; S&DMWCL 

Chute CC (friendlies) King George V Playing Field Tidworth 1    friendlies 

Collingbourne CC Collingbourne Dulcis Recreation 
Ground 

Tidworth 4  3  WCCL; VCL; SF&DMWL; 
KYCL; regular friendlies 

Beehive Southwick CC The Playing Field at Southwick Trowbridge 2    WCCL 

North Bradley CC North Bradley Peace Memorial 
Recreation Ground 

Trowbridge 1    WMWCL 

Trowbridge CC cricket fields off Seymour Road, 
Trowbridge 

Trowbridge 4  4 5 WEPCL; WCCL; WMWCL; 
WCYL; B&DYCL 

P
age 336



Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy Needs Assessment       124 | P a g e   

 

Name Ground Sub Area Men's 
teams 

Ladies’ 
Teams 

Boys' 
teams 

Girls' 
teams 

League 

Corsley CC Corsley War Memorial Field Warminster 1    regular friendlies 

Deverills CC Deverills Cricket Field Warminster 1    friendlies? 

Heytesbury & Veny CC off Park  Street Warminster 2  4  WCCL 

Warminster CC Warminster Town Cricket Club Warminster 5  4  WEPCL; WCCL; WMWCL; 
WWMWCL; B&DYCL; 
WCYL 

Bratton CC Bratton Recreation Ground Westbury 1    regular friendlies 

Westbury & District 
CC 

Leighton Recreation Centre Westbury 2  5  WEPCL; WCCL; BSCL; 
WMWCL; WCYL 

Westbury & District 
CC 

Bratton Recreation Ground Westbury 1    WCCL 

P
age 337



Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy Needs Assessment       125 | P a g e   

 

6.71 In addition to the above, the following is noted: 

 Laverstock and Ford Sports and Social Club (South West Wiltshire) were, at the beginning of 
the 2016 season, looking to reform a team at the above venue after 10 years of not having 
one. However, the current status of both the team and the original ground’s suitability for 
cricket is presently unclear.  

 Marshfield CC is just outside the north of the Council boundary (in South Gloucestershire) 
although it is affiliated primarily to Wiltshire Cricket Board and does its development work 
with the Board. 

 Poulshot CC has recently formed a team for the first time in 20 years, and is currently 
playing friendly matches (as of the beginning of the 2016 season). 

 Royal Artillery CC (RAF Larkhill ground). This is the only military team affiliated to the MoD, 
but a check of its fixture list online suggests that most of its matches are ‘inter/intra’ 
military, and not in an open community league. Neither is the home ground generally 
available for community use. 

6.72 For the above reasons, these clubs are acknowledged, but not included in the count of 
teams. 

6.73 There are therefore estimated to be the following numbers of teams playing in Wiltshire: 

 196 men’s teams 

 5 women’s 

 138 boys’ teams 

 24 girls’ teams 

6.74 It will be noted that there are a significant number of clubs playing from more than one 
venue. This tends to happen most when a club wishes to field more than 2 Saturday adult teams. 
There are few home grounds within the local authority with the space to accommodate more than 
1 cricket field. In order to field these extra teams, clubs therefore have to access a second venue. 

6.75 The table does not make reference to clubs that currently do not appear to field any teams 
playing in regular leagues. Representative teams are excluded from the above totals as they are 
made up of the same players as those in the club teams. They are however considered when 
evaluating the use of facilities and the impact that they have on the adequacy of provision. 

Distance travelled to home ground 

6.76 The evidence from the club questionnaire is that the majority of players will travel between 
two and five miles to reach their home venue, and so some amount of travel is an expectation. 

6.77 There are no known examples of clubs being displaced from their areas where they would 
generally prefer to be based. However, the nature of cricket at upper end of the local league 
hierarchy does mean that teams often have to travel significant distances to play away games, 
despite the restructuring of the WEPL and its feeder leagues. 

6.78 In terms of the number of teams fielded by each club, Figure 6.2 illustrates how the clubs 
fielding at least 5 teams would be ranked. All sites used by cricket teams are shown on Map 6.1 
according to the estimated numbers of teams playing. Only those sites with five or more teams are 
labelled 

Page 338



Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy Needs Assessment       126 | P a g e   

 

Figure 6.2: Total teams fielded by the largest clubs 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 339



Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy Needs Assessment       127 | P a g e   

 

Map 6.1: Cricket team geographical concentrations 

 

Page 340



Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy Needs Assessment       128 | P a g e   

 

6.79 Clubs responding to the questionnaire survey indicated the following overall changes in the 
number of teams fielded over the most recent three seasons. 

Table 6.6: changes in numbers of teams 

Please can you tell us if, in the previous 
three years, the number of teams in your 
club has:  

    

 Increased Decrease
d 

Stayed the 
same 

Response 
Total 

Adult Male 12.50% 15.00% 72.50% 40 

Ladies 12.00% 4.00% 84.00% 25 

Juniors/Colts 41.20% 23.50% 35.30% 34 

   answered 40 

   skipped 4 

6.80 The above suggests that, from the overall experience of local clubs, there has been: 

 No great change in numbers of adult male teams;  

 No great change in the number of ladies teams; and, 

 A growth in junior teams. 

6.81 Some of the responding clubs offered reasons for the identified growth or decline in the 
numbers of teams fielded, as summarised below. 

6.82 The detailed reasons given by clubs are provided in the All Data Spreadsheet (Appendix 3). 
However, the comments can be summaries as follows. 

  

Page 341



Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy Needs Assessment       129 | P a g e   

 

Table 6.7: Reasons expressed for growth or decline in team numbers 

 

Reasons for increase in teams Reasons for decline in teams 

Growth in junior teams due to junior 
development programmes 

 

Conscious attempts to grow female participation 

 

Successful player retention 

 

Additional opportunities for very young players 

Other commitments 

 

Young adults moving out of the area (perhaps to 
university) 

 

Smaller clubs losing membership to bigger clubs 

 

Clubs requiring second grounds 

6.83 The study has not revealed any examples of clubs and/or teams having to play outside the 
local authority in order to secure a home venue. However, Wiltshire is such a large local authority 
that it would be wrong to use this as an indicator of lack of facilities locally. A better indicator is 
whether there are clubs who have to play elsewhere other than their preferred main club venue- 
when this occurs it is usually as a result of clubs fielding more teams than their main venue can 
cope with, such as when clubs wish to field a third or fourth Saturday team, and their main ground 
has just the one cricket field (as is the norm). 

6.84 Examples of multi-site clubs currently are: 

Table 6.8: Clubs requiring second venues 

Name Ground Sub Area 

Chippenham CC 

 

Chippenham Sports Club cricket field Chippenham 

Sheldon School Chippenham 

Corsham CC 
Corsham Cricket Club Corsham 

Leafy Lane, Hawthorn Corsham 

Malmesbury CC 
off Tetbury Lane, Chartlon Malmesbury 

The Worthys Malmesbury 

Potterne CC 
Spaniel's Bridge Devizes 

Potterne Cricket Club Devizes 

Page 342



Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy Needs Assessment       130 | P a g e   

 

Name Ground Sub Area 

Westbury & District 
CC 

Bratton Recreation Ground Westbury 

Leighton Recreation Centre Westbury 

Winsley CC 

Victory Field Recreation Ground (might be 
Culner Close Playing Field) 

Bradford on Avon 

The Downs Bradford on Avon 

 

6.85 Up until recently the RWB Wootton Bassett CC would have been included in this list, but its 
move to the Gerard Buxton Sports Ground from the 2016 season (with two cricket fields) has 
resolved this problem. 

6.86 The club questionnaire survey asked where clubs trained. Where answers were provided 
they indicated that the majority practiced off-wicket, often using nets.  

Table 6.9: Where clubs train (on ground) 

 Response Percent Response Total 

On a match pitch at home ground 20% 8 

Nets at home ground 68% 27 

Elsewhere on home ground 3% 1 

Offsite 10% 4 

 answered 40 

 skipped 4 

6.87 8 clubs indicated that they practiced on match pitches: 

 Bradford on Avon CC 

 Beckington Cricket Club CC 

 Westbury & District CC 

 Malmesbury CC 

 Chippenham  

 Steeple Langford CC 

 Purton CC 

 Dinton CC 

6.88 The clubs indicating that they used off-site venues for training were: 

Page 343



Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy Needs Assessment       131 | P a g e   

 

Club Off-training venue 

 Seend CC Devizes Sports Centre (hall) 

 Blunsdon CC Croft Sports Centre (hall) 

 Lacock CC Devizes and Melksham Sports Centres (halls) 

 Golden Fleece CC Melksham Oak School (hall) 

6.89 It is also likely to be the case that local clubs will use various sports halls for winter training. 

School activity and the MoD 

6.90 The study has revealed that there are three education sites containing cricket fields that are 
potentially of local significance. These include: 

School Sub area 

 Melksham Oak Community School Melksham 

 Dauntsey's School, West Lavington Devizes 

 Sheldon School, Chippenham Chippenham 

 

6.91 There are many other sites that are owned/managed primarily to meet educational needs. 
Some of the education sites concerned are used heavily for curriculum cricket. Perhaps the best 
examples of these are the larger public (fee-paying) schools based within the local authority. 
However, with a very few exceptions, the latter are not available for use by community teams. 
School activity for cricket is generally outside the remit of this report, although it can have an 
indirect bearing on the supply of and demand for local pitches. At secondary school level the first 
competition on offer for boys cricket is the ECB/ESCA Under 14 competition. In Wiltshire this takes 
the form of a knockout tournament from which a county winner is established to go on and 
represent Wiltshire in national rounds the following year as Under 15s. Currently.  Wiltshire Cricket 
adminsters this competition. 

6.92 Engagement with schools can offer a very good opportunity for local clubs to encourage 
growth in cricket generally, as well as a growth in young membership. The ECB supported ‘Chance 
to Shine’ Charity is a national campaign. In each geographical project key local clubs have provided 
schools with curriculum, extra curriculum and club based activities to better develop a natural link 
between the school and the club.  Chance to Shine has been running in Wiltshire since 2006, with 
Biddestone CC the first club to take part.  Since then seven more projects have come on line - 
Corsham CC, Calne CC, Trowbridge CC, Potterne CC, Warminster CC, Salisbury District and 
Swindon/North East Wiltshire. 

6.93 In addition the MoD is a major provider of sports facilities, including cricket- but these are 
primarily to meet the needs 

6.94 The principal cricket sites on education and MoD sites that are not available for use by 
community teams (on a regular and secured basis) are as follows. 

 

Page 344



Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy Needs Assessment       132 | P a g e   

 

Table 6.10: Principal education and MoD cricket facilities largely unavailable for community use. 

 

Name Ownership Sub Area 

Chafyn Grove School Education Salisbury 

cricket field off Hackett Place Education Trowbridge 

cricket field off Salisbury Road, Tidworth MoD Tidworth 

Land Warfare Centre, Warminster MoD Warminster 

Marlborough School Pitches Education Marlborough 

RAF Larkhill, (Bell Road Cricket Field) MoD Amesbury 

Casual activity 

6.95 Wiltshire Cricket Limited has identified the Wiltshire Wallop as a priority competition for 
retaining players, encouraging more matches for existing players and creating an enjoyable format 
which is played locally and competitively.  

6.96 The ECB, stress the importance of capturing and planning for the needs of casual cricket, 
and have responded to these trends themselves by promoting versions of the sport such as 20/20 
cricket, and Last Man Standing competitions.  Essentially such activity can be ‘team-based’ as 
opposed to club-based, and if such activity is to be promoted and popularised within the local 
authority it will be important to provide facilities that can be easily accessed and booked by such 
teams, which suggests venues in local parks. However, this may present issues in respect to 
insurance and ‘Health & Safety’ if venues are not properly conceived. 

6.97 In other parts of the country, where the population comprises a relatively high Asian 
component, there can often be a significant level of casual cricket matches amongst Asian groups 
which, again, have no affiliation to clubs or local leagues.  Wiltshire, as a local authority, does not 
have a significant Asian component as part of its population, compared to other parts of the 
country.  However, changes to the ethnic composition of the local authority population might result 
in an upturn in the demand for such activity, and the situation is worth monitoring. 

Assessing the Supply and Demand Information and Views  

6.98 There are two components involved in this calculation: 

 Assessing the ‘capacity’ of wickets to absorb the overall number matches they are required 
to host without undue wear and tear; and, 

 Assessing the availability of pitches to be available for matches at the times that they will be 
required.  

6.99 The above two are considered in the following paragraphs. 

6.100 For cricket, unlike other pitch sports, the capacity of a pitch is measured on a seasonal basis 
(as opposed to weekly) and is primarily determined by the number and quality of wickets on a 
pitch. Play is rotated throughout the season across the wickets to reduce wear and allow for repair.  

Page 345



Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy Needs Assessment       133 | P a g e   

 

6.101 As a guide, the ECB suggests that a good quality wicket should be able to take:  

 5 matches per season per grass wicket (adults); 

 7 matches per season per grass wicket (juniors); 

 60 matches per season per non turf wicket (adults); and, 

 80 matches per season per non turf wicket (juniors).  

6.102 Demand (in relation to capacity) is therefore measured in terms of the number of home 
games that each team will play per season.  

6.103 Some junior play in the local authority will take place on non-turf wickets.  This meets with 
ECB requirements, unless teams are playing in high standard junior play, and/or are in the 13 years 
+ age groups, in which case play must take place on the grass square. The provision of non-turf 
wickets can therefore enhance the capacity of a site.  

6.104 Assessing demand from adult teams is easier to establish due to the unambiguous 
requirement for turf pitches for play in local league structures and above. 

6.105 Map 6.2 summarises the situation at the cricket sites across the local authority in respect of 
the notional capacity of the sites to absorb adult matches against the estimated number of matches 
played by adult teams per season.  Cricket training will normally take place off the cricket square, 
and within nets, on non-turf wickets, in the outfield, or winter training indoor bowls.  Training 
therefore is not a key factor in determining overall use of turf wickets over the course of a season. 
However, junior matches and training will also be an important consideration in determining wear 
and tear on wickets, and the following Table 6.11 factors these considerations into calculations on a 
site-by-site basis, using data on team numbers and training patterns supplied through the 
consultation.  Generally, it was identified that the majority of training took place ‘off-square’ using 
the outfield, artificial strips, or nets. Any winter training takes place off-site and indoors. For these 
reasons the impact of training can largely be discounted from estimations of site capacity for 
cricket. 

6.106 Cricket squares tend to be roped off in off-season, and so are not usually adversely affected 
by other activity.  

6.107 The red figures in the final two columns of the Table 6.10 indicate where there is a 
theoretical overplay- as seen these calculations take into account the (non) existence and use of 
turf and non-turf strips. 

6.108 It is fair to say that none of the clubs responding to the questionnaire survey have explicitly 
referenced ‘too many games being played on the turf square’ as an issue of importance. Any 
concerns with respect to home venues have been summarised in Table 6.2, and cover a variety of 
themes including a desire for improved ancillary facilities and equipment; and, the need for 
secondary and tertiary venues to field extra teams.  

 

  

Page 346



Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy Needs Assessment       134 | P a g e   

 

Map 6.2: Grass wicket capacity relative to adult demand 

 

Page 347



Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy Needs Assessment       135 | P a g e   

 

Table 6.11: Cricket site capacity and use 

 

N
am

e
 

Su
b

 A
re

a 

A
va

ila
b

ili
ty

 

O
w

n
er

sh
ip

 

A
. E

st
im

at
e

d
 a

d
u

lt
 

m
at

ch
es

/s
e

as
o

n
 

B
. E

st
im

at
e

d
 ju

n
io

r 
m

at
ch

es
/s

e
as

o
n

 

C
. T

u
rf

 s
tr

ip
s 

D
. N

o
n

-t
u

rf
 s

tr
ip

s 

E.
 C

ap
ac

it
y 

gu
id

e:
 a

d
u

lt
 

m
at

ch
es

/s
e

as
o

n
/t

u
rf

 s
tr

ip
 

F.
 C

ap
ac

it
y 

gu
id

e 
ju

n
io

r 
m

at
ch

es
/s

e
as

o
n

/t
u

rf
 s

tr
ip

 

G
. 

C
ap

ac
it

y 
gu

id
e:

 
ad

u
lt

/m
at

ch
es

/s
e

as
o

n
/n

o
n

-t
u

rf
 

st
ri

p
 

H
. C

ap
ac

it
y 

gu
id

e:
 ju

n
io

r 
/m

at
ch

es
/s

e
as

o
n

/n
o

n
-t

u
rf

 s
tr

ip
 

I.
 Id

ea
l a

d
u

lt
 m

at
ch

 
ca

p
ac

it
y/

se
as

o
n

 o
n

 t
u

rf
 s

tr
ip

s 
(C

 

x 
E)

 

J.
 Id

ea
l a

d
u

lt
 m

at
ch

 

ca
p

ac
it

y/
se

as
o

n
 o

n
 n

o
n

-t
u

rf
 

st
ri

p
s 

(D
 x

 G
) 

K
. I

d
ea

l j
u

n
io

r 
m

at
ch

 
ca

p
ac

it
y/

se
as

o
n

 o
n

 t
u

rf
 s

tr
ip

s 
(C

 
x 

F)
 

L.
 Id

ea
l j

u
n

io
r 

m
at

ch
 

ca
p

ac
it

y/
se

as
o

n
 o

n
 n

o
n

-t
u

rf
 

st
ri

p
s 

(D
 x

 H
) 

off Portway, 
Gomeldon Amesbury A1 LA 45 45 8 0 5 7 60 80 40 0 56 0 

Shrewton 
Recreation 
Ground Amesbury A1 LA 60 30 8 1 5 7 60 80 40 60 56 80 

Steeple Langford 
Recreation 
Ground Amesbury A1 LA 45 60 8 1 5 7 60 80 40 60 56 80 

Bonnymead Amesbury A2 Club 30 
 

8 1 5 7 60 80 40 60 56 80 

off Jubilee Hill, 
Durnford Amesbury A2 Private 30 

 
8 0 5 7 60 80 40 0 56 0 

DTSL Sports 
Ground, Porton 
Down Amesbury 

 
MoD 

    
5 7 60 80 0 0 0 0 

RAF Larkhill, (Bell 
Road Cricket 
Field) Amesbury 

 
MoD 

    
5 7 60 80 0 0 0 0 

Victory Field 
Recreation 
Ground (might 
be Culver Close 
Playing Field) 

Bradford on 
Avon A1 LA 45 

 
8 0 5 7 60 80 40 0 56 0 

The Downs 
Bradford on 
Avon A2 Club 45 

 
8 0 5 7 60 80 40 0 56 0 

cricket field off 
Frome Road, 
Wingfield 

Bradford on 
Avon B Private 

  
8 0 5 7 60 80 40 0 56 0 

Calne Recreation 
Ground Calne A1 LA 

  
8 1 5 7 60 80 40 60 56 80 

Cherhill CC 
(Quemerford 
Gate) Calne A1 LA 30 

 
8 0 5 7 60 80 40 0 56 0 

P
age 348



Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy Needs Assessment       136 | P a g e   

 

N
am

e
 

Su
b

 A
re

a 

A
va

ila
b

ili
ty

 

O
w

n
er

sh
ip

 

A
. E

st
im

at
e

d
 a

d
u

lt
 

m
at

ch
es

/s
e

as
o

n
 

B
. E

st
im

at
e

d
 ju

n
io

r 
m

at
ch

es
/s

e
as

o
n

 

C
. T

u
rf

 s
tr

ip
s 

D
. N

o
n

-t
u

rf
 s

tr
ip

s 

E.
 C

ap
ac

it
y 

gu
id

e:
 a

d
u

lt
 

m
at

ch
es

/s
e

as
o

n
/t

u
rf

 s
tr

ip
 

F.
 C

ap
ac

it
y 

gu
id

e 
ju

n
io

r 
m

at
ch

es
/s

e
as

o
n

/t
u

rf
 s

tr
ip

 

G
. 

C
ap

ac
it

y 
gu

id
e:

 
ad

u
lt

/m
at

ch
es

/s
e

as
o

n
/n

o
n

-t
u

rf
 

st
ri

p
 

H
. C

ap
ac

it
y 

gu
id

e:
 ju

n
io

r 
/m

at
ch

es
/s

e
as

o
n

/n
o

n
-t

u
rf

 s
tr

ip
 

I.
 Id

ea
l a

d
u

lt
 m

at
ch

 
ca

p
ac

it
y/

se
as

o
n

 o
n

 t
u

rf
 s

tr
ip

s 
(C

 

x 
E)

 

J.
 Id

ea
l a

d
u

lt
 m

at
ch

 

ca
p

ac
it

y/
se

as
o

n
 o

n
 n

o
n

-t
u

rf
 

st
ri

p
s 

(D
 x

 G
) 

K
. I

d
ea

l j
u

n
io

r 
m

at
ch

 
ca

p
ac

it
y/

se
as

o
n

 o
n

 t
u

rf
 s

tr
ip

s 
(C

 
x 

F)
 

L.
 Id

ea
l j

u
n

io
r 

m
at

ch
 

ca
p

ac
it

y/
se

as
o

n
 o

n
 n

o
n

-t
u

rf
 

st
ri

p
s 

(D
 x

 H
) 

Goatacre 
Recreation 
Ground Calne A1 LA 

  
8 1 5 7 60 80 40 60 56 80 

The Beversbrook 
Sports Complex Calne A1 LA 60 135 10 0 5 7 60 80 50 0 70 0 

Compton Bassett 
Cricket Club Calne A2 Private 15 

 
8 0 5 7 60 80 40 0 56 0 

Goatacre Cricket 
Club Calne A2 Club 60 45 8 0 5 7 60 80 40 0 56 0 

Kington Langley 
Playing Field Chippenham A1 LA 15 

 
8 0 5 7 60 80 40 0 56 0 

off The Street, 
Grittleton Chippenham A1 LA 15 

 
8 0 5 7 60 80 40 0 56 0 

Sutton Benger 
Recreation 
Ground Chippenham A1 LA 30 

 
8 0 5 7 60 80 40 0 56 0 

The Green 
Recreation 
Ground, 
Christian 
Malford Chippenham A1 LA 30 

 
8 0 5 7 60 80 40 0 56 0 

Chippenham 
Sports Club 
cricket field Chippenham A2 Club 45 105 10 0 5 7 60 80 50 0 70 0 

off Yatton Road, 
Biddestone Chippenham A2 Club 90 120 16 1 5 7 60 80 80 60 112 80 

Seagry Cricket 
Club Chippenham A2 Private 30 

 
8 0 5 7 60 80 40 0 56 0 

Box Recreation 
Ground Corsham A1 LA 30 15 8 1 5 7 60 80 40 60 56 80 

Corsham Cricket 
Club Corsham A1 LA 45 120 8 1 5 7 60 80 40 60 56 80 

Leafy Lane, 
Hawthorn 
 Corsham A1 LA 30 

 
8 1 5 7 60 80 40 60 56 80 

P
age 349



Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy Needs Assessment       137 | P a g e   

 

N
am

e
 

Su
b

 A
re

a 

A
va

ila
b

ili
ty

 

O
w

n
er

sh
ip

 

A
. E

st
im

at
e

d
 a

d
u

lt
 

m
at

ch
es

/s
e

as
o

n
 

B
. E

st
im

at
e

d
 ju

n
io

r 
m

at
ch

es
/s

e
as

o
n

 

C
. T

u
rf

 s
tr

ip
s 

D
. N

o
n

-t
u

rf
 s

tr
ip

s 

E.
 C

ap
ac

it
y 

gu
id

e:
 a

d
u

lt
 

m
at

ch
es

/s
e

as
o

n
/t

u
rf

 s
tr

ip
 

F.
 C

ap
ac

it
y 

gu
id

e 
ju

n
io

r 
m

at
ch

es
/s

e
as

o
n

/t
u

rf
 s

tr
ip

 

G
. 

C
ap

ac
it

y 
gu

id
e:

 
ad

u
lt

/m
at

ch
es

/s
e

as
o

n
/n

o
n

-t
u

rf
 

st
ri

p
 

H
. C

ap
ac

it
y 

gu
id

e:
 ju

n
io

r 
/m

at
ch

es
/s

e
as

o
n

/n
o

n
-t

u
rf

 s
tr

ip
 

I.
 Id

ea
l a

d
u

lt
 m

at
ch

 
ca

p
ac

it
y/

se
as

o
n

 o
n

 t
u

rf
 s

tr
ip

s 
(C

 

x 
E)

 

J.
 Id

ea
l a

d
u

lt
 m

at
ch

 

ca
p

ac
it

y/
se

as
o

n
 o

n
 n

o
n

-t
u

rf
 

st
ri

p
s 

(D
 x

 G
) 

K
. I

d
ea

l j
u

n
io

r 
m

at
ch

 
ca

p
ac

it
y/

se
as

o
n

 o
n

 t
u

rf
 s

tr
ip

s 
(C

 
x 

F)
 

L.
 Id

ea
l j

u
n

io
r 

m
at

ch
 

ca
p

ac
it

y/
se

as
o

n
 o

n
 n

o
n

-t
u

rf
 

st
ri

p
s 

(D
 x

 H
) 

The Playing Field 
(Lacock) Corsham A2 Other 30 

 
8 0 5 7 60 80 40 0 56 0 

All Cannings 
Bridge House 
Cricket Pitch Devizes A1 LA 15 30 8 1 5 7 60 80 40 60 56 80 

The Elisha Field, 
Market 
Lavington Devizes A1 LA 30 30 8 0 5 7 60 80 40 0 56 0 

Devizes Sports 
Club Devizes A2 Club 60 40 20 1 5 7 60 80 100 60 140 80 

Earlestoke & 
Coulston Cricket 
Club Devizes A2 Club 15 15 8 0 5 7 60 80 40 0 56 0 

Potterne Cricket 
Club Devizes A2 Private 60 15 8 1 5 7 60 80 40 60 56 80 

Spaniel's Bridge Devizes A2 Club 45 120 8 1 5 7 60 80 40 60 56 80 

Spye Park Cricket 
Club Devizes A2 Club 45 45 8 0 5 7 60 80 40 0 56 0 

Urchfont Cricket 
Club Devizes A2 Club 30 45 8 0 5 7 60 80 40 0 56 0 

cricket ground, 
West Lavington Devizes A3 Education 30 

 
8 0 5 7 60 80 40 0 56 0 

Bradstone Sports 
Field Malmesbury A1 LA 15 

 
8 0 5 7 60 80 40 0 56 0 

Minety Playing 
Fields Malmesbury A1 LA 15 

 
8 0 5 7 60 80 40 0 56 0 

Oaksey Playing 
Field Malmesbury A1 LA 30 

 
8 0 5 7 60 80 40 0 56 0 

off Tetbury Lane, 
Chartlon Malmesbury A1 LA 15 

 
8 0 5 7 60 80 40 0 56 0 

Prinkney Park, 
Sherston 
 Malmesbury A2 Club 30 

 
8 0 5 7 60 80 40 0 56 0 

The Worthys 
 Malmesbury A2 Club 45 

 
8 0 5 7 60 80 40 0 56 0 

P
age 350



Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy Needs Assessment       138 | P a g e   

 

N
am

e
 

Su
b

 A
re

a 

A
va

ila
b

ili
ty

 

O
w

n
er

sh
ip

 

A
. E

st
im

at
e

d
 a

d
u

lt
 

m
at

ch
es

/s
e

as
o

n
 

B
. E

st
im

at
e

d
 ju

n
io

r 
m

at
ch

es
/s

e
as

o
n

 

C
. T

u
rf

 s
tr

ip
s 

D
. N

o
n

-t
u

rf
 s

tr
ip

s 

E.
 C

ap
ac

it
y 

gu
id

e:
 a

d
u

lt
 

m
at

ch
es

/s
e

as
o

n
/t

u
rf

 s
tr

ip
 

F.
 C

ap
ac

it
y 

gu
id

e 
ju

n
io

r 
m

at
ch

es
/s

e
as

o
n

/t
u

rf
 s

tr
ip

 

G
. 

C
ap

ac
it

y 
gu

id
e:

 
ad

u
lt

/m
at

ch
es

/s
e

as
o

n
/n

o
n

-t
u

rf
 

st
ri

p
 

H
. C

ap
ac

it
y 

gu
id

e:
 ju

n
io

r 
/m

at
ch

es
/s

e
as

o
n

/n
o

n
-t

u
rf

 s
tr

ip
 

I.
 Id

ea
l a

d
u

lt
 m

at
ch

 
ca

p
ac

it
y/

se
as

o
n

 o
n

 t
u

rf
 s

tr
ip

s 
(C

 

x 
E)

 

J.
 Id

ea
l a

d
u

lt
 m

at
ch

 

ca
p

ac
it

y/
se

as
o

n
 o

n
 n

o
n

-t
u

rf
 

st
ri

p
s 

(D
 x

 G
) 

K
. I

d
ea

l j
u

n
io

r 
m

at
ch

 
ca

p
ac

it
y/

se
as

o
n

 o
n

 t
u

rf
 s

tr
ip

s 
(C

 
x 

F)
 

L.
 Id

ea
l j

u
n

io
r 

m
at

ch
 

ca
p

ac
it

y/
se

as
o

n
 o

n
 n

o
n

-t
u

rf
 

st
ri

p
s 

(D
 x

 H
) 

Kennett Valley 
Village Hall Marlborough A1 LA 

  
8 0 5 7 60 80 40 0 56 0 

Mildenhall CC Marlborough A1 LA 30 
 

8 0 5 7 60 80 40 0 56 0 

Ramsbury 
Recreation 
Centre Marlborough A1 LA 30 30 8 1 5 7 60 80 40 60 56 80 

Avebury Sports 
Field Marlborough A2 Other 15 

 
8 0 5 7 60 80 40 0 56 0 

Marlborough 
Cricket Club Marlborough A2 Club 60 45 18 0 5 7 60 80 90 0 126 0 

off Manor Lane, 
Broad Hinton Marlborough A2 Private 30 

 
8 0 5 7 60 80 40 0 56 0 

Marlborough 
School Pitches Marlborough C Education 

   
3 5 7 60 80 0 180 0 240 

Broughton 
Gifford Common Melksham A1 LA 15 

 
8 0 5 7 60 80 40 0 56 0 

King George V 
Playing Fields Melksham A1 LA 45 

 
8 0 5 7 60 80 40 0 56 0 

The Conigre Melksham A1 LA 15 45 8 1 5 7 60 80 40 60 56 80 

The Lye Field Melksham A1 LA 15 
 

8 1 5 7 60 80 40 60 56 80 

The Manor, High 
Street, Keevil Melksham A2 Private 15 

 
8 0 5 7 60 80 40 0 56 0 

Melksham Oak 
Community 
School Melksham A3 Education 

  
8 1 5 7 60 80 40 60 56 80 

off Frog Lane 
Bedwyn Pewsey A1 LA 45 

 
8 0 5 7 60 80 40 0 56 0 

off The Lynch, 
Shalbourne Pewsey A1 LA 15 

 
8 0 5 7 60 80 40 0 56 0 

Burbage & 
Easton Royal 
Sports Club Pewsey A2 Club 60 60 8 1 5 7 60 80 40 60 56 80 

off Alton Road, 
Wilcot 
 Pewsey A2 Club 15 30 8 1 5 7 60 80 40 60 56 80 

P
age 351



Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy Needs Assessment       139 | P a g e   

 

N
am

e
 

Su
b

 A
re

a 

A
va

ila
b

ili
ty

 

O
w

n
er

sh
ip

 

A
. E

st
im

at
e

d
 a

d
u

lt
 

m
at

ch
es

/s
e

as
o

n
 

B
. E

st
im

at
e

d
 ju

n
io

r 
m

at
ch

es
/s

e
as

o
n

 

C
. T

u
rf

 s
tr

ip
s 

D
. N

o
n

-t
u

rf
 s

tr
ip

s 

E.
 C

ap
ac

it
y 

gu
id

e:
 a

d
u

lt
 

m
at

ch
es

/s
e

as
o

n
/t

u
rf

 s
tr

ip
 

F.
 C

ap
ac

it
y 

gu
id

e 
ju

n
io

r 
m

at
ch

es
/s

e
as

o
n

/t
u

rf
 s

tr
ip

 

G
. 

C
ap

ac
it

y 
gu

id
e:

 
ad

u
lt

/m
at

ch
es

/s
e

as
o

n
/n

o
n

-t
u

rf
 

st
ri

p
 

H
. C

ap
ac

it
y 

gu
id

e:
 ju

n
io

r 
/m

at
ch

es
/s

e
as

o
n

/n
o

n
-t

u
rf

 s
tr

ip
 

I.
 Id

ea
l a

d
u

lt
 m

at
ch

 
ca

p
ac

it
y/

se
as

o
n

 o
n

 t
u

rf
 s

tr
ip

s 
(C

 

x 
E)

 

J.
 Id

ea
l a

d
u

lt
 m

at
ch

 

ca
p

ac
it

y/
se

as
o

n
 o

n
 n

o
n

-t
u

rf
 

st
ri

p
s 

(D
 x

 G
) 

K
. I

d
ea

l j
u

n
io

r 
m

at
ch

 
ca

p
ac

it
y/

se
as

o
n

 o
n

 t
u

rf
 s

tr
ip

s 
(C

 
x 

F)
 

L.
 Id

ea
l j

u
n

io
r 

m
at

ch
 

ca
p

ac
it

y/
se

as
o

n
 o

n
 n

o
n

-t
u

rf
 

st
ri

p
s 

(D
 x

 H
) 

off The Street, 
Marden Pewsey B Private 

  
8 0 5 7 60 80 40 0 56 0 

Ballards Ash 
Sports Ground 

Royal Wootton 
Bassett and 
Cricklade A1 LA 15 

 
8 0 5 7 60 80 40 0 56 0 

Gerard Buxton 
Playing Field 

Royal Wootton 
Bassett and 
Cricklade A2 Club 60 75 10 0 5 7 60 80 50 0 70 0 

Purton Cricket 
Club 

Royal Wootton 
Bassett and 
Cricklade A2 Club 45 75 8 0 5 7 60 80 40 0 56 0 

Southam and the 
Water Pitches 

Royal Wootton 
Bassett and 
Cricklade C 

 
45 45 8 1 5 7 60 80 40 60 56 80 

Hampton Park 
Pavilion Salisbury A1 LA 30 

 
8 0 5 7 60 80 40 0 56 0 

Salisbury & 
South Wilts 
Sports Club Salisbury A2 Club 105 75 20 1 5 7 60 80 100 60 140 80 

Bishop 
Wadworth's 
School Salisbury B Education 

  
8 0 5 7 60 80 40 0 56 0 

Harnham Cricket 
Ground Salisbury B LA 

  
8 0 5 7 60 80 40 0 56 0 

Chafyn Grove 
School Salisbury C Education 

    
5 7 60 80 0 0 0 0 

Chalke Valley 
Sports Centre 
 

South West 
Wiltshire A1 LA 15 45 8 0 5 7 60 80 40 0 56 0 

Dinton 
Recreation 
Ground 
 

South West 
Wiltshire A1 LA 45 15 8 0 5 7 60 80 40 0 56 0 

Duchy Manor 
South West 
Wiltshire A1 LA 30 60 8 0 5 7 60 80 40 0 56 0 

P
age 352



Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy Needs Assessment       140 | P a g e   

 

N
am

e
 

Su
b

 A
re

a 

A
va

ila
b

ili
ty

 

O
w

n
er

sh
ip

 

A
. E

st
im

at
e

d
 a

d
u

lt
 

m
at

ch
es

/s
e

as
o

n
 

B
. E

st
im

at
e

d
 ju

n
io

r 
m

at
ch

es
/s

e
as

o
n

 

C
. T

u
rf

 s
tr

ip
s 

D
. N

o
n

-t
u

rf
 s

tr
ip

s 

E.
 C

ap
ac

it
y 

gu
id

e:
 a

d
u

lt
 

m
at

ch
es

/s
e

as
o

n
/t

u
rf

 s
tr

ip
 

F.
 C

ap
ac

it
y 

gu
id

e 
ju

n
io

r 
m

at
ch

es
/s

e
as

o
n

/t
u

rf
 s

tr
ip

 

G
. 

C
ap

ac
it

y 
gu

id
e:

 
ad

u
lt

/m
at

ch
es

/s
e

as
o

n
/n

o
n

-t
u

rf
 

st
ri

p
 

H
. C

ap
ac

it
y 

gu
id

e:
 ju

n
io

r 
/m

at
ch

es
/s

e
as

o
n

/n
o

n
-t

u
rf

 s
tr

ip
 

I.
 Id

ea
l a

d
u

lt
 m

at
ch

 
ca

p
ac

it
y/

se
as

o
n

 o
n

 t
u

rf
 s

tr
ip

s 
(C

 

x 
E)

 

J.
 Id

ea
l a

d
u

lt
 m

at
ch

 

ca
p

ac
it

y/
se

as
o

n
 o

n
 n

o
n

-t
u

rf
 

st
ri

p
s 

(D
 x

 G
) 

K
. I

d
ea

l j
u

n
io

r 
m

at
ch

 
ca

p
ac

it
y/

se
as

o
n

 o
n

 t
u

rf
 s

tr
ip

s 
(C

 
x 

F)
 

L.
 Id

ea
l j

u
n

io
r 

m
at

ch
 

ca
p

ac
it

y/
se

as
o

n
 o

n
 n

o
n

-t
u

rf
 

st
ri

p
s 

(D
 x

 H
) 

South Newton 
Recreation 
Ground 

South West 
Wiltshire A1 LA 30 

 
8 0 5 7 60 80 40 0 56 0 

Tisbury & District 
Sports Centre 

South West 
Wiltshire A1 LA 

  
8 0 5 7 60 80 40 0 56 0 

Chilmark Cricket 
Ground 

South West 
Wiltshire A2 Club 15 

 
8 0 5 7 60 80 40 0 56 0 

cricket field at 
Compton 
Chamberlayne 

South West 
Wiltshire A2 Club 15 

 
8 0 5 7 60 80 40 0 56 0 

Fovant CC (East 
Farm) 

South West 
Wiltshire A2 Private 45 15 8 0 5 7 60 80 40 0 56 0 

Kilmington & 
Stourton Cricket 
Club 

South West 
Wiltshire A2 Club 30 75 8 1 5 7 60 80 40 60 56 80 

Barry's Field, 
Winterslow 

Southern 
Wiltshire A1 LA 45 30 8 1 5 7 60 80 40 60 56 80 

Coronation Field 
Southern 
Wiltshire A1 LA 30 15 8 0 5 7 60 80 40 0 56 0 

Landford 
Recreation 
Ground 

Southern 
Wiltshire A1 LA 

  
8 0 5 7 60 80 40 0 56 0 

Memorial 
Ground, Romsey 
Road 

Southern 
Wiltshire A1 LA 45 

 
8 0 5 7 60 80 40 0 56 0 

Redlynch 
Recreation 
Ground 

Southern 
Wiltshire A1 LA 60 105 8 1 5 7 60 80 40 60 56 80 

cricket field at 
Coombe Bissett 

Southern 
Wiltshire A2 Club 15 

 
8 0 5 7 60 80 40 0 56 0 

Collingbourne 
Dulcis 
Recreation 
Ground 
 Tidworth A1 LA 60 45 8 1 5 7 60 80 40 60 56 80 

P
age 353



Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy Needs Assessment       141 | P a g e   

 

N
am

e
 

Su
b

 A
re

a 

A
va

ila
b

ili
ty

 

O
w

n
er

sh
ip

 

A
. E

st
im

at
e

d
 a

d
u

lt
 

m
at

ch
es

/s
e

as
o

n
 

B
. E

st
im

at
e

d
 ju

n
io

r 
m

at
ch

es
/s

e
as

o
n

 

C
. T

u
rf

 s
tr

ip
s 

D
. N

o
n

-t
u

rf
 s

tr
ip

s 

E.
 C

ap
ac

it
y 

gu
id

e:
 a

d
u

lt
 

m
at

ch
es

/s
e

as
o

n
/t

u
rf

 s
tr

ip
 

F.
 C

ap
ac

it
y 

gu
id

e 
ju

n
io

r 
m

at
ch

es
/s

e
as

o
n

/t
u

rf
 s

tr
ip

 

G
. 

C
ap

ac
it

y 
gu

id
e:

 
ad

u
lt

/m
at

ch
es

/s
e

as
o

n
/n

o
n

-t
u

rf
 

st
ri

p
 

H
. C

ap
ac

it
y 

gu
id

e:
 ju

n
io

r 
/m

at
ch

es
/s

e
as

o
n

/n
o

n
-t

u
rf

 s
tr

ip
 

I.
 Id

ea
l a

d
u

lt
 m

at
ch

 
ca

p
ac

it
y/

se
as

o
n

 o
n

 t
u

rf
 s

tr
ip

s 
(C

 

x 
E)

 

J.
 Id

ea
l a

d
u

lt
 m

at
ch

 

ca
p

ac
it

y/
se

as
o

n
 o

n
 n

o
n

-t
u

rf
 

st
ri

p
s 

(D
 x

 G
) 

K
. I

d
ea

l j
u

n
io

r 
m

at
ch

 
ca

p
ac

it
y/

se
as

o
n

 o
n

 t
u

rf
 s

tr
ip

s 
(C

 
x 

F)
 

L.
 Id

ea
l j

u
n

io
r 

m
at

ch
 

ca
p

ac
it

y/
se

as
o

n
 o

n
 n

o
n

-t
u

rf
 

st
ri

p
s 

(D
 x

 H
) 

King George V 
Playing Field Tidworth A1 LA 15 

 
8 1 5 7 60 80 40 60 56 80 

cricket field off 
Salisbury Road, 
Tidworth Tidworth C MoD 

    
5 7 60 80 0 0 0 0 

North Bradley 
Peace Memorial 
Recreation 
Ground Trowbridge A1 LA 15 

 
8 0 5 7 60 80 40 0 56 0 

The Playing Field 
at Southwick Trowbridge A1 LA 30 

 
8 0 5 7 60 80 40 0 56 0 

Seymour Road Trowbridge A2 Club 120 150 24 1 5 7 60 80 120 60 168 80 

cricket field off 
Hackett Place Trowbridge C Education 

    
5 7 60 80 0 0 0 0 

Corsley War 
Memorial Field Warminster A1 LA 15 

 
8 0 5 7 60 80 40 0 56 0 

off High Street, 
Sutton Veny Warminster A1 LA 

  
8 0 5 7 60 80 40 0 56 0 

Chitterne 
Recreation 
Ground Warminster A2 Club 

  
8 0 5 7 60 80 40 0 56 0 

off Park  Street Warminster A2 Club 30 60 8 0 5 7 60 80 40 0 56 0 

Warminster 
Town Cricket 
Club Warminster A2 Club 75 60 8 0 5 7 60 80 40 0 56 0 

Land Warfare 
Centre, 
Warminster Warminster C MoD 

    
5 7 60 80 0 0 0 0 

Bratton 
Recreation 
Ground Westbury A1 LA 30 

 
8 0 5 7 60 80 40 0 56 0 

Leighton 
Recreation 
Centre Westbury A1 LA 30 65 8 0 5 7 60 80 40 0 56 0 

 

P
age 354



Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy Needs Assessment       142 | P a g e   

 

6.110 It is fair to say that none of the clubs responding to the questionnaire survey have explicitly 
referenced ‘too many games being played on the turf square’ as an issue of importance. Any 
immediate concerns with respect to home venues have been summarised in Table 6.2, and cover a 
variety of themes including a desire for improved ancillary facilities and equipment; and, the need 
for secondary and tertiary venues to field extra teams.  

6.111 Additional concerns in relation to facilities required for clubs aspiring to play in the West of 
England Premier League have previously been summarised in Table 6.3. 

Scenario Testing: The Future 

Future Picture of Provision 

6.112 The future requirement for playing pitches will be impacted by several factors, including; 

A Changes to the number of people living in the area and / or to the demographic profile of 
the population; 

B Changes in participation trends and in how pitch sports are played; 

C Club specific development plans and aspirations; and 

D Amendments to the current facility stock either through the provision of new pitches or the 
loss of current pitches. 

6.113 These issues are considered in turn in order to build a picture of future demand for playing 
pitches. 

A Population Change 

Team Generation Rates 

6.114 Team Generation Rates (TGRs) indicate how many people in a specified age group are 
required to generate one team. TGRs are derived by dividing the appropriate population age band 
by the number of teams playing within that area in that age band. By applying TGRs to population 
projections, we can project the theoretical number of teams that would be generated from 
population growth and gain an understanding of future demand.  

6.115 Table 6.12 summarises the current TGRs for cricket in the local authority and uses them to 
assess the potential impact of projected changes to the population profile on demand for cricket.  

 

  

Page 355



Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy Needs Assessment       143 | P a g e   

 

Table 6.12 TGRs and potential change to number of cricket teams in the local authority: 2015-
2026 

 

2015 AGE GROUPS 2015 AGE 

GROUP 

POPULATION 

2015 

TEAMS 

2015 

TGRs 

2026 AGE 

GROUP 

POPULATION 

2026 

TEAMS 

CHANGE(+/-) 

Junior cricket (7-17 

male) 

32,008 138 232 35,435 153 15 

Junior cricket (7-17 

female) 

31,093 24 1,296 34,386 27 3 

Senior cricket (18-55 

male) 

115,310 196 588 114,129 194 -2 

Senior cricket (18-55 

female) 

114,029 5 22,806 109,432 5 0 

 

6.116 These are for local authority as a whole and it is important to consider the same analysis for 
the 18 Community Areas. This information is provided in Appendix 5. 

6.117 The above suggests a growth in the younger age/gender groups in team numbers by 2026 
and, but a slight decline in the older adult age groups. The age bands used for cricket are wider 
than used for other pitch sports, and this will mean that the relevant demographic trends will be 
different. The population data on which the above calculations are predicated10 are themselves 
only based upon previous trends, and do not necessarily take into account the impact of planned 
new residential growth yet to be determined. 

Projected change in the population resulting from planned new growth 

6.118 The above projects the change in team numbers arising out of natural change in the 
population up to 2026. There is also a need to consider any additional teams generated from 
localised population change resulting from planned new development. This new development may 
give rise to a significant local redistribution of the population, and conceivably in the spatial 
demand for playing pitches.  The precise housing growth allocations to be catered for in the 
emerging new development plan are currently not determined. 

B Changes in participation trends and how sport is played  

6.119 Earlier in this section it was shown that those clubs responding to the questionnaire survey 
had, overall, experienced some growth in the junior age-group categories. 

6.120 In recognition of changing lifestyle patterns and the challenges of 50 over cricket, the ECB 
are now seeking to introduce alternative forms of the game, including Last Man Standing and T20, 
as well as other initiatives to encourage informal participation such as O40 Leagues, Pub Leagues 
and U19 competitions. 

                                                 
10 Compiled from a forecast produced on 19/03/2015 using POPGROUP software developed by Bradford Council, the University of Manchester and Andelin Associates 

Page 356



Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy Needs Assessment       144 | P a g e   

 

6.121 The ECB therefore currently has an overall focus on player retention and is not anticipating 
significant growth in club-based cricket, instead highlighting potential to grow more informal 
formats of the game 

6.122 This may result in the growth of more casual play and midweek leagues and this could 
generate demand for ‘casual’ venues within the local authority. In addition to this, the ‘Chance to 
Shine’ (discussed earlier) charity may induce additional interest amongst children. 

Club development plans and aspirations 

6.123 Several clubs responding to the club survey have aspirations to grow and this will impact 
both on demand across the local authority as a whole but also more locally at a site specific level.   
Club aspirations are set out in Table 6.13.  

Table 6.13: Clubs’ aspirations to field more teams 

 

Does your club plan to run more teams?  Response 
Percent 

Response 
Total 

Yes 55.00% 22 

No 45.00% 18 

 answered 40 

 skipped 4 

6.124 Over half of the responding clubs said that they would like to field more teams. These are 
bone fide statements on the clubs’ part. Where clubs stated that they would like to field teams in a 
particular category, we have provided a very indicative quantification of how many teams this 
might be. 

Table 6.14: Estimate of additional teams that responding clubs might field 

 

Adult Men’s Teams Adult 
Women's 

Teams 

Junior Boys’ 
Teams 

Junior Girls’ 
Teams 

Other (e.g. Vets) 

8 10 8 16 0 

 

6.125 Taking into account the necessary caveat, the above aspirations suggest that responding 
team might like to field an additional: 

 18 adult teams; and, 

 24 junior teams. 

6.126 Of the total number of teams fielded by the clubs responding to the questionnaire the above 
represents:  

Page 357



Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy Needs Assessment       145 | P a g e   

 

 17% of the number of adult teams; and, 

 24% of the junior teams. 

6.127 If these percentages were applied to the existing total estimates for teams within Wiltshire 
as a whole (210 adult and 167 junior teams) it would suggest that the fulfilment of aspirations 
would create another: 

 35 adult teams; and, 

 40 junior teams. 

6.128 These are large numbers. The clubs have also stated some of the obstacles that, they feel, 
stand in the way of them realising these aspirations. In practice, there may be little that can be 
done to reduce some of these obstacles, especially in the current financial climate. However, the 
statements serve to emphasise that some clubs would like to expand their activities were it not for 
the existence of certain obstacles- one of the goals of the strategy which this needs assessment 
underpins should be to seek ways in which these obstacles can be mitigated. 

Figure 6.3: Obstacles given by clubs as stopping them fielding more teams. 

 

6.129 Paradoxically, the responding clubs have stated that, overall, falling membership and 
shortage of players is the second most important factor in hampering the any desire to field more 
teams. In this regard it would difficult to justify the above aspiration-led increases in teams. The 
biggest reason cited is however a shortage of coaches and volunteers. 

6.130 When adding the extra teams that might be generated if responding clubs could achieve 
aspirations to net changes to numbers of teams arising from projected population growth (2026), 
the total increased future demand will be: 

 

  

Page 358



Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy Needs Assessment       146 | P a g e   

 

Table 6.15: Summary potential overall growth in team numbers 

Extra teams from population 
growth 

Extra teams for aspirational 
growth 

Extra matches 
(A+B) 

Grass Fields 
required 

Adult -2 Adult 35 16.5 c. 8 (assuming 
2 adult teams 
would justify 
field). 

Junior 10 Junior 40 25 (share the 
above) 

 

Discussion 

6.131 The number of additional cricket fields required is high, and 8 additional cricket fields would 
be difficult to provide, especially on a bespoke, standalone basis. Furthermore, projected increase 
is fuelled largely by the estimates of aspiration-led demand, and these are also considered to be 
very high- perhaps unrealistically so. If the aspirational figures were omitted, the demographic-
driven demand would probably not warrant additional new provision. The likely exceptions will be 
in some areas of large planned population growth, such as Chippenham. 

6.132 The ECB also suggests in its strategic statements that the future direction for growth may be 
with informal versions of the game, allied to a consolidation of participation in the traditional club-
based game. Should this be the case then extra facilities may be required, but in accessible central 
venues that can be used informally, and without a pre-requisite of joining a club. A focus on 
improved school-based venues may also be justified, and perhaps as a result of programmes like 
the ‘Chance to Shine’ campaign, as well as interest generated amongst youngsters by Kwik Cricket. 

6.133 Perhaps there is also a need to focus on coaching and volunteer recruitment, as much as 
improvements to facilities, although the club survey has clearly identified various facility issues that 
might be addressed through funding injections in this regard. 

6.134 The population projections underpinning Table 6.12 are trend-based, and will therefore 
take into account previous housebuilding rates within the local authority. However, future 
development plan allocations will need to be confirmed, and the estimates in Table 6.11 should be 
amended when new population data are available.   

6.135 The focus should be on improving existing key venues; working with selected schools in 
improving cricket facilities on-campus (which might be used as second venues for some clubs); and, 
exploring the possibility of introducing informal cricket venues in some local parks (for example). It 
is therefore entirely conceivable that some of the existing cricket venues can be used to address the 
demographic and aspiration-driven needs identified above: the data provided in Appendix 5 for the 
18 Community Areas will help to inform the process at the more local level.  

  

Page 359



Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy Needs Assessment       147 | P a g e   

 

Key issues for the Strategy to address 

6.136 The concept of venues for casual cricket should be explored, with the provision of non-turf 
wickets. This would help develop team-based (as opposed to club-based cricket for those who 
cannot commit to regular and frequent games). 

6.137 It is likely that future population growth in Chippenham will require additional cricket 
provision (especially with the current lack of availability of the Westinghouse ground, that is now 
closed to use). 

6.138 Some of the larger clubs require access to more than one ground- perhaps these could be 
on school campuses? 

6.139 There are some sites (in rural areas) that are under-used- what is their future? 

6.140 Rather than new conventional cricket venues, the emphasis should be on improvements to 
existing venues. 

6.141 Help in recruiting new coaches and volunteers could be an important and useful measure. 

6.142 Many of the higher performing clubs in the Wiltshire County Cricket League may have 
aspirations to field teams in the West of England Premier League (WEPL). The absence at certain 
venues of facilities required to join the WEPL may therefore be of longer-term concern to some 
clubs, beyond shorter-term facility deficiencies identified in this section. There are opportunities to 
provide these upgrades in relation to: 

 The relocation of Beanacre and Melksham CC to the Conigre site, which will becomes a 

dedicated cricket venue; and, 

 The required alternative second ground required for Trowbridge CC in lieu of a site that is 

now to be developed for housing. There is Section 106 funding attached to the relocation on 

the cricket activity as part of the planning proposal. 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 360



Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy Needs Assessment       148 | P a g e   

 

7.0 RUGBY 

Introduction 

7.45 This section assesses the adequacy of pitches for Rugby Union in the local authority by 
presenting the following: 

 an overview of pitch supply; 

 an overview of demand for rugby; 

 the pattern of play of rugby; 

 a review of the capacity and adequacy of current provision across the local authority, 
including an understanding of activity at individual sites; and, 

 a summary of findings and key issues for the Plan to address - separate document. 

Overview of Pitch Supply 

7.46 There are 50 sites containing facilities for rugby in the local authority. This figure includes all 
known public, private, school and other pitches whether or not they are in secured community use. 
The total pitch provision across the local authority is summarised in Table 7.1, and Map 7.1 in 
Appendix 6. 

7.47 Of these sites only a minority are in fact used by community teams.  The estimated numbers 
of teams currently using each site is provided in the table, together with the ‘level category’, 
allocated to each site, as explained in Section 4. 

 

 

 

Page 361



Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy Needs Assessment       149 | P a g e   

 

Table 7.1: Rugby sites in the local authority 

 

Name Availability Ownership Sub Area Adult pitches Mini pitches Rugby 
team 
count 

Site level 

(1,2,3,4) 

Calne Recreation Ground A1 LA Calne 1  1 2 

Corsham Town Football and Rugby Clubs A1 LA Corsham 2  13 2 

Colerne RUFC (Higgins Field) A2 MoD Corsham 1  6 3 

Minety Playing Fields A1 LA Malmesbury 3  14 2 

off Frees Avenue, Marlborough A1 LA Marlborough 2  16 2 

The Conigre 

(Woolmore Farm from Autumn 2016) 

A1 

(A1) 

LA 

(LA) 

Melksham 

Melksham 

1 

(4 inc youth) 

5 

(Play on youth) 

17 

(17) 

1 

(1) 

Old Hospital Recreation Land A1 LA Pewsey 2  9 2 

Ballards Ash Sports Ground A1 LA Royal Wootton Bassett and 
Cricklade 

2  18 1 

Fairview Field, Cricklade A1 LA Royal Wootton Bassett and 
Cricklade 

1  1 3 

off Stoneover Lane, Wootton Bassett A1 LA Royal Wootton Bassett and 
Cricklade 

2  0 4 

Hudsons Field 

 

A1 LA Salisbury 2  14 2 

P
age 362



Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy Needs Assessment       150 | P a g e   

 

Name Availability Ownership Sub Area Adult pitches Mini pitches Rugby 
team 
count 

Site level 

(1,2,3,4) 

Dinton Recreation Ground A1 LA South West Wiltshire 1  1 3 

Off Netherhampton Road A1 LA South West Wiltshire 1  1 3 

Bradford & Winsley Community Sports 
Association 

A2 Club Bradford on Avon 3 2 18 1 

Chippenham RFC (Allington Fields) A2 Club Chippenham 2 4 16 2 

Devizes Sports Club A2 Club Devizes 2 1 17 1 

Doric Park (Trowbridge RFC) A2 Club Trowbridge 3  13 2 

Deverills Cricket Field A2 Private Warminster 1  0 3 

Folly Lane pitches (Warminster RFC) A2 Club Warminster 2  10 2 

Westbury RFC (Westbury Country Park) A2 Club Westbury 2  7 3 

St Laurence School A3 Education Bradford on Avon 2  0 4 

Sheldon School A3 Education Chippenham 3  0 3 

cricket ground, West Lavington A3 Education Devizes 1  0 3 

Dauntsey's School A3 Education Devizes 3  0 3 

Lavington School A3 Education Devizes 1  0 3 

St John's School & Community College A3 Education Marlborough 3  0 3 

P
age 363



Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy Needs Assessment       151 | P a g e   

 

Name Availability Ownership Sub Area Adult pitches Mini pitches Rugby 
team 
count 

Site level 

(1,2,3,4) 

Melksham Oak Community School A3 Education Melksham 2  1 3 

Bradon Forest School A3 Education Royal Wootton Bassett and 
Cricklade 

1  0 4 

The Wellington Academy A3 Education Tidworth 1  0 3 

John of Gaunt School A3 Education Trowbridge 2  0 3 

The Clarendon College A3 Education Trowbridge 1  0 3 

Warminster Kingdown/St John's CE Primary 
School 

A3 Education Warminster 2  0 3 

Avon Valley College B Education Amesbury 1  0 4 

The John Bentley School B Education Calne 2  0 4 

Corsham School & Visual Arts Centre B Education Corsham 2  0 4 

Wiltshire College (Lackham) B Education Corsham 1  0 4 

Devizes School & Leisure Centre B Education Devizes 3  0 4 

Royal Wootton Bassett Academy B Education Royal Wootton Bassett and 
Cricklade 

1  0 4 

Bishop Wadworth's School B Education Salisbury 2  0 4 

Matravers School B Education Westbury 1 1 0 4 

P
age 364



Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy Needs Assessment       152 | P a g e   

 

Name Availability Ownership Sub Area Adult pitches Mini pitches Rugby 
team 
count 

Site level 

(1,2,3,4) 

Abbeyfield School C Education Calne 2  0 4 

Grittleton House School C Education Chippenham 2  0 4 

off Church Lane, Stanton St Quintin C MoD Chippenham 1  0 4 

Malmesbury School C Education Malmesbury 4  0 4 

Marlborough School Pitches C Education Marlborough 11  0 4 

off Britford Road, Salisbury (Bishop 
Wordworth's School) 

C Education Salisbury 4  0 4 

rugby field off Chatham Close C MoD Salisbury 1  1 4 

off Meerut Road, Tidworth C MoD Tidworth 1  0 4 

pitches off Grand Trunk Road, Tidworth 
Garrison 

C MoD Tidworth 1  0 4 

Southam and the Water Pitches C Education Royal Wootton Bassett and 
Cricklade 

2  0 3 

Arcot Road (Aspire Defence Ground)  MoD Tidworth 1  0 2 

Battlebury Barracks (east)  MoD Warminster 2  0 3 

 

P
age 365



Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy Needs Assessment       153 | P a g e   

 

7.48 Sites are in a variety of ownerships.  The majority of pitches and sites are controlled by the 
education sector.  However, the most notable sites from the standpoint of community rugby 
activity are those which are controlled by the local authority and clubs. 

Quality Scoring of Sites 

7.49 The score given to the overall pitch quality is based upon Sport England’s playing pitch 
strategy guidance – (Appendix 4d found at (http://www.sportengland.org/facilities-
planning/planning-for-sport/planning-tools-and-guidance/playing-pitch-strategy-guidance/) 

7.50 There are two scores recorded on the assessment form: one is for pitch maintenance 
(frequency of aeration and surface dressing) and the other is for the type of drainage a particular 
pitch has (natural, pipe drained, pipe and slit drained, unknown). Also noted but not scored on the 
assessment forms are qualitative and ancillary information (length and coverage of grass, size of 
pitch, problem areas, condition and safety of goal posts, and availability of changing, floodlighting 
and car parking). The numbers in the table indicate the number of games that might be played 
under each combination. 

 

   

Maintenance  

 

  

Poor (M0)  Standard (M1)  Good (M2)  

D
ra

in
ag

e 

Natural Inadequate (D0) 0.5 1.5 2 

Natural Adequate (D1) 1.5 2 3 

Pipe Drained (D2)  1.75 2.5 3.25 

Pipe and Slit Drained (D3) 2 3 3.5 

 

 

 

Page 366

http://www.sportengland.org/facilities-planning/planning-for-sport/planning-tools-and-guidance/playing-pitch-strategy-guidance/
http://www.sportengland.org/facilities-planning/planning-for-sport/planning-tools-and-guidance/playing-pitch-strategy-guidance/


Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy Needs Assessment       154 | P a g e   

 

Table 7.2: Rugby pitch quality ratings 

Name Availability Ownership Sub Area 
Rugby pitch 

maintenance rating 
(see above matrix) 

Rugby pitch 
drainage rating 

(see above 
matrix) 

Relevant comments from 
clubs 

Ballards Ash Sports Ground A1 LA 
Royal Wootton Bassett 

and Cricklade 
M2 (Good) D3 

Resident club expresses 
concern about the over-use 

of pitches 

Bradford & Winsley 
Community Sports 
Association 

A2 Club Bradford on Avon M1 (Standard) D2 
Pitches can suffer in times 
of prolonged wet weather. 

Calne Recreation Ground A1 LA Calne M1 (Standard) D2 
 

Chippenham RFC (Allington 
Fields) 

A2 Club Chippenham M2 (Good) D2 
 

Colerne RUFC (Higgins Field) C MoD Corsham M1 (Standard) D2 
 

Corsham Town Football and 
Rugby Clubs 

A1 LA Corsham M1 (Standard) D2 
Overall lack of space for 

pitches 

Devizes Sports Club A2 Club Devizes M2 (Good) D3 

Pitches are over-used and 
become unplayable 

(comments made prior to 
recent drainage 
improvements) 

P
age 367



Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy Needs Assessment       155 | P a g e   

 

Name Availability Ownership Sub Area 
Rugby pitch 

maintenance rating 
(see above matrix) 

Rugby pitch 
drainage rating 

(see above 
matrix) 

Relevant comments from 
clubs 

Dinton Recreation Ground A1 LA South West Wiltshire M1 (Standard) D2 
 

Doric Park (Trowbridge RFC) A2 Club Trowbridge M2 (Good) D3 
Almost brand new facility 

of a very high standard 

Fairview Field, Cricklade A1 LA 
Royal Wootton Bassett 

and Cricklade 
M1 (Standard) D1 

 

Folly Lane pitches 
(Warminster RFC) 

A2 Club Warminster M1 (Standard) D2 
 

Hudsons Field A1 LA Salisbury M1 (Standard) D2 
 

Melksham Oak Community 
School 

A3 Education Melksham M1 (Standard) D1 
 

Minety Playing Fields A1 LA Malmesbury M1 (Standard) D1 
Pitches become quickly 

unplayable, and drainage is 
not good. 

off Frees Avenue, 
Marlborough 

A1 LA Marlborough M2 (Good) D2 
Dog-fouling an issue on this 

common land site 

P
age 368



Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy Needs Assessment       156 | P a g e   

 

Name Availability Ownership Sub Area 
Rugby pitch 

maintenance rating 
(see above matrix) 

Rugby pitch 
drainage rating 

(see above 
matrix) 

Relevant comments from 
clubs 

Off Netherhampton Road A2 Other South West Wiltshire M1 (Standard) D2 
 

Old Hospital Recreation Land A1 LA Pewsey M1 (Standard) D2 
 

rugby field off Chatham 
Close 

C MoD Salisbury M1 (Standard) D2 
 

Sutton Benger Recreation 
Ground 

A1 LA Chippenham M1 (Standard) D2 
 

The Conigre A1 LA Melksham M2 (Good) D2 
The pitch is over-used and 

becomes unplayable. 

Westbury RFC (Westbury 
Country Park) 

A2 Club Westbury M1 (Standard) D2 
Club considers that pitches 
have improved greatly due 

to groundstaff’s efforts 

 

 

 

 

 

NB:  Site capacity and over-use at the Conigre site in Melksham will be alleviated in Autumn 2016, due to Melksham RFC moving to Woolmore Farm. 

P
age 369



Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy Needs Assessment       157 | P a g e   

 

7.51 Although there may be some occasional conflict of interest between sports, it is the 
intensity of use of rugby pitches by resident and visiting rugby teams both for training and 
competition that leads to a situation where pitches are over-used relative to their capacity to 
absorb activity.  

7.52 On multi-pitch rugby grounds, such as the above, one pitch is normally allocated as the 
midweek training pitch, and this is usually either permanently or temporarily floodlit.  Over the 
course of a season grass training pitches will have to absorb a considerable amount of wear and 
tear both from training activity as well as match play. 

7.53 In addition to issues with pitches, several clubs have expressed concern over the adequacy 
of changing facilities, and especially if they are to develop and sustain female and junior teams in 
particular. Detailed comments ar contained in the ‘All Data Spreadsheet’ (Append 

Overview of demand 

Current Participation 

7.54 Clubs in the local authority are affiliated to the Dorset and Wiltshire area of the RFU, and 
the adult teams tend to play in Levels 8 to 11 of the national league structure. However, teams 
from the larger clubs such as Chippenham, Salisbury and Trowbridge play at a higher level in the 
South West area. 

7.55 Junior and mini teams play in a variety of local tournaments and competitions. 

7.56 The following clubs and teams are recorded as playing within the local authority. 

 

Page 370



Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy Needs Assessment       158 | P a g e   

 

Table 7.3: Clubs and teams in the local authority 

 

Name Sub Area Ground Adult 
male 

Adult 
female 

Colts male 
(18-u19) 

Colts female 
(18-u19) 

Youth male 
(u13-17) 

Youth female 
(u13-17) 

Mini 
rugby 
(u12) 

Bradford-on-Avon 
RFC 

Bradford on Avon Bradford & Winsley Community 
Sports Association 

2  1  5 2 6 

Calne RFC Calne Calne Recreation Ground 1    0  0 

Chippenham RFC Chippenham Chippenham RFC (Allington Fields) 3  1  7  6 

Sutton Benger RFC Chippenham Sutton Benger Recreation Ground 1    0  0 

Colerne RFC Corsham Colerne RUFC (Higgins Field) 1    0  5 

Corsham RFC and 
FC 

Corsham Corsham Town Football and Rugby 
Clubs 

2  1  2  7 

Devizes RFC Devizes Devizes Sports Club 2 1 1  4 1 5 

Devizes RFC Devizes Devizes Sports Club 1       

Minety RFC Malmesbury Minety Playing Fields 2  1  4  6 

Marlborough RFC Marlborough off Frees Avenue, Marlborough 2  1  5  7 

Melksham RFC Melksham Melksham Oak Community School 

(Woolmore Farm Autumn 2016) 

1  1     

Melksham RFC Melksham The Conigre 

(Woolmore Farm Autumn 2016) 

2    4 3 8 

P
age 371



Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy Needs Assessment       159 | P a g e   

 

Name Sub Area Ground Adult 
male 

Adult 
female 

Colts male 
(18-u19) 

Colts female 
(18-u19) 

Youth male 
(u13-17) 

Youth female 
(u13-17) 

Mini 
rugby 
(u12) 

Pewsey Vale RFC Pewsey Old Hospital Recreation Land 2    0 1 5 

Cricklade RFC Royal Wootton 
Bassett and Cricklade 

Fairview Field, Cricklade 1    0  0 

Royal Wootton 
Bassett RFC 

Royal Wootton 
Bassett and Cricklade 

Ballards Ash Sports Ground 3  2  6 1 8 

Salisbury RFC Salisbury Castle Road 2       

Salisbury RFC Salisbury Hudsons Field 2  1  4  6 

Dinton RFC South West Wiltshire Durrington Recreation Ground 1    0  0 

Wheatsheaf Cabin 
Crew RFC 

South West Wiltshire  1       

Trowbridge RFC Trowbridge Doric Park (Trowbridge RFC) 3  1  4  6 

Warminster RFC Warminster Folly Lane pitches (Warminster RFC) 2    3  5 

Westbury RFC Westbury Westbury RFC (Westbury Country 
Park) 

2 1   0  4 

   40 2 11 0 48 8 84 

 

P
age 372



Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy Needs Assessment       160 | P a g e   

 

7.57 In summary, the above clubs can be ranked in terms of the estimated numbers of teams 
fielded, as follows: 

Figure 7.1: Ranking of clubs by numbers 

 

 

7.58 It is noteworthy that the two clubs recorded as fielding the most teams through the age 
groups are not those clubs that field first XVs teams performing in the South West RFU area.  

7.59 The geographic location of teams and their numbers is shown on Map 7.2 below. Issues 
surrounding pitch capacity relative to use are considered further later in this section.   

  

Page 373



Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy Needs Assessment       161 | P a g e   

 

Map 7.2: Location of rugby pitch sites used by community teams 

 

 

 

NB:  Melksham RFC will move from the Conigre site, Melksham to Woolmore Farm in  Autumn 2016 

Page 374



Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy Needs Assessment       162 | P a g e   

 

Trends in Local Participation 

7.61 The club questionnaire survey combined with other evidence suggests that the number of 
teams fielded by local clubs has, overall, remained around the same over very recent years, in 
respect of adult teams. However, the balance of the club responses suggests that there has 
probably been an overall increase in the number of junior and mini/teams playing. 

Table 7.4: Recent trends in team numbers 

 

Please can you tell us 
if, in the previous 
three years, the 
number of teams in 
your club has: 

Increased Decreased Stayed the 
same 

Response 
Total 

Adult Male 36% 7% 57% 14 

Ladies 20% 0% 80% 10 

Juniors/Colts 54% 18% 27% 11 

Minis/Midis 50% 8% 41% 12 

   answered 14 

   skipped 3 

 

7.62 As appropriate, clubs cited the reasons for increase or decreases in numbers of teams. Full 
details of these reasons are included in the All Data spreadsheet included as Appendix 3. However, 
the following appear to be the main reasons, in summary. 

 

Table 7.5: Summary of reasons cited for growth or decline in teams 

Reasons for growth in teams Reasons for decline in teams 

Move to better venue 

More junior teams 

More female teams 

 

Loss of continuity in fixtures due to bad 
weather 

Loss of adult players 

 

  

Page 375



Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy Needs Assessment       163 | P a g e   

 

Displaced, Unmet and Latent Demand 

7.63 The extent to which the current participation hides latent or frustrated demand to play 
rugby is considered further later in this section.  In summary though clubs tend to suggests that it is 
deficiencies in supporting infrastructure that are obstructing the fielding of additional teams, and 
especially with regard to changing facilities that are usable across the age and gender spectra. 

7.64 There is little evidence of clubs/teams having to travel outside the local authority to the 
access home ground facilities.   

Origins of Membership 

7.65 The club survey indicates that the majority of players live within 5 miles of their home 
venue.  The higher the standard of rugby the greater the preparedness of better players to travel to 
clubs offering opportunities to play at a higher standard. 

Patterns of Play 

7.66 The patterns of play for the various age groups in rugby over the course of a week follow the 
general national pattern of: 

 Adult Males playing on Saturday afternoons; 

 Colt teams playing on Saturday afternoons; 

 Mini/midi and youth teams playing on Sunday mornings; and, 

 Adult female teams playing on Sundays. 

Training patterns 

7.67 All club/team training conducted by local clubs takes place on an allocated pitch, although 
there are some exceptions to this general practice that are noted in the following subsection.  All 
team training sessions generally take place once per week for each of the team squads.   

7.68 As youth rugby is played on a senior pitch the RFU suggests it should be categorised as 
equivalent to a senior match.  Youth teams tend to play on senior pitches.  Where this occurs the 
play will have some impact on the quality of, and therefore use some of the carrying capacity of, 
the senior pitches.  As they are senior pitches the youth play needs to be quantified as match 
equivalent sessions of a senior pitch.    If a mini/midi team plays on half a senior pitch every week 
for half the time of a senior match then it may be appropriate to record the use as a quarter (0.25) 
of a senior match equivalent session a week against the senior pitches on a site.  This would enable 
the demand to be captured against the senior pitches on a site where the play takes place while 
reflecting the limited impact on the quality and capacity of the pitches compared to the senior play.  

7.69 The above is of course the basis for only a rough assessment of ‘carrying capacity’ of rugby 
pitch sites, and it must be informed by other considerations and the views of users and managers, 
where they are available. This said, the above method has been applied to the site assessment 
information and the estimates of teams’ match play and training needs to produce the following 
picture of overall site use relative to the notional capacity. The Table 7.6 (below) compares the 
estimated match equivalent capacity of the key rugby club sites, with the estimated level of match 
equivalent usage.         

7.70 In rugby, the tendency is for different age groups (adults. juniors, and minis) to play on the same 
playing surface, which is primarily marked out to adult pitch dimensions. Therefore, on most of the site 
shown in Table 7.6, usage by adults, juniors, and mini teams should be aggregated so as to provide the 

Page 376



Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy Needs Assessment       164 | P a g e   

 

overall picture of use relative to the estimated capacity. However, with a few sites some separately marked-
out mini rugby pitches have been recorded: on these sites the impact of mini teams on adult pitches has 
been discounted. Where this occurs it has been noted in the Table 7.6.  

7.71  A fuller explanation of the assumptions underpinning the calculations on which Table 7.6 are based 
is provided in the Appendix 4 at the rear of this document. Some notes are also included in the table, both in 
the end column and at the bottom of the table. The latter in particular indicate that individual pitches on 
sites (or single pitch sites) may suffer heavy wear and tear due to their extra use for training. 

 

Page 377



Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy Needs Assessment       165 | P a g e   

 

 

Table 7.6: Figure 7.1: Site usage versus capacity (match equivalents) – note these figure predated recent changes in respect of Ballards Ash sportsground 

 

Name Sub Area A. Total 
adult/colt 
rugby match 
equivalent 
sessions/week 

B. Total youth 
match 
equivalent 
sessions/week 

C. Total mini 
rugby match 
equivalent 
sessions/week 

D. Total 
match 
equivalent 
sessions 
on adult 
pitches 
(A+B+C) 

E. 
Adult 
pitches 

F. Mini 
Pitches 

G. Match 
equivalent 
sessions/adult 
pitch (based 
on rating 
matrix) 

H. Overall adult 
pitch site 
match 
equivalent 
capacity/week 
(E*G) 

I. Total adult 
pitch net site 
match 
equivalent 
capacity/week 
(H-D) 

Rugby pitch 
maintenance rating 

Rugby 
pitch 
drainage 
rating 

Rugby 
team 
count 

Note 

Ballards Ash Sports Ground Royal Wootton Bassett 
and Cricklade 

5 12.25 3 20.25 4  3.5 14 -6.25  M2 (Good) D3 22  

Bradford & Winsley Community 
Sports Association 

Bradford on Avon 2.5 12.25 2.25 17 3 2 2 6 -11.00  M1 (Standard) D2 17 minis play on 
mini pitches 

Calne Recreation Ground Calne 1 0 0 1 1  2.5 2 1.00  M1 (Standard) D2 1  

Chippenham RFC (Allington Fields) Chippenham 4 12.25 2.25 18.5 3 4 3.25 9.75 -8.75  M2 (Good) D2 18 minis play on 
mini pitches 

Colerne RUFC (Higgins Field) Corsham 1 0 1.88 2.88 1  2.5 2.5 -0.38  M1 (Standard) D2 6  

Corsham Town Football and Rugby 
Clubs 

Corsham 3 1 2.63 6.63 2  2.5 5 -1.63  M1 (Standard) D2 13  

Devizes Sports Club Devizes 5 6.25 1.88 13.13 2 1 3.5 7 -6.13  M2 (Good) D3 16 minis play on 
mini pitches 

Dinton Recreation Ground South West Wiltshire 1 0 0 1 1  2.5 2.5 1.50  M1 (Standard) D2 1  

Doric Park (Trowbridge RFC) Trowbridge 4 4 2.25 10.25 4  3.5 14 3.75  M2 (Good) D3 15  

Fairview Field, Cricklade Royal Wootton Bassett 
and Cricklade 

1 0 0 1 1  2 2 1.00  M1 (Standard) D1 1  

Folly Lane pitches (Warminster 
RFC) 

Warminster 2 2.25 1.88 6.13 2  2.5 5 -1.13  M1 (Standard) D2 10  

Hudsons Field Salisbury 3 4 2.25 9.25 2  2.5 5 -4.25  M1 (Standard) D2 14  

Melksham Oak Community School Melksham 1 0 0 1 2  1 2 1.00  M1 (Standard) D1 1  

Minety Playing Fields Malmesbury 3 4 2.25 9.25 3  2 6 -3.25  M1 (Standard) D1 14  

off Frees Avenue, Marlborough Marlborough 3 6.25 2.63 11.88 2  3.25 6.5 -5.38  M2 (Good) D2 16  

P
age 378



Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy Needs Assessment       166 | P a g e   

 

Name Sub Area A. Total 
adult/colt 
rugby match 
equivalent 
sessions/week 

B. Total youth 
match 
equivalent 
sessions/week 

C. Total mini 
rugby match 
equivalent 
sessions/week 

D. Total 
match 
equivalent 
sessions 
on adult 
pitches 
(A+B+C) 

E. 
Adult 
pitches 

F. Mini 
Pitches 

G. Match 
equivalent 
sessions/adult 
pitch (based 
on rating 
matrix) 

H. Overall adult 
pitch site 
match 
equivalent 
capacity/week 
(E*G) 

I. Total adult 
pitch net site 
match 
equivalent 
capacity/week 
(H-D) 

Rugby pitch 
maintenance rating 

Rugby 
pitch 
drainage 
rating 

Rugby 
team 
count 

Note 

Off Netherhampton Road South West Wiltshire 1 0 0 1 1  2.5 2.5 1.50  M1 (Standard) D2 1  

Old Hospital Recreation Land Pewsey 2 0.25 1.88 4.13 2  2.5 5 0.87  M1 (Standard) D2 8  

rugby field off Chatham Close Salisbury 1.5 0 0 1.5 1  2.5 2.5 1.00  M1 (Standard) D2 2  

Sutton Benger Recreation Ground Chippenham 1 0 0 1 1  2.5 2.5 1.50  M1 (Standard) D2 1  

The Conigre 

 

(Woolmore Farm Autumn 2016) 

Melksham 

 

(Melksham) 

3 

 

(3) 

12.25 

 

(12.25) 

1 

 

(1) 

16.25 

 

(16.25) 

1 

 

(4) inc 
youth 
pitches 

5 3.25 

 

(3.25) 

3.25 

 

(13) 

-13.00  

 

(-3.25) 

M2 (Good) 

 

(M2 (Good)) 

D2 

 

(D2) 

19 

 

(19) 

Minis play 
on mini 
pitches 

Minis play 
on youth 
pitches 

Westbury RFC (Westbury Country 
Park) 

Westbury 3 0 1.5 4.5 2  2.5 5 0.50  M1 (Standard) D2 7  

Ballards Ash Sports Ground (Royal Wootton Bassett RUFC):  There is a training pitch with temporary floodlights which is heavily used, and more so than other pitches. 

Bradford & Winsley Community Sports Association (Bradford on Avon RUFC): There is a designated training pitch and adjacent lighting and this will be the designated area for most mid-week training 

Allington Fields (Chippenham RFC): There is a floodlit training pitch which is floodlight and heavily used for mid-week training. 

Higgins Field (Colerne RUFC): The single pitch is floodlit and will also be used for training. 

Corsham Town Football and Rugby Clubs: 1 pitch is floodlit and is more heavily used for training. 

Devizes Sports Club (Devizes RUFC): Smaller pitch with floodlights and perimeter fencing used for some training. 

Doric Park (Trowbridge RFC): Much of the training will take place on a good quality floodlit pitch. 

Fairview Field, Cricklade (Cricklade RUFC): All training will take place on the single floodlit pitch. 

Folly Lane pitches (Warminster RFC): No apparent floodlights at ground, which could not be accessed for on-site inspection. New club house. 

Hudsons Field (Salisbury RUFC): Neither pitch floodlit 

Minety Playing Field (Minety RUFC): No floodlighting of this single pitch. 

off Frees Avenue, Marlborough (Marlborough RUFC): Neither of the two pitches are floodlit 

Off Netherhampton Road (Wheatsheaf Cabin Crew RUFC): A single pitch with no floodlighting. 

Old Hospital Recreation Land, Wilcot Road (Pewsey Vale RUFC):  Two full-size pitches and a floodlit training area that will absorb most training. 

Chatham Close (Salisbury RUFC): Pitch is fenced off and floodlit. Training will therefore take place on match pitch. 

Sutton Benger Recreation Ground (Sutton Benger RUFC):  Single un-lit pitch. Very little if any mid-winter training likely to take place. 

The Conigre (Melksham RUFC):  Heavily used single pitch for matches and for training. This information relates to current use of the pitch.  The club will be moving to a single site at Woolmore Farm in Autumn 2016, and therefore a site 
rating has been provided . It is assumed that provision will include 2 adult pitches, and 2 pitches to accommodate youth/mini play. It is also assumed that adult training will take place largely on one (floodlit) pitch. 

Westbury Country Park (Westbury RFC): Both pitches seemed boggy in places after wet weather and use. 

P
age 379



Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy Needs Assessment       167 | P a g e   

 

7.72 The following ranks sites according to their net capacity rating, and it is probably 
unsurprising that the sites that are most ‘in the red’ are largely those with the largest numbers of 
teams. 

Table 7.7: Rugby sites ranked according to ‘capacity’ issues. 

Name Sub Area Net site capacity rugby team count 

The Conigre Melksham -15 19 

Bradford & Winsley Community 
Sports Association 

Bradford on Avon -11 17 

Chippenham RFC (Allington 
Fields) 

Chippenham -8.75 18 

Ballards Ash Sports Ground 
Royal Wootton Bassett and 
Cricklade 

-6.25 22 

Devizes Sports Club Devizes -6.13 16 

off Frees Avenue, Marlborough Marlborough -5.38 16 

Hudsons Field Salisbury -4.25 14 

Minety Playing Fields Malmesbury -3.25 14 

Corsham Town Football and 
Rugby Clubs 

Corsham -1.63 13 

Folly Lane pitches (Warminster 
RFC) 

Warminster -1.13 10 

Colerne RUFC (Higgins Field) Corsham -0.38 6 

 

7.73 Melksham Rugby Club will move from the Conigre ground for to Woolmore Farm in Autumn 
2006 and therefore the net capacity score for the Conigre site can be ignored.  

7.74 The following Map 7.3 summarises the net capacity ratings for sites, overlain on team 
numbers. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 380



Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy Needs Assessment       168 | P a g e   

 

Map 7.3: Site net match capacity 

 
 

NB:  Melksham RFC will move from the Conigre site, Melksham to Woolmore Farm in  Autumn 201, alleviating any site 
capacity issues at Conigre 

 

Page 381



Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy Needs Assessment       169 | P a g e   

 

Scenario Testing: The Future 

Future Picture of Provision 

7.75 The future requirement for playing pitches will be impacted by several factors, including; 

A. Changes to the number of people living in the area and / or to the demographic profile of 
the population; 

B. Changes in participation trends and in how pitch sports are played; 

C. Club specific development plans and aspirations; and, 

D. Amendments to the current facility stock either through the provision of new pitches or the 
loss of current pitches. 

7.76 These issues are considered in turn in order to build a picture of future demand for playing 
pitches. 

A Population Change 

Team Generation Rates 

7.77 Team Generation Rates (TGRs) indicate how many people in a specified age group are 
required to generate one team. TGRs are derived by dividing the appropriate population age band 
by the number of teams playing within that area in that age band. By applying TGRs to population 
projections, we can project the theoretical number of teams that would be generated from 
population growth and gain an understanding of future demand. Table 7.8 summarises the current 
TGRs for rugby in the local authority and uses them to assess the potential impact of projected 
changes to the population profile on demand for rugby.  

Table 7.8: TGRs and potential change to number of rugby teams in the local authority: 2015-2026 

2015 AGE GROUPS 2015 AGE 
GROUP 
POPULATIONS 

2015 
TEAMS 

2015 
TGRs 

2026 AGE 
GROUPS 

2026 
TEAMS 

CHANGE(+/-
) 

Mini-rugby (7-12 
mixed gender) 

34,622 84 412 37,709 91 7 

Junior rugby (13-18 
male) 

20,064 48 418 22,437 54 6 

Junior rugby (13-18 
female) 

16,924 8 2,115 18,555 9 1 

Senior rugby (19-45 
male) 

76,388 50 1,528 81,239 53 3 

Senior rugby (19-45 
female) 

74,158 2 37,079 74,493 2 0 

 

Page 382



Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy Needs Assessment       170 | P a g e   

 

7.78 The above suggests that there will be an increase in the number of teams by 2026, and 
especially in the junior categories. There will also be a fractional increase in the number of adult 
teams, but demographic projections alone would not suggest an increase in the number of 
women’s teams. 

7.79 The population data on which the above calculations are predicated11 are themselves only 
based upon previous trends, and do not necessarily take into account the impact of planned new 
residential growth yet to be determined. 

Projected change in the population resulting from planned new growth 

7.80 The above projects the change in team numbers arising out of natural change in the 
population up to 2026. There is also a need to consider any additional teams generated from 
localised population change resulting from planned new development. This new development may 
give rise to a significant local redistribution of the population, and conceivably in the spatial 
demand for playing pitches.  The precise housing growth allocations to be catered for in the 
emerging new development plan are currently not determined. 

B Changes in participation trends and how sport is played  

7.81 Whilst focusing on maintaining its core market of 15v15 senior teams, the RFU is actively 
promoting its variants of the game for younger players – touch and tag rugby and ‘7s’ and also 
looking to develop more recreational and social rugby during the summer.  This is likely to increase 
the numbers of junior teams and possibly summer activity for adults, which may cascade down to 
increase participation during the winter months.   

7.82 There are also changes in the type of facilities now being used for rugby.   Clubs are aspiring 
to use AGPs more for training, to reduce the impact on the grass pitches for training, thus enabling 
grass pitches to accommodate greater intensity of match play.  In addition, clubs are now 
considering the possibilities of using IRB22 accredited AGPs for competitive fixtures. In this 
instance, the increased capacity offered by an AGP would mean that current and future training 
needs, as well as match play could be accommodated. 

7.83 The 2015 Rugby World Club may have had a positive effect on participation locally, although 
this is difficult to quantify. 

C Club development plans and aspirations 

7.84 Several  clubs responding to the club survey have aspirations to grow and this will impact 
both on demand across the local authority as a whole but also more locally at a site specific level.   
Club aspirations are set out in Table 7.9.  

  

                                                 
11 Compiled from a forecast produced on 19/03/2015 using POPGROUP software developed by Bradford Council, the University of Manchester and Andelin Associates 

Page 383



Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy Needs Assessment       171 | P a g e   

 

Table 7.9: Clubs’ aspirations to field more teams 

 

Does your club plan to run more teams?  Response 
Percent 

Response 
Total 

Yes 93% 14 

No 7% 1 

 answered 15 

 skipped 2 

7.86 Almost all the responding clubs said that they would like to field more teams. These are 
bone fide statements on the clubs’ part. Where clubs stated that they would like to field teams in a 
particular category, we have provided a very indicative quantification of how many teams this 
might be. 

Table 7.10: Estimate of additional teams that responding clubs might field 

Adult Men’s 
Teams 

Adult Women's 
Teams 

Junior Boys’ 
Teams 

Junior Girls’ 
Teams 

Mini/Mi
di 

Other (e.g. Vets) 

9 8 9 8 7 1 

 

7.87 Taking into account the necessary caveat, the above aspirations suggest that responding 
team might like to field an additional: 

 16 adult teams; 

 16 junior teams; and, 

 8 mini teams. 

7.88 Of the total number of teams fielded by the clubs responding to the questionnaire the above 
represents:  

 37% of the number of adult teams; 

 32% of the junior/youth teams; and, 

 10% of the mini teams. 

7.89 If these percentages were applied to the existing total estimates for teams within Wiltshire 
as a whole (50 adults/colts, 56 junior/youth teams, 84 mini) it would suggest that the fulfilment of 
aspirations would create another: 

 18 junior/youth teams; and, 

 18 adult teams; 

 7 mini teams. 

Page 384



Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy Needs Assessment       172 | P a g e   

 

7.90 As a percentage % of the overall number of teams, the above are therefore very large 
numbers. Responding clubs were asked to identify reasons stopping them from achieving the above 
aspiration-led growth, with the following results. 

 

Figure 7.2: Obstacles given by clubs as stopping them fielding more teams. 

7.91 Consistent with the views expressed by clubs elsewhere in this section, issues with training 
and changing facilities are the biggest perceived problems, together with the perceived shortage of 
volunteers and coaches to help maintain and grow the local game. 

7.92 When adding a bone fide estimate of the extra teams that might be generated if responding 
clubs could achieve aspirations, to additional teams arising from projected population growth 
(2026), the total increased future demand will be: 

  

Page 385



Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy Needs Assessment       173 | P a g e   

 

Table 7.11: Summary of potential overall growth in team numbers 

A. Extra teams from 
population growth 

B. Extra teams for 
aspirational growth 

Extra 
matches 

(A+B) 

Grass pitches 
required 

(assuming 2 
games per 

pitch/week) 

Adult 3 Adult 18 11 c.6 

Junior 7 Junior 18 13 use adult 
pitches 

Mini/midi 7 Mini/midi 8 8 use adult 
pitches 

 

7.93 The above has implications both for the supply of pitches overall, at sites where clubs are 
currently based, as well as the over-use of existing pitches. 

Discussion 

7.94 Projected increase is fuelled largely by the estimates of aspiration-led demand, and these 
are also considered to be very high- perhaps unrealistically so. If the aspirational figures were 
omitted, the demographic-driven demand would probably warrant limited additional new 
provision- perhaps no more than 1-2 adult pitches in an appropriate location. 

7.95 It is felt that the biggest issues facing local rugby relate to:  

 the need to improve drainage and all-year training provision, and perhaps with the 
development of artificial surfaces at appropriate locations; and,  

 the need to improve changing provision in key locations to reflect the wider demographic 
and gender spectra becoming involved in rugby as a sport. 

7.96 Perhaps there is also a need to focus on coaching and volunteer recruitment, as much as 
improvements to facilities, although the club survey has clearly identified various facility issues that 
might be addressed through funding injections in this regard. 

7.97 The population projections underpinning Table 7.8 are trend-based, and will therefore take 
into account previous housebuilding rates within the local authority. However, future development 
plan allocations will need to be confirmed, and the estimates in Table 7.8 should be amended when 
new population data are available.   

7.98 Taking all the above into account, there is not considered to be a looming need to search 
out land for new conventional rugby pitches in the next 10 years. The focus should be on improving 
existing key venues with respect to changing, drainage and training provision , in particular. The 
data provided in Appendix 5 for the 18 Community Areas will help to inform the process at the 
more local level. 

 

  

Page 386



Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy Needs Assessment       174 | P a g e   

 

Key issues for the Strategy to address 

7.99 A planned programme of improved drainage and training provision should be agreed to 
cover key sites. The immediate priorities in respect of training provision should consider the stated 
needs of the following sites in particular. 

Table 7.12: Priorities for suggested for improvements in training and drainage provision. 

 

Name Sub Area Net site capacity rugby team count 

Bradford & Winsley Community 
Sports Association 

Bradford on Avon -11 17 

Chippenham RFC (Allington 
Fields) 

Chippenham -8.75 18 

Ballards Ash Sports Ground 
Royal Wootton Bassett and 
Cricklade 

-6.25 22 

off Frees Avenue, Marlborough Marlborough -5.38 16 

Hudsons Field Salisbury -4.25 14 

Minety Playing Fields Malmesbury -3.25 14 

Corsham Town Football and 
Rugby Clubs 

Corsham -1.63 13 

Folly Lane pitches (Warminster 
RFC) 

Warminster -1.13 10 

Colerne RUFC (Higgins Field) Corsham -0.38 6 

7.100 The Conigre ground in Melksham has been excluded from this list, due to the co-location 
with Melksham Town FC at Woolmore Farm in Autumn 2016. Devizes Sports Club has also been 
excluded due to recent drainage improvement works. 

 

 

Page 387



Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy Needs Assessment       175 | P a g e   

 

8.0 HOCKEY 

Introduction 

8.45 This section assesses the adequacy of pitches for hockey in the local authority by presenting 
the following: 

 an overview of pitch supply; 

 an overview of demand; 

 the pattern of play; 

 a review of the capacity and adequacy of current provision; 

 the future picture of provision; and, 

 a summary of issues for the strategy to address. 

Overview of Pitch Supply 

8.46 Hockey is almost exclusively played on AGPs. Guidance on AGPs (Sport England 2010) 
indicates the following surfaces to be suitable for hockey: 

 Water Based (suitable for high level hockey) 

 Sand Dressed (preferred surface for other competitive hockey) 

 Sand Filled (acceptable surface for other competitive hockey) 

 Short Pile 3G (although competitive, adult and junior club training cannot take place on 3G 
pitches, 40mm pitches may be suitable for introductory level hockey, such as school 
curriculum low level hockey) 

8.47 It is considered that a hockey pitch can accommodate a maximum of four matches on one 
day (peak time) provided that the pitch has floodlights. Training is generally midweek and requires 
access to a pitch and floodlights. 

Quantity 

8.48 For competitive matches an AGP must measure at least 91.4 x 55 metres (minimum this 
excludes a run-off). The following is a list of sand-based AGPs in Wiltshire, and those that are 
compliant for competition hockey are indicated. There are no water-based AGPs in Wiltshire. There 
are other smaller facilities that could be used for training. All relevant facilities are listed in the 
Table 8.1 (below), together with an indication of whether they are used as a hockey club venue. 

Page 388



Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy Needs Assessment       176 | P a g e   

 

Table 8.1: Pitches relevant to hockey in the local authority (the above numbers do not include a facility at RAF Boscombe Down, which has been 
condemned and is unusable). 

 

Name Sub area 
Availability 
(see para 
1.10) 

AGP type Floodlit? Facility Status Access Type 
Ownership 
Type 

Club 
venue? 

Year built 
(where 
known) 

Matchplay-
compliant? 

LAND WARFARE 
CENTRE 

Warminster C 
Sand-filled 
(100 x 60 
m) 

Yes Operational Private Use MOD     

Yes (has been 
known to be 
confused 
with a 3G 
surface) 

DAUNTSEYS 
SCHOOL (1) 

Devizes C 
Sand-filled 
(110 x 60 
m) 

Yes Operational Private Use 
Other 
Independent 
School 

  1992 
Yes (during 
day) 

MARLBOROUGH 
COLLEGE 

Marlborough 
(2) 

A3 
Sand-
dressed (97 
x 59 m) 

Yes Operational 
Sports Club / 
Community 
Association 

Other 
Independent 
School 

Yes 1998 Yes  

CHIPPENHAM 
SPORTS CLUB 

Chippenham A2 
Sand-filled 
(100 x 61 
m) 

Yes Operational 
Sports Club / 
Community 
Association 

Sports Club Yes   Yes 

DAUNTSEYS 
SCHOOL (3) 

Devizes C 

Sand-
dressed 
(100 x 60 
m) 

No Operational Private Use 
Other 
Independent 
School 

  2008 Yes 

DEVIZES LEISURE 
CENTRE 

Devizes A1 
Sand-filled 
(100 x 60 
m) 

Yes Operational Pay and Play Local Authority Yes 2006 Yes 

P
age 389



Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy Needs Assessment       177 | P a g e   

 

Name Sub area 
Availability 
(see para 
1.10) 

AGP type Floodlit? Facility Status Access Type 
Ownership 
Type 

Club 
venue? 

Year built 
(where 
known) 

Matchplay-
compliant? 

JOHN OF GAUNT 
SCHOOL 

Trowbridge A3 
Sand-filled 
(100 x 60 
m) 

Yes Operational 
Sports Club / 
Community 
Association 

Community 
school 

  1998 Yes 

MARLBOROUGH 
COLLEGE 

Marlborough 
(1) 

A3 
Sand-
dressed (97 
x 70 m) 

Yes Operational 
Sports Club / 
Community 
Association 

Other 
Independent 
School 

Yes 1998 Yes 

MELKSHAM OAK 
COMMUNITY 
SCHOOL 

Melksham A3 

Sand-
dressed 
(100 x 60 
m) 

Yes Operational 
Sports Club / 
Community 
Association 

Academies   2010 Yes 

RAF LARKHILL Amesbury C 
Sand-filled 
(100 x 63 
m) 

Yes Operational Private Use MOD     Yes 

ROYAL WOOTTON 
BASSETT ACADEMY 

Royal Wootton 
Bassett and 
Cricklade 

A3 
Sand-filled 
(100 x 60 
m) 

Yes Operational Pay and Play 
Community 
school 

Yes 2002 Yes 

SALISBURY & 
SOUTH WILTS 
SPORTS CLUB 

Salisbury A2 

Sand-
dressed 
(100 x 60 
m) 

Yes Operational Pay and Play Sports Club Yes 1998 Yes 

SPRINGFIELD 
COMMUNITY 
CAMPUS 

Corsham A3 
Sand-filled 
(100 x 60 
m) 

Yes Operational Pay and Play 
Community 
school 

Yes 2014 Yes 

P
age 390



Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy Needs Assessment       178 | P a g e   

 

Name Sub area 
Availability 
(see para 
1.10) 

AGP type Floodlit? Facility Status Access Type 
Ownership 
Type 

Club 
venue? 

Year built 
(where 
known) 

Matchplay-
compliant? 

ST MARY’S SCHOOL 
(CALNE) 

Calne C 

Sand-
dressed 
(100 x 60 
m) 

Yes Operational Private Use 
Other 
Independent 
School 

  2015 Yes 

ST MARYS SCHOOL 
South West 
Wiltshire 

A3 (limited 
use) 

Sand-filled 
(97 x 61 m) 

Yes Operational 
Sports Club / 
Community 
Association 

Other 
Independent 
School 

Yes 2001 Yes 

STONAR SCHOOL Melksham A2 

Sand-
dressed 
(100 x 60 
m) 

Yes Operational 
Sports Club / 
Community 
Association 

Other 
Independent 
School 

  1994 Yes 

TIDWORTH OVAL Tidworth C 
Sand-filled 
(100 x 60 
m) 

Yes Operational Private Use MOD   2000 Yes 

WARMINSTER 
KINGDOWN 

Warminster A2 
Sand-filled 
(100 x 60 
m) 

Yes Operational 
Sports Club / 
Community 
Association 

Community 
school 

Yes 2003 Yes 

WARMINSTER 
SCHOOL 

Warminster A3 

Sand-
dressed 
(100 x 70 
m) 

Yes Operational Pay and Play 
Other 
Independent 
School 

  1991 Yes 

ABBEYFIELD 
SCHOOL 

Calne C 
Sand-filled 
(60 x 40 m) 

No Operational Private Use 
Community 
school 

  2008 No 

CHAFYN GROVE 
SCHOOL 

Salisbury B 
Sand-filled 
(80x50 m) 

No Operational Private Use 
Other 
Independent 
School 

  2003 No 

P
age 391



Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy Needs Assessment       179 | P a g e   

 

Name Sub area 
Availability 
(see para 
1.10) 

AGP type Floodlit? Facility Status Access Type 
Ownership 
Type 

Club 
venue? 

Year built 
(where 
known) 

Matchplay-
compliant? 

CORSHAM TOWN 
FOOTBALL CLUB 

Corsham A2 
Sand-filled 
(66 x 36 m) 
– split in 2 

No Operational Pay and Play Commercial   2008 No 

CRICKLADE 
LEISURE CENTRE 

Royal Wootton 
Bassett and 
Cricklade 

A1 
Sand-filled 
(60 x 40 m) 
split in two 

Yes Operational Pay and Play 
Community 
Organisation 

  2010 No 

DAUNTSEYS 
SCHOOL (2) 
(goalmouth court) 

Devizes C 
Sand-filled 
(30 x 20 m) 

No Operational Private Use 
Other 
Independent 
School 

  2008 No 

PRIOR PARK 
PREPARATORY 
SCHOOL 

Royal Wootton 
Bassett and 
Cricklade 

C 
Sand-filled 
(80 x 50 m) 

No Operational Private Use 
Other 
Independent 
School 

  2007 No 

RAMSBURY 
RECREATION 
CENTRE 

Marlborough A1 
Sand-filled 
(40 x 20 m) 

No Operational Pay and Play Other   2005 No 

ST LAURENCE 
SCHOOL 

Bradford on 
Avon 

B 
Sand-filled 
(90 x 50 m) 

No Operational Private Use Academies   2010 No 

WARMINSTER 
PREPARATORY 
SCHOOL 

Warminster C 
Sand-filled 
(50 x 35) 

No Operational Private Use 
Other 
Independent 
School 

  2009 No 

P
age 392



Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy Needs Assessment       180 | P a g e   

 

Quality 

8.49 The quality of accessible pitches has been assessed through site audits, and the findings 
of these have been compared with and, where appropriate, modified by the views of facility 
users and managers. The site assessments also recorded the existence of changing facilities, 
and made an assessment of their quality as far as possible. In almost all cases it was not 
possible to access these facilities to make internal assessments. This is where the views of clubs 
obtained from the club questionnaire survey were especially helpful The overall ratings are as 
follows: 

Table 8.2: Summary of quality assessment of key club hockey venues 

 

Name Sub area Overall 
pitch 
quality 

Overall 
standard of 
changing 
facilities (if 
available) 

Other comments 

DEVIZES LEISURE 
CENTRE 

Devizes Good Good The Devizes club base all 
their home games and 
training here. (10 hrs per 
week (matches & training). 

 

Penalty spot loose at one 
end. 
Footballers use it with 
inappropriate footwear 
and traipse mud across it. 

WARMINSTER 
KINGDOWN 

Warminster Good Standard (low) The West Wilts club base 
around two thirds of their 
all their home games and 
training here. (10 hrs per 
week (matches & training). 

 

Littering of pitch on this 
school site. 

SALISBURY & 
SOUTH WILTS 
SPORTS CLUB 

Salisbury Good Good The Salisbury club base all 
their home games and 
training here. (17 hrs per 
week (matches & training). 

Page 393



Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy Needs Assessment       181 | P a g e   

 

Name Sub area Overall 
pitch 
quality 

Overall 
standard of 
changing 
facilities (if 
available) 

Other comments 

CHIPPENHAM 
SPORTS CLUB 

Chippenham Good Good All the Chippenham Clubs 
play their home matches 
and train at this venue 
(circa 15 hrs per week 
(matches & training). 

 

The Club has some issues 
with the size and 
configuration of the 
changing rooms. 

SPRINGFIELD 
COMMUNITY 
CAMPUS 

Corsham Good Good The resident Corsham club 
uses this venue for all its 
activity (circa 6 
hours/week) 

 

Very recent construction, 
and in very good condition. 
The recently formed 
Corsham club base all their 
home games and training 
here. (6 hrs per week 
(matches & training). 

 

The Club notes that when it 
has rented only half a pitch 
and there has been football 
on the other half, the 
netting that divides the 
pitch is inadequate for 
hockey as the holes in the 
netting are too big and the 
balls easily pass through. 

MARLBOROUGH 
COLLEGE (1) 

Marlborough Good  The Marlborough club base 
all their home games and 

Page 394



Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy Needs Assessment       182 | P a g e   

 

Name Sub area Overall 
pitch 
quality 

Overall 
standard of 
changing 
facilities (if 
available) 

Other comments 

MARLBOROUGH 
COLLEGE (2) 

Marlborough Good Standard (low) training here. (13 hrs per 
week matches & training). 

 

Pitches re-laid in the last 
two years. 

 

The club house has had 
funding to improve the 
kitchen and some of the 
changing facilities but the 
Ladies’ changing room has 
not been used for years as 
is not great. 

 

LAND WARFARE 
CENTRE 

Warminster Poor n.a. The West Wilts club base 
around one third of their 
all their home games and 
training here. (5 hrs per 
week (matches & training). 

MoD site and access not 
possible. 

However, the facility is 
reported by the club to be 
in poor condition and is in 
need of repair. 

ROYAL WOOTTON 
BASSETT 
ACADEMY 

Royal 
Wootton 
Bassett and 
Cricklade 

Standard Standard  The Royal Wootton Bassett 
club base all their home 
games and training here. 
(10 hrs per week (matches 
& training). 

Sand filled pitch, 
approximately 12 years old. 
Dangerous and slippery run 
off area at one end of the 

Page 395



Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy Needs Assessment       183 | P a g e   

 

Name Sub area Overall 
pitch 
quality 

Overall 
standard of 
changing 
facilities (if 
available) 

Other comments 

pitch. Pitch is generally in a 
good condition for its type 
and age. It is missing some 
markings, i.e. 5m markers 
around circles. 

 

8.50 In addition to the above a small amount of junior training by the West Wilts Club is run 
out of the Warminster School. Site Specific Other Usage. Melksham Oak Community School 
also hosts the Wiltshire Men’s Cup. The following sites are also used for junior training by the 
County Hockey Association: 

 Melksham Oak Community School; 

 Warminster School; 

 Salisbury and South Wilts Sports Club; and, 

 Marlborough College. 

 

Overview of Demand 

Current Participation 

8.51 As with other pitch sports, competitive hockey is organised into a league structure at a 
national and regional level, both for men and ladies. There are no clubs/teams based in 
Wiltshire that play in the national leagues, all clubs have teams in the regional leagues.  

8.52 In respect of adult teams the principal leagues are: 

 The GoCrea8 Men’s Hockey League 

 The West Clubs’ Women’s Hockey League 

 The South Hockey League (Men) 

 The Hampshire Open League (Men) 

 The Wessex Masters’ League 

8.53 In addition, there are various junior leagues, tournaments and festivals. 

8.54 The following teams are therefore recorded as being fielded by local clubs. There will 
also be very young children that are part of the club structure but cannot be recorded as being 
within codified teams. 

Page 396



Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy Needs Assessment       184 | P a g e   

 

Table 8.3: Clubs and fielded teams (* denotes estimate to reflect mixed gender teams) 

 

Name Ground Sub area Men’s 

teams 

Ladies
' 

teams 

Junior 
males' 
teams

* 

Junior 
females

’ 
teams* 

Mini 
teams
? 

Chippenham 
Hockey 
Club(s) (men 
and women) 

Chippenham 
Sports Club 

Chippenham 5 4 2 3 yes 

Corsham 
Hockey Club 

Springfield 
School 

Calne 1 3   yes 

Devizes 
Hockey Club 

Devizes 
Leisure 
Centre 

Devizes 2 2 3 3 yes 

Marlborough 
Hockey Club 

Marlboroug
h School 

Marlboroug
h 

3 3 1 2 yes 

Salisbury 
Hockey Club 

Salisbury & 
South Wilts 
Sports Club 

Salisbury 6 5 7 7 yes 

West 
Wiltshire 
Hockey Club 

Kingdown 
School, 
Warminster 

Warminster 6 3 4 4 yes 

Wootton 
Bassett 
Hockey Club 

Royal 
Wootton 
Bassett 
Academy 

Royal 
Wootton 
Bassett and 
Cricklade 

3 3 2 2 yes 

8.55 The following Map 8.1 indicates the concentrations of team numbers playing at specific 
venues, together with where known, full-size sand-based AGPs (suited to hockey matches) are 
located, and the categorisation of their availability for community use. 

8.56 The AGP at St. Mary’s School in the South West community area, is just inside the 
Wiltshire border, but is close to Shaftesbury. It is primarily for use by the school, although it is 
understood that the Gillingham Hockey Club train at the venue. It is therefore an example of 
‘imported demand’ but the pitch itself is too remote from existing clubs in Wiltshire to be of 
practical use. 

  

Page 397



Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy Needs Assessment       185 | P a g e   

 

Map 8.1: Location of hockey teams  

  

Page 398



Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy Needs Assessment       186 | P a g e   

 

8.57 Also included on the map are estimated 15-minute drivetime catchments (shown by the 
grey tone) centred on the existing club venues. It will be seen that much of the Trowbridge area 
is not covered by a catchment. 

Trends in team numbers 

8.58 The club questionnaire survey asked whether, over the last three years, clubs had 
experienced changes in the number of teams fielded, with the following results. 

  Table 8.4: Recent trends in team numbers 

Please can you tell us if, in the 
previous three years, the number of 
teams in your club has:  

    

 Increased Decreased Stayed the 
same 

Response 
Total 

Senior Men 37% 37% 26% 8 

Senior Ladies 50% 0% 50% 8 

Juniors 63% 0% 37% 8 

   answered 8 

   skipped 1 

8.59 Although each club will have experienced its own trends the overall pattern appears to 
have been that: 

 No real overall change in adult male team numbers; 

 An increase in adult female teams; and 

 A net increase in the number of juniors. 

Table 8.5: Reasons cited for growth/decline in teams 

 

Club Reasons cites for increase/decrease in 
numbers of teams 

Royal Wootton Bassett HC Growth in junior section, and older boys 
filtering into men's 3rd XI. 

Devizes HC Less adult members, no one to drive to 
matches or fill teams. 

Corsham HC New club, gaining players 

Page 399



Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy Needs Assessment       187 | P a g e   

 

Club Reasons cites for increase/decrease in 
numbers of teams 

West Wilts HC Used to field six men’s teams but it was 
becoming a huge struggle due to youngsters 
playing multiple sports, and increasing 
numbers working on Saturdays. Decision made 
to field just five teams. 

Chippenham (men and ladies) HC The formation of Corsham HC abstracted one 
team from the men’s club 

Salisbury HC Increased publicity and support enabled club 
to provide for larger numbers of children than 
previously. Ladies summer ‘back to hockey’ 
style events, and some other returning 
members has also helped. 

Marlborough HC Ladies 3rds established. U14's boys and girls 
playing in EH championship. U16 boys playing 
friendlies, U12 boys and girls playing local 
tournaments, as are U10 boys and girls. 

 

Trends in club membership based on English Hockey data 

8.60 Based on data provided by England Hockey the following provides an indication of playing 
membership for the nine England Hockey-affiliated clubs based in the Wiltshire Council area. It 
also helps to complete a picture of participation trends across the clubs.  

Chippenham Ladies’ Hockey Club 

 Participants: Senior – 61 members; Junior (U16) – 13 members 

Chippenham Men’s Hockey Club 

 Participants:  Senior – 84 members;  Junior (U16) – 15 members 

Chippenham Junior Hockey Club 

 Participants: Junior (U16) – 127 members 

Page 400



Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy Needs Assessment       188 | P a g e   

 

Corsham Hockey Club 

 Participants: Senior – 44 members;  Junior (U16) – 64 members 

Devizes  Hockey Club 

 Participants: Senior – 103 members;  Junior (U16) – 83 members 

Marlborough Hockey Club 

 Participants:  Senior – 94 members;   Junior (U16) – 310 members 

Salisbury  Hockey Club 

 Participants: Senior – 190 members;  Junior (U16) – 237 members 

West Wilts Hockey Club 

 Participants: Senior – 119 members;  Junior (U16) - 110 members 

 Royal Wootton Bassett Hockey Club 

 Participants:  Senior – 115 members:  Junior (U16) – 75 members 

8.61 England Hockey data therefore suggests an overall increase in participation (measured 
by membership) of approximately 12% for the 2015/16 season. 

Origins of membership 

8.62 The club survey indicates that the majority of players live within 5 miles of their home 
venue.  The higher the standard of hockey the greater the preparedness of better players to 
travel to clubs offering opportunities to play at a higher standard. 

Patterns of Play 

8.63 Adult competitive league matches are played during the day on Saturdays. Junior 
matches are played predominately on Sundays. Training for adults takes place in the evenings 
during mid-week, and with juniors generally at the weekend but can be evenings during the 
week. 

Access to pitches for matches and training 

8.64 The club questionnaire asked whether clubs experienced any problems with accessing 
pitches for matches and/or competition. Five clubs cited concerns in this regard, summarised 
below in Table 8.6. 

 

  

Page 401



Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy Needs Assessment       189 | P a g e   

 

Table 8.6: Problems securing access to pitches for matchplay and training 

 

Club Problems 

Devizes HC Club would like additional pitch time on a 
Sunday morning to play junior matches. Club 
feels at risk financially as new pitch owners 
have increased facility costs.  Pitch hire has 
increased by £5,000 p.a. over the last two 
years 

West Wilts HC Despite the fact that club is a partner with 
Kingdown and assisted in obtaining the 
funding for the pitch, the local football teams 
majority use of the pitch means men’s 1XI & 
2XI have only half a pitch for a proportion of 
their training. There is also no available time 
for any other teams to train at Kingdown. 

Deterioration of the quality of Warminster 
Training Centre (Army) pitch furniture poses 
safety risks which puts the Club at risk.  Lack of 
toilet/changing facilities and parking do not 
sell the Club to new players. Club need a 2nd 
pitch of a much better standard to 
accommodate numbers. 

 

Royal Wootton Bassett HC Problems with access can occur when pitch is 
being 'deep cleaned' and during school 
holidays. Have had to switch to alternative 
pitches in Swindon on these occasions. 

Goals damaged by football use.  Lack of 
clubhouse facility is a threat.  Will need 
additional pitch time to grow. 

Salisbury HC Due to differing leagues there have been 
occasions when club has had too many home 
matches for the 5 available slots on a 
Saturday. Running beyond capacity on some 
Saturdays due to number of home matches.  
Junior numbers capped on Sunday mornings. 
Club feels at risk due to having to seek 
alternative locations for both junior and senior 

Page 402



Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy Needs Assessment       190 | P a g e   

 

hockey – puts additional financial and 
logistical pressure on the club.  Using ¾ size 
pitch at Chafyn Grove School for some junior 
activity and looking at pitches in Hampshire to 
meet demand for senior matches.  

Marlborough HC Club has access to pitches for matches only on 
Saturday mornings (has to be finished on the 
pitches by 1pm) as the College use the pitches 
in the afternoons. This can cause issues when 
matches are cancelled due to weather as we 
have early start times.  

Changing Room facilities good at College and 
separate Club House changing room facilities 
being updated using grant funding.  Club not 
at risk but finds having Club House separate 
from pitch reduces money making 
opportunities. 

8.65 Table 5.18 in Section 5 (the Football section) contained a review of the estimated spare 
capacity of existing AGPs to absorb extra football activity. This table is also relevant to hockey, 
as it commented on full-size sand based AGPs. Generally speaking, it did not appear that there 
is much spare capacity at existing full-size venues to meet any significant additional needs from 
community clubs. 

Displaced demand 

8.66 There is little evidence of displaced demand experienced by clubs, in the sense that 
clubs or teams have to find facilities outside the local authority. The only minor examples are in 
respect of: 

 Salisbury HC, who occasionally use a pitch at Burgate in Hampshire;  

 Royal Wootton Bassett HC, who have to use pitches in Swindon, when their home 
venue is being deep-cleaned; and, 

 Gillingham HC (Dorset) using St Marys School (South West Wiltshire, Shaftesbury). 

Scenario Testing: The Future 

Future Picture of Provision 

8.67 The future requirement for playing pitches will be impacted by several factors, 
including: 

A. Changes to the number of people living in the area and / or to the demographic profile 

of the population; 

B. Changes in participation trends and in how pitch sports are played; 

C. Club specific development plans and aspirations; and 

Page 403



Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy Needs Assessment       191 | P a g e   

 

D. Amendments to the current facility stock either through the provision of new pitches or 

the loss of current pitches. 

8.68 These issues are considered in turn in order to build a picture of future demand for 
playing pitches. 

A Population Change 

Team Generation Rates 

8.69 Team Generation Rates (TGRs) indicate how many people in a specified age group are 
required to generate one team. TGRs are derived by dividing the appropriate population age 
band by the number of teams playing within that area in that age band. By applying TGRs to 
population projections, we can project the theoretical number of teams that would be 
generated from population growth and gain an understanding of future demand.  

8.70 Table 8.7 summarises the current TGRs for hockey in the local authority and uses them 
to assess the potential impact of projected changes to the population profile on demand for 
hockey.  

Table 8.7: TGRs and potential change to number of hockey teams in the local authority: 2015-
2026 

 

2015 AGE 
GROUPS 

2015 AGE 
GROUP 

POPULATION
S 

2015 
TEAMS 

2015 
TGRs 

2026 AGE 
GROUPS 

POPULATION
S 

2026 
TEAM

S 

CHANGE(+/
-) 

Junior hockey (11-
15 male) 

14,094 20 723 16,259 22 3 

Junior hockey (11-
15 female) 

13,889 20 694 15,834 23 3 

Senior hockey (16-
45 male) 

85,260 26 3,279 90,605 28 2 

Senior hockey (16-
45 female) 

82,704 23 3,596 83,421 23 0 

8.71 The population data on which the above calculations are predicated12 are themselves 
only based upon previous trends, and do not necessarily take into account the impact of 
planned new residential growth yet to be determined. 

Projected change in the population resulting from planned new growth 

                                                 
12 Compiled from a forecast produced on 19/03/2015 using POPGROUP software developed by Bradford Council, the University of Manchester and Andelin 
Associates 

Page 404



Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy Needs Assessment       192 | P a g e   

 

8.72 The above projects the change in team numbers arising out of natural change in the 
population up to 2026. There is also a need to consider any additional teams generated from 
localised population change resulting from planned new development. This new development 
may give rise to a significant local redistribution of the population, and conceivably in the 
spatial demand for playing pitches.  The precise housing growth allocations to be catered for in 
the emerging new development plan are currently not determined. 

B Changes in participation trends and how sport is played  

8.73 In addition to traditional 11-a-side league hockey, England Hockey are encouraging 
clubs to increase their informal hockey offering, such as small-sided-game sessions and play 
and pay sessions to engage new participants and increase participation in the sport, especially 
where lifestyle means players would not be able to commit to regular training and matches. 

8.74 England Hockey aspires to deepen the passion of those who play, deliver and follow 
sport by providing the best possible environments and the best possible experiences. Whilst 
reaching out to new audiences by making the sport more visible, available and relevant and 
through the many advocates of hockey. Underpinning all this is the infrastructure which makes 
the sport function. EH understand the importance of volunteers, coaches, officials, clubs and 
facilities. The more inspirational people can be, the more progressive Hockey can be and the 
more befitting the facilities can be, the more EH will achieve. The core objectives are as follows: 

 Grow our Participation 

 Deliver International Success 

 Increase our Visibility 

 Enhance our Infrastructure 

 Be a strong and respected Governing Body 

8.75 England Hockey has a Capital Investment Programme (CIP) that is planned to lever £5.6 
million investment into hockey facilities over the next four years, underpinned by £2m million 
from the National Governing Body. With over 500 pitches due for refurbishment in the next 4-8 
years, there will be a large focus placed on these projects through this funding stream. The 
current level of pitches available for hockey is believed to be sufficient for the medium term 
needs, however in some areas, pitches may not be in the right places in order to maximize 
playing opportunities.  

8.76 Since 2012 there has been approximately 65% increase in participation by U16s and 8% 
increase in over 16s nationally. At a local level growth in Wiltshire has been over 70% in U16s, 
which equates to an increase of over 450 junior participants. A number of clubs in Wiltshire 
have indicated they want to grow further. England Hockey’s aspiration is to double the number 
of participants in the sport over the next 10 years 

Club development plans and aspirations 

8.77 Several  clubs responding to the club survey have aspirations to grow and this will 
impact both on demand across the local authority as a whole but also more locally at a site 
specific level.   Club aspirations are set out in Table 8.8.  

Page 405



Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy Needs Assessment       193 | P a g e   

 

Table 8.8: Clubs’ aspirations to field more teams 

 

Does your club wish to run more teams?  Response Percent Response Total 

Yes 62% 5 

No 38% 3 

 answered 8 

 skipped 1 

8.78 These are bone fide statements on the clubs’ part. Where clubs stated that they would 
like to field teams in a particular category, we have provided a very indicative quantification of 
how many teams this might be. 

Table 8.9: Estimate of additional teams that responding clubs might field 

 

Adult Men’s Teams Adult Women's Teams Junior Boys’ 
Teams 

Junior Girls’ 
Teams 

5 5 3 3 

8.79 As all local clubs responded to the questionnaire survey, this can be taken as an 
aspiration-led estimate for all clubs in Wiltshire. Responding clubs were asked to identify 
reasons stopping them from achieving the above aspiration-led growth, with the following 
results. 

Page 406



Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy Needs Assessment       194 | P a g e   

 

Figure 8.1: Obstacles given by clubs as stopping them fielding more teams. 

 

8.80 When adding a bone fide estimate of the extra teams that might be generated if 
responding clubs could achieve aspirations, to additional teams arising from projected 
population growth (2026), the total increased future demand will be: 

Table 8.10: Summary of potential overall growth in team numbers 

Extra teams from population 
growth 

Extra teams for aspirational growth Extra matches 
(A+B) 

Adult 2 Adult 10 12 

Junior 6 Junior 8 14 

 

8.81 The aspiration-led estimates therefore greatly outstrip the demographic-led 
projections. 

8.82 The population projections underpinning Table 8.7 are trend-based, and will therefore 
take into account previous housebuilding rates within the local authority. However, future 
development plan allocations will need to be confirmed, and the estimates in Table 8.7 should 
be amended when new population data are available.   

 

  

Page 407



Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy Needs Assessment       195 | P a g e   

 

Discussion 

8.83 The aspiration-led estimates would, if realised, be sufficient to justify at least one 
additional full-size AGP for hockey. This additional demand will be spread over all the clubs in 
Wiltshire, and therefore a very large geographical area. 

8.84 However, if a plan was executed to develop more 3G AGPs for football (such as outlined 
in Section 5) then this might attract some of the usage by football away from facilities used by 
hockey, and onto surfaces that would be better suited to football.  

8.85 Earlier in this section it was noted that the Trowbridge, Melksham and Bradford areas 
are not directly served by a hockey club, and most of this area falls outside a 15-minute drive 
catchment to the nearest clubs. This area has a significant population, and may therefore have 
the potential to support its own hockey club. There are existing full-size floodlit AGPs on school 
sites within the area, and these may have the potential to support a club: especially if local 
football training and small-sided competitions could be attracted towards new 3G AGP 
provision in the area. 

Key issues for the Strategy to address 

8.86 The protection and improvement of existing venues for hockey clubs, unless acceptable 
alternative venues exist. 

8.87 The protection of floodlit school-based hockey venues, in particular. 

8.88 Explore the potential for establishing a new club in the Trowbridge area- perhaps as 
part of a wider hub-sport venue. 

8.89 The potential coordination of a 3G AGP programme (as outlined in Section 5) with a 
programme for the greater use of some school based venues for hockey matchplay and 
training. 

8.90 Improved access to facilities for clubs in south and south west Wiltshire, in particular. 

8.91 Floodlighting should be considered as integral to all recognized hockey venues. 

 

 

Page 408



Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy Needs Assessment       196 | P a g e   

 

Appendix 1: Methodology – additional notes 

The needs assessment work has been produced in line with the National Planning Policy 
Guidance (NPPF), which requires that (Paragraph 73, page 18): 

‘………planning policies are based upon robust and up-to-date assessments of needs for open 
space, sport and recreation facilities and opportunities for new provision. 

This assessment and strategies have therefore been produced in line with guidance by Sport 
England (Assessing Needs and Opportunities Guide for Indoor and Outdoor Sports Facilities; 
January 2014) and ‘Playing Pitch Guidance, An approach to Developing and Delivering a Playing 
Pitch Strategy (Sport England 2013). 

Assessing Needs and Opportunities Guide - ANOG 

Assessing Needs and Opportunities 
Guide (ANOG) has been developed 
by Sport England and sets out an 
approach to undertaking needs 
assessment for sport and 
recreation facilities, in order to be 
compliant with the NPPF. The 
approach adopted for this work has 
utilized the process set out in the 
ANOG guide, as illustrated in the 
diagram. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

While set out as separate methodologies, in reality, many of the tasks have been undertaken as 
a coordinated and linked approach due to the cross-overs and interrelationships between the 
methodologies. For both methodologies, the first element of work seeks to tailor the approach 
to local need. 

 

 

 

Page 409



Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy Needs Assessment       197 | P a g e   

 

Playing Pitch Guidance – An Approach to Delivering a Playing Pitch Strategy 

The ten stages are illustrated in following figure and it is this approach that has been followed 
for the analysis of pitch sports. 

Developing and delivering a Playing Pitch Strategy – The 10 Step Approach 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

1. Prepare & tailor the 

approach 

2. Gather supply 

information and 

views 

4. Understand the 

situation at individual 

sites 

3. Gather demand 

information and 

views 

10. Keep the strategy 

robust & up to date 

6. Identify the key 

findings & issues 

9. Apply & 

deliver the 

strategy 

Developing and Delivering 

a Playing Pitch Strategy 

The 10 Step Approach 
8. Write & adopt 

the strategy 

7. Develop the 

recommendations & 

action plan 

5. Develop the current 

& future pictures of 

provision 

Page 410



Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy Needs Assessment       198 | P a g e   

 

 Appendix 2: Explanation of Sport England Active People and Market 
Segmentation analyses 

Carried out on behalf of Sport England by the leading social research company TNS BMRB, the 
Active People Survey (APS) measures the number of adults taking part in sport across England. 
Providing the most comprehensive and authoritative picture of sports participation in England, 
APS is central to Sport England’s measurement of its own strategy and the performance of key 
partners.  

Key features of APS 

 APS is the largest survey of its kind ever undertaken – 165,000 adults (age 14 and over) 
are interviewed each year 

 The size of the survey means results can be published for a large number of different 
sporting activities and for every local authority area in England 

 Time series data stretches back to the first wave of the survey in 2005/6 

 A high quality, random sampling, survey design ensures results are representative of the 
population 

High quality survey design including: 

 Randomly sampled landline telephone interviews with adults aged 16 and over – 
extended to age 14 and over in July 2012 

 Calls are made throughout the year and at different times across each day 

 500 interviews per local authority (district and single tier) each year 

The sequence of surveys has now reached Active People year eight (AP8). The APS results are 
not always available at the local authority level due to the inadequate size of data samples in 
some situations. 

Market Segmentation 

Sport England’s market segmentation has been designed to help understand the life stages and 
attitudes of different population groups –and the sporting interventions most likely to engage 
them. 

The market segmentation data builds on the results of Sport England’s Active People survey; 
the Department of Culture, Media and Sport's Taking Part survey; and the Mosaic tool from 
Experian. It presents a picture of 19 dominant social groups in each area, and puts people’s 
sporting behaviour in the context of complex lives. Propensity modelling – a statistical 
technique that matches the probability of displaying a particular behaviour or attitude to each 
demographic category – was used to link the survey data to wider population groups. 

This created a tool with two key elements: 

 a Sport England segment for every adult in England 

 the ability to count market segment profiles for any region or community, down to 
postcode level. 

Page 411

https://www.gov.uk/government/organisations/department-for-culture-media-sport/series/taking-part
http://www.experian.co.uk/business-strategies/mosaic-uk.html
http://www.experian.co.uk/business-strategies/mosaic-uk.html


Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy Needs Assessment       199 | P a g e   

 

The 19 dominant social groups are summarised in the link: 
http://segments.sportengland.org/querySegments.aspx            

 

 

 

 

Page 412



Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy Needs Assessment       200 | P a g e   

 

Appendix 3: All data spreadsheet (separate) 

 

 

Page 413



Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy Needs Assessment       201 | P a g e   

 

Appendix 4: Explanation of Calculations for Match Equivalents and 
Match Capacity  

Introduction and Overview 

Comparing whether a grass football or rugby pitch is being over, or under-used relative to its 
‘carrying capacity’ is critical to assessing pitch quality and supply. As a simple overview, the 
following factors have been taken into account. 

Match Capacity: 

 The assessed quality of pitch- measured in terms of an estimate of the number of 
games (or comparable activity, like training) that can be played on it every week 
without undue wear and tear 

 Where the pitch is located, and whether this will impact on the number of 
community team games that it might be able to accommodate each week without 
undue wear and tear. 

Match Equivalents: 

 The number of games played on a given pitch and by whom on a regular basis 

 The amount of training and associated activity taking place on a pitch on a regular 
basis. 

Comparison: 

 Comparing the above to establish whether a pitch is being over or under-played. As 
appropriate (for multi-pitch sites) the scores for each pitch can be added together to 
provide an aggregate comparison for the site. 

In More Detail 

In more detail the following must be taken into account. 

Match Capacity 

In order to come to an informed judgment on this the following have to be taken into account: 

 The type of grass pitch(es) under consideration- is it an adult pitch;  junior/youth 
pitch; or, a mini-soccer pitch? 

 The assessed pitch(es) quality- Good, Adequate, Poor. This will affect the number of 
matches that can be absorbed each week without undue wear and tear. 

Both the Football Association (FA) and the Rugby Football Union (RFU) have provided guidance 
in this regard. For football the FA have stated that “the following guidance on the number of 
match equivalent sessions a week that a natural grass pitch is likely to be able to regularly 
accommodate, based on an agreed quality rating, without adversely affecting its current 
quality”:  (The guidance from the RFU is explained towards the end of this Appendix).

Page 414



Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy Needs Assessment       202 | P a g e   

 

 

Agreed pitch quality 
rating 

Adult Football Youth Football Mini Soccer 

Number of match equivalent sessions a week 

Good 3 4 6 

Standard 2 2 4 

Poor 1 1 2 

  

(n.b. Matches have different time-lengths, depending on the age-group concerned. In the 
model used to estimate capacity and usage for this study it is possible to incorporate this 
time dimension. However, for this study the values for match hours have been switched 
off/neutralized).  

The number of community team games that a pitch can absorb will also be influenced by 
such factors as whether it is located in a public park or on a school site. For example, a pitch 
on a school site might, technically, be of good quality. However, if that pitch is also used by 
the school for its own activity, the number of games that it can absorb from ‘external’ 
community use will be reduced. Where situations like this have arisen on school sites, they 
have been taken into account- in most cases this has involved factoring in 1 x school game 
each week (thereby reducing the actual capacity to absorb community teams games by 1 
match per week). A worked example illustrates this situation later in this Appendix.  

Where local information exists to allow for a more precise allowance to be made in this 
regard, it has been taken into account and referenced in the site-overviews contained in 
Section 4. 

Match Capacity is therefore calculated by: 

a) Identifying the number of match equivalent sessions that can be absorbed each 
week by a pitch of a given type and quality (see table); 

b) Discounting the figure resulting from a) as appropriate to reflect factors (such as 
school use of pitches) that will add to the wear and tear, and reduce the capacity 
for community team matches; and 

c) As appropriate aggregating figures from b) for multi-pitch sites to produce a 
figure for the site as a whole. (On the larger sites this could produce three figures 
for adult, junior/youth, and mini-soccer pitches). 

Match Equivalents 

Generally speaking it is easy to estimate the number of actual matches played on a given 
pitch/site. The number of teams who use a given pitch/site on a regular basis is usually 
known. Assuming each team plays at home every other week allows the number of matches 
to be estimated.  

Page 415



Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy Needs Assessment       203 | P a g e   

 

However, to estimate Match Equivalents requires the calculations to take into account 
training activity for which grass pitches might be used. To start with, a good level of 
knowledge about the training patterns and venues of local teams is required. Many teams, 
in fact, will not use their grass pitch for training- some will use AGPs, and others may use 
marginal land off the playing pitch surface(s). Where alternative venues/surfaces are used, 
the impact of training is excluded from the calculations. There will also be some teams that 
do not train at all. 

However, where teams are known to use a grass pitch for training, or where there is a good 
likelihood of this being the case in the absence of hard evidence, some informed 
assumptions need to be made about; the size of training squads; and, the regularity of 
training sessions. The relevant assumptions made are as follows: 

 For teams that are known (or likely) to train, the adult and junior/youth training 
squads equate to 1 team. However, in the darker months and unless pitches are 
floodlit teams will not be able to train during weekday evenings, and so will 
either train off-site, or not at all. For this reason the above factor been reduced 
to 0.75 to reflect this pattern 

 For mini-soccer teams training squads are the same size as the match day teams 

 Each squad trains once a week. 

Match Equivalents are therefore calculated by: 

a) Multiplying the number of teams of the relevant age group by a factor that 
represents ‘home and away’ play (usually a factor of 0.5) 

b) Multiplying the number of training squads of the relevant age-group by the 
training squad size; 

c) Adding the resultant figure from a) to that from b) 

d) As appropriate aggregating figures from c) for multi-pitch sites to produce a 
figure for the site as a whole. (On the larger sites this could produce three figures 
for adult, junior/youth, and mini-soccer pitches). 

Over-Marked Pitches 

One of the pitfalls in applying this method is that not all grass pitch surfaces are dedicated 
for use by a given age-group. The most obvious examples are where mini-soccer and junior 
youth teams play their matches and/or train on pitches set-out for adult play, but may also 
be temporarily over-marked for use by younger age groups- this is where modelling a 
situation without the injection of some commonsense interpretation becomes dangerous. 
The current Sport England Playing Pitch Strategy Guidance does offer some suggestions as 
to how such situations should be addressed in calculating the amount of use relative to 
capacity. However, it has been extremely difficult, at best, to apply these suggested 
approaches- and incredibly time-consuming.  

The issue arises because, clearly, teams and squads from different age-groups will not 
impact upon the playing surface to the same extent. For example, a mini-soccer team using 
an over marked adult pitch for its own matches and training would not exert anywhere near 
the same amount of wear and tear as an adult team undertaking comparable activity. If the 
time and resources were available it would be possible to aggregate up the cumulative wear 

Page 416



Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy Needs Assessment       204 | P a g e   

 

and tear on a pitch caused by use by teams/squads of varying ages. However, resources and 
time are not infinite and, in any event, the marking out and use of pitches for the younger 
age-groups can be very transitional, such as to make such an exercise often ‘out-of-date’ 
before it has been completed. 

Within the GIS modelling that has been used to underpin this particular study, it has been 
possible to introduce ‘loading’ factors to reflect the above situations, and this perhaps is 
worth reviewing and modifying if the model continues to be run and updated. Currently, a 
factor of 0.25 is added to mini-soccer teams. For example, if there are 4 mini-soccer teams 
using the site, this results in 4 x 0.25 = 1 adult equivalent team. This allows for the wear and 
tear wrought by mini-soccer teams to be kept in proportion relative to older, larger, and 
heavier teams. A similar loading factor of 0.25 could be used for training squads (although 
note the comments below). 

Within the GIS modelling there are fields that can be used to reflect the numbers and sizes 
of mini-soccer training squads (as with adult and youth/junior squads). However, local 
evidence indicates that the very large majority of mini-soccer teams train on AGPs or sports 
halls, and not on their match pitches. Therefore these fields have not been used for this 
project. 

Ultimately, the best approach is the use common sense in viewing the calculations by 
relating to what is observed and recorded on the ground. If, for example, mini-soccer 
activity is outstripping notional pitch capacity, but if there are no mini-soccer pitches 
recorded on site it will generally be because the teams are playing on a non-dedicated 
playing surface 

Worked Example A 

A Multi-Pitch Site in Local Authority Control 

The site contains 3 x adult and 2 x junior/youth pitches deemed to be in standard condition. 

The site is the home of 8 x adult and 4 x junior/youth teams. 6 of the adult teams play on 
Saturday PM and 2 on Sunday AM. The 4 junior youth teams play all play on Saturday AM. 4 
of the adult teams train on their home pitch, as do all of the 4 junior teams. 

Match Capacity is therefore calculated as follows: 

a) Identifying the number of match equivalent sessions that can be absorbed each 
week by a pitch: in this case 2 per adult pitch and 2 per junior pitch (FA guidance) 

b) As the pitches are not on a school site there is no need to discount education 
use. Although the site is a public recreation ground, other activity tends to be 
just local dog walkers, and children using a playground, so nothing that would 
materially impact upon the quality of the surface (other than possible dog-
fouling) 

c) Multiply the pitches by the match equivalent sessions: in this case for adults 3 x 2 
= 6; and, junior/youths 2 x 2 = 4 

d) The Match Capacity for the site is therefore 6 matches for adult football, and 4 
matches for junior football. 

Match Equivalents are therefore calculated as follows: 

Page 417



Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy Needs Assessment       205 | P a g e   

 

a) Multiplying the number of teams of the relevant age-group by a factor that 
represents ‘home and away’ play (usually a factor of 0.5): in this case 8 adult 
teams x 0.5 = 4; and 4 junior teams x 0.5 = 2 

b) Multiplying the number of training squads of the relevant age-group by the 
training squad size: in this case it is known that the two adult Sunday teams don’t 
train; and two adult Saturday teams train on an AGP elsewhere. All four 
junior/youth teams train on their home pitch, on-site: so, in this case 2 adult 
squads x 0.75 = 1.5; and 4 junior/youth squads x 0.75 = 3 

c) Adding the resultant figures from a) to those from b): in this case for adults 4 + 
1.5 = 5.5; and, for juniors/youths 2 + 3 = 5 

d) The Match Equivalents for the site are therefore 5.5 for adults; and, for 5 for 
juniors youths. 

Overall calculation of site capacity v use 

Adult Junior/Youth 

Site match capacity:          6 Site match capacity:       4 

Site match equivalents:    5.5 Site match equivalents:    5 

From the above, it can be seen that the adult pitches are being used just below their 
notional capacity, and the junior/youth pitches are being over-used. 

Worked Example B 

A Multi-Pitch Site on a School Site 

The above scenario of pitches and teams is repeated, but transposed onto a school site. The 
school has a policy of allowing its pitches to be used by community teams at the weekend. 
However, the pitches are also used by school teams during the week, and this impacts upon 
their quality, and their notional capacity for community use. Under b) of the calculation of 
match hours capacity under Example B must take into account school activity. The notional 
capacity of the pitches to accommodate community games therefore drops from 2 games to 
1 game per adult and junior/youth pitch. 

If everything else remained the same above would have the effect of halving the capacity of 
pitches for community use. As below. 

Use by Rugby 

The above approaches have been used in a near identical way for rugby, in assessing 
notional pitch capacity and comparing it with estimated usage. The only differences are in 
relation to: 

 The match equivalent estimates recommended by the RFU and presented in the 
below table;  

 For training the RFU have advised that 2 teams training each on half a pitch every 
week should equate to 1 match equivalent/week; and, 

Page 418



Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy Needs Assessment       206 | P a g e   

 

 The inclusion of mini-rugby squads and sizes in the calculations, given that most 
clubs’ mini-teams train on-site. The ‘loading factors’ are the same used for mini-
soccer (i.e. 0.25). 

 

 

  Maintenance 

 

 

 
Poor (M0) Standard (M1) Good (M2) 

D
ra

in
ag

e
 

Natural Inadequate 
(D0) 

0.5 1.5 2 

Natural Adequate 
(D1) 

1.5 2 3 

Pipe Drained (D2) 1.75 2.5 3.25 

Pipe and Slit 
Drained (D3) 

2 3 3.5 

 

 

  

Page 419



Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy Needs Assessment       207 | P a g e   

 

 

Appendix 5: Community area data 
AMESBURY 

2015 population 2026 population Population change (2015-2026) 

34,292 40,593 6,301 

 

2015 AGE GROUPS  2015 
TEAMS 

2015 TGRs 2026 AGE 
GROUPS 

2026 
TEAMS 

CHANGE(+/-
) 

Mini-soccer (6-9 mixed 
gender) 

2,611 8 326 2,519 7.7 -0.3  

Junior football (10-15 male) 2,253 14 161 2,268 14.1 0.1  

Junior football (10-15 female) 1,654 0 ----- 1,730 ----- ----- 

Senior football (16-45 male) 8,489 12 707 8,728 12.3 0.3  

Senior football (16-45 female) 7,384 0 ----- 7,914 ----- ----- 

       

Mini-rugby (7-12 mixed 
gender) 

3,824 0 ----- 3,761 ----- ----- 

Junior rugby (13-18 male) 2,127 0 ----- 2,341 ----- ----- 

Junior rugby (13-18 female) 1,450 0 ----- 1,650 ----- ----- 

Senior rugby (19-45 male) 7,601 1 7,601 7,654 1.0 0.0  

Senior rugby (19-45 female) 6,719 0 ----- 7,116 ----- ----- 

       

Junior cricket (7-17 male) 3,503 9 389 3,608 9.3 0.3  

Junior cricket (7-17 female) 3,042 0 ----- 3,163 ----- ----- 

Senior cricket (18-55 male) 9,601 16 600 9,882 16.5 0.5  

Senior cricket (18-55 female) 9,012 0 ----- 9,880 ----- ----- 

       

Junior hockey (11-15 male) 1,565 0 ----- 1,596 ----- ----- 

Junior hockey (11-15 female) 1,355 0 ----- 1,435 ----- ----- 

Senior hockey (16-45 male) 8,489 0 ----- 8,728 ----- ----- 

Senior hockey (16-45 female) 7,384 0 ----- 7,914 ----- ----- 

 

 

Page 420



Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy Needs Assessment       208 | P a g e   

 

 

BRADFORD ON AVON 

2015 population 2026 population Population change (2015-2026) 

18,293 19,000 707 

 

2015 AGE GROUPS  2015 
TEAMS 

2015 TGRs 2026 AGE GROUPS 2026 TEAMS CHANGE(+/-) 

Mini-soccer (6-9 mixed gender) 911 18 51 821 16.2 -1.8  

Junior football (10-15 male) 722 31 23 737 31.6 0.6  

Junior football (10-15 female) 597 0 ----- 685 ----- ----- 

Senior football (16-45 male) 2,655 11 241 2,599 10.8 -0.2  

Senior football (16-45 female) 2,710 0 ----- 2,562 ----- ----- 

       

Mini-rugby (7-12 mixed gender) 1,282 6 214 1,275 6.0 -0.0  

Junior rugby (13-18 male) 711 6 119 732 6.2 0.2  

Junior rugby (13-18 female) 559 2 280 688 2.5 0.5  

Senior rugby (19-45 male) 2,348 3 783 2,294 2.9 -0.1  

Senior rugby (19-45 female) 2,446 0 ----- 2,221 ----- ----- 

       

Junior cricket (7-17 male) 1,154 10 115 1,148 9.9 -0.1  

Junior cricket (7-17 female) 1,105 0 ----- 1,245 ----- ----- 

Senior cricket (18-55 male) 3,742 9 416 3,666 8.8 -0.2  

Senior cricket (18-55 female) 3,908 0 ----- 3,577 ----- ----- 

       

Junior hockey (11-15 male) 497 0 ----- 531 ----- ----- 

Junior hockey (11-15 female) 509 0 ----- 574 ----- ----- 

Senior hockey (16-45 male) 2,655 0 ----- 2,599 ----- ----- 

Senior hockey (16-45 female) 2,710 0 ----- 2,562 ----- ----- 

 

 

  

Page 421



Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy Needs Assessment       209 | P a g e   

 

CALNE 

 

2015 population 2026 population Population change (2015-2026) 

23,760 25,294 1,534 

 

2015 AGE GROUPS  2015 
TEAMS 

2015 
TGRs 

2026 AGE GROUPS 2026 
TEAMS 

CHANGE(+/
-) 

Mini-soccer (6-9 mixed gender) 1,234 38 32 1,103 33.9 -4.1  

Junior football (10-15 male) 1,112 69 16 987 61.2 -7.8  

Junior football (10-15 female) 956 3 319 1,068 3.4 0.4  

Senior football (16-45 male) 3,844 40 96 3,674 38.2 -1.8  

Senior football (16-45 female) 4,221 2 2,110 4,106 1.9 -0.1  

       

Mini-rugby (7-12 mixed gender) 1,893 0 ----- 1,734 ----- ----- 

Junior rugby (13-18 male) 1,027 0 ----- 951 ----- ----- 

Junior rugby (13-18 female) 1,060 0 ----- 1,172 ----- ----- 

Senior rugby (19-45 male) 3,424 1 3,424 3,301 1.0 -0.0  

Senior rugby (19-45 female) 3,650 0 ----- 3,513 ----- ----- 

       

Junior cricket (7-17 male) 1,681 7 240 1,515 6.3 -0.7  

Junior cricket (7-17 female) 1,815 5 363 1,900 5.2 0.2  

Senior cricket (18-55 male) 5,465 11 497 4,858 9.8 -1.2  

Senior cricket (18-55 female) 5,779 1 5,779 5,342 0.9 -0.1  

       

Junior hockey (11-15 male) 776 0 ----- 716 ----- ----- 

Junior hockey (11-15 female) 798 0 ----- 915 ----- ----- 

Senior hockey (16-45 male) 3,844 0 ----- 3,674 ----- ----- 

Senior hockey (16-45 female) 4,221 0 ----- 4,106 ----- ----- 

 

 

 

 

  

Page 422



Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy Needs Assessment       210 | P a g e   

 

CHIPPENHAM 

2015 population 2026 population Population change (2015-2026) 

45,761 46,787 1,026 

 

2015 AGE GROUPS  2015 
TEAMS 

2015 
TGRs 

2026 AGE GROUPS 2026 
TEAMS 

CHANGE(+/-
) 

Mini-soccer (6-9 mixed gender) 2,213 7 316 1,900 6.0 -1.0  

Junior football (10-15 male) 1,997 10 200 1,799 9.0 -1.0  

Junior football (10-15 female) 1,731 0 ----- 1,419 ----- ----- 

Senior football (16-45 male) 8,492 19 447 8,345 18.7 -0.3  

Senior football (16-45 female) 8,232 0 ----- 7,376 ----- ----- 

       

Mini-rugby (7-12 mixed gender) 3,360 6 560 2,880 5.1 -0.9  

Junior rugby (13-18 male) 1,976 8 247 1,802 7.3 -0.7  

Junior rugby (13-18 female) 1,742 0 ----- 1,402 ----- ----- 

Senior rugby (19-45 male) 7,607 5 1,521 7,589 5.0 -0.0  

Senior rugby (19-45 female) 7,375 0 ----- 6,696 ----- ----- 

       

Junior cricket (7-17 male) 3,129 11 284 2,822 9.9 -1.1  

Junior cricket (7-17 female) 3,085 4 771 2,567 3.3 -0.7  

Senior cricket (18-55 male) 11,700 18 650 10,652 16.4 -1.6  

Senior cricket (18-55 female) 11,470 1 11,470 9,897 0.9 -0.1  

       

Junior hockey (11-15 male) 1,400 2 700 1,298 1.9 -0.1  

Junior hockey (11-15 female) 1,465 3 488 1,190 2.4 -0.6  

Senior hockey (16-45 male) 8,492 5 1,698 8,345 4.9 -0.1  

Senior hockey (16-45 female) 8,232 4 2,058 7,376 3.6 -0.4  

 

 

  

Page 423



Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy Needs Assessment       211 | P a g e   

 

CORSHAM 

2015 population 2026 population Population change (2015-2026) 

21,103 21,964 861 

 

2015 AGE GROUPS  2015 
TEAMS 

2015 TGRs 2026 AGE GROUPS 2026 TEAMS CHANGE(+/-) 

Mini-soccer (6-9 mixed gender) 1,127 14 81 1,080 13.4 -0.6  

Junior football (10-15 male) 908 10 91 1,007 11.1 1.1  

Junior football (10-15 female) 669 0 ----- 830 ----- ----- 

Senior football (16-45 male) 3,738 13 288 3,583 12.5 -0.5  

Senior football (16-45 female) 3,619 0 ----- 3,401 ----- ----- 

       

Mini-rugby (7-12 mixed gender) 1,611 12 134 1,646 12.3 0.3  

Junior rugby (13-18 male) 902 3 301 1,034 3.4 0.4  

Junior rugby (13-18 female) 663 0 ----- 811 ----- ----- 

Senior rugby (19-45 male) 3,324 4 831 3,139 3.8 -0.2  

Senior rugby (19-45 female) 3,270 0 ----- 3,010 ----- ----- 

       

Junior cricket (7-17 male) 1,489 4 372 1,567 4.2 0.2  

Junior cricket (7-17 female) 1,301 4 325 1,506 4.6 0.6  

Senior cricket (18-55 male) 4,898 9 544 4,502 8.3 -0.7  

Senior cricket (18-55 female) 4,956 0 ----- 4,634 ----- ----- 

       

Junior hockey (11-15 male) 628 0 ----- 731 ----- ----- 

Junior hockey (11-15 female) 544 0 ----- 694 ----- ----- 

Senior hockey (16-45 male) 3,738 1 3,738 3,583 1.0 -0.0  

Senior hockey (16-45 female) 3,619 3 1,206 3,401 2.8 -0.2  

 

 

 

 

 

  

Page 424



Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy Needs Assessment       212 | P a g e   

 

DEVIZES 

 

2015 population 2026 population Population change (2015-2026) 

33,743 38,325 4,582 

 

2015 AGE GROUPS  2015 
TEAMS 

2015 TGRs 2026 AGE GROUPS 2026 TEAMS CHANGE(+/-) 

Mini-soccer (6-9 mixed gender) 1,515 18 84 1,638 19.5 1.5  

Junior football (10-15 male) 1,357 18 75 1,594 21.1 3.1  

Junior football (10-15 female) 1,178 0 ----- 1,405 ----- ----- 

Senior football (16-45 male) 5,531 13 425 5,799 13.6 0.6  

Senior football (16-45 female) 5,487 1 5,487 5,841 1.1 0.1  

       

Mini-rugby (7-12 mixed gender) 2,282 5 456 2,566 5.6 0.6  

Junior rugby (13-18 male) 1,438 5 288 1,608 5.6 0.6  

Junior rugby (13-18 female) 1,233 1 1,233 1,431 1.2 0.2  

Senior rugby (19-45 male) 4,899 4 1,225 5,149 4.2 0.2  

Senior rugby (19-45 female) 4,879 1 4,879 5,144 1.1 0.1  

       

Junior cricket (7-17 male) 2,135 21 102 2,466 24.3 3.3  

Junior cricket (7-17 female) 2,198 1 2,198 2,518 1.1 0.1  

Senior cricket (18-55 male) 7,831 21 373 7,620 20.4 -0.6  

Senior cricket (18-55 female) 7,711 2 3,856 7,781 2.0 0.0  

       

Junior hockey (11-15 male) 993 3 331 1,184 3.6 0.6  

Junior hockey (11-15 female) 993 3 331 1,193 3.6 0.6  

Senior hockey (16-45 male) 5,531 2 2,765 5,799 2.1 0.1  

Senior hockey (16-45 female) 5,487 2 2,743 5,841 2.1 0.1  

 

 

 

  

Page 425



Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy Needs Assessment       213 | P a g e   

 

MALMESBURY 

 

2015 population 2026 population Population change (2015-2026) 

20,104 22,330 2,226 

 

2015 AGE GROUPS  2015 
TEAMS 

2015 TGRs 2026 AGE GROUPS 2026 TEAMS CHANGE(+/-) 

Mini-soccer (6-9 mixed gender) 1,016 12 85 1,020 12.0 0.0  

Junior football (10-15 male) 898 13 69 933 13.5 0.5  

Junior football (10-15 female) 722 2 361 730 2.0 0.0  

Senior football (16-45 male) 3,045 13 234 3,255 13.9 0.9  

Senior football (16-45 female) 3,126 0 ----- 3,268 ----- ----- 

       

Mini-rugby (7-12 mixed gender) 1,527 6 254 1,534 6.0 0.0  

Junior rugby (13-18 male) 855 5 171 923 5.4 0.4  

Junior rugby (13-18 female) 670 0 ----- 692 ----- ----- 

Senior rugby (19-45 male) 2,715 3 905 2,877 3.2 0.2  

Senior rugby (19-45 female) 2,816 0 ----- 2,928 ----- ----- 

       

Junior cricket (7-17 male) 1,403 5 281 1,448 5.2 0.2  

Junior cricket (7-17 female) 1,291 1 1,291 1,352 1.0 0.0  

Senior cricket (18-55 male) 4,431 11 403 4,421 11.0 -0.0  

Senior cricket (18-55 female) 4,623 0 ----- 4,657 ----- ----- 

       

Junior hockey (11-15 male) 656 0 ----- 675 ----- ----- 

Junior hockey (11-15 female) 607 0 ----- 603 ----- ----- 

Senior hockey (16-45 male) 3,045 0 ----- 3,255 ----- ----- 

Senior hockey (16-45 female) 3,126 0 ----- 3,268 ----- ----- 

 

 

 

  

Page 426



Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy Needs Assessment       214 | P a g e   

 

MARLBOROUGH 

 

2015 population 2026 population Population change (2015-2026) 

18,142 18,305 163 

 

2015 AGE GROUPS  2015 
TEAMS 

2015 TGRs 2026 AGE GROUPS 2026 TEAMS CHANGE(+/-) 

Mini-soccer (6-9 mixed gender) 848 16 53 784 14.8 -1.2  

Junior football (10-15 male) 855 17 50 940 18.7 1.7  

Junior football (10-15 female) 683 3 228 772 3.4 0.4  

Senior football (16-45 male) 2,694 7 385 2,038 5.3 -1.7  

Senior football (16-45 female) 2,788 1 2,788 2,473 0.9 -0.1  

       

Mini-rugby (7-12 mixed gender) 1,204 7 172 1,184 6.9 -0.1  

Junior rugby (13-18 male) 1,030 6 172 1,089 6.3 0.3  

Junior rugby (13-18 female) 801 0 ----- 941 ----- ----- 

Senior rugby (19-45 male) 2,236 3 745 1,597 2.1 -0.9  

Senior rugby (19-45 female) 2,369 0 ----- 1,999 ----- ----- 

       

Junior cricket (7-17 male) 1,453 6 242 1,523 6.3 0.3  

Junior cricket (7-17 female) 1,370 0 ----- 1,455 ----- ----- 

Senior cricket (18-55 male) 3,703 12 309 2,752 8.9 -3.1  

Senior cricket (18-55 female) 3,972 0 ----- 3,353 ----- ----- 

       

Junior hockey (11-15 male) 655 1 655 741 1.1 0.1  

Junior hockey (11-15 female) 577 1 577 669 1.2 0.2  

Senior hockey (16-45 male) 2,694 3 898 2,038 2.3 -0.7  

Senior hockey (16-45 female) 2,788 3 929 2,473 2.7 -0.3  

 

  

Page 427



Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy Needs Assessment       215 | P a g e   

 

MELKSHAM 

 

2015 population 2026 population Population change (2015-2026) 

29,288 31,538 2,250 

 

2015 AGE GROUPS  2015 
TEAMS 

2015 TGRs 2026 AGE GROUPS 2026 TEAMS CHANGE(+/-) 

Mini-soccer (6-9 mixed gender) 1,353 27 50 1,451 29.0 2.0  

Junior football (10-15 male) 1,243 19 65 1,315 20.1 1.1  

Junior football (10-15 female) 1,020 3 340 1,164 3.4 0.4  

Senior football (16-45 male) 4,640 27 172 4,730 27.5 0.5  

Senior football (16-45 female) 4,926 4 1,231 4,894 4.0 -0.0  

       

Mini-rugby (7-12 mixed gender) 2,031 8 254 2,209 8.7 0.7  

Junior rugby (13-18 male) 1,257 5 251 1,272 5.1 0.1  

Junior rugby (13-18 female) 1,038 3 346 1,159 3.3 0.3  

Senior rugby (19-45 male) 4,098 4 1,025 4,215 4.1 0.1  

Senior rugby (19-45 female) 4,407 0 ----- 4,340 ----- ----- 

       

Junior cricket (7-17 male) 1,961 2 981 2,036 2.1 0.1  

Junior cricket (7-17 female) 1,829 0 ----- 2,094 ----- ----- 

Senior cricket (18-55 male) 6,520 8 815 6,155 7.6 -0.4  

Senior cricket (18-55 female) 6,796 0 ----- 6,488 ----- ----- 

       

Junior hockey (11-15 male) 903 0 ----- 944 ----- ----- 

Junior hockey (11-15 female) 849 0 ----- 982 ----- ----- 

Senior hockey (16-45 male) 4,640 0 ----- 4,730 ----- ----- 

Senior hockey (16-45 female) 4,926 0 ----- 4,894 ----- ----- 

 

 

  

Page 428



Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy Needs Assessment       216 | P a g e   

 

PEWSEY 

 

2015 population 2026 population Population change (2015-2026) 

14,286 15,485 1,199 

 

2015 AGE GROUPS  2015 
TEAMS 

2015 TGRs 2026 AGE GROUPS 2026 TEAMS CHANGE(+/-) 

Mini-soccer (6-9 mixed gender) 738 3 246 748 3.0 0.0  

Junior football (10-15 male) 604 6 101 661 6.6 0.6  

Junior football (10-15 female) 503 0 ----- 539 ----- ----- 

Senior football (16-45 male) 1,984 6 331 2,121 6.4 0.4  

Senior football (16-45 female) 2,159 0 ----- 2,294 ----- ----- 

       

Mini-rugby (7-12 mixed gender) 1,110 5 222 1,124 5.1 0.1  

Junior rugby (13-18 male) 530 0 ----- 653 ----- ----- 

Junior rugby (13-18 female) 449 1 449 495 1.1 0.1  

Senior rugby (19-45 male) 1,762 2 881 1,842 2.1 0.1  

Senior rugby (19-45 female) 1,942 0 ----- 2,063 ----- ----- 

       

Junior cricket (7-17 male) 968 6 161 1,037 6.4 0.4  

Junior cricket (7-17 female) 921 0 ----- 975 ----- ----- 

Senior cricket (18-55 male) 3,021 9 336 2,855 8.5 -0.5  

Senior cricket (18-55 female) 3,233 1 3,233 3,123 1.0 -0.0  

       

Junior hockey (11-15 male) 405 0 ----- 469 ----- ----- 

Junior hockey (11-15 female) 413 0 ----- 446 ----- ----- 

Senior hockey (16-45 male) 1,984 0 ----- 2,121 ----- ----- 

Senior hockey (16-45 female) 2,159 0 ----- 2,294 ----- ----- 

 

 

  

Page 429



Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy Needs Assessment       217 | P a g e   

 

ROYAL WOOTTON BASSETT AND CRICKLADE 

 

2015 population 2026 population Population change (2015-2026) 

30,083 33,294 3,211 

 

2015 AGE GROUPS  2015 
TEAMS 

2015 TGRs 2026 AGE GROUPS 2026 TEAMS CHANGE(+/-) 

Mini-soccer (6-9 mixed gender) 1,321 23 57 1,381 24.1 1.1  

Junior football (10-15 male) 1,172 25 47 1,299 27.7 2.7  

Junior football (10-15 female) 907 0 ----- 906 ----- ----- 

Senior football (16-45 male) 5,446 14 389 5,989 15.4 1.4  

Senior football (16-45 female) 4,881 2 2,440 4,779 2.0 -0.0  

       

Mini-rugby (7-12 mixed gender) 1,943 8 243 2,050 8.4 0.4  

Junior rugby (13-18 male) 1,181 8 148 1,282 8.7 0.7  

Junior rugby (13-18 female) 974 1 974 839 0.9 -0.1  

Senior rugby (19-45 male) 4,912 6 819 5,450 6.7 0.7  

Senior rugby (19-45 female) 4,388 0 ----- 4,386 ----- ----- 

       

Junior cricket (7-17 male) 1,896 11 172 2,039 11.8 0.8  

Junior cricket (7-17 female) 1,692 2 846 1,657 2.0 -0.0  

Senior cricket (18-55 male) 7,499 10 750 7,767 10.4 0.4  

Senior cricket (18-55 female) 7,018 0 ----- 6,439 ----- ----- 

       

Junior hockey (11-15 male) 823 2 411 928 2.3 0.3  

Junior hockey (11-15 female) 771 2 386 751 1.9 -0.1  

Senior hockey (16-45 male) 5,446 3 1,815 5,989 3.3 0.3  

Senior hockey (16-45 female) 4,881 3 1,627 4,779 2.9 -0.1  

 

 

 

  

Page 430



Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy Needs Assessment       218 | P a g e   

 

SALISBURY 

 

2015 population 2026 population Population change (2015-2026) 

41,703 41,628 -75 

 

2015 AGE GROUPS  2015 
TEAMS 

2015 
TGRs 

2026 AGE GROUPS 2026 
TEAMS 

CHANGE(+/-
) 

Mini-soccer (6-9 mixed gender) 1,987 14 142 1,773 12.5 -1.5  

Junior football (10-15 male) 1,526 21 73 1,566 21.6 0.6  

Junior football (10-15 female) 1,321 2 661 1,512 2.3 0.3  

Senior football (16-45 male) 7,525 28 269 7,101 26.4 -1.6  

Senior football (16-45 female) 7,609 0 ----- 6,852 ----- ----- 

       

Mini-rugby (7-12 mixed gender) 2,801 6 467 2,737 5.9 -0.1  

Junior rugby (13-18 male) 1,568 5 314 1,538 4.9 -0.1  

Junior rugby (13-18 female) 1,345 0 ----- 1,528 ----- ----- 

Senior rugby (19-45 male) 6,822 5 1,364 6,462 4.7 -0.3  

Senior rugby (19-45 female) 6,918 0 ----- 6,108 ----- ----- 

       

Junior cricket (7-17 male) 2,501 3 834 2,433 2.9 -0.1  

Junior cricket (7-17 female) 2,522 0 ----- 2,714 ----- ----- 

Senior cricket (18-55 male) 9,995 9 1,111 8,977 8.1 -0.9  

Senior cricket (18-55 female) 10,210 0 ----- 8,885 ----- ----- 

       

Junior hockey (11-15 male) 1,069 7 153 1,121 7.3 0.3  

Junior hockey (11-15 female) 1,110 7 159 1,272 8.0 1.0  

Senior hockey (16-45 male) 7,525 6 1,254 7,101 5.7 -0.3  

Senior hockey (16-45 female) 7,609 5 1,522 6,852 4.5 -0.5  

 

 

 

  

Page 431



Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy Needs Assessment       219 | P a g e   

 

SOUTH WILTSHIRE 

2015 population 2026 population Population change (2015-2026) 

23,272 26,629 3,357 

 

2015 AGE GROUPS  2015 
TEAMS 

2015 TGRs 2026 AGE GROUPS 2026 TEAMS CHANGE(+/-) 

Mini-soccer (6-9 mixed gender) 1,145 19 60 1,328 22.0 3.0  

Junior football (10-15 male) 927 18 51 1,132 22.0 4.0  

Junior football (10-15 female) 802 6 134 1,020 7.6 1.6  

Senior football (16-45 male) 3,286 21 156 3,759 24.0 3.0  

Senior football (16-45 female) 3,547 2 1,773 3,918 2.2 0.2  

       

Mini-rugby (7-12 mixed gender) 1,672 0 ----- 2,014 ----- ----- 

Junior rugby (13-18 male) 869 0 ----- 1,038 ----- ----- 

Junior rugby (13-18 female) 815 0 ----- 963 ----- ----- 

Senior rugby (19-45 male) 2,905 0 ----- 3,354 ----- ----- 

Senior rugby (19-45 female) 3,138 0 ----- 3,458 ----- ----- 

       

Junior cricket (7-17 male) 1,471 9 163 1,733 10.6 1.6  

Junior cricket (7-17 female) 1,513 2 757 1,854 2.4 0.4  

Senior cricket (18-55 male) 4,736 13 364 5,056 13.9 0.9  

Senior cricket (18-55 female) 5,122 0 ----- 5,345 ----- ----- 

       

Junior hockey (11-15 male) 632 0 ----- 796 ----- ----- 

Junior hockey (11-15 female) 671 0 ----- 847 ----- ----- 

Senior hockey (16-45 male) 3,286 0 ----- 3,759 ----- ----- 

Senior hockey (16-45 female) 3,547 0 ----- 3,918 ----- ----- 

 

 

  

Page 432



Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy Needs Assessment       220 | P a g e   

 

SOUTH WEST WILTSHIRE 

2015 population 2026 population Population change (2015-2026) 

21,986 22,267 281 

 

 

2015 AGE GROUPS  2015 TEAMS 2015 TGRs 2026 AGE GROUPS 2026 TEAMS CHANGE(+/-) 

Mini-soccer (6-9 mixed gender) 805 5 161 792 4.9 -0.1  

Junior football (10-15 male) 665 7 95 634 6.7 -0.3  

Junior football (10-15 female) 694 0 ----- 680 ----- ----- 

Senior football (16-45 male) 3,035 18 169 2,992 17.7 -0.3  

Senior football (16-45 female) 2,826 0 ----- 2,658 ----- ----- 

       

Mini-rugby (7-12 mixed gender) 1,232 0 ----- 1,213 ----- ----- 

Junior rugby (13-18 male) 654 0 ----- 584 ----- ----- 

Junior rugby (13-18 female) 736 0 ----- 682 ----- ----- 

Senior rugby (19-45 male) 2,743 2 1,372 2,746 2.0 0.0  

Senior rugby (19-45 female) 2,456 0 ----- 2,331 ----- ----- 

       

Junior cricket (7-17 male) 1,060 14 76 1,001 13.2 -0.8  

Junior cricket (7-17 female) 1,265 0 ----- 1,221 ----- ----- 

Senior cricket (18-55 male) 4,021 15 268 4,025 15.0 0.0  

Senior cricket (18-55 female) 3,914 0 ----- 3,651 ----- ----- 

       

Junior hockey (11-15 male) 460 10 46 433 9.4 -0.6  

Junior hockey (11-15 female) 588 10 59 575 9.8 -0.2  

Senior hockey (16-45 male) 3,035 10 304 2,992 9.9 -0.1  

Senior hockey (16-45 female) 2,826 10 283 2,658 9.4 -0.6  

 

 

  

Page 433



Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy Needs Assessment       221 | P a g e   

 

TIDWORTH 

2015 population 2026 population Population change (2015-2026) 

20,971 30,525 9,554 

 

2015 AGE GROUPS  2015 
TEAMS 

2015 TGRs 2026 AGE GROUPS 2026 TEAMS CHANGE(+/-) 

Mini-soccer (6-9 mixed gender) 1,207 6 201 1,912 9.5 3.5  

Junior football (10-15 male) 811 9 90 1,471 16.3 7.3  

Junior football (10-15 female) 610 1 610 1,142 1.9 0.9  

Senior football (16-45 male) 6,838 7 977 10,490 10.7 3.7  

Senior football (16-45 female) 3,991 1 3,991 5,547 1.4 0.4  

       

Mini-rugby (7-12 mixed gender) 1,579 0 ----- 2,671 ----- ----- 

Junior rugby (13-18 male) 896 0 ----- 1,537 ----- ----- 

Junior rugby (13-18 female) 580 0 ----- 1,003 ----- ----- 

Senior rugby (19-45 male) 6,367 0 ----- 9,742 ----- ----- 

Senior rugby (19-45 female) 3,708 0 ----- 5,090 ----- ----- 

       

Junior cricket (7-17 male) 1,388 3 463 2,393 5.2 2.2  

Junior cricket (7-17 female) 1,232 0 ----- 2,131 ----- ----- 

Senior cricket (18-55 male) 7,618 5 1,524 11,411 7.5 2.5  

Senior cricket (18-55 female) 4,874 0 ----- 6,330 ----- ----- 

       

Junior hockey (11-15 male) 541 0 ----- 1,006 ----- ----- 

Junior hockey (11-15 female) 498 0 ----- 936 ----- ----- 

Senior hockey (16-45 male) 6,838 0 ----- 10,490 ----- ----- 

Senior hockey (16-45 female) 3,991 0 ----- 5,547 ----- ----- 

 

 

 

  

Page 434



Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy Needs Assessment       222 | P a g e   

 

TROWBRIDGE 

 

2015 population 2026 population Population change (2015-2026) 

43,638 48,442 4,804 

 

 

2015 AGE GROUPS  2015 
TEAMS 

2015 
TGRs 

2026 AGE GROUPS 2026 
TEAMS 

CHANGE(+/-
) 

Mini-soccer (6-9 mixed gender) 2,246 17 132 2,509 19.0 2.0  

Junior football (10-15 male) 1,829 13 141 2,273 16.2 3.2  

Junior football (10-15 female) 1,473 1 1,473 1,824 1.2 0.2  

Senior football (16-45 male) 7,990 15 533 8,189 15.4 0.4  

Senior football (16-45 female) 8,313 2 4,156 8,588 2.1 0.1  

       

Mini-rugby (7-12 mixed gender) 3,153 6 525 3,749 7.1 1.1  

Junior rugby (13-18 male) 1,794 5 359 2,178 6.1 1.1  

Junior rugby (13-18 female) 1,564 0 ----- 1,758 ----- ----- 

Senior rugby (19-45 male) 7,189 4 1,797 7,311 4.1 0.1  

Senior rugby (19-45 female) 7,513 0 ----- 7,753 ----- ----- 

       

Junior cricket (7-17 male) 2,938 4 734 3,520 4.8 0.8  

Junior cricket (7-17 female) 2,795 5 559 3,304 5.9 0.9  

Senior cricket (18-55 male) 10,615 7 1,516 10,452 6.9 -0.1  

Senior cricket (18-55 female) 10,865 0 ----- 10,972 ----- ----- 

       

Junior hockey (11-15 male) 1,274 0 ----- 1,623 ----- ----- 

Junior hockey (11-15 female) 1,232 0 ----- 1,523 ----- ----- 

Senior hockey (16-45 male) 7,990 0 ----- 8,189 ----- ----- 

Senior hockey (16-45 female) 8,313 0 ----- 8,588 ----- ----- 

 

  

Page 435



Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy Needs Assessment       223 | P a g e   

 

WARMINSTER 

2015 population 2026 population Population change (2015-2026) 

24,758 24,715 -43 

 

2015 AGE GROUPS  2015 
TEAMS 

2015 
TGRs 

2026 AGE GROUPS 2026 
TEAMS 

CHANGE(+/-
) 

Mini-soccer (6-9 mixed gender) 2,246 17 132 2,509 19.0 2.0  

Junior football (10-15 male) 1,829 13 141 2,273 16.2 3.2  

Junior football (10-15 female) 1,473 1 1,473 1,824 1.2 0.2  

Senior football (16-45 male) 7,990 15 533 8,189 15.4 0.4  

Senior football (16-45 female) 8,313 2 4,156 8,588 2.1 0.1  

       

Mini-rugby (7-12 mixed gender) 3,153 6 525 3,749 7.1 1.1  

Junior rugby (13-18 male) 1,794 5 359 2,178 6.1 1.1  

Junior rugby (13-18 female) 1,564 0 ----- 1,758 ----- ----- 

Senior rugby (19-45 male) 7,189 4 1,797 7,311 4.1 0.1  

Senior rugby (19-45 female) 7,513 0 ----- 7,753 ----- ----- 

       

Junior cricket (7-17 male) 2,938 4 734 3,520 4.8 0.8  

Junior cricket (7-17 female) 2,795 5 559 3,304 5.9 0.9  

Senior cricket (18-55 male) 10,615 7 1,516 10,452 6.9 -0.1  

Senior cricket (18-55 female) 10,865 0 ----- 10,972 ----- ----- 

       

Junior hockey (11-15 male) 1,274 0 ----- 1,623 ----- ----- 

Junior hockey (11-15 female) 1,232 0 ----- 1,523 ----- ----- 

Senior hockey (16-45 male) 7,990 0 ----- 8,189 ----- ----- 

Senior hockey (16-45 female) 8,313 0 ----- 8,588 ----- ----- 

 

 

  

Page 436



Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy Needs Assessment       224 | P a g e   

 

WESTBURY 

2015 population 2026 population Population change (2015-2026) 

20,505 23,016 2,511 

 

2015 AGE GROUPS  2015 
TEAMS 

2015 TGRs 2026 AGE GROUPS 2026 TEAMS CHANGE(+/-) 

Mini-soccer (6-9 mixed gender) 1,110 5 222 1,121 5.1 0.1  

Junior football (10-15 male) 967 14 69 1,132 16.4 2.4  

Junior football (10-15 female) 781 1 781 773 1.0 -0.0  

Senior football (16-45 male) 4,053 11 368 3,595 9.8 -1.2  

Senior football (16-45 female) 3,962 1 3,962 3,476 0.9 -0.1  

       

Mini-rugby (7-12 mixed gender) 1,627 5 325 1,714 5.3 0.3  

Junior rugby (13-18 male) 1,007 3 336 1,110 3.3 0.3  

Junior rugby (13-18 female) 825 0 ----- 738 ----- ----- 

Senior rugby (19-45 male) 3,609 2 1,804 3,147 1.7 -0.3  

Senior rugby (19-45 female) 3,514 0 ----- 3,123 ----- ----- 

       

Junior cricket (7-17 male) 1,513 8 189 1,746 9.2 1.2  

Junior cricket (7-17 female) 1,496 0 ----- 1,403 ----- ----- 

Senior cricket (18-55 male) 5,499 9 611 4,469 7.3 -1.7  

Senior cricket (18-55 female) 5,545 0 ----- 4,691 ----- ----- 

       

Junior hockey (11-15 male) 708 4 177 821 4.6 0.6  

Junior hockey (11-15 female) 659 4 165 642 3.9 -0.1  

Senior hockey (16-45 male) 4,053 6 675 3,595 5.3 -0.7  

Senior hockey (16-45 female) 3,962 3 1,321 3,476 2.6 -0.4  

 

 

 

Page 437



This page is intentionally left blank



   
Wiltshire Council 
 
Cabinet 
 
7 February 2017 
 

 
Subject:  School Admissions Policy 2018/19 
 
Cabinet member: Councillor Laura Mayes – Children’s Services 
  
Key Decision: No 
 

 

Executive Summary 
 
This report has been produced as part of the statutory process for the 
determination of admission arrangements to maintained schools.  
 
The Local Authority has a statutory duty to formulate and operate schemes to  
co-ordinate the admissions for all maintained schools and Academies within its 
area. We are proposing two co-ordinated schemes; one covers primary schools 
(including infants and juniors) and the other is for secondary schools.  The co-
ordination of admissions has been successful in past years and the schemes 
proposed for 2018/19 are substantially the same as those operating for the 
current academic year.  
 
The Local Authority is also the statutory admission authority for the Voluntary 
Controlled and Community Schools in its area. As such it is required to 
determine admission arrangements – including any oversubscription criteria - 
which outline how it will admit children to those schools.  There are two 
proposed schemes one for secondary and one for primary (including infant and 
junior schools). 
 
Following a period of consultation with all stakeholders including pre-schools, 
nurseries, schools, parents, neighbouring authorities and Senior Officers at 
Wiltshire Council, all responses have been reviewed and where appropriate 
changes have been made. Cabinet is now requested to approve the four 
documents which are appended to this report which then will become the 
determined admission policies for Wiltshire for 2018/19. 
 
The admissions process for the intakes in September 2018 begins in September 
2017. 
 

 

Proposal(s) 
 
To approve the following: 
 

a) the proposed scheme for the co-ordination of admission to secondary 
schools for 2018/19. 

Page 439

Agenda Item 12



 
b) the proposed scheme for the co-ordination of admissions to primary 

schools for 2018/19. 
 

c) the proposed admission arrangements for Voluntary Controlled & 
Community Secondary Schools for 2018/19. 

 
d) the proposed admission arrangements for Voluntary Controlled & 

Community Primary Schools for 2018/19. 
 

 

Reason for Proposal 
 
The Local Authority has a statutory duty to have a determined admission policy 
for 2018/19 in place on or before 28 February 2017. 
 

 

Carolyn Godfrey 
Corporate Director 

Page 440



Wiltshire Council 
 
Cabinet 
 
7 February 2017 
 

 
Subject:  School Admissions Policy 2018/19 
 
Cabinet member: Councillor Laura Mayes – Children’s Services 
  
Key Decision: No 
 

 
Purpose of Report 
 
1. The Local Authority has a statutory duty to act in accordance with the School 

Admissions Code and has a statutory duty to formulate and operate schemes 
to  

2. co-ordinate the admissions to all maintained schools and Academies within 
its area. We are proposing two co-ordinated schemes; one covers primary 
schools (including infants and juniors) and the other is for secondary schools.   

 
3. There is a legal requirement to have schemes in place for the co-ordination 

of admission to the schools within Wiltshire.  
 
4. The Local Authority is also the statutory admission authority for Voluntary 

Controlled and Community Schools in its area. As such, it is required to 
formulate admission arrangements which outline how it will admit children to 
those schools. There are two proposed schemes one for secondary and one 
for primary (including infant and junior schools). 

 
5. The report presents the four elements of the Admissions Policy which, 

following consultation, require to be determined by Cabinet.  
 
Relevance to the Council’s Business Plan 
 
6. The Local Authority has a continued statutory responsibility to provide a 

school place for all children living in Wiltshire. The four documents have been 
put in place to ensure that all places are allocated in an open, fair and 
transparent way. 

 
7. One of Wiltshire Council’s Business Plan outcomes is to achieve inclusive 

communities where everyone can achieve their potential. Key to this is that 
everyone has access to high quality education. A functioning, fair admissions 
policy is required to achieve this.  

 
Main Considerations for the Council 
 
8. The proposed co-ordinated schemes and admission arrangements have 

been sent out for consultation to all relevant stakeholders including pre-
schools / nurseries, schools, and Dioceses they have also been placed on 

Page 441



the Council’s website for parents and the public to view as well as being sent 
to neighbouring authorities. The documents were published and sent out for 
consultation in December 2016 and comments were invited to be received up 
until 27 January 2016. 

 
9. The Local Authority has received two comments in response to the 

consultation. One of the comments received was in relation to a date change 
in the policy whilst the other was concerning the proposed In Year co-
ordination process. It is clear that there is confidence that with suitable 
communication systems being in place, the co-operation between the 
Admissions Team and the Foundation, Voluntary Aided schools and 
Academies which is essential for the smooth operation of a co-ordinated 
scheme, will be forthcoming. 

 
10. The proposed timetables for the primary and secondary co-ordinated 

schemes are based on those used in previous years and so they are familiar 
to schools and the Admissions Team at Wiltshire Council. 

 
11. The statutory regulations give clear deadlines for admissions applications, to 

which the co-ordinated admissions schemes must adhere. 
 

 Secondary Deadline          31 October 2017 

 Primary Deadline           15 January 2018 

 Secondary Notification Date   1 March 2018 

 Primary Notification Date       16 April 2018 
 

12. The co-ordinated schemes include the provision to co-ordinate all admissions 
to all schools for the main years of entry. The main years of entry are 
Reception and Year 7.  In line with the School Admissions Code, there is no 
longer the requirement for In Year applications to be co-ordinated within 
county or cross border. In the attached schemes however, it is proposed that 
all In Year applications continue to be made directly to Wiltshire Council for 
places at Wiltshire schools. This is so that we can monitor which children are 
potentially out of the school system for the purpose of safeguarding.   

 
13. Following a response to the consultation, the In Year section of the Co-

ordinated Schemes for both primary schools and secondary schools has 
been updated and now states the process that schools must follow if they do 
not wish the LA to co-ordinate its In Year applications. At this point we do not 
anticipate that many of our schools will opt out of the In Year co-ordination 
process. 

 
14. The co-ordinated scheme for main round applications for places at primary 

schools (Reception intake) mirrors that which operates for secondary schools 
(Year 7 intake).  Wiltshire residents may apply for an out of county school on 
a Wiltshire form.  Out of county residents can apply for a Wiltshire school 
through their own local authority. 

 
15. It is clear from previous years, that there is widespread agreement with the 

proposed admission arrangements for Voluntary Controlled and Community 
schools which are considered to be fair and objective as required by the 
School Admissions Code.   

Page 442



 
16. Currently children living within a school’s designated area are given priority 

over children from outside that area. The tie break used if a school is 
oversubscribed within any criterion is that of distance (straight line) from the 
school. 

 
17. The Local Authority has retained the arrangements and criterion for the 

Special Planning Area, for admissions in 2018/19. This has been put in place 
to ensure that Wiltshire Council is providing as much support as possible to 
military families relocating to Wiltshire.  

 
18. There are ongoing discussions with all Voluntary Aided, Foundation schools 

and Academies in the Special Planning Area to encourage them to introduce 
the same criterion to their oversubscription criteria for the coming years.   

 
19. The proposed co-ordinated schemes and admission arrangements are in 

accordance with the requirements of the School Admissions Code which 
came in to force on 19 December 2014. 

 
20. The admission arrangements for Voluntary Controlled and Community 

schools will be operated within the appropriate co-ordinated scheme for 
admissions within Wiltshire and are compatible with the timetables laid down 
by the co-ordinated schemes. 

 
21. Once determined by Cabinet, the schemes and admission arrangements will 

be circulated to all schools in Wiltshire and to our nine neighbouring local 
authorities and published on the Council website.  They will be implemented 
from September 2017 when the process of admitting children to the intake 
year in 2018 starts. 

 
Background 
 
22. The purpose of co-ordinated arrangements is to make the application 

process simpler for parents by ensuring that each child gets one offer for one 
school place.  This requires the School Admissions Team to work with 
colleagues in Academies, Foundation and Aided schools in Wiltshire and 
other local authorities. 

 
23. The co-ordinated process is accepted by schools and the scheme does not 

need substantial revision at this time. The proposed schemes are 
substantially the same as those currently being used. All four schemes have 
been drafted in line with The School Admissions Code which came into force 
on 19 December 2014.   

 
24. The LA is the admissions authority for all Community and Voluntary 

Controlled schools in the county. The governing bodies or Trusts of 
Academies, Voluntary Aided and Foundation schools are their own 
admissions authority. 

 
25. Each admission authority has to determine the arrangements which are used 

when allocating school places. These proposed arrangements will be used 
solely for admissions to Community and Voluntary Controlled schools. They 

Page 443



incorporate the criteria used to prioritise applications in situations when a 
school is oversubscribed (i.e. when more applications are received than 
places available) as well as showing how all admissions will be processed.  

 
Overview & Scrutiny Engagement 
 
26. Not applicable 
 
Safeguarding Implications 
 
27. In the interest of safeguarding, the Local Authority co-ordinates all 

applications for all children to Wiltshire schools this ensures that the School 
Admissions Team can monitor which children are potentially out of the school 
system. If a parent is unable to secure a place at their preferred school, the 
School Admissions Team will ensure that a place is allocated at a reasonable 
alternative. 

   
Public Health Implications 
 
28. There are no public health issues arising directly from this report. 
 
Procurement Implications 
 
29. There are no procurement implications directly arising from this report. 
 
Equalities Impact of the Proposal  
 
30. The Admissions Policy and Coordinated Admissions Schemes are put in place 

to ensure all applications for a school place are treated in fair, open and 
transparent way.  Although not part of the proposed co-ordinated schemes or 
admission      arrangements, it should be noted that all application forms can 
be and are produced in different languages on request. 

 
31. The online system for applications to be made has developed since it was 

introduced in 2006.  Over 80% of applications for September 2016 intakes 
were received electronically. 

 
32. Paper copies of the application forms are also still available for 

parents/carers who do not have online access. 
  
Environmental and Climate Change Considerations  
 
33. The Admission Policy of the local authority is to give local children priority 

when applying for their local school.  This policy of ‘local schools for local 
children’ has been maintained for many years and is a way of encouraging 
parents to consider the environmental impact of long journeys to school. 

 
34. Should the Admissions Team not be able to offer a place at a child’s 

designated school and the child lives further than the statutory safe walking 
distance for the child’s age, then free transport would be provided to the next 
nearest school with available places.  The percentage of children this 
currently applies to in Wiltshire is 0.8%. 

Page 444



 
   
 
 
Risks that may arise if the proposed decision and related work is not taken 
 
35. Were the Local Authority not to determine co-ordinated schemes for its 

maintained schools, the Secretary of State would impose a scheme on us. 
 
36. The Office of the Schools Adjudicator has a monitoring role to play in regards 

to admission arrangements.  It is the statutory responsibility of admission 
authorities to ensure that these are in place by 28 February 2017. 

  
Risks that may arise if the proposed decision is taken and actions that will 
be taken to manage these risks 
 
37. There is a small risk that confusion or challenge may occur over the 2018/19 

proposed arrangements, however, this is mitigated as the changes in the 
proposed 2018/19 scheme have been kept to a minimum. 

 
Financial Implications 
 
38. The budget to support admission arrangements is funded from the Dedicated 

Schools Grant (DSG) received by the Local Authority. In line with latest 
school funding arrangements, some DSG funds formally held centrally by the 
LA to cover services provided, have now been delegated to schools so that 
they can choose whether or not to buy back those services from the LA.  

 
39. Academies receive funding direct from the Education Funding Agency (EFA) 

to cover the cost of being included in the admissions coordinated scheme 
administered by the LA. The LA has set appropriate charges to cover the 
administrative costs of including non-community schools in the coordinated 
scheme.  

 
40. The Admissions Team budget covers the staffing and support costs of the 

team and the cost of managing and administering appeals for school places. 
This includes the costs of the Independent Appeals Panel and that of 
Democratic Services who service the Appeals Panel. Every parent has the 
right of appeal for a school place and therefore these costs are demand led. 
The LA however covers some of the costs by providing an appeals writing, 
presentation and administration service for academies and voluntary aided 
schools as resources allow, for which a fee is charged.  

 
41. Whilst the percentage of applications for a school place made on-line is 

increasing, the volume of applications and appeals being requested are also 
increasing. Any increases in workload will be met through increased 
efficiencies and there are no plans currently to increase the Admissions 
budget. 

  
Legal Implications 
 

Page 445



42. The School Admissions Code, issued under Section 84 of the School 
Standards and Framework Act 1998, imposes mandatory requirements in 
relation to the discharge of functions relating to admissions to maintained 
schools.   The Local Authority has a statutory duty to act in accordance with 
the relevant provisions of the Code.  This includes a statutory duty to 
determine schemes for the co-ordination of admissions and admission 
arrangements for Voluntary Controlled and Community schools.  Should the 
Local Authority fail to do so the Secretary of State may impose schemes. The 
proposed schemes and scheme changes have been drafted to comply with 
the requirements of the Schools Admissions Code which came into force on 
the 19th December 2014.  

 
Options Considered 
 
43. It is a legal requirement to have these policies in place and therefore no 

alternative has been considered.  
 
44. The schemes and arrangements as presented have been sent out to all 

schools for consultation and no alternative suggestions have been received 
to date.  

 
Conclusions 
 
45. Cabinet is asked to approve the appended schemes which will become the 

determined Admissions Policy for Wiltshire for 2018/19.  
 
Carolyn Godfrey 
Director Children’s Services 
 

 
Report Author:   
Debbie Clare, Admissions Co-ordinator 
Tel No: 01225 713873   debbie.clare@wiltshire.gov.uk  
 
10 December 2016 
 
Background Papers 
 
The following documents have been relied on in the preparation of this report: 
 
None 
 
Appendices 
 

a) Proposed Scheme for the Co-Ordination of Secondary Admissions 
2018/19 

b) Proposed Scheme for the Co-Ordination of Primary Admissions 2018/19 
c) Proposed Admission Arrangements for Voluntary Controlled & Community 

Secondary Schools 2018/19 
d) Proposed Admission Arrangements for Voluntary Controlled & Community 

Primary Schools 2018/19 
 

Page 446

mailto:debbie.clare@wiltshire.gov.uk


 

SECONDARY 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Determined Co-ordinated Scheme for Secondary 
School Admissions for 2017/18 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Status:  Determined Co-ordinated Scheme 2017/18 

  

Page 447



2 
 

Determined Co-ordinate Admissions Scheme for secondary school 
admissions for year 2017/18 

 
Introduction 
 
1. This scheme for co-ordinated admissions is pursuant to section (89b) of the School 

Standards and Framework Act 1998, for co-ordinating the arrangements for the 
admission of pupils to secondary schools within the LA area.  It applies to all 
secondary schools in Wiltshire with effect from September 2017 intakes.  There will 
be an annual review of the scheme as per the School Admissions Code in force at 
the time. 

 
Interpretation and Glossary 
 
2. In this scheme –  
 
 “the LA” means Wiltshire Council acting in their capacity as a local (education) 

authority; 
 
 “the LA area” means the County of Wiltshire; 
 
 The definitions of “primary education”, “primary school”, “secondary education” and 

“secondary school” can be found in sections 2 and 5 of the Education Act 1996. 
 
 “school” means a community, (C) voluntary controlled, (VC) foundation, (F) or 

voluntary aided (VA) school (the Education Act 1996 defines school in section 4). 
 
 “Academy” means a state funded, non fee paying independent school set up under a 

Funding Agreement between the Secretary of State and the proprietor of an 
Academy (most commonly and hereafter referred to as an Academy Trust).  
Academy Funding Agreements require them to comply with the Code and the law 
relating to admissions, though the Secretary of State has the power to vary this 
requirement where there is a demonstrable need; 

 
 “admission authority” in relation to a community or voluntary controlled school means 

the LA and, in relation to an F or VA school or UTC (University Technical College) 
means the governing body of that school/college; 

 
 “the specified year” means the school year beginning September 2017; 
 
 “admission arrangements” means the determined arrangements which govern the 

procedures and decision making for the purposes of admitting pupils to a school; 
 

“first round application” means any application for a place in the first year of 
secondary education that is received before the deadline of 31 October 2016. 

 
 “Second and third round application” means any application for a place in the first 

year of secondary education that is received after the deadline of 31 October 2016 
 
 “eligible for a place” means that a child’s name has been placed on a school’s ranked 

list within the school’s published admission number (PAN). 
 

 
 

Page 448



3 
 

 
The application round for entry into YR7 – 2017 opens on 1 September 2016.  
The deadline date for applications to be submitted is midnight on 31 October 
2016.  The home address given for the child must be the address where the 
child is resident as of the deadline date. 

 
Raising of participation age 
 
From the summer of 2015 new government legislation states that young people have to stay 
in education or training until their 18th birthday.  This will usually be at secondary school until 
the academic year in with they are 16 (some students may transfer to Further Education or a 
University Technical College at 14).  Students can then choose from one of the following 
options post-16; full-time education, such as school or college; an apprenticeship; 
employment or volunteering alongside part-time education or accredited training.  It is 
compulsory that they participate in education or training until their 18th birthday.  The only 
exception is early achievement of level 3 qualifications for example if they take A level 
exams in year 12.   
 
General information 
 
3. Parents will be able to make an online application.  Online applications will be made 

directly to County Hall, Trowbridge.  If an online application has been submitted, a 
written application is not necessary.  The online facility will be available from 1 
September 2016 up until the deadline of 31 October 2016. 

 
4. There will be a standard written application form known as the Secondary Common 

Application Form (SCAF).  This form must be used to apply for the admission of 
pupils, into the first year of secondary education in the specified year, unless an 
online application has been submitted. 

  
 Parents who wish to apply for a place at in YR10 at a UTC should complete a UTC 

application form. Applications for UTC’s cannot be submitted online. 
 
5. Unless an online application has been made, the SCAF must be used as a means of 

expressing one or more preferences by the parent wishing to apply for a school place 
for their child either within or outside the county.  The child must live in Wiltshire. 

 
6. The LA will make arrangements to ensure 
 
 a. the SCAF is accompanied by written guidance notes explaining the  
   co-ordinated admissions scheme, and  
 
 b. that copies are available on request from the LA and from all primary and  

  secondary schools in the LA area, and 
 
 c. that an electronic version of the form is available for parents to make an  

  online application. 
 
7. The SCAF and accompanying guidance notes will invite the parent to express up to 

three preferences in rank order and give reason for their preferences. Schools may 
be inside or outside Wiltshire.  It will also explain that the parent will receive no more 
than one offer of a school place and specify the closing date and the address to 
which it must be returned.  They will also confirm that; 

 

Page 449



4 
 

 a. a place will be offered at their highest ranked school at which they are eligible 
  to be offered a place; or 

 
b. if a place cannot be offered at any one of their preferred schools, and the 

child is living within Wiltshire, a place at an alternative school will be 
allocated. 

 
8. Any school which operates criteria for selection by ability or aptitude must ensure that 

its arrangements for assessing ability or aptitude enable decisions to be made in 
accordance with the scheme’s timescale as set out in the Appendix 1. 

 
9. The governing body of an Academy, (A) Foundation, (F) or Voluntary Aided (VA) 

School can ask parents who have expressed a preference for their school on the 
SCAF, to provide additional information on a supplementary form only if the 
additional information is required in order to apply their oversubscription criteria to the 
application.   

 
10. Where a school receives a supplementary form it will not be regarded as a valid 

application unless the parent has also completed a SCAF which expressed a 
preference for that school.  The SCAF or an online application must have been 
returned to the LA by the deadline date.   

 
11. The deadline date for applications is 31 October 2016.  All completed SCAFs are to 

be returned directly to the LA by the deadline date.  Any Secondary Common 
Applications Forms (SCAFs) which are incorrectly returned to schools must be 
forwarded to the LA to be submitted by the deadline.   Forms returned to schools and 
not received by the LA by 31 October 2016 will be treated as late applications.   

 
12. The LA will send out an acknowledgement of receipt for each SCAF and all online 

applications.  Applicants will be advised to contact the LA if they have not received an 
acknowledgement with 15 school days of posting their application. 

 
Address 
 
13. The child’s address provided on the application form should be that of the child’s 

normal place of residence. Only one address can be considered for application 
purposes. The address provided will be used to determine the child’s priority for a 
school place.  The Local Authority reserves the right to confirm the address provided 
by the applicant using the council tax reference number which is provided as part of 
the application.   
For Yr 7 September 2017 entry, the address used to determine priority of school 
places for on time applications submitted in the main round, will be the child’s normal 
place of residence as at deadline date of 31 October 2016. 

 
Shared Parental Responsibility 
 
14. Where two (or more) adults have parental responsibility for a child it is preferable that 

they should agree before submitting an application form which school(s) to name as 
their preference(s). In cases of dispute, or where two application forms are 
submitted, the LA will process the application received from the adult who has a 
residence order.  If no such order has been made, preference will be given to the 
parent with whom the child is living for the majority of the school week.    

 
If both parents are in dispute as to whom the child lives with the majority of the 
school week, the LA will process the application received from the adult who is in 

Page 450



5 
 

receipt of the child benefit, if this is not available then the address used on the NHS 
card will be used.   

  
In the event of a further dispute regarding the address used, parents may wish to 
take independent legal advice on whether they should seek a specific issue order 
from the court to decide on where the child is schooled.  For in year transfer 
applications, until any such order is made, the placement will continue in the best 
interests of securing educational provision for the child with a minimum of disruption.  

 
For year of entry, where possible, a place will be offered in accordance with the 
preferences to the parent who can provide evidence that they are in receipt of child 
benefit. 

 
Applications for children of UK Service Personnel (UK Armed 

Forces) 
 
15. Applications for children of service personnel with a confirmed posting to the county, 

returning from overseas to live in the county, will be considered in advance of the 
family moving into the county.  Where possible, an application must be included in 
the normal admissions round. 

 
16. An official letter, such as a posting note or letter of support from the commanding 

officer should be sent to the LA as soon as possible.  This should include the 
relocation date and unit postal address or quartering area address (the address of 
the closest house in the nearest ‘quartering area’). 

 
17. Until a fixed address is available, the unit postal address or quartering area address 

will be used and a school place allocated accordingly. 
 
18. The LA will not refuse children of service personnel a place because they family does 

not currently live in the area. it is also not permitted to reserve places for these 
children 

 
19. Children will be considered to be siblings if any brother or sister (including step 

siblings living at the same address) have been formally offered and have accepted a 
place at the school. The sibling link will not apply if the child on roll is in Yr11. Their 
position on any waiting list will be set accordingly.  

Armed Forces Personnel Relocating to Salisbury Plain - a Special 
Planning area for admissions 

20. Leading up to September 2017 there is initiative to rebase serving armed forces 
personnel in Germany back to England. The Garrison towns around Salisbury Plain 
in Wiltshire will be target destinations for a significant proportion of these service 
families.   

21. Wiltshire Council has introduced from September 2015 to declare the community 
areas of Amesbury and Tidworth a ‘special planning area for Admissions’. The 
proposal is to give an admission priority to children eligible for service premium, 
rebasing to settlements around Salisbury Plain until 2018. Wiltshire Council is 
working closely with the Children’s Education Advisory Service (CEAS), a tri-service 
organisation funded by the MOD, to make the transition for children and families in 
Germany as smooth as possible and remove unnecessary complexity. 

Page 451



6 
 

22. Wiltshire Council is proposing to add criteria ‘G’ to the oversubscription criteria for all 

community and voluntary controlled schools in the ‘special planning area for 

admissions’ and is requesting other admission authorities in the area to consider 

making similar arrangements. 

 
23. The ‘special planning area for admissions’ will be kept under review by Wiltshire 

Council, including the option of extending the area to include Salisbury in subsequent 
years. 

24. Applications for children of service personnel with a confirmed posting will be 
considered in advance of the family moving into the county if necessary.  Where 
possible, an application must be included in the normal admission round. 

25. An official letter, such as a posting note or letter of support from the commanding 
officer should be sent to the LA as soon as possible.  This should include relocation 
date and unit postal address or quartering area address (the address of the closest 
house in the nearest ‘quartering area’) in the ‘special planning area for admissions’. 

26. Until a fixed address is available, the unit postal address or quartering area address 
will be used and a school place allocated accordingly. 

27. The LA will not refuse a child of UK service personnel a place because the family 
does not currently live in the area. it is also not permitted to reserve places for these 
children.  

28. Children will be considered to be siblings if any brother or sister (including step 
siblings living at the same address) have been formally offered and have accepted a 
place at the school. The sibling link will not apply if the child on roll is in Yr11. Their 
position on any waiting list will be set accordingly. 

29. All applications will be dealt with in accordance with these admission arrangements.   

 

Children from overseas 

 
30. Children who hold a full British Citizen passport or children whose passport has been 

endorsed to show they have the right of abode in the country are entitled to apply for 
a place at a maintained school.  The passport or visa should be made available for 
inspection before an offer of a school place can be made.  Asylum Seekers should 
make available evidence of their right of abode as provided by the National Asylum 
Support Service. 

 
31. Applications on behalf of children currently living outside the UK will be considered 

but until the children are resident in the country their home address will be 
considered as being their place of residence outside the UK.  Exceptions to this 
would be instances where the children are of parents returning from foreign postings, 
such as UK service personnel and other crown servants (including diplomats) who 
have been posted abroad on a fixed term contract and who are returning to live within 
the UK.  Proof of future UK residency (or a service unit’s postal address) will be 
required if application is made to an oversubscribed school. 

 

 
 

Page 452



7 
 

 
Selection test for Grammar Schools 
 
32. Where a selection test of any kind is part of the school’s admission arrangements, 

the admission authority is required to allow the child to sit the entrance exam and 
inform parents of the outcome prior to preferences being made. 

 
 

The Application Process 
 

First Round Applications for Secondary YR7 2017 Intake 
(applications submitted by the deadline of 31 October 2016) 
 
33. The LA will act as a clearing house for the allocation of places by the relevant 

admission authorities in response to the SCAFs.  The LA will only make a decision 
with respect to the offer or refusal of a place in response to any preference 
expressed on the SCAF where –  

 
 a. it is acting in its separate capacity as an admission authority, or 
 
 b. an applicant is eligible for a place at more than one school, or 
 
 c. an applicant is not eligible for a place at any of the schools for which a  

  preference was expressed. 
 
33. The process by which the LA will allocate places is explained at paragraphs 35-43. 
 
34. 31 October 2016 closing date for all Common Application Forms to be 

submitted by the School Admissions Team at County Hall. Applications 
submitted by this date will be classed as first round/on time applications. 

 
35. By 18 November 2016 where parents have nominated a secondary school outside 

the LA area, the LA will notify the relevant LA. 
 
36. By 26 November 2016 the LA will notify all A, F and VA schools of every preference 

that has been expressed for that school. They will also notify the UTC in respect of 
applications for YR10 entry. 

 
37. 16 December 2016: Exceptional circumstances deadline. 

Only in exceptional circumstances such as those listed here will a late application be 
considered at the same time as applications received by the deadline of 31 October 
2016. 

 
a. where there has been a change of family circumstances after the deadline 

date which has a significant effect on the preferences given on the original 
application.  (If this is a house move this must have been completed with an 
exchange of contracts before 16 December 2016). 

b. a move into Wiltshire from outside the county after the deadline date but 
before 16 December 2016.  Confirmation of the new address (in the form of 
an exchange of contracts or a tenancy agreement) must be provided before 
16 December 2016. 

c. service personnel moving to a Wiltshire address after the deadline date.  A 
posting notice must be provided before 16 December 2016. 

Page 453



8 
 

d. where a common application form has not been received by the LA but the 
parent can provide proof of posting.  

 
Such late applications can only be considered if they are received by the LA before 
on 16 December 2016. 
 
Documentary evidence should be provided with the application (or at the latest by 16 
December 2016) to verify the circumstances which caused the late application to be 
made. If evidence cannot be provided, the application will not be treated as an 
exception. 

 
38. By 9 January 2017 the LA will provide a final list to all admissions authorities of 

every preference that has been expressed for their school(s) including those 
considered as exceptional as outlined in paragraph 37 and those residents in other 
LA areas. 

 
39. By 16 January 2017 all UTC’s, A, F and VA schools must have considered all of the 

preferences for their school and provided the LA with a ranked list of all applicants in 
accordance with the oversubscription criteria. 

 
40. The LA will then match this ranked list against all other ranked lists and: 
 

 Where the child is eligible for a place at only one of the preferred schools, a 
place at the school will be offered to the child. 

 

 Where the child is eligible for a place at two or more of the nominated 
schools, they will be offered a place at whichever school was their highest 
available preference. 

 

 Where the child is not eligible for a place at any of the nominated schools 
(and they live in Wiltshire), the child will be allocated a place at their 
designated school unless an alternative place is available within the safe 
statutory walking distance from their home address. 

 

   Should this place subsequently be declined then it is the parent’s 
responsibility to apply for an alternative school place.  

 
41. By 3 February 2017 the LA will inform other LAs of any places in Wiltshire schools 

which will be offered to their residents. 
 
42. By 27 February 2017 the LA will inform Wiltshire schools of the pupils to be offered 

places at their schools. 
 
43. On 1 March 2017 (National Offer Date) letters will be despatched to all parents who 

submitted an application form by 31 October 2016 offering a place at one school. 
  

44. These offer letters will give the following information: 
 
 a. the name of the school at which a place is offered; 
 
 b. the reason why the child is not being offered a place at any of the other  
  schools nominated on the SCAF; 
 

Page 454



9 
 

 c. information about their statutory right of appeal against any decision to refuse 
  places at other preferred schools; 
 
 d. contact details for the LA and the schools for which they expressed a  
  preference. 
 
45. 15 March 2017 the deadline for parents to accept the place offered.  Parents should 

confirm their acceptance online if they have applied online, or if they have applied by 
paper return the acceptance/decline slip directly to the Local Authority. 
If the parent does not respond to the Local Authority to confirm if they wish to accept 
or decline the offer by 15 March 2017, the Local Authority will send a second letter to 
the parent informing them that they have seven days in which to accept or decline 
the place which has been offered. They will also be advised in this letter that failure 
to respond could result in the offer of the place being withdrawn. If there is still no 
response a third letter will be sent to the applicant informing them that the offer of a 
place has been withdrawn.  It will then be the parent’s responsibility to apply for an 
alternative school place.  

 

Second Round Applications for Secondary YR 7, 2017 Intake 
(applications received between 1 November 2016 and 09 March 
2017) 
 
46. Second round applications, i.e. those received between 1 November 2016 and 9 

March 2017 (except those covered by paragraph 37) for the YR 7 Intake round will 
not be considered until after all first round on time applications have been processed.  
Second round applications will be considered together with any applicant previously 
refused a place in the first round and if necessary will be prioritised using the 
oversubscription policy in place at the time.   

 
Additional applications: 
Only one offer of a school place for each child can be held at any one time.  If 
the Local Authority receives a further application for a child who has already 
secured a place in an earlier round, the new stated preferences will 
automatically supersede any earlier preferences stated.  
 
During the second round of applications parents should note that the school 
initially allocated will be retained for their child pending the outcome of that 
application and that there is no guarantee of gaining a place at the preferred 
school named on the new application. 
 
Parents can only hold one offer. Therefore if an offer is made to a child during 
the second round of allocations any offer made in the first round will 
automatically be withdrawn. 

 
The LA will contact all UTC’s, Foundation, Aided schools and Academies named as a 
preference on the application form to determine whether or not a place is available.  
An offer will be made for the school named as the highest preference where there is 
an identified place.  Where the child is not eligible for a place at any of the nominated 
schools, and the child lives in Wiltshire, the child will be allocated a place at their 
designated school if possible, unless an alternative place is available within the safe 
statutory walking distance from their home address. The process explained in 47-50 
will be followed: 

 

Page 455



10 
 

47. 23 March 2017 details of second round applications received between the 1 
November 2016 and 9 March 2017 to be sent to UTC’s, Academies, Foundation and 
Voluntary Aided Schools. 

 
48. 6 April 2017 UTC’s, Academies, Foundation and Voluntary Aided Schools to provide 

the LA with a ranked list of second round applications.  
 

On receipt the LA will match the returns from all schools and will make an allocation 
of one place for each applicant: 

 

 Where the child is eligible for a place at only one of the preferred schools, a 
  place at the school will be offered to the child. 
 

 Where the child is eligible for a place at two or more of the nominated 
schools, they will be offered a place at whichever school was their highest 
available preference. 

 

 LA to send schools a list of late applicants being offered a place on 28 April 
2016. 

 
49. 28 April 2017 the LA will send out the second round offers for applications received 

between 1 November 2015 and 9 March 2016.  
 
50. 12 May 2017 is the last date for offers to be accepted by parents.  Parents should 

contact the Local Authority if accepting or declining the place. 
 

If the parent does not respond to the Local Authority to confirm if they wish to accept 
or decline the offer by the date stated in the letter, the Local Authority will send a 
second letter to the parent informing them that they have seven days in which to 
accept or decline the place which has been offered. They will also be advised in this 
letter that failure to respond could result in the offer of the place being withdrawn. If 
there is still no response a third letter will be sent to the applicant informing them that 
the offer of a place has been withdrawn.  It will then be the parent’s responsibility to 
apply for an alternative school place.  

 

Third Round Applications for Secondary YR 7, 2017 Intake 
(applications received after 9 March 2017) 
 
51. Third round applications, i.e. those received after 9 March 2017 for the YR7 Intake 

round will not be considered until after all the second round applications have been 
processed.  Third round applications will be considered together with any applicant 
previously refused a place and if necessary will be prioritised using the 
oversubscription policy in place at the time.   

 
Only one offer of a school place for each child can be held at any one time.  If 
the Local Authority receives a further application for a child who has already 
secured a place in an earlier round, the new stated preferences will 
automatically supersede any earlier preferences stated.  
 
During the third round of applications parents should note that the school 
initially allocated will be retained for their child pending the outcome of that 
application and that there is no guarantee of gaining a place at the preferred 
school named on the new application. 

Page 456



11 
 

 
Parents can only hold one offer. Therefore if an offer is made to a child during 
the third round of allocations any offer made in the first or second round will 
automatically be withdrawn. 
 
 

            The LA will contact all UTC’s Foundation, Aided schools and Academies named as a 
preference on the application form to determine whether or not a place is available.  
An offer will be made for the school named as the highest preference where there is 
an identified place.  Where the child is not eligible for a place at any of the nominated 
schools, and the child lives in Wiltshire, the child will be allocated a place at their 
designated school if possible, unless an alternative place is available within the safe 
statutory walking distance from their home address. The process explained in para 
52 - 55 will be followed: 

 
52. Applications received after the 9 March 2017 will be considered in date order of 

receipt and will be looked at after 15 May 2017 (i.e. once the second round of 
applications have been processed).   

 
53. Any applications received by the LA after 9 March 2017 will be dealt with as soon as 

possible with allocations to a single school being made and offer letters sent out from 
the LA as soon as is practically possible.  

 
 Parents should contact the Local Authority if accepting or declining the place. 
 

If the parent does not respond to the Local Authority to confirm if they wish to accept 
or decline the offer by the date stated in the letter, the Local Authority will send a 
second letter to the parent informing them that they have seven days in which to 
accept or decline the place which has been offered. They will also be advised in this 
letter that failure to respond could result in the offer of the place being withdrawn. If 
there is still no response a third letter will be sent to the applicant informing them that 
the offer of a place has been withdrawn.  It will then be the parent’s responsibility to 
apply for an alternative school place.  

 
54. Any applications received by any school should be forwarded to the LA within 5 days 

of receipt. 
 

Applications for Secondary YR7, 2017 Intake (applications received 
after 22 July 2017) 
 
55. Any applications received by the LA after 21 July 2017 which express a preference 

for an aided, foundation school or an academy or a UTC will be forwarded to the 
school/college within five school days of receipt at which time the process for in year 
applications will apply. 

 

Final List of expected Secondary Yr7 pupils to schools 
 
56. On or before 31 August 2017 the LA will send out a list to all maintained schools in 

Wiltshire showing those pupils expected to start in the school at the beginning of the 
2017/18 school year. 

 

Admitting in area children above Published Admissions Number 
(PAN) 

Page 457



12 
 

 
57. Wiltshire Council will always try and allocate a space at a child’s designated school 

whenever this is possible.  It must be noted we cannot reserve places at any school 
nor can we guarantee that a space will be available at the designated school.  Having 
enough spaces in school for local children is a service priority for the School 
Buildings and Places team. 

 
58. The LA has the responsibility for the strategic management of school places across 

the county and has to ensure admissions do not compromise its ability to provide 
efficient and effective use of resources.  It is often more economic to admit local 
children to their designated school because this does not incorporate an additional 
transport costs which would be required were an alternative school to be allocated. 

 
59. For some schools, the next nearest school does not provide a reasonable alternative 

because it is beyond the statutory walking distance or the route to it is unsafe or there 
may not be available transport.  Any children who move into these areas might have 
to be admitted to the designated school despite any existing pressures upon it. 

 
60. It may not always be possible to find a space at the designated school if this is 

already oversubscribed.  In area children will be given priority on any waiting list.  If 
the designated area school is unable to accommodate any more children within the 
year group then the LA will allocate an alternative school which will be the next 
nearest school which has places available. 

 
61. Transport would be made available for any children who had to be allocated a school 

because their designated school was full and the school that has been allocated is 
outside of the statutory safe walking distance for the age of the child. 

 
 

Transfer Applications for year groups other than Yr7 Secondary 
2017 intake and Yr10 - UTC 2017 Intake  

 
All transfer applications for all year groups, to Wiltshire Schools, should be submitted directly 

to Wiltshire Council.  If a parent wishes to apply for a transfer to a school in another Local 
Authority then they should apply directly to the authority in which the school is situated in.  

The transfer application process for Wiltshire Schools is explained below.   

 
62. The LA will make available copies of the Admissions Guide and CAF through all 

primary and secondary schools and on request from County Hall. 
 
63. All applicants who wish to apply for a school place must complete an application form 

which should be returned to the LA.  The applicant may or may not live in Wiltshire. 
 
64. Should a parent living in Wiltshire wish to apply for a school in another authority, they 

must contact that authority directly for details on how to apply. 
 
65. Where a school receives an in year application form expressing a preference for that 

school the form should be forwarded to the LA within five school days of receipt. 
 
66. Where the LA receives an in year application form expressing a preference for a VC 

or C school the application will be forwarded to the school within five school days of 
receipt. 

 

Page 458



13 
 

67. Where the LA receives an in year application form expressing a preference for an 
Academy, F or VA school or UTC the application will be forwarded to the school 
within five school days of receipt. 

 
68. For an Academy, F or VA school or UTC, the school’s governing body is responsible 

for deciding the outcome of the application and advising the LA accordingly within 10 
school days of the date of which the information was received by the school. 

 
69. In all cases, a decision letter will be sent out by Wiltshire Council within 20 school 

days of receiving the application form and this will provide information, if appropriate, 
about the statutory right of appeal.  

 
70. If an application has been passed on to a selective school, it is recognised that such 

a school will not be able to make a response to the LA until after the result of an 
appropriate selection test has been received.  The selective school will inform the LA 
of the outcome of the application as soon as practicable after the result of any 
selection test is known.  A decision letter will be sent out by the LA and will provide 
information, if appropriate about the statutory right of appeal. 

 
71. Waiting lists for schools must be kept and will be managed as per the admission 

arrangements for the particular school involved.  Waiting lists will be kept in order of 
the relevant oversubscription criteria and not in date order of receipt. 

 
72.      The Local Authority will maintain waiting lists for all year groups for VC & C schools. 
 
73.   The school/academy will maintain waiting lists for all year groups for A, F & VA 

schools. This will also apply to waiting lists for UTC’s. 
 
74. In accordance with paragraph 2.21 of the School Admissions Code the LA is required 

to provide parents on request the availability of school places within its area.  All 
schools must provide the LA with this information.  This must be done on a termly 
basis with the first return to be sent by 4 September 2017. 

 

Applications for transfer at a future date 

 
75. Applications for transfer for VC and C schools will be considered no more than a 

maximum of one term in advance.  All requests for admissions to VC and C Schools 
will be processed in line with the timetable below. 

 
This table gives the earliest date that applications can be sent and when they are 
considered. Decision letters should be posted within 20 school days of either the date 
in the last column or, if your application is later than this, our receipt of your form.  

 

Date admission being 
sought 

Earliest application should 
be submitted 

Applications will be 
processed from 

January to March 1 September 31 October 

April to July 1 January 15 February 

September to December 1 April 31 May 

 
 
 
 

Page 459



14 
 

76. Applications for transfer for VA and F schools and Academies and UTC’s will be 
forwarded when received directly to the schools named for consideration in 
accordance with the schools own admissions policy. 

 
Proof of address 
 

77. The LA reserves the right to ask parents for proof of their address. If the parents’ 
current address is different to that held on the LA’s computerised system the LA may 
ask parents to provide proof of the new address if one is indicated. Acceptable proof 
of address includes:  

 
A copy of your Council Tax Bill  

A solicitor’s letter stating contracts have been exchanged and specifying a 
completion date  

A signed and dated tenancy agreement plus proof of residency (e.g. copy of a recent 
utility bill)  

 
If parents fail to provide proof of a new address, the LA will use the old address for 
admission purposes. If parents notify the LA that they will be moving house, even if 
they provide the relevant proof of that address, they must move into that property by 
no later than the end of the first term following the notification. The LA reserves the 
right to check that parents are living in the address indicated within that timescale. If 
parents are not living there, the applications will be investigated and the allocated 
place may be withdrawn. 

 
Fair Access Protocol 
 
78. All Wiltshire Schools will act in accordance with the Fair Access Protocol which has 

been adopted to give access to educational provisions for hard to place children. 
Further information on the In Year Fair Access Protocol, as well as a copy of the 
protocol, can be viewed at www.wiltshire.gov.uk  

 

Early or Delayed Transfer 
 
79. a. Early transfer 

 
Children may only transfer early to a secondary school if it can be shown that 
not to do so would be detrimental to their academic progress or social 
wellbeing.  Each such request involves consultation with the current school, 
the school to which the child wishes to transfer and where appropriate, the 
Authority’s professional adviser(s).  The application will not be agreed if one 
or more parties consider that the transfer would be inappropriate.  Agreement 
to such a request would be considered exceptional. 

 
 b. Delayed transfer 

 
Children may remain for a further year in a primary school if it can be shown 
that not to do so would be detrimental to their academic progress or social 
wellbeing,  The presence of special educational needs or underachievement 
are not in themselves sufficient reasons to delay transfer. 
 

Page 460

http://www.wiltshire.gov.uk/


15 
 

Children for whom a delayed entry to school or year group retention has 
already been agreed by the relevant parties will continue in the lower year 
group unless it can be shown that it is in their best interests to rejoin their 
chronological year group.  The continuation of this arrangement will continue 
on transfer to secondary school unless the parent/carer, current school, the 
school to which the child would otherwise wish to transfer and, where 
appropriate, the LA’s professional adviser consider it in the child’s best 
interest to rejoin the chronological year group.  An application for transfer to 
secondary school must still be made in the same way as expected of other 
children in the year group in which they are working (rather than their 
chronological age group). 
 

Right of Appeal for the Admission of children outside their normal age group 

Parents who are refused a place at a school for which they have applied have 
the right of appeal to an independent Admission Appeal panel. They do not 
have a right of appeal if they have been offered a place and it is not in the 
year group they would like. However, if parents are dissatisfied with the 
outcome of the request for delayed entry they have the right to complain 
against the decision through the Council’s complaints procedure for decisions 
made by council officers or under the school’s complaints procedure where 
the school is the admissions authority. 
 

Right of Appeal  
 

Parents who are refused a place at a school for which they have applied have the 
right of appeal to an independent Admission Appeal panel. 
 
The deadline dates for lodging appeals is for the main round entry is: 
 
First round appeals 
For applications received from 1 September 2016 – 31 October 2016 and for offers 
made on National Offer Date appeals must be received by the Local Authority no 
later than 15 March 2017. 
 
Second round appeals 
For applications received from 1 November 2016 – 9 March 2017 and for offers made 
on 28 April 2017 appeals must be received by the Local Authority no later than 12 
May 2017. 
 
Third round appeals 
For applications received after the 9 March 2017 and for offers made as soon as 
possible after 15 May 2017 will be heard as soon as possible. 
 
All appeals will be heard in accordance with the timescales which have been 
determined and are explained in the School Admissions Appeals Code. 
 
In Year Transfer Applications 
All appeals will be heard in accordance with the timescales which have been 
determined and are explained in the School Admissions Appeals Code 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 461



16 
 

 
 
 
 
  

Page 462



17 
 

Appendix:  2017/18            Timetable for Secondary co-ordination (Wiltshire) 
 
31 October 2016: Closing date for all Common Application Forms to be 

received by the School Admissions Team at County Hall.  
Applications received by this date will be classed as first 
round applications. 

 
18 November 2016: Details of applications which include preferences for school in 

other LAs to be sent to those LAs.   
 
26 November 2016: Details of applications to be sent to F, VA schools, Academies 

and UTC’s of all first round applicants. 
 
16 December 2016: Last date for any exceptional applications to be 

considered. 
 
9 January 2017: Final list sent out from LA to all admission authorities, including 

all applications which have been considered as falling under 
the exceptional circumstances criteria.  

 
16 January 2017: Academies, Foundation and VA schools and UTC’s to provide 

the LA with ranked list of all first round applications.   
 
 Between 16 January and 4 February 2017, the LA will match 

the ranked list of all the schools and allocate places. 
 
3 February 2017: The LA will inform other LAs of any offers of places at Wiltshire 

schools to be made to applicants resident in their areas. 
 
27 February 2017: By this date the LA will provide schools and UTC’s with details 

of those children to be offered places at the school. 
 
1 March 2017: Notification letters for first round applicants will be 

despatched and sent to parents. 
 
9 March 2017: Deadline for second round applications 
 
15 March 2017: Last date for first round offers to be accepted by parents.  

Parents should confirm their acceptance online if they have 
applied online, or if they have applied by paper return the 
acceptance/decline slip directly to the Local Authority. 

 
23 March 2017: Details of second round applications received after deadline 

and before 9 March to be sent to Academies, UTC’s 
Foundation and VA schools.  

 
6 April 2017: Academies, UTC’s Foundation and VA schools to provide the 

LA with ranked list of late applications. 
 
26 April 2017: LA to send all schools a list of second round applicants being 

offered a place. 
 
28 April 2017: Notification letters sent out by the LA for all second round 

applications received between the deadline 31 October 
2016 and 9 March 2017. 

Page 463



18 
 

 
12 May 2017: Last date for second round offers to be accepted by parents.  

Parents should confirm their acceptance or decline directly to 
the Local Authority. 

 
15 May 2017: Applications received after the 9 March will be considered in 

date order of receipt and will be looked at from today.  
Applications will be dealt with as soon as possible with 
allocations to a single school being made and offers being sent 
out by the LA as soon as practically possible. 

 
 
31 August 2017: On or before the 31 August the LA will send out a list to all 

schools showing the pupils expected to join the school at the 
beginning of 2017/18 school year. 

 
 
 

Page 464



PRIMARY 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Determined Co-ordinated Scheme for Primary 
School Admissions for 2017/18 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Status:  Determined Primary Co-ordinated Scheme 2017/18 

  

Page 465



2 
 

Determined Co-ordinated Admissions Scheme for Primary schools 
within Wiltshire for year 2017/18 

 
Introduction 
 
1. This scheme for co-ordinated admissions is pursuant to section 89(b) of the School 
 Standards and Framework Act 1998, for co-ordinating the arrangements for the 
 admission of pupils to Primary schools within the LA area.  It applies to all Primary 
 schools in Wiltshire with effect from September 2017 intakes.  There will be an 
 annual review of the scheme as per the School Admissions Code in force at the time. 
 
Interpretation and Glossary 
 
2. In this scheme –  
 
 “the LA” means Wiltshire Council acting in their capacity as a local (education) 
 authority; 
 
 “the LA area” means the County of Wiltshire; 
 
 The definitions of “primary education”, “Primary education”, “primary school” and 
 “Primary school" can be found in sections 2 and 5 of the Education Act 1996. 
  

 “school” means a community, (C) voluntary controlled, (VC)  foundation (F) or 
voluntary aided (VA) school 

 
 “Academy” means a state funded, non fee paying independent school set up under a 

Funding Agreement between the Secretary of State and the proprietor of an 
Academy (most commonly, and hereafter, referred to as an Academy Trust).  
Academy Funding Agreements require them to comply with the Code and the law 
relating to admissions, though the Secretary of State has the power to vary this 
requirement where there is a demonstrable need. 

 
 “admission authority” in relation to a community (C) or voluntary controlled (VC) 
 school means  the LA and, in relation to an academy, foundation or voluntary aided 
 school means  the governing body of that school; 
 
 “the specified year” means the school year beginning in September 2017. 
 
 “admission arrangements” means the determined arrangements which govern the 
 procedures and decision making for the purposes of admitting pupils to a school; 
 

“first round application” means any application for a place in the first year of primary 
or infant education or the first year of junior education that is received before the 
deadline of 15 January 2017. 

 
 “second or third round application” means any application for a place in the first year 

of primary or infant education or the first year of junior education that is received after 
the 15 January 2017. 

 
 “In – Year application” means any application for any other year group in the school 

up to and including Yr 6; 
 

Page 466



3 
 

 “eligible for a place “means that a child’s name has been placed on a school’s ranked 
list within the school’s published admission number.  

 
The application round for entry into Reception 2017 opens on 1 September 
2016.  The deadline date for applications to be received is midnight on 15 
January 2017.  The home address given for the child must be the address 
where the child is resident as of the deadline date. 

 
Starting School 
 
3. There is a legal entitlement for all three and four year olds to have access to 15 hours 

free early education per week – available from registered childminders, school-based 
childcare, Sure Start centres, pre-schools, day nurseries, playgroups or nursery 
schools 

 
A child must be in full-time education in the term following their fifth birthday.  In 
Wiltshire, children can start school at the earliest from the September following their 
fourth birthday.  Full time provision will be made available in all reception classes for 
all children from September 2017. 
 

General Information 
 
4. Parents will be able to make an online application.  Online applications will be made 

directly to County Hall, Trowbridge.  If an online application has been submitted, a 
written application is not necessary.  The online facility will be available from 1 
September 2016 up until the deadline of 15 January 2017. 

 
5. There will be a standard form for written applications known as the Primary Common 

Application form (PCAF) used for the admission of pupils into the first year of Primary 
education in the specified year. 

 
6. Unless an online application has been made, the PCAF must be used as a means of 

expressing one or more preferences by a parent wishing to apply for a school place 
for their child either within or outside the county.  The child must live in Wiltshire. 

 
7. The LA will make arrangements to ensure 
 
 a. the PCAF is accompanied by written guidance notes explaining the  
  co-ordinated admissions scheme, and 
 
 b. that copies are available on request from the LA and from all Primary schools 
  in the LA area, and 
 
 c. that an electronic version of the form is available for parents to make an  
  online application. 
 
8. The PCAF and accompanying guidance notes will invite the parent to express up to 

three preferences in rank order. Schools may be inside or outside Wiltshire, and to 
give their reasons for each preference, explain that the parent will receive no more 
than one offer of a school place and specify the closing date and the address to 
which it must be returned.  They will also confirm that; 

 
 a. a place will be offered at their highest ranked school at which they are eligible 
  to be offered a place; or 
 

Page 467



4 
 

 b. if a place cannot be offered at any one of their preferred schools, and the  
  child is living in Wiltshire, a place at an alternative school will be allocated. 
 
9. Split Site Schools – where a school operates from separate bases and each base 

provides for the full primary age range (i.e. Both Key Stage 1 and Key Stage 2), the 
two sites will be treated as separate schools for admissions purposes as they have 
their own discrete catchment area.  This means that an application must name the 
site preferred.  An applicant can use two preferences to name both sites. 

 
10. The governing body of a Foundation (F) or Voluntary Aided school (VA) can ask 

parents who have expressed a preference for their school on the PCAF, to provide 
additional information on a supplementary form but only if the additional information 
is required in order to apply their oversubscription criteria to the application.   

 
11. Where a school receives a supplementary form it may not be regarded as a valid 

application unless the parent has also completed a PCAF which expressed a 
preference for that school.  The PCAF or an online application must have been 
returned to the LA by the deadline date.   

 
12. The closing date for applications is 15 January 2017.  All completed PCAFs are to 

be returned directly to the LA.  Any PCAFs which are incorrectly returned to schools 
must be forwarded to the LA to be received by the deadline.  Forms returned to 
schools and not received by the LA by 15 January 2017 will be treated as late 
applications. 

 
13. The LA will send out an acknowledgement of receipt for each PCAF and all online 

applications.  Applicants will be advised to contact the LA if they have not received an 
acknowledgement within 15 school days of posting their applications. 

 
Address 
 
14. The child’s address provided on the application form should be that of the child’s 

normal place of residence. Only one address can be considered for application 
purposes. The address provided will be used to determine the child’s priority for a 
school place.  The Local Authority reserves the right to confirm the address provided 
by the applicant using the council tax reference number which is provided as part of 
the application.   
For Yr R September 2017 entry, the address used to determine priority of school 
places for on time applications submitted in the main round, will be the child’s normal 
place of residence as at deadline date of 15 January 2017. 

 
Shared Parental Responsibility 
 
15. Where two (or more) adults have parental responsibility for a child it is preferable that 

they should agree before submitting an application form which school(s) to name as 
their preference(s). In cases of dispute, or where two application forms are 
submitted, the LA will process the application received from the adult who has a 
residence order.  If no such order has been made, preference will be given to the 
parent with whom the child is living for the majority of the school week.    

 
If both parents are in dispute as to whom the child lives with the majority of the 
school week, the LA will process the application received from the adult who is in 
receipt of the child benefit, if this is not available then the address used on the NHS 
card will be used.   

 

Page 468



5 
 

In the event of a further dispute regarding the address used, parents may wish to 
take independent legal advice on whether they should seek a specific issue order 
from the court to decide on where the child is schooled.  For in year transfer 
applications, until any such order is made, the placement will continue in the best 
interests of securing educational provision for the child with a minimum of disruption.  

 
For year of entry, where possible, a place will be offered in accordance with the 
preferences to the parent who can provide evidence that they are in receipt of child 
benefit. 

 
 
Applications for children of UK Service Personnel  
(UK Armed Forces) 
 
16. Applications for children of service personnel with a confirmed posting to the county 

will be considered in advance of the family moving into the county.  Where possible, 
an application must be included in the normal admission round. 

 
17. An official letter, such as a posting note or letter of support from the commanding 

officer should be sent to the LA as soon as possible.  This should include the 
relocation date and the unit postal address or quartering area address (the address 
of the closest house in the nearest ‘quartering area’). 

 
18. Until a fixed address is available, the unit postal address or quartering area address 

will be used and a school place allocated accordingly. 
 
19. The LA will not refuse a child of UK service personnel a place because the family 

does not currently live in the area, it is also not permitted to reserve places for these 
children.   

 
20. Children will be considered to be siblings if any brother or sister (including step 

siblings living at the same address) have been formally offered and have accepted a 
place at the school. The sibling link will not apply if the child on roll is in Yr6. Their 
position on any waiting list will be set accordingly. 

 
21. All applications will be dealt with in accordance with these admission arrangements.  

If a reasonable alternative cannot be offered, the child may be admitted as an 
‘excepted pupil’ under the School Admissions (Infant Class Sizes) (England) 
Regulations. 

 

Armed Forces Personnel Relocating to Salisbury Plain - a Special Planning area for 
admissions 

22.  Leading up to September 2017 there is initiative to rebase serving armed forces 
personnel in Germany back to England. The Garrison towns around Salisbury Plain 
in Wiltshire will be target destinations for a significant proportion of these service 
families.   

23. Wiltshire Council is proposing from September 2015 to declare the community areas 
of Amesbury and Tidworth a ‘special planning area for Admissions’. The proposal is 
to give an admission priority to children eligible for service premium, rebasing to 
settlements around Salisbury Plain until 2018. Wiltshire Council is working closely 
with the Children’s Education Advisory Service (CEAS), a tri-service organisation 

Page 469



6 
 

funded by the MOD, to make the transition for children and families in Germany as 
smooth as possible and remove unnecessary complexity. 

24. Wiltshire Council has introduced criteria ‘H’ to the oversubscription criteria for all 

community and voluntary controlled schools in the ‘special planning area for 

admissions’ and is requesting other admission authorities in the area to consider 

making similar arrangements. 

 
25. The ‘special planning area for admissions’ will be kept under review by Wiltshire 

Council, including the option of extending the area to include Salisbury in subsequent 
years. 

26. Applications for children of service personnel with a confirmed posting will be 
considered in advance of the family moving into the county.  Where possible, an 
application must be included in the normal admission round. 

27. An official letter, such as a posting note or letter of support from the commanding 
officer should be sent to the LA as soon as possible.  This should include relocation 
date and unit postal address or quartering area address (the address of the closest 
house in the nearest ‘quartering area’) in the ‘special planning area for admissions’. 

28. Until a fixed address is available, the unit postal address or quartering area address 
will be used and a school place allocated accordingly. 

29. The LA will not refuse a child of UK service personnel a place because the family 
does not currently live in the area, nor will it reserve blocks of places for these 
children. 

30. Children will be considered to be siblings if any brother or sister (including step 
siblings living at the same address) have been formally offered and have accepted a 
place at the school. The sibling link will not apply if the child on roll is in Yr6. Their 
position on any waiting list will be set accordingly.)  

31. All applications will be dealt with in accordance with these admission arrangements.  
If a reasonable alternative cannot be offered, the child may be admitted as an 
‘excepted pupil’ under the School Admissions (Infant Class Sizes) (England) 
Regulations 2012. 

Applications for Children from overseas 
 
32. Children who hold a full British Citizen passport or children whose passport has been 

endorsed to show they have the right to abode in the country are entitled to apply for 
a place at a maintained school.  The passport or visa should be made available for 
inspection before an offer of a school place can be made.  Asylum Seekers should 
make available evidence of their right of abode as provided by the National Asylum 
Support Service. 

 
33. Applications on behalf of children currently living outside the UK will be considered 

but until the child/ren are resident in the country their home address will be 
considered as being their place of residence outside the UK.  Exceptions to this 
would be instances where the children are of parents returning from foreign postings, 
such as UK service personnel and other crown servants who have been posted 
abroad on a fixed term contract and who are returning to live within the UK.  Proof of 

Page 470



7 
 

the future UK residency will be required if an application is made to an 
oversubscribed school. 

 
The Application Process 
  
First Round Applications for Reception 2017 Intake (applications received before the 
deadline of 15 January 2017)  
 
34. The LA will act as a clearing house for the allocation of places by the relevant 

admissions authorities in response to the PCAFs.  The LA will only make a decision 
with respect to the offer or refusal of a place in response to any preference 
expressed on the PCAF where- 

 
 a. it is acting in its separate capacity as an admission authority, or 
 
 b. an applicant is eligible for a place at more than one school, or 
 
 c. an applicant is not eligible for a place at any of the schools for which a  
  preference was expressed. 
 
35. The process by which the LA will allocate places is explained at paragraphs 37- 44. 
 
36. 15 January 2017 Closing date for all Common Application Forms to be received 

by the School Admissions Team at County Hall.  Applications received by this 
date will be classed as first round applications. 

 
37. By 10 February 2017 where parents have nominated a Primary school outside the 
 LA area, the LA will notify the relevant LA. 
 
38. By 10 February 2017 the LA will notify all F and VA schools and Academies of 
 every preference that has been expressed for that school. 
 
39. By 8 March 2017 all F and VA schools and Academies must have considered all of 

the preferences for their school, and provide the LA with a ranked list of all applicants 
in accordance with the oversubscription criteria. 

 
40. The LA will then match this ranked list against all other ranked lists and: 
 

 Where the child is eligible for a place at only one of the preferred schools, a 
  place at the school will be offered to the child. 
 

 Where the child is eligible for a place at two or more of the nominated  
  schools, they will be offered a place at whichever school was their highest 
  available preference. 

 
41. Where the child is not eligible for a place at any of the nominated schools and the 

child lives in Wiltshire, they will be allocated a place at a school.  This will be their 
designated school if places are available or at another school (to which there would 
be an entitlement to free school transport if it were outside the statutory safe walking 
distance from the home).  Should this place subsequently be declined then it is the 
parent’s responsibility to apply for an alternative school place. 

 
42. By 3 April 2017 the LA will inform other LAs of any places in Wiltshire schools which 
 will be offered to their residents. 
 

Page 471



8 
 

43. By 12 April 2017 the LA will inform Wiltshire schools of the pupils to be offered 
places at their schools. 

 
44. On 18 April 2017 (National Offer Date) letters will be despatched to all parents who 

submitted an application by 15 January 2017 offering a place at one school. 
 
45. These offer letters will give the following information: 
 
 a. the name of the school at which a place is offered; 
 
 b. the reason why the child is not being offered a place at any of the other  
  schools nominated on the PCAF; 
  
 c. information about their statutory right of appeal against any decisions to  
  refuse  places at other preferred schools; 
 
 d. contact details for the LA and the schools for which they expressed a  
  preference. 
 
46. 2 May 2017 is the deadline for parents to accept the place offered. Parents should 

confirm their acceptance online if they have applied online, or if they have applied by 
paper return the acceptance/decline slip directly to the Local Authority. 

 
If the parent does not respond to the Local Authority to confirm if they wish to accept 
or decline the offer by 2 May 2017, the Local Authority will send a second letter to the 
parent informing them that they have seven days in which to accept or decline the 
place which has been offered. They will also be advised in this letter that failure to 
respond could result in the offer of the place being withdrawn. If there is still no 
response a third letter will be sent to the applicant informing them that the offer of a 
place has been withdrawn.  It will then be the parent’s responsibility to apply for an 
alternative school place.  

 
Second Round Applications for Reception 2017 Intake (applications received between 
16 January 2017 and 25 April 2017) 

 
47. Second round applications, i.e. those received between 16 January 2017 and 25 

April 2017 for the Reception Intake round will not be considered until after all first 
round on time applications have been processed.  Second round applications will be 
considered together with any applicant previously refused a place in the first round 
and if necessary will be prioritised using the oversubscription policy in place at the 
time.  

  
Only one offer of a school place for each child can be held at any one time.  If 
the Local Authority receives a further application for a child who has already 
secured a place in an earlier round, the new stated preferences will 
automatically supersede any earlier preferences stated.  
 
During the second round of applications parents should note that the school 
initially allocated will be retained for their child pending the outcome of that 
application and that there is no guarantee of gaining a place at the preferred 
school named on the new application. 
 

Page 472



9 
 

Parents can only hold one offer. Therefore if an offer is made to a child during 
the second round of allocations any offer made in the first round will 
automatically be withdrawn. 
 
The LA will contact all Foundation, Aided schools and Academies named as a 
preference on the application form to determine whether or not a place is available.  
An offer will be made for the school named as the highest preference where there is 
an identified place.  Where the child is not eligible for a place at any of the nominated 
schools, and the child lives in Wiltshire, the child will be allocated a place at their 
designated school if places are available, unless an alternative place is available 
within the safe statutory walking distance from their home address. The process 
explained in 48-51 will be followed: 

 
48. By 3 May 2017 Details of second round applications received between the 16 

January 2016 and 25 April 2016 to be sent to Academies, Foundation and Voluntary 
Aided Schools. 

 
49. By 10 May 2017 Academies, Foundation and Voluntary Aided Schools should 

provide the LA with a ranked list of second round applications.  
 

On receipt, the LA will match the returns from all schools and will make an allocation 
of one place for each applicant: 

 

 Where the child is eligible for a place at only one of the preferred schools, a 
  place at the school will be offered to the child. 
 

 Where the child is eligible for a place at two or more of the nominated 
schools, they will be offered a place at whichever school was their highest 
available preference. 

 
50. 31 May 2017 the LA will send out the second round offers for applications received 

between 16 January 2017 and 25 April 2017.  
 
51. 14 June 2017 is the last date for offers to be accepted by parents.  Parents should 

return their acceptance/decline slips back to the LA. 
 

If the parent does not respond to the Local Authority to confirm if they wish to accept 
or decline the offer by the date stated in the letter, the Local Authority will send a 
second letter to the parent informing them that they have seven days in which to 
accept or decline the place which has been offered. They will also be advised in this 
letter that failure to respond could result in the offer of the place being withdrawn. If 
there is still no response a third letter will be sent to the applicant informing them that 
the offer of a place has been withdrawn.  It will then be the parent’s responsibility to 
apply for an alternative school place.  

 
Third Round Applications for Reception 2017 Intake (applications received after 25 
April 2017) 
 

52. Third round applications, i.e. those received after 25 April 2017 for the Reception 

Intake round will not be considered until after all the second round applications have 
been processed.  Third round applications will be considered together with any 
applicant previously refused a place and if necessary will be prioritised using the 
oversubscription policy in place at the time.   

 

Page 473



10 
 

Only one offer of a school place for each child can be held at any one time.  If 
the Local Authority receives a further application for a child who has already 
secured a place in an earlier round, the new stated preferences will 
automatically supersede any earlier preferences stated.  
 
During the third round of applications parents should note that the school 
initially allocated will be retained for their child pending the outcome of that 
application and that there is no guarantee of gaining a place at the preferred 
school named on the new application. 
 
Parents can only hold one offer. Therefore if an offer is made to a child during 
the third round of allocations any offer made in the first or second round will 
automatically be withdrawn. 
 

            The LA will contact all Foundation, Aided schools and Academies named as a 
preference on the application form to determine whether or not a place is available.  
An offer will be made for the school named as the highest preference where there is 
an identified place.  Where the child is not eligible for a place at any of the nominated 
schools, and the child lives in Wiltshire, the child will be allocated a place at their 
designated school if a place is available, unless an alternative place is available 
within the safe statutory walking distance from their home address. The process 
explained in 53 - 56 will be followed: 

 
53. Applications received after the 25 April 2017 will be considered in date order of 

receipt and will be looked at after 30 June 2017 (i.e. once the second round of 
applications have been processed).   

 
54. If the parent does not respond to the Local Authority to confirm if they wish to accept 

or decline the offer by the date stated in the letter, the Local Authority will send a 
second letter to the parent informing them that they have seven days in which to 
accept or decline the place which has been offered. They will also be advised in this 
letter that failure to respond could result in the offer of the place being withdrawn. If 
there is still no response a third letter will be sent to the applicant informing them that 
the offer of a place has been withdrawn.  It will then be the parent’s responsibility to 
apply for an alternative school place.  

 
Applications for Reception 2017 Intake (applications received after 21 July 2017) 
 
55. Any applications received by the LA after 21 July 2017 which expresses a preference 

for an Aided, Foundation School or an Academy will be forwarded to the school 
within five school days of receipt at which time the process for in year applications 
will apply. 

 
Final List of expected reception pupils to schools 
 
56. On or before 31 August 2017 the LA will send out a list to all maintained schools in 

Wiltshire showing those pupils expected to start in the school at the beginning of the 
2017/18 school year. 

 
Admitting in - area children above Published Admissions Number (PAN) 
 
57. Wiltshire Council will always try and allocate a space at a child’s designated school 

whenever this is possible.  We cannot reserve places at any school nor can we 
guarantee that a space will be available at the designated school.  Having enough 

Page 474



11 
 

spaces in schools for local children is a service priority for the School Buildings and 
Places team. 

 
58. The LA has responsibility for the strategic management of school places across the 

county and has to ensure admissions do not compromise its ability to provide efficient 
and effective use of resources.  It is often more economic to admit children to their 
designated school because this does not incorporate an additional transport cost 
which would be required were an alternative school be allocated. 

 
59. For some schools, the next nearest school does not provide a reasonable alternative 

because it is beyond the statutory walking distance or the route is unsafe or there is 
no available transport.  Any children who move into these areas might have to be 
admitted to the designated school despite any existing pressures upon it. 

 
60. It may not always be possible to find a space at the designated school if this is 

already oversubscribed.  In - area children will be given priority on any waiting list.  If 
the designated area school is unable to accommodate any more children within the 
year group then the LA will allocate an alternative school which will be the next 
nearest school which has available places. 

 
61. Transport would be made available for any children who had to be allocated a school 

because their designated school was full and the school that has been allocated is 
outside of the statutory safe walking distance for the age of the child. All other 
entitlements will be dealt with by the Passenger Transport Team. 

 
 
The Transfer Application Process 

 
Transfer Applications for year groups other than Reception 2017 Intake. 
 
All transfer applications for all year groups, to Wiltshire Schools, should be submitted directly 
to Wiltshire Council.  If a parent wishes to apply for a transfer to a school in another Local 
Authority then they should apply directly to the authority in which the school is situated in.  
The transfer application process for Wiltshire Schools is explained below.   

 
62. The LA will make available copies of the Admissions Guide and PCAF through all 

primary and secondary schools and on request from County Hall. 
 
63. All applicants who wish to apply for a school place must complete an application form 

which should be returned to the LA, once completed by the current school.  The 
applicant may or may not live in Wiltshire. 

 
64. Should a parent living in Wiltshire wish to apply for a school in another authority; they 

must contact that authority directly for details on how to apply. 
 
65. Where a school receives an in year application form expressing a preference for that 

school the form should be forwarded to the LA within five school days of receipt. 
 
66. Where the LA receives an in year application form expressing a preference for a VC 

or C school the application will be forwarded to the school within five school days of 
receipt. 

 
67. Where the LA receives an in year application form expressing a preference for an 

Academy, F or VA school the application will be forwarded to the school within five 
school days of receipt. 

Page 475



12 
 

 
68. For an Academy, F or VA school, the school’s governing body is responsible for 

deciding the outcome of the application and advising the LA accordingly within 10 
school days of the date of which the information was received by the school. 

 
69. In all cases, Wiltshire Council will aim to send a decision letter out within 20 school 

days of receiving the application form and this will provide information, if appropriate, 
about the statutory right of appeal.   
 

70. Waiting lists for schools must be kept and will be managed as per the admission 
arrangements for the particular school involved.  Waiting lists will be kept in order of 
the relevant oversubscription criteria and not in date order of receipt. 

 
71.      The Local Authority will maintain waiting lists for all year groups for VC & C schools. 
 
72.   The school/academy will maintain waiting lists for all year groups for A, F & VA 

schools. 
 
73. In accordance with paragraph 2.21 of the School Admissions Code the LA is required 

to provide parents on request the availability of school places within its area.  All 
schools must provide the LA with this information.  This must be done on a termly 
basis with the first return to be sent by 6 September 2017. 

 
Applications for transfer at a future date 
 
74. Applications for transfer for VC and C schools will be considered no more than a 

maximum of one term in advance.  All requests for admissions to VC and C Schools 
will be processed in line with the timetable below. 

 
This table gives the earliest date that applications can be sent and when they are 
considered. Decision letters should be posted within 20 school days of either the date 
in the last column or, if your application is later than this, our receipt of your form.  

 

Date admission being 
sought 

Earliest application should 
be submitted 

Applications will be 
processed from 

January to March 1 September 31 October 

April to July 1 January 15 February 

September to December 1 April 31 May 

 
75. Applications for transfer for VA and F schools and Academies and UTC’s will be 

forwarded when received directly to the schools named for consideration in 
accordance with the schools own admissions policy 

 
Proof of address 
 

76. The LA reserves the right to ask parents for proof of their address. If the parents’ 
current address is different to that held on the LA’s computerised system the LA may 
ask parents to provide proof of the new address if one is indicated. Acceptable proof 
of address includes:  

 
A solicitor’s letter stating contracts have been exchanged and specifying a 
completion date  

Page 476



13 
 

A signed and dated tenancy agreement plus proof of residency (e.g. copy of a recent 
utility bill)  

 
If parents fail to provide proof of a new address, the LA will use the old address for 
admission purposes. If parents notify the LA that they will be moving house, even if 
they provide the relevant proof of that address, they must move into that property by 
no later than the end of the first term following the notification. The LA reserves the 
right to check that parents are living in the address indicated within that timescale. If 
parents are not living there, the applications will be investigated and the allocated 
place may be withdrawn. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
Fair Access Protocol 
 
77. All Wiltshire Schools will act in accordance with the Fair Access Protocol which has 

been adopted to give access to educational provisions for hard to place children. 
Further information on the In Year Fair Access Protocol, as well as a copy of the 
protocol, can be viewed at www.wiltshire.gov.uk  

 

Early, deferred or delayed admission 
 
78. a. Early admission 
 

 Admissions to school earlier than the term following the child’s 4th birthday 
may be agreed in exceptional circumstances, such as medical or social 
factors that have an adverse effect on the child.  The request must have the 
approval of the LA’s professional adviser and there must be no suitable 
alternative pre-school provision available.  Early admission will be agreed for 
a maximum of one traditional term before the next available normal entry 
date. 

 
b. Deferred admission until later in the academic year  
 

Parents do not have to ensure their child receives full time education until the 
start of the term following their fifth birthday. However, parents have the right 
to start their child in school in the September of the academic year following 
their fourth birthday. In such circumstances, parents also have the option to 
start their child on a part–time basis or defer their child’s entry until later in 
that academic year.  

If a parent decides to defer their child’s entry to the school that they have 
been offered until later in the academic year, that place will be held for the 
child and will not be offered to another child.  However, please note that entry 
cannot be deferred beyond the point at which their child reaches compulsory 
school age (for the avoidance of doubt the law states that a child reaches 
compulsory school age on the prescribed day following his or her fifth birthday 
[or on his or her fifth birthday if it falls on a prescribed day]. The prescribed 
days are 31 December, 31 March and 31 August).   For children born between 
1 April and 31 August, parents cannot defer entry beyond the beginning of the 
April term of the school year for which the offer was made. 

Page 477

http://www.wiltshire.gov.uk/


14 
 

Please note also that children who attend part-time until later in the school 
year cannot do so beyond the point at which they reach compulsory school 
age. 

If the parent decides that they no longer wish to take up their child’s place, 
they should inform the school and the Local Authority that the place is no 
longer required. The place will then be withdrawn and reallocated to the child 
who is top of the waiting list at that time.  The parent must then submit a fresh 
application for a place in year one for the following academic year.  The 
application can be submitted from April 2017 but will not be considered until 
June 2017. 

Parents wishing to defer entry need to apply by the closing date 15 January 
2016. Any request to defer or attend part-time should be made to the school 
as soon as an offer is received.  

 

c. Admission of children outside their normal age group 
 

All applications will be dealt with in accordance with the School Admissions 
Code 2.17, 2.17a, 2.17b, which came into force on 19 December 2014 

 

Parents may seek a place for their child outside of their normal age group, 

for example, if the child is gifted and talented or has experienced problems 

such as ill health. In addition, the parents of a summer born child   (born 

from 1 April to 31 August)
 
may choose not to send that child to school until 

the September following their fifth birthday and may request that they are 

admitted out of their normal age group – to reception rather than year 1. 

The decisions on requests for applications outside the child’s normal age 
group are made by the Admission Authority for any particular school, which in 
the case of Voluntary Controlled & Community Schools is the Council.  For 
Voluntary Aided, Foundation Schools or Academies the Admissions Authority 
is the governing body of the school concerned.  The decision to admit outside 
of their normal age group is made on the basis of the circumstances of each 
case.  

All parents who wish to apply for delayed entry into reception for any Wiltshire 
school, must first submit a formal application to the Local Authority.  If they 
are applying for a Voluntary Controlled or Community school, they will also 
need to make a written request at the time of application to the Local 
Authority’s admissions co-ordinator, providing reasons for the request along 
with any supporting documentation they wish to include.  

If parents wish to apply for delayed entry to a Voluntary Aided, Foundation 
school or an Academy, then following the submission of the formal application 
to the Local Authority, the parent should contact the governing body of the 
school concerned to discuss their request. 

All requests should be made in the September following the child’s 3rd 
birthday, in order to give sufficient time for the case to be considered by the 
admissions authority prior to the deadline for applications of 15 January. In 
the case of Voluntary Controlled and Community schools, the Local Authority 
will look at the following factors when an application for admission outside the 
normal ages group:  

Page 478



15 
 

 the parent’s views 

 information about the child’s academic, social and emotional development;  

 where relevant, their medical history and the views of a medical professional; 

 whether they have previously been educated out of their normal age group; 

 whether they may naturally have fallen into a lower age group if it were not 

for being born prematurely 

 the views of the head teacher of the school 

The Local Authority will make decisions on the basis of the circumstances of 
each case and in the best interests of the child concerned.  

 

If the parental request for delayed admission into reception is agreed, a 
separate application for a place in the next cohort would have to be made in 
the September following the child’s 4th birthday. This application would be 
considered along with all the other applicants for admission in that year at the 
preferred school. There would be no guarantee that a place would be able to 
be offered in the preferred school. If the preferred school is over-subscribed 
and you are not offered a place, the Local Authority will make an alternative 
offer. However please note that delayed admission in to reception in the 
alternative school may not be possible. 

If the parental request for delayed admission into reception is refused, the 
formal application which has already been submitted will be processed, 
unless the Local Authority receives a request from the parent to withdraw the 
application.  If no request to withdraw the application is received, then after 
the offer of a school place had been made the parent can then inform the 
Local Authority and the school that they want to defer entry as outlined above.  

When informing a parent of their decision on the year group the child should 
be admitted to, the admission authority must set out clearly the reasons for 
their decision. Parents have a statutory right to appeal against the refusal of a 
place at a school for which they have applied. This right does not apply if they 
are offered a place at the school but it is not in their preferred age group. 

 
Right of Appeal for the Admission of children outside their normal age group 
 

Parents who are refused a place at a school for which they have applied have 
the right of appeal to an independent Admission Appeal panel. They do not 
have a right of appeal if they have been offered a place and it is not in the 
year group they would like. However, if parents are dissatisfied with the 
outcome of the request for delayed entry into reception they have the right to 
complain against the decision through the Council’s complaints procedure for 
decisions made by council officers or under the school’s complaints 
procedure where the school is the admissions authority.  

 
Right of Appeal  
 

Page 479



16 
 

Parents who are refused a place at a school for which they have applied have the right of 
appeal to an independent Admission Appeal panel. 
 
The deadline dates for lodging appeals is for the main round entry is: 

 
First round appeals 
For applications received from 1 September 2016 – 15 January 2017 and for offers 
made on National Offer Date appeals must be received by the Local Authority no 
later than 2 May 2017. 
 
Second round appeals 
For applications received from 16 January 2017 – 25 April 2017 and for offers made 
on 28 April 2017 appeals must be received by the Local Authority no late than 14 
June 2017. 
 
Third round appeals 
For applications received after the 25 April 2017 and for offers made as soon as 
possible after 30 June 2017 will be heard as soon as possible. 
 
All appeals will be heard in accordance with the timescales which have been 
determined and are explained in the School Admissions Appeals Code. 
 
In Year Transfer Applications 
All appeals will be heard in accordance with the timescales which have been 
determined and are explained in the School Admissions Appeals Code 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
  

Page 480



17 
 

Appendix:  2017/18  Timetable for Primary Co-ordination (Wiltshire) 
 
15 January 2017: Closing date for all Common Application Forms to be received by 

 the School Admissions Team at County Hall.  Applications 
received by this date will be classed as first round applications. 

 
10 February 2017: Details of applications which include preferences for schools in other 

LAs to be sent to those LAs. 
 
10 February 2017: Details of applications to be sent to F, VA schools and Academies of 

all first round applicants. 
 
8 March 2017: F, VA schools and Academies to provide the LA with ranked lists of all 

first round applicants. 
  
 Between 14 March and 3 April the LA will match the ranked list from all 

schools and allocate places. 
 
3 April 2017: The LA will inform other LAs of any offers of places at Wiltshire 

schools to be made to applicants resident in their areas. 
 
12 April 2017: By this date the LA will provide schools with details of those children to 

be offered places at the school. 
 
18 April 2017: Notification letters despatched and sent to parents for all first 

round applicants. 
 
25 April 2017: Deadline for second round applications. 
 
2 May 2017: Last date for first round offers to be accepted by parents. Parents 

should confirm their acceptance online, if they have applied online, or 
if they have applied by paper return the acceptance/decline slip 
directly to the Local Authority. 

 
3 May 2017: Details of second round applications to be sent to F, VA schools and 

Academies of all second round applicants. 
 
10 May 2017: F, VA schools and Academies to provide the LA with ranked lists of all 

second round applicants. 
 
31 May 2017: Notification letters despatched and sent to parents for all second 

round applicants. 
 
14 June 2017:  Last date for second round offers to be accepted by parents.  Parents 

should return their acceptance/decline slips back to the LA. 
 
30 June 2017: Applications received after the 25 April will be considered in date order 

of receipt and will be looked at from today.  Applications will be dealt 
with as soon as possible with allocations to a single school being 
made and offers being sent out by the LA as soon as practically 
possible. 

 
31 August 2017: On or before the 31 August the LA will send out a list to all schools 

showing the pupils expected to join the school at the beginning of the 
2017/18 school year. 

Page 481



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
Determined Admission Arrangements for Community and Voluntary 

Controlled Secondary Schools for 2017/18 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
Status: Determined Admissions Arrangements 2017/18 

SECONDARY 

Page 483



 

  

2 

 

DETERMINED SECONDARY ADMISSION ARRANGEMENTS  
 
Wiltshire Council’s determined admission arrangements for admission to 
Voluntary Controlled and Community (VC and C) Secondary Schools for the 
2017/18 academic year 
 

1. General Information 
 
 This policy applies solely to applications for places at Voluntary Controlled (VC) and Community 

(C) Secondary Schools in Wiltshire. Foundation (F) Voluntary Aided (VA) Schools and 
Academies (A) are their own admission authorities and the governing bodies are responsible for 
determining their own procedures and policies. 

 
 Determined arrangements for the co-ordination of secondary admissions are made within 

the d co-ordinated admissions scheme 2017/18. 
 

The application round for entry into Year 7 - 2017 opens on 1 September 2016.  
The deadline date for applications to be received is midnight on 31 October 2016.  
The home address given for the child must be the address where the child is 
resident as of the deadline date. 

 
 
 a. Designated Area 

 
 A designated area is a discrete geographical zone served by a school.  The address that 

determines a child’s designated area is the place where s/he is ordinarily resident with 
his/her parent(s) or legal guardian(s) for the majority of the school week.  Most schools 
have a discrete designated area but some addresses fall within areas shared by two or 
more schools. Children who live outside the designated area for the school may still 
express a preference for the school.  

 
 b. Preferences 

 
Parents will be invited to state up to three ranked preferences.  Each preference will be 
considered equally.  This means that Wiltshire Council will consider all applications 
against the published admissions criteria without reference to how the school applied for 
has been ranked on the application form.  As far as possible applicants will be offered a 
place at a school to which they have expressed a preference.  Where the applicant has 
made more than one preference the Local Authority (LA) will make an offer for the highest 
ranked preferred school possible with available places in accordance with the standard 
admission criteria.  Where it is not possible to offer a place at a preferred school, and the 
applicant lives in Wiltshire, the LA will allocate a place.  Allocations will be made after all 
expressed preferences have been considered.  An alternative school may be allocated in 
cases where the designated school is full and the alternative school is within the safe 
statutory 3 mile walking distance and has places available or it is a school to which free 
home to school transport would be provided. 

 
c. Children with a statement of special educational needs or education, health and 

care plans 
 

All children whose statement of special educational needs or education, health care plans 
names a school must be admitted. Once a statement reaches the formal proposed stage 
the administration of the admission of the young person becomes the responsibility of the 
Statutory SEN Service at which point this policy ceases to apply 

Page 484



 

  

3 

 

 

 
 d. Published Admission Number 
 
 A Published Admission Number (PAN) is agreed for each school annually and defines the 

number of places available for the year of entry.  All applications must be agreed until the 
PAN has been reached and this figure will not be exceeded other than in exceptional 
circumstances.  For example, a child living within a school’s designated area and for 
whom no reasonable alternative school place is available, would be allocated a place at 
the designated school even if this exceeds the PAN.  Reasonable in this circumstance is 
defined as a school within the statutory three mile safe walking distance from the child’s 
home address or a school to which free home to school transport would be provided. 

  
e. Address 

 
The child’s address provided on the application form should be that of the child’s normal 
place of residence. Only one address can be considered for application purposes. The 
address provided will be used to determine the child’s priority for a school place.  The 
Local Authority reserves the right to confirm the address provided by the applicant using 
the council tax reference number which is provided as part of the application.   
For Yr 7 September 2017 entry, the address used to determine priority of school places 
for on time applications submitted in the main round, will be the child’s normal place of 
residence as at deadline date of 31 October 2016. 

 
 f. Shared Parental Responsibility 
 

Where two (or more) adults have parental responsibility for a child it is preferable that 
they should agree before submitting an application form which school(s) to name as their 
preference(s). In cases of dispute, or where two application forms are submitted, the LA 
will process the application received from the adult who has a residence order.  If no such 
order has been made, preference will be given to the parent with whom the child is living 
for the majority of the school week.    

 
If both parents are in dispute as to whom the child lives with the majority of the school 
week, the LA will process the application received from the adult who is in receipt of the 
child benefit, if this is not available then the address used on the NHS card will be used.   

 
In the event of a further dispute regarding the address used, parents may wish to take 
independent legal advice on whether they should seek a specific issue order from the 
court to decide on where the child is schooled.  For in year transfer applications, until any 
such order is made, the placement will continue in the best interests of securing 
educational provision for the child with a minimum of disruption.  

 
For year of entry, where possible, a place will be offered in accordance with the 
preferences to the parent who can provide evidence that they are in receipt of child 
benefit. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
  
 

Page 485



 

  

4 

 

g. Multiple Births 
 
 The LA will endeavour to place siblings (e.g. twins, triplets etc) in the same school.  If 

necessary schools will be required to admit over PAN to accommodate such children.  
 

h. Children of UK Service Personnel (UK Armed Forces)  
 

Applications for children of UK service personnel with a confirmed posting to the county 
will be considered in advance of the family moving into the county if necessary.  Where 
possible, an application must be included in the normal admission round. 
 
An official letter, such as a posting note or letter of support from the commanding officer 
should be sent to the LA as soon as possible.  This should include the relocation date and 
unit postal address or quartering area address (the address of the closest house in the 
nearest ‘quartering area’). 
 
Until a fixed address is available, the unit postal address or quartering area address will 
be used and a school place allocated accordingly. 
 
The local authority will not refuse a child of UK service personnel a place because the 
family does not currently live in the area. it is also not permitted to reserve places for 
these children. 
 
Children will be considered to be siblings if any brother or sister is going to be attending a 
Wiltshire school, a formal offer has been made and the place has been accepted. Their 
position on any waiting list will be set accordingly. The sibling link will not apply if the child 
that is going to be attending the school will be in year 11. 

i. Armed Forces Personnel Relocating to Salisbury Plain - a Special 
 Planning area for admissions 

Leading up to September 2017 there is initiative to rebase serving armed forces 
personnel in Germany back to England. The Garrison towns around Salisbury Plain in 
Wiltshire will be target destinations for a significant proportion of these service families.   

Wiltshire Council has agreed that from September 2015 to declare the community areas 
of Amesbury and Tidworth a ‘special planning area for Admissions’. The proposal is to 
give an admission priority to children eligible to service premium, rebasing to settlements 
around Salisbury Plain until 2018. Wiltshire Council is working closely with the Children’s 
Education Advisory Service (CEAS), a tri-service organisation funded by the MOD, to 
make the transition for children and families in Germany as smooth as possible and 
remove unnecessary complexity. 

Wiltshire Council is proposing to add criteria ‘G’ to the oversubscription criteria for all 

community and voluntary controlled schools in the ‘special planning area for admissions’ 

and is requesting other admission authorities in the area to consider making similar 

arrangements. 

 
The ‘special planning area for admissions’ will be kept under review by Wiltshire Council, 
including the option of extending the area to include Salisbury in subsequent years. 

Applications for children of service personnel with a confirmed posting will be considered 
in advance of the family moving into the county if necessary.  Where possible, an 
application must be included in the normal admission round. 

Page 486



 

  

5 

 

An official letter, such as a posting note or letter of support from the commanding officer 
should be sent to the LA as soon as possible.  This should include relocation date and 
unit postal address or quartering area address (the address of the closest house in the 
nearest ‘quartering area’) in the ‘special planning area for admissions’. 

Until a fixed address is available, the unit postal address or quartering area address will 
be used and a school place allocated accordingly. 

The LA will not refuse a child of UK service personnel a place because the family does 
not currently live in the area, it is also not permitted to reserve places for these children. 

Children will be considered to be siblings if any brother or sister is going to be attending a 
Wiltshire school, a formal offer has been made and the place has been accepted.  Their 
position on any waiting list will be set accordingly. 

All applications will be dealt with in accordance with these admission arrangements.  

2. Early or Delayed Transfer 
 
 a. Early transfer 

 
Children may only transfer early to a secondary school if it can be shown that not to do so 
would be detrimental to their academic progress or social wellbeing.  Each such request 
involves consultation with the current school, the school to which the child wishes to 
transfer and where appropriate, the Authority’s professional adviser(s).  The application 
will not be agreed if one or more parties consider that the transfer would be inappropriate.  
Agreement to such a request would be considered exceptional. 

 
 b. Delayed transfer 

 
Children may remain for a further year in a primary school if it can be shown that not to do 
so would be detrimental to their academic progress or social wellbeing,  The presence of 
special educational needs or underachievement are not in themselves sufficient reasons 
to delay transfer. 
 
Children for whom a delayed entry to school or year group retention has already been 
agreed by the relevant parties will continue in the lower year group unless it can be 
shown that it is in their best interests to rejoin their chronological year group.  The 
continuation of this arrangement will continue on transfer to secondary school unless the 
parent/carer, current school, the school to which the child would otherwise wish to 
transfer and, where appropriate, the LA’s professional adviser consider it in the child’s 
best interest to rejoin the chronological year group.  An application for transfer to 
secondary school must still be made in the same way as expected of other children in the 
year group in which they are working (rather than their chronological age group). 
 

 

3. Deadline – applications received by the deadline date of 31 October 
2016 will be considered as first round applications 

 
 The closing date for main round applications (i.e. applications for entry into Secondary 

Yr7 2017) is 31 October 2016.   
 
 All applications received after the deadline of 31 October 2016, including those directed 

incorrectly to schools and not forwarded to the LA before the deadline, will be treated as 
late applications and considered only after those applications received before the 

Page 487



 

  

6 

 

deadline have been determined.  Applications may be considered as being received on 
time if they meet the exceptional circumstances criteria as detailed in the Co-ordinated 
Admissions Scheme 2017/18. 

 
 

4. Oversubscription Criteria for Voluntary Controlled and Community 
Schools 

 
Where a secondary school is over-subscribed, places are allocated to children in order of 
the ranked criteria listed below: 

 
 
a. Looked After Children/Previously Looked After Children  

 
 The definition of Looked After Children - a ‘looked after child’ or a child who was 

previously looked after but immediately after being looked after became subject to an 
adoption, child arrangements, or special guardianship order.  A looked after child is a 
child who is (a) in the care of a local authority, or (b) being provided with accommodation 
by a local authority in the exercise of their social services functions (see the definition in 
section 22 (1) of the Children Act 1989). 

 

b. Vulnerable Children 

 
Children from families registered with the National Asylum Support Service; children or 
families with a serious medical, physical or psychological condition where written 
evidence is provided at the time of application from a senior clinical medical officer, 
general practitioner or specialist showing that it would be detrimental to the child or family 
not to admit to the preferred school. 

 
For the purpose of the above criteria the word ‘families’ is determined as living at the 
same address at the time of application and also living at the same address on a 
permanent basis.  Proof will be required and must be submitted by the deadline date. 

 
c. Designated Area Siblings and Shared Area Siblings 

 
 A child is considered under this criterion if a sibling is attending the school as at the 

deadline date and where the child lives within the designated area or shared area at the 
same address as the sibling.  The sibling must not be in year 11, 12 or 13 of the school at 
the deadline date.  Step, half and foster siblings are included in this category;  

 
d. Other Children from the Designated Area or Shared Area 

 
 Children resident within the designated area or shared area who do not qualify under one 

of the criteria above.  
 

e. Other Siblings 

 
 A child is considered under this criterion if a sibling is attending the school as at the 

deadline date and where the child lives at the same address as the sibling.  The sibling 
must not be in years 11, 12 or 13 at the school as of the deadline date. Step, half and 
foster siblings are also included in this category; 

 
f. Children of staff at the school 
 

A child is considered under this criterion:  
 

Page 488



 

  

7 

 

  i)  where the member of staff has been employed at the school for two or more years 
   at the time at which the application for admission to the school is made, and/or  

  ii)  the member of staff is recruited to fill a vacant post for which there is a   
   demonstrable skill shortage.  
 

If applicants wish to be considered under this criterion then a letter from the Headteacher 
confirming the one of the above applies to the applicant must be provided at the time of 
application. 

 
 g. Children eligible for service premium relocating to Salisbury Plain 

The above criteria will only apply to the following schools: 
 

Amesbury - Stonehenge 
 

h. Other children 
 

  Children to whom none of the above criteria apply.  
 

Tie Break 
 

If the school is oversubscribed within any of the above categories the straight-line distance from 
the child’s home address to the school will be used as the determining factor.  Distances will be 
measured according to the Ordnance Survey eastings and northings for the child’s home 
address and the school.  Those living closer to the school will be given priority. 

 
If two or more children with the same priority for admission live an indistinguishable distance 
from the preferred school, but cannot all be admitted then the available places will be decided by 
means of casting lots. 

 
The random allocation will be conducted independently by Democratic Services, Wiltshire 
Council.  

 

5. Waiting Lists  
 

Waiting lists for VC & C Schools will be maintained for all intake year groups in schools.  
Children will automatically be added to these lists if a preference higher than the school 
place offered has been refused.  All applicants have the right of appeal against any 
refusal of a place.  The existence of a waiting list does not remove this right from any 
unsuccessful applicant. 
 
The position on the list will be determined by applying the published over-subscription 
criteria and not by date order of receipt.  This will mean a position will change if a later 
application is received from someone with higher priority according to the 
oversubscription criteria. 
 
Waiting lists for the all year groups will close on 21 July 2018.  
 
Parents may submit a fresh application for the next academic year group which will be 
considered from 6 June 2018 onwards. 
 
Places that become available will not be offered to pupils who are not on the waiting list.  
 
If your child is offered a place from a waiting list for any VC or C school then you must 
accept or decline the place within 10 working days of the date of offer.  If the place is not 
accepted then a further letter will be sent informing the applicant that should they neither 
accept nor decline the place within five working days the place will be withdrawn.  A 
further letter will be sent informing the applicant the place has been withdrawn. 

Page 489



 

  

8 

 

 Notes: 
 

 Names will only be removed from the lists if a written request is received or if the  
  offer of a place that becomes available is declined. 
 
 Registration of interest on a school's pre-admission List will not be considered as  
  an application for a school place.  

 
 Parents must contact any Voluntary Aided, Foundation school or the Academy  
  concerned to obtain information on the existence and or maintenance of a waiting 
  list. 
 
 Except for Service Families, children will considered to be living within the  
  designated area for a school on receipt of an exchange of contracts or a signed  
  tenancy agreement. 
 
 Except for Service Families, children will not be considered to be a sibling unless  
  their brother or sister is attending the school and is expected to still be in   
  attendance at the chosen start date, or; 
 
  If they have been offered and accepted a place. 

 
 
6. Applications for Secondary Yr7 Intake – applications received after 31 

October 2016 
 

Applications received after the deadline of 31 October 2016 will be considered as late 
applications. 
 
Applications received between the 1 November 2016 and 9 March 2017 will be treated as 
second round applications. 
 
Applications received after the 9 March 2017 will be treated as third round applications. 

 
 

7.  In Year Transfer Applications for year groups other than Secondary 
Yr7 2017 Intake 

 
 Applications received after the 21 July 2017 for the year of entry and any applications received 
for other year groups are classed as transfer applications.  
 
Other than in exceptional circumstances and in agreement with the two schools involved, a 
transfer will, if the applicant is not moving address, only be considered as being for the start of 
the next term. 
 
All applications will be considered together with any applications already on a school’s waiting 
list. 
 
Applications for transfer for VC and C schools will be considered no more than a maximum of 
one term in advance.  All requests for admissions to VC and C Schools will be processed in line 
with the timetable below.  All applications will be considered together and are ranked using the 
oversubscription criteria listed in this policy.   
 

Page 490



 

  

9 

 

This table gives the earliest date that applications can be sent and when they are considered. 
Decision letters should be posted within 20 school days of either the date in the last column or, if 
your application is later than this, our receipt of your form.  

 

Date admission being 
sought 

Earliest application should be 
submitted 

Applications will be 
processed from 

January to March 1 September 31 October 

April to July 1 January 15 February 

September to December 1 April 31 May 

 
Applications received requesting more immediate admission are considered in the order that the 
School Admissions Team receives them.  If more than one additional application for a particular 
school is received on the same date places are allocated to children in order of the 
oversubscription criteria as listed in this policy. 
 
In all cases parent(s)/guardian(s) will be invited to state up to a maximum of three secondary 
ranked preferences.  An offer will be made at the school listed as highest preference possible 
which has an available place. 
 
If a child is offered a place at any VC or C school then the place must accepted or declined 
within 10 working days of the date of offer.  If the place is not accepted then a further letter will 
be sent informing the applicant that should they neither accept nor decline the place within five 
working days the place will be withdrawn.  A further letter will be sent informing the applicant the 
place has been withdrawn. 
 
If a child is offered a place at any VC or C school and the parent(s)/guardian(s) accept the place, 
it must take the place up within 28 working days of the required admissions date stated on the 
original application form.  Should the place not be taken up within the 28 working days the LA will 
then write to the parents informing them that the place has been withdrawn. 
 
Requests for places in year groups other than the one relating to the child’s chronological age 
will only be agreed if supported by the LA’s relevant professional adviser(s) and the school. 
 
 

8. Proof of address 
 
 The LA reserves the right to ask parents for proof of their address. If the parents’ current address 

is different to that held on the LA’s computerised system the LA may ask parents to provide proof 
of the new address if one is indicated. Acceptable proof of address includes:  

 

A solicitor’s letter stating contracts have been exchanged and specifying a completion date  

A signed and dated tenancy agreement plus proof of residency (e.g. copy of a recent utility bill)  
 

If parents fail to provide proof of a new address, the LA will use the old address for admission 
purposes. If parents notify the LA that they will be moving house, even if they provide the 
relevant proof of that address, they must move into that property by no later than the end of the 
first term following the notification. The LA reserves the right to check that parents are living in 
the address indicated within that timescale. If parents are not living there, the applications will be 
investigated and the allocated place may be withdrawn. 

 

9. Fair Access Protocol 
 

 All Wiltshire Schools will act in accordance with the Fair Access Protocol which has been 
adopted to give access to educational provisions for hard to place children.  
 

Page 491



 

  

10 

 

If the governing body of any school refuse admission to a child with challenging behaviour, when 
there are places available, (outside the normal intake round) the case must be referred to the LA 
for consideration under the In-Year Fair Access Protocol.   
 
This protocol does not apply to a Child in Care (Looked after Child, a previously looked after 
child) or a child with a Statement of Special Educational Needs or Education Health and Care 
Plan, as these children must be admitted. 
 
Further information on the In Year Fair Access Protocol including further criterions for referral, 
and a copy of the protocol, can be viewed at www.wiltshire.gov.uk  
 
 

 
 
10. Sixth Form Admissions 
 

Parents or students wishing to enrol for sixth form courses at Voluntary Controlled or Community 
Secondary Schools should in the first instance contact the school and ask for a copy of the sixth 
form prospectus.  This will detail the courses offered at the school and any specific entry 
requirements for any of those courses.  The school will require an application form to be 
completed should the parent or student wish to make a formal application to join the school’s 
sixth form. 

 

11. Appeal Process 
 

Parents have a right of appeal to an independent panel against any decision made by or on 
behalf of the Authority as to the school at which education is to be provided for their child.  
 
The timescale for lodging admission appeals is detailed in the co-ordinated admission scheme 
for secondary schools 2017/18. 
 
Information about the appeal procedure will be provided where a place at one or more of the 
preferred schools has been refused.  Parents should contact the Customer Services Team 
(01225 713010) to obtain an appeals form which should be returned to Democratic and Members 
Service team at County Hall, Trowbridge.  The clerk for the appeals panel will be provided by the 
D&M Service team. 
 
If a place has been awarded by the independent appeal panel the place must be taken up within 
28 days of the required date of admission stated on the original application form. 
 
Should the place not be taken up within the 28 days the LA will then write to the parents 
informing them that the place has be withdrawn.  

 

 
12. Further Appeals 
 
          Parents who have appealed unsuccessfully can reapply for a place at the same school in a later 

academic year, and have a right of appeal if unsuccessful. 
 
           Where there have been material changes in circumstances in the same academic year and a 

repeat application is considered and again refused, the parents will have the right to a fresh 
appeal.  
 

 
 

Page 492

http://www.wiltshire.gov.uk/


 

  

11 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 Published Admission Numbers (PAN’s) for VC & C Schools 
 
  
 

  

DfES  School  2017 PAN 

4000  Abbeyfield School, Chippenham  180 

4070 
The Stonehenge School,      

Amesbury 164 

 

Page 493



This page is intentionally left blank



1 
 

 

PRIMARY 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Determined Admission Arrangements for Community and 
Voluntary Controlled Primary Schools for 2017/18 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Status: Determined Admissions Arrangements 2017/18 
  

Page 495



2 
 

Determined Primary Admission Arrangements 
 
Wiltshire Council Determined Admission Arrangements for 
Admissions to Voluntary Controlled (VC) and Community (C) 
Primary, Infant and Junior Schools for the 2017/18 Academic Year 
 
1. General Information 
 
 This policy applies solely to applications for places at Voluntary Controlled (VC) and 

Community (C) Primary, Infant and Junior Schools.  Foundation (F), Voluntary Aided 
schools (VA) and Academies (A) are their own admissions authorities and the 
governing bodies are responsible for determining their own procedures and policies. 

 
Determined Arrangements for the co-ordination of primary admissions are 
made with the determined co-ordinated admissions scheme 2017/18. 
 
The application round for entry into Reception 2017 opens on 1 September 
2016.  The deadline date for applications to be received is midnight on 15 
January 2017.  The home address given for the child must be the address 
where the child is resident as of the deadline date. 

 
a. Designated Area 
   

A designated area is a discrete geographical zone served by a school.  The address 
that determines a child’s designated area is the place where s/he is ordinarily 
resident with his/her parent(s) or legal guardian(s) for the majority of the school 
week.  Most schools have a discrete designated area but some addresses fall within 
areas shared by two or more schools.  Children living outside the county boundary 
are treated as if the children live within Wiltshire but outside the designated area for 
the school(s) in question.   

 
b. Preferences 

 
Parents will be invited to state up to three ranked preferences.  Each preference will 
be considered equally.  This means that Wiltshire Council will consider all 
applications against the published admissions criteria without reference to how the 
school applied for has been ranked on the application form.  As far as possible 
applicants will be offered a place at a school to which they have expressed a 
preference.  Where the applicant has made more than one preference the LA will 
make an offer for the highest ranked preference school possible with available places 
in accordance with the standard admission criteria.  Where it is not possible to offer a 
place at a preferred school, and the applicant lives in Wiltshire, the LA will allocate a 
place at an alternative school.  Allocations will be made after all expressed 
preferences have been considered.  An applicant will normally be offered a place at 
the designated school for their home address.  An alternative school may be 
allocated in cases where the designated school is full and the alternative school is 
within the safe statutory walking distance and has places available or it is a school to 
which free home to school transport would be provided. 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 496



3 
 

c. Children with a statement of special educational needs or education, health 
and care plans 
 
All children whose statement of special educational needs or education, health and 
care plans names a school must be admitted. Once a statement reaches the formal 
proposed stage the administration of the admission of the young person becomes the 
responsibility of the Statutory SEN Service at which point this policy ceases to apply.  
 
 

d. Published Admission Number 
 
A Published Admission Number (PAN) is agreed for each school annually and 
defines the number of places available for the year of entry.  All applications must be 
agreed until the PAN has been reached and this figure will not be exceeded other 
that in exceptional circumstances, for example, a child living in the designated area 
for who there is no reasonable alternative place available would be admitted.  
“Reasonable” in this circumstance is defined as a school within the statutory safe 
walking distance from the applicants home address of two miles for children aged 
under eight and three miles for children aged eight or over, or it is a school to which 
free home to school transport would be provided. 

 
e. Address 

 
The child’s address provided on the application form should be that of the child’s 
normal place of residence. Only one address can be considered for application 
purposes. The address provided will be used to determine the child’s priority for a 
school place.  The Local Authority reserves the right to confirm the address provided 
by the applicant using the council tax reference number which is provided as part of 
the application.   
For Yr R September 2017 entry, the address used to determine priority of school 
places for on time applications submitted in the main round, will be the child’s normal 
place of residence as at deadline date of 15 January 2017. 

 
f.  Shared Parental Responsibility 
 

Where two (or more) adults have parental responsibility for a child it is preferable that 
they should agree before submitting an application form which school(s) to name as 
their preference(s). In cases of dispute, or where two application forms are 
submitted, the LA will process the application received from the adult who has a 
residence order.  If no such order has been made, preference will be given to the 
parent with whom the child is living for the majority of the school week.    

 
If both parents are in dispute as to whom the child lives with the majority of the 
school week, the LA will process the application received from the adult who is in 
receipt of the child benefit, if this is not available then the address used on the NHS 
card will be used.   

 
In the event of a further dispute regarding the address used, parents may wish to 
take independent legal advice on whether they should seek a specific issue order 
from the court to decide on where the child is schooled.  For in year transfer 
applications, until any such order is made, the placement will continue in the best 
interests of securing educational provision for the child with a minimum of disruption.  

 

Page 497



4 
 

For year of entry, where possible, a place will be offered in accordance with the 
preferences to the parent who can provide evidence that they are in receipt of child 
benefit. 
 

g. Multiple Births 
 
The LA will endeavour to place siblings born at the same time (eg. twins, triplets etc 
in the same school.  If necessary, schools will be required to admit over PAN to 
accommodate such children.  In accordance with paragraph 2.15 of the School 
Admissions Code 2014, twins and multiple births will be classed as permitted 
exceptions to the Infant Class Size Regulations.  This will only be the case when one 
of the siblings is the 30th or the 60th child admitted. 
 

h. Children of UK Service Personnel (UK Armed Forces) 
 
 Applications for children of service personnel with a confirmed posting to the county 

will be considered in advance of the family moving into the county if necessary.  
Where possible, an application must be included in the normal admission round. 

 
 An official letter, such as a posting note or letter of support from the commanding 

officer should be sent to the LA as soon as possible.  This should include relocation 
date and unit postal address or quartering area address (the address of the closest 
house in the nearest ‘quartering area’). 

 
 Until a fixed address is available, the unit postal address or quartering area address 

will be used and a school place allocated accordingly. 
 
 The LA will not refuse a child of UK service personnel a place because the family 

does not currently live in the area, it is also not permitted to reserve places for these 
children. 

 
 Children will be considered to be siblings if any brother or sister has been formally 

offered and have accepted a place at the school. Their position on any waiting list will 
be set accordingly. The sibling link will not apply if the child that is going to be 
attending the school will be in year 6. 

 
 All applications will be dealt with in accordance with these admission arrangements.  

If a reasonable alternative cannot be offered, the child may be admitted as an 
‘excepted pupil’ under the School Admissions (Infant Class Sizes) (England) 
Regulations. 

 

i. Armed Forces Personnel Relocating to Salisbury Plain - a Special Planning 
area for admissions 

Leading up to September 2017 there is initiative to rebase serving armed forces 
personnel in Germany back to England. The Garrison towns around Salisbury Plain 
in Wiltshire will be target destinations for a significant proportion of these service 
families.   

Wiltshire Council is proposing from September 2015 to declare the community areas 
of Amesbury and Tidworth a ‘special planning area for Admissions’. The proposal is 
to give an admission priority to children eligible for service premium, rebasing to 
settlements around Salisbury Plain until 2018. Wiltshire Council is working closely 

Page 498



5 
 

with the Children’s Education Advisory Service (CEAS), a tri-service organisation 
funded by the MOD, to make the transition for children and families in Germany as 
smooth as possible and remove unnecessary complexity. 

Wiltshire Council has introduced criteria ‘H’ to the oversubscription criteria for all 

community and voluntary controlled schools in the ‘special planning area for 

admissions’ and is requesting other admission authorities in the area to consider 

making similar arrangements. 

 
The ‘special planning area for admissions’ will be kept under review by Wiltshire 
Council, including the option of extending the area to include Salisbury in subsequent 
years. 

Applications for children of service personnel with a confirmed posting will be 
considered in advance of the family moving into the county if necessary.  Where 
possible, an application must be included in the normal admission round. 

An official letter, such as a posting note or letter of support from the commanding 
officer should be sent to the LA as soon as possible.  This should include relocation 
date and unit postal address or quartering area address (the address of the closest 
house in the nearest ‘quartering area’) in the ‘special planning area for admissions’. 

Until a fixed address is available, the unit postal address or quartering area address 
will be used and a school place allocated accordingly. 

The LA will not refuse a child of UK service personnel a place because the family 
does not currently live in the area, it is also not permitted to reserve places for these 
children. 

Children will be considered to be siblings if any brother or sister has been formally 
offered and have accepted a place at the school.  Their position on any waiting list 
will be set accordingly. 

All applications will be dealt with in accordance with these admission arrangements.  
If a reasonable alternative cannot be offered, the child may be admitted as an 
‘excepted pupil’ under the School Admissions (Infant Class Sizes) (England) 
Regulations. 

2. Starting School    
 
 There is a legal entitlement for all three and four year olds to have access to 15 hours 

free early education per week – available from registered childminders, school-based 
childcare, Sure Start Centres, pre-schools, day nurseries, playgroups or nursery 
schools. 

 
 A school place will be made available for children from the September following their 

4th birthday.  Full-time education is available to all reception pupils. 
 
 Parents have the right to ask that their child attends part-time and this will be 

provided by arrangement with the school governors, (part-time provision has been 
determined as either five mornings or five afternoons a week). 

 

Page 499



6 
 

 Schools will be responsible for informing parents of the induction arrangements for 
new entrants to the reception class(es).  These may involve a short period of part-
time provision or a phased entry at the beginning of Term 1, which will normally be a 
fortnight.  Individual children’s cases should be discussed by the parents(s) with the 
school directly.   

 

3. Joint admission arrangements with pre-schools 
 
 A small number of schools enter into a formal joint arrangement with a pre-school or 

nursery to provide education jointly to children before they reach statutory school 
age.  Such an arrangement usually involves each child attending school for some 
sessions each week and attending the pre-school or nursery school does not give 
priority in itself for admission to the partner school. 

 
 The date on which a child can be admitted to a joint arrangement must be no earlier 

than the start of the term following his or her 4th birthday but can be later than this. 
 
 Registration at any nursery or pre-school unit will not be considered as an application 

for a school place and no priority will be given to such children. 

 
4. Early, deferred or delayed admission 
 
 a. Early admission 

 Admissions earlier than the term following the child’s 4th birthday may be 
agreed in exceptional circumstances, such as medical or social factors that 
have an adverse effect on the child.  The request must have the approval of 
the LA’s professional adviser and there must be no suitable alternative pre-
school provision available.  Early admission will be agreed for a maximum of 
one traditional term before the next available normal entry date. 

 
 
b. Deferred admission until later in the academic year  
 

Parents do not have to ensure their child receives full time education until the 
start of the term following their fifth birthday. However, parents have the right 
to start their child in school in the September of the academic year following 
their fourth birthday. In such circumstances, parents also have the option to 
start their child on a part–time basis or defer their child’s entry until later in 
that academic year.  

If a parent decides to defer their child’s entry to the school that they have 
been offered until later in the academic year, that place will be held for the 
child and will not be offered to another child.  However, please note that entry 
cannot be deferred beyond the point at which their child reaches compulsory 
school age (for the avoidance of doubt the law states that a child reaches 
compulsory school age on the prescribed day following his or her fifth birthday 
[or on his or her fifth birthday if it falls on a prescribed day]. The prescribed 
days are 31 December, 31 March and 31 August).   For children born between 
1 April and 31 August, parents cannot defer entry beyond the beginning of the 
April term of the school year for which the offer was made. 

Please note also that children who attend part-time until later in the school 
year cannot do so beyond the point at which they reach compulsory school 
age. 

Page 500



7 
 

If the parent decides that they no longer wish to take up their child’s place, 
they should inform the school and the Local Authority that the place is no 
longer required. The place will then be withdrawn and reallocated to the child 
who is top of the waiting list at that time.  The parent must then submit a fresh 
application for a place in year one for the following academic year.  The 
application can be submitted from April 2018 but will not be considered until at 
least June 2018. 

Parents wishing to defer entry need to apply by the closing date 15 January 
2017. Any request to defer or attend part-time should be made to the school 
as soon as an offer is received.  

 
c.  Admission of children outside their normal age group 
 

All applications will be dealt with in accordance with the School Admissions 
Code 2.17, 2.17a, 2.17b, which came into force on 19 December 2014: 

 

Parents may seek a place for their child outside of their normal age group, 

for example, if the child is gifted and talented or has experienced problems 

such as ill health. In addition, the parents of a summer born child   (born 

from 1 April to 31 August)
 
may choose not to send that child to school until 

the September following their fifth birthday and may request that they are 

admitted out of their normal age group – to reception rather than year 1. 

 

The decisions on requests for applications outside the child’s normal age 
group are made by the Admission Authority for any particular school, which in 
the case of Voluntary Controlled & Community Schools is the Council.  For 
Voluntary Aided, Foundation Schools or Academies the Admissions Authority 
is the governing body of the school concerned.  The decision to admit outside 
of their normal age group is made on the basis of the circumstances of each 
case.  

All parents who wish to apply for delayed entry into reception for any Wiltshire 
school, must first submit a formal application to the Local Authority.  If they 
are applying for a Voluntary Controlled or Community school, they will also 
need to make a written request at the time of application to the Local 
Authority’s admissions co-ordinator, providing reasons for the request along 
with any supporting documentation they wish to include.  

If parents wish to apply for delayed entry to a Voluntary Aided, Foundation 
school or an Academy, then following the submission of the formal application 
to the Local Authority, the parent should contact the governing body of the 
school concerned to discuss their request. 

All requests should be made in the September following the child’s 3rd 
birthday, in order to give sufficient time for the case to be considered by the 
admissions authority prior to the deadline for applications of 15 January 2017. 
In the case of Voluntary Controlled and Community schools, the Local 
Authority will look at the following factors when an application for admission 
outside the normal ages group:  

 the parent’s views 

 information about the child’s academic, social and emotional development;  

Page 501



8 
 

 where relevant, their medical history and the views of a medical professional; 

 whether they have previously been educated out of their normal age group; 

 whether they may naturally have fallen into a lower age group if it were not 

for being born prematurely 

 the views of the head teacher of the school 

The Local Authority will make decisions on the basis of the circumstances of 
each case and in the best interests of the child concerned.  

 

If the parental request for delayed admission into reception is agreed, a 
separate application for a place in the next cohort would have to be made in 
the September following the child’s 4th birthday. This application would be 
considered along with all the other applicants for admission in that year at the 
preferred school. There would be no guarantee that a place would be able to 
be offered in the preferred school. If the preferred school is over-subscribed 
and you are not offered a place, the Local Authority will make an alternative 
offer. However, please note that delayed admission in to reception in the 
alternative school may not be possible. 

If the parental request for delayed admission into reception is refused, the 
formal application which has already been submitted will be processed, 
unless the Local Authority receives a request from the parent to withdraw the 
application.  If no request to withdraw the application is received, then after 
the offer of a school place had been made the parent can then inform the 
Local Authority and the school that they want to defer entry as outlined above.  

When informing a parent of their decision on the year group the child should 
be admitted to, the admission authority must set out clearly the reasons for 
their decision. Parents have a statutory right to appeal against the refusal of a 
place at a school for which they have applied.  

 
Right of Appeal for admission of children outside their normal age group 

 

Parents who are refused a place at a school for which they have applied have 
the right of appeal to an independent Admission Appeal panel. They do not 
have a right of appeal if they have been offered a place and it is not in the 
year group they would like. However, if parents are dissatisfied with the 
outcome of the request for delayed entry into reception they have the right to 
complain against the decision through the Council’s complaints procedure for 
decisions made by council officers or under the school’s complaints 
procedure where the school is the admissions authority.  

 

5. Deadline – applications received by the deadline date of 
midnight 15 January 2017 will be considered as first round 
applications 

 
 The closing date for main round applications (i.e. applications for entry into 

Reception 2017) is 15 January 2017.   
 

Page 502



9 
 

 All applications received after the deadline of 15 January 2017, including 
those directed incorrectly to schools and not forwarded to the LA before the 
deadline, will be treated as late applications and considered only after those 
applications received before the deadline have been determined.   

 

6. Oversubscription Criteria for Voluntary Controlled and 
Community Schools 

 
 Where a school is oversubscribed, places are allocated to children in order of the 

ranked criteria listed below: 

 
 
 a. Looked After Children/Previously Looked After Children  

 
 The definition of Looked After Children - a ‘looked after child’ or a child who 

was previously looked after but immediately after being looked after became 
subject to an adoption, child arrangements, or special guardianship order.  A 
looked after child is a child who is (a) in the care of a local authority, or (b) 
being provided with accommodation by a local authority in the exercise of 
their social services functions (see the definition in section 22 (1) of the 
Children Act 1989.) 

 
b. Vulnerable Children 
 
 Children from families registered with the National Asylum Support Service; 

Children or families with a serious medical, physical or psychological condition 
where written evidence is provided at the time of application from a senior 
clinical medical officer, general practitioner or specialist showing that it would 
be detrimental to the child or family not to be admitted to the preferred school. 

 
 For the purpose of the above criteria the word ‘families’ is determined as living 

at the same address at the time of the application and also living at the same 
address on a permanent basis.  Proof will be required and must be submitted 
by the deadline date. 

 
c. Linked Infants School (this criterion applies to infant-to-junior transfer 

applications only) 
 
 Children who are pupils attending year 2 at the linked infant school as at the 

deadline date, irrespective of the status of the school, i.e. F, A, C or VC. 
 
d. Designated area siblings and shared area siblings 
 
 A child is considered under this criterion if a sibling is attending the school (or 

the linked junior school in the case of applications to an infants school) as at 
the deadline date and will continue to attend the school at the time of entry, 
and where the child lives within the designated area or shared area at the 
same address as the sibling.  Step, half and foster siblings are included in this 
category.        

 
e. Other children from the designated area or shared area    
 
 Children resident within the designated area or shared area who do not 

qualify under one of the criteria above. 

Page 503



10 
 

 
f. Other Siblings 
 
 A child is considered under this criterion if a sibling is attending the school (or 

the linked junior school in the case of applications to an infant’s school) at the 
deadline date and will continue to attend the school at the time of entry, and 
where the child lives at the same address as the sibling.  Step, half and foster 
siblings are included in this category. 

 
g. Children of staff at the school     
 
 A child is considered to fall under this criterion 
 
 i. where the member of staff has been employed at the school for two or 

  more years at the time at which the application for admission to the 
  school is made, and/or 

 ii. the member of staff is recruited to fill a vacant post for which there is a 
  demonstrable skill shortage. 

 
 If applicants wish to be considered under this criterion then a letter from the 

Headteacher confirming the above applies to the applicant must be provided 
at the time of application.   

       
h. Children eligible for service premium relocating to Salisbury Plain 
 The above criteria will only apply to the following schools: 

 
Durrington All Saints CE Infants School,  
Durrington CE Junior School,  
Figheldean St Michael’s CE Primary School,  
Kiwi Primary School, Bulford,  
Larkhill Primary School,  
Collingbourne C E Primary School. 
Amesbury C of E Primary School 
Amesbury Archer Primary School 

 
i. Other Children 
 
 Children to whom none of the above criteria apply. 
 

Tie Break 
 
If the school is oversubscribed within any category above, the straight-line distance 
from the child’s home address to the school will be used as the determining factor.  
Distances will be measured according to the Ordnance Survey eastings and 
northings for the child’s home address and the school.  Those living closer to the 
school will be given priority. 
 
If two or more children with the same priority for admission live an indistinguishable 
distance from the preferred school, but cannot all be admitted, then the available 
places will be decided by means of casting lots (random application).    

     
The random allocation will be conducted independently by Democratic Services, 
Wiltshire Council.  

 

Page 504



11 
 

 

7. Waiting lists 
 
 Waiting lists will be maintained for all intake year groups in schools.  Children will 

automatically be added to these lists if a preference higher than the school place 
offered has been refused.  All applicants have the right of appeal against any refusal 
of a place.  The existence of a waiting list does not remove this right from any 
unsuccessful applicant. 

 
 The position on a list will be determined by applying the published oversubscription 

criteria and not by date order of receipt.  This will mean a position will change if a 
later application is received from someone with higher priority according to the 
oversubscription criteria. 

 
 Waiting lists for all year groups will close on 22 July 2018. 
 
 A fresh application can be made for a place for the next academic year group but this 

will not be considered before 6 June 2018. 
 
 Places that become available will not be offered to pupils who are not on the waiting 

list. 
 
 If your child is offered a place from a waiting list for any VC or C schools then you 

must accept or decline the place within 10 working days of the date of offer.  If the 
place is not accepted then a further letter will be sent informing the applicant that 
should they not accept or decline the place within 5 working days, the place will be 
withdrawn.  A further letter will be sent informing the applicant the place has been 
withdrawn. 

 
 Notes: 
 

 Names will only be removed from the lists if a written request is received or if 
the offer of a place that becomes available is declined. 
 

 Registration of interest on a school’s pre-admission list will not be considered 
as an application for a school place. 
 

 Parents must contact any VA, F school or the Academy concerned to obtain 
information on the existence of a waiting list. 
 

 Except for service families, children will not be considered to be living within 
the designated area for a school until the LA receives an exchange of 
contracts or a signed tenancy agreement. 
 

 Except for service families, children will not be considered to be a sibling 
unless their brother or sister is attending the school and is expected to still be 
in attendance at the chosen start date. 

 

8. Applications for Reception 2017 Intake – applications received 
after 15 January 2017 

 
Applications received after the deadline of 15 January 2017 will be considered as late 
applications. 
 

Page 505



12 
 

Applications received between the 16 January 2017 and 25 April 2017 will be treated 
as second round applications. 
 
Applications received after the 26 April 2017 will be treated as third round 
applications. 

 

9.  In Year Transfer Applications for year groups other than 
Reception 2017 Intake 

 
 Applications received after the 24 July 2017 for the year of entry and any applications 
received for other year groups are classed as transfer applications.  
 
Other than in exceptional circumstances and in agreement with the two schools 
involved, a transfer will, if the applicant is not moving address, only be considered as 
being for the start of the next term. 
 
All applications will be considered together with any applications already on a 
school’s waiting list. 
 
Applications for transfer for VC and C schools will be considered no more than a 
maximum of one term in advance.  All requests for admissions to VC and C Schools 
will be processed in line with the timetable below.  All applications will be considered 
together and are ranked using the oversubscription criteria listed in this policy.   
 
This table gives the earliest date that applications can be sent and when they are 
considered. Decision letters should be posted within 20 school days of either the date 
in the last column or, if your application is later than this, our receipt of your form.  

 

Date admission being 
sought 

Earliest application should 
be submitted 

Applications will be 
processed from 

January to March 1 September 31 October 

April to July 1 January 15 February 

September to December 1 April 31 May 

 
Applications received requesting more immediate admission are considered in the 
order that the School Admissions Team receives them.  If more than one additional 
application for a particular school is received on the same date places are allocated 
to children in order of the oversubscription criteria as listed in this policy. 
 
In all cases parent(s)/guardian(s) will be invited to state up to a maximum of three 
preferences.  An offer will be made at the school listed as highest preference 
possible which has an available place. 
 
If a child is offered a place at any VC or C school then the place must accepted or 
declined within 10 working days of the date of offer.  If the place is not accepted then 
a further letter will be sent informing the applicant that should they neither accept nor 
decline the place within five working days the place will be withdrawn.  A further letter 
will be sent informing the applicant the place has been withdrawn. 
 
If a child is offered a place at any VC or C school and the parent(s)/guardian(s) 
accept the place, it must take the place up within 28 working days of the required 
admissions date stated on the original application form.  Should the place not be 

Page 506



13 
 

taken up within the 28 working days the LA will then write to the parents informing 
them that the place has been withdrawn. 

 

10. Proof of address 

 
 The LA reserves the right to ask parents for proof of their address. If the parents’ 

current address is different to that held on the LA’s computerised system the LA may 
ask parents to provide proof of the new address if one is indicated. Acceptable proof 
of address includes:  
 

A solicitor’s letter stating contracts have been exchanged and specifying a 
completion date.  

A signed and dated tenancy agreement plus proof of residency (e.g. copy of a recent 
utility bill).  

 
If parents fail to provide proof of a new address, the LA will use the old address for 
admission purposes. If parents notify the LA that they will be moving house, even if 
they provide the relevant proof of that address, they must move into that property by 
no later than the end of the first term following the notification. The LA reserves the 
right to check that parents are living in the address indicated within that timescale. If 
parents are not living there, the applications will be investigated and the allocated 
place may be withdrawn. 

 
11. Fair Access Protocol 
 

 All Wiltshire Schools will act in accordance with the Fair Access Protocol which has 
been adopted to give access to educational provisions for hard to place children.  
 
If the governing body of any school refuse admission to a child with challenging 
behaviour where there are places available (outside the normal intake round) the 
case must be referred to the LA for consideration under the In-Year Fair Access 
Protocol.   
 
This protocol does not apply to a Child in Care (Looked after Child, a Previously 
Looked After Child) or a child with a Statement of Special Educational Needs or 
Education Health and Care Plan (EHCP) as these children must be admitted. 
 
Further information on the In Year Fair Access Protocol including further criterions for 
referral, and a copy of the protocol, can be viewed at www.wiltshire.gov.uk  

 

12. Appeals Procedure 
 
 Parents have a right of appeal to an independent panel against any decision made 

by or on behalf of the Authority as to the school which education is to be provided for 
their child. 

 
 Information about the appeal procedure will be provided where a place at one or 

more of the preferred schools has been refused.  Parents should contact the 
Customer Services Team (01225 713010) to obtain an appeals form which should be 
returned to the Democratic and Members Service team (D&M) at County Hall, 
Trowbridge.  The clerk to the appeals panel will be provided by the D&M Service 
team.  

  

Page 507

http://www.wiltshire.gov.uk/


14 
 

 The timescale for lodging admission appeals is detailed in the co-ordinated 
admission scheme for secondary schools 2017/18. 

 
 If a place has been awarded by the independent appeal panel the place must be 

taken up within 28 days of the required date of admission stated on the original 
application form. 

 
 Should the place not be taken up within 28 days the LA will then write to the parents 

informing them that the place has been withdrawn. 
 
 

 
13. Further Appeals 
 
 Parents who have appealed unsuccessfully can reapply for a place at the same 

school in a later academic year, and have a right of appeal if unsuccessful. 
 
           Where there have been material changes in circumstances in the same academic 

year and a repeat application is considered and again refused, the parents will have 
the right to a fresh appeal.  

  
 

 
Published Admission Numbers (PANs)  

for VC & C Schools 
 
 

          School – Voluntary Controlled 
2017 for    

PAN 

All Cannings CE Primary School 21 

Amesbury CEVC Primary School 60 

Ashton Keynes CE Primary School 30 

Box CE Primary School 25 

Bradford-on-Avon Christ Church 60 

Brinkworth Earl Danby's CE Primary School 30 

Longford CE (VC) Primary School 12 

Broad Hinton CE Primary School 17 

Broad Town CE Primary School 12 

St. Nicholas CEVC Primary School, Bromham 12 

Chirton CE Primary School 8 

Churchfields, The Village School 26 

Colerne CE Primary School 38 

Collingbourne CE Primary School 17 

St. Sampson's Primary Cricklade 60 

Crudwell CE Primary School 17 

Page 508



15 
 

Dinton CEVC Primary School 17 

Durrington All Saints CEVC Infant School 60 

Durrington CE Cont. Junior School 58 

Figheldean St Michael's CE Primary School 17 

Five Lanes Primary 20 

Great Bedwyn CE Primary School 30 

Hilperton CEVC Primary School 25 

Holt VC Primary School 25 

Hullavington CE School 21 

Kington St. Michael CE Primary School 17 

Lacock CE Primary School 12 

Langley Fitzurse CE Primary School 16 

Lea & Garsdon CE Primary School 20 

Lydiard Millicent CE Primary School 30 

St Barnabas CE School, Market Lavington 20 

St.Mary's CE Infant School, Marlborough 60 

St.Peter's Junior School, Marlborough 60 

Minety CE Primary School 21 

North Bradley CE Primary School 25 

Oaksey CE Primary School 13 

Preshute CE Primary School 30 

St. Mary's CE Primary School, Purton 60 

Harnham CE Cont. Junior School, Salisbury 90 

St. Katharine's CE (VC) Primary School, Savernake 
Forest 15 

Seagry CE Primary School 12 

Shalbourne CE Primary School 9 

Sherston CE Primary School 30 

Shrewton CE Primary School (New site) 17 

Southwick CE Primary School 30 

Staverton CEVC Primary School 45 

Stratford sub Castle CEVC Primary School 21 

Sutton Veny CEVC School 24 

St John's CE Primary School, Tisbury 20 

Bellefield Primary & Nursery School, Trowbridge 42 

Urchfont CE Primary School 16 

The Minster CE Primary School, Warminster 30 

Warminster Sambourne CEVC Primary School 21 

St John's CE Primary, Warminster 21 

Westbury CE Junior School 82 

Westbury Leigh CE Primary School 60 

Wilton and Barford CE Primary School 25 

Winsley CEVC Primary School 21 

Page 509



16 
 

Winterbourne Earls CE Primary School 30 
 
 

 
 
 

           School - Community 
PAN  for   

2017 

Amesbury Archer Primary School 60 

Fitzmaurice Primary School, Bradford-on-Avon 45 

Bratton Primary School 30 

Kiwi School, Bulford 38 

Fynamore Primary School, Calne 60 

Priestley Primary School, Calne 30 

Charter Primary School, Chippenham 47 

Ivy Lane Primary School, Chippenham 60 

Kings Lodge Community School, Chippenham 60 

Monkton Park Community Primary School, 
Chippenham 38 

Redland Community Primary School, Chippenham 40 

St. Paul's Primary School, Chippenham 41 

Lypiatt Primary School, Corsham 7 

Nursteed Community Primary School, Devizes 30 

Devizes Southbroom Infants School 90 

Gomeldon Primary School 21 

Hilmarton Primary School 16 

Horningsham Primary School 12 

Larkhill Primary School 60 

Luckington Community School 8 

Ludwell Community Primary School 12 

Lyneham Primary 60 

Mere School 30 

Neston Primary School 30 

Old Sarum Primary 30 

Ramsbury School 30 

Greentrees Primary School, Salisbury 60 

Harnham Infant School, Salisbury 90 

Salisbury Manor Fields Primary School 30 

Woodlands Primary School, Salisbury 30 

Stanton St. Quintin Primary School 21 

Grove Primary School, Trowbridge 60 

Holbrook Primary School, Trowbridge 45 

Newtown Community Primary School, Trowbridge 45 

Walwayne Court School, Trowbridge 42 

Page 510



17 
 

New Close Community School, Warminster  30 

Princecroft Primary School, Warminster  21 

Bitham Brook Primary School, Westbury  42 

Westbury Infants School 80 

Westwood-with-Iford School 17 

Wootton Bassett Infants 60 

Noremarsh Junior Community School, Wootton 
Bassett   60 

 
 
 

Page 511



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

SECONDARY 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Proposed Co-ordinated Scheme for Secondary 
School Admissions for 2018/19 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Status:  Proposed Co-ordinated Scheme 2018/19 

A250/16  

Page 513



2 
 

Proposed Co-ordinated Admissions Scheme for secondary school 
admissions for year 2018/19 

 
Introduction 
 
1. This scheme for co-ordinated admissions is pursuant to section (89b) of the School 

Standards and Framework Act 1998, for co-ordinating the arrangements for the 
admission of pupils to secondary schools within the LA area.  It applies to all 
secondary schools in Wiltshire with effect from September 2018 intakes.  There will 
be an annual review of the scheme as per the School Admissions Code in force at 
the time. 

 
Interpretation and Glossary 
 
2. In this scheme –  
 
 “the LA” means Wiltshire Council acting in their capacity as a local (education) 

authority; 
 
 “the LA area” means the County of Wiltshire; 
 
 The definitions of “primary education”, “primary school”, “secondary education” and 

“secondary school” can be found in sections 2 and 5 of the Education Act 1996. 
 
 “school” means a community, (C) voluntary controlled, (VC) foundation, (F) or 

voluntary aided (VA) school (the Education Act 1996 defines school in section 4). 
 
 “Academy” means a state funded, non fee paying independent school set up under a 

Funding Agreement between the Secretary of State and the proprietor of an 
Academy (most commonly and hereafter referred to as an Academy Trust).  
Academy Funding Agreements require them to comply with the Code and the law 
relating to admissions, though the Secretary of State has the power to vary this 
requirement where there is a demonstrable need; 

 
 “admission authority” in relation to a community or voluntary controlled school means 

the LA and, in relation to an F or VA school or UTC (University Technical College) 
means the governing body of that school/college; 

 
 “the specified year” means the school year beginning September 2018; 
 
 “admission arrangements” means the determined arrangements which govern the 

procedures and decision making for the purposes of admitting pupils to a school; 
 

“first round application” means any application for a place in the first year of 
secondary education that is received before the deadline of 31 October 2017. 

 
 “Second and third round application” means any application for a place in the first 

year of secondary education that is received after the deadline of 31 October 2017 
 
 “eligible for a place” means that a child’s name has been placed on a school’s ranked 

list within the school’s published admission number (PAN). 
 

 
 

Page 514



3 
 

 
The application round for entry into YR7 – 2018 opens on 1 September 2017.  
The deadline date for applications to be submitted is midnight on 31 October 
2017.  The home address given for the child must be the address where the 
child is resident as of the deadline date. 

 
Raising of participation age 
 
From the summer of 2015 government legislation states that young people have to stay in 
education or training until their 18th birthday.  This will usually be at secondary school until 
the academic year in with they are 16 (some students may transfer to Further Education or a 
University Technical College at 14).  Students can then choose from one of the following 
options post-16; full-time education, such as school or college; an apprenticeship; 
employment or volunteering alongside part-time education or accredited training.  It is 
compulsory that they participate in education or training until their 18th birthday.  The only 
exception is early achievement of level 3 qualifications for example if they take A level 
exams in year 12.   
 
General information 
 
3. Parents will be able to make an online application.  Online applications will be made 

directly to County Hall, Trowbridge.  If an online application has been submitted, a 
written application is not necessary.  The online facility will be available from 1 
September 2017 up until the deadline of 31 October 2017. 

 
4. There will be a standard written application form known as the Secondary Common 

Application Form (SCAF).  This form must be used to apply for the admission of 
pupils, into the first year of secondary education in the specified year, unless an 
online application has been submitted. 

  
 Parents who wish to apply for a place at in YR10 at a UTC should complete a UTC 

application form. Applications for UTC’s should be made directly to the school. 
 
5. Unless an online application has been made, the SCAF must be used as a means of 

expressing one or more preferences by the parent wishing to apply for a school place 
for their child (either within or outside the county).  The child must live in Wiltshire. 

 
6. The LA will make arrangements to ensure 
 
 a. the SCAF is accompanied by written guidance notes explaining the  
   co-ordinated admissions scheme, and  
 
 b. that copies are available on request from the LA and from all primary and  

  secondary schools in the LA area, and 
 
 c. that an electronic version of the form is available for parents to make an  

  online application. 
 
7. The SCAF and accompanying guidance notes will invite the parent to express up to 

three preferences in rank order and give reasons for their preferences. Schools may 
be inside or outside Wiltshire.  It will also explain that the parent will receive no more 
than one offer of a school place and specify the closing date and the address to 
which it must be returned.  They will also confirm that; 

 

Page 515



4 
 

 a. a place will be offered at their highest ranked school at which they are eligible 
  to be offered a place; or 

 
b. if a place cannot be offered at any one of their preferred schools, and the 

child is living within Wiltshire, a place at an alternative school will be 
allocated. 

 
8. Any school which operates criteria for selection by ability or aptitude must ensure that 

its arrangements for assessing ability or aptitude enable decisions to be made in 
accordance with the scheme’s timescale as set out in the back of this policy. 

 
9. The governing body of an Academy (A), Foundation (F), or Voluntary Aided (VA) 

School can ask parents who have expressed a preference for their school on the 
SCAF, to provide additional information on a supplementary form only if the 
additional information is required in order to apply their oversubscription criteria to the 
application.   

 
10. Where a school receives a supplementary form it will not be regarded as a valid 

application unless the parent has also completed a SCAF which expressed a 
preference for that school.  The SCAF or an online application must have been 
returned to the LA by the deadline date.   

 
11. The deadline date for applications is 31 October 2017.  All completed SCAFs are to 

be returned directly to the LA by the deadline date.  Any Secondary Common 
Applications Forms which are incorrectly returned to schools must be forwarded to 
the LA to be submitted by the deadline.   Forms returned to schools and not received 
by the LA by 31 October 2017 will be treated as late applications.   

 
12. The LA will send out an acknowledgement of receipt for each SCAF and all online 

applications.  Applicants will be advised to contact the LA if they have not received an 
acknowledgement with 15 school days of posting their paper application. 

 
Address 
 
13. The child’s address provided on the application form should be that of the child’s 

normal place of residence. Only one address can be considered for application 
purposes. The address provided will be used to determine the child’s priority for a 
school place.  The Local Authority reserves the right to confirm the address provided 
by the applicant using the council tax reference number which is provided as part of 
the application.   

 
For Yr 7 September 2018 entry, the address used to determine priority of school 
places for on time applications submitted in the main round, will be the child’s normal 
place of residence as at deadline date of 31 October 2017. 
 

Designated Area 

 
            A designated area is a discrete geographical zone served by a school.  The address  

that determines a child’s designated area is the place where s/he is ordinarily 
resident with his/her parent(s) or legal guardian(s) for the majority of the school  
week.  Most schools have a discrete designated area but some addresses fall within  
areas shared by two or more schools. Children who live outside the designated area  
for the school may still express a preference for the school.  

 
 

Page 516



5 
 

For admission criterion purposes, the address used for Bargees, will be the sorting 
office or main post office address, closest to the place of mooring as of the deadline 
date.  Proof in the form of a licence will be required and must be submitted at the 
time of application. 

 
Shared Parental Responsibility 
 
14. Where two (or more) adults have parental responsibility for a child it is preferable that 

they should agree before submitting an application form which school(s) to name as 
their preference(s). In cases of dispute, or where two application forms are 
submitted, the LA will process the application received from the adult who has a 
residence order.  If no such order has been made, preference will be given to the 
parent with whom the child is living for the majority of the school week.    

 
If both parents are in dispute as to whom the child lives with the majority of the 
school week, the LA will process the application received from the adult who is in 
receipt of the child benefit, if this is not available then the address used on the NHS 
card will be used.   

  
In the event of a further dispute regarding the address used, parents may wish to 
take independent legal advice on whether they should seek a specific issue order 
from the court to decide on where the child is schooled.  For in - year transfer 
applications, until any such order is made, the placement will continue in the best 
interests of securing educational provision for the child with a minimum of disruption.  

 
For year of entry, where possible, a place will be offered in accordance with the 
preferences to the parent who can provide evidence that they are in receipt of child 
benefit. 

 
Applications for children of UK Service Personnel (UK Armed 

Forces) 
 
15. Applications for children of service personnel with a confirmed posting to the county, 

returning from overseas to live in the county, will be considered in advance of the 
family moving into the county.  Where possible, an application must be included in 
the normal admissions round. 

 
16. An official letter, such as a posting note or letter of support from the commanding 

officer should be sent to the LA as soon as possible.  This should include the 
relocation date and unit postal address or quartering area address.  

 
17. Until a fixed address is available, the unit postal address or quartering area address 

will be used and a school place allocated accordingly. 
 
18. The LA will not refuse a child of UK service personnel a place because the family 

does not currently live in the area. The LA is also not permitted to reserve places for 
these children. 

 
19. Children will be considered to be siblings if any brother or sister (including step 

siblings living at the same address) have been formally offered and have accepted a 
place at the school. The sibling link will not apply if the child on roll is in Yr11 for VC & 
C’s schools. Parents should view individual admissions policies for VA, F and A for 
information about YR11 pupils.  Their position on any waiting list will be set 
accordingly.  

Page 517



6 
 

Armed Forces Personnel Relocating to Salisbury Plain - a Special 
Planning area for admissions 

20. Leading up to September 2019 there is initiative to rebase serving armed forces 
personnel in Germany back to England. The Garrison towns around Salisbury Plain 
in Wiltshire will be target destinations for a significant proportion of these service 
families.   

21. From September 2015, Wiltshire Council has declared the community areas of 
Amesbury and Tidworth as a ‘special planning area for Admissions’. This gives an 
admission priority to children eligible for service premium, rebasing to settlements 
around Salisbury Plain until 2019. Wiltshire Council is working closely with the 
Children’s Education Advisory Service (CEAS), a tri-service organisation funded by 
the MOD, to make the transition for children and families in Germany as smooth as 
possible and remove unnecessary complexity. 

22. Wiltshire Council has introduced criteria ‘G’ to the oversubscription criteria for all 

community and voluntary controlled schools in the ‘special planning area for 

admissions’ and is requesting other admission authorities in the area to consider 

making similar arrangements. 

 
23. The ‘special planning area for admissions’ will be kept under review by Wiltshire 

Council, including the option of extending the area to include Salisbury in subsequent 
years. 

24. Applications for children of service personnel returning from overseas with a 
confirmed posting will be considered in advance of the family moving into the county 
if necessary.  Where possible, an application must be included in the normal 
admission round. 

25. An official letter, such as a posting note or letter of support from the commanding 
officer should be sent to the LA as soon as possible.  This should include relocation 
date and unit postal address or quartering area address (the address of the closest 
house in the nearest ‘quartering area’) in the ‘special planning area for admissions’. 

26. Until a fixed address is available, the unit postal address or quartering area address 
will be used and a school place allocated accordingly. 

27. The LA will not refuse a child of UK service personnel a place because the family 
does not currently live in the area. It is also not permitted to reserve places for these 
children.  

28. Children will be considered to be siblings if any brother or sister (including step 
siblings living at the same address) have been formally offered and have accepted a 
place at the school. The sibling link will not apply if the child on roll is in Yr11 for VC 
& C’s schools. Parents should view individual admissions policies for VA, F and A for 
information about YR11 pupils. Their position on any waiting list will be set 
accordingly. 

29. All applications will be dealt with in accordance with these admission arrangements.   

 

Page 518



7 
 

Children from overseas 

 
30. Children who hold a full British Citizen passport or children whose passport has been 

endorsed to show they have the right of abode in the country are entitled to apply for 
a place at a maintained school.  The passport or visa should be made available for 
inspection before an offer of a school place can be made.  Asylum Seekers should 
make available evidence of their right of abode as provided by the National Asylum 
Support Service. 

 
31. Applications on behalf of children currently living outside the UK will be considered 

but until the children are resident in the country their home address will be 
considered as being their place of residence outside the UK.  Exceptions to this 
would be instances where the children are of parents returning from foreign postings, 
such as UK service personnel and other crown servants (including diplomats) who 
have been posted abroad on a fixed term contract and who are returning to live within 
the UK.  Proof of future UK residency (or a service unit’s postal address) will be 
required if application is made to an oversubscribed school. 

 
Selection test for Grammar Schools 
 
32. Where a selection test of any kind is part of the school’s admission arrangements, 

the admission authority is required to allow the child to sit the entrance exam and 
inform parents of the outcome prior to preferences being made. 

 

The Application Process 
 

First Round Applications for Secondary YR7 2018 Intake 
(applications submitted by the deadline of 31 October 2017) 
 
33. The LA will act as a clearing house for the allocation of places by the relevant 

admission authorities in response to the SCAFs.  The LA will only make a decision 
with respect to the offer or refusal of a place in response to any preference 
expressed on the SCAF where –  

 
 a. it is acting in its separate capacity as an admission authority, or 
 
 b. an applicant is eligible for a place at more than one school, or 
 
 c. an applicant is not eligible for a place at any of the schools for which a  

  preference was expressed. 
 
33. The process by which the LA will allocate places is explained at paragraphs 35-43. 
 
34. 31 October 2017 - closing date for all Common Application Forms to be 

submitted by the School Admissions Team at County Hall. Applications 
submitted by this date will be classed as first round/on time applications. 

 
35. By 17 November 2017 where parents have nominated a secondary school outside 

the LA area, the LA will notify the relevant LA. 
 
36. By 24 November 2017 the LA will notify all A, F and VA schools of every preference 

that has been expressed for that school.  
 

Page 519



8 
 

37. 18 December 2017: Exceptional circumstances deadline. 
Only in exceptional circumstances such as those listed here will a late application be 
considered at the same time as applications received by the deadline of 31 October 
2017. 

 
a. where there has been a change of family circumstances after the deadline 

date which has a significant effect on the preferences given on the original 
application.  (If this is a house move this must have been completed with an 
exchange of contracts before 18 December 2017). 

b. a move into Wiltshire from outside the county after the deadline date but 
before 18 December 2017.  Confirmation of the new address (in the form of 
an exchange of contracts or a tenancy agreement) must be provided before 
18 December 2017. 

c. service personnel moving to a Wiltshire address after the deadline date.  A 
posting notice must be provided before 18 December 2017. 

d. where a common application form has not been received by the LA but the 
parent can provide proof of posting. Such late applications can only be 
considered if they are received by the LA before on 18 December 2017. 

 
Documentary evidence should be provided with the application (or at the latest by 18 
December 2017) to verify the circumstances which caused the late application to be 
made. If evidence cannot be provided, the application will not be treated as an 
exception. 

 
38. By 9 January 2018 the LA will provide a final list to all admissions authorities of 

every preference that has been expressed for their school(s) including those 
considered as exceptional as outlined in paragraph 37 and those residents in other 
LA areas. 

 
39. By 16 January 2018 all A, F and VA schools must have considered all of the 

preferences for their school and provided the LA with a ranked list of all applicants in 
accordance with the oversubscription criteria. 

 
40. The LA will then match this ranked list against all other ranked lists and: 
 

 Where the child is eligible for a place at only one of the preferred schools, a 
place at the school will be offered to the child. 

 

 Where the child is eligible for a place at two or more of the nominated 
schools, they will be offered a place at whichever school was their highest 
available preference. 

 

 Where the child is not eligible for a place at any of the nominated schools and 
they live in Wiltshire, a place will be allocated at the next nearest school to the 
home address with available places.  

 

 Should this place subsequently be declined then it is the parent’s 
responsibility to apply for an alternative school place.  

 
41. By 2 February 2018 the LA will inform other LAs of any places in Wiltshire schools 

which will be offered to their residents. 
 
42. By 27 February 2018 the LA will inform Wiltshire schools of the pupils to be offered 

places at their schools. 

Page 520



9 
 

 
43. On 1 March 2018 (National Offer Date) letters will be despatched to all parents who 

submitted an application form by 31 October 2017 offering a place at one school. 
  

44. These offer letters will give the following information: 
 
 a. the name of the school at which a place is offered; 
 
 b. the reason why the child is not being offered a place at any of the other  
  schools nominated on the SCAF; 
 
 c. information about their statutory right of appeal against any decision to refuse 
  places at other preferred schools; 
 
 
45. 15 March 2018 the deadline for parents to accept the place offered.  Parents should 

confirm their acceptance online if they have applied online, or if they have applied by 
paper return the acceptance/decline slip directly to the Local Authority. 

 
If the parent does not respond to the Local Authority to confirm if they wish to accept 
or decline the offer by 15 March 2018, the Local Authority will send a second letter to 
the parent informing them that they have seven days in which to accept or decline 
the place which has been offered. They will also be advised in this letter that failure 
to respond could result in the offer of the place being withdrawn. If there is still no 
response a third letter will be sent to the applicant informing them that the offer of a 
place has been withdrawn.  It will then be the parent’s responsibility to apply for an 
alternative school place.  

 

Second Round Applications for Secondary YR 7, 2018 Intake 
(applications received between 1 November 2017 and 09 March 
2018) 
 
46. Second round applications, i.e. those received between 1 November 2017 and 9 

March 2018 (except those covered by paragraph 37) for the YR 7 Intake round will 
not be considered until after all first round on time applications have been processed.  
Second round applications will be considered together with any applicant previously 
refused a place in the first round and if necessary will be prioritised using the 
oversubscription policy in place at the time.   

 
Additional applications: 
Only one offer of a school place for each child can be held at any one time.  If 
the Local Authority receives a further application for a child who has already 
secured a place in an earlier round, the new stated preferences will 
automatically supersede any earlier preferences stated.  
 
During the second round of applications parents should note that the school 
initially allocated will be retained for their child pending the outcome of that 
application and that there is no guarantee of gaining a place at the preferred 
school named on the new application. 
 
Parents can only hold one offer. Therefore if an offer is made to a child during 
the second round of allocations any offer made in the first round will 
automatically be withdrawn. 

 

Page 521



10 
 

The LA will contact all, Foundation, Aided schools and Academies named as a 
preference on the application form to determine whether or not a place is available.  
An offer will be made for the school named as the highest preference where there is 
an identified place.  Where the child is not eligible for a place at any of the nominated 
schools, and the child lives in Wiltshire, the child (will) be allocated a place at their 
designated school if possible, unless an alternative place is available within a safe 
statutory walking distance from their home address. The process explained in 
paragraph 47-50 will be followed: 

 
47. 23 March 2018 details of second round applications received between the 1 

November 2017 and 9 March 2018 to be sent to, Academies, Foundation and 
Voluntary Aided Schools. 

 
48. 17 April 2018 Academies, Foundation and Voluntary Aided Schools to provide the 

LA with a ranked list of second round applications.  
 

On receipt the LA will match the returns from all schools and will make an allocation 
of one place for each applicant: 

 

 Where the child is eligible for a place at only one of the preferred schools, a 
  place at the school will be offered to the child. 
 

 Where the child is eligible for a place at two or more of the nominated 
schools, they will be offered a place at whichever school was their highest 
available preference. 

 

 Should this place subsequently be declined then it is the parent’s 
responsibility to apply for an alternative school place.  

 

 LA to send schools a list of late applicants being offered a place on 27 April 
2016. 

 
49. 30 April 2018 the LA will send out the second round offers to schools for applications 

received between 1 November 2017 and 9 March 2018.  
 
50. 14 May 2018 is the last date for offers to be accepted by parents.  Parents should 

complete the slip attached to the decision letter and return it to the Local Authority to 
confirm if they wish to accept or decline the place. 

 
If the parent does not respond to the Local Authority to confirm if they wish to accept 
or decline the offer by the date stated in the letter, the Local Authority will send a 
second letter to the parent informing them that they have seven days in which to 
accept or decline the place which has been offered. They will also be advised in this 
letter that failure to respond could result in the offer of the place being withdrawn. If 
there is still no response a third letter will be sent to the applicant informing them that 
the offer of a place has been withdrawn.  It will then be the parent’s responsibility to 
apply for an alternative school place.  

 

Third Round Applications for Secondary YR 7, 2018 Intake 
(applications received after 9 March 2018) 
 
51. Third round applications, i.e. those received after 9 March 2018 for the YR7 Intake 

round will not be considered until after all the second round applications have been 

Page 522



11 
 

processed.  Third round applications will be considered together with any applicant 
previously refused a place and if necessary will be prioritised using the 
oversubscription policy in place at the time.   

 
Only one offer of a school place for each child can be held at any one time.  If 
the Local Authority receives a further application for a child who has already 
secured a place in an earlier round, the new stated preferences will 
automatically supersede any earlier preferences stated.  
 
During the third round of applications parents should note that the school 
initially allocated will be retained for their child pending the outcome of that 
application and that there is no guarantee of gaining a place at the preferred 
school named on the new application. 
 
Parents can only hold one offer. Therefore if an offer is made to a child during 
the third round of allocations any offer made in the first or second round will 
automatically be withdrawn. 

 
            The LA will contact all  Foundation, Aided schools and Academies named as a 

preference on the application form to determine whether or not a place is available.  
An offer will be made for the school named as the highest preference where there is 
an identified place.  Where the child is not eligible for a place at any of the nominated 
schools, and the child lives in Wiltshire, the child will be allocated a place at their 
designated school if possible, unless an alternative place is available within the safe 
statutory walking distance from their home address. The process explained in para 
52 - 55 will be followed: 

 
52. Applications received after the 9 March 2018 will be considered in date order of 

receipt and will be looked at after 15 May 2018 (i.e. once the second round of 
applications have been processed).   

 
53. Any applications received by the LA after 9 March 2018 will be dealt with as soon as 

possible with allocations to a single school being made and offer letters sent out from 
the LA as soon as is practically possible.  

 
 Parents should return the acceptance slip attached to the letter to the LA to inform 

them if they are accepting or declining the place. 
 

If the parent does not respond to the Local Authority to confirm if they wish to accept 
or decline the offer by the date stated in the letter, the Local Authority will send a 
second letter to the parent informing them that they have seven days in which to 
accept or decline the place which has been offered. They will also be advised in this 
letter that failure to respond could result in the offer of the place being withdrawn. If 
there is still no response a third letter will be sent to the applicant informing them that 
the offer of a place has been withdrawn.  It will then be the parent’s responsibility to 
apply for an alternative school place.  

 
54. Any applications received by any school should be forwarded to the LA within 5 days 

of receipt. 
 
 
 

 

Page 523



12 
 

Applications for Secondary YR7, 2018 Intake (applications received 
after 25 July 2018 – end of term) 
 
55. Any applications received by the LA after 25 July 2018 which express a preference 

for an Aided, Foundation School or an Academy will be forwarded to the 
school/college within five school days of receipt at which time the process for in year 
applications will apply. 

 
Right of Appeal - In Year Transfer Applications 
 
56. All appeals will be heard in accordance with the timescales which have been 

determined and are explained in the School Admissions Appeals Code. 
 
 Parents who are refused a place at a school for which they have applied have the 

right of appeal to an independent Admission Appeal panel. 
 
The deadline dates for lodging appeals for VC & C Schools for the main round entry 
is: 
 
First round appeals 
For applications received from 1 September 2017 – 31 October 2017 and for offers 
made on National Offer Date appeals must be received by the Local Authority no 
later than 28 March 2018. 

 
Second round appeals 
For applications received from 1 November 2017 – 9 March 2018 and for offers made 
on 30 April 2018 appeals will be heard as soon as possible. 

 
Third round appeals 
For applications received after the 9 March 2018 and for offers made as soon as 
possible after 15 May 2018 appeals will be heard as soon as possible. 
 
Own admission authority appeal timetables will be provided within the individual 
schools admissions policy or on the schools website. 
 
All appeals will be heard in accordance with the timescales which have been 
determined and are explained in the School Admissions Appeals Code. 

 
 

Final List of expected Secondary Yr7 pupils to schools 
 
57. On or before 31 August 2018 the LA will send out a list to all maintained schools in 

Wiltshire showing those pupils expected to start in the school at the beginning of the 
2018/19 school year. 

 

Admitting in area children above Published Admissions Number 
(PAN) 
 
58. Wiltshire Council will always try and allocate a space at a child’s designated school 

whenever this is possible.  It must be noted we cannot reserve places at any school 
nor can we guarantee that a space will be available at the designated school.  Having 
enough spaces in school for local children is a service priority for the School 
Buildings and Places team. 

Page 524



13 
 

 
59. The LA has the responsibility for the strategic management of school places across 

the county and has to ensure admissions do not compromise its ability to provide 
efficient and effective use of resources.  It is often more economic to admit local 
children to their designated school because this does not incorporate an additional 
transport costs which would be required were an alternative school to be allocated. 

 
60. For some schools, the next nearest school does not provide a reasonable alternative 

because it is beyond the statutory walking distance or the route to it is unsafe or there 
may not be available transport.  Any children who move into these areas might have 
to be admitted to the designated school despite any existing pressures upon it. 

 
61. It may not always be possible to find a space at the designated school if this is 

already oversubscribed.  In area children will be given priority on any waiting list.  If 
the designated area school is unable to accommodate any more children within the 
year group then the LA will allocate an alternative school which will be the next 
nearest school which has places available. 

 
62. Transport would be made available for any children who had to be allocated a school 

because their designated school was full and the school that has been allocated is 
outside of the statutory safe walking distance for the age of the child. 

 
 

In-Year Transfer Applications for year groups other than Yr7 
Secondary 2018 intake   

 
All in-year transfer applications for all year groups, to Wiltshire Schools, should be submitted 
directly to Wiltshire Council.  If a parent wishes to apply for a transfer to a school in another 

Local Authority then they should apply directly to the authority in which the school is situated 
in.  The in-year transfer application process for Wiltshire Schools is explained below.   

 
63. The LA will make available copies of the Admissions Guide and CAF through all 

primary and secondary schools and on request from County Hall. 
 
64. All applicants who wish to apply for a school place must complete an application form 

which should be returned to the LA.  The applicant may or may not live in Wiltshire. 
 
65. Should a parent living in Wiltshire wish to apply for a school in another authority, they 

must contact that authority directly for details on how to apply. 
 
66. Where a school receives an in-year application form expressing a preference for that 

school the form should be forwarded to the LA within five school days of receipt. 
 
67. Where the LA receives an in-year application form expressing a preference for a VC 

or C school the application will be forwarded to the school within five school days of 
receipt. 

 
68. Where the LA receives an in year application form expressing a preference for an 

Academy, F or VA school the application will be forwarded to the school within five 
school days of receipt. 

 
69. For an Academy, F or VA school, the school’s governing body is responsible for 

deciding the outcome of the application and advising the LA accordingly within 10 
school days of the date of which the information was received by the school. 

Page 525



14 
 

 
70. In all cases, a decision letter will be sent out by the Local Authority within 20 school 

days of receiving the application form and this will provide information, if appropriate, 
about the statutory right of appeal.  

 
71. If an application has been passed on to a selective school, it is recognised that such 

a school will not be able to make a response to the LA until after the result of an 
appropriate selection test has been received.  The selective school will inform the LA 
of the outcome of the application as soon as practicable after the result of any 
selection test is known.  A decision letter will be sent out by the LA and will provide 
information, if appropriate about the statutory right of appeal. 

 
72. Waiting lists for schools must be kept and will be managed as per the admission 

arrangements for the particular school involved.  Waiting lists will be kept in order of 
the relevant oversubscription criteria and not in date order of receipt. 

 
73.      The Local Authority will maintain waiting lists for all year groups for VC & C schools. 
 
74.   The school/academy will maintain waiting lists for all year groups for A, F & VA 

schools.  
 
75. In accordance with paragraph 2.21 of the School Admissions Code the LA is required 

to provide parents on request the availability of school places within its area.  All 
schools must provide the LA with this information.  This must be done on a termly 
basis with the first return to be sent by 6 September 2018. 

 
If an own admission authority school does not wish the LA to co-ordinate its in year, 
applications, the admission authority must formally write to the LA to confirm this. It will then  
be the responsibility of that admissions authority to ensure that applications are processed in 
line with School Admissions Code. 
The admissions authority will then have to process the application and inform the parent of 
the outcome and where necessary their statutory right of appeal. In all cases, it also required 
to forward a copy of the application along with the decision to the LA within ten schools days 
of receipt. 
 
 
Right of Appeal - In Year Transfer Applications 
 
76. All appeals will be heard in accordance with the timescales which have been 

determined and are explained in the School Admissions Appeals Code. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 526



15 
 

Applications for transfer at a future date 

 
77. Applications for transfer for VC and C schools will be considered no more than a 

maximum of one term in advance.  All requests for admissions to VC and C Schools 
will be processed in line with the timetable below. 

 
This table gives the earliest date that applications can be sent and when they are 
considered. Decision letters should be posted within 20 school days of either the date 
in the last column or, if your application is later than this, our receipt of your form.  

 

Date admission being 
sought 

Earliest application should 
be submitted 

Applications will be 
processed from 

January to March 1 September 31 October 

April to July 1 January 15 February 

September to December 1 April 31 May 

 
 
78. Applications for transfer for VA and F schools and Academies will be forwarded when 

received directly to the schools named for consideration in accordance with the 
schools own admissions policy. 

 

Sixth Form Admissions 
 
79. Parents or students wishing to enrol for sixth form courses should in the first instance 

contact the school and ask for a copy of the sixth form prospectus.  This will detail 
the courses offered at the school and any specific entry requirements for any of those 
courses.  The school will require an application form to be completed should the 
parent or student wish to make a formal application to join the school’s sixth form. 

 
Proof of address 
 

79. The LA reserves the right to ask parents for proof of their address. If the parents’ 
current address is different to that held on the LA’s computerised system the LA may 
ask parents to provide proof of the new address if one is indicated. Acceptable proof 
of address includes:  

 
A formal exchange of contracts or a signed solicitor’s letter stating contracts have 
been exchanged and specifying a completion date.  

A signed and dated tenancy agreement plus proof of residency (e.g. copy of a recent 
utility bill)  

 
If parents fail to provide proof of a new address, the LA will use the old address for 
admission purposes. If parents notify the LA that they will be moving house, even if 
they provide the relevant proof of that address, they must move into that property by 
no later than the end of the first term following the notification. The LA reserves the 
right to check that parents are living in the address indicated within that timescale. If 
parents are not living there, the applications will be investigated and the allocated 
place may be withdrawn. 

 
 
 

Page 527



16 
 

 
In-Year Fair Access Protocol 
 
80. All Wiltshire Schools will act in accordance with the Fair Access Protocol which has 

been adopted to give access to educational provisions for hard to place children. 
Further information on the In - Year Fair Access Protocol, as well as a copy of the 
protocol, can be viewed at www.wiltshire.gov.uk  

 

 
Early or Delayed Transfer 
 
81. a. Early transfer 

 
Children may only transfer early to a secondary school if it can be shown that 
not to do so would be detrimental to their academic progress or social 
wellbeing.  Each such request involves consultation with the current school, 
the school to which the child wishes to transfer and where appropriate, the 
Authority’s professional adviser(s).  The application will not be agreed if one 
or more parties consider that the transfer would be inappropriate.  Agreement 
to such a request would be considered exceptional. 

 
 b. Delayed transfer 

 
Children may remain for a further year in a primary school if it can be shown 
that not to do so would be detrimental to their academic progress or social 
wellbeing,  The presence of special educational needs or underachievement 
are not in themselves sufficient reasons to delay transfer. 
 
Children for whom a delayed entry to school or year group retention has 
already been agreed by the relevant parties will continue in the lower year 
group unless it can be shown that it is in their best interests to rejoin their 
chronological year group.  The continuation of this arrangement will continue 
on transfer to secondary school unless the parent/carer, current school, the 
school to which the child would otherwise wish to transfer and, where 
appropriate, the LA’s professional adviser consider it in the child’s best 
interest to rejoin the chronological year group.  An application for transfer to 
secondary school must still be made in the same way as expected of other 
children in the year group in which they are working (rather than their 
chronological age group). 
 

Right of Appeal for the Admission of children outside their normal age group 

Parents who are refused a place at a school for which they have applied have 
the right of appeal to an independent Admission Appeal panel. They do not 
have a right of appeal if they have been offered a place and it is not in the 
year group they would like. However, if parents are dissatisfied with the 
outcome of the request for delayed entry they have the right to complain 
against the decision through the Council’s complaints procedure for decisions 
made by council officers or under the school’s complaints procedure where 
the school is the admissions authority. 
 
 
 

Page 528

http://www.wiltshire.gov.uk/


17 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

Page 529



18 
 

Appendix: 1 (2018/19)            Timetable for Secondary Co-ordination (Wiltshire) 
 
31 October 2017: Closing date for all Common Application Forms to be 

received by the School Admissions Team at County Hall.  
Applications received by this date will be classed as first 
round applications. 

 
17 November 2017: Details of applications which include preferences for school in 

other LAs to be sent to those LAs.   
 
24 November 2017: Details of applications to be sent to F, VA schools, Academies 

of all first round applicants. 
 
18 December 2017: Last date for any exceptional applications to be 

considered. 
 
9 January 2018: Final list sent out from LA to all admission authorities, including 

all applications which have been considered as falling under 
the exceptional circumstances criteria.  

 
16 January 2018: Academies, Foundation and VA schools to provide the LA with 

ranked list of all first round applications.   
 
 Between 16 January and 2 February, the LA will match the 

ranked list of all the schools and allocate places. 
 
2 February 2018: The LA will inform other LAs of any offers of places at Wiltshire 

schools to be made to applicants resident in their areas. 
 
27 February 2018: By this date the LA will provide schools with details of those 

children to be offered places at the school. 
 
1 March 2018: Notification letters for first round applicants will be 

despatched and sent to parents. 
 
9 March 2018: Deadline for second round applications 
 
15 March 2018: Last date for first round offers to be accepted by parents.  

Parents should confirm their acceptance online if they have 
applied online, or if they have applied by paper return the 
acceptance/decline slip directly to the Local Authority. 

 
23 March 2018: Details of second round applications received after deadline 

and before 9 March to be sent to Academies, Foundation and 
VA schools.  

 
17 April 2018: Academies, Foundation and VA schools to provide the LA with 

ranked list of late applications. 
 
27 April 2018: LA to send all schools a list of second round applicants being 

offered a place. 
 
30 April 2017: Notification letters sent out by the LA for all second round 

applications received between the deadline 1 November 
2017 and 9 March 2018. 

Page 530



19 
 

 
14 May 2018: Last date for second round offers to be accepted by parents.  

Parents should confirm their acceptance or decline directly to 
the Local Authority. 

 
15 May 2018: Applications received after the 9 March will be considered in 

date order of receipt and will be looked at from today.  
Applications will be dealt with as soon as possible with 
allocations to a single school being made and offers being sent 
out by the LA as soon as practically possible. 

 
31 August 2018: On or before the 31 August the LA will send out a list to all 

schools showing the pupils expected to join the school at the 
beginning of 2018/19 school year. 

 
 
 

Page 531



This page is intentionally left blank



PRIMARY 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Proposed Co-ordinated Scheme for Primary School 
Admissions for 2018/19 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Status:  Proposed Primary Co-ordinated Scheme 2018/19 
A249/16       

Page 533



2 
 

  

Page 534



3 
 

Proposed Co-ordinated Admissions Scheme for Primary & Junior 
schools within Wiltshire for year 2018/19 

 
Introduction 
 
1. This scheme for co-ordinated admissions is pursuant to section 89(b) of the School 
 Standards and Framework Act 1998, for co-ordinating the arrangements for the 
 admission of pupils to Primary schools within the LA area.  It applies to all Primary 
 schools in Wiltshire with effect from September 2018 intakes.  There will be an 
 annual review of the scheme as per the School Admissions Code in force at the time. 
 
Interpretation and Glossary 
 
2. In this scheme –  
 
 “the LA” means Wiltshire Council acting in their capacity as a local (education) 
 authority; 
 
 “the LA area” means the County of Wiltshire; 
 
 The definitions of “primary education”, “Primary education”, “primary school” and 
 “Primary school" can be found in sections 2 and 5 of the Education Act 1996. 
  

 “school” means a community, (C) voluntary controlled, (VC)  foundation (F) or 
voluntary aided (VA) school 

 
 “Academy” means a state funded, non fee paying independent school set up under a 

Funding Agreement between the Secretary of State and the proprietor of an 
Academy (most commonly, and hereafter, referred to as an Academy Trust).  
Academy Funding Agreements require them to comply with the Code and the law 
relating to admissions, though the Secretary of State has the power to vary this 
requirement where there is a demonstrable need. 

 
 “admission authority” in relation to a community (C) or voluntary controlled (VC) 
 school means  the LA and, in relation to an academy, foundation or voluntary aided 
 school means  the governing body of that school; 
 
 “the specified year” means the school year beginning in September 2018. 
 
 “admission arrangements” means the determined arrangements which govern the 
 procedures and decision making for the purposes of admitting pupils to a school; 
 

“first round application” means any application for a place in the first year of primary 
or infant education or the first year of junior education that is received before the 
deadline of 15 January 2018. 

 
 “second or third round application” means any application for a place in the first year 

of primary or infant education or the first year of junior education that is received after 
the 15 January 2018. 

 
 “In – Year application” means any application for any other year group in the school 

up to and including Yr 6; 
 

Page 535



4 
 

 “eligible for a place” means that a child’s name has been placed on a school’s ranked 
list within the school’s published admission number.  

 
The application round for entry into Reception and Junior YR3 2018 opens on 1 
September 2017.  The deadline date for applications to be received is midnight 
on 15 January 2018.  The home address given for the child must be the address 
where the child is resident as of the deadline date. 

 
Starting School 
 
3. There is a legal entitlement for all three and four year olds to have access to 15 hours 

free early education per week – available from registered childminders, school-based 
childcare, Sure Start centres, pre-schools, day nurseries, playgroups or nursery 
schools 

 
A child must be in full-time education in the term following their fifth birthday.  In 
Wiltshire, children can start school at the earliest from the September following their 
fourth birthday.  Full time provision will be made available in all reception classes for 
all children from September 2018. 
 

General Information 
 
4. Parents will be able to make an online application.  Online applications will be made 

directly to County Hall, Trowbridge.  If an online application has been submitted, a 
written application is not necessary.  The online facility will be available from 1 
September 2017 up until the deadline of 15 January 2018. 

 
5. There will be a standard form for written applications known as the Primary Common 

Application form (PCAF) used for the admission of pupils into the first year of primary 
education in the specified year. 

 
6. Unless an online application has been made, the PCAF must be used as a means of 

expressing one or more preferences by a parent wishing to apply for a school place 
for their child (either within or outside the county).  The child must live in Wiltshire. 

 
7. The LA will make arrangements to ensure 
 
 a. the PCAF is accompanied by written guidance notes explaining the  
  co-ordinated admissions scheme, and 
 
 b. that copies are available on request from the LA and from all Primary schools 
  in the LA area, and 
 
 c. that an electronic version of the form is available for parents to make an  
  online application. 
 
8. The PCAF and accompanying guidance notes will invite the parent to express up to 

three preferences in rank order. Schools may be inside or outside Wiltshire, and to 
give their reasons for each preference, explain that the parent will receive no more 
than one offer of a school place and specify the closing date and the address to 
which it must be returned.  They will also confirm that; 

 
 a. a place will be offered at their highest ranked school at which they are eligible 
  to be offered a place; or 
 

Page 536



5 
 

 b. if a place cannot be offered at any one of their preferred schools, and the  
  child is living in Wiltshire, a place at an alternative school will be allocated. 
 
9. Split Site Schools – where a school operates from separate bases and each base 

provides for the full primary age range (i.e. Both Key Stage 1 and Key Stage 2), the 
two sites will be treated as separate schools for admissions purposes as they have 
their own discrete catchment area.  This means that an application must name the 
site preferred.  An applicant can use two preferences to name both sites. 

 
10. The governing body of a Foundation (F) or Voluntary Aided school (VA) or an 

Academy (A) can ask parents who have expressed a preference for their school on 
the PCAF, to provide additional information on a supplementary form but only if the 
additional information is required in order to apply their oversubscription criteria to the 
application.   

 
11. Where a school receives a supplementary form it may not be regarded as a valid 

application unless the parent has also completed a PCAF which expressed a 
preference for that school.  The PCAF or an online application must have been 
returned to the LA by the deadline date.   

 
12. The closing date for applications is 15 January 2018.  All completed PCAFs are to 

be returned directly to the LA.  Any PCAFs which are incorrectly returned to schools 
must be forwarded to the LA to be received by the deadline.  Forms returned to 
schools and not received by the LA by 15 January 2018 will be treated as late 
applications. 

 
13. The LA will send out an acknowledgement of receipt for each PCAF and all online 

applications.  Applicants will be advised to contact the LA if they have not received an 
acknowledgement within 15 school days of posting their applications. 

 
Address 
 
14. The child’s address provided on the application form should be that of the child’s 

normal place of residence. Only one address can be considered for application 
purposes. The address provided will be used to determine the child’s priority for a 
school place.  The Local Authority reserves the right to confirm the address provided 
by the applicant using the council tax reference number which is provided as part of 
the application.   

 
For Yr R  and Junior YR3 September 2018 entry, the address used to determine 
priority of school places for on time applications submitted in the main round, will be 
the child’s normal place of residence as at deadline date of 15 January 2018. 
 

Designated Area 

 
A designated area is a discrete geographical zone served by a school.  The address 
that determines a child’s designated area is the place where s/he is ordinarily 
resident with his/her parent(s) or legal guardian(s) for the majority of the school  
week.  Most schools have a discrete designated area but some addresses fall within  
areas shared by two or more schools. Children who live outside the designated area  
for the school may still express a preference for the school.  
 
For admission criterion purposes, the address used for Bargees, will be the sorting 
office or main post office address, closest to the place of mooring as of the deadline 

Page 537



6 
 

date.  Proof in the form of a licence will be required and must be submitted at the 
time of application. 

 
Shared Parental Responsibility 
 
15. Where two (or more) adults have parental responsibility for a child it is preferable that 

they should agree before submitting an application form which school(s) to name as 
their preference(s). In cases of dispute, or where two application forms are 
submitted, the LA will process the application received from the adult who has a 
residence order.  If no such order has been made, preference will be given to the 
parent with whom the child is living for the majority of the school week.    

 
If both parents are in dispute as to whom the child lives with the majority of the 
school week, the LA will process the application received from the adult who is in 
receipt of the child benefit, if this is not available then the address used on the NHS 
card will be used.   

 
In the event of a further dispute regarding the address used, parents may wish to 
take independent legal advice on whether they should seek a specific issue order 
from the court to decide on where the child is schooled.  For in-year transfer 
applications, until any such order is made, the placement will continue in the best 
interests of securing educational provision for the child with a minimum of disruption.  

 
For year of entry, where possible, a place will be offered in accordance with the 
preferences to the parent who can provide evidence that they are in receipt of child 
benefit. 

 
Applications for children of UK Service Personnel  
(UK Armed Forces) 
 
16. Applications for children of service personnel with a confirmed posting to the county 

will be considered in advance of the family moving into the county.  Where possible, 
an application must be included in the normal admission round. 

 
17. An official letter, such as a posting note or letter of support from the commanding 

officer should be sent to the LA as soon as possible.  This should include the 
relocation date and the unit postal address or quartering area address.  

 
18. Until a fixed address is available, the unit postal address or quartering area address 

will be used and a school place allocated accordingly. 
 
19. The LA will not refuse a child of UK service personnel a place because the family 

does not currently live in the area, the LA it is also not permitted to reserve places for 
these children.   

 
20. Children will be considered to be siblings if any brother or sister (including step 

siblings living at the same address) have been formally offered and have accepted a 
place at the school. The sibling link will not apply if the child on roll is in Yr 6 for VC & 
C’s schools. Parents should view individual admissions policies for VA, F and A for 
information about YR6 pupils. Their position on any waiting list will be set 
accordingly. 

 
21. All applications will be dealt with in accordance with these admission arrangements.  

If a reasonable alternative cannot be offered, the child may be admitted as an 

Page 538



7 
 

‘excepted pupil’ under the School Admissions (Infant Class Sizes) (England) 
Regulations. 

 

Armed Forces Personnel Relocating to Salisbury Plain - a Special Planning area for 
admissions 

22.  Leading up to September 2019 there is initiative to rebase serving armed forces 
personnel in Germany back to England. The Garrison towns around Salisbury Plain 
in Wiltshire will be target destinations for a significant proportion of these service 
families.   

23. From September 2015, Wiltshire Council has declared the community areas of 
Amesbury and Tidworth as a ‘special planning area for Admissions’. This gives an 
admission priority to children eligible for service premium, rebasing to settlements 
around Salisbury Plain until 2019. Wiltshire Council is working closely with the 
Children’s Education Advisory Service (CEAS), a tri-service organisation funded by 
the MOD, to make the transition for children and families in Germany as smooth as 
possible and remove unnecessary complexity. 

24. Wiltshire Council has introduced criteria ‘H’ to the oversubscription criteria for all 

community and voluntary controlled schools in the ‘special planning area for 

admissions’ and is requesting other admission authorities in the area to consider 

making similar arrangements. 

 
25. The ‘special planning area for admissions’ will be kept under review by Wiltshire 

Council, including the option of extending the area to include Salisbury in subsequent 
years. 

26. Applications for children of service personnel returning from overseas with a 
confirmed posting will be considered in advance of the family moving into the county.  
Where possible, an application must be included in the normal admission round. 

27. An official letter, such as a posting note or letter of support from the commanding 
officer should be sent to the LA as soon as possible.  This should include relocation 
date and unit postal address or quartering area address (the address of the closest 
house in the nearest ‘quartering area’) in the ‘special planning area for admissions’. 

28. Until a fixed address is available, the unit postal address or quartering area address 
will be used and a school place allocated accordingly. 

29. The LA will not refuse a child of UK service personnel a place because the family 
does not currently live in the area, nor will it reserve blocks of places for these 
children. 

30. Children will be considered to be siblings if any brother or sister (including step 
siblings living at the same address) have been formally offered and have accepted a 
place at the school. The sibling link will not apply if the child on roll is in Yr 6 for VC & 
C’s schools. Parents should view individual admissions policies for VA, F and A for 
information about YR6 pupils. Their position on any waiting list will be set 
accordingly.)  

Page 539



8 
 

31. All applications will be dealt with in accordance with these admission arrangements.  
If a reasonable alternative cannot be offered, the child may be admitted as an 
‘excepted pupil’ under the School Admissions (Infant Class Sizes) (England) 
Regulations 2012. 

Applications for Children from overseas 
 
32. Children who hold a full British Citizen passport or children whose passport has been 

endorsed to show they have the right to abode in the country are entitled to apply for 
a place at a maintained school.  The passport or visa should be made available for 
inspection before an offer of a school place can be made.  Asylum Seekers should 
make available evidence of their right of abode as provided by the National Asylum 
Support Service. 

 
33. Applications on behalf of children currently living outside the UK will be considered 

but until the child/ren are resident in the country their home address will be 
considered as being their place of residence outside the UK.  Exceptions to this 
would be instances where the children are of parents returning from foreign postings, 
such as UK service personnel and other crown servants who have been posted 
abroad on a fixed term contract and who are returning to live within the UK.  Proof of 
the future UK residency will be required if an application is made to an 
oversubscribed school. 

 
The Application Process 
  
First Round Applications for Reception and Junior YR3 - 2018 Intake (applications 
received before the deadline of 15 January 2018)  
 
34. The LA will act as a clearing house for the allocation of places by the relevant 

admissions authorities in response to the PCAFs.  The LA will only make a decision 
with respect to the offer or refusal of a place in response to any preference 
expressed on the PCAF where- 

 
 a. it is acting in its separate capacity as an admission authority, or 
 
 b. an applicant is eligible for a place at more than one school, or 
 
 c. an applicant is not eligible for a place at any of the schools for which a  
  preference was expressed. 
 
35. The process by which the LA will allocate places is explained at paragraphs 37- 44. 
 
36. 15 January 2018, closing date for all common application forms to be received 

by the School Admissions Team at County Hall.  Applications received by this 
date will be classed as first round applications. 

 
37. By 09 February 2018 where parents have nominated a primary school outside the 
 LA area, the LA will notify the relevant LA. 
 
38. By 09 February 2018 the LA will notify all F and VA schools and Academies of 
 every preference that has been expressed for that school. 
 
39. By 8 March 2018 all F and VA schools and Academies must have considered all of 

the preferences for their school, and provide the LA with a ranked list of all applicants 
in accordance with the oversubscription criteria. 

Page 540



9 
 

 
40. The LA will then match this ranked list against all other ranked lists and: 
 

 Where the child is eligible for a place at only one of the preferred schools, a 
  place at the school will be offered to the child. 
 

 Where the child is eligible for a place at two or more of the nominated  
  schools, they will be offered a place at whichever school was their highest 
  available preference. 

 
41. Where the child is not eligible for a place at any of the nominated schools and the 

child lives in Wiltshire, they will be allocated a place at a school.  This will be their 
designated school if places are available or at another school (to which there would 
be an entitlement to free school transport if it were outside the statutory safe walking 
distance from the home).  Should this place subsequently be declined then it is the 
parent’s responsibility to apply for an alternative school place. 

 
42. By 23 March 2018 the LA will inform other LAs of any places in Wiltshire schools 

which will be offered to their residents. 
 
43. By 12 April 2018 the LA will inform Wiltshire schools of the pupils to be offered 

places at their schools. 
 
44. On 16 April 2018 (National Offer Date) letters will be despatched to all parents who 

submitted an application by 15 January 2018 offering a place at one school. 
 
45. These offer letters will give the following information: 
 
 a. the name of the school at which a place is offered; 
 
 b. the reason why the child is not being offered a place at any of the other  
  schools nominated on the PCAF; 
  
 c. information about their statutory right of appeal against any decisions to  
  refuse  places at other preferred schools; 
 
 d. contact details for the LA and the schools for which they expressed a  
  preference. 
 
46. 2 May 2018 is the deadline for parents to accept the place offered. Parents should 

confirm their acceptance online if they have applied online, or if they have applied by 
paper return the acceptance/decline slip directly to the Local Authority. 

 
If the parent does not respond to the Local Authority to confirm if they wish to accept 
or decline the offer by 2 May 2018, the Local Authority will send a second letter to the 
parent informing them that they have seven days in which to accept or decline the 
place which has been offered. They will also be advised in this letter that failure to 
respond could result in the offer of the place being withdrawn. If there is still no 
response a third letter will be sent to the applicant informing them that the offer of a 
place has been withdrawn.  It will then be the parent’s responsibility to apply for an 
alternative school place.  

 
Second Round Applications for Reception and Junior YR 3 2018 Intake (applications 
received between 16 January 2018 and 23 April 2018) 

Page 541



10 
 

 
47. Second round applications, i.e. those received between 16 January 2018 and 23 

April 2018 for the Reception Intake round will not be considered until after all first 
round on time applications have been processed.  Second round applications will be 
considered together with any applicant previously refused a place in the first round 
and if necessary will be prioritised using the oversubscription policy in place at the 
time.  

  
Only one offer of a school place for each child can be held at any one time.  If 
the Local Authority receives a further application for a child who has already 
secured a place in an earlier round, the new stated preferences will 
automatically supersede any earlier preferences stated.  
 
During the second round of applications parents should note that the school 
initially allocated will be retained for their child pending the outcome of that 
application and that there is no guarantee of gaining a place at the preferred 
school named on the new application. 
 
Parents can only hold one offer. Therefore if an offer is made to a child during 
the second round of allocations any offer made in the first round will 
automatically be withdrawn. 
 
The LA will contact all Foundation, Aided schools and Academies named as a 
preference on the application form to determine whether or not a place is available.  
An offer will be made for the school named as the highest preference where there is 
an identified place.  Where the child is not eligible for a place at any of the nominated 
schools, and the child lives in Wiltshire, the child (will) be allocated a place at their 
designated school if places are available, unless an alternative place is available 
within the safe statutory walking distance from their home address. The process 
explained in paragraph’s 48-51 will be followed: 

 
48. By 3 May 2018 details of second round applications received between the 16 

January 2018 and 23 April 2018 to be sent to Academies, Foundation and Voluntary 
Aided Schools. 

 
49. By 10 May 2018 Academies, Foundation and Voluntary Aided Schools should 

provide the LA with a ranked list of second round applications.  
 

On receipt, the LA will match the returns from all schools and will make an allocation 
of one place for each applicant: 

 

 Where the child is eligible for a place at only one of the preferred schools, a 
  place at the school will be offered to the child. 
 

 Where the child is eligible for a place at two or more of the nominated 
schools, they will be offered a place at whichever school was their highest 
available preference. 

 
50. By 31 May 2018 the LA will send out the second round offers for applications 

received between 16 January 2018 and 23 April 2018.  
 
51. 11 June 2018 is the last date for offers to be accepted by parents.  Parents should 

return their acceptance/decline slips back to the LA. 
 

Page 542



11 
 

If the parent does not respond to the Local Authority to confirm if they wish to accept 
or decline the offer by the date stated in the letter, the Local Authority will send a 
second letter to the parent informing them that they have seven days in which to 
accept or decline the place which has been offered. They will also be advised in this 
letter that failure to respond could result in the offer of the place being withdrawn. If 
there is still no response a third letter will be sent to the applicant informing them that 
the offer of a place has been withdrawn.  It will then be the parent’s responsibility to 
apply for an alternative school place.  

 
Third Round Applications for Reception 2017 Intake (applications received after 23 
April 2018) 
 

52. Third round applications, i.e. those received after 23 April 2018 for the Reception 

Intake round will not be considered until after all the second round applications have 
been processed.  Third round applications will be considered together with any 
applicant previously refused a place and if necessary will be prioritised using the 
oversubscription policy in place at the time.   

 
Only one offer of a school place for each child can be held at any one time.  If 
the Local Authority receives a further application for a child who has already 
secured a place in an earlier round, the new stated preferences will 
automatically supersede any earlier preferences stated.  
 
During the third round of applications parents should note that the school 
initially allocated will be retained for their child pending the outcome of that 
application and that there is no guarantee of gaining a place at the preferred 
school named on the new application. 
 
Parents can only hold one offer. Therefore if an offer is made to a child during 
the third round of allocations any offer made in the first or second round will 
automatically be withdrawn. 
 

            The LA will contact all Foundation, Aided schools and Academies named as a 
preference on the application form to determine whether or not a place is available.  
An offer will be made for the school named as the highest preference where there is 
an identified place.  Where the child is not eligible for a place at any of the nominated 
schools, and the child lives in Wiltshire, the child will be allocated a place at their 
designated school if a place is available, unless an alternative place is available 
within the safe statutory walking distance from their home address. The process 
explained in paragraph’s 53 - 56 will be followed: 

 
53. Applications received after the 23 April 2018 will be considered in date order of 

receipt and will be looked at after 29 June 2018 (i.e. once the second round of 
applications have been processed).   

 
54. If the parent does not respond to the Local Authority to confirm if they wish to accept 

or decline the offer by the date stated in the letter, the Local Authority will send a 
second letter to the parent informing them that they have seven days in which to 
accept or decline the place which has been offered. They will also be advised in this 
letter that failure to respond could result in the offer of the place being withdrawn. If 
there is still no response a third letter will be sent to the applicant informing them that 
the offer of a place has been withdrawn.  It will then be the parent’s responsibility to 
apply for an alternative school place.  

 

Page 543



12 
 

Applications for Reception 2018 Intake (applications received after 25 July 2018 – end 
of term) 
 
55. Any applications received by the LA after 25 July 2017 which expresses a preference 

for an Aided, Foundation School or an Academy will be forwarded to the school 
within five school days of receipt at which time the process for in-year applications 
will apply. 

 
Right of Appeal  
 
56. Parents who are refused a place at a school for which they have applied have the 

right of appeal to an independent Admission Appeal panel. 
 

The deadline dates for lodging appeals for VC & C Schools for the main round entry 
is: 
 
First round appeals 
For applications received from 1 September 2017 – 15 January 2018 and for offers 
made on National Offer Date appeals must be received by the Local Authority no 
later than 14 May 2018. 
 
Second round appeals 
For applications received from 16 January 2018 – 23 April 2018 and for offers made 
on 31 May 2018 appeals will be heard as soon as possible. 
 
Third round appeals 
For applications received after the 23 April 2018 and for offers made after 30 June 
2018, appeals will be heard as soon as possible. 
 
Own admission authority appeal timetables will be provided within the individual 
schools admissions policy or on the schools website. 
 
All appeals will be heard in accordance with the timescales which have been 
determined and are explained in the School Admissions Appeals Code. 

 
Final List of expected reception pupils to schools 
 
57. On or before 31 August 2018 the LA will send out a list to all maintained schools in 

Wiltshire showing those pupils expected to start in the school at the beginning of the 
2018/19 school year. 

 
Admitting in - area children above Published Admissions Number (PAN) 
 
58. Wiltshire Council will always try and allocate a space at a child’s designated school 

whenever this is possible.  We cannot reserve places at any school nor can we 
guarantee that a space will be available at the designated school.  Having enough 
spaces in schools for local children is a service priority for the School Buildings and 
Places team. 

 
59. The LA has responsibility for the strategic management of school places across the 

county and has to ensure admissions do not compromise its ability to provide efficient 
and effective use of resources.  It is often more economic to admit children to their 
designated school because this does not incorporate an additional transport cost 
which would be required were an alternative school be allocated. 

 

Page 544



13 
 

60. For some schools, the next nearest school does not provide a reasonable alternative 
because it is beyond the statutory walking distance or the route is unsafe or there is 
no available transport.  Any children who move into these areas might have to be 
admitted to the designated school despite any existing pressures upon it. 

 
61. It may not always be possible to find a space at the designated school if this is 

already oversubscribed.  In - area children will be given priority on any waiting list.  If 
the designated area school is unable to accommodate any more children within the 
year group then the LA will allocate an alternative school which will be the next 
nearest school which has available places. 

 
62. Transport would be made available for any children who had to be allocated a school 

because their designated school was full and the school that has been allocated is 
outside of the statutory safe walking distance for the age of the child. All other 
entitlements will be dealt with by the Passenger Transport Team. 

 
 
The In-Year Transfer Application Process 

 
In-Year Transfer Applications for year groups other than Reception 2018 Intake. 
 
All In-Year transfer applications for all year groups, to Wiltshire Schools, should be submitted 
directly to Wiltshire Council.  If a parent wishes to apply for a transfer to a school in another 
Local Authority then they should apply directly to the authority in which the school is situated 
in.  The In-Year transfer application process for Wiltshire Schools is explained below.   

 
62. The LA will make available copies of the Admissions Guide and PCAF through all 

primary and secondary schools and on request from County Hall. 
 
63. All applicants who wish to apply for a school place must complete an application form 

which should be returned to the LA, once completed by the current school.  The 
applicant may or may not live in Wiltshire. 

 
64. Should a parent living in Wiltshire wish to apply for a school in another authority; they 

must contact that authority directly for details on how to apply. 
 
65. Where a school receives an in-year application form expressing a preference for that 

school the form should be forwarded to the LA within five school days of receipt. 
 
66. Where the LA receives an in-year application form expressing a preference for a VC 

or C school the application will be forwarded to the school within five school days of 
receipt. 

 
67. Where the LA receives an in year application form expressing a preference for an 

Academy, F or VA school the application will be forwarded to the school within five 
school days of receipt. 

 
68. For an Academy, F or VA school, the school’s governing body is responsible for 

deciding the outcome of the application and should advise the LA accordingly within 
10 school days of the date of which the information was received by the school. 

 
69. In all cases, Wiltshire Council will aim to send a decision letter out within 20 school 

days of receiving the application form and this will provide information, if appropriate, 
about the statutory right of appeal.   
 

Page 545



14 
 

70. Waiting lists for schools must be kept and will be managed as per the admission 
arrangements for the particular school involved.  Waiting lists will be kept in order of 
the relevant oversubscription criteria and not in date order of receipt. 

 
71.      The Local Authority will maintain waiting lists for all year groups for VC & C schools. 
 
72.   The school/academy will maintain waiting lists for all year groups for A, F & VA 

schools. 
 
73. In accordance with paragraph 2.21 of the School Admissions Code the LA is required 

to provide parents on request the availability of school places within its area.  All 
schools must provide the LA with this information.  This must be done on a termly 
basis with the first return to be sent by 6 September 2018. 

 
If an own admission authority school does not wish the LA to co-ordinate its in year, 
applications, the admission authority must formally write to the LA to confirm this. It will then  
be the responsibility of that admissions authority to ensure that applications are processed in 
line with School Admissions Code. 
The admissions authority will then have to process the application and inform the parent of 
the outcome and where necessary their statutory right of appeal. In all cases, it also required 
to forward a copy of the application along with the decision to the LA within ten schools days 
of receipt. 
 
 
Applications for transfer at a future date 
 
74. Applications for transfer for VC and C schools will be considered no more than a 

maximum of one term in advance.  All requests for admissions to VC and C Schools 
will be processed in line with the timetable below. 

 
This table gives the earliest date that applications can be sent and when they are 
considered. Decision letters should be posted within 20 school days of either the date 
in the last column or, if your application is later than this, our receipt of your form.  

 

Date admission being 
sought 

Earliest application should 
be submitted 

Applications will be 
processed from 

January to March 1 September 31 October 

April to July 1 January 15 February 

September to December 1 April 31 May 

 
75. Applications for transfer for VA and F schools and Academies and UTC’s will be 

forwarded when received directly to the schools named for consideration in 
accordance with the schools own admissions policy. 

 
Right of Appeal – In Year Transfer Applications 
 
76. Parents who are refused a place at a school for which they have applied have the 

right of appeal to an independent Admission Appeal panel. 
 

All appeals will be heard in accordance with the timescales which have been 
determined and are explained in the School Admissions Appeals Code. 

 
 

Page 546



15 
 

Proof of address 
 

77. The LA reserves the right to ask parents for proof of their address. If the parents’ 
current address is different to that held on the LA’s computerised system the LA may 
ask parents to provide proof of the new address if one is indicated. Acceptable proof 
of address includes:  

 

 A solicitor’s letter stating contracts have been exchanged and specifying a 
completion date  

 A signed and dated tenancy agreement plus proof of residency (e.g. copy of a 
recent utility bill)  

 
If parents fail to provide proof of a new address, the LA will use the old address for 
admission purposes. If parents notify the LA that they will be moving house, even if 
they provide the relevant proof of that address, they must move into that property by 
no later than the end of the first term following the notification. The LA reserves the 
right to check that parents are living in the address indicated within that timescale. If 
parents are not living there, the applications will be investigated and the allocated 
place may be withdrawn. 
 

 
In-Year Fair Access Protocol 
 
78. All Wiltshire Schools will act in accordance with the Fair Access Protocol which has 

been adopted to give access to educational provisions for hard to place children. 
Further information on the In Year Fair Access Protocol, as well as a copy of the 
protocol, can be viewed at www.wiltshire.gov.uk  

 

 
Early, deferred or delayed admission 
 
79. a. Early admission 
 

 Admissions to school earlier than the term following the child’s 4th birthday 
may be agreed in exceptional circumstances, such as medical or social 
factors that have an adverse effect on the child.  The request must have the 
approval of the LA’s professional adviser and there must be no suitable 
alternative pre-school provision available.  Early admission will be agreed for 
a maximum of one traditional term before the next available normal entry 
date. 

 
b. Deferred admission until later in the academic year  
 

Parents do not have to ensure their child receives full time education until the 
start of the term following their fifth birthday. However, parents have the right 
to start their child in school in the September of the academic year following 
their fourth birthday. In such circumstances, parents also have the option to 
start their child on a part–time basis or defer their child’s entry until later in 
that academic year.  

If a parent decides to defer their child’s entry to the school that they have 
been offered until later in the academic year, that place will be held for the 
child and will not be offered to another child.  However, please note that entry 
cannot be deferred beyond the point at which their child reaches compulsory 

Page 547

http://www.wiltshire.gov.uk/


16 
 

school age (for the avoidance of doubt the law states that a child reaches 
compulsory school age on the prescribed day following his or her fifth birthday 
[or on his or her fifth birthday if it falls on a prescribed day]. The prescribed 
days are 31 December, 31 March and 31 August).   For children born between 

1 April and 31 August, parents cannot defer entry beyond the beginning of the 
April term of the school year for which the offer was made. 

Please note also that children who attend part-time until later in the school 
year cannot do so beyond the point at which they reach compulsory school 
age. 

If the parent decides that they no longer wish to take up their child’s place, 
they should inform the school and the Local Authority that the place is no 
longer required. The place will then be withdrawn and reallocated to the child 
who is top of the waiting list at that time.  The parent must then submit a fresh 
application for a place in year one for the following academic year.  The 
application can be submitted from April 2017 but will not be considered until 
June 2017. 

Parents wishing to defer entry need to apply by the closing date 15 January 
2016. Any request to defer or attend part-time should be made to the school 
as soon as an offer is received. 

 

c. Admission of children outside their normal age group 
 

All applications will be dealt with in accordance with the School Admissions 
Code 2.17, 2.17a, 2.17b, which came into force on 19 December 2014: 

 

Parents may seek a place for their child outside of their normal age group, 

for example, if the child is gifted and talented or has experienced problems 

such as ill health. In addition, the parents of a summer born child   (born 

from 1 April to 31 August)
 
may choose not to send that child to school until 

the September following their fifth birthday and may request that they are 

admitted out of their normal age group – to reception rather than year 1. 

All requests should be made from the September following the child’s third 
birthday, in order to give sufficient time for the case to be considered by the 
admissions authority prior to the deadline for applications of 15 January. 

Parents of a summer born child may choose not to send their child to a school 
until the September following their fifth birthday and they may request that 
they are admitted outside their normal age group – to reception rather than 
year 1. All admission authorities are required to make clear in their admission 
arrangements the process for requesting admission outside of the normal age 
group. 

The decisions on requests for applications outside the child’s normal age 
group are made by the admission authority for any particular school, which in 
the case of voluntary controlled and community schools is the council. For 
voluntary aided, foundation schools or academies the admissions authority is 
the governing body of the school concerned. The decision to admit outside of 
their normal age group is made on the basis of the circumstances of each 
case. All parents who wish to apply for delayed entry into reception for any 
Wiltshire school must first submit a formal application to the council.  

Page 548



17 
 

If parents are applying for a voluntary controlled or community school, they 
will also need to make a written request at the time of application to the local 
authority’s admissions co-ordinator, providing reasons for the request along 
with any supporting documentation they wish to include.  

If parents are applying for a delayed entry at a voluntary aided, foundation 
school or an academy, as well as submitting a formal application to the local 
authority they should also contact their preferred school directly to discuss the 
request. 

All admission authorities must make decisions on the basis of the 
circumstances of each case and in the best interests of the child concerned. 

In the case of Voluntary Controlled and Community schools, the Local 
Authority will look at the following factors when an application for admission 
outside the normal ages group:  

 the parent’s views 

 information about the child’s academic, social and emotional development;  

 where relevant, their medical history and the views of a medical professional; 

 whether they have previously been educated out of their normal age group; 

 whether they may naturally have fallen into a lower age group if it were not 

for being born prematurely 

 the views of the head teacher of the school 

The Local Authority will make decisions on the basis of the circumstances of 
each case and in the best interests of the child concerned.  

 

If the parental request for delayed admission into reception is agreed, a 
separate application for a place in the next cohort would have to be made in 
the following September. This application would be considered along with all 
the other applicants for admission in that year at the preferred school. There 
would be no guarantee that a place would be able to be offered in the 
preferred school. If the preferred school is over-subscribed and you are not 
offered a place, the local authority will make an alternative offer. However 
please note that delayed admission in to reception in the alternative school 
may not be possible. 

If the parental request for delayed admission into reception is refused, the 
formal application which has already been submitted will be processed, 
unless the Local Authority receives a request from the parent to withdraw the 
application.  If no request to withdraw the application is received, then after 
the offer of a school place had been made the parent can then inform the 
Local Authority and the school that they want to defer entry until later in the 
academic year as outlined above.  

When informing a parent of their decision on the year group the child should 
be admitted to, the admission authority must set out clearly the reasons for 
their decision.  

Page 549



18 
 

 
Right of Appeal for admission of children outside their normal age group 
 

Parents who are refused a place at a school for which they have applied have 
the statutory right of appeal to an independent Admission Appeal panel. They 
do not have a right of appeal if they have been offered a place and it is not in 
the year group they would like. However, if parents are dissatisfied with the 
outcome of the request for delayed entry into reception they have the right to 
complain against the decision through the Council’s complaints procedure for 
decisions made by council officers or under the school’s complaints 
procedure where the school is the admissions authority.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
  

Page 550



19 
 

Appendix: 2018/19   Timetable for Primary Co-ordination (Wiltshire) 
 
15 January 2018: Closing date for all Common Application Forms to be received by 

 the School Admissions Team at County Hall.  Applications 
received by this date will be classed as first round applications. 

 
9 February 2018: Details of applications which include preferences for schools in other 

LAs to be sent to those LAs. 
 
9 February 2018: Details of applications to be sent to F, VA schools and Academies of 

all first round applicants. 
 
8 March 2018: F, VA schools and Academies to provide the LA with ranked lists of all 

first round applicants. 
  
 Between 8 March and 23 March the LA will match the ranked list from 

all schools and allocate places. 
 
23 March 2018: The LA will inform other LAs of any offers of places at Wiltshire 

schools to be made to applicants resident in their areas. 
 
12 April 2018: By this date the LA will provide schools with details of those children to 

be offered places at the school. 
 
16 April 2018: Notification letters despatched and sent to parents for all first 

round applicants. Online applicants also able to view the 
outcome online.  

 
23 April 2018: Deadline for second round applications. 
 
2 May 2018: Details of second round applications to be sent to F, VA schools and 

Academies of all second round applicants. 
 
10 May 2018: F, VA schools and Academies to provide the LA with ranked lists of all 

second round applicants. 
 
31 May 2018: Notification letters despatched and sent to parents for all second 

round applicants. 
 
11 June 2018:  Last date for second round offers to be accepted by parents.  Parents 

should return their acceptance/decline slips back to the LA. 
 
30 June 2018: Applications received after the 23 April will be considered in date order 

of receipt and will be looked at from today.  Applications will be dealt 
with as soon as possible with allocations to a single school being 
made and offers being sent out by the LA as soon as practically 
possible. 

 
31 August 2018: On or before the 31 August the LA will send out a list to all schools 

showing the pupils expected to join the school at the beginning of the 
2018/19 school year. 

Page 551



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
Proposed Admission Arrangements for Community and Voluntary 

Controlled Secondary Schools for 2018/19 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
Status: Proposed Admissions Arrangements 2018/19 

 

A248/16 

SECONDARY 

Page 553



 

  

2 

 

PROPOSED SECONDARY ADMISSION ARRANGEMENTS  
 
Wiltshire Council’s proposed admission arrangements for admission to 
Voluntary Controlled and Community (VC and C) Secondary Schools for the 
2018/19 academic year 
 

1. General Information 
 
 This policy applies solely to applications for places at Voluntary Controlled (VC) and Community 

(C) Secondary Schools in Wiltshire. Foundation (F) Voluntary Aided (VA) Schools and 
Academies (A) are their own admission authorities and the governing bodies are responsible for 
determining their own procedures and policies. 

 
 Proposed arrangements for the co-ordination of secondary admissions are made within 

the co-ordinated admissions scheme 2018/19. 
 

The application round for entry into Year 7 - 2018 opens on 1 September 2017.  
The deadline date for applications to be received is midnight on 31 October 2017.  
The home address given for the child must be the address where the child is 
resident as of the deadline date. 

 
 
 a. Designated Area 

 
 A designated area is a discrete geographical zone served by a school.  The address that 

determines a child’s designated area is the place where s/he is ordinarily resident with 
his/her parent(s) or legal guardian(s) for the majority of the school week.  Most schools 
have a discrete designated area but some addresses fall within areas shared by two or 
more schools. Children who live outside the designated area for the school may still 
express a preference for the school.  

 
For admission criterion purposes, the address used for Bargees, will be the sorting office 
or main post office address, closest to the place of mooring as of the deadline date.  
Proof in the form of a licence will be required and must be submitted at the time of 
application. 

 
 b. Preferences 

 
Parents will be invited to state up to three ranked preferences.  Each preference will be 
considered equally.  This means that Wiltshire Council will consider all applications 
against the published admissions criteria without reference to how the school applied for 
has been ranked on the application form.  As far as possible applicants will be offered a 
place at a school to which they have expressed a preference.  Where the applicant has 
made more than one preference the Local Authority (LA) will make an offer for the highest 
ranked preferred school possible with available places in accordance with the standard 
admission criteria.  Where it is not possible to offer a place at a preferred school, and the 
applicant lives in Wiltshire, the LA will allocate a place.  Allocations will be made after all 
expressed preferences have been considered.  An alternative school may be allocated in 
cases where the designated school is full and the alternative school is within the safe 
statutory 3 mile walking distance and has places available or it is a school to which free 
home to school transport would be provided. 
 
In the case where there are more children living within an area, than there are places 
available and the parent has not named the designated school(s) as one of their 
preferences, the remaining places will be randomly allocated.   

Page 554



 

  

3 

 

 
 
 

 
c. Children with an education, health and care plan or a statement of special 

education need 
 

All children whose education, health and care plan or statement of special educational 
needs that names a school must be admitted.  

 
 d. Published Admission Number 
 
 A Published Admission Number (PAN) is agreed for each school annually and defines the 

number of places available for the year of entry.  All applications must be agreed until the 
PAN has been reached and this figure will not be exceeded other than in exceptional 
circumstances.  For example, a child living within a school’s designated area and for 
whom no reasonable alternative school place is available, may be allocated a place at the 
designated school even if this exceeds the PAN.  Reasonable in this circumstance is 
defined as a school within the statutory three mile safe walking distance from the child’s 
home address or a school to which free home to school transport would be provided. 
A list of PAN’s for Voluntary Controlled and Community Schools can be found at the back 
of this policy document. 

 
e. Address 

 
The child’s address provided on the application form should be that of the child’s normal 
place of residence. Only one address can be considered for application purposes. The 
address provided will be used to determine the child’s priority for a school place.  The 
Local Authority reserves the right to confirm the address given by the applicant using the 
council tax reference number which is provided as part of the application.   
For Yr 7 September 2018 entry, the address used to determine priority of school places 
for on time applications submitted in the main round, will be the child’s normal place of 
residence as at deadline date of 31 October 2017. 

 
 f. Shared Parental Responsibility 
 

Where two (or more) adults have parental responsibility for a child it is preferable that 
they should agree before submitting an application form which school(s) to name as their 
preference(s). In cases of dispute, or where two application forms are submitted, the LA 
will process the application received from the adult who has a residence order.  If no such 
order has been made, preference will be given to the parent with whom the child is living 
for the majority of the school week.    

 
If both parents are in dispute as to whom the child lives with the majority of the school 
week, the LA will process the application received from the adult who is in receipt of the 
child benefit, if this is not available then the address used on the NHS card will be used.   

 
In the event of a further dispute regarding the address used, parents may wish to take 
independent legal advice on whether they should seek a specific issue order from the 
court to decide on where the child is schooled.  For in year transfer applications, until any 
such order is made, the placement will continue in the best interests of securing 
educational provision for the child with a minimum of disruption.  

 
For year of entry, where possible, a place will be offered in accordance with the 
preferences to the parent who can provide evidence that they are in receipt of child 
benefit. 
 

Page 555



 

  

4 

 

 

 
 

g. Multiple Births 
 
 The LA will endeavour to place siblings (e.g. twins, triplets etc) in the same school.  If 

necessary schools will be required to admit over PAN to accommodate such children.  
 

h. Children of UK Service Personnel (UK Armed Forces)  
 

Applications for children of UK service personnel with a confirmed posting to the county 
will be considered in advance of the family moving into the county.  Where possible, an 
application must be included in the normal admission round. 
 
An official letter, such as a posting note or letter of support from the commanding officer 
should be sent to the LA as soon as possible.  This should include the relocation date and 
unit postal address or quartering area address.  
 
Until a fixed address is available, the unit postal address or quartering area address will 
be used and a school place allocated accordingly. 
 
The local authority will not refuse a child of UK service personnel a place because the 
family does not currently live in the area. It is also not permitted to reserve places for 
children of UK Service Personnel. 
 
Children will be considered to be siblings if any brother or sister is going to be attending a 
Wiltshire school, a formal offer has been made and the place has been accepted. Their 
position on any waiting list will be set accordingly. The sibling link will not apply if the child 
that is going to be attending the school will be in year 11. 

i. Armed Forces Personnel Relocating to Salisbury Plain - a Special 
 Planning area for admissions 

Leading up to September 2019 there is initiative to rebase serving armed forces 
personnel in Germany back to England. The Garrison towns around Salisbury Plain in 
Wiltshire will be target destinations for a significant proportion of these service families.   

Wiltshire Council has agreed that from September 2015 to declare the community areas 
of Amesbury and Tidworth a ‘special planning area for Admissions’. The proposal is to 
give an admission priority to children eligible to service premium, rebasing to settlements 
around Salisbury Plain until 2018. Wiltshire Council is working closely with the Children’s 
Education Advisory Service (CEAS), a tri-service organisation funded by the MOD, to 
make the transition for children and families in Germany as smooth as possible and 
remove unnecessary complexity. 

Wiltshire Council has introduced criteria ‘G’ to the oversubscription criteria for all 

community and voluntary controlled schools in the ‘special planning area for admissions’ 

and is requesting other admission authorities in the area to consider making similar 

arrangements. 

 
The ‘special planning area for admissions’ will be kept under review by Wiltshire Council, 
including the option of extending the area to include Salisbury in subsequent years. 

 
 
 

Page 556



 

  

5 

 

 
2. Early or Delayed Transfer 
 
 a. Early transfer 

 
Children may only transfer early to a secondary school if it can be shown that not to do so 
would be detrimental to their academic progress or social wellbeing.  Each such request 
involves consultation with the current school, the school to which the child wishes to 
transfer and where appropriate, the Authority’s professional adviser(s).  The application 
will not be agreed if one or more parties consider that the transfer would be inappropriate.  
Agreement to such a request would be considered exceptional. 

 
 b. Delayed transfer 

 
Children may remain for a further year in a primary school if it can be shown that not to do 
so would be detrimental to their academic progress or social wellbeing,  The presence of 
special educational needs or underachievement are not in themselves sufficient reasons 
to delay transfer. 
 
Children for whom a delayed entry to school or year group retention has already been 
agreed by the relevant parties will continue in the lower year group unless it can be 
shown that it is in their best interests to rejoin their chronological year group, to enable 
the child to transfer back to their chronological year group then, a place must be available 
in the relevant year group. The continuation of this arrangement will continue on transfer 
to secondary school unless the parent/carer, current school, the school to which the child 
would otherwise wish to transfer and, where appropriate, the LA’s professional adviser 
consider it in the child’s best interest to rejoin the chronological year group.  An 
application for transfer to secondary school must still be made in the same way as 
expected of other children in the year group in which they are working (rather than their 
chronological age group). 
 

 

3. Deadline – applications received by the deadline date of 31 October 
2017 will be considered as first round applications 

 
 The closing date for main round applications (i.e. applications for entry into Secondary 

Yr7 2018) is 31 October 2017.   
 
 All applications received after the deadline of 31 October 2017, including those directed 

incorrectly to schools and not forwarded to the LA before the deadline, will be treated as 
late applications and considered only after those applications received before the 
deadline have been determined.  Applications may be considered as being received on 
time if they meet the exceptional circumstances criteria as detailed in the Co-ordinated 
Admissions Scheme 2018/19. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 557



 

  

6 

 

4. Oversubscription Criteria for Voluntary Controlled and Community 
Schools 

 
Where a secondary school is over-subscribed, places are allocated to children in order of 
the ranked criteria listed below: 

 
a. Looked After Children/Previously Looked After Children  

 
 The definition of Looked After Children - a ‘looked after child’ or a child who was 

previously looked after but immediately after being looked after became subject to an 
adoption, child arrangements, or special guardianship order.  A looked after child is a 
child who is (a) in the care of a local authority, or (b) being provided with accommodation 
by a local authority in the exercise of their social services functions (see the definition in 
section 22 (1) of the Children Act 1989). 

 

b. Vulnerable Children 

 
Children from families registered with the National Asylum Support Service; children or 
families with a serious medical, physical or psychological condition where written 
evidence is provided at the time of application from a senior clinical medical officer, 
general practitioner or specialist showing that it would be detrimental to the child or family 
not to admit to the preferred school. 

 
For the purpose of the above criteria the word ‘families’ is determined as living at the 
same address at the time of application and also living at the same address on a 
permanent basis.  Proof will be required and must be submitted by the deadline date. 

 
c. Designated Area Siblings and Shared Area Siblings 

 
 A child is considered under this criterion if a sibling is attending the school as at the 

deadline date and where the child lives within the designated area or shared area at the 
same address as the sibling.  The sibling must not be in year 11, 12 or 13 of the school at 
the deadline date.  Step, half and foster siblings are included in this category;  

 
d. Other Children from the Designated Area or Shared Area 

 
 Children resident within the designated area or shared area who do not qualify under one 

of the criteria above.  
 

e. Other Siblings 

 
 A child is considered under this criterion if a sibling is attending the school as at the 

deadline date and where the child lives at the same address as the sibling.  The sibling 
must not be in years 11, 12 or 13 at the school as of the deadline date. Step, half and 
foster siblings are also included in this category; 

 
f. Children of staff at the school 
 

A child is considered under this criterion:  
 

  i)  where the member of staff has been employed at the school for two or more years 
   at the time at which the application for admission to the school is made, and/or  

  ii)  the member of staff is recruited to fill a vacant post for which there is a   
   demonstrable skill shortage.  
 

Page 558



 

  

7 

 

If applicants wish to be considered under this criterion then a letter from the Headteacher 
confirming the paragraph i) or ii) applies to the applicant must be provided at the time of 
application. 

 
 g. Children eligible for service premium relocating to Salisbury Plain 

The above criteria will only apply to  Amesbury - Stonehenge 
 

h. Other children 
 

  Children to whom none of the above criteria apply.  
 
 

If the school is oversubscribed within any of the above categories the straight-line distance from 
the child’s home address to the school will be used as the determining factor.  Distances will be 
measured according to the Ordnance Survey eastings and northings for the child’s home 
address and the school.  Those living closer to the school will be given priority. 
 
Tie Break 

 
If two or more children with the same priority for admission live an indistinguishable distance 
from the preferred school, but cannot all be admitted then the available places will be decided by 
means of casting lots. 

 
The random allocation will be conducted independently by Democratic Services, Wiltshire 
Council.  

 

5. Waiting Lists for Reception 2018 entry 
 

Waiting lists for VC & C Schools will be maintained for all intake year groups in schools.  
Children will automatically be added to these lists if a preference higher than the school 
place offered has been refused.  All applicants have the right of appeal against any 
refusal of a place.  The existence of a waiting list does not remove this right from any 
unsuccessful applicant. 
 
The position on the waiting list will be determined by applying the published over-
subscription criteria and not by date order of receipt.  This will mean a position will 
change if a later application is received from someone with higher priority according to the 
oversubscription criteria. 
 
Waiting lists for the all year groups will close on 22 July 2019.  
 
Parents may submit a fresh application for the next academic year group which will be 
considered from 31 May 2019 onwards. 
 
Places that become available will not be offered to pupils who are not on the waiting list.  
 
If your child is offered a place from a waiting list for any VC or C school then you must 
accept or decline the place within 10 working days of the date of offer.  If the place is not 
accepted then a further letter will be sent informing the applicant that should they neither 
accept nor decline the place within five working days the place will be withdrawn.  A 
further letter will be sent informing the applicant the place has been withdrawn. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 559



 

  

8 

 

 Notes: 
 

 Names will only be removed from the lists if a written request is received or if the  
  offer of a place that becomes available is declined. 
 
 Registration of interest on a school's pre-admission list will not be considered as  
  an application for a school place.  

 
 Parents must contact any Voluntary Aided, Foundation school or the Academy  
  concerned to obtain information on the existence and or maintenance of a waiting 
  list. 
 
 Except for Service Families, children will considered to be living within the  
  designated area for a school on receipt of an exchange of contracts or a signed  
  tenancy agreement. 
 
 Except for Service Families, children will not be considered to be a sibling unless  
  their brother or sister is attending the school and is expected to still be in   
  attendance at the chosen start date. 

 
6. Applications for Secondary Yr7 Intake – applications received after 31 

October 2017 
 

Applications received after the deadline of 31 October 2017 will be considered as late 
applications. 
 
Applications received between the 1 November 2017 and 9 March 2018 will be treated as 
second round applications. 
 
Applications received after the 9 March 2018 will be treated as third round applications. 
 

7. Appeal Process – Main round applications 
 

Parents have a right of appeal to an independent panel against any decision made by or on 
behalf of the Authority as to the school at which education is to be provided for their child.  
 
Parents who are refused a place at a school for which they have applied have the right of appeal 
to an independent Admission Appeal panel. 
 
The deadline dates for lodging appeals is for the main round entry is: 
 
First round appeals 
For applications received from 1 September 2017 – 31 October 2017 and for offers made on 
National Offer Date appeals must be received by the Local Authority no later than 28 March 
2018. 
 
Second round appeals 
For applications received from 1 November 2017 – 9 March 2018 and for offers made on 30 April 
2018 appeals will be heard as soon as possible. 
 
Third round appeals 
For applications received after the 9 March 2018 and for offers made after 15 May 2018 appeals 
will be heard as soon as possible. 
 
All appeals will be heard in accordance with the timescales which have been determined and are 
explained in the School Admissions Appeals Code. 

Page 560



 

  

9 

 

 
Parents who have appealed unsuccessfully can reapply for a place at the same school in a later 
academic year, and have a right of appeal if unsuccessful. 

 
           Where there have been material changes in circumstances in the same academic year and a 

repeat application is considered and again refused, the parents will have the right to a fresh 
appeal.  

 

8.  In Year Transfer Applications for year groups other than Secondary 
Yr7 2018 Intake 

 
 Applications received after the 25 July 2018 for the year of entry and any applications received 
for other year groups are classed as transfer applications.  

 
All applications will be considered together with any applications that have already been refused 
and the child’s name will be placed on the waiting list accordingly. 
 
Applications for transfer for VC and C schools will be considered no more than a maximum of 
one term in advance.  All requests for admissions to VC and C Schools will be processed in line 
with the timetable below.  All applications will be considered together and are ranked using the 
oversubscription criteria listed in this policy.   
 
The following table gives the earliest date that applications can be sent and when they are 
considered. Decision letters should be posted within 20 school days of either the date in the last 
column or, if your application is later than this, our receipt of your form.  
 

 

Date admission being 
sought 

Earliest application should be 
submitted 

Applications will be processed 
from 

January to March 1 September 31 October 

April to July 1 January 15 February 

September to December 1 April 31 May 

 
Applications received requesting more immediate admission are considered in the order that the 
School Admissions Team receives them.  If more than one additional application for a particular 
school is received on the same date places are allocated to children in order of the 
oversubscription criteria as listed in this policy. 
 
In all cases parent(s)/guardian(s) will be invited to state up to a maximum of three secondary 
ranked preferences.  An offer will be made at the school listed as highest preference possible 
which has an available place. 
 
If a child is offered a place at any VC or C school then the place must accepted or declined 
within 10 working days of the date of offer.   
 
If a child is offered a place at any VC or C school and the parent(s)/guardian(s) accept the place, 
it must be taken up within 28 working days of the required admissions date stated on the original 
application form.  Should the place not be taken up within the 28 working days the LA will then 
write to the parents informing them that the place has been withdrawn. 
 
Requests for places in year groups other than the one relating to the child’s chronological age 
will only be agreed if supported by the LA’s relevant professional adviser(s) and the school. 
 
 
 

Page 561



 

  

10 

 

9. Appeals Procedure – In Year Transfer Applications 
 
 Parents have a right of appeal to an independent panel against any decision made by or on 

behalf of the Admissions Authority as to the school which education is to be provided for their 
child. 
 
All appeals will be heard in accordance with the timescales which have been determined and are 
explained in the School Admissions Appeals Code. 
 
Information about the appeal procedure will be provided where a place at one or more of the 
preferred schools has been refused.  Parents should contact the Customer Services Team 
(01225 713010) to obtain an appeals form which should be returned to the Democratic and 
Members Service team (D&M) at County Hall, Trowbridge.  The clerk to the appeals panel will be 
provided by the D&M Service team. 
 
Parents who have appealed unsuccessfully can reapply for a place at the same school in a later 
academic year, and have a right of appeal if unsuccessful. 

 
           Where there have been material changes in circumstances in the same academic year and a 

repeat application is considered and again refused, the parents will have the right to a fresh 
appeal.  
 
Please note appeals are only heard in term time. 
 

 

10. Proof of address 
 
 The LA reserves the right to ask parents for proof of their address. If the parents’ current address 

is different to that held on the LA’s computerised system the LA may ask parents to provide proof 
of the new address if one is indicated. Acceptable proof of address includes:  

 

A formal exchange of contracts or a signed solicitor’s letter stating contracts have been 
exchanged and specifying a completion date or a signed and dated tenancy agreement.  

 
If parents fail to provide proof of a new address, the LA will use the old address for admission 
purposes. The LA reserves the right to check that parents are living in the address indicated on 
the applications form.  If parents are not living there, the applications will be investigated and the 
allocated place may be withdrawn. 

 

11. Fair Access Protocol 
 

 All Wiltshire Schools will act in accordance with the Fair Access Protocol which has been 
adopted to give access to educational provisions for hard to place children.  
 
If the governing body of any school refuse admission to a child with challenging behaviour, when 
there are places available, (outside the normal intake round) the case must be referred to the LA 
for consideration under the In-Year Fair Access Protocol.   
 
This protocol does not apply to a Child in Care (Looked after Child, a previously looked after 
child) or a child with a Statement of Special Educational Needs or Education Health and Care 
Plan, as these children must be admitted. 
 
Further information on the In Year Fair Access Protocol including further criterions for referral, 
and a copy of the protocol, can be viewed at www.wiltshire.gov.uk  

 

Page 562

http://www.wiltshire.gov.uk/


 

  

11 

 

12. Sixth Form Admissions 
 

Parents or students wishing to enrol for sixth form courses at Voluntary Controlled or Community 
Secondary Schools should in the first instance contact the school and ask for a copy of the sixth 
form prospectus.  This will detail the courses offered at the school and any specific entry 
requirements for any of those courses.  The school will require an application form to be 
completed should the parent or student wish to make a formal application to join the school’s 
sixth form. 

 
          

 
 

 Published Admission Numbers (PAN’s) for VC & C Schools 
 
  
 

  

DfES  School  2018 PAN 

4000  Abbeyfield School, Chippenham  180 

4070 
The Stonehenge School,      

Amesbury 164 

 

Page 563



This page is intentionally left blank



1 
 

 

PRIMARY 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Proposed Admission Arrangements for Community and Voluntary 
Controlled Primary Schools for 2018/19 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Status: Proposed Admissions Arrangements 2018/19 
A247/16  

Page 565



2 
 

Proposed Primary Admission Arrangements 
 
Wiltshire Council Proposed Admission Arrangements for 
Admissions to Voluntary Controlled (VC) and Community (C) 
Primary, Infant and Junior Schools for the 2018/19 Academic Year 
 
1. General Information 
 
 This policy applies solely to applications for places at Voluntary Controlled (VC) and 

Community (C) Primary, Infant and Junior Schools.  Foundation (F), Voluntary Aided 
schools (VA) and Academies (A) are their own admissions authorities and the 
governing bodies are responsible for determining their own procedures and policies. 

 
Proposed arrangements for the co-ordination of primary admissions are 
drafted with the proposed co-ordinated admissions scheme 2018/19. 
 
The application round for entry into Reception 2018 and Junior Year 3 entry 
opens on 1 September 2017.  The deadline date for applications to be received 
is midnight on 15 January 2018.  The home address given for the child must be 
the address where the child is resident as of the deadline date. 

 
a. Designated Area 
   

A designated area is a discrete geographical zone served by a school.  The address 
that determines a child’s designated area is the place where s/he is ordinarily 
resident with his/her parent(s) or legal guardian(s) for the majority of the school 
week.  Most schools have a discrete designated area but some addresses fall within 
areas shared by two or more schools.  Children living outside the county boundary 
are treated as if the children live within Wiltshire but outside the designated area for 
the school(s) in question.   
 
For admission criterion purposes, the address used for Bargees, will be the sorting 
office or main post office address, closest to the place of mooring as of the deadline 
date.  Proof in the form of a licence will be required and must be submitted at the 
time of application. 

 
b. Preferences 

 
Parents will be invited to state up to three ranked preferences.  Each preference will 
be considered equally.  This means that Wiltshire Council will consider all 
applications against the published admissions criteria without reference to how the 
school applied for has been ranked on the application form.  As far as possible 
applicants will be offered a place at a school to which they have expressed a 
preference.  Where the applicant has made more than one preference the LA will 
make an offer for the highest ranked preference school possible with available places 
in accordance with the standard admission criteria.  Where it is not possible to offer a 
place at a preferred school, and the applicant lives in Wiltshire, the LA will allocate a 
place at an alternative school.  Allocations will be made after all expressed 
preferences have been considered.  An applicant will normally be offered a place at 
the designated school for their home address.  An alternative school may be 
allocated in cases where the designated school is full and the alternative school is 
within the safe statutory walking distance and has places available or it is a school to 
which free home to school transport would be provided. 

Page 566



3 
 

In the case where there are more children living within an area, than there are places 
available and the parent has not named the designated school(s) as one of their 
preferences, the remaining places will be randomly allocated.   
 

c. Children with an education, health and care plan or a statement of special 
education need 
 
All children whose education, health and care plan or statement of special 
educational needs that names a school must be admitted.  
 

d. Published Admission Number 
 
A Published Admission Number (PAN) is agreed for each school annually and 
defines the number of places available for the year of entry.  All applications must be 
agreed until the PAN has been reached and this figure will not be exceeded other 
than in exceptional circumstances, for example, a child living in the designated area 
for who there is no reasonable alternative place available.  “Reasonable” in this 
circumstance is defined as a school within the statutory safe walking distance from 
the applicants home address of two miles for children aged under eight and three 
miles for children aged eight or over, or it is a school to which free home to school 
transport would be provided. 
A list of PAN’s for Voluntary Controlled and Community Schools can be found at the 
back of this policy document. 

 
e. Address 

 
The child’s address provided on the application form should be that of the child’s 
normal place of residence. Only one address can be considered for application 
purposes. The address provided will be used to determine the child’s priority for a 
school place.  The Local Authority reserves the right to confirm the address given by 
the applicant using the council tax reference number which is provided as part of the 
application.   
For Yr R September 2018 entry and for YR 3 junior entry, the address used to 
determine priority of school places for on time applications submitted in the main 
round, will be the child’s normal place of residence as at deadline date of 15 January 
2018. 

 
f.  Shared Parental Responsibility 
 

Where two (or more) adults have parental responsibility for a child it is preferable that 
they should agree before submitting an application form which school(s) to name as 
their preference(s). In cases of dispute, or where two application forms are 
submitted, the LA will process the application received from the adult who has a 
residence order.  If no such order has been made, preference will be given to the 
parent with whom the child is living for the majority of the school week.    

 
If both parents are in dispute as to whom the child lives with the majority of the 
school week, the LA will process the application received from the adult who is in 
receipt of the child benefit, if this is not available then the address used on the NHS 
card will be used.   

 
In the event of a further dispute regarding the address used, parents may wish to 
take independent legal advice on whether they should seek a specific issue order 
from the court to decide on where the child is schooled.  For in year transfer 

Page 567



4 
 

applications, until any such order is made, the placement will continue in the best 
interests of securing educational provision for the child with a minimum of disruption.  

 
For year of entry, where possible, a place will be offered in accordance with the 
preferences to the parent who can provide evidence that they are in receipt of child 
benefit. 
 

g. Multiple Births 
 
The LA will endeavour to place siblings born at the same time (eg. twins, triplets etc) 
in the same school.  If necessary, schools will be required to admit over PAN to 
accommodate such children.  In accordance with paragraph 2.15 of the School 
Admissions Code 2014, twins and multiple births will be classed as permitted 
exceptions to the Infant Class Size Regulations.  This will only be the case when one 
of the siblings is the 30th or the 60th child admitted. 
 

h. Children of UK Service Personnel (UK Armed Forces) 
 

Applications for children of UK service personnel with a confirmed posting to the 
county will be considered in advance of the family moving into the county if 
necessary.  Where possible, an application must be included in the normal admission 
round. 

 
An official letter, such as a posting note or letter of support from the commanding 
officer should be sent to the LA as soon as possible.  This should include the 
relocation date and unit postal address or quartering area address.  

 
Until a fixed address is available, the unit postal address or quartering area address 
will be used and a school place allocated accordingly. 

 
The local authority will not refuse a child of UK service personnel a place because 
the family does not currently live in the area. It is also not permitted to reserve places 
for children of UK Service Personnel. 

 
 Children will be considered to be siblings if any brother or sister has been formally 

offered and have accepted a place at the school. Their position on any waiting list will 
be set accordingly. The sibling link will not apply if the child that is going to be 
attending the school will be in year 6. 

 
 All applications will be dealt with in accordance with these admission arrangements.  

If a reasonable alternative cannot be offered, the child may be admitted as an 
‘excepted pupil’ under the School Admissions (Infant Class Sizes) (England) 
Regulations. 

i. Armed Forces Personnel Relocating to Salisbury Plain - a Special Planning 
area for admissions 

Leading up to September 2019 there is initiative to rebase serving armed forces 
personnel in Germany back to England. The Garrison towns around Salisbury Plain 
in Wiltshire will be target destinations for a significant proportion of these service 
families.   

From September 2015, Wiltshire Council has declared the community areas of 

Amesbury and Tidworth as a ‘special planning area for Admissions’. This gives an 

Page 568



5 
 

admission priority to children eligible for service premium, rebasing to settlements 

around Salisbury Plain until 2019. Wiltshire Council is working closely with the 

Children’s Education Advisory Service (CEAS), a tri-service organisation funded by 

the MOD, to make the transition for children and families in Germany as smooth as 

possible and remove unnecessary complexity. 

 

Wiltshire Council has introduced criteria ‘H’ to the oversubscription criteria for all 

community and voluntary controlled schools in the ‘special planning area for 

admissions’ and is requesting other admission authorities in the area to consider 

making similar arrangements. 

 
The ‘special planning area for admissions’ will be kept under review by Wiltshire 
Council, including the option of extending the area to include Salisbury in subsequent 
years. 
 

2. Starting School    
 
 There is a legal entitlement for all three and four year olds to have access to 15 hours 

free early education per week – available from registered childminders, school-based 
childcare,  pre-schools, day nurseries, playgroups, or as part of a Children’s Centre. 
From September 2017 working parents of children aged three and four years of age 
will be to access 30 hours for Free Entitlement, certain criteria will need to be met. 

 
 A school place will be made available for children from the September following their 

4th birthday.  Full-time education is available to all reception pupils. 
 
 Parents have the right to ask that their child attends part-time and this will be 

provided by arrangement with the school governors, part-time provision has been 
determined as either five mornings or five afternoons a week. 

 
 Schools will be responsible for informing parents of the induction arrangements for 

new entrants to the reception class(es).  These may involve a short period of part-
time provision or a phased entry at the beginning of Term 1, which will normally be a 
fortnight.  Individual children’s cases should be discussed by the parents(s) with the 
school directly.   

 

3. Joint admission arrangements with pre-schools 
 
 A small number of schools enter into a formal joint arrangement with a pre-school or 

nursery to provide education jointly to children before they reach statutory school 
age.  Such an arrangement usually involves each child attending school for some 
sessions each week, however, attending the pre-school or nursery school does not 
give priority for admission to the partner school. 

 
 The date on which a child can be admitted to a joint arrangement must be no earlier 

than the start of the term following his or her 4th birthday but can be later than this. 
 
 Registration at any nursery or pre-school unit will not be considered as an application 

for a school place. Attending a nursery / pre-school does not guarantee any child a 
place at a school.  Applications can only be considered in line with the schools 
individual over-subscription criteria. 

 
 

Page 569



6 
 

 
 

 
4. Early, deferred or delayed admission 
 
 a. Early admission 

 Admissions earlier than the term following the child’s 4th birthday may be 
agreed in exceptional circumstances, such as medical or social factors that 
have an adverse effect on the child.  The request must have the approval of 
the LA’s professional adviser and there must be no suitable alternative pre-
school provision available.  Early admission will be agreed for a maximum of 
one traditional term before the next available normal entry date. 

 
b. Deferred admission until later in the academic year  
 

Parents do not have to ensure their child receives full time education until the 
start of the term following their fifth birthday. However, parents have the right 
to start their child in school in the September of the academic year following 
their fourth birthday. In such circumstances, parents also have the option to 
start their child on a part–time basis or defer their child’s entry until later in 
that academic year.  

If a parent decides to defer their child’s entry to the school that they have 
been offered until later in the academic year, that place will be held for the 
child and will not be offered to another child.  However, please note that entry 
cannot be deferred beyond the point at which their child reaches compulsory 
school age (for the avoidance of doubt the law states that a child reaches 
compulsory school age on the prescribed day following his or her fifth birthday 
[or on his or her fifth birthday if it falls on a prescribed day]. The prescribed 
days are 31 December, 31 March and 31 August).   For children born between 
1 April and 31 August, parents cannot defer entry beyond the beginning of the 
April term of the school year for which the offer was made. 

Please note also that children who attend part-time until later in the school 
year cannot do so beyond the point at which they reach compulsory school 
age. 

If the parent decides that they no longer wish to take up their child’s place, 
they should inform the school and the Local Authority that the place is no 
longer required. The offer of a place will then be withdrawn and reallocated to 
the child who is top of the waiting list at that time.  The parent must then 
submit a fresh application for a place in year one for the following academic 
year.  The application can be submitted from April 2019 but will not be 
considered until at least June 2019. 

Any request to defer or attend part-time should be made to the school as 
soon as an offer is received.  

 
c.  Admission of children outside their normal age group 
 

All applications will be dealt with in accordance with the School Admissions 
Code 2.17, 2.17a, 2.17b, which came into force on 19 December 2014: 

 

Page 570



7 
 

Parents may seek a place for their child outside of their normal age group, 

for example, if the child is gifted and talented or has experienced problems 

such as ill health. In addition, the parents of a summer born child   (born 

from 1 April to 31 August)
 
may choose not to send that child to school until 

the September following their fifth birthday and may request that they are 

admitted out of their normal age group – to reception rather than year 1. 

All requests should be made from the September following the child’s third 
birthday, in order to give sufficient time for the case to be considered by the 
admissions authority prior to the deadline for applications of 15 January. 

Parents of a summer born child may choose not to send their child to a school 
until the September following their fifth birthday and they may request that 
they are admitted outside their normal age group – to reception rather than 
year 1. All admission authorities are required to make clear in their admission 
arrangements the process for requesting admission outside of the normal age 
group. 

The decisions on requests for applications outside the child’s normal age 
group are made by the admission authority for each particular school, which in 
the case of voluntary controlled and community schools is the council. For 
voluntary aided, foundation schools or academies the admissions authority is 
the governing body of the school concerned. The decision to admit outside of 
their normal age group is made on the basis of the circumstances of each 
case. All parents who wish to apply for delayed entry into reception for any 
Wiltshire school, must first submit a formal application to the council.  

If parents are applying for a voluntary controlled or community school, they 
will also need to make a written request at the time of application to the local 
authority’s admissions co-ordinator, providing reasons for the request along 
with any supporting documentation they wish to include.  

If parents are applying for a delayed entry at a voluntary aided, foundation 
school or an academy, as well as submitting a formal application to the local 
authority they should also contact their preferred school directly to discuss the 
request. 

In the case of Voluntary Controlled and Community schools, the Local 
Authority will look at the following factors when an application for admission 
outside the normal ages group:  

 the parent’s views 

 information about the child’s academic, social and emotional development;  

 where relevant, their medical history and the views of a medical professional; 

 whether they have previously been educated out of their normal age group; 

 whether they may naturally have fallen into a lower age group if it were not 

for being born prematurely 

 the views of the head teacher of the school 

Page 571



8 
 

The Local Authority will make decisions on the basis of the circumstances of 
each case and in the best interests of the child concerned.  

 

If the parental request for delayed admission into reception is agreed, a 
separate application for a place in the next cohort would have to be made in 
the following September. This application would be considered along with all 
the other applicants for admission in that year at the preferred school. There 
would be no guarantee that a place would be able to be offered in the 
preferred school. If the preferred school is over-subscribed and you are not 
offered a place, the local authority will make an alternative offer. However 
please note that delayed admission in to reception in the alternative school 
may not be possible. 

If the parental request for delayed admission into reception is refused, the 
formal application which has already been submitted will be processed, 
unless the Local Authority receives a request from the parent to withdraw the 
application.  If no request to withdraw the application is received, then after 
the offer of a school place had been made the parent can then inform the 
Local Authority and the school that they want to defer entry until later in the 
academic year as outlined above.  

When informing a parent of their decision on the year group the child should 
be admitted to, the admission authority must set out clearly the reasons for 
their decision.  

Right of Appeal for admission of children outside their normal age group 
 

Parents who are refused a place at a school for which they have applied have 
the statutory right of appeal to an independent Admission Appeal panel. They 
do not have a right of appeal if they have been offered a place and it is not in 
the year group they would like. However, if parents are dissatisfied with the 
outcome of the request for delayed entry into reception they have the right to 
complain against the decision through the Council’s complaints procedure for 
decisions made by council officers or under the school’s complaints 
procedure where the school is the admissions authority.  

 

5. Deadline – applications received by the deadline date of 
midnight 15 January 2018 will be considered as first round 
applications 

 
 The closing date for main round applications (i.e. applications for entry into 

Reception 2018) is 15 January 2018.   
 
 All applications received after the deadline of 15 January 2018, including 

those directed incorrectly to schools and not forwarded to the LA before the 
deadline, will be treated as late applications and considered only after those 
applications received before the deadline have been determined.   

 
 
 
 
 

Page 572



9 
 

6. Oversubscription Criteria for Voluntary Controlled and 
Community Schools 

 
 Where a school is oversubscribed, places are allocated to children in order of the 

ranked criteria listed below: 

 
 a. Looked After Children/Previously Looked After Children  

 
 The definition of Looked After Children - a ‘looked after child’ or a child who 

was previously looked after but immediately after being looked after became 
subject to an adoption, child arrangements, or special guardianship order.  A 
looked after child is a child who is (a) in the care of a local authority, or (b) 
being provided with accommodation by a local authority in the exercise of 
their social services functions (see the definition in section 22 (1) of the 
Children Act 1989.) 

 
b. Vulnerable Children 
 
 Children from families registered with the National Asylum Support Service; 

Children or families with a serious medical, physical or psychological condition 
where written evidence is provided at the time of application from a senior 
clinical medical officer, general practitioner or specialist showing that it would 
be detrimental to the child or family not to be admitted to the preferred school. 

 
 For the purpose of the above criteria the word ‘families’ is determined as living 

at the same address at the time of the application and also living at the same 
address on a permanent basis.  Proof will be required and must be submitted 
by the deadline date.                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                              

 
c. Linked Infants School (this criterion applies to infant-to-junior YR2  

transfer applications only) 
 
 Children who are pupils attending year 2 at the linked infant school as at the 

deadline date, irrespective of the status of the school, i.e. F, A, C or VC. 
 
d. Designated area siblings and shared area siblings 
 
 A child is considered under this criterion if a sibling is attending the school (or 

the linked junior school in the case of applications to an infants school) as at 
the deadline date and will continue to attend the school at the time of entry, 
and where the child lives within the designated area or shared area at the 
same address as the sibling.  Step, half and foster siblings are included in this 
category.        

 
e. Other children from the designated area or shared area    
 
 Children resident within the designated area or shared area who do not 

qualify under one of the criteria above. 
 
f. Other Siblings 
 
 A child is considered under this criterion if a sibling is attending the school (or 

the linked junior school in the case of applications to an infant’s school) at the 
deadline date and will continue to attend the school at the time of entry, and 

Page 573



10 
 

where the child lives at the same address as the sibling.  Step, half and foster 
siblings are included in this category. 

 
g. Children of staff at the school     
 
 A child is considered to fall under this criterion 
 
 i. where the member of staff has been employed at the school for two or 

  more years at the time at which the application for admission to the 
  school is made, and/or 

 ii. the member of staff is recruited to fill a vacant post for which there is a 
  demonstrable skill shortage. 

 
 If applicants wish to be considered under this criterion then a letter from the 

Headteacher confirming the above applies to the applicant must be provided 
at the time of application.   

       
h. Children eligible for service premium relocating to Salisbury Plain 
 The above criteria will only apply to the following schools: 

 
Durrington CE Junior School,  
Kiwi Primary School, Bulford,  
Larkhill Primary School,  
Collingbourne C E Primary School. 
Amesbury C of E Primary School 
Amesbury Archer Primary School 

 
i. Other Children 
 
 Children to whom none of the above criteria apply. 
 
 
If the school is oversubscribed within any of the listed categories the straight-line 
distance from the child’s home address to the school will be used as the determining 
factor.  Distances will be measured according to the Ordnance Survey eastings and 
northings for the child’s home address and the school.  Those living closer to the 
school will be given priority. 
 

Tie Break 
 

If two or more children with the same priority for admission live an indistinguishable 
distance from the preferred school, but cannot all be admitted then the available 
places will be decided by means of casting lots. 

 
The random allocation will be conducted independently by Democratic Services, 
Wiltshire Council.  

 
 

7. Waiting lists 
 
 Waiting lists will be maintained for all intake year groups in schools.  Children will 

automatically be added to these lists if a preference higher than the school place 
offered has been refused.  All applicants have the right of appeal against any refusal 

Page 574



11 
 

of a place.  The existence of a waiting list does not remove this right from any 
unsuccessful applicant. 

 
 The position on a waiting list will be determined by applying the published 

oversubscription criteria and not by date order of receipt.  This will mean a position 
will change if a later application is received from someone with higher priority 
according to the oversubscription criteria. 

 
 Waiting lists for all year groups will close on 22 July 2019. 
 
 A fresh application can be made for a place for the next academic year group but this 

will not be considered before 31 May 2019. 
 
 Places that become available will not be offered to pupils who are not on the waiting 

list. 
 
 If your child is offered a place from a waiting list for any VC or C schools then you 

must accept or decline the place within 10 working days of the date of offer.  If the 
place is not accepted then a further letter will be sent informing the applicant that 
should they not accept or decline the place within 5 working days, the place will be 
withdrawn.  A further letter will be sent informing the applicant the place has been 
withdrawn. 

 
 Notes: 
 

 Names will only be removed from the lists if a written request is received or if 
the offer of a place that becomes available is declined. 
 

 Registration of interest on a school’s pre-admission list will not be considered 
as an application for a school place. 
 

 Parents must contact any VA, F school or the Academy concerned to obtain 
information on the existence of a waiting list and or maintenance of a waiting 
list. 
 

 Except for service families, children will not be considered to be living within 
the designated area for a school until the LA receives an exchange of 
contracts or a signed tenancy agreement. 
 

 Except for service families, children will not be considered to be a sibling 
unless their brother or sister is attending the school and is expected to still be 
in attendance at the chosen start date. 

 
 

8. Applications for Reception and YR 3 Junior 2018 Intake – 
applications received after 15 January 2018 

 
Applications received after the deadline of 15 January 2018 will be considered as late 
applications. 
 
Applications received between the 16 January 2018 and 25 April 2018 will be treated 
as second round applications. 
 

Page 575



12 
 

Applications received after the 26 April 2018 will be treated as third round 
applications. 
 

9. Appeals Procedure – Main Round Applications 
 
 Parents have a right of appeal to an independent panel against any decision made 

by or on behalf of the Authority as to the school which education is to be provided for 
their child. 
 
First round appeals 
For applications received from 1 September 2017 – 15 January 2018 and for offers 
made on National Offer Date appeals must be received by the Local Authority no 
later than 14 May 2018. 
 
Second round appeals 
For applications received from 16 January 2018 – 25 April 2018 and for offers made 
on 31 May 2018 appeals will be heard as soon as possible. 
 
Third round appeals 
For applications received after the 25 April 2017 and for offers made after 30 June 
2018, appeals will be heard as soon as possible. 
 
All appeals will be heard in accordance with the timescales which have been 
determined and are explained in the School Admissions Appeals Code. 
 
Parents who have appealed unsuccessfully can reapply for a place at the same 
school in a later academic year, and have a right of appeal if unsuccessful. 

 
           Where there have been material changes in circumstances in the same academic 

year and a repeat application is considered and again refused, the parents will have 
the right to a fresh appeal.  
 
Please note appeals are only heard in term time. 

 

10.  In Year Transfer Applications for year groups other than 
Reception and YR 3 Junior 2018 Intake 

 
 Applications received after the 25 July 2018 for the year of entry and any applications 
received for other year groups are classed as in-year transfer applications.  
 
All applications will be considered together with any applications that have already 
been refused and the child’s name will be placed on the waiting list accordingly. 
 
Applications for transfer for VC and C schools will be considered no more than a 
maximum of one term in advance.  All requests for admissions to VC and C Schools 
will be processed in line with the timetable below.  All applications will be considered 
together and are ranked using the oversubscription criteria listed in this policy.   

 
The following table gives the earliest date that applications can be sent and when 
they are considered. Decision letters should be posted within 20 school days of either 
the date in the last column or, if your application is later than this, our receipt of your 
form.  
 
 

Page 576



13 
 

 

 

Date admission being 
sought 

Earliest application should 
be submitted 

Applications will be 
processed from 

January to March 1 September 31 October 

April to July 1 January 15 February 

September to December 1 April 31 May 

 
Applications received requesting more immediate admission are considered in the 
order that the School Admissions Team receives them.  If more than one additional 
application for a particular school is received on the same date places are allocated 
to children in order of the oversubscription criteria as listed in this policy. 
 
In all cases parent(s)/guardian(s) will be invited to state up to a maximum of three 
preferences.  An offer will be made at the school listed as highest preference 
possible which has an available place. 
 
If a child is offered a place at any VC or C school then the place must accepted or 
declined within 10 working days of the date of offer.   
 
If a child is offered a place at any VC or C school and the parent(s)/guardian(s) 
accept the place, must be taken up within 28 working days of the required 
admissions date stated on the original application form.  Should the place not be 
taken up within the 28 working days the LA will then write to the parents informing 
them that the place has been withdrawn. 

 
Requests for places in year groups other than the one relating to the child’s 
chronological age will only be agreed if supported by the LA’s relevant professional 
adviser(s) and the school. 
 

11. Appeals Procedure – In Year Transfer Applications 
 
 Parents have a right of appeal to an independent panel against any decision made 

by or on behalf of the Admissions Authority as to the school which education is to be 
provided for their child. 
 
All appeals will be heard in accordance with the timescales which have been 
determined and are explained in the School Admissions Appeals Code. 
 
Information about the appeal procedure will be provided where a place at one or 
more of the preferred schools has been refused.  Parents should contact the 
Customer Services Team (01225 713010) to obtain an appeals form which should be 
returned to the Democratic and Members Service team (D&M) at County Hall, 
Trowbridge.  The clerk to the appeals panel will be provided by the D&M Service 
team. 
 
Parents who have appealed unsuccessfully can reapply for a place at the same 
school in a later academic year, and have a right of appeal if unsuccessful. 

 
           Where there have been material changes in circumstances in the same academic 

year and a repeat application is considered and again refused, the parents will have 
the right to a fresh appeal.  
 

Page 577



14 
 

Please note appeals are only heard in term time. 
 

12. Proof of address 

 
 The LA reserves the right to ask parents for proof of their address. If the parents’ 

current address is different to that held on the Local Authority’s Council Tax system 
the LA may ask parents to provide proof of the new address if one is indicated. 
Acceptable proof of address includes:  
 

A formal exchange of contracts or a signed solicitor’s letter stating contracts have 
been exchanged and specifying a completion date or a signed and dated tenancy 
agreement.  

 
If parents fail to provide proof of a new address, the LA will use the old address for 
admission purposes. The LA reserves the right to check that parents are living in the 
address indicated on the applications form.  If parents are not living there, the 
applications will be investigated and the allocated place may be withdrawn. 

 
13. Fair Access Protocol 
 

 All Wiltshire Schools will act in accordance with the Fair Access Protocol which has 
been adopted to give access to educational provisions for hard to place children.  
 
If the governing body of any school refuse admission to a child with challenging 
behaviour where there are places available (outside the normal intake round) the 
case must be referred to the LA for consideration under the In-Year Fair Access 
Protocol.   
 
This protocol does not apply to a Child in Care (Looked after Child, a Previously 
Looked After Child) or a child with a Statement of Special Educational Needs or 
Education Health and Care Plan (EHCP) as these children must be admitted. 
 
Further information on the In Year Fair Access Protocol including further can be 
viewed at www.wiltshire.gov.uk  

 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 578

http://www.wiltshire.gov.uk/


15 
 

Published Admission Numbers (PANs)  
for VC & C Schools 

 

Voluntary Controlled Schools 
Agreed 

2018 PAN 

All Cannings CE Primary School 21 

Amesbury CEVC Primary School 60 

Ashton Keynes CE Primary School 30 

Bellefield Primary & Nursery School, Trowbridge  42 

Box CE Primary School 25 

Brinkworth Earl Danby's CE Primary School 30 

Broad Hinton CE Primary School 17 

Broad Town CE Primary School 12 

Chirton CEVC Primary School 12 

Christ Church CE Controlled Primary School  75 

Churchfields, The Village School 25 

Colerne CE Primary School 38 

Collingbourne CE Primary School 17 

Crudwell CE Primary School 17 

Dinton CEVC Primary School 17 

Durrington CE Cont. Junior School 58 

Five Lanes Primary 20 

Great Bedwyn CE Primary School 30 

Harnham CE Cont. Junior School, Salisbury  90 

Hilperton CEVC Primary School 25 

Holt VC Primary School 25 

Hullavington CE School 21 

Kington St. Michael CE Primary School 21 

Lacock CE Primary School 12 

Langley Fitzurse CE Primary School 16 

Lea & Garsdon CE Primary School 20 

Longford CE (VC) Primary School 12 

Minety CE Primary School 21 

Newton Tony CEVC Primary School  8 

North Bradley CE Primary School 30 

Oaksey CE Primary School 16 

Preshute CE Primary School 30 

Shalbourne CE Primary School 9 

Sherston CE Primary School 30 

Shrewton CE Primary School 17 

Southwick CE Primary School 30 

Page 579



16 
 

St. Barnabas CE School, Market Lavington  20 

St. John's CE Primary School, Tisbury  20 

St. John's CE School, Warminster  21 

St. Katharine's CE (VC) Primary School 15 

Marlborough St. Mary's CEVC Primary School 60 

St. Mary's CE Primary School, Purton  60 

St. Nicholas CEVC Primary School, Bromham  15 

St. Sampson's CE Primary School 60 

Staverton CEVC Primary School 45 

Stratford sub Castle CEVC Primary School 21 

Sutton Veny CEVC School 24 

The Minster CE Primary School 30 

Urchfont CE Primary School 16 

Warminster Sambourne CEVC Primary School 21 

Westbury CE Junior School 82 

Westbury Leigh CE Primary School 60 

Wilton and Barford CE Primary School 30 

Winsley CEVC Primary School 25 

Winterbourne Earls CE Primary School 30 

 
 

Community Schools Agreed 
2018 
PAN 

Amesbury Archer Primary School 60 

Bitham Brook Primary School 51 

Bratton Primary School 30 

Charter Primary School 47 

Fitzmaurice Primary School 45 

Fynamore Primary School 60 

Gomeldon Primary School 21 

Greentrees Primary School 60 

Grove Primary School 60 

Harnham Infants School  90 

Hilmarton Primary School 16 

Holbrook Primary School 45 

Horningsham Primary School 12 

Ivy Lane Primary School 60 

Kings Lodge School 60 

Kiwi School 60 

Larkhill Primary School 60 

Luckington Community School 8 

Page 580



17 
 

Ludwell Community Primary School 12 

Lypiatt Primary School 7 

Manor Fields Primary School 30 

Mere School 30 

Monkton Park Primary School 38 

Neston Primary School 30 

New Close Community School 30 

Newtown Community Primary School 45 

Nursteed Community Primary School 30 

Old Sarum Primary School 60 

Priestley Primary School 30 

Princecroft Primary School 21 

Ramsbury Primary School 30 

Redland Primary School 45 

Royal Wootton Bassett Infants School 60 

Southbroom Infants School 90 

St. Paul's Primary School, Chippenham  41 

Stanton St. Quintin Primary School 21 

Walwayne Court School 42 

Westbury Infants School 80 

Westwood-with-Iford School 17 

Woodlands Primary School 30 

 
 
 

Page 581



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 583

Agenda Item 15
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 593

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2 Minutes of the previous meeting
	Minutes

	3 Minutes - Capital Assets Committee
	Minutes
	67 Public Participation and Questions from Councillors
	Agenda
	5 Public Participation and Questions from Councillors
	Question and Response - Richard Hames - for publication
	Question and Response - Anne Henshaw - for publication
	Question and Response - Kim Stuckey - for publication
	Question and Response - Nick Murry - for publication
	Question and Response - Stephen Eades- for publication



	7 Revenue Budget Monitor
	Appendix A (Period 9)
	Appendix A

	Appendix B (Period 9)
	Sheet1

	Appendix C (Period 9)
	Appendix C

	Appendix D (Period 9)
	Sheet1


	8 Capital Budget Monitoring
	Capital Monitoring Report Month 9 20162017 Appendix A
	20162017

	Capital Monitoring Report Month 9 20162017 Appendix B
	Appendix B Delegations

	Capital Monitoring Report Month 9 20162017 Appendix C

	9 Treasury Management Strategy 2017-18
	11 Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy
	Appendix 1: Wiltshire Playing Pitch Strategy
	Appendix 2: Action Plan Part 1 (generic actions to deliver the strategy)
	Appendix 3: Community Area Profiles (Action Plan Part 2)
	Appendix 4: Needs Assessment

	12 School Admission 2018/19
	Appendix A (background paper) Determined Co-ordinated Scheme for Secondary Schools 2017-18
	Appendix B (background paper) Determined Co-ordinated Scheme for Primary school 2017-18
	Appendix C (background paper) Determined Admissions Arrangements for Voluntary Controlled and Community Secondary Schools 2017-18
	Appendix D (background paper) Determined Admissions Arrangements Voluntary Controlled Community Primary schools 2017-18
	Appendix E Proposed Co-ordinated Scheme for Secondary Schools 2018-19
	Appendix F Proposed Co-ordinated Scheme for Primary school 2018-19
	Appendix G Proposed Admission Arrangements for Voluntary Controlled and Community Secondary Schools 2018-19
	Appendix H Proposed Admission Arrangements Voluntary Controlled Community Primary schools 2018-19

	15 Procurement of housing related support contract
	Appx - Procurement of housing related support contract


